

Monograph Series on Nonlinear Science and Complexity EDITORS: A.C.J. LUO AND G. ZASLAVSKY

Volume 5

# Stability of Dynamical Systems

XIAOXIN LIAO, LIQIU WANG AND PEI YU

# Stability of Dynamical Systems

## MONOGRAPH SERIES ON NONLINEAR SCIENCE AND COMPLEXITY

## SERIES EDITORS

Albert C.J. Luo Southern Illinois University, Edwardsville, USA

> George Zaslavsky New York University, New York, USA

#### ADVISORY BOARD

Valentin Afraimovich, San Luis Potosi University, San Luis Potosi, Mexico Maurice Courbage, Université Paris 7, Paris, France Ben-Jacob Eshel, School of Physics and Astronomy, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv. Israel Bernold Fiedler, Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin, Germany James A. Glazier, Indiana University, Bloomington, USA Nail Ibragimov, IHN, Blekinge Institute of Technology, Karlskrona, Sweden Anatoly Neishtadt, Space Research Institute Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow. Russia Leonid Shilnikov, Research Institute for Applied Mathematics & Cybernetics, Nizhny Novgorod, Russia Michael Shlesinger, Office of Naval Research, Arlington, USA Dietrich Stauffer, University of Cologne, Köln, Germany Jian-Qiao Sun, University of Delaware, Newark, USA Dimitry Treschev, Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia Vladimir V. Uchaikin, Ulyanovsk State University, Ulyanovsk, Russia Angelo Vulpiani, University La Sapienza, Roma, Italy

Pei Yu, The University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario N6A 5B7, Canada

## Stability of Dynamical Systems

## XIAOXIN LIAO

Huazhong University of Science and Technology Wuhan 430074 China

## LIQIU WANG

The University of Hong Kong Hong Kong Hong Kong

## PEI YU

The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario Canada



AMSTERDAM • BOSTON • HEIDELBERG • LONDON • NEW YORK • OXFORD PARIS • SAN DIEGO • SAN FRANCISCO • SINGAPORE • SYDNEY • TOKYO Elsevier Radarweg 29, PO Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam, The Netherlands The Boulevard, Langford Lane, Kidlington, Oxford OX5 1GB, UK

First edition 2007

Copyright © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the publisher

Permissions may be sought directly from Elsevier's Science & Technology Rights Department in Oxford, UK: phone (+44) (0) 1865 843830; fax (+44) (0) 1865 853333; email: permissions@elsevier.com. Alternatively you can submit your request online by visiting the Elsevier web site at http://elsevier.com/locate/permissions, and selecting *Obtaining permission to use Elsevier material* 

Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A catalog record for this book is available from the Library of Congress

#### British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

ISBN: 978-0-444-53110-0 ISSN: 1574-6917

For information on all Elsevier publications visit our website at books.elsevier.com

Printed and bound in The Netherlands

 $06 \ 07 \ 08 \ 09 \ 10 \ 10 \ 9 \ 8 \ 7 \ 6 \ 5 \ 4 \ 3 \ 2 \ 1$ 



## Preface

The main purpose of developing stability theory is to examine the dynamic responses of a system to disturbances as time approaches infinity. It has been and still is the subject of intense investigations due to its intrinsic interest and its relevance to all practical systems in engineering, finance, natural science and social science. Lyapunov stability theory, one celebrated theory, is the foundation of stability analyses for dynamic systems that are mathematically described by ordinary differential equations (ODE). Inspired by numerous applications and new emerging fields, it has been significantly developed and extended to systems that are modeled using difference equations (DE), differential-difference equations (DDE), functional differential equations (FDE), integral-differential equations (IDE), partial differential equations (PDE), and stochastic differential equations (SDE). For instance, interest in automatic control starting in the 1950s has generated the theories of global and absolute stability. Theory describing the co-existence and sustainability of ecological systems originated from interest in bio-systems analysis beginning in the 1970s. Interest in artificial neural networks beginning in the 1980s has stimulated the solution of nonlinear equations by using electronic circuit analogues.

The evolution of stability theory has been very rapid and extensive. Major developments are scattered throughout an array of scientific journals, making it often difficult to discover what the real advances are, especially for a researcher new to the field or a practitioner using the results in various applicable areas. Therefore, it appears necessary to have monographs on topics of current interest to both researchers and practitioners in the field. The present monograph is intended to provide some state-of-the-art expositions of major advances in fundamental stability theories and methods for dynamical systems of ODE and DDE types and in limit cycle, normal form and Hopf bifurcation control of nonlinear dynamic systems.

The present monograph comes mainly from our research results and teaching of graduate students in the stability of dynamical systems. Chapter 1 is the introduction where we define various stabilities mathematically, illustrate their relations using examples and discuss the main mathematical tools for stability analyses (e.g., Lyapunov functions, *K*-class functions, Dini derivatives, differential and integral inequalities and matrices). In Chapter 2, we re-visit the stability of linear systems with constant coefficients, present a new method for solving the Lyapunov matrix equation and discuss our geometrical method for stability analyses. Chapter 3 describes the stability of linear systems with variable coefficients.

#### Preface

Particularly, we first develop relations between the stabilities of homogeneous and nonhomogeneous systems, and relations between Cauchy matrix properties and various stabilities. We then discuss the robust stability, analytical expressions of Cauchy matrix solutions for some linear systems and the Floquet-Lyapunov theory for linear systems with periodic coefficients. Finally, we present the truncated Cauchy matrix and partial variable stability. In Chapter 4, we present the Lyapunov stability theory by using a modern approach that employs the K-class function and Dini derivative. The necessary and sufficient conditions are systematically developed for stability, uniform stability, uniformly asymptotic stability, exponential stability, and instability. We present classical Lyapunov theorems of stability and their inverse theorems together to illustrate the universality of the Lyapunov direct method. Also developed in Chapter 4 are some new sufficient conditions for stability, asymptotic stability, and instability. This chapter ends with a brief summary constructing Lyapunov functions. Chapter 5 presents a major extension and development of the Lyapunov direct method, including the LaSalle invariant principle, theory of comparability, robust stability, practical stability, Lipschitz stability, asymptotic equivalence, conditional stability, partial variable stability, stability and the boundedness of sets. In Chapter 5, we also apply the Lyapunov function to study the classical Lagrange stability, Lagrange asymptotic stability and Lagrange exponential stability.

Chapter 6 is devoted to the stability of nonlinear systems with separable variables. The topics covered include linear and nonlinear Lyapunov functions, the global stability of autonomous and nonautonomous systems, transformation into systems with separable variables, and partial variable stability. This chapter provides the methods and tools for examining the absolute stability of nonlinear control systems in Chapter 9 and the stability of neural networks in Chapter 10. Chapter 7 describes the iteration method that uses the convergence of iteration for stability analyses and avoids the difficulty encountered in constructing Lyapunov functions. Particularly, we discuss iteration methods of Picard and Gauss-Seidel types and their applications in examining the extreme stability and the stationary oscillation, in improving the freezing coefficient method, and in investigating the robust stability of interval systems. Dynamical systems with temporal delay are often modeled by differential-difference equations (DDE). The stability of such systems is discussed in Chapter 8. We first present the Lyapunov functional method and the Lyapunov function method with the Razumikhin technique for the stability analyses of time-delaying nonlinear differential equations and DDE with separable variables. We then apply the eigenvalue method and M matrix theory to develop an algebraic method for modeling the stability of linear systems with constant coefficients and constant time-delays. Finally, we use the iteration method in Chapter 7 to examine the stability of neutral DDE systems with temporal delays. Chapter 9 covers the absolute stability of Lurie control systems. The topics contain some algebraic sufficient conditions for stability, and the necessary

and sufficient conditions for the absolute stability of direct, indirect, critical and time-delaying Lurie control systems and for the absolute stability of Lurie control systems with multiple nonlinear controls or with feedback loops. Also discussed in this chapter is the application of Lurie theory in chaos synchronization. Chapter 10 focuses on stabilities (Lyapunov, globally asymptotic, globally exponential) and exponential periodicity of various neural networks (Hopfield with and without time-delay, Rosko bidirectional associative memory, cellular, generalized). In Chapter 11, we present the computational methods of normal form and limit cycle, the control of Hopf bifurcations and their engineering applications.

We acknowledge with gratitude the support received from the Huazhong University of Science and Technology (Department of Control Science and Engineering), the University of Hong Kong (Department of Mechanical Engineering) and the University of Western Ontario (Department of Applied Mathematics). The support of our research program by the Natural Science Foundation of China (NSFC 60274007 and 60474011), the Research Grant Council of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region of China (RGC HKU7086/00E and HKU7049/06P) and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC R2686A02) is also greatly appreciated. We are very grateful to Dr. Zhen Chen and Mr. Fei Xu who typed part of the manuscript. And, of course, we owe special thanks to our respective families for their tolerance of the obsession and the late nights that seemed necessary to bring this monograph to completion. Looking ahead, we will appreciate it very much if users will write to call our attention to the imperfections that may have slipped into the final version.

Xiaoxin Liao, Liqiu Wang, Pei Yu London, Canada December 2006 This page intentionally left blank

## Contents

| Prefac | ze   | v   |
|--------|--|-----|
| Chapt  | er 1. Fundamental Concepts and Mathematical Tools                        | 1   |
| 1.1.   | Fundamental theorems of ordinary differential equations                  | 1   |
| 1.2.   | Lyapunov function  | 4   |
| 1.3.   | K-class function   | 7   |
| 1.4.   | Dini derivative  | 10  |
| 1.5.   | Differential and integral inequalities                                   | 13  |
| 1.6.   | A unified simple condition for stable matrix, p.d. matrix and $M$ matrix | 16  |
| 1.7.   | Definition of Lyapunov stability   | 21  |
| 1.8.   | Some examples of stability relation                                      | 24  |
| Chapt  | er 2. Linear Systems with Constant Coefficients                          | 35  |
| 2.1.   | NASCs for stability and asymptotic stability                             | 35  |
| 2.2.   | Sufficient conditions of Hurwitz matrix                                  | 43  |
| 2.3.   | A new method for solving Lyapunov matrix equation: $BA + A^T B = C$      | 53  |
| 2.4.   | A simple geometrical NASC for Hurwitz matrix                             | 61  |
| 2.5.   | The geometry method for the stability of linear control systems          | 69  |
| Chapt  | er 3. Time-Varying Linear Systems  | 77  |
| 3.1.   | Stabilities between homogeneous and nonhomogeneous systems               | 77  |
| 3.2.   | Equivalent condition for the stability of linear systems                 | 80  |
| 3.3.   | Robust stability of linear systems                                       | 84  |
| 3.4.   | The expression of Cauchy matrix solution                                 | 90  |
| 3.5.   | Linear systems with periodic coefficients                                | 95  |
| 3.6.   | Spectral estimation for linear systems                                   | 100 |
| 3.7.   | Partial variable stability of linear systems                             | 104 |

| Chapt | er 4. Lyapunov Direct Method                                    | 111 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 4.1.  | Geometrical illustration of Lyapunov direct method              | 112 |
| 4.2.  | NASCs for stability and uniform stability                       | 113 |
| 4.3.  | NASCs for uniformly asymptotic and equi-asymptotic stabilities  | 119 |
| 4.4.  | NASCs of exponential stability and instability                  | 127 |
| 4.5.  | Sufficient conditions for stability                             | 130 |
| 4.6.  | Sufficient conditions for asymptotic stability                  | 139 |
| 4.7.  | Sufficient conditions for instability                           | 152 |
| 4.8.  | Summary of constructing Lyapunov functions                      | 162 |
| Chapt | er 5. Development of Lyapunov Direct Method                     | 167 |
| 5.1.  | LaSalle's invariant principle                                   | 167 |
| 5.2.  | Comparability theory  | 171 |
| 5.3.  | Lagrange stability  | 177 |
| 5.4.  | Lagrange asymptotic stability                                   | 185 |
| 5.5.  | Lagrange exponential stability of the Lorenz system             | 188 |
| 5.6.  | Robust stability under disturbance of system structure          | 196 |
| 5.7.  | Practical stability   | 200 |
| 5.8.  | Lipschitz stability   | 203 |
| 5.9.  | Asymptotic equivalence of two dynamical systems                 | 208 |
| 5.10. | Conditional stability   | 218 |
| 5.11. | Partial variable stability                                      | 224 |
| 5.12. | Stability and boundedness of sets                               | 235 |
| Chapt | er 6. Nonlinear Systems with Separate Variables                 | 241 |
| 6.1.  | Linear Lyapunov function method                                 | 241 |
| 6.2.  | General nonlinear Lyapunov function with separable variable     | 253 |
| 6.3.  | Systems which can be transformed to separable variable systems  | 263 |
| 6.4.  | Partial variable stability for systems with separable variables | 268 |
| 6.5.  | Autonomous systems with generalized separable variables         | 278 |
| 6.6.  | Nonautonomous systems with separable variables                  | 280 |
| Chapt | er 7. Iteration Method for Stability                            | 285 |
| 7.1.  | Picard iteration type method                                    | 285 |
| 7.2.  | Gauss-Seidel type iteration method                              | 290 |

|  | Contents  | xi  |
|--|---|-----|
| 7.3.   | Application of iteration method to extreme stability                                  | 302 |
| 7.4.   | Application of iteration method to stationary oscillation                             | 307 |
| 7.5.   | Application of iteration method to improve frozen coefficient method                  | 309 |
| 7.6.   | Application of iteration method to interval matrix                                    | 315 |
| Chapt  | er 8. Dynamical Systems with Time Delay   | 321 |
| 8.1.   | Basic concepts  | 321 |
| 8.2.   | Lyapunov function method for stability  | 324 |
| 8.3.   | Lyapunov function method with Razumikhin technique                                    | 330 |
| 8.4.   | Lyapunov functional method for stability analysis                                     | 338 |
| 8.5.   | Nonlinear autonomous systems with various time delays                                 | 341 |
| 8.6.   | Application of inequality with time delay and comparison principle                    | 350 |
| 8.7.   | Algebraic method for LDS with constant coefficients and time delay                    | 356 |
| 8.8.   | A class of time delay neutral differential difference systems                         | 362 |
| 8.9.   | The method of iteration by parts for large-scale neural systems                       | 366 |
| 8.10.  | Stability of large-scale neutral systems on $C^1$ space                               | 373 |
| 8.11.  | Algebraic methods for GLNS with constant coefficients                                 | 378 |
| Chapter 9. Absolute Stability of Nonlinear Control Systems |   |     |
| 9.1.   | The principal of centrifugal governor and general Lurie systems                       | 389 |
| 9.2.   | Lyapunov–Lurie type $V$ function method   | 394 |
| 9.3.   | NASCs of negative definite for derivative of Lyapunov–Lurie type function             | 399 |
| 9.4.   | Popov's criterion and improved criterion  | 402 |
| 9.5.   | Simple algebraic criterion  | 407 |
| 9.6.   | NASCs of absolute stability for indirect control systems                              | 420 |
| 9.7.   | NASCs of absolute stability for direct and critical control system                    | 434 |
| 9.8.   | NASCs of absolute stability for control systems with multiple non-<br>linear controls | 442 |
| 9.9.   | NASCs of absolute stability for systems with feedback loops                           | 454 |
| 9.10.  | Chaos synchronization as a stabilization problem of Lurie system                      | 459 |
| 9.11.  | NASCs for absolute stability of time-delayed Lurie control systems                    | 469 |
| Chapt  | er 10. Stability of Neural Networks   | 487 |
| 10.1.  | Hopfield energy function method   | 487 |

Contents

| 10.2.  | Lagrange globally exponential stability of general neural network                       | 491 |
|--------|---|-----|
| 10.3.  | Extension of Hopfield energy function method  | 493 |
| 10.4.  | Globally exponential stability of Hopfield neural network                               | 502 |
| 10.5.  | Globally asymptotic stability of a class of Hopfield neural networks                    | 515 |
| 10.6.  | Stability of bidirectional associative memory neural network                            | 530 |
| 10.7.  | Stability of BAM neural networks with variable delays                                   | 534 |
| 10.8.  | Exp. stability and exp. periodicity of DNN with Lipschitz type ac-<br>tivation function | 541 |
| 10.9.  | Stability of general ecological systems and neural networks                             | 550 |
| 10.10. | Cellular neural network   | 563 |
| Chapt  | er 11. Limit Cycle, Normal Form and Hopf Bifurcation Control                            | 591 |
| 11.1.  | Introduction  | 591 |
| 11.2.  | Computation of normal forms and focus values  | 594 |
|        | 11.2.1 The Takens method  | 594 |
|        | 11.2.2 A perturbation method  | 597 |
|        | 11.2.3 The singular point value method  | 599 |
|        | 11.2.4 Applications   | 602 |
| 11.3.  | Computation of the SNF with parameters  | 613 |
|        | 11.3.1 General formulation  | 614 |
|        | 11.3.2 The SNF for single zero  | 622 |
|        | 11.3.3 The SNF for Hopf bifurcation   | 624 |
| 11.4.  | Hopf bifurcation control  | 626 |
|        | 11.4.1 Continuous-time systems  | 627 |
|        | 11.4.2 Discrete maps  | 640 |
|        | 11.4.3 2-D lifting surface  | 658 |
| Refere | References  |     |
| Subjec | Subject Index   |     |
|        |   |     |

## **Fundamental Concepts and Mathematical Tools**

In this chapter, we first present some definitions, examples, equivalent relations and geometric explanation of Lyapunov function and wedge function (K-class function). Lyapunov function method is a classical but still powerful tool for stability analysis, while wedge function approach is a modern tool in simplifying and unifying the proofs of many stability and boundedness theorems. Then, we introduce the Dini derivative of Lyapunov function. The Hurwitz condition, the Sylvester condition and the M matrix condition in unified and simplified forms are also discussed. Finally, we will discuss mathematical definitions and geometrical explanations of various stability and attraction concepts. Several examples are given to show the concepts and their relations.

Good mathematical tools are always useful and necessary in solving problems. It would be helpful to know the basic concepts presented in this chapter in order to understand well the materials given in the following chapters.

The contents presented in this chapter are based on the following sources: [153, 163,419] for Section 1.1, [98,151,234,298,300] for Section 1.2, [234,151] for Section 1.3, [234,418] for Section 1.4, [163,419] for Section 1.5, [284] for Section 1.6, [98,151,233,298,300] for Section 1.7, and [234] for Section 1.8.

### **1.1. Fundamental theorems of ordinary differential equations**

As a preliminary, first of all, we list some principal theorems of ordinary differential equations without proofs. In fact, stability theory is based on these theorems or, exactly, is established by extending these theorems. For example, stability in Lyapunov sense is just an extension of the concept that a solution is continuously dependent on its initial value by extending the finite interval to an infinite one.

Consider the following equations:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = g_i(t, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(1.1.1)

where  $t \in I := (t_1, t_2), t_1 \ge -\infty, t_2 \le +\infty$ , the state vector  $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)^T \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n, g_i \in C[I \times \Omega, \mathbb{R}^1]$ , i.e.,  $I \times \Omega$  is a domain defined in  $I \times \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mathbb{R}^1$  is the image of the continuous function  $g_i$   $(i = 1, 2, \dots, n), \Omega$  is *n*-dimensional subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n, 0 \in \Omega$ . System (1.1.1) can be rewritten in the vector form:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = g(t, x), \quad g = (g_1, \dots, g_n)^T.$$
 (1.1.2)

Assume that  $g_i$  satisfies the Lipschitz condition, i.e.,  $\forall x, y \in \Omega, \forall t \in I$ , there exists a constant L > 0 such that

$$\left|g_i(t,x) - g_i(t,y)\right| \leq L \sum_{j=1}^n |x_j - y_j|.$$

Obviously, if  $|\frac{\partial g_i(t,x_1,...,x_n)}{\partial x_j}| \leq k_{ij} = \text{constant}, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, \text{ on } I \times \Omega$ , then the Lipschitz condition is satisfied.

THEOREM 1.1.1 (Existence and uniqueness theorem). If  $g(t, x) = (g_1(t, x), ..., g_n(t, x))^T$  satisfies the Lipschitz condition, then  $\forall (t_0, x_0) \in I \times \Omega, \exists t^* > 0$ , there exists a unique solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  which satisfies the differential equation (1.1.2) with the initial conditions:

$$x(t_0, t_0, x_0) = x_0, (1.1.3)$$

$$\frac{dx(t, t_0, x_0)}{dt} = g(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)),$$
(1.1.4)

on the interval  $[t_0 - t^*, t_0 + t^*]$ .

THEOREM 1.1.2 (Continuity and differentiability theorems for initial value problem). Suppose that the conditions of Theorem 1.1.1 are satisfied, and that two solutions of (1.1.2)  $x^{(1)}(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0^{(1)}), x^{(2)}(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0^{(2)})$  defined on  $[t_0, t_1] \times \Omega$ . Then  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta > 0, \|x_0^{(1)} - x_0^{(2)}\| < \delta$  implies  $\|x^{(1)}(t, t_0, x_0) - x^{(2)}(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon$ . The continuity of  $\frac{\partial g_i}{\partial x_j}$  (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n) implies the continuity of  $\frac{\partial x_i(t, t_0, x_0)}{\partial x_0}$  (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n).

In the following, we consider the differential equations with parameters:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = g(t, x, \mu),$$

where  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $t \in I$  and  $\mu \in [\mu_1, \mu_2]$  is a parameter vector.

THEOREM 1.1.3 (Continuity and differentiability of solution with respect to parameter). Suppose that  $g(t, x, \mu) \in C[I \times \Omega \times [\mu_1, \mu_2], \mathbb{R}^n]$ , g satisfies the Lipschitz condition for any values of parameter  $\mu \in [\mu_1, \mu_2]$ . Then,

- (1)  $\forall t_0 \in I, x_0 \in \Omega, \mu_0 \in [\mu_1, \mu_2]$  there exist constants  $\rho > 0, a > 0$  such that when  $|\mu \mu_0| \leq \rho$ , the solution of (1.1.2)  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0, \mu)$ , defined on  $[t_0 a, t_0 + a]$  continuously depends on  $\mu$ .
- (2)  $g_i$  being analytic with respect to all variables implies that  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0, \mu)$  is also analytic with respect to  $\mu$ .
- (3) the continuous differentiability of  $g_i$  with respect to  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$  and  $\mu$  implies the continuous differentiability of  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0, \mu)$  with respect to  $\mu$ .

EXAMPLE 1.1.4. Consider a second-order linear system:

$$\frac{d^2x}{dx^2} + \lambda \frac{dx}{dt} + x = 0. \tag{1.1.5}$$

When  $\lambda = 0$ , equation (1.1.5) has a family of periodic solutions:

$$\begin{cases} x(t) = A \sin(t + \alpha), \\ \dot{x}(t) = A \cos(t + \alpha), \end{cases}$$
(1.1.6)

where A and  $\alpha$  are constants. Eliminating t in (1.1.6) yields the equation of orbit,  $\dot{x}^2 + x^2 = A^2$ , which represents a family of circles when A is varied. When  $0 < \lambda \ll 1$ , according to Theorem 1.1.2, the solution orbit of system (1.1.6) approximates the solution of (1.1.5), as shown in Figure 1.1.1.



Figure 1.1.1. Illustration of continuity on parameter.

### **1.2.** Lyapunov function

Suppose that the function  $W(x) \in C[\Omega, R^1]$ , i.e.,  $W: \Omega \to R^1$  is continuous,  $W(0) = 0; V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$ , i.e.,  $V(t, x): I \times \Omega \to R^1$  is continuous and  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$ .

DEFINITION 1.2.1. The function W(x) is said to be positive definite if

$$W(x) \begin{cases} > 0 & \text{for } x \in \Omega, \ x \neq 0, \\ = 0 & \text{for } x = 0. \end{cases}$$

W(x) is said to be positive semi-definite if  $W(x) \ge 0$  for  $x \in \Omega$ . The function W(x) is said to be negative definite if W(x) is positive definite. W(x) is said to be negative semi-definite, if  $W(x) \le 0$ . The positive definite and negative definite functions are called definite sign functions. The positive or negative semi-definite functions are called constant sign functions.

DEFINITION 1.2.2. The function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$  (or  $W(x) \in C[\Omega, R^1]$ ) is said varying if there exist  $t_1, t_2 \in I$  and  $x_1, x_2 \in \Omega$  such that  $V(t_1, x_1) > 0, V(t_2, x_2) < 0$  ( $W(x_1) > 0, W(x_2) < 0$ ).

EXAMPLE 1.2.3.  $W(x_1, x_2) = 3x_1^2 + 2x_2^2 + 2x_1x_2$  is positive definite.

EXAMPLE 1.2.4.  $W(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 + x_2^2 + 2x_1x_2 = (x_1 + x_2)^2$  is positive semidefinite.

EXAMPLE 1.2.5.  $W(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 + x_2^2 - 3x_1x_2$  is a variable sign function.

EXAMPLE 1.2.6.  $V(t, x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 \sin t + x_2^2 \cos t$  is a variable sign function.

DEFINITION 1.2.7. The function V(t, x) is said to be positive definite, if there exists a positive definite function W(x) such that  $V(t, x) \ge W(x)$  and  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$ . The function V(t, x) is said to be negative definite, if -V(t, x) is positive definite. The function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$  is said to be positive semi-definite if  $V(t, x) \ge 0$ . V(t, x) is negative semi-definite if  $V(t, x) \le 0$ .

The meaning of Definition 1.2.7 is depicted in Figure 1.2.1.

EXAMPLE 1.2.8.  $V(t, x_1, x_2) = (2 + e^{-t})(x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_1x_2)$  is positive definite, because

$$V(t, x_1, x_2) = (2 + e^{-t})(x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_1x_2) \ge x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_1x_2 := W(x_1, x_2),$$
  
where  $W(x_1, x_2)$  is positive definite, and  $V(t, 0) = 0.$ 



Figure 1.2.1. Geometric demonstration of time-varying positive definite function.

EXAMPLE 1.2.9.  $V(t, x_1, x_2) = (e^{-t})(x_1^2 + \frac{3}{5}x_1x_2 + x_2^2)$  is positive semidefinite, since there does not exist a positive definite function W(x) such that  $V(t, x_1, x_2) \ge W(x)$ .

DEFINITION 1.2.10. The function  $W(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^1]$  is said to be positive definite and radially unbounded if W(x) is positive definite and  $x \to \infty$  implies  $W(x) \to +\infty$ .

DEFINITION 1.2.11. The function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^1]$  is said to be positive definite and radially unbounded if there exists a positive definite and radially unbounded function  $W_2(x)$  such that  $V(t, x) \ge W_2(x)$ . The function V(t, x) is said to have infinitesimal upper bound if there exists a positive definite function  $W_1(x)$  such that  $|V(t, x)| \le W_1(x)$ .

EXAMPLE 1.2.12.

$$W(x_1, x_2) = a^2 x_1^2 + b^2 x_2^2 + ab x_1 x_2 \cos(x_1 + x_2)$$
  

$$\geqslant \frac{1}{2} a^2 x_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} b^2 x_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} a^2 x_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} b^2 x_2^2 - |ab||x_1|x_2|$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{2} a^2 x_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} b^2 x_2^2 + \frac{1}{2} (|ax_1| - |bx_2|)^2$$

Chapter 1. Fundamental Concepts and Mathematical Tools

$$\geqslant \frac{1}{2}a^{2}x_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}b^{2}x_{2}^{2} \to +\infty \quad \text{as } x_{1}^{2} + x_{2}^{2} \to +\infty,$$
  
$$W(0, 0) = 0,$$

so  $W(x_1, x_2)$  is positive definite and radially unbounded function.

EXAMPLE 1.2.13.  $V(t, x_1, x_2) = \frac{2t}{1+t^2}x_1^2 + x_2^2 \sin t \le |x_1^2| + |x_2|^2 = W(x)$ , thus  $V(t, x_1, x_2)$  is a function with infinitesimal upper bound.

The geometric interpretation for positive definite function  $V(t, x) \ge W(x)$  is shown in Figure 1.2.1. V(t, x) is a family of hypersurfaces in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , with parameter *t*, which locates over the fixed hypersurface W(x), i.e., the family of level curves V(t, x) = c changed with respect to *t* is included in W(x) = c.

The geometric interpretation of positive definite function with infinitesimal upper bound

 $W_1(x) \leq V(t, x) \leq W_2(x)$ 

is illustrated in Figure 1.2.2.

Assume W(x) is positive definite on  $||x|| \leq H$ . The structure of W(x) = c may be very complex, and may be not closed.



Figure 1.2.2. Geometric demonstration of time-varying positive definite function with infinitesimal upper bound.

EXAMPLE 1.2.14. Consider

$$W(x_1, x_2) = \frac{x_1^2}{1 + x_1^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{1 + x_2^2}.$$

When 0 < c < 1,  $W(x_1, x_2) = c$  is a close curve; but when  $c \ge 1$ ,  $W(x_1, x_2) = c$  is not closed. In fact, when  $c \ge 1$ ,

$$W(x_1, 0) = \frac{x_1^2}{1+x_1^2} = c \text{ has no finite solution for } x_1;$$
  

$$W(0, x_2) = \frac{x_2^2}{1+x_2^2} = c \text{ has no finite solution for } x_2.$$

So in the direction  $x_1$  ( $x_2 = 0$ ) or  $x_1$  ( $x_2 = 0$ ),  $W(x_1, x_2) = c$  is not closed. However, when 0 < c < 1, let  $x_2 = kx_1$ , where  $k \neq 0$  is any real number, the equation

$$\frac{kx_1^2}{1+k^2x_1^2} + \frac{x_1^2}{1+x_1^2} = c$$

has finite solution  $x_1$ , therefore the curves  $W(x_1x_2) = c$  and the straight lines  $x_1 = kx_1$  have finite intersection points. Similarly,  $W(x_1, x_2) = c$  and  $x_1 = kx_2(k \neq 0)$  have finite intersection points. Thus,  $W(x_1x_2) = c$  (0 < c < 1) is a closed curve (see Figure 1.2.3).

## 1.3. K-class function

In this section, we introduce K-class functions and discuss the relation between K-class function and positive definite function.



Figure 1.2.3. V = c is a closed curve in the neighborhood of the origin.

DEFINITION 1.3.1. If a function  $\varphi \in [R^+, R^+]$ , where  $R^+ := [0, +\infty)$ , or  $\varphi \in C[[0, h], R^+]$  is monotonically strictly increasing, and  $\varphi(0) = 0$ , we call  $\varphi$  a Wedge function, or simply call it a *K*-class function, denoted by  $\varphi \in K$ .

DEFINITION 1.3.2. If  $\varphi \in [R^+, R^+]$  is a *K*-class function and  $\lim_{r \to +\infty} \varphi(r) = +\infty$ , then  $\varphi(r)$  is called a radially unbounded *K*-class function, denoted by  $\varphi \in KR$ .

Among the positive definite functions and the *K*-class functions, some essential equivalent relations exist.

THEOREM 1.3.3. Let  $\Omega := \{x, ||x|| \leq h\}$ . For a given arbitrarily positive definite function  $W(x) \in [\Omega, \mathbb{R}^1]$ , there exist two functions  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  such that

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant W(x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|). \tag{1.3.1}$$

PROOF. For any h > 0, we prove that (1.3.1) holds for  $||x|| \le h$ . Let

$$\varphi(r) = \inf_{r \leqslant \|x\| \leqslant h} W(x).$$

Obviously, we have  $\varphi(0) = 0$ ,  $\varphi(r) > 0$  for r > 0 and  $\varphi(r)$  is a monotone nondecreasing function on [0, h]. Now we prove that  $\varphi(r)$  is continuous. Since W(x) is continuous,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that

$$\varphi(r_2) - \varphi(r_1) := \inf_{\substack{r_2 \leq \|x\| \leq h}} W(x) - \inf_{\substack{r_1 \leq \|x\| \leq k}} W(x)$$
$$= \inf_{\substack{r_2 \leq \|x\| \leq h}} W(x) - W(x_0)$$
$$\leq W(x_1) - W(x_0)$$
$$\leq \varepsilon \quad \text{when } \|x_1 - x_0\| \leq r_2 - r_1 \leq \delta(\varepsilon)$$

where we take  $x_1 = x_0$  when  $x_0 \in D_2 := \{x \mid r_2 \le ||x|| \le h\}$ .

When  $x_0 \in D_1 := \{x | r_1 \leq \|x\| \leq h\}$ , take the intersection point of the line  $\overline{Ox_0}$  and  $\|x\| = r_2$ , as shown in Figure 1.3.1. Let  $\varphi_1(r) := \frac{r\varphi(r)}{R} \leq \varphi(r)$ . Evidently, we have  $\varphi_1(0) = 0$ , and if  $0 \leq r_1 < r_2 \leq h$ , we get

$$\varphi_1(r_1) = \frac{r_1\varphi(r_1)}{h} \leqslant \frac{r_1\varphi(r_2)}{h} < \frac{r_2\varphi(r_2)}{h} = \varphi_1(r_2).$$

Thus,  $\varphi_1(r)$  is strictly monotone increasing and hence  $\varphi_1 \in K$ . Let

$$\varphi(r) := \max_{\|x\| \leqslant r} W(x).$$

Then it follows that  $\varphi(0) = 0$ . By the same method, we can prove that  $\varphi(r)$  is monotone nondecreasing and continuous. Choosing  $\varphi_2(r) := \varphi(r) + kr$  (k > 0),



Figure 1.3.1. The relation between positive definite function and K-class function.

we have

$$\varphi_2(r_1) = \psi(r_1) + kr_1 \leqslant \psi(r_2) + kr_1 < \psi(r_2) + kr_2 = \varphi_2(r_2).$$

Hence,  $\varphi_2(r)$  is strictly monotone increasing and  $\varphi_2(r) \in K$ . The above results show that

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant \varphi(\|x\|) := \inf_{\|x\| \leqslant \|\xi\| \leqslant h} W(\xi) \leqslant W(x)$$
$$\leqslant \max_{\|\xi\| \leqslant \|x\|} W(\xi) := \psi(\|x\|)$$
$$\leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|).$$

Thus,

 $\varphi(\|x\|) \leqslant W(x) \leqslant \varphi(\|x\|).$ 

The proof is complete.

By a similar procedure, we can prove the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.3.4. For an arbitrarily given positive definite and radially unbounded function  $W(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^1]$ , there must exist two functions  $\varphi_1(r), \varphi_2(r) \in K\mathbb{R}$  such that

 $\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant W(x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|).$ 

Consequently, without loss of generality, we usually replace the positive definite functions (or the radially unbounded and positive definite functions) by the K-class functions (or radially unbounded K-class functions).

 $\square$ 

### 1.4. Dini derivative

Let  $I := [t_0, +\infty], f(t) \in C[I, R^1]$ . For any  $t \in I$  the following four derivatives:

$$D^{+}f(t) := \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t))$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \sup \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t)), \qquad (1.4.1)$$

$$D_{+}f(t) := \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t))$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \inf \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t)), \qquad (1.4.2)$$

$$D^{-}f(t) := \lim_{h \to 0^{-}} \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t))$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{h \to 0^{-}} \sup \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t)), \qquad (1.4.3)$$

$$D_{-}f(t) := \lim_{h \to 0^{-}} \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t))$$
  
= 
$$\lim_{h \to 0^{-}} \inf \frac{1}{h} (f(t+h) - f(t)), \qquad (1.4.4)$$

are respectively called right-upper, right-lower, left-upper and left-lower derivatives of f(t). They are all called Dini derivatives.

In some cases, the Dini derivative may become  $\pm \infty$ , otherwise, there always exists finite Dini derivative. In particular, when f(t) satisfies the local Lipschitz condition, the four Dini derivatives are finite. Moreover, the standard derivative of f(t) exists if and only if the four Dini derivatives are equal.

For a continuous function, the relation between the monotonicity and the definite sign of the Dini derivative is as follows.

THEOREM 1.4.1. If  $f(t) \in C[I, R^1]$ , the necessary and sufficient condition for f(t) being monotone nondecreasing on I is  $D^+ f(t) \ge 0$  for  $t \in I$ .

**PROOF.** The *necessity* is obvious because  $t_2 > t_1$  implies  $f(t_2) \ge f(t_1)$ .

Now we prove the *sufficiency*. First, suppose  $D^+ f(t) > 0$  on *I*. If there are two points  $\beta \in I$  and  $\alpha < \beta$  such that  $f(\alpha) > f(\beta)$ , then there exists  $\mu$  satisfying  $f(\alpha) > \mu > f(\beta)$  and some point  $t \in [\alpha, \beta]$  such that  $f(t) > \mu$ . Let  $\xi$  be the supremum of these points. Then  $\xi \in [\alpha, \beta]$  and the continuity of f(t) leads to  $f(\xi) = \mu$ . Therefore, for  $t \in [\xi, \beta]$ , it follows that

$$\frac{f(t) - f(\xi)}{t - \xi} < 0. \tag{1.4.5}$$

Hence, we have  $D^+ f(\xi) \leq 0$ , which contradicts the hypotheses. Thus f(t) is monotone nondecreasing.

Next assume that  $D^+ f(t) \ge 0$ . Then for any  $\xi > 0$ , we get

$$D^{+}(f(t) + \xi t) = D^{+}f(t) + \xi \ge \xi > 0.$$
(1.4.6)

As a consequence,  $f(t) + \xi t$  is monotone nondecreasing since  $\xi$  is arbitrary. So f(t) is monotone nondecreasing on *I*.

The theorem is proved.

REMARK 1.4.2. If we replace  $D^+ f(t) \ge 0$  by  $D_+ f(t) \ge 0$ , then the sufficient condition of Theorem 1.4.1 still holds because the latter implies the former. Similarly, if we replace  $D^+ f(t) \ge 0$  by  $D^- f(t) \ge 0$ , then it is sufficient to change the supremum of the points satisfying  $f(t) \ge \mu$  to the implous of the points satisfying  $f(t) < \mu$ . We may further intensify  $D^- f(t) \ge 0$  to be  $D_- f(t) \ge 0$ , and thus any of the four derivatives is not less than zero, each of which implies that f(t) is monotone nondecreasing.

In the following, we consider the Dini derivative of a function along the solution of a differential equation.

Consider a system of differential equations, given by

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{1.4.7}$$

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ .

THEOREM 1.4.3. (See [418].) Suppose that  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$ , where  $\Omega \subset R^n$ ,  $\Omega$  is a neighborhood containing the origin and V(t, x) satisfies the local Lipschitz condition on x with respect to t, i.e.,

 $\left|V(t,x) - V(t,y)\right| \leq L \|x - y\|.$ 

Then the right-upper derivative and the right-lower derivative of V(t, x) along the solution x(t) of (1.4.7) have the following forms:

$$D^{+}V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{h} \{ V(t+h), x+hf(t, x) - V(t, x) \},$$
(1.4.8)  
$$D_{+}V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{h} \{ V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)) - V(t, x) \}.$$
(1.4.9)

PROOF. Assume that the solution x(t) stays in the region  $I \times \Omega$ . For  $(t, x) \in I \times \Omega$ ,  $(t + h, x + hf(t, x)) \in U$ ,  $(t + h, x(t + h)) \in U$ . Let *L* be the Lipschitz constant of V(t, x) in  $I \times \Omega$ . Making use of the Taylor expansion and the Lipschitz condition, we obtain

$$V(t+h, x(t+h)) - V(t, x(t))$$
  
=  $V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)+h\varepsilon) - V(t, x)$   
<  $V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)) + Lh|\varepsilon| - V(t, x),$  (1.4.10)

where  $\varepsilon \to 0$  as  $h \to +0$ . Hence,

$$D^{+}V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} := \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} \Big[ V(t+h, x(t+h)) - V(t, x(t)) \Big]$$
  
$$\leqslant \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} \Big[ V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)) + Lh|\varepsilon| - V(t, x) \Big]$$
  
$$= \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} \Big[ V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)) - V(t, x) \Big].$$
(1.4.11)

On the other hand,

$$V(t+h, x(t+h)) - V(t, x(t))$$
  
=  $V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)+h\varepsilon) - V(t, x)$   
 $\geq V(t+h, x+hf(t, x) - Lh|\varepsilon|) - V(t, x).$  (1.4.12)

Thus,

$$D^{+}V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} := \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} [V(t+h, x(t+h)) - V(t, x(t))]$$
  
$$\geq \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} [V(t+h, x+hf(t, x)) - V(t, x)].$$
(1.4.13)

Combining (1.4.11) with (1.4.13), we have

$$D^{+}V(t,x(t))\big|_{(1.4.7)} = \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} \big[ V(t+h,x+hf(t,x)) - V(t,x) \big].$$

Thus (1.4.8) is true. The proof of (1.4.9) goes along the same line. Therefore, we have

$$D_{+}V(t,x(t))\big|_{(1.4.7)} = \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} \big[V(t+h,x+hf(t,x)) - V(t,x)\big].$$

If V(t, x) has a continuous partial derivative with respect to the first variable, then along the solution x(t) of (1.4.7) we have

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(1.4.7)} = D^+ V(t, x(t)) \Big|_{(1.4.7)} = D_+ V(t, x(t)) \Big|_{(1.4.7)}$$

$$= D^{-}V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} = D_{-}V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)}$$
$$= \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} \cdot f(t, x) = \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \operatorname{grad} V \cdot f(t, x).$$

By Theorem 1.4.1, V(t, x(t)) is nondecreasing [nonincreasing] along the solution of (1.4.7) if and only if

$$D^+V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} \ge 0 \quad [D^+V(t, x(t))|_{(1.4.7)} \le 0].$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 1.4.3.

The significance of Theorem 1.4.3 lies in the fact that one does not need to know the solution while calculating the Dini derivative of V(t, x) along the solution of (1.4.7).

## 1.5. Differential and integral inequalities

In this section we present some differential and integral inequalities, which are important in dealing with stability.

THEOREM 1.5.1. Suppose that the function  $\varphi(t)$  is continuous on  $\tau \leq t < b$ , and the right-lower Dini derivative  $D_+\varphi(t)$  exists and satisfies the differential inequality

$$D_+\varphi(t) \leqslant F(t,\varphi(t)), \quad \varphi(\tau) = \xi,$$
(1.5.1)

where  $F(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$ ,  $(t, \varphi(t)) \in I \times \Omega$ . If  $x = \Phi(t)$  is the maximum right solution on  $[\tau, b)$  for differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = F(t, x), \\ x(t_0) = \eta \ge \varphi(\tau) = \xi, \end{cases}$$

$$(1.5.2)$$

$$then \ \varphi(t) \le \Phi(t) \ (\tau \le t < b).$$

THEOREM 1.5.2. Assume that the function f(t,x) is continuous on  $\overline{R} = \{(t,x)|t - \tau | \leq a - |x - \xi| \leq b\}$  and nondecreasing for  $x, x = \varphi(t)$  is continuous, and when  $|t - \tau| \leq a$ ,  $(t, \varphi(t)) \in \overline{R}$ ,  $\varphi(t)$  satisfies the integral inequality:

$$\begin{cases} \varphi(t) \leqslant \xi + \int_{\tau}^{t} f\left(s, \varphi(s)\right) ds, \quad \tau \leqslant t \leqslant \tau + h, \\ \varphi(\tau) \leqslant \xi, \end{cases}$$
(1.5.3)

and  $\Phi(t)$  satisfies the differential equation on the interval  $\tau \leq t \leq \tau + h$ :

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \\ x(\tau) = \xi. \end{cases}$$
(1.5.4)

*Then we have the following inequality on*  $t \in [\tau, \tau + h]$ *:* 

$$\varphi(t) \leqslant \Phi(t), \tag{1.5.5}$$

where

$$h = \min\left(a, \frac{b}{M}\right), \quad M = \max_{t, x \in \overline{R}} |f(t, x)|.$$

According to Theorem 1.5.2, one can derive the well-known Gronwall–Bellman inequality.

COROLLARY 1.5.3 (*Gronwall–Bellman inequality*). Suppose that g(t) and u(t) are continuous, nonnegative real functions, and c is a nonnegative real constant. Then  $\forall t \in [t_0, t_1]$ ,

$$u(t) \le c + \int_{t_0}^t g(\xi)u(\xi) d\xi$$
 (1.5.6)

implies that the inequality

$$u(t) \leqslant c e^{\int_{t_0}^t g(\xi) \, d\xi} \tag{1.5.7}$$

is true.

PROOF. Consider the equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dV(t)}{dt} = g(t)V(t), \\ V(t_0) = c, \end{cases}$$
(1.5.8)

which has the solution

$$V(t) = c e^{\int_{t_0}^t g(\xi) d(\xi)}.$$
  
We have  $u(t) \leq V(t) = c e^{\int_{t_0}^t g(\xi) d\xi}$  by Theorem 1.5.2.

Next, we introduce two comparison theorems.

THEOREM 1.5.4 (First comparison theorem). Let f(t, x) and F(t, x) be continuous scalar functions on G, satisfying the inequality

$$f(t, x) < F(t, x), \quad (t, x) \in G.$$
 (1.5.9)

Then  $x = \varphi(t)$ ,  $y = \Phi(t)$  respectively stand for the solution of the ordinary differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \\ x(\tau) = \xi; \end{cases}$$
(1.5.10)

14

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = F(t, x), \\ x(\tau) = \xi. \end{cases}$$
(1.5.11)

Then we have the following results:

- (1)  $\varphi(t) < \Phi(t)$ , when  $t > \tau$  and t belongs to the common existence interval.
- (2)  $\varphi(t) > \Phi(t)$ , when  $t < \tau$  and t belongs to the common existence interval.

PROOF. Let  $g(t) = \Phi(t) - \varphi(t)$ . Since

$$g(\tau) = \Phi(\tau) - \varphi(\tau) = \xi - \xi = 0,$$

 $g'(\tau) = \Phi'(\tau) - \varphi'(\tau) = F(\tau, \xi) - f(\tau, \xi) > 0$ . Therefore, when  $0 < t - \tau \ll 1$ , g(t) > 0 holds.

If in the common existence interval, there is  $t > \tau$  such that

$$\varphi(t) \ge \Phi(t). \tag{1.5.12}$$

Let the infimum of these t be  $\alpha$ , which satisfies (1.5.12). Thus,  $\tau < \alpha$ , g(a) = 0, g(t) > 0 ( $\tau < t < \alpha$ ). Therefore,  $g'(\alpha) \leq 0$ . Otherwise,

$$g'(\alpha) = \Phi'(\alpha) - \varphi'(\alpha) = F(\alpha, \Phi(\alpha) - f(\alpha), \varphi(\alpha)) > 0.$$

Since  $g(\alpha) = 0$ , we have  $\Phi(\alpha) = \varphi(\alpha)$  which is a contradiction. Thus conclusion (1) holds. By using the same method we can prove that conclusion (2) is also true.

Similarly we can prove the following theorem.

THEOREM 1.5.5 (Second comparison theorem). Suppose that f(t, x) and F(t, x) are continuous on G, and satisfy the inequality

$$f(t,x) \leqslant F(t,x). \tag{1.5.13}$$

Let  $(\tau, \xi) \in G$ , and  $x = \varphi(t)$  and  $x = \Phi(t)$  be respectively the solutions of the differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \\ x(\tau) = \xi \end{cases}$$
(1.5.14)

and

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = F(t, x), \\ x(\tau) = \xi, \end{cases}$$

on [a, b]. Then, the following conclusions hold:

(1)  $\varphi(t) \leq \Phi(t)$  when  $\tau \leq t < b$ ; (2)  $\varphi(t) \geq \Phi(t)$  when  $a < t \leq \tau$ .

# **1.6.** A unified simple condition for stable matrix, p.d. matrix and *M* matrix

The Hurwitz stability, positive definite (p.d.) or negative definite (n.d.) property of a symmetric matrix and the M matrix property are often applied in stability analysis. We now present a unified simple condition for Hurwitz stable matrix, positive definite matrix and M matrix. Then, based on the established condition, a simplified method is proposed, which is easy to be used in determining these matrices.

Let  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be a real matrix, with

$$\det(A) = \det |\lambda E - A| = a_n \lambda^n + a_{n-1} \lambda^{n-1} + \dots + a_1 \lambda + a_0.$$
(1.6.1)

If  $a_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), then  $f(\lambda)$  is Hurwitz stable if and only if

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_1 &= a_1 > 0, \\ \Delta_2 &= \begin{vmatrix} a_1 & a_0 \\ a_3 & a_2 \end{vmatrix} > 0, \\ \vdots \\ \Delta_n &= \begin{vmatrix} a_1 & a_0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_3 & a_2 & a_1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & & & & \\ a_{2n-1} & a_{2n-2} & \cdots & 0 & a_n \end{vmatrix} = \Delta_{n-1}a_n > 0, \end{aligned}$$

where  $a_s = 0$  for s < 0 or s > n.

If the following quadratic form with real constant coefficients:

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} x_i x_j := x^T A x \quad (A = A^T)$$
(1.6.2)

is positive definite, negative definite, positive semi-definite, and negative semidefinite, we simply call A is positive definite, negative definite, positive semidefinite, and negative semi-definite, respectively.

It is well known by Sylvester conditions that when  $A = A^T$ , A is positive definite if and only if

$$\Delta_{1} = a_{11} > 0, \quad \Delta_{2} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \quad \dots,$$
$$\Delta_{n} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} > 0.$$

A being negative definite is equivalent to

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\Delta}_1 &= a_{11} < 0, \quad \tilde{\Delta}_2 = (-1)^2 \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \quad \dots, \\ \tilde{\Delta}_n &= (-1)^n \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & & & \\ a_{n-1} & \cdots & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} > 0. \end{split}$$

The sufficient and necessary conditions for  $A = A^T$  to be positive semi-definite are

$$\Delta_1 = a_{11} \ge 0, \quad \Delta_2 = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} \ge 0, \quad \dots,$$
$$\Delta_n = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} \ge 0.$$

A is negative semi-definite if and only if

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{1} = (-a_{11}) \ge 0, \quad \tilde{\Delta}_{2} = (-1)^{2} \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} \ge 0, \quad \dots,$$
$$\tilde{\Delta}_{n} = (-1)^{n} \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} \ge 0.$$

DEFINITION 1.6.1. The matrix  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is called a nonsingular M matrix (simply called M matrix), if

(1)

$$a_{ii} > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad a_{ij} \leq 0, \quad i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

(2)

$$\Delta_i = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1i} \\ \vdots & & \\ a_{i1} & \cdots & a_{ii} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

For M matrix, there are many equivalent conditions. The main equivalent conditions are

- (1)  $a_{ii} > 0$   $(i = 1, ..., n), a_{ij} \le 0$   $(i \ne j, i, j = 1, ..., n)$  and  $A^{-1} \ge 0$ , i.e.,  $A^{-1}$  is a nonnegative matrix;
- (2)  $a_{ii} > 0$   $(i = 1, 2, ..., n), a_{ij} \leq 0$   $(i \neq j, i, j = 1, ..., n), -A$  is a Hurwitz matrix;

(3)  $a_{ii} > 0$   $(i = 1, 2, ..., n), a_{ij} \leq 0$   $(i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n)$  and there exist *n* positive constants  $c_i$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} c_j a_{ij} > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

(4)  $a_{ii} > 0$   $(i = 1, 2, ..., n), a_{ij} \leq 0$   $(i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n)$  and there exist *n* positive constants  $d_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i a_{ij} > 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

(5)  $a_{ii} > 0 \ (i = 1, 2, ..., n), a_{ij} \leq 0 \ (i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n)$  and the spectral radius of matrix

$$B := (1 - \delta_{ij}) \left\| \left( \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{ii}} \right)_{n \times n} \right\|$$

is smaller than 1. That is,  $\rho(B) < 1$ , namely, the norm of all eigenvalues of *G* are smaller than 1, where  $\delta_{ij}$  is the Kronecker delta function.

The conditions given in Definition 1.6.1 for M matrix are more convenient to use than any other equivalent conditions.

In the following, we present a unified simple method for checking the sign of determinants.

DEFINITION 1.6.2. A transform of the determinant is said to be isogeny sign transform, if any column or row of the determinant is multiplied by a positive constant, or any column or row of the determinant is multiplied by any arbitrary number plus other columns or rows. A transform of determinant is said to be complete isogeny sign transform if every major subdeterminant is isogeny sign.

This complete isogeny sign transform is denoted by  $\psi$ , therefore, by several complete isogeny sign transforms  $\psi$ , we have the following form

$$|A| := \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & \cdots & a_{2n} \\ \vdots & & & \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} \xrightarrow{\psi_1} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} & \cdots & b_{1n} \\ 0 & b_{22} & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & b_{nn} \end{vmatrix} := |B|$$

or

$$|A| \xrightarrow{\psi_2} \begin{vmatrix} c_{11} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ c_{21} & c_{22} & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \\ c_m & \cdots & \cdots & c_{nn} \end{vmatrix} := |C|.$$

18

where  $\psi_1, \psi_2$  are complete isogeny sign transforms.

THEOREM 1.6.3.

(1) Let  $A = A^T \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Choose a complete isogeny sign transform  $\psi_1$  or  $\psi_2$  such that

$$|A| \mathop{\longrightarrow}\limits_{\psi_1} |B|, \quad or \quad |A| \mathop{\longrightarrow}\limits_{\psi_2} |C|,$$

then the matrix A is positive definite (positive semi-definite) if and only if  $b_{ii} > 0$  or  $c_{ii} > 0$  ( $b_{ii} \ge 0$  or  $c_{ii} \ge 0$ ), i = 1, 2, ..., n.

A is negative definite (semi-negative definite) if and only if  $b_{ii} < 0$  or  $c_{ii} < 0$  ( $b_{ii} \leq 0$  or  $c_{ii} \leq 0$ ), i = 1, 2, ..., n.

A has variable signs if and only if there exist  $b_{ii} > 0$ ,  $b_{jj} < 0$  (or  $c_{ii} > 0$ ,  $c_{jj} < 0$ ),  $i, j \in (1, ..., n)$ .

(2) Assume that  $a_{ii} > 0$ ,  $a_{ij} \leq 0$ ,  $i \neq j$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, and there are complete isogeny sign transforms  $\psi_1, \psi_2$  such that

$$|A| \xrightarrow{\psi_1} |B|, \quad or \quad |A| \xrightarrow{\psi_2} |C|,$$

then A is a M matrix if and only if  $b_{ii} > 0$  or  $c_{ii} > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n.

(3) Let  $f(\lambda) = \det |\lambda E_n - A| = \lambda^n + a_{n-1}\lambda^{n-1} + \dots + a_1\lambda + a_0$ ,  $a_i > 0$ ,  $i = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$ . Then A is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if there exist  $\psi_1$ ,  $\psi_2$  such that

$$\Delta_{n-1} := \begin{vmatrix} a_1 & a_0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_3 & a_2 & \vdots \\ \vdots & & a_{n-2} \\ a_{2n-3} & \cdots & \cdots & a_{n-1} \end{vmatrix} \xrightarrow{\psi_1} \begin{vmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} & \cdots & b_{1n-1} \\ b_{22} & \cdots & b_{2n-1} \\ 0 & & \ddots & \vdots \\ & & & b_{n-1n-1} \end{vmatrix},$$

or

$$\Delta_{n-1} \xrightarrow{\psi_2} \begin{vmatrix} c_{11} & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ c_{21} & c_{22} & 0\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ c_{n-11} & c_{n-1n-1} \end{vmatrix},$$
  
$$b_{ii} > 0 \text{ or } c_{ii} > 0, i = 1, \dots, n-1.$$

PROOF. We only prove the case of  $A = A^T$  with a positive definite A. Proofs for other cases are similar and thus omitted. Since A is positive definite if and only if

$$\Delta_1 = a_{11} > 0, \quad \Delta_2 = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \quad \dots,$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & \cdots & a_{2n} \\ \vdots & & & \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} > 0.$$

By  $a_{11} > 0$ , we have  $b_{11} > 0$ , and then

$$\Delta_2 = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0 \quad \text{implies} \quad \begin{vmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} \\ 0 & b_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0,$$

so  $b_{22} > 0$ . By mathematical induction we can prove that  $b_{ii} > 0$  (i = 1, ..., n). Now, if  $b_{ii} > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), then

$$\tilde{\Delta}_{11} = b_{11} > 0, \quad \tilde{\Delta}_{22} = \begin{vmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} \\ 0 & b_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \quad \dots,$$
$$\tilde{\Delta}_{n} = \begin{vmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} & \cdots & b_{1n} \\ b_{22} & \vdots \\ & \ddots & \vdots \\ & & & b_{nn} \end{vmatrix} > 0.$$

According to the property of the complete isogeny sign transform  $\psi$ , we have

$$\Delta_{1} = a_{11} > 0, \quad \Delta_{2} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \quad \dots,$$
$$\Delta_{n} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & & & \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix} > 0.$$

The proof is complete.

EXAMPLE 1.6.4. Prove that

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & -1 & -2 & -3 \\ -1 & 3 & -2 & -1 \\ -\frac{1}{2} & -1 & 4 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 5 \end{bmatrix}$$

is an *M* matrix. Obviously, *A* satisfies that  $a_{ii} > 0$ ,  $a_{ij} \leq 0$ ,  $i \neq j$ , i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4. Thus,

$$|A| := \begin{vmatrix} 4 & -1 & -2 & -3 \\ -1 & 3 & -2 & -1 \\ -\frac{1}{2} & -1 & 4 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 5 \end{vmatrix} \xrightarrow{2r_3 - r_2}{4r_3 + r_2}$$

20

$$= \begin{vmatrix} 4 & * & * & * \\ 0 & 11 & -10 & -7 \\ 0 & -5 & 10 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 5 \end{vmatrix} \xrightarrow{r_3 - 5r_4} \begin{vmatrix} 4 & * & * & * \\ 0 & 11 & * & * \\ 0 & 0 & 15 & -24 \\ 0 & 0 & -21 & 48 \end{vmatrix} \xrightarrow{\frac{2}{24}c_4} \begin{vmatrix} 4 & * & * & * \\ 0 & 11 & * & * \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & -7 & 2 \end{vmatrix} \xrightarrow{c_3 + \frac{7}{2}c_4} \begin{vmatrix} 4 & * & * & * \\ 0 & 11 & * & * \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{3}{2} & * \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 \end{vmatrix}$$
$$:= |B|$$

and so  $b_{11} = 4 > 0$ ,  $b_{22} = 11 > 0$ ,  $b_{33} = \frac{3}{2} > 0$ ,  $b_{44} = 2 > 0$ . Hence, A is an M matrix. Here, \* denotes an element which does not affect the result.

## 1.7. Definition of Lyapunov stability

The stability considered in this section is in the Lyapunov sense. For convenience, in the following we will simply call it stability. We consider physical systems that can be described by the following ordinary differential equation:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = g(t, y), \tag{1.7.1}$$

where  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $0 \in \Omega$ ,  $g \in C[I \times \Omega, \mathbb{R}^n]$ . Assume that the solution of Cauchy problem of (1.7.1) is unique. Let

$$y := (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n)^T, g(t, y) := (g_1(t, y), \dots, g_n(t, y))^T.$$

Suppose that  $\bar{y} = \varphi(t)$  is a particular solution of (1.7.1). To study the properties of solutions of (1.7.1) in the neighborhood of the solution  $\bar{y}(t)$ , we substitute the transformation

$$x = y - \varphi(t)$$

into system (1.7.1) to obtain a system for the new variable *x*:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = g(t, x + \varphi(t)) - g(t, \varphi(t)) := f(t, x).$$
(1.7.2)

Following Lyapunov, we call x = 0 or  $y = \varphi(t)$  the unperturbed motion or unperturbed trajectory, and call equation (1.7.2) the equation of perturbed motion. Thus, the solution  $y = \varphi(t)$  of (1.7.1) corresponds to the zero solution x = 0of (1.7.2). Hence, we only study the stability of the zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2). Suppose  $f \in C[I \times \Omega, \mathbb{R}^n]$ , and the solution of Cauchy problem is uniquely determined. f(t, x) = 0 if  $x = 0, x(t, t_0, x_0)$  represents the perturbed solution which satisfies the initial condition  $x(t_0) = x_0$ .  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  is a function of variables  $t, t_0, x_0$ . Generally, we consider  $t_0, x_0$  as parameters. Therefore, when we consider the asymptotic behavior of  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  with respect to t, we must investigate whether or not the asymptotic behavior uniformly depends on  $t_0$  or  $x_0$ . Hence, there are many stability definitions.

DEFINITION 1.7.1. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be stable, if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \delta$  such that  $\forall x_0, ||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon, t_0)$  implies  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$  for  $t \ge t_0$ . The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be unstable (complete unstable), if  $\exists \varepsilon_0, \exists t_0, \forall \delta > 0, \exists x_0(\forall x_0), ||x_0|| < \delta$ , but  $\exists t_1 \ge t_0$  such that  $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| \ge \varepsilon_0$ .

DEFINITION 1.7.2. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be uniformly stable with respect to  $t_0$ , if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  ( $\delta(\varepsilon)$  is independent of  $t_0$ ) such that  $||x_0|| < \delta$  implies  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$  for  $t \ge t_0$ .

DEFINITION 1.7.3. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be attractive, if  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \sigma(t_0) > 0$ ,  $\exists T(\varepsilon, t_0, x_0) > 0$ ,  $\|x_0\| < \sigma(t_0)$  implies  $\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon$ , for  $t \ge t_0 + T$ , i.e.,

 $\lim_{t\to+\infty}x(t,t_0,x_0)=0.$ 

The above definitions of different stabilities are illustrated in Figures 1.7.1–1.7.4.

DEFINITION 1.7.4. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be uniformly attractive with respect to  $x_0$ , if the *T* in Definition 1.7.3 is independent of  $x_0$ , i.e.,  $\forall x_0, \|x_0\| < \sigma(t_0)$  implies  $\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon$  for  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, t_0)$ . x = 0 is also said to be equi-attractive.

DEFINITION 1.7.5. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be uniformly attractive with respect to  $t_0$ ,  $x_0$ , if x = 0 is equi-attractive,  $\sigma$  does not depend on



Figure 1.7.1. Stability.











Figure 1.7.4. Uniform attractivity.

 $t_0$ , and *T* does not depend on  $x_0$  and  $t_0$  i.e.,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$  for  $||x_0|| \le \sigma$  and  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$ .

The region  $\Omega := \{ ||x|| < \sigma \}$  of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is said to lie in the region of attraction of the point x = 0 (at  $t = t_0$ ), or simply called a region of attraction.
DEFINITION 1.7.6. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is respectively said to be asymptotically stable, equi-asymptotically stable, quasi-uniformly asymptotically stable, globally asymptotically stable, globally quasi-uniformly asymptotically stable, if

- (1) the zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is stable;
- (2) x = 0 is attractive, equi-attractive, uniformly attractive, globally attractive, globally uniformly attractive, respectively.

DEFINITION 1.7.7. The zero solution x = 0 of (1.7.2) is said to be uniformly asymptotically stable, globally uniformly asymptotically stable, respectively, if

- (1) x = 0 is uniformly stable;
- (2) x = 0 is uniformly attractive, globally uniformly attractive and all solutions are uniformly bounded (i.e.,  $\forall r > 0, \exists B(r)$  such that when  $||x_0|| < r, ||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < B(r)$  for  $t \ge t_0$ ) respectively.

DEFINITION 1.7.8. The zero solution x = 0 is said to have exponential stability, if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \lambda > 0, \exists \delta(\varepsilon), \forall t_0 \in I, ||x_0|| < \delta$  implies  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq \varepsilon e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}$  $(t \geq t_0)$ .

DEFINITION 1.7.9. The zero solution x = 0 is said to have globally exponential stability, if  $\forall \delta > 0$ ,  $\exists \lambda > 0$ ,  $\exists k(\delta) > 0$ , when  $||x_0|| < \delta$ , we have

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq k(\delta)e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}.$$

From the above definitions, we can find the relation between the stability and attraction, which is discussed in the next section.

## 1.8. Some examples of stability relation

EXAMPLE 1.8.1. This example shows uniform stability but not asymptotic stability. Consider

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = x_1. \end{cases}$$
(1.8.1)

The general solution of (1.8.1) is

$$x_1(t) = x_1(t_0)\cos(t - t_0) - x_2(t_0)\sin(t - t_0),$$
  

$$x_2(t) = x_1(t_0)\sin(t - t_0) + x_2(t_0)\cos(t - t_0),$$

or  $x_1^2(t) + x_2^2(t) = x_1^2(t_0) + x_2^2(t_0)$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon$ . When  $0 < x_1^2(t_0) + x_2^2(t_0) < \delta$ , we have

$$x_1^2(t) + x_2^2(t) < \delta = \varepsilon.$$

Hence the zero solution of (1.8.1) is uniformly stable, but

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left( x_1^2(t) + x_2^2(t) \right) = x_1^2(t_0) + x_2^2(t_0) \neq 0.$$

This means that the zero solution is not attractive. Therefore, it is not asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 1.8.2. This example, given by

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = f(x_1) + x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1, \end{cases}$$
(1.8.2)

shows that a system can be attractive but unstable. Here,

$$f(x_1) = \begin{cases} -4x_1, & \text{for } x_1 > 0, \\ 2x_1, & \text{for } -1 \leqslant x_1 \leqslant 0 \\ -x_1 - 3, & \text{for } x_1 < -1. \end{cases}$$

When  $x_1 > 0$ , we can rewrite (1.8.2) as:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -4x_1 + x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1. \end{cases}$$
(1.8.3)

Equation (1.8.3) has general solution:

$$\begin{cases} x_1(t) = c_1(2 - \sqrt{3})e^{(-2 + \sqrt{3})t} + c_2(2 + \sqrt{3})e^{(-2 - \sqrt{3})t}, \\ x_2(t) = c_1e^{(-2 + \sqrt{3})t} + c_2e^{(-2 - \sqrt{3})t}. \end{cases}$$

When  $-1 \leq x_1 \leq 0$ , (1.8.2) becomes

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = 2x_1 + x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1, \end{cases}$$
(1.8.4)

which has general solution:

$$\begin{cases} x_1(t) = c_1 e^t + c_2 t e^t, \\ x_2(t) = (-c_1 + c_2) e^t - c_2 t e^t. \end{cases}$$

When  $x_1 < -1$ , (1.8.2) is

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 + x_2 - 3, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1, \end{cases}$$
(1.8.5)



Figure 1.8.1. The relation between different stabilities.

which has general solution:

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t) &= \frac{1}{2}e^{-\frac{1}{2}t} \left( c_1 \left( \cos \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t \right) + \sqrt{3} \sin \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}e^{-\frac{1}{2}t} \left( c_2 \left( \sin \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t \right) - \sqrt{3} \cos \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t \right), \\ x_2(t) &= c_1 e^{-\frac{1}{2}t} \cos \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t + c_2 e^{-\frac{t}{2}} \sin \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t + 3. \end{aligned}$$

On the phase plane, asymptotic behavior of the trajectories are shown in Figure 1.8.1.

For every solution  $x_1(t)$ ,  $x_2(t)$ , the following asymptotic behavior holds

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} x_1(t) = \lim_{t \to +\infty} x_2(t) = 0,$$

so the zero solution is attractive.

But on the other hand, the solution with the initial condition:  $x_1(0) = -1$ ,  $x_2(0) = 1$  is  $x_1(t) = -e^t$ ,  $x_2(t) = e^t$ . Thus, when  $t \le 0, -1 \le x_1 \le 0$ , and

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} x_1(t) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} \left( -e^t \right) = 0,$$
$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} x_2(t) = \lim_{t \to -\infty} e^t = 0.$$

EXAMPLE 1.8.3. This example regards a system that is asymptotically stable, but not uniformity asymptotically stable. The equation is given by

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -\frac{x}{t+1},\tag{1.8.6}$$

which has the general solution:

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = x_0 \frac{t_0 + 1}{t + 1}.$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta = \varepsilon$ . When  $|x_0| < \delta$ ,  $|x(t, t_0, x_0) \leq |x_0| < \delta = \varepsilon$  for  $t \geq t_0$  holds, so the zero solution is uniformly stable, and  $\lim_{t_0 \to +\infty} x(t, t_0, x_0) = 0$ . Hence, the zero solution is asymptotically stable. But  $\forall T > 0$ , we can choose  $t_0 = t - T$ , i.e., for  $t = t_0 + T$ , we obtain

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = x_0 \frac{t_0 + 1}{t_0 + T + 1} \to x^0 \neq 0$$
 as  $t \to +\infty$ .

This means that the zero solution is not uniformly attractive, and therefore, the zero solution is not uniformly asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 1.8.4. This example regards a system that is equi-asymptotically stable, but not uniformly asymptotically stable. Consider

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = (t\sin t - \cos t - 2)x.$$
(1.8.7)

Its general solution is  $x(t, t_0, x_0) = x_0 e^{-2(t-t_0)-t \cos t + t_0 \cos t_0}$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta = \varepsilon e^{-(t-t_0)}$ . When  $|x_0| < \delta$ , we have

$$|x(t, t_0, x_0)| \leq |x_0|e^{2t_0}e^{-(t-t_0)} < \delta e^{2t_0} = \varepsilon.$$

Thus, the zero solution is stable. However,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , if we take  $\delta = \varepsilon$ ,  $T = 2t_0$ , then when  $|x_0| < \delta$ ,  $t \ge t_0 + T$ , we have

$$|x(t, t_0, x_0)| \leq |x_0|e^{-2(t-t_0)+t+t_0} = |x_0|e^{2t_0}e^{-(t-t_0)} < \delta e^{2t_0} = \varepsilon_0.$$

Since *T* does not depend on  $x_0$ , the zero solution is equi-attractive. Hence it is equi-asymptotically stable. But, when  $x_0 \neq 0$ ,

$$\left| x \left( 2n\pi + \frac{\pi}{\alpha}, 2n\pi, x_0 \right) \right| = |x_0| e^{(2n-1)\pi} \to +\infty \quad (n \to \infty).$$

Therefore, the zero solution is not uniformly stable.

EXAMPLE 1.8.5. A system with uniformly asymptotic stability but not exponential stability.

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -x^3. \tag{1.8.8}$$

The general solution can be written as  $x(t, t_0, x_0) = x_0[1 + 2x_0^2(t - t_0)]^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta = \varepsilon$ . So when  $|x_0| < \delta$ ,

$$\left|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right|<\varepsilon,$$

and  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists T(\varepsilon) > 0, \exists \sigma > 0$ , when  $|x_0| < \sigma, t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$ ,

$$|x(t, t_0, x_0)| \leq |x_0| \frac{1}{\sqrt{x_0^2(t - t_0)}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t - t_0}} < \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} < \varepsilon.$$

Obviously, it can be seen from the above general solution that the zero solution is globally uniformly asymptotically stable, but not exponentially stable.

EXAMPLE 1.8.6. A system with asymptotic stability but not equi-asymptotic stability.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dr}{dt} = \frac{\dot{g}(t,\varphi)}{g(t,\varphi)}, \\ \frac{d\varphi}{dt} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.8.9)

where

$$g(t,\varphi) = \frac{\cos^4 \varphi}{\cos^4 \varphi + (1 - t \cos^2 \varphi)^2} + \frac{1}{1 + \cos^4 \varphi} \frac{1}{1 + t^2}$$

Directly integrating equation (1.8.9) yields the general solution:

$$\begin{cases} r(t) = r(t, t_0, r_0) = r_0 \frac{g(t, \varphi_0)}{g(t_0, \varphi_0)}, \\ \varphi(t) = \varphi(t, t_0, r_0) = \varphi_0. \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$r(t) = r_0 \frac{g(t,\varphi_0)}{g(t_0,\varphi_0)} \leqslant r_0 \frac{2}{g(t_0,\varphi_0)} \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

Take  $\delta = \varepsilon g(t_0, \varphi_0)/k$ , then when  $r_0 < \delta$ , we have

$$\left|g(t)\right| \leqslant r_0 \frac{2}{g(t_0,\varphi_0)} < \delta \frac{2}{g(t_0,\varphi_0)} = \varepsilon$$

so the zero solution is stable.

From the general solution, we can see that the zero solution is attractive, but is not equi-attractive. In fact, take

$$t_0 = \frac{1}{2\cos^2 \varphi_0}, \qquad t_1 = \frac{1}{\cos^2 \varphi_0},$$

and let  $\varphi_0 \to k\pi + \frac{\pi}{2}$  and  $k \to \infty$ , then  $t_1 \to +\infty$ . In this case,

$$r(t_1) = r_0 \frac{g(t_1, \varphi_0)}{g(t_0, \varphi_0)} \to \infty \quad \text{when } \varphi_0 \to k\pi + \frac{\pi}{2}.$$

Thus, the zero solution is not equi-attractive, i.e., it is not equi-asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 1.8.7. A system showing exponential stability but not globally asymptotic stability. The equation is

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -x + x^2,$$
(1.8.10)

which has general solution

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = \frac{x_0 e^{-(t-t_0)}}{x_0 e^{-(t-t_0)} - x_0 + 1}.$$

Consider a region  $\Omega_0 := \{x \| x \| \le r_0 < 1\}$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta = \min\{r_0, (1 - r_0)\varepsilon\}$ . Then, when  $t_0 \in [t_0 + \infty)$ ,  $|x_0| < \delta$ , for all  $t \ge t_0$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| x(t, t_0, x_0) \right| &= \frac{x_0 e^{-(t-t_0)}}{1-x_0} < \frac{\delta}{1-r_0} e^{-(t-t_0)} \\ &= \varepsilon e^{-(t-t_0)} \leqslant \varepsilon e^{-(t-t_0)} \quad \text{for } 0 \leqslant x_0 \leqslant r_0, \\ \left| x(t, t_0, x_0) \right| &= \frac{|x_0| e^{-(t-t_0)}}{1-x_0(1-e^{-(t-t_0)})} \leqslant |x_0| e^{-(t-t_0)} \\ &< \varepsilon e^{-(t-t_0)} \leqslant \varepsilon \quad \text{for } -r_0 \leqslant x_0 \leqslant 0. \end{aligned}$$

From the above expression, we easily find that the zero solution is exponentially stable. But if we take  $t = t_0$ ,  $x_0 = 1$ , then the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \equiv 1$  (as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ ). Hence, the zero solution is not globally stable.

EXAMPLE 1.8.8. A system with equi-asymptotic stability but not globally asymptotic stability and not quasi-uniformly asymptotic stability.

Consider the differential equation:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \begin{cases} -\frac{x}{t}, & \text{for } -1 \leqslant xt \leqslant 1, \\ \frac{x}{t} - \frac{2}{t^2}, & \text{for } xt > 1, \\ \frac{x}{t} + \frac{2}{t^2}, & \text{for } xt < -1. \end{cases}$$
(1.8.11)

Its general solution is

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = \begin{cases} \frac{t_0, x_0}{t}, & \text{for } -1 \leq xt \leq 1, \\ \frac{1}{t} + t \left(\frac{x_0}{t_0} - \frac{1}{t_0^2}\right), & \text{for } xt > 1, \\ -\frac{1}{t} + t \left(\frac{x_0}{t_0} - \frac{1}{t_0^2}\right), & \text{for } xt < -1. \end{cases}$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ (\varepsilon < 1), \forall t_0 > 0$ , choose  $\delta = \min(1/t_0, \varepsilon)$ . Then  $|x_0| < \delta$  implies

$$\left|x(t_1, t_0, x_0)\right| = \left|\frac{t_0 x_0}{t}\right| \leq |x_0| < \varepsilon.$$

Hence the zero solution of (1.8.11) is stable. On the other hand,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$  ( $\varepsilon < 1$ ),  $\forall t_0 > 0$ , take  $\eta(t_0) = \frac{1}{t_0}$ ,  $T(\varepsilon, t_0) = \frac{t_0\eta(t_0)}{\varepsilon}$ . Then, when  $|x_0| < \eta(t_0)$ , we have

$$\left|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right| = \left|\frac{t_0x_0}{t}\right| = \frac{t_0|x_0|}{t} \leqslant \frac{t_0|x_0|}{t_0 + T(\varepsilon,t_0)} < \frac{b_0\eta(t_0)}{T(\varepsilon,t_0)} = \varepsilon$$

for all  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, t_0)$ . So the zero solution is equi-attractive.

Let  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{3}$ ,  $\delta > 0$ . Then,  $\exists t_0 > 0$  and  $x_0$  ( $|x_0| < \delta$ ) such that  $t_0 x_0 > 1$ . Taking  $t_1 = \frac{1}{3} \max(t_0, \frac{t_1^2}{x_0 t_0 - 1})$  results in

$$x(t_1, t_0, x_0) = \frac{1}{t_1} + t_1 \left( \frac{x_0}{t_0} - \frac{1}{t_0^2} \right) \ge t_1 \frac{t_0 x_0 - 1}{t_1^2} \ge \frac{1}{3}.$$

This means that the zero solution is not uniformly stable.

Choose  $\varepsilon_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \eta > 0, \exists t_0 > 0 \text{ and } x_0, |x_0| < \eta \text{ such that } t_0 x_0 > 1.$  Take  $T \ge \max(\frac{1}{t_0 x_0 - 1} - t_0, 0)$ . Then, when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ ,

$$\left|x(t,t_{0},x_{0})\right| = \left|\frac{1}{t} + t\left(\frac{x_{0}}{t_{0}} - \frac{1}{t_{0}^{2}}\right)\right| > t\frac{t_{0}x_{0} - 1}{t_{0}^{2}} \ge (t_{0} + T)\frac{t_{0}x_{0} - 1}{t_{0}^{2}} \ge \frac{1}{2}$$

Therefore, the zero solution is not uniformly attractive.

Finally, let  $t_0 x_0 > 1$ . Then

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = \frac{1}{t} + t \left(\frac{x_0}{t_0} - \frac{1}{t_0^2}\right) = \frac{1}{t} + t \left(\frac{t_0 x_0 - 1}{t_0^2}\right) \implies \text{ as } t \to \infty.$$

So the zero solution is not globally attractive.

The zero solution of (1.8.11) is only equi-asymptotically stable but not globally asymptotically stable and nor quasi-uniformly asymptotically stable, as shown in Figure 1.8.2.

The above eight examples show the difference in various stability definitions. However, for certain specific systems such as time independent systems, periodic systems and linear systems, there still exist some equivalent relations between some stability definitions.

Consider the periodic system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \quad f(t, 0) = 0,$$
 (1.8.12)

 $f \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n]$ . Assure that the solution of (1.8.12) is unique for Cauchy problem.

THEOREM 1.8.9. If  $\exists a \text{ period } \omega > 0 \text{ such that}$ 

$$f(t+\omega, x) \equiv f(t, x),$$

then the zero solution of (1.8.12) is stable, if and only if it is uniformly stable.



| (1) G.E.S.    | (2) G.U.A.S. | (3) G.q.U.A.S. |
|---------------|--------------|----------------|
| (4) G.Eq.A.S. | (5) G.A.S.   | (6) E.S.       |
| (7) U.A.S.    | (8) q.U.A.S. | (9) Eq.A.S.    |
| (10) A.S.     | (11) U.S.    | (12) S.        |

Figure 1.8.2. The relation of various stabilities.

PROOF. We only need to prove that the stability implies the uniform stability.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta_1(\varepsilon, \omega) > 0$ , when  $\|x_0\| < \delta_1(\varepsilon, \omega), \|x(t, \omega, x_0)\| < \varepsilon$  holds for all  $t \ge \omega$ . Let  $\|x(t_0, \omega, x_0)\| \le \delta_2$  ( $0 \le t_0 \le \omega, \|x_0 < \delta_1$ ),  $\delta = \min(\delta_1, \delta_2)$ . Then, when  $\|x_0\| < \delta, \forall t_0 \in [0, \omega]$ , for all  $t \ge t_0$ , we have  $\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon$ ,  $\forall \tilde{t}_0 \in [t_0 + \infty)$ . Let  $\tilde{t}_0 = m\omega + t_0, \tilde{t} = m\omega + t$ , where  $m = [\frac{\delta_0}{\omega}]$  denotes the largest integer part. Suppose that  $\xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)$  is an arbitrary solution of (1.8.12), set  $x(t + m\omega, t_0 + m\omega, x_0) := \xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)$ .

Since  $f(t + \omega, x) \equiv f(t, x)$  implies that  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  is also a solution of (1.8.12), and  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \equiv x(t + m\omega, t_0 + m\omega, x_0) := \xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)$ , thus when  $||x_0|| < \xi, t \in [0, +\infty), ||\xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)|| = ||x(t, t_0, x_0)||$  holds. So the zero solution of (1.8.12) is uniformly stable.

COROLLARY 1.8.10. If system (1.8.12) is autonomous, i.e.,  $f(t, x) \equiv f(x)$ , then the stability and uniform stability of the zero solution of (1.8.12) are equivalent, since the autonomous system is a specific case of periodic systems.

THEOREM 1.8.11. For periodic system (1.8.12), its zero solution is asymptotically stable if and only if it is uniformly asymptotically stable.

PROOF. We only need to prove that the attraction of the zero solution implies the uniform attraction. By Theorem 1.8.9,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \sigma(t_0) > 0$ ,  $\exists T(\varepsilon, \sigma, t_0)$ , when  $t > t_0 + T(\varepsilon, \sigma, t_0)$ ,  $||x_0|| < \sigma(t_0)$ , we have

$$\|x_0\| < \|\sigma(t_0)\| < \varepsilon.$$

For an arbitrary solution  $\xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)$ , let  $\tilde{t}_0 = m\omega + t_0$ ,  $\tilde{t} = m\omega + t$  and  $x(t + m\omega, t_0 + m\omega, x_0) := \xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)$  owing to the uniqueness of solution for (1.8.12) and  $f(t + \omega, x) \equiv f(t)$ . Therefore,

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) \equiv x(t + m\omega, t_0 + m\omega, x_0) = \xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0).$$

Thus, when

$$t + m\omega - t_0 - m\omega = t - t_0 > T(\varepsilon, \sigma, t_0),$$
  
$$\|\xi(\tilde{t}, \tilde{t}_0, x_0)\| = \|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon,$$

i.e., the zero solution of (1.8.12) is uniformly attractive.

The proof is complete.

COROLLARY 1.8.12. If (1.8.12) is an autonomous system, i.e.,  $f(t, x) \equiv f(x)$ , then the asymptotic stability and uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution are equivalent.

THEOREM 1.8.13. In (1.8.12), if f(t, x) = A(t)x, then the zero solution of (1.8.11) has the following stability equivalent relations:



Figure 1.8.3. The equivalent relations of different stabilities: (a) Ex. 1 (b) Ex. 3 (c) Ex. 4 (d) Ex. 5 (c) Ex. 6 (f) Ex. 7 (c) Ex. 8 (f) Auto. or periodic system (Theorem 1.8.1) (f) Periodic system (Theorem 1.8.2) (f) linear system (Theorem 1.8.3) (f) globally exponential stability (f) globally uniformly asymptotic stability (f) globally quasi-uniformly asymptotic stability (f) globally equi-asymptotic stability (f) globally asymptotic stability (f) exponential stability (f) equi-asymptotic stability (f) quasi-uniformly asymptotic stability (f) quasi-uniformly asymptotic stability (f) equi-asymptotic stability (f) quasi-uniform stability (f) equi-asymptotic stability (f) quasi-uniform stability (f) employed (f)

- (1) *local asymptotic stability and global asymptotic stability are equivalent;*
- (2) asymptotic stability equivalent to equi-asymptotic stability;
- (3) uniformly asymptotic stability and exponential stability are the same;
- (4) if A(t) = A (a constant matrix), then asymptotic stability and exponential stability are the same.

The proof for Theorem 1.8.13 will be given in Chapter 2. The equivalent relations of different stabilities are shown in Figure 1.8.3.

This page intentionally left blank

# Linear Systems with Constant Coefficients

The solutions to linear differential equations with constant coefficients can be expressed as linear combination of the product of a polynomial and an exponential function, i.e., linear combination of the terms  $P_i(x)e^{\lambda_i t}$ . Solving a linear differential equation with constant coefficients can be transformed to solve a linear algebraic problem, more precisely, an eigenvalue-eigenvector problem. Therefore, there are many classical results and methods. Moreover, many practical approaches are also available in computer software.

In this chapter, we elaborate various criteria of stability for linear system of differential equations with constant coefficients. These results and methods are practical for engineers, especially, for those who are concerned with automatic control.

The materials presented in this chapter are mainly taken from [342,343] for Section 2.1, [234] for Section 2.2, [342] for Section 2.3, [396] for Section 2.4, and [395] for Section 2.5.

## 2.1. NASCs for stability and asymptotic stability

In this section, we consider the necessary and sufficient conditions (NASCs) for stability and asymptotic stability. Consider the following *n*-dimensional linear differential equations with real constant coefficients:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax, \quad x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T, \ A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}.$$
(2.1.1)

Let  $\lambda(A)$  be the eigenvalue of  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$ .

DEFINITION 2.1.1. If all eigenvalues of matrix  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  are located on the open left side of complex plane, i.e.,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_i(A) < 0$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ , then *A* is said to be Hurwitz stable. If all eigenvalues of *A* lie on the closed left side of complex plane, i.e.,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_i(A) \leq 0$  ( $i = 1, \ldots, n$ ) and if  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_{j_0}(A) = 0$ ,  $\lambda_{j_0}$  only correspond to simple elementary divisor of *A*, then *A* is said to be quasi-stable.

THEOREM 2.1.2. The zero solution of systems (2.1.1) is asymptotically stable, if and only if A is Hurwitz stable; the zero solution of (2.1.1) is stable if and only if A is quasi-stable.

**PROOF.** The general solution of (2.1.1) can be expressed as

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = e^{A(t-t_0)} x_0 = K(t, t_0) x_0,$$
(2.1.2)

where  $K(t, t_0) = e^{A(t-t_0)}$  is called Cauchy matrix solution or standard fundamental solution matrix.

Let  $A = SJS^{-1}$ , J is a Jordan canonical form. Then,

$$\begin{split} e^{A(t-t_0)} &= e^{SJS^{-1}(t-t_0)} = Se^{J(t-t_0)}S^{-1}, \\ e^{J(t-t_0)} &= \text{diag} \Big( e^{J_1(t-t_0)}, e^{J_2(t-t_0)}, \dots, e^{J_r(t-t_0)} \Big), \\ e^{J_j(t-t_0)} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (t-t_0) & \frac{(t-t_0)^2}{2!} & \cdots & \frac{(t-t_0)^{n_j-1}}{(n_j-1)!} \\ 0 & 1 & t-t_0 & \vdots \\ \vdots & 1 & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}_{n_j \times n_j} e^{\lambda_j(t-t_0)} \\ \sum_{i=1}^r n_i &= n. \end{split}$$

One can easily show that the stability of zero solution of system (2.1.1) is determined by the boundedness of  $e^{A(t-t_0)}$ , or the boundedness of  $e^{J(t-t_0)}$  or the boundedness of all  $e^{J_i(t-t_0)}$  (i = 1, 2, ..., r), i.e.,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j \leq 0$ , and when  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j = 0$ ,  $n_j = 1$ , i.e., *A* is quasi-stable. Asymptotic stability of the zero solution of system (2.1.1) is given by

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} e^{A(t-t_0)} = 0,$$

or

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} e^{J(t-t_0)} = 0,$$

which is equivalent to

$$\lim_{t\to+\infty}e^{J_i(t-t_0)}\quad (i=1,2,\ldots,n_r).$$

That is,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & t - t_0 & \frac{t - t_0}{2!} & \cdots & \frac{(t - t_0)^{n_j - 1}}{(n_j - 1)!} \\ 0 & 1 & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \\ \vdots & \vdots & 1 & t - t_0 \\ 0 & 0 & & 1 \end{bmatrix} e^{\lambda_j (t - t_0)} = 0$$
for all  $j = 1, 2, \dots, r$ ,

and thus  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j < 0$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n) implying that A is a Hurwitz matrix.

The proof is complete.

Let

$$f_n(\lambda) := \det(\lambda E_n - A) = a_0 + a_1 \lambda + \dots + \lambda^n, \qquad (2.1.3)$$

where

$$a_{0} = (-1)^{n} \det |A|, \quad a_{1} = (-1) \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii},$$

$$a_{2} = (-1)^{2} \sum_{i < j} \begin{vmatrix} a_{ii} & a_{ij} \\ a_{ji} & a_{jj} \end{vmatrix}, \quad \dots, \quad a_{n} = 1,$$

$$M_{f} := \begin{bmatrix} a_{1} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_{3} & a_{2} & a_{1} & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{2n-1} & a_{2n-2} & \cdots & 0 & a_{n} \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $a_s = 0$  when s < 0 or s > n.

THEOREM 2.1.3. Suppose  $a_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n. A is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if

$$\Delta_{1} = a_{1} > 0, \ \Delta_{2} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & a_{0} \\ a_{3} & a_{2} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \ \Delta_{3} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & a_{0} & 0 \\ a_{3} & a_{2} & a_{1} \\ a_{5} & a_{4} & a_{3} \end{vmatrix} > 0, \ \dots,$$
$$\Delta_{n} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & a_{0} & \cdots & 0 \\ a_{3} & a_{2} & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & a_{n-2} \\ a_{2n-1} & a_{2n-2} & a_{n} \end{vmatrix} = \Delta_{n-1}a_{n} > 0, \ a_{n} = 1.$$

This is a well-known result, and the proof can be found in [98]. If A is a Hurwitz matrix, we write  $f_n(\lambda) \in H$ .

Next we study the quasi-stability of A.

We still consider system (2.1.3). If Re  $\lambda(A) \leq 0$ , the polynomial  $f_n(\lambda)$  is called Routh polynomial and denoted by  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$ . Obviously, A is quasi-stable only if  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$ , and it is easy to prove that  $f(\lambda) \in qH$  only when  $a_i \geq 0$ (i = 1, ..., n - 1). One may determine whether  $f_n(x) \in qH$  by using Hurwitz criterion. Demidovich [98] stated that  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  if and only if

$$\Delta_{1} = a_{1} \ge 0,$$

$$\Delta_{2} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & a_{0} \\ a_{3} & a_{2} \end{vmatrix} \ge 0, \dots, \Delta_{n} = \begin{vmatrix} a_{1} & a_{0} & \cdots & 0 \\ a_{3} & a_{2} & \vdots \\ \vdots & & a_{n-2} \\ a_{2n-1} & a_{2n-2} & & a_{n} \end{vmatrix} \ge 0,$$

but without giving proof. Later, a counter-example [408] shows that the above conditions are not sufficient. Now we discuss this issue further.

LEMMA 2.1.4.  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  if and only if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) := f_n(\lambda + \varepsilon) \in H$ .

PROOF. *Necessity.* Consider a fixed  $\varepsilon$  and  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ . Let  $\alpha = c + id$  (*c*, *d* are real numbers) be any zero point of  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = f_n(\lambda + \varepsilon)$ , then  $f_n((c + \varepsilon) + id) = f_n(\alpha + \varepsilon) = g_{\varepsilon}(\alpha) = 0$ . Thus,  $c + \varepsilon + id$  is a zero point of  $f_n(\lambda)$ . Since  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$ ,  $c + \varepsilon \leq 0$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$ , so c < 0. This mean that  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = f_n(\lambda + \varepsilon) \in H$ .

Sufficiency. Let  $\lambda_0 = \xi + i\eta$  be any zero point of  $f_n(\lambda)$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$  ( $\varepsilon \ll 1$ ), due to  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_0 - \varepsilon) = f_n((\lambda_0 - \varepsilon) + \varepsilon) = f_n(\lambda_0) = 0$ ,  $\lambda_0 - \varepsilon$  is a zero point of  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$  and  $g_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \in H$ . It implies  $\operatorname{Re}(\lambda_0 - \varepsilon) < 0$ . Since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_0 \leq 0$ . i.e.,  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$ .

Lemma 2.1.4 is proved.

Let  $g_{\varepsilon} = f_n(\lambda + \varepsilon) = \lambda^n + \tilde{a}_{n-1}\lambda^{n-1} + \dots + \tilde{a}_1(\varepsilon)\lambda + \tilde{a}_0(\varepsilon)$ . Corresponding to  $g_{\varepsilon}$ , we can verify whether the matrix  $M_{g\varepsilon}$  is Hurwitz. Here,

$$M_{g\varepsilon} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{a}_1(\varepsilon) & \tilde{a}_0(\varepsilon) & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ \tilde{a}_3(\varepsilon) & \tilde{a}_2(\varepsilon) & \tilde{a}_1(\varepsilon) & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & & \\ \tilde{a}_{2n-1}(\varepsilon) & \tilde{a}_{2n-2}(\varepsilon) & \cdots & \cdots & \tilde{a}_n(\varepsilon) \end{bmatrix}$$

in which  $\tilde{a}_s(\varepsilon) = 0$  for s > n or s < 0.

COROLLARY 2.1.5.  $g_{\varepsilon} \in H$  if and only if all major subdeterminants of  $M_{g\varepsilon}$  are greater than zero.

Since  $\tilde{a}_i(\varepsilon)$  is a polynomial of  $\varepsilon$ , it is difficult to check the conditions of Corollary 2.1.5. In the following, we give an equivalent and simple condition.

It is well known that for an *m*th-degree polynomial with real coefficients, given by

$$g(x) = a_m x^m + a_{m-1} x^{m-1} + \dots + a_1 x + a_0,$$

if  $a_0 = a_1 = \cdots = a_{k-1} = 0$ ,  $a_k \neq 0$ , then when  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ ,  $g(\varepsilon)a_k > 0$ . Since  $g(\varepsilon) = (a_m \varepsilon^{m-k} + \cdots + a_k)\varepsilon^k = a_k \varepsilon^k [1 + 0(1)]$  (as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ ). Thus  $g(\varepsilon)a_k = a_k^2 \varepsilon^k [1 + 0(1)] > 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

According to this fact, we can ignore higher order terms of  $\varepsilon$  in every term of  $M_{g\varepsilon}$ , which is denoted as  $M_{H\varepsilon}$  Thus, we obtain a new criterion for Hurwitz method. That is, all major subdeterminants of  $M_{g\varepsilon}$  are greater than zero if and only if all major subdeterminants of  $M_{H\varepsilon}$  are greater than zero.

EXAMPLE 2.1.6. Verify  $f_5(z) = 1 + z^2 + z^5 \notin qH$ . Let

$$g_{\varepsilon}(z) = f(z + \varepsilon)$$
  
= 1 + (z + \varepsilon)^{2} + (z + \varepsilon)^{5}  
= z^{5} + 5\varepsilon z^{4} + 10z^{2}z^{3} + (10z^{3} + 1)z^{2} + (5\varepsilon^{4} + 2\varepsilon)z + (\varepsilon^{5} + \varepsilon^{2} + 1),

$$M_{g\varepsilon} = \begin{bmatrix} 5\varepsilon^4 + 2\varepsilon & \varepsilon^5 + \varepsilon^2 + 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 10\varepsilon^2 & 10\varepsilon^3 + 1 & 5\varepsilon^4 + 2\varepsilon & \varepsilon^5 + \varepsilon^2 + 1 & 0\\ 1 & 5\varepsilon & 10\varepsilon^2 & 10\varepsilon^3 + 1 & 5\varepsilon^4 + 2\varepsilon\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 5\varepsilon & 10\varepsilon^2\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$M_{H\varepsilon} = \begin{bmatrix} 2\varepsilon & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 10\varepsilon^2 & 1 & 2\varepsilon & 1 & 0\\ 1 & 5\varepsilon & 10\varepsilon^2 & 1 & 2\varepsilon\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 5\varepsilon & 10\varepsilon^2\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Now we compute the major subdeterminants of  $M_{H\varepsilon}$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} \Delta_1 &= 2\varepsilon > 0\\ \Delta_2 &= \begin{vmatrix} 2\varepsilon & 1\\ 10\varepsilon^2 & 1 \end{vmatrix} = 2\varepsilon [1+0(1)] > 0 \quad \text{when } 0 < \varepsilon \ll 1,\\ \Delta_3 &= \begin{vmatrix} 2\varepsilon & 1 & 0\\ 10\varepsilon^2 & 1 & 2\varepsilon\\ 1 & 5\varepsilon & 10\varepsilon^2 \end{vmatrix} = 2\varepsilon [1+0(1)] > 0 \quad \text{when } 0 < \varepsilon \ll 1,\\ \vdots \end{split}$$

$$\Delta_n = 5\varepsilon \Delta_3 - \begin{vmatrix} 2\varepsilon & 1 & 0\\ 10\varepsilon^2 & 1 & 1\\ 1 & 5\varepsilon & 1 \end{vmatrix} = -[1+0(1)] < 0 \quad \text{when } 0 < \varepsilon \ll 1,$$

so  $f(z) \notin qH$ .

LEMMA 2.1.7. Let  $\lambda_0$  be an eigenvalue of real matrix  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$ . Suppose that its algebraic multiplicity is S, then  $\lambda_0$  only corresponds to simple elementary divisor of  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$ , if and only if rank $(\lambda_0 I - A) = n - s$ .

PROOF. Let  $C^n$  be an *n*-dimensional compound vector space. Let  $V_{\lambda_0} = \{\beta \mid \beta \in c^n, A\beta = \lambda_0\beta\}$  be eigensubspace with  $\lambda_0, \tau = \dim V_{\lambda_0} = n - \operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0I - A)$  is called the geometric dimension. So  $\lambda_0$  only corresponds to simple elementary divisor of  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  if and only if  $s = \tau$ , i.e., if and only if  $n - \operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0I - A) = s$  or  $\operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0I - A) = n - s$ .

LEMMA 2.1.8. Let the order of Jordan block,

|     | $\Gamma^a$ | 1     | 0   | • • • | 0 T                         |
|-----|------------|-------|-----|-------|-----------------------------|
|     | 0          | а     | ••• | •••   | 0                           |
| J = | 1 :        |       | ۰.  |       | :                           |
|     | 1:         |       |     | ·     | 1                           |
|     | L0         | • • • | ••• | •••   | $a  \lrcorner_{m \times m}$ |

be m. Then m = 1 if and only if

$$\operatorname{rank}(\alpha I_n - J) = \operatorname{rank}(\alpha I_n - J)^2.$$
(2.1.4)

PROOF. Necessity. When m = 1, aI - J = 0, so  $(aI - J)^2 = 0$ , i.e., rank $(aI - J) = \text{rank}(\alpha I - J)^2$ .

Sufficiency. If m > 1, when

$$J - aI_m = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & 0 & \ddots & & 0 \\ \vdots & & & & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{m \times m}$$
$$(J - aI_m)^2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ & & \ddots & 0 \\ & & & \ddots & 1 \\ & & & \ddots & 0 \\ & & & & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{m \times m}$$

Obviously,  $\operatorname{rank}(J-aI_m) > \operatorname{rank}(J-aI_m)^2$ , which contradicts (2.1.4), so m = 1. The proof is complete.

COROLLARY 2.1.9. Let  $J = \text{diag}(J_1, \ldots, J_r)$  and  $\lambda_0$  be an eigenvalue of J. Then,  $\lambda_0$  only corresponds to simple elementary divisor if and only if  $\text{rank}(\lambda_0 I - J) = \text{rank}(\lambda_0 I - J)^2$ .

PROOF. Since  $J^2 = \text{diag}(J_i^2, \dots, J_r^2)$ , by Lemma 2.1.8 we know that the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 2.1.10. Let  $\lambda_0$  be an eigenvalue of  $A_{n \times n}$ . Then  $\lambda_0$  only corresponds to simple elementary divisor if and only if

$$\operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0 I - A) = \operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0 I - A)^2.$$
(2.1.5)

**PROOF.** By Jordan theorem, there exists an invertible matrix T such that

$$T^{-1}AT = \begin{bmatrix} J_1 & 0\\ 0 & J_r \end{bmatrix} := J$$

where  $J_k$  (k = 1, ..., r) are Jordan blocks. This indicates that J has the same elementary divisor.  $\lambda_0$  corresponds to simple elementary divisor of J if and only if  $\lambda_0$  corresponds to simple elementary divisor of A. But since

$$\lambda_0 I = \lambda_0 I - T^{-1} (\lambda_0 I - A) T,$$
  

$$(\lambda_0 I - J)^2 = T^{-1} (\lambda_0 I - A)^2 T,$$
  

$$\operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0 I - J) = \operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0 I - J)^2 \text{ if and only if } \operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0 I - A) = \operatorname{rank}(\lambda_0 I - A)^2. \square$$

COROLLARY 2.1.11. A has no pure imaginary eigenvalues or A has pure imaginary eigenvalues (including zero) which only correspond to simple elementary divisor of A if and only if rank $(i\omega I - A) = \operatorname{rank}(i\omega I - A)^2$  for all  $\omega \in \mathbb{R}^1$ .

Based on the above lemmas and corollaries, we obtain the following theorems for  $A_{n \times n}$  being quasi-stable.

THEOREM 2.1.12. A is quasi-stable if and only if  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  and  $\operatorname{rank}(i\omega I - A) = \operatorname{rank}(i\omega I - A)^2$ .

THEOREM 2.1.13. A is quasi-stable if and only if  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  and for every real number  $\omega$ , the linear algebraic equation  $(i\omega I - A)^2 x = 0$  and  $(i\omega I - A)x = 0$  have the same solution.

THEOREM 2.1.14. If  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  and

$$\left(f_n(\lambda), \frac{df_n(\lambda)}{d\lambda}\right) = 1,$$
(2.1.6)

*i.e.*,  $f_n(\lambda)$  and  $\frac{df_n(\lambda)}{d\lambda}$  have no common factors, then A is quasi-stable.

PROOF. Equation (2.1.6) means that A has no multiple eigenvalues, so all eigenvalues correspond to simple elementary divisor of A. Thus,  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  implies A being quasi-stable. Π

Let  $\omega$  be a real number and  $f_n(i\omega) = U_n(\omega) + iV_n(\omega)$ , where  $U_n(\omega)$ ,  $V_n(\omega)$ are polynomials with real coefficients. Then we have the following result.

COROLLARY 2.1.15. If  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$  and

$$\left(U_n(\omega), \frac{dU_n(\omega)}{d\omega}\right) = 1 = \left(V_n(\omega), \frac{dV_n(\omega)}{d\omega}\right),\tag{2.1.7}$$

then A is quasi-stable.

**PROOF.** It is easy to see from (2.1.7) that the pure imaginary eigenvalues of  $f_n(\lambda)$ are all mono-roots. Hence, they are only correspond to simple elementary divisor and  $f_n(\lambda) \in qH$ . Therefore, A is quasi-stable. 

EXAMPLE 2.1.16. Consider quasi-stability of

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} & a_{33} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Let  $f_3(\lambda) = |\lambda I_3 - A| = \lambda^3 + a_2 \lambda^2 + a_1 \lambda + a_0$ .

- When a<sub>0</sub><sup>2</sup> + a<sub>1</sub><sup>2</sup> ≠ 0, A is quasi-stable if and only if f<sub>3</sub>(λ) ∈ qH.
   When a<sub>0</sub><sup>2</sup> + a<sub>1</sub><sup>2</sup> = 0, a<sub>2</sub> ≠ 0 A is quasi-stable if and only if f<sub>3</sub>(λ) ∈ qH and  $\operatorname{rank}(A) = 1.$
- (3) When  $a_0 = a_1 = a_2 = 0$ , A is quasi-stable if and only if A = 0.

**PROOF.** (1) Necessity is obvious. Sufficiency. When  $a_0 \neq 0$ , by  $f_3(\lambda) \in qH$  we know that  $f_3(\lambda)$  has three negative real roots, or has one negative real root and two complex conjugate roots with nonpositive real parts. Hence all of them are mono-roots; when  $a_0 = 0$ , but  $a_1 \neq 0$ ,  $f_3(\lambda) \in qH$ ,  $a_2^2 - 4a_1 > 0$  implies that  $f_3(\lambda)$  has three nonequal, nonpositive real roots;  $a_2^2 - 4a_1 < 0$  implies that  $f_3(\lambda)$ has three different nonpositive real roots. While  $a_2^2 - 4a_1 = 0$  implies that  $f_3(\lambda)$ has three nonpositive real roots which are all mono-roots. Thus, A is quasi-stable.  $f_3(\lambda) \in qH$  is obvious.

(2) When  $a_1 = a_0 = 0$ ,  $a_2 \neq 0$ ,  $f_3(\lambda) = \lambda^2(a_2 + \lambda)$  has two multiroots  $\lambda = 0$ and  $\lambda = -a_2 < 0$ .

If A is quasi-stable, then  $f_3(\lambda) \in qH$  and  $\lambda = 0$  corresponds to simple elementary divisor of A and the algebraic multiplicity number of  $\lambda = 0$  is 2. By Lemma 2.1.7 we know that

dim 
$$V_0 = 3 - 2 = 1 = \operatorname{rank}(OI - A_{3\times 3}) = \operatorname{rank}(-A_{3\times 3})$$
  
= rank $(A_{3\times 3})$ .

On the other hand, if  $f_3(\lambda) \in qH$ , then  $a_2 > 0$ ,  $\lambda_1 = 0$ ,  $\lambda_2 = 0$ ,  $\lambda_3 = -a_2$  are three roots of  $f_3(\lambda) = 0$ . Then by rank(A) = 1 and Lemma 2.1.1 we know that  $\lambda = 0$  only corresponds to linear elementary divisor. Thus, A is quasi-stable.

(3)  $f_3(\lambda) = \lambda^3$  has three multiroot  $\lambda = 0$ , which only corresponds to linear elementary divisor if and only if dim  $V_0 = 3 - 3 = 0 = \operatorname{rank}(A)$  and therefore if and only if A = 0.

#### 2.2. Sufficient conditions of Hurwitz matrix

By using the necessary and sufficient condition, theoretically, to check whether a matrix A is Hurwitz or a quasi-stable matrix becomes an algebraic problem. However, it becomes very involved when n is large, since it is very difficult to expand det( $\lambda I_n - A$ ). Thus, we need some simple sufficient conditions in practical designs. In this section, we present various algebraic sufficient conditions that guarantee A to be a Hurwitz matrix.

LEMMA 2.2.1. Let  $B(b_{ij})_{r \times r}$  be a real matrix,  $b_{ij} \ge 0$   $(i \ne j)$ .  $g(t, t_0, c)$  and  $z(t, t_0, c)$  are respectively, the solutions of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy}{dt} \leqslant By + f(t), \\ y(t_0) = c, \end{cases}$$
(2.2.1)

and

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dz}{dt} = Bz + f(t), \\ z(t_0) = c, \end{cases}$$
(2.2.2)

where  $f(t) = (f_1(t), \ldots, f_n(t))^T \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^n], z, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Then  $y(t, t_0, c) \leq z(t, t_0, c), i.e., y_i(t, t_0, c) \leq z_i(t, t_0, c) \forall t \geq t_0$ .

PROOF. Let W(t) := z(t) - y(t),  $U(t) := \frac{dW}{dt} - BW \ge 0$ . Then, W(t) satisfies the differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dW}{dt} = BW + U(t), \\ W(t_0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.2.3)

Obviously, one can choose a constant k > 0 such that  $(B + kI) \ge 0$  (i.e., every element is nonnegative). Rewrite (2.2.3) as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dW}{dt} = (-kI_n + B + kI_n)W + U(t), \\ W(t_0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(2.2.4)

The solution of (2.2.4) is the continuous solution of the following integral equation:

$$W(t) = \int_{t_0}^{t} \left[ e^{-kI_n(t-t_1)} [B + kI_n] W(t_1) + U(t_1) \right] dt_1.$$
(2.2.5)

By Picard step-by-step integration we find the solution of (2.2.5) from (2.2.4):

$$\left. \frac{dW}{dt} \right|_{t=t_0} = U(t_0) \ge 0.$$

One can take zero degree approximation  $W^{(0)}(t) \ge 0$ . Since  $(B + kI_n) \ge 0$ , so  $W^{(1)}(t) \ge 0$ . By the method of mathematical induction, we can prove that  $W^{(m)}(t) \ge 0$  hold for all *m*. Thus,

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} W^{(m)}(t) = W(t) \ge 0,$$
  
i.e.,  $y(t, t_0, c) \le z(t, t_0, c).$ 

Now, we rewrite (2.1.1) as

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_r \end{pmatrix} = \left( \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & A_{22} & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & A_{rr} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A_{12} & \cdots & A_{1r} \\ A_{21} & 0 & \cdots & A_{2r} \\ \vdots & & & \\ A_{r0} & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ \times \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_r \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.2.6)$$

where  $x_i \in R^{n_i}$ ,  $A_{ii}$  and  $A_{ij}$  are  $n_i \times n_i$  and  $n_i \times n_j$  matrices, respectively, satisfying

$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} n_i = n$$

Consider the isolated subsystem:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_r \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & A_{22} & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & A_{rr} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_r \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.2.7)

THEOREM 2.2.2. If there exist constants  $M_i \ge 1$ ,  $\alpha_i > 0$  such that

$$\|e^{A_{ii}(t-t_0)}\| \leq M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)}, \quad i=1,2,\ldots,r,$$
(2.2.8)

then the  $r \times r$  matrix  $B = (-\delta_{ij}\alpha_i + (1 - \delta_{ij})M_i ||A_{ij}||)_{r \times r}$  being a Hurwitz matrix implies that A is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. We can write the solution of (2.2.6) as

$$x_i(t, t_0, x_0) = e^{A_{ii}(t-t_0)} x_{0i} + \int_{t_0}^t e^{A_{ii}(t-t_1)} \sum_{j=1}^r (1-\delta_{ij}) A_{ij} x_j(t_1, t_0, x_0) dt_1,$$

where

$$\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{if } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$
(2.2.9)

Further, we have

$$\|x_i(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq M_i \|x_{i0}\| e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} + \int_{t_0}^t M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_1)} \\ \times \sum_{j=1}^r (1-\delta_{ij}) \|A_{ij}\| \|x_j(t_1, t_0, x_0)\| dt_1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

Let

$$y_i(t, t_0, y_0) := \int_{t_0}^t M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} \sum_{j=1}^r (1-\delta_{ij}) \|A_{ij}\| \|x_j(t_1, t_0, x_0)\| dt_1,$$

then  $y_i(t, t_0, y_0)$  satisfies

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} \leqslant -\alpha_i y_i + \sum_{j=1}^r M_i \|A_{ij}\| (1 - \delta_{ij}) y_i 
+ \sum_{j=1}^r M_i \|x_{j0}\| (1 - \delta_{ij}) e^{-\alpha_j (t - t_0)} \|A_{ij}\| M_j, 
y_i(t_0) = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(2.2.10)

Consider a system of comparison equations for (2.2.10):

$$\frac{dz_i}{dt} = -\alpha_i z_i + \sum_{j=1}^r M_i \|A_{ij}\| (1 - \delta_{ij}) z_i$$

Chapter 2. Linear Systems with Constant Coefficients

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{r} M_{i} \|x_{j0}\| (1-\delta_{ij}) e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} \|A_{ij}\| M_{j},$$
  
$$z_{i}(t_{0}) = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (2.2.11)

Rewrite (2.2.11) as a vector form:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dz}{dt} = B(b_{ij})z + f(t), \\ z(t_0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.2.12)

where

$$f(t) := \left(\sum_{j=2}^{r} M_1 \|x_{j:}\| \|A_{1j}\| M_j e^{-\alpha_1(t-t_0)}, \dots, \right.$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} M_r \|x_{j0}\| \|A_{rj}\| M_j e^{-\alpha_r(t-t_0)}\right)^T.$$

Since *B* is a Hurwitz matrix, there exists constants  $h \ge 1$ ,  $\beta > 0$  such that

$$\left\|e^{B(t-t_0)}\right\| \leqslant he^{-\beta(t-t_0)}.$$

The solution of (2.2.11) has the form

$$z(t, t_0, z_0) = \int_{t_0}^t e^{B(t-t_1)} f(t_1) dt_1.$$
(2.2.13)

Thus, we have

$$||z(t)|| \leq \int_{t_0}^t h e^{-\beta(t-t_1)} f(t_1) dt_1 = h e^{-\beta t} \int_{t_0}^t e^{\beta t_1} ||f(t_1)|| dt_1.$$

Further, with the fact

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left\| f(t) \right\| = 0$$

and using the L'Hospital rule, we obtain

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} h \int_{t_0}^t e^{-\beta(t-t_1)} \|f(t_1)\| dt_1 = \lim_{t \to +\infty} h \frac{e^{\beta t} \|f(t\|)}{\beta e^{\beta t}} = 0.$$

Hence, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_i(t, t_0, x_0) \right\| &\leq M_i \| x_{i0} \| e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} + y_i(t, t_0, y_0) \\ &\leq M_i \| x_{i0} \| e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} + z_i(t, t_0, z_0) \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq M_{i} \|x_{i0}\| e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} + \|z_{i}(t, t_{0}, z_{0})\|$$
  
$$\leq M_{i} \|x_{i0}\| e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} h e^{-\beta(t-t_{1})} \|f(t_{1})\| dt_{1}$$
  
$$\to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

This means that A is a Hurwitz matrix.

EXAMPLE 2.2.3. Prove that the matrix

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -6 & 3 & 1/8 & -1/8 \\ -5 & 2 & 1/7 & -1/7 \\ 1/2 & 1 & -4 & 1 \\ 1 & 1/2 & 1 & -4 \end{bmatrix}$$

is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. Take

$$A_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} -6 & 3 \\ -5 & 2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad A_{22} = \begin{bmatrix} -4 & 1 \\ 1 & -4 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$A_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 1/8 & -1/8 \\ 1/7 & -1/7 \end{bmatrix}, \quad A_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} 1/2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1/2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then,  $\lambda_1(A_{11}) = \lambda_1 = -3$ ,  $\lambda_2(A_{11}) = \lambda_2 = -1$ ,  $\lambda_1(A_{22}) = \tilde{\lambda}_1 = -5$ ,  $\lambda_2(A_{22}) = \tilde{\lambda}_2 = -3$ . Further, choose  $t_0 = 0$ . Then,

$$e^{A_{11}(t)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5}{2}e^{-3t} - \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} & -\frac{3}{2}e^{-3t} + \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} \\ \frac{5}{2}e^{-3t} - \frac{5}{2}e^{-t} & -\frac{3}{2}e^{-3t} + \frac{5}{2}e^{-t} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$e^{A_{22}(t)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} & -\frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} \\ \frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} - \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} & \frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$\|e^{A_{11}t}\|_{m} \leqslant 3e^{-t}, \quad \|e^{A_{22}t}\|_{m} \leqslant \frac{3}{2}e^{-3t},$$
  

$$\|A_{12}\|_{m} = \frac{2}{7}, \quad \|A_{21}\|_{m} = \frac{3}{2},$$
  

$$M_{1} = 3, \quad M_{2} = \frac{3}{2}, \quad \alpha_{1} = 1, \quad \alpha_{2} = 3.$$

Thus,  $B = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 6/7 \\ 9/4 & -3 \end{bmatrix}$  is a Hurwitz matrix, and so is A. Here,

$$\|A\|_{m} := \max_{1 \le i \le 4} \sum_{j=1}^{4} |a_{ij}|.$$

47

In the following, for  $A(a_{ij})_{2\times 2}$ , we can directly give a formula for  $e^{A(t-t_0)}$ . Suppose  $a_{11}a_{22} - a_{12}a_{12} \neq 0$ .

Let

$$f_2(\lambda) = \det(\lambda I_2 - A) = \lambda^2 - (a_{11} + a_{22})\lambda + a_{11}a_{22} - a_{12}a_{21} = 0,$$
  
$$\Delta := (a_{11} + a_{12})^2 - 4(a_{11}a_{22} - a_{12}a_{21}) = (a_{11} - a_{12})^2 + 4a_{12}a_{21}$$

Then, we have the following formulas:

(1) when 
$$\Delta > 0$$
,  

$$e^{At} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{a_{22}-a_{11}-\sqrt{\Delta}}{2\sqrt{\Delta}}e^{\lambda_1 t} + \frac{a_{22}-a_{11}-\sqrt{\Delta}}{2\sqrt{\Delta}}e^{\lambda_2 t} & \frac{a_{12}}{\sqrt{\Delta}}(e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 t}) \\ \frac{a_{12}}{\sqrt{\Delta}}(e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 t}) & \frac{a_{22}-a_{11}+\sqrt{\Delta}}{2\sqrt{\Delta}}e^{\lambda_1 t} - \frac{a_{22}-a_{11}-\sqrt{\Delta}}{2\sqrt{\Delta}}e^{\lambda_2 t} \end{bmatrix};$$
(2) when  $\Delta = 0, a_{12} \neq 0$ ,

$$e^{At} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{a_{22} - a_{11}}{2}t & a_{22}t \\ -\frac{(a_{22} - a_{11})^2}{4a_{12}}t & 1 + \frac{a_{22} - a_{11}}{2}t \end{bmatrix} e^{\frac{a_{11} + a_{22}}{2}t};$$

(3) when  $\Delta < 0$ ,

$$e^{At} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\beta t - \frac{a_{22} - a_{11}}{2\beta} \sin\beta t & \frac{a_{12}}{\beta} \sin\beta t \\ \frac{a_{21}}{\beta} \sin\beta t & \cos\beta t + \frac{a_{22} - a_{11}}{2\beta} \sin\beta t \end{bmatrix} e^{\alpha t},$$
  
where  $\beta = \frac{\sqrt{-\Delta}}{\alpha}, \alpha = \frac{a_{11} + a_{22}}{2}.$ 

COROLLARY 2.2.4. If  $a_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), and matrix  $a_{ij}\delta_{ij} + (1 - \delta_{ij}|a_{ij}|)_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix, then  $A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. Take  $A_{ii} = a_{ii}$ ,  $||e^{A_{ii}t}|| = |e^{a_{ii}t}| = e^{-a_{ii}t}$ ,  $M_i = 1$ ,  $-\alpha_i = a_{ii}$ . Then, the conditions in Theorem 2.2.2 are satisfied. Recall that the conditions of Corollary 2.2.4 are equivalent to condition (6) of M matrix (Definition 1.6.1).

COROLLARY 2.2.5. Assume  $a_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, ..., n). Then any of the following six conditions implies that A is a Hurwitz matrix:

(1) 
$$\max_{1 \leq j \leq n} \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| < 1;$$

(2) 
$$\max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \neq i}}^{n} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| < 1;$$

(3) 
$$\sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}} \left( \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| \right)^2 < 1;$$

$$(4) \quad \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| \mu_i + \sum_{i=j+1}^n \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| := \mu_j < 1, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n;$$

$$(5) \quad v^{(j)} = \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| v^{(i)} + \max_{j+1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right|, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n, \quad \sum_{j=1}^n v^{(j)} < 1;$$

$$(6) \quad j \left( \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right|^2 \sigma_i^2 + \sum_{i=j+1}^n \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right|^2 \right) := \sigma_j^2, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_j^2 = \sigma^2 < 1.$$

PROOF. Any of the conditions (1), (2) and (3) implies  $\rho(B) \leq ||B|| < 1$ . By the equivalent conditions (5), (6) of *M* matrix (Definition 1.6.1), we know that the conclusion is true.

Consider the following nonhomogeneous linear algebraic equations:

$$\eta_j = \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| \eta_i + \omega_j \quad (\omega_j = \text{constant} > 0, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$
(2.2.14)

By Gauss-Seidel iteration:

$$\eta_j^{(m)} = \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| \eta_i^{(m)} + \sum_{j=j+1}^n \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| \eta_i^{(m-1)} + \omega_j,$$
(2.2.15)

one can show that any condition of (4), (5) and (6) is a sufficient condition for the convergence of (2.2.15). So (2.2.14) has unique solution. Take  $\eta_j^{(0)} \ge 0$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n). Owing to  $\omega_j > 0$ ,  $|\frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}}| \ge 0$  ( $i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, i \ne j$ ),

$$\eta_j^{(m)} \ge \omega_j > 0 \quad (m = 1, 2, \dots, j = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$

Thus,

$$\tilde{\eta}_j := \lim_{m \to \infty} \eta_j^{(m)} \geqslant \omega_j > 0.$$

Further, we have

$$a_{jj}\tilde{\eta}_j + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n |a_{ij}|\eta_i < 0.$$

By using the equivalent condition, A is a Hurwitz matrix.

EXAMPLE 2.2.6. Check whether matrix

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -8 & 1 & -2 & 2\\ 6 & -6 & 0 & 1\\ -4 & 6 & -8 & 0\\ 12 & 0 & 0 & -10 \end{bmatrix}$$

is a Hurwitz matrix.

Obviously, the diagonal elements of A,  $a_{ii} < 0$ , i = 1, 2, 3, 4. Thus,

$$\mu_{1} = \frac{1}{8} + \frac{2}{8} + \frac{2}{8} = \frac{5}{8} < 1,$$
  

$$\mu_{2} = \frac{5}{8} \times 1 + \frac{1}{6} = \frac{19}{24} < 1,$$
  

$$\mu_{3} = \frac{5}{8} \times \frac{1}{2} + \frac{19}{24} \times \frac{4}{3} = \frac{5}{16} + \frac{57}{96} = \frac{87}{96} < 1,$$
  

$$\mu_{4} = \frac{12}{10} \times \frac{5}{8} = \frac{8}{16} < 1.$$

Hence, A satisfies condition (4) in Corollary 2.2.5. Therefore A is a Hurwitz matrix.

THEOREM 2.2.7. If the following conditions:

- (1)  $a_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) and det  $A \neq 0$ ; and
- (2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$c_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n |c_i| |a_{ij}| \leq 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

are satisfied, then A is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. Let  $C = \text{diag}(c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n)$ . By the transformation y = Cx, the equation  $\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax$  becomes

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = CAC^{-1}y := By.$$

det  $B = \det A \neq 0$  and the eigenvalues of the matrices A and B are the same. By the Gershgorin's circular disc theorem, all eigenvalues are on the following circular disc:

$$|\lambda - a_{jj}| \leqslant \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \frac{|c_i a_{ij}|}{c_j} \leqslant |a_{jj}|.$$

The above inequality takes equality if and only if when  $\lambda = 0$ . But  $\lambda = 0$  is not the eigenvalue of *B*. Thus,

$$|\lambda - a_{jj}| < |a_{jj}|,$$

i.e.,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) < 0$ , so A is a Hurwitz matrix.

THEOREM 2.2.8. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., n) such that the matrix  $B := (\xi_i a_{ij} + \xi_j a_{ji})$  is negative definite, then A is a Hurwitz matrix.

**PROOF.** Multiplying  $2\xi_i x_i$  on both sides of the following equation:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j$$
(2.2.16)

yields

$$\xi_i \frac{dx_i^2}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n 2\xi_i a_{ij} x_i x_j.$$
(2.2.17)

Further, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} x_{i}^{2}\right) = (x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, x_{n}) B(x_{1}, \dots, x_{n})^{T} \leq \lambda_{m} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{2}$$
$$\leq \frac{\lambda_{m}}{\max_{1 \leq i \leq n} |\xi_{i}|} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} x_{i}^{2}, \qquad (2.2.18)$$

where  $\lambda_m$  is the maximum eigenvalue of *B*. Let

$$-\delta = \frac{\lambda_m}{\max_{1 \le i \le n} |\xi_i|} < 0.$$

Thus, integrating (2.2.18) results in

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} x_{i}^{2}(t, t_{0}, x_{0}) \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} x_{i}^{2}(t_{0}, t_{0}, x_{0}) e^{-\delta(t-t_{0})}$$

So

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} x_{i}^{2}(t, t_{0}, x_{0}) \leqslant \frac{1}{\min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \xi_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} x_{i}^{2}(t_{0}, t_{0}, x_{0}) e^{-\delta(t-t_{0})}, \qquad (2.2.19)$$

which shows that the zero solution of (2.2.16) is exponentially stable. Hence, A is a Hurwitz matrix.

COROLLARY 2.2.9. If any of the following conditions:

(1) there exist constant  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |\xi_i a_{ij} + \xi_j a_{ji}| \leqslant -2\xi_i a_{ii}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |a_{ii}a_{ij} + a_{jj}a_{ji}| \leq 2a_{ii}^2 \quad and \quad a_{ii} < 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

(3)

(2)

$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n |a_{ij} + a_{ji}| \leqslant -2a_{ii};$$

holds, then A is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. It is easy to verify that any of the conditions (1), (2) and (3) implies that B is negative.

EXAMPLE 2.2.10. Prove that

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -4 & 3 & -6 & -3 & 2 \\ -3 & -5 & 3 & -4 & 3 \\ 5 & -4 & -4 & -5 & 2 \\ 3 & 5 & 4 & -5 & 1 \\ -2 & -3 & -1 & -2 & -5 \end{bmatrix}$$

is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. Since  $a_{ii} < 0, i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5$ , and

$$\sum_{\substack{j=2\\j\neq 1}}^{5} |a_{11}a_{1j} + a_{jj}a_{j1}| = 12 < 32 = 2a_{11}^2,$$
  
$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq 2}}^{5} |a_{22}a_{2j} + a_{jj}a_{j2}| = 9 < 50 = 2a_{22}^2,$$
  
$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq 3}}^{5} |a_{33}a_{3j} + a_{jj}a_{j3}| = 8 < 32 = 2a_{33}^2,$$

$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq 4}}^{5} |a_{44}a_{4j} + a_{jj}a_{j4}| = 13 < 50 = 2a_{44}^2,$$
$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i=5}}^{4} |a_{55}a_{5j} + a_{jj}a_{j5}| = 10 < 50 = 2a_{55}^2,$$

condition (2) of Corollary 2.2.9 is satisfied. So A is a Hurwitz matrix.  $\Box$ 

DEFINITION 2.2.11. If there exists a constant h > 0 such that

$$\max_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n}\operatorname{Re}\lambda_i(A)+h<0,$$

A is called stable with degree h. By the above sufficient conditions of Hurwitz matrix A, we can obtain the degree of stability of A.

#### **Theorem 2.2.12.**

- (1) If the conditions in Theorem 2.2.2 hold under the elements  $\alpha_i$  of B replaced by  $\alpha_i + h$  (h > 0), then A has the degree of stability h.
- (2) If any of the conditions in Corollary 2.2.4 or Corollary 2.2.5 holds under the element  $a_{ii}$  of  $A(a_{ij})$  replaced by  $a_{ii} + h$  (h > 0), then A has degree of stability h.
- (3) If the condition in Theorem 2.2.7 or Theorem 2.2.8 or Corollary 2.2.9 holds under the element  $a_{ii}$  of  $A(a_{ij})$  replaced by  $a_{ii} + h$  (h > 0), then A has stability degree h.

PROOF. Let  $A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}$ ,  $\tilde{A} = ((a_{ij} + h)\delta_{ij} + (1 - \delta_{ij})a_{ij})$ . Then,  $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(\tilde{A}) = \operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) + h$ , and any of the above conditions implies  $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(\tilde{A}) < 0$ . So  $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) + h < 0$ , i.e.,  $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A) < -h < 0$ . Hence, *A* has stability of degree *h*.

## **2.3.** A new method for solving Lyapunov matrix equation: $BA + A^T B = C$

In this section we introduce a new method for solving Lyapunov matrix equation.

LEMMA 2.3.1. If there exists a symmetric, positive definite matrix  $B(b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  such that the matrix  $C := BA + A^T B$  is negative definite, then  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix.

PROOF. Let

$$\underline{\lambda}(C) = \min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i(C), \qquad \overline{\lambda}(C) = \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i(C),$$

be respectively the minimal and maximum eigenvalues of the symmetric matrix C. Consider function  $V = x^T B x$ . Then

$$\min_{1 \leq i \leq 0} \lambda_i(B) x^T x = \underline{\lambda}(B) x^T x \leq x^T B x \leq \overline{\lambda}(B) x^T x = \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \lambda_i(B) x^T x$$

is true. Computing the derivative of  $V = x^T B x$  along the solution of (2.1.1), we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = x^{T} (BA + A^{T}B)x$$

$$= x^{T}Cx \leqslant \overline{\lambda}(C)x^{T}x$$

$$= \overline{\lambda}(C)\frac{\overline{\lambda}(B)}{\overline{\lambda}(B)}x^{T}x$$

$$= \frac{\overline{\lambda}(C)}{\overline{\lambda}(B)}\overline{\lambda}(B)x^{T}x \leqslant \frac{\overline{\lambda}(C)}{\overline{\lambda}(B)}V(t).$$
(2.3.1)

Integrating (2.3.1) yields

$$V(t, t_0, x_0) \leqslant V(t_0) e^{(\lambda(C)/\lambda(B)(t-t_0))}$$

Thus,

$$\underline{\lambda}(B)\sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2(t,t_0,x_0) \leqslant V(t,t_0,x_0) \leqslant V(x_0)e^{(\overline{\lambda}(C)/\overline{\lambda}(B)(t-t_0)}.$$

Then, we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2(t, t_0, x_0) \leqslant V(t_0) / \underline{\lambda}(B) e^{(\bar{\lambda}(C)/\bar{\lambda}(B)(t-t_0))},$$
(2.3.2)

which means that A is a Hurwitz matrix.

$$BA + A^T B = C \tag{2.3.3}$$

is called Lyapunov matrix equation.

For a given negative definite, symmetric matrix, it is interesting to know whether the Lyapunov matrix equation (2.3.3) has a symmetric, positive matrix solution X = B or not. This problem has been studied by many scholars.

Now we introduce a new method. By using Kronecker product and pulling linear operator, we may directly transform a Lyapunov matrix equation (2.3.3) to

a linear algebraic equation:

$$My = b. (2.3.4)$$

Thus, we can use a simple method to solve (2.3.3).

DEFINITION 2.3.2. Let  $A = (a_{ij})_{m \times n}$ ,  $B = (b_{ij})_{j \times l}$ . Then,

$$A \otimes B := \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}B & a_{12}B & \cdots & a_{1n}B \\ \cdots & \cdots & \cdots & \cdots \\ a_{m1}B & \cdots & \cdots & a_{mn}B \end{bmatrix}$$

is called a Kronecker product of A and B.

DEFINITION 2.3.3. Let  $A = (a_{ij})_{m \times n}$ ,

$$A := (a_{11}, a_{12}, \dots, a_{1n}, a_{21}, a_{22}, \dots, a_{2n}, \dots, a_{m1}, \dots, a_{mn})^T$$

is called a pulling linear operator.

From Definitions 2.3.2 and 2.3.3 one can easily prove that

- (1) the pulling linear operator is linear operator, i.e.,  $\overrightarrow{A + B} = \overrightarrow{A} + \overrightarrow{B}$ ,  $\overrightarrow{kA} = \overrightarrow{kA}$ ;
- (2) if  $A = (a_{ij})_{m \times m}$ ,  $B = (b_{ij})_{n \times n}$ , then

$$\det(A \otimes B) = (\det A)^m (\det B)^n; \qquad (2.3.5)$$

(3)  $A \otimes B$  has inverse matrix if and only if both A and B have inverse matrices, and

$$(A \otimes B)^{-1} = A^{-1} \otimes B^{-1}.$$
 (2.3.6)

LEMMA 2.3.4. Let  $A = (a_{ij})_{m \times n}$ .  $E_{ij}$  denotes  $m \times n$  matrix with only (i, j) element as 1 and all other elements as 0. Let

$$e_i = (\underbrace{0, \ldots, 0, 1}_{i}, \underbrace{0, \ldots, 0}_{n-i})_{1 \times m}^T,$$

where 1 is located at the ith position. Then,

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} E_{ij},$$
(2.3.7)

$$Ae_i = (a_{1i}, a_{2i}, \dots, a_{mi})^T,$$
 (2.3.8)

$$e_i^I A = (a_{i1}, a_{i2}, \dots, a_{in}),$$
 (2.3.9)

$$E_{ij} = e_i e_j^T, (2.3.10)$$

$$E_{ij} = e_i \otimes e_j. \tag{2.3.11}$$

55

T

PROOF. It can be shown by a direct computation.

## LEMMA 2.3.5. Let A, B, C be $n \times m$ , $m \times s$ , $s \times t$ matrices, respectively. Then,

$$\overline{ABC} = (A \otimes C^T) \vec{B}.$$
(2.3.12)

PROOF. First prove

$$\overrightarrow{AE_{ij}C} = (A \otimes C^T)\overrightarrow{E_{ij}}.$$
(2.3.13)

Since

$$\overrightarrow{AE_{ij}C} \stackrel{\text{by (2.3.10)}}{=} \overrightarrow{Ae_ie_j^rC} \stackrel{\text{by (2.3.8)}}{=} \overrightarrow{(a_{1i}, a_{2i}, \dots, a_{ni})^T(c_{j1}, \dots, c_{jt})}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} A_{1i} \\ a_{2i} \\ \vdots \\ a_{ni} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} c_{j1} \\ \vdots \\ c_{jt} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.3.14)

we have

$$(A \otimes C^{T}) \overrightarrow{E_{ij}} = (A \otimes C^{T})(e_{i} \otimes e_{j}) = Ae_{i} \otimes C^{T}e_{j}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} a_{1i} \\ \vdots \\ a_{ni} \end{pmatrix} \otimes (e_{j}^{T}C)^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{1i} \\ \vdots \\ a_{ni} \end{pmatrix} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} c_{j1} \\ \vdots \\ c_{jt} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(2.3.15)$$

Thus, (2.3.12) holds, and then

$$\overrightarrow{ABC} = A\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{s} b_{ij} E_{ij}\right) C = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{s} b_{ij} \overrightarrow{AE_{ij}C}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij} (A \otimes C^{T}) \overrightarrow{E_{ij}}$$
$$= (A \otimes C^{T}) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{s} b_{ij} \overrightarrow{E_{ij}}$$
$$= (A \otimes C^{T}) \overrightarrow{B}.$$

THEOREM 2.3.6. Let A, C be  $n \times n$  real matrices. Then, the following four propositions are equivalent:

(1) The Lyapunov matrix equation:

$$A^T X + X A = C \tag{2.3.16}$$

has unique matrix solution X = B.

(2) The linear equation

$$\left(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T\right) \vec{x} = \vec{C}$$

has unique solution, where I is  $n \times n$  identity matrix.

(3)  $\operatorname{rank}(A^{\hat{T}} \otimes I + I \otimes A^{T}) = n^{2} \operatorname{or} \operatorname{det}(A^{T} \otimes I + I \otimes A^{T}) \neq 0.$ (4)

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{\prime} (\lambda_i + \lambda_j) \neq 0,$$

where  $\lambda_i$  and  $\lambda_j$  are eigenvalues of A.

PROOF. Since  $A^T X + XA = C \iff \overrightarrow{A^T X + XA} = \overrightarrow{C}$ , and  $\overrightarrow{A^T X + XA} = \overrightarrow{A^T XI} + \overrightarrow{IXA} = (A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T)\overrightarrow{X}$ ,

(1)  $\iff$  (2), (2)  $\iff$  (3) are proved.

The remaining is to prove (3)  $\iff$  (4), i.e.,

$$\det(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T) = \prod_{i,j=1}^n (\lambda_i + \lambda_j).$$

By using the Jordan theorem, there exists an  $n \times n$  inverse matrix S such that

$$S^{-1}A^{T}S = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1} & & * \\ & \lambda_{2} & \\ & & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & \lambda_{n} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$(S \otimes S)^{-1}(A^{T} \otimes I + I \otimes A^{T})(S \otimes S)$$
  

$$= (S^{-1} \otimes S^{-1})(A^{T} \otimes I)(S \otimes S) + (S^{-1} \otimes S^{-1})(I \otimes A^{T})(S \otimes S)$$
  

$$= S^{-1}A^{T}S \otimes S^{-1}IS + (S^{-1}IS) \otimes (S^{-1}A^{T}S)$$
  

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1} & * \\ 0 & \lambda_{n} \end{bmatrix} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ 0 & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
  

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1} & * \\ \lambda_{2} & \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & & & \lambda_{n} \end{bmatrix}$$



Therefore,

$$\det(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T) = \det(S \otimes S)^{-1}(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T),$$
$$(S \otimes S) = \prod_{i,j=1}^n (\lambda_i + \lambda_j).$$

The proof of Theorem 2.3.6 is complete.

58

**THEOREM 2.3.7.** 

(1) *The Lyapunov matrix equation* (2.3.16) *has infinite number of solutions if and only if* 

$$\operatorname{rank}(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T, \vec{C}) = \operatorname{rank}(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T) < n^2.$$

(2)  $A^T X + X A = C$  has no solution if and only if

$$\operatorname{rank}(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T, C) > \operatorname{rank}(A^T \otimes I, I \otimes A^T).$$

PROOF. A similar method to Theorem 2.3.6 can be used here and thus omitted.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 2.3.8. If A is a Hurwitz matrix, then

- (1) the solution of the Lyapunov matrix equation (2.3.16) is unique;
- (2) for a given arbitrary symmetric negative matrix C, there exists a unique symmetric positive matrix B satisfying  $A^T B + BA = -C$  and

$$V(x) = x^T B x = \frac{1}{\det \Delta} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & X \\ \vec{C}^T & \Delta \end{vmatrix},$$

where

$$\Delta = A^{T} \otimes I + I \otimes A^{T},$$
  

$$X = (X_{1}, X_{2}, ..., X_{n}),$$
  

$$X_{1} = (x_{1}^{2}, 2x_{1}x_{2}, ..., 2x_{1}x_{n}),$$
  

$$X_{2} = (0, x_{2}^{2}, ..., 2x_{2}x_{n}),$$
  
....  

$$X_{n} = (0, ..., 0, x_{n}^{2}).$$

PROOF. (1) Since A is a Hurwitz matrix,

$$\prod_{i,j=1}^{n} (\lambda_i + \lambda_j) \neq 0.$$

By using condition (2) of Theorem 2.3.7, for any symmetric negative matrix, Lyapunov matrix equation:

 $A^T X + X A = -C \tag{2.3.17}$ 

has unique solution X = B, i.e.,

$$A^T B + B A = -C.$$
By  $C = C^T$ , we have  $A^T B^T + B^T A = -C$ . This means that  $B^T$  is also a solution. Thus  $B = B^T$ , and let

$$B_1 := \int_0^\infty e^{tA^T} C e^{tA} dt,$$

and then  $B_1$  is symmetric positive definite.

(2) By uniqueness,  $B_1 = B$ . Let  $B = (b_{ij})_{n \times n}$ . Form (2.3.17) we have

$$(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T)\vec{B} = -\vec{C}.$$
(2.3.18)

Since det  $\Delta = \det(A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T) \neq 0$ , by the Gramer law, the solution of (2.3.18) can be written as

$$b_{ij} = \frac{\det \Delta_{ij}}{\det \Delta}$$
 (*i*, *j* = 1, 2, ..., *n*), (2.3.19)

where  $\Delta_{ij}$  is formed from  $\Delta$  with its *j*th column replaced by  $\vec{C}$ . Hence,

$$V = x^T B x = \sum_{i,j=1}^n b_{ij} x_i x_j$$

On the other hand,

$$V = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} b_{ij} x_i x_i = \frac{1}{\det} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & X \\ \vec{C} & \Delta \end{vmatrix}.$$
 (2.3.20)

### EXAMPLE 2.3.9. Consider system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = a_{11}x_1 + a_{12}x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = a_{21}x_1 + a_{22}x_2, \end{cases}$$

where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

is symmetric, positive definite,

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} c_{11} & c_{12} \\ c_{21} & c_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, by (2.3.20) we have

$$V = \frac{1}{\det \Delta} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & x_1^2 & 2x_1x_2 & 0 & x_2^2 \\ c_{11} & 2a_{11} & a_{21} & a_{21} & 0 \\ c_{12} & a_{12} & a_{11} + a_{22} & 0 & a_{21} \\ c_{21} & c_{12} & 0 & a_{11} + a_{22} & a_{21} \\ c_{22} & 0 & a_{12} & a_{12} & 2a_{22} \end{vmatrix},$$

where

$$\Delta = \begin{bmatrix} 2a_{11} & a_{21} & 0 & 0\\ a_{12} & a_{11} + a_{22} & 0 & a_{21}\\ a_{12} & 0 & a_{11} + a_{22} & a_{21}\\ 0 & a_{12} & a_{12} & 2a_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$

EXAMPLE 2.3.10.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \\ \dot{x}_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} & a_{33} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$C = \begin{bmatrix} c_{11} & c_{11} & c_{13} \\ c_{21} & c_{22} & c_{23} \\ c_{31} & c_{32} & c_{33} \end{bmatrix} = C^T.$$

Then

$$V = \frac{1}{\det \Delta}$$

$$\times \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x_1^2 & 2x_1x_2 & 2x_1x_3 & 0 & x_2^2 & 2x_2x_3 & 0 & 0 & x_2^3 \\ c_{11} & 2a_{11} & a_{21} & a_{31} & a_{21} & 0 & 0 & a_{31} & 0 & 0 \\ c_{12} & c_{12} & a_{11} + a_{22} & a_{32} & 0 & a_{21} & 0 & 0 & a_{31} & 0 \\ c_{13} & a_{13} & a_{23} & a_{21} + a_{33} & 0 & 0 & a_{21} & 0 & 0 & a_{31} \\ c_{21} & a_{12} & 0 & 0 & a_{11} + a_{22} & a_{22} & a_{32} & 0 & 0 \\ c_{22} & 0 & a_{12} & 0 & a_{12} & 2a_{22} & a_{32} & 0 & a_{32} & 0 \\ c_{23} & 0 & 0 & a_{12} & a_{13} & a_{23} & a_{22} + a_{33} & 0 & 0 & a_{32} \\ c_{31} & a_{13} & 0 & 0 & a_{23} & 0 & 0 & a_{11} + a_{33} & a_{21} & a_{31} \\ c_{32} & 0 & a_{13} & 0 & 0 & a_{23} & 0 & a_{12} & a_{22} + a_{33} & a_{33} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$\Delta = A^T \otimes I + I \otimes A^T.$$

## 2.4. A simple geometrical NASC for Hurwitz matrix

We again consider

$$f_n(\lambda) = \det(\lambda I - A) := \lambda^n + a_{n-1}\lambda^{n-1} + \dots + a_0.$$
 (2.4.1)

According to Cauchy's argument principle, the following geometrical method for judging Hurwitz matrix was obtained [326].

THEOREM 2.4.1. Suppose that  $f_n(\lambda)$  has no pure imaginary roots. Then, A is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if when  $\omega$  varies from 0 to  $+\infty$ , the argument of  $f(i\omega)$  increases to  $n\varphi = \frac{\pi}{2}$ , along the counter clock-wise direction.

The proof of this theorem is very complex and checking the condition is difficult [98], because it contains an infinite interval  $[0, +\infty)$ .

Wang [396] derived a simple sufficient and necessary condition for  $f_n(\lambda)$  being stable, using the boundedness and conjugate character of the zero points of  $f_n(\lambda)$  with real coefficients.

LEMMA 2.4.2. All zero points of  $f_n(\lambda)$  lie inside the following circle:

$$|\lambda| < \rho := 1 + \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i|.$$

**PROOF.**  $\forall \lambda_0$ , let

$$|\lambda_0| \ge 1 + \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i|.$$

Then, we have

$$\begin{split} |f(\lambda_0)| &\ge |\lambda_0^n| - \left[|a_{n-1}||\lambda_0^{n-1}| + \dots + |a_0|\right] \\ &\le |\lambda_0^n| - \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i| \left[1 + |\lambda_0| + \dots + |\lambda_0^{n-1}|\right] \\ &= |\lambda_0^n| - \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i| \left[\frac{|\lambda_0^n| - 1}{|\lambda_0| - 1}\right] \\ &\ge |\lambda_0^n| - \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i| \frac{|\lambda_0^n| - 1}{\max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i|} \\ &\ge 1 \ne 0. \end{split}$$

So all zero points of  $f_n(\lambda)$  lie inside the circle:

$$|\lambda| < \rho = 1 + \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i|.$$

Now we construct a circle S, centered at (0, 0) with radius

$$\rho = 1 + \max_{0 \le i \le n-1} |a_i|.$$

Then, by Lemma 2.3.1 all zero points of  $f_n(\lambda)$  lie inside this circle.

Next, consider a quarter of circle  $A(\rho, 0) B(0, i\rho) \overline{0}$ , as shown in Figure 2.4.1. Let

$$\varphi_i = \underbrace{\Delta}_{ABO} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda)$$



Figure 2.4.1. The polynomial variable varied on the one-quarter circle  $\widehat{AOB}$ , centered at the origin with radius  $\rho$ .

denote the increment of argument  $\varphi$  when  $\lambda$  is varied along  $\widehat{AB}$  and imaginary axis  $\overrightarrow{B0}$  from A to 0.

THEOREM 2.4.3. Let  $f_n(i\omega) \neq 0, \omega \in [0, B]$ . Then

$$\Phi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda) = k\pi$$

if and only if k = 0. A is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if  $0 < k \le n$  and  $f_n(\lambda)$  has k zero points with positive real parts.

PROOF. Let  $f_n(\lambda)$  have 2p complex zero points  $z_j$ ,  $\overline{z}_j$  (j = 1, 2, ..., p) and q real zero points  $x_r$  (r = 1, 2, ..., q). Every zero is counted with multiplicity. Then 2p + q = n.

By Lemma 2.3.1,  $|z_i| < \rho$ ,  $|x_r| < \rho$ , i = 1, ..., p, r = 1, 2, ..., q. Decompose  $f_n(\lambda)$  into linear factors:

$$f_n(\lambda) = \prod_{j=1}^p (\lambda - z_j)(\lambda - \overline{z}_j) \prod_{k=1}^q (\lambda - r_k).$$

Hence,

$$\Phi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda)$$
  
=  $\sum_{j=1}^{P} \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \left[ \operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - z_j) \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{P} \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \left[ \operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - \overline{z}_j) \right]$ 

$$+\sum_{k=1}^{q} \underline{\underline{A}}_{\widehat{ABO}} \Big[ \operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - r_k) \Big]$$

a

where Arg  $\lambda = \arg \lambda + 2k\pi$  (k = 1, 2, ...) is a multi-valued function in ( $-\pi < \arg \lambda \leq \pi$ ). When  $\lambda = \rho$ , let Arg  $\lambda = \arg \lambda$ .

Let  $r_{k_0}$  be any real negative number. Consider the variable of the argument of  $\lambda - r_{k_0}$  along  $\widehat{ABO}$  (see Figure 2.4.2),

$$\underline{\mathcal{A}}_{\widehat{ABO}}\operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - r_{k_0}) = \underline{\mathcal{A}}_{\widehat{AB}}\operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - r_{k_0}) + \underline{\mathcal{A}}_{\widehat{BO}}\operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - r_{k_0}) = 0 - 0 = 0.$$

Let  $z_{j0}$  and  $\bar{z}_{j0}$  are two conjugate complex zero points with negative real part. By the symmetry, one can prove that the triangle  $\Delta A z_{j0} O \cong \Delta A \bar{z}_{j0} O$ . Thus,  $|\langle A z_{j0} O | = |\langle A \bar{z}_{j0} O |$ , and also

$$\begin{split} & \underbrace{\Delta}{ABO} \operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - z_{j0}) + \underbrace{\Delta}{ABO} \operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - \bar{z}_{j0}) \\ & = + |\angle A z_{j0} B| - |\angle B z_{j0} O| + + |\angle A \bar{z}_{j0} B| - |\angle B \bar{z}_{j0} O| \\ & = - |\angle A z_{j0} O| + |\angle A \bar{z}_{j} O| \\ & = -\theta + \theta = 0, \end{split}$$

which is shown in Figure 2.4.3.



Figure 2.4.2. The case having negative real root  $x_{k_0}$ .



Figure 2.4.3. The case having a complex conjugate pair with negative real part.



Figure 2.4.4. The case having positive real roots.

Let  $r_{k_0} > 0$  be any positive zero point of  $f_n(\lambda)$ . Consider variation of argument  $\lambda - r_{k_0}$  along  $\widehat{ABO}$  (see Figure 2.4.4) to obtain

 $\underline{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}}\operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - r_{k_0}) = \pi.$ 

Let  $z_{j_1}, \bar{z}_{j_1}$  be any two zero points with positive real parts of  $f_n(\lambda)$ . Then,  $Az_{i_1}O \cong A\bar{z}_{j_1}O$ , and also  $|\angle Az_{j_1}O| = |\angle \bar{z}_{j_1}O|$ . Further

$$\underbrace{\mathcal{A}}_{ABO}\operatorname{Arg}(A - z_{j_1}) + \underbrace{\mathcal{A}}_{ABO}\operatorname{Arg}(\lambda - \bar{z}_{j_1}) = 2\pi - |\angle A\bar{z}_{j_1}O| + |\angle A\bar{z}_{j_1}O|$$
$$= 2\pi.$$

Based on the above analysis, we obtain

$$\underline{\underline{\Delta}}_{\overline{ABO}}(\lambda - z_j)(\lambda - \overline{z}_j) = \begin{cases} 2\pi, & \text{when } \operatorname{Re} z_j > 0, \\ 0, & \text{when } \operatorname{Re} z_j < 0, \end{cases}$$
$$\underline{\underline{\Delta}}_{\overline{ABO}}(\lambda - r_k) = \begin{cases} \pi, & \text{when } r_k > 0, \\ 0, & \text{when } r_k < 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus, A is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if

$$\Phi = \underline{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda) = k\pi, \quad k = 0,$$

and  $f_n(\lambda)$  has k zero points with positive real parts if  $0 < k \leq n$ . This case is depicted in Figure 2.4.5.

Let

$$\psi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{OBA_1} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda).$$



Figure 2.4.5. The case having a complex conjugate pair with positive real part.

By inspecting the increment of argument when  $\lambda$  is varied along  $\widehat{OB}$ ,  $\widehat{AB_1}$  from O to  $A_1$ , we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.4.4. Let  $f_n(i\omega) \neq 0$ , where  $\omega \in [0, B]$ .

$$\psi = \underbrace{\Delta}_{OBA_1} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda) = m\pi,$$

if and only if m = n. A is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if m < n,  $f_n(\lambda)$  has n - m zero points with positive real parts.

One can follow the proof of Theorem 2.4.3 to prove Theorem 2.4.4.

REMARK 2.4.5. To check  $f_n(i\omega) \neq 0, \omega \in [0, B]$ , one only needs to check  $(u(\omega), v(\omega)) = 1$ , where  $f_n(i\omega) = u(\omega) + iv(\omega)$ . Later, we will use the division algorithm to check this condition.

This method can be generalized to obtain the degree of stability of A. Moving the half circle (see Figure 2.4.6) A(p, 0)-B(0, ip)-A(-p, 0) to left by h, we can construct a new circle, centered at O' with the radius  $r = |\widehat{O'A}|$ .

THEOREM 2.4.6. Suppose that  $f_n(\lambda)$  has no zero points on  $O'B^*$ . Let

$$\Phi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{AB^*O}} \operatorname{Arg} f_n(\lambda) = k_1 \pi$$

(i.e., A has stability degree h), then  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A_{n \times n}) < -h < 0$  if and only if  $k_1 = 0$ .



Figure 2.4.6. Demonstration of the degree of stability.

THEOREM 2.4.7. Assume that  $f_n(\lambda)$  has no zero points on  $O'B^*$ . Let

$$\psi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{OB^*A_1'} f_n(\lambda) = m_1 \pi,$$

then A has stability degree h > 0 if and only if  $m_1 = n$ .

EXAMPLE 2.4.8. Discuss the stability of  $f_3(z) = z^3 + 3z^2 + 4z + 2.1$ . Take  $\rho = 5$ , then

where  $\sqrt{}$  denotes varying sign variables. So the characteristic curve of  $f_3(z)$ , as depicted in Figure 2.4.7, shows k = 0. So  $f_3(z)$  is Hurwitz stable.

EXAMPLE 2.4.9. Check the stability of

 $f_4(z) = z^4 + 3z^3 + 5z^2 + 4z + 2.$ 

Taking  $\rho = 6$  results in

$$\begin{aligned} f_1 &= 6^4 \cos 4\theta + 3 \times 6^3 \cos 3\theta + 5 \times 6^2 \cos 2\theta + 4 \times 6 \cos \theta + 2 := u \\ f_2 &= 6^4 \sin 4\theta + 3 \times 6^3 \sin 3\theta + 5 \times 6^2 \sin 2\theta + 4 \times 6 \sin \theta + 2 := u, \\ \tilde{f}_1 &= \omega^4 - 5\omega^2 + 2 := u, \\ \tilde{f}_2 &= -3\omega^3 + 4\omega := v. \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{vmatrix} \theta^\circ & 0 & 10 & 20 & 30 & 40 & 50 & 60 & 70 & 80 & 90 \\ f_1 &+ & + & + & - & - & - & -\sqrt{} & + & + \\ f_2 & 0 &+ & + & + & +\sqrt{} & - & - & - & - \\ \omega & 6 & 5.5 & 5 & 4.5 & 4 & 3.5 & 3 & 2.5 & 2 & 1.5 & 1 & 0.5 & 0 \\ \tilde{f}_1 &+ & + & + & + & + & +\sqrt{} & - & - & -\sqrt{} & + & + \\ \tilde{f}_v &- & - & - & - & - & - & - & -\sqrt{} & + & + \\ \tilde{f}_v &- & - & - & - & - & - & - & -\sqrt{} & + & +\sqrt{} \end{aligned}$$



Figure 2.4.7. Characteristic curve for Example 2.4.8.



Figure 2.4.8. The characteristic curve for Example 2.4.9.

the characteristic curve  $f_4(\xi)$  (see Figure 2.4.8) shows k = 0. Hence,  $f_4(z)$  is stable.

# **2.5.** The geometry method for the stability of linear control systems

Frequency-domain approach of classical control theory, the Nyquist criterion, is a method widely used in control field. It has sound physical background and



Figure 2.5.1. Illustration of input-output.

better geometrical explanation. Moreover, it is effective for both open-loop and closed-loop control systems. Especially, it can be used to determine the stability of closed-loop feedback systems according to the features of the open-loop transfer function. However, this method requires constructing a so-called Nyquist characteristic curve of a rational function on  $(-\infty, +\infty)$ . For infinite interval, it is very hard to construct such characteristic curves in practice. Using the important information of the real-coefficients, such as the boundedness and conjugacy of the zero and the apices, an improved geometrical criterion was developed, with which the domain of the frequency characteristic curve is changed to  $[0, \frac{\pi}{2}]$  and  $[0, \rho]$ . So calculation is significantly simplified. Moreover, a new geometrical necessary and sufficient condition is obtained. The details of the improved geometrical criterion are introduced as follows.

Consider a canonical linear system with feedback control, as shown in Figure 2.5.1, where G(s) is a transfer function of forward loop, and H(s) is the transfer function of the feedback loop. G(s)H(s) is called system transfer function or open-loop transfer function.

$$W(s) = \frac{Y(s)}{u(s)} = \frac{G(s)}{1 + G(s)H(s)}$$
(2.5.1)

is called the transfer function of this control system, where

$$G(s) := \frac{N_1(s)}{D_1(s)}, \quad H(s) := \frac{N_2(s)}{D_2(s)}$$

Let

$$f(s) := D_1(s)D_2(s) := (s - p_1)(s - p_2)\cdots(s - p_m)$$
  
=:  $b_m + b_{m-1}s + \cdots + s^m$ ,  
$$F(s) := 1 + G(s)H(s)$$
  
:=  $\frac{D_1(s)D_2(s) + N_1(s)N_2(s)}{D_1(s)D_2(s)}$   
:=  $\frac{(s - s_1)(s - s_2)\cdots(s - s_n)}{(s - p_1)(s - p_2)\cdots(s - p_m)}$ 

$$:= \frac{a_n + a_{n-1}s + \dots + s^n}{b_m + b_{m-1}s + \dots + s^m}$$
$$:= \frac{F_1(s)}{f(s)},$$

where  $s_i$ ,  $\rho_i$  denote the zero points and poles of F(s), respectively. Let

$$\rho_1 = 1 + \max_{1 \le i \le n} |a_i|, \quad \rho_2 = 1 + \max_{1 \le i \le m} |b_i|, \quad \rho = \max(\rho_1, \rho_2).$$

From Lemma 2.4.2,  $|s_i| < \rho_1$  (i = 1, ..., m),

 $|s_j| < \rho_2, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$ 

Following the method in Section 2.4 we construct a circle S on the complex plane, centered at (0, 0) with the radius  $\rho = \max(\rho_1, \rho_2)$ .

THEOREM 2.5.1. Let  $f(i\omega) \neq 0, \omega \in [0, \rho]$ . Then, f(s) has k zero points with positive real parts if and only if

$$\Phi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} f(s) = k\pi \leqslant m\pi.$$

*Hence the open-loop control system is stable if and only if* k = 0*.* 

The proof is similar to proof of Theorem 2.4.3. If in Figure 2.5.2, let  $\rho = \rho_2$ , then for the closed-loop control system, we have a similar result.

THEOREM 2.5.2. If  $F_1(i\omega) \neq 0$ ,  $\omega \in [0, \rho_2]$  and  $(F_i(s), f(s)) = 1$ . Then,  $F_1(s)$  has zero points with positive real parts if and only if

$$\psi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} F_1(s) = l\pi \leqslant n\pi.$$

*Hence the closed-loop control system is stable if and only if* l = 0*.* 

If in Figure 2.5.2,  $\rho = \max(\rho_1, \rho_2)$ , by Theorems 2.4.1 and 2.4.3, we further obtain the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.5.3. Suppose that F(s) has no zero points and poles on line (OB) and F(s) has q poles with Re s > 0. Then, F(s) has p zero points with Re s > 0 if and only if

$$k = \frac{1}{\pi} \mathop{\underline{\Delta}}_{\widehat{ABC}} \operatorname{Arg} F(s) = p - q.$$

Hence the closed-loop control system is stable if and only if k = -q (p = 0). The open-loop control system and closed-loop control system are stable if and only if p = q = k = 0.



Figure 2.5.2. The polynomial variable varied on the one-quarter circle *AOB*, centered at the origin with radius  $\rho$ .

Therefore, according to Theorems 2.5.1 and 2.5.3, we have the following program to check the stability of control systems.

(1) For an open-loop control system with transfer function

$$G(s)H(s) = \frac{N_1(s)N_2(s)}{D_1(s)D_2(s)},$$

by Theorem 2.5.1 (take  $\rho = \rho_1$  in Figure 2.5.2), let

$$f(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}) := D_1(\rho_1 e^{i\theta}) D_2(\rho_2 e^{i\theta})$$
  

$$:= U_1(\rho_1, \theta) + i V_1(\rho_1, \theta),$$
  

$$f(i\omega) = D_1(i\omega) D_2(i\omega)$$
  

$$:= U_2(\omega) + i V_2(\omega),$$
  

$$0 \le \theta_1 < \theta_2 < \dots < \theta_k = \frac{\pi}{2},$$
  

$$\rho_1 \ge \omega_1 > \omega_2 > \dots > \omega_e = 0.$$

Compute  $U_1(\rho_1, \theta_i)$ ,  $V_1(\rho_1, \theta_i)$ ,  $U_2(\omega_j)$ ,  $V_2(\omega_j)$  (i = 1, 2, ..., k, j = 1, ..., l) and plot the characteristic curve f(z), using

$$\Phi = \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} f(z) = k\pi,$$

to obtain stability.

(2) For a closed-loop control system with the transfer function

$$\frac{G(s)}{1+G(s)H(s)},$$

by Theorem 2.5.2 the stability (take  $\rho = \rho_2$  in the figure) can be obtained by letting  $F_1(s) := D_1(s)D_2(s) + N_1(s)N_2(s)$ , computing

$$\Phi := \underbrace{\Delta}_{\widehat{ABO}} \operatorname{Arg} f(z) = l\pi,$$

and using l to determine stability.

(3) For the above closed-loop control system, by Theorem 2.5.3 one can study the stability. Let  $F(s) = 1 + G(s)H(s) = \frac{F_1(s)}{f(s)}$ ,

$$F(\rho e^{i\theta}) := U_3(\rho, \theta) + iV_3(\rho, \theta) \quad \left(0 \le \theta \le \frac{\pi}{2}\right),$$
  
$$F(i\omega) := U_4(i, \omega) + iV_4(i\omega) \quad (0 \le \omega \le \rho).$$

Take  $0 \leq \theta_1 < \theta_2 < \cdots < \theta_k = \frac{\pi}{2}, \rho \geq \omega_1 > \omega_2 > \cdots > \omega_k = 0.$ 

Let  $\tilde{U}_3$ ,  $\tilde{V}_3$ ,  $\tilde{U}_4$ ,  $\tilde{V}_4$  be numerators of  $U_3$ ,  $V_3$ ,  $U_4$ ,  $V_4$ , respectively. Since their denominators are all positive, we only need to compute the signs of  $\tilde{U}_3$ ,  $\tilde{V}_3$ ,  $\tilde{U}_4$ ,  $\tilde{V}_4$  at  $\theta_i$ ,  $\rho_j$ , i = 1, ..., k, j = 1, 2, ..., l.

Using the signs, plot the qualitative characteristic curve and obtain  $p = k + q = \frac{1}{\pi} \Delta \operatorname{Arg} F(s) + q$ . Then use p to determine the stability.

EXAMPLE 2.5.4. Consider an open-loop control system with the transfer function

$$\frac{N_1(s)}{D_1(s)} \frac{N_2(s)}{D_2(s)}$$

When

$$f(s) = D_1(s)D_2(s) = s^3 + 3s^2 + 4s + 2.1,$$
  

$$f_1(\theta) = 5^3 \cos 3\theta + 3 \times 5^2 \cos 2\theta + 20 \cos \theta + 2.1 := u_1,$$
  

$$f_2(\theta) = 5^3 \sin 3\theta + 3 \times 5^2 \sin 2\theta + 20 \sin \theta + 2.1 := v_1,$$
  

$$\tilde{f}_1(\omega) = -3\omega^2 + 2.1 := u_2,$$
  

$$\tilde{f}_2(\omega) = -\omega^3 + 4\omega := v_2,$$

compute the sign

| $\theta$ | $0^{\circ}$ | $20^{\circ}$ | 40° | 60° | $80^{\circ}$ | 90° |     |            |   |
|----------|-------------|--------------|-----|-----|--------------|-----|-----|------------|---|
| $U_1$    | +           | +            | _   | _   | _            | _   |     |            |   |
| $V_1$    | 0           | +            | +   | +   | _            | _   |     |            |   |
| ω        | 5           | 4.2          | 3.4 | 2.6 | 1.8          | 1.0 | 0.6 | 0          | , |
| $u_2$    | —           | _            | _   | —   | _            | -   | +   | +          |   |
| $V_2$    | —           | _            | _   | -   | +            | +   | +   | $\sqrt{0}$ |   |



Figure 2.5.3. The characteristic curve for Example 2.5.4.

where  $\sqrt{}$  denotes varying sign variables. The qualitative characteristic curve is shown in Figure 2.5.3.

By Theorem 2.5.1, k = 0 and thus the open-loop system is stable.

EXAMPLE 2.5.5. Consider the stability of a closed-loop system with

$$F(z) = \frac{z^3 - 5z^2 + 8z - 6.1}{z^3 - 4z^2 + 5z - 2}.$$

Since  $z^3 - 4z^2 + 5z - 2 = (z - 1)(z - 1)(z - 2)$ , F(z) has three poles with Re s > 0 (i.e., q = 3). Let

$$\rho = \max[9, 6] = 9,$$

$$F(\rho e^{i\theta}) := U_3(\rho, \theta) + i V_3(\rho, \theta),$$

$$F(i\omega) := U_4(\omega) + i V_4(\omega).$$

One then obtains

$$\begin{split} \tilde{U}_3 &:= \{ \left[ \left( \rho^3 \cos 3\theta - 4\rho^2 \cos 2\theta + 5\rho \cos \theta - 2 \right) \right. \\ &\times \left( \rho^3 \cos 3\theta - 5\rho^2 \cos 2\theta + 8\rho \cos \theta - 6.1 \right) \right] \\ &+ \left[ \left( \rho^3 \sin 3\theta - 5\rho^2 \sin 2\theta + 8\rho \sin \theta \right) \right. \\ &\times \left( \rho^3 \sin 3\theta - 4\rho^2 \sin 2\theta + 5\rho \sin \theta \right) \right] \}, \end{split}$$



Figure 2.5.4. The characteristic curve for Example 2.5.5.

$$\begin{split} \tilde{V}_3 &= \{ \left[ \left( \rho^3 \cos 3\theta - 4\rho^2 \cos 2\theta + 5\rho \cos \theta - 2 \right) \right. \\ &\times \left( \rho^3 \sin 3\theta - 5\rho^2 \sin 2\theta + 8\rho \sin \theta \right) \right] \\ &+ \left[ \left( \rho^3 \cos 3\theta - 5\rho^2 \cos 2\theta + 8\rho \cos \theta - 6.1 \right) \right. \\ &\times \left( \rho^3 \sin 3\theta - 4\rho^2 \sin 2\theta + 5\rho \sin \theta \right) \right] \}, \\ \tilde{U}_4 &= \omega^6 + 7\omega^4 + 5.6\omega^2 + 12.2, \\ \tilde{V}_4 &= \omega^5 + 2.9\omega^3 + 14.5\omega. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\begin{vmatrix} Q & 0^{\circ} & 20^{\circ} & 40^{\circ} & 60^{\circ} & 80^{\circ} & 90^{\circ} \\ \tilde{U}_{3} & + & + & + & + & + \\ \tilde{V}_{3} & 0\sqrt{\phantom{0}} & - & \sqrt{\phantom{0}} + & + & + & + \\ \omega & 9 & 7 & 5 & 2 & 0 \\ \tilde{U}_{4} & + & + & + & + & + \\ \tilde{V}_{4} & + & + & + & + & + \\ \sqrt[]{V}_{4} & + & & + & + & + & + \\ \sqrt[]{V}_{4} & + & & + & + & + \\ \sqrt[]{V}_{4} & + & & + & + & + & + \\ \sqrt$$

so k = 0, p = q = 3.

The qualitative characteristic curve is shown in Figure 2.5.4. By Theorem 2.5.3 the closed-loop control system is unstable.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 3

# **Time-Varying Linear Systems**

The stability problem of linear systems with constant coefficients can be transformed to a problem of eigenvalues of a matrix. However, the eigenvalue method fails in solving linear systems with time-varying coefficients. Nevertheless, all solutions of an *n*-dimensional linear system with time-varying coefficients form an *n*-dimensional linear space. Therefore, the standard fundamental solution matrix, i.e., the Cauchy matrix solution plays a very important role in determining the behavior of solutions. In this chapter, we concentrate on the Cauchy matrix solution and discuss various properties of solutions for time-varying linear systems.

Materials are mainly selected from [98,151,234] for Section 3.1, [98,151,234] for Section 3.2, [153,234] for Section 3.3, [98,400,459] for Section 3.4, [459] for Section 3.5, [98,455] for Section 3.6 and [248,283] for Section 3.7.

# **3.1.** Stabilities between homogeneous and nonhomogeneous systems

Consider the *n*-dimensional nonhomogeneous time-varying linear differential equations:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x + f(x), \qquad (3.1.1)$$

and the corresponding homogeneous time-varying linear differential equations:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x,\tag{3.1.2}$$

where

$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T,$$
  

$$A(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{n \times n} \in C[I, R^{n \times n}],$$
  

$$f(t) = (f_1(t), \dots, f_n(t))^T \in C[I, R^n]$$

It is well known that if x, y are any two solutions of (3.1.2),  $\alpha x + \beta y$  is also a solution of (3.1.2)  $\forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}^1$ . If x and y are solutions of (3.1.1), then x - y is also solution of (3.1.2). Thus, n linearly independent solutions of (3.1.2) form the basis of solution space of (3.1.2).

Let  $X(t) = (x_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$  be fundamental solution matrix of (3.1.2). Then,  $K(t, t_0) := X(t)X^{-1}(t_0)$  is called standard fundamental solution matrix or Cauchy matrix solution. The general solution of (3.1.2) can be expressed as

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0.$$
(3.1.3)

By using the Lagrange formula of the variation of constants, the general solution of (3.1.1) can be written as

$$y(t, t_0, y_0) := y(t) = K(t, t_0)y(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, t_1)f(t_1) dt_1.$$
(3.1.4)

DEFINITION 3.1.1. If all solutions of (3.1.1) have same stability, then systems (3.1.1) is said to stable with this class of stability.

THEOREM 3.1.2.  $\forall f(t) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^n]$ , system (3.1.1) has certain class of stability if and only if the zero solution of (3.1.2) has the same type of stability.

PROOF. The general solutions of (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) can be expressed respectively as

$$y(t, t_0, y_0) = K(t, t_0)C + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, t_1)f(t_1) dt_1, \qquad (3.1.5)$$

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)C.$$
(3.1.6)

Let

$$\xi(t, t_0, 0) = K(t, t_0)0,$$
  
$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0,$$

denote respectively the zero solution of (3.1.2) and any perturbed solution. Then

$$\eta(t, t_0, \eta_0) = K(t, t_0)C + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, t_1)f(t_1) dt_1$$

and

$$y(t, t_0, y_0) = K(t, t_0)(C + x_0) + \int_{t_0}^{t} K(t, t_1) f(t_1) dt_1$$

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0) - \xi(t, t_0, 0)\| = \|K(t, t_0)x_0\|$$
(3.1.7)

and

$$\left\| y(t, t_0, y_0) - \eta(t, t_0, \eta_0) \right\| = \left\| K(t, t_0) x_0 \right\|$$
(3.1.8)

have the same expression. Therefore, they have the same stability.

COROLLARY 3.1.3. Systems (3.1.1) has certain type of stability if and only if any solution of the system has the same stability.

PROOF. By Definition 3.1.1, a system with certain type of stability implies that every solution of the system has the same stability. Now assume that any solution  $\eta(t)$  of (3.1.1) is stable.

Assume  $x(t) = y(t) - \eta(t)$ . Then, from Theorem 3.1.2 we know that the zero solution of (3.1.2) has the same stability. Again, according to Theorem 3.1.2, system (3.1.1) has the same stability.

REMARK 3.1.4. There exists a homeomorphism between the solutions of (3.1.1) and (3.1.2), as illustrated in Figures 3.1.1 and 3.1.2.

COROLLARY 3.1.5. Systems (3.1.1) has certain type of stability if and only if system (3.1.2) has the same stability, i.e., if and only if the zero solution of system (3.1.2) has the same stability.



Figure 3.1.1. The solution of the nonhomogeneous equation (3.1.1).



Figure 3.1.2. The solution of the homogeneous equation (3.1.2).

**PROOF.** In Theorem 3.1.2 take f(t) = 0 and then the conclusion follows.

REMARK 3.1.6. Theorem 3.1.2 means that for linear stability of system (3.1.1) or (3.1.2), we only need to study the zero solution of (3.1.2). For example, in modern control theory a linear system takes the general form:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x(t) + B(t)U(t), \\ y(t) = C(t)x(t) + D(t)U(t), \end{cases}$$
(3.1.9)

where U(t) is the input function, y(t) is the output function. A(t), B(t), C(t) and D(t) are matrices with corresponding dimensions. To study the stability of (3.1.9), we only need to consider the stability of the zero solution of this system.

## 3.2. Equivalent condition for the stability of linear systems

THEOREM 3.2.1. The zero solution of (3.1.2) is stable if and only if the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$  ( $t \ge t_0$ ) of (3.1.2) is bounded.

PROOF. *Sufficiency*. Suppose any perturbed solution of the zero solution is given by

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x(t_0),$$
(3.2.1)

and there exists a constant  $M(t_0)$  such that

 $\|K(t,t_0)\| \leqslant M(t_0).$ 

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0, t \ge t_0$ , take  $\delta(\varepsilon, t_0) = \frac{\varepsilon}{M(t_0)}$ . Then for  $||x(t_0)|| \le \delta$ , we have

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| \leqslant \left\|K(t,t_0)\right\| \left\|x(t_0)\right\| < \frac{M(t_0)}{M(t_0)}\varepsilon = \varepsilon.$$

*Necessity.* Since  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon, t_0) > 0$  such that when  $||x(t_0)|| < \delta$ ,

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| = ||K(t, t_0)x(t_0)|| < \varepsilon$$

is true.

Now, take

$$x(t_0) = \frac{\delta}{2} (\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{k-1}, 1, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n-k})^T := \frac{\delta}{2} e_k.$$

Then, the *k*th column, x(k), of  $K(t, t_0)$  can be expressed as

$$x^{(k)}(t, t_0, x_0) = \frac{2}{\delta} K(t, t_0) x(t_0).$$
(3.2.2)

 $||x(t_0)|| < \frac{\delta}{2} < \delta$  implies that

$$\left\|x^{(k)}(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| = \frac{2}{\delta} \left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| \leqslant \frac{2\varepsilon}{\delta} := M.$$

Thus every column of  $K(t, t_0)$  is bounded.

Theorem 3.2.1 is proved.

COROLLARY 3.2.2. If system (3.1.2) is stable, then all solutions of the system are either bounded or unbounded.

THEOREM 3.2.3. The necessary and sufficient conditions (NASC) for any solution of (3.1.2) being stable is that  $K(t, t_0)$  is bounded.

Following the proof of Theorem 3.2.1 one can prove this theorem.

THEOREM 3.2.4. The NASC for the zero solution of (3.2.2) to be asymptotically stable is that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is attractive.

PROOF. Necessity is obvious.

For *sufficiency*, suppose that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is attractive. Then,  $\forall t_0 \in I, \exists \sigma(t_0) \text{ such that } ||x_0|| \leq \sigma(t_0), \text{ so we have } x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0 \to 0$ as  $t \to +\infty$  by (3.2.1) and thus  $x^{(k)}(t, t_0) = K(t, t_0)e_k \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ . So  $x^{(k)}(t, t_0)$  is bounded, and further  $K(t, t_0)$  is bounded. By Theorem 3.2.1 we know that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is stable.

The proof is complete.

Following the proof of Theorems 3.2.1 and 3.2.3, one can easily prove the following theorem.

THEOREM 3.2.5. The uniform attraction of the zero solution of (3.1.2) is equivalent to uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution of (3.1.2) and uniform boundedness of  $K(t, t_0)$ .

COROLLARY 3.2.6. The asymptotic stability of the zero solution of (3.1.2) is equivalent to its globally asymptotic stability.

PROOF.  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  since  $x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0 \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ , the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 3.2.7. The uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution of (3.1.2) is equivalent to its globally uniformly asymptotic stability.

THEOREM 3.2.8. The zero solution of (3.1.2) is asymptotically stable if and only if  $K(t, t_0) \rightarrow 0$  uniformly holds as  $(t - t_0) \rightarrow +\infty$ , and  $K(t, t_0)$  is uniformly bounded for  $t \ge t_0$ .

**PROOF.** Sufficiency. Since  $K(t, t_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t - t_0 \rightarrow +\infty$  and  $K(t, t_0)$   $(t \ge t_0)$  is uniformly bounded, there exists a constant *M* such that

$$\left\|K(t,t_0)\right\| \leqslant M, \quad t \ge t_0. \tag{3.2.3}$$

By Theorem 3.2.1 we know that the zero solution is stable. So according to  $x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0, x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow 0$  uniformly as  $(t - t_0) \rightarrow 0$ .

For *necessity*, simply follow the proof of Corollary 3.2.2 and Theorem 3.2.3.  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $(t - t_0) \rightarrow 0$  uniformly for  $t_0$ , the uniform boundedness of  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  implies that  $K(t, t_0) \rightarrow 0$  uniformly holds for  $t_0$ , and thus  $K(t, t_0)$  is uniformly bounded.

COROLLARY 3.2.9. The zero solution of (3.1.2) is asymptotically stable if and only if  $K(t, t_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ .

THEOREM 3.2.10. The zero solution of (3.1.2) is attractive if and only if it is quasi-attractive, namely, asymptotic stability is equivalent to quasi-asymptotic stability.

**PROOF.** We only need to prove that attraction of the zero solution of (3.1.2) implies its quasi-attraction.

Since the attraction of the zero solution of (3.1.2) implies  $K(t, t_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ ,  $\exists \sigma(t_0) > 0$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists T(t_0, \varepsilon, \sigma)$  such that  $||K(t, t_0)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma}$  when

 $t \ge t_0 + T$ . Therefore, when  $||x(t_0)|| \le \sigma(t_0)$ , we have

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| \leq \left\|K(t,t_0)\right\| \left\|x(t_0)\right\| < \frac{\varepsilon}{\sigma(t_0)}\sigma(t_0) = \varepsilon.$$

This means that the zero solution is quasi-attractive.

The proof is complete.

THEOREM 3.2.11. The zero solution of (3.1.2) is uniformly asymptotically stable if and only if it is exponentially stable.

PROOF. One only needs to prove that the asymptotic stability of the zero solution of (3.1.2) implies its exponential stability.

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ (0 < \varepsilon < 1) \ \exists \tau(\varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ ,  $||K(t, t_0)|| < \varepsilon$  holds. Owing to the uniform stability of the zero solution, there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\|K(t,t_0)\| < M, \quad t_0 \leq t \leq t_1 + T.$$

Assume that

$$n\tau \leq t - t_0 \leq (n+1)\tau$$
  $(n = 0, 1, 2, ...).$ 

Then, from the property of the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$ , we have

$$K(t, t_0) = K(t, t_1)K(t_1, t_0) \quad (t_0 \le t_1 \le t).$$

Therefore,

$$K(t, t_0) = K(t, n\tau + t_0) \times K(n\tau + t_0, (n-1)\tau + t_0) \cdots K(\tau + t_0, t_0),$$
(3.2.4)

and thus

$$\|K(t, t_{0})\| \leq \|K(t, n\tau + t_{0})\| \\ \times \|K(n\tau + t_{0}, (n-1)\tau + t_{0})\| \cdots \|K(\tau + t_{0}, t_{0})\| \\ \leq Me^{\lambda\tau}e^{-(n+1)\lambda\tau} \\ \leq Ne^{-\lambda(t-t_{0})},$$
(3.2.5)

where  $N = Me^{\lambda \tau}$ . This implies that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

THEOREM 3.2.12. The zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable if and only if the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$  satisfies

$$\|K(t,t_0)\| \leqslant M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}.$$

where  $M \ge 1$ ,  $\alpha > 0$  are constants.

**PROOF.** Sufficiency. Since any solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of (3.1.2) can be expressed as

 $x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0,$ 

we have

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq ||K(t, t_0)x_0|| \leq ||K(t, t_0)|| ||x_0|| \leq M ||x_0|| e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$

This means that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

Necessity. Following the proof of the necessity for Theorem 3.2.1, we have

 $x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x(t_0)$ 

which yields

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq ||K(t, t_0)x(t_0)|| \leq M(x_0)e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$

Now, take

$$x(t_0)\frac{\delta}{2}(\underbrace{0,0,\ldots,0}_{k-1},1,\underbrace{0,0,\ldots,0}_{n-k})^T := \frac{\delta}{2}e_k.$$

Then, the *k*th column x(k) of  $K(t, t_0)$  can be expressed by

$$x^{(k)}(t, t_0, x_0) = \frac{2}{\sigma} K(t, t_0) x(t_0),$$

which implies that

$$\|x^{(k)}(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq \frac{2}{\sigma} \|K(t, t_0)x(t_0)\| \leq \frac{2}{\sigma} M(x_0)e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} := \tilde{M}(x_0)e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}.$$

Hence,  $||K(t, t_0)|| \leq N(x_0)e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$ , where  $N(x_0)$  is a constant.

## 3.3. Robust stability of linear systems

Consider a definite linear system

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x,\tag{3.3.1}$$

 $\square$ 

and an indefinite linear system

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x + B(t)x, \qquad (3.3.2)$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , A(t) is a known  $n \times n$  continuous matrix function and B(t) an unknown  $n \times n$  continuous matrix function. One only knows some boundedness of B(t). We will discuss the equivalent problem of stabilities between systems (3.3.1) and (3.3.2), so that one can use the simple and definite system (3.1.1) to study the complex and indefinite system (3.3.2).

THEOREM 3.3.1. If the following condition is satisfied:

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \left\| B(t) \right\| dt := N < \infty,$$

then the uniform stability of the zero solutions of (3.3.1) and (3.3.2) are equivalent.

PROOF. Let the zero solution of (3.3.1) be uniformly stable. By Theorem 3.2.1, there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\|K(t,t_0)\| \leqslant M(t \ge t_0).$$

However, the general solution of (3.3.2) can be written as

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, t_1)B(t_1)x(t_1) dt_1$$

and so

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t,t_0,x_0)\| &\leq \|K(t,t_0)\| \|x_0\| + \int_{t_0}^t \|K(t,t_1)\| \|B(t_1)\| \|x(t_1)\| \, dt_1 \\ &\leq M \|x_0\| + \int_{t_0}^t M \|B(t_1)\| \|x(t_1)\| \, dt_1. \end{aligned}$$

By using the Gronwall–Bellman inequity, we have the estimation

$$|x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq M ||x_0|| e^{M \int_{t_0}^t ||B(t_1)|| dt} \leq M ||x_0|| e^{MN}$$

Thus,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$  take  $\delta(\varepsilon) = \frac{\varepsilon}{Me^{NM}}$ . Then, when  $||x_0|| < \delta$  we obtain

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq |\delta| M e^{NM} = \varepsilon,$$

which implies that the zero solution of (3.3.2) is uniformly stable.

On the other hand, (2.2.8) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x = (A(t) + B(t))x - B(t)x$$
  
$$:= \tilde{A}(t)x + \tilde{B}(t)x, \qquad (3.3.3)$$

where  $\tilde{A}(t) := A(t) + B(t)$ ,  $\tilde{B}(t) := -B(t)$ , implying that

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \|\tilde{B}(t)\| \, dt = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \|B(t)\| \, dt = N < \infty.$$

Therefore, the uniform stability of the zero solution of (3.3.3) implies the uniform stability of the zero solution of (3.3.2).

The proof is completed.

+

THEOREM 3.3.2. If there exist constant M > 0 and  $0 < r \ll 1$  such that the following estimation

$$\int_{t_0}^{t} \|B(t_1)\| dt_1 \leq r(t-t_0) + M$$

*is valid, then the exponential stabilities of the zero solutions of* (3.3.1) *and* (3.3.2) *are equivalent.* 

PROOF. Assume that the zero solution of (3.3.1) is exponentially stable, then there exist constants  $M_1 > 0$  and  $\alpha_1 > 0$  such that the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.3.1),  $K(t, t_0)$ , admits the estimation:

$$\|K(t,t_0)\| \leqslant M_1 e^{-\alpha_1(t-t_0)}.$$
 (3.3.4)

Let  $r < \frac{\alpha_1}{M_1}$ . Then, the general solution of (3.3.2) can be expressed as

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, t_1)B(t_1)x(t_1) dt_1$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t,t_0,x_0)\| &< \|K(t,t_0)\| \|x_0\| + \int_{t_0}^t \|K(t,t_1)\| \|B(t_1)\| \|x(t_1)\| dt_1 \\ &\leq M_1 e^{-\alpha_1(t-t_0)} \|x_0\| + \int_{t_0}^t M_1 e^{-\alpha_1(t-t_1)} \|B(t_1)\| \|x(t_1)\| dt_1. \end{aligned}$$

By using the Gronwall–Bellman inequity, we have the following estimation:

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t)\| e^{\alpha_1 t} &\leq M_1 e^{\alpha_1 t_0} \|x_0\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t M_1 \|B(t_1)\| dt_1} \\ \|x(t)\| &\leq M_1 e^{-\alpha_1 (t-t_0)} \|x_0\| e^{M_1 r(t-t_0) + M_1 M} \\ &= M_1 e^{M_1 M} \|x_0\| e^{-(\alpha_1 - M_1 r)(t-t_0)}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.5)

This estimation shows that the zero solution of (3.3.2) is exponentially stable, where  $r < \alpha_1/M_1$ . On the other hand, system (3.3.1) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x = \left(A(t) + B(t) - B(t)\right)x := \left(\tilde{A}(t) + \tilde{B}(t)\right)x,$$

where  $\tilde{A}(t) = A(t) + B(t)$ ,  $\tilde{B}(t) = -B(t)$ . However.

$$\int_0^t \|\tilde{B}(t)\| d\tau = \int_{t_0}^t \|B(\tau)\| d\tau \leqslant r(t-t_0) + M.$$

From the above results, we know that the exponential stability of the zero solution of (3.3.2) implies the exponential stability of the zero solution of (3.3.1).

The proof is complete.

COROLLARY 3.3.3. If

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} B(t) = 0,$$

then the conclusion of Theorem 3.3.2 holds.

PROOF. Since

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} B(t) = 0$$

implies that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \left\| B(t) \right\| = 0,$$

so  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists T \text{ when } t \ge t_0 + T$ , we have

$$\left\|B(t)\right\| < \varepsilon$$

and

$$\int_{t_0}^{t} \|B(t_1)\| dt_1 = \int_{t_0}^{t_0+T} \|B(t_1)\| dt_1 + \int_{t_0+T}^{t} \|B(t_1)\| dt_1$$
  
$$\leq M + \varepsilon(t - T - t_0) \leq M + \varepsilon(t - t_0).$$
(3.3.6)

Therefore, the conditions of Theorem 3.3.2 are satisfied.

This proves the corollary.

The commonly used method in nonlinear systems is linearization, which is based on the following theorem. Consider the nonlinear system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x + f(t, x),$$
 (3.3.7)

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ ,  $f(t, x) \equiv x$  if and only if x = 0.

 $\Box$ 

THEOREM 3.3.4.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \sigma(\varepsilon)$ , when  $x \in D := \{x \| x \| < \sigma\}$ ,  $t \in [t_0 + \infty)$ , the estimation

 $\|f(t,x)\| < \varepsilon \|x\|$ 

holds. Then, the exponential stability of the zero solution of (3.3.1) implies the exponential stability of the zero solution of (3.3.7).

PROOF. Suppose that the zero solution of (3.3.1) be exponentially stable. Then, there exist constant  $M \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\|K(t,x_0)\| \leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)},$$

where  $K(t, t_0)$  is the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.3.1). Take  $\sigma(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that when  $||x|| < \sigma(\varepsilon)$ ,  $||f(t, x)|| < \varepsilon ||x||$  is true. Then, the general solution of (3.3.7) is

$$x(t) = K(t, t_0)x(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, t_1) f(t_1, x(t_1)) dt_1.$$

Take  $||x(t_0)|| < \sigma$ . By the continuity of solution, there exists a constant  $\delta > 0$  such that  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \sigma$ . Hence, when  $t \in [t_0, t_0 + \delta]$ , we have

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x(t_0)\| + \int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon M e^{-\alpha(t-t_1)} \|x(t_1)\| dt_1.$$

Furthermore, we obtain

$$\|x(t)\|e^{\alpha t} \leqslant M e^{\alpha t_0} \|x(t_0)\|e^{\varepsilon M(t-t_0)}$$

i.e.,

$$\|x(t)\| \leq M \|x(t_0)\| e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)+\varepsilon M(t-t_0)}$$
  
=  $M \|x(t_0)\| e^{-(\alpha-\varepsilon M)(t-t_0)}, \quad t \in [t_0, t_0 + \delta].$  (3.3.8)

Since  $\alpha - \varepsilon M > 0$ , when  $||x(t_0)|| < \frac{\sigma}{M}$ , (3.3.8) holds for  $t \ge t_0$ . Theorem 3.3.4 is proved.

COROLLARY 3.3.5. If  $\frac{\|f(t,x)\|}{\|x\|} \to 0$  holds uniformly as  $\|x\| \to 0$  for t, and  $f(t,x) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ , then the conditions of Theorem 3.3.4 are satisfied.

EXAMPLE 3.3.6. If *A* is a Hurwitz matrix, then the stability of the zero solutions of the system

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \left(Ae^t + p(t)B\right)x\tag{3.3.9}$$

and the system

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax \tag{3.3.10}$$

is equivalent, where p(t) is any *n*th-degree polynomial of t, or any continuous function satisfying  $\frac{p(t)}{e^t} \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

PROOF. Introduce a transform  $\tau = e^t$  to (3.3.9) to obtain

$$\frac{dx}{d\tau} = \left(A + f(\tau)B\right)x,\tag{3.3.11}$$

where  $f(\tau) = \frac{p(t)}{e^t} = \frac{p(\ln \tau)}{\tau}$ . Since  $\tau \to +\infty \iff t \to +\infty$ , the two systems (3.3.9) and (3.3.11) have the same stability. If replacing  $\tau$  in (3.3.11) by t, then (3.3.11) becomes

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \left(A + f(t)B\right)x. \tag{3.3.12}$$

However,  $f(t)B \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ , so the conditions of Corollary 3.3.3 are satisfied.  $\square$ 

For the general nonlinear system

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{3.3.13}$$

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^n], f(t, x) \equiv x \iff x = 0$ . One can rewrite (3.3.13) as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x + g(t, x),$$
 (3.3.14)

where  $A(t) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial t}|_{x=0}$  is Jacobi matrix of f and g(t, x) represents higher order terms. Then, the corresponding linear system is

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x,\tag{3.3.15}$$

which can be used to analyze the stability of the zero solution for (3.3.13). This is the Lyapunov first approximation theory.

COROLLARY 3.3.7. If  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta > 0$  when  $||x|| < \delta$  it admits  $||g(t, x)|| \leq \delta$  $\varepsilon \|x\|$ , then the exponential stability of the zero solution of (3.3.15) implies the exponential stability of the zero solution of (3.3.14).

COROLLARY 3.3.8. If A(t) = A, A is a Hurwitz matrix and other conditions of *Corollary* 3.3.7 *hold, then the zero solution of* (3.3.14) *is exponentially stable.* 

#### 3.4. The expression of Cauchy matrix solution

It is well know that for linear system (3.1.2), the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$  plays a key role, since it determines all properties of the general solution of system (3.1.2). However, except for the cases of A(t) being constant matrix, diagonal matrix, or trigonometric matrix,  $K(t, t_0)$  cannot be expressed in finite integral form of the elements of A(t). For some certain specific form A(t), we can find the expression of the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$  or its estimation, and obtain the algebraic criteria for stability.

THEOREM 3.4.1. If the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  $A(t) \in [I, \mathbb{R}^{n^2}];$ (2)  $A(t) \int_{\tau}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1 \equiv \int_{\tau}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1 A(t) \forall (\tau, t) \in [t_0 + \infty);$ (3)  $\bar{A} := \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1$  exists and is a Hurwitz matrix;

then

(1) the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$  of (3.1.2) can be expressed as

$$K(t, t_0) := \Omega(t) := e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1};$$
(3.4.1)

(2) the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

PROOF.

(1) Obviously, condition (2) implies that

$$A(t)e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1} = e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1} A(t).$$

Since  $\Omega(t_0) = I_n$ , and

$$\frac{d\Omega(t)}{dt} = e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1} A(t) = A(t) e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1} = A(t) \Omega(t),$$

 $K(t, t_0) = \Omega(t) = e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1}$ is true. (2) With the condition

$$A(t) \int_{s}^{t} A(t_{1}) dt_{1} = \int_{s}^{t} A(t_{1}) dt_{1} A(t), \qquad (3.4.2)$$

computing the derivative of (3.4.2) with respect to variable s, we obtain A(t)A(s) = A(s)A(t). Hence, we have

$$\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 \frac{1}{s} \int_{t_0}^s A(t_2) dt_2 = \frac{1}{s} \int_{t_0}^t dt_1 \int_{t_0}^s A(t_1) A(t_2) dt_2$$

$$= \frac{1}{s} \int_{t_0}^{t} dt_1 \int_{t_0}^{s} A(t_2) A(t_1) dt_2$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{s} \int_{t_0}^{s} A(t_2) dt_2 \int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1.$  (3.4.3)

Let  $s \to +\infty$ , the limit is

$$\int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1 \bar{A} = \bar{A} \int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1.$$

Suppose  $\frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 = \overline{A} + B(t)$ , where  $B(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ . However,

$$\bar{A}B(t) = \bar{A}\left[\frac{1}{t}\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 - \bar{A}\right] = B(t)\bar{A}.$$
(3.4.4)

So the zero solution of (3.1.2) can be expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} x(t, t_0, x_0) &= e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} A(t_1) dt_1} x(t_0) = e^{t\bar{A} + tB(t)} x(t_0) \\ &= e^{t\bar{A}} e^{tB(t)} x(t_0). \end{aligned}$$
(3.4.5)

Let

$$\max_{i \leq j \leq n} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(\bar{A}) = \alpha < 0.$$

Choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\alpha + 2\varepsilon < 0$ , and  $T \gg 1$  such that  $t \ge T > 0$ . Suppose  $||B(t)|| < \varepsilon$  holds. From (3.4.5) we know that there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq \|e^{t\bar{A}}\| \|e^{tB(t)}\| \|x(t_0)\| \leq M e^{(\alpha+\varepsilon)t} e^{t\|B(t)\|} \|x(t_0)\|$$
  
 
$$\leq M \|x(t_0)\| e^{(\alpha+2\varepsilon)t} \quad (t \geq T),$$
 (3.4.6)

which, due to  $\alpha + 2\varepsilon < 0$ , implies that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

THEOREM 3.4.2. If system (3.1.2) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)

$$A(t)\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 - \int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 A(t) := K^{(1)}(t) \neq 0,$$

but

$$K^{(1)}(t)\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 - \int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 K^{(1)}(t) := K^{(2)}(t) = 0;$$

(2)  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 =: \bar{A} \text{ exists and is a Hurwitz matrix;}$ (3)  $K^{(1)}(t) \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty;$ 

then the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

**PROOF.** If condition (1) is satisfied, then the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.1.2) is

$$X(t) = e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1} Y(t), \qquad (3.4.7)$$

where Y(t) is the Cauchy matrix solution of

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = K^{(1)}(t)y. (3.4.8)$$

By condition (2), let  $\int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 = \bar{A}t + tB(t)$ , where  $B(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ . Then, (3.4.7) can be expressed as  $X(t) = e^{\bar{A}t}e^{tB(t)}Y(t)$ . Furthermore, suppose

$$\max_{1\leqslant j\leqslant n}\operatorname{Re}\lambda_j(A)=\alpha<0.$$

Therefore, there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\alpha + 3\varepsilon < 0$ ,  $K^{(1)}(t) \rightarrow 0$  (as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ ) implies that

$$\|y(t, t_0, y_0)\| \leq \|y(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t \|K^{(1)}(t_1)\| dt_1} \leq M_2 e^{\varepsilon t}$$
 (M<sub>2</sub> = const)

and  $B(t) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$  implies that there exists T > 0 such that when t > T,

$$\|B(t)\| < \varepsilon$$

holds. Therefore, when t > T, we obtain

$$\|X(t)\| \leq M_1 e^{(\alpha+\varepsilon)t} e^{t\|B(t)\|} \|Y(t)\| \leq M_1 e^{(\alpha+2\varepsilon)t} M_2 e^{\varepsilon t}$$
  
$$:= M e^{(\alpha+3\varepsilon)t}, \qquad (3.4.9)$$

where  $M_1$  = constant and  $M = M_1 M_2$ . (3.4.9) indicates that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

THEOREM 3.4.3. (See [459].) If (3.1.2) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $A(t) \in C^1[I, \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}]$  and there exists constant matrix  $A_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  such that

$$A_1 A(t) - A(t) A_1 = \dot{A}; (3.4.10)$$

(2) *let* 

$$A_2 := e^{-A_1 t_0} [A(t_0) - A_1] e^{A_1 t_0},$$
  
$$\alpha = \max_{1 \le j \le n} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(A_1), \ \beta = \max_{1 \le j \le n} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(A_2), \ and \ \alpha + \beta < 0;$$

then:

(a) the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.1.2) can be expressed as

$$K(t, t_0) = e^{A_1 t} e^{A_2(t-t_0)} e^{-A_1 t}; (3.4.11)$$

(b) the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. (1) Multiplying respectively  $e^{-A_1(t-t_0)}$  and  $e^{A_1(t-t_0)}$  to the left-hand and right-hand sides of (3.4.10) yields

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ e^{-A_1(t-t_0)} A(t) e^{A_1(t-t_0)} \right] = 0.$$
(3.4.12)

Integrating (3.4.12) results in  $A(t) = e^{A_1(t-t_0)}A(t_0)e^{-A_1(t-t_0)}$ . Take the transform  $x(t) = e^{A_1(t)}y(t)$  into (3.1.2) yields

$$A_1 e^{A_1(t)} y(t) + e^{A_1 t} \dot{y}(t) = A(t) e^{A_1 t} y(t),$$

or

$$\dot{y}(t) = e^{-A_1 t_0} [A(t_0) - A_1] e^{A_1 t_0} y(t) = A_2 y(t).$$

So

$$y(t) = e^{A_2(t-t_0)}y(t_0) = e^{A_2(t-t_0)}e^{-A_1t_0}x(t_0).$$

(2) Since  $K(t, t_0) = e^{A_1 t} e^{A_2(t-t_0)} e^{-A_1 t_0}$ , we have  $||K(t, t_0)|| \leq M e^{(\alpha+\beta)(t-t_0)}$ , implying that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable, because  $\alpha + \beta < 0$ .

THEOREM 3.4.4. (See [400].) If system (3.1.2) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $A(t) \in C^{1}[I, \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}]$ , there exists a constant matrix  $A_{1}$  and function  $V(t) \in C^{1}[I, \mathbb{R}], V(t) \neq 0$  such that

$$A_1 A(t) - A(t) A_1 = \frac{d}{dt} \left( \frac{A(t)}{V(t)} \right),$$
 (3.4.13)

and  $\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} V(t) dt = +\infty;$ 

(2)  $A_2 = P(t_0) - A_1$ , where  $P(t_0) = \lim_{t \to t_0} \frac{A(t)}{V(t)}$ ,

and

$$\alpha = \max_{1 \leq j \leq n} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(A_1), \quad \beta = \max_{1 \leq j \leq n} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(A_2)$$

satisfying  $\alpha + \beta < 0$ ;

then the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.1.2) is

$$K(t, t_0) = e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} e^{A_2 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1},$$
(3.4.14)

and the zero solution of (3.1.2) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Multiplying respectively

 $e^{-A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1}$  and  $e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1}$ 

to the left-hand and right-hand sides of (3.4.13) results in

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ e^{-A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} \frac{A(t)}{V(t)} e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} \right] = 0.$$
(3.4.15)

Then, integrating (3.4.15) gives

$$A(t) = V(t)e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} P(t_0)e^{-A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1}.$$
(3.4.16)

Introduce the transform

$$x(t) = e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} y(t)$$

into (3.1.2) yields

$$A_1 V(t) e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} y(t) + e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} \frac{dy(t)}{dt} = A(t) e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} y(t)$$
  
=  $V(t) [P(t_0) - A_1] y(t) := V(t) A_2 y(t).$ 

So  $y(t) = e^{A_2 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} y(t_0).$ 

Thus the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.1.2) is

$$K(t, t_0) = e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} e^{A_2 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1}$$

Furthermore, we have

$$\| K(t, t_0) \| \leq \| e^{A_1 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} \| \| e^{A_2 \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} \|$$
  
 
$$\leq M_1 e^{(\alpha + \varepsilon) \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} M_2 e^{(\beta + \delta) \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1} = M_1 M_2 e^{(\alpha + \beta + \varepsilon + \delta) \int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1}$$

where  $M_1, M_2$  are positive constants. Take  $T \gg 1$ . When  $t \ge T$ , for  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ ,  $0 < \delta \ll 1$ , we have  $\alpha + \beta + \varepsilon + \delta < 0$ , due to  $\int_{t_0}^t V(t_1) dt_1 \to +\infty$ .  $\square$ 

This shows that the zero solution of (3.1.2) is asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 3.4.5. Consider the stability of following system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 - e^{2t}x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = e^{-2t}x_1 - 4x_2 \end{cases}$$

where  $A(t) = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -e^{2t} \\ e^{-2t} & -4 \end{bmatrix}$ . Take  $A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ . Then, we have  $A_1A(t) - A(t)A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & -e^{2t} \\ e^{-2t} & -4 \end{bmatrix}$ . A(t). Choose  $t_0 = 0, A_2 = \begin{bmatrix} -4 & -1 \\ 1 & -5 \end{bmatrix}$ . Since

$$\alpha = \max_{1 \le j \le 2} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(A_1) = 3,$$
  
$$\beta = \max_{1 \le j \le 2} \operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(A_2) = -\frac{9}{2},$$
  
$$\alpha + \beta < 0,$$

by Theorem 3.4.3 we can conclude that the zero solution of this system is exponentially stable.

#### **3.5.** Linear systems with periodic coefficients

Consider the following linear systems with periodic coefficients:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x,\tag{3.5.1}$$

where  $A(t) = (a_{ii}(t)) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^n], x \in \mathbb{R}^n, A(t+T) \equiv A(t)$  and T > 0 is the period.

Floquet–Lyapunov theory shows that the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.5.1) can be expressed as

$$X(t) = F(x)e^{Kt},$$
 (3.5.2)

where F(t) is a periodic, continuous nonsingular matrix and

$$K = \frac{1}{T} \ln X(T).$$
 (3.5.3)

Therefore, the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable if and only if K is Hurwitz; the zero solution of (3.5.1) is stable if and only if K is quasi-stable.

It follows from (3.5.3) that K is a Hurwitz matrix  $\iff$  the spectral radius of matrix X(T),  $\rho(X(T))$  is less than one, i.e.,  $\rho(X(T)) < 1$ .
*K* is quasi-stable  $\iff \rho(X(T)) \leq 1$  and the eigenvalue  $\lambda_0$ ,  $|\lambda_0| = 1$ , only corresponds to simple elementary divisor of X(T). However, computing the eigenvalues of X(T) is very difficult because one needs to compute the unknown Cauchy matrix X(T).

For some specific systems, we may be able to derive the formula for X(T), and then get the stability conditions.

First, we use an elemental method to derive the Floquet-Lyapunov theory.

Let X(t) be the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.5.1). Due to  $A(t + T) \equiv A(t)$ , it is easy to prove that X(t + T) is the fundamental solution matrix of (3.5.1). Hence, X(t + T) can be expressed by X(t), i.e.,

$$X(t+T) = X(t)C.$$
 (3.5.4)

Let t = 0, then X(T) = C. So

$$X(t+T) = X(t)X(T),$$

$$\det X(t+T) = \det X(t) \det (X(T)) \neq 0.$$

Let  $kT \leq t < (k+1)T$ ,  $t = [\frac{t}{T}]T + (\frac{t}{\omega}) := kT + t_1$ ,  $k = [\frac{t}{T}]$ ,  $t_1 = (\frac{t}{\omega})$ . Thus, we have

$$X(t) = X(kT + t_1)$$
  
=  $X((k - 1)T + t_1 + T)$   
=  $X((k - 1)T + t_1)X(T) = \cdots$   
=  $X(t_1)X^k(T)$ , (3.5.5)

where  $X(t_1)$  is nonzero and is bounded. Equation (3.5.5) shows that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} X(t) = 0$$

if and only if

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} X^k(T) = 0.$$

X(t) is bounded  $\iff X^k(T)$  is bounded  $\iff \rho(X(T)) \leq 1$ , and the  $\lambda$  satisfying  $\lambda(X(T)) = 1$  only corresponds to simple elementary divisor of X(T).

This is main result of Floquet–Lyapunov theory. In the following, for some specific linear periodic systems of (3.5.1), we give the Cauchy matrix's expression and the stability criteria.

THEOREM 3.5.1. If the following conditions are satisfied: (1)  $A(t) \int_{t_0}^t A(\tau) d\tau = \int_{t_0}^t A(\tau) d\tau A(t);$  (2)  $B(T) - B(0) := \int_0^T A(t) dt$  is a Hurwitz matrix; then the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. According to Theorem 3.4.1, the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.5.1) can be repressed as  $X(t) = e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} A(\tau) d\tau}$ .

Let  $t \in [kT, (k+1)T]$ , i.e.,  $t = kT + t_1$ . Then, we have

$$X(t) = X(t_1)X^k(T) = X(t_1)e^{kB(T) - B(0)}.$$
(3.5.6)

By condition (2) and (3.5.6), there exist constants M > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\|x(t)\| \leq M e^{-\frac{\alpha kT}{T}} = M e^{\frac{\alpha}{T}t_1} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{T}t} := M^* e^{-\frac{\alpha}{T}t}, \qquad (3.5.7)$$

which means that the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable.

THEOREM 3.5.2. Assume that

- (1)  $W(t) = A(t) \int_{t_0}^t A(\tau) d\tau \int_{t_0}^t A(\tau) d\tau A(t) \neq 0;$
- (2)  $W(t) \int_{t_0}^t W(\tau) d\tau \int_{t_0}^t W(\tau) d\tau W(t) \equiv 0;$
- (3)  $A(t)W(t) W(t)A(t) \equiv 0, B_1(T) B_1(0) = \int_0^T (A(\tau) + \frac{1}{2}W(t)) dt$  is a Hurwitz matrix;

then the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable.

**PROOF.** According to Theorem 3.4.2, the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.5.1) can be written as

$$X(t) = e^{\int_0^t A(\tau) \, d\tau} Y(t), \tag{3.5.8}$$

where Y(t) is the Cauchy matrix solution of the following system

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = W(t)y. \tag{3.5.9}$$

By conditions (2) and (3) and the conclusion of Theorem 3.4.2, we have

$$X(t) = e^{\int_0^t A(\tau) dt} e^{\int_0^t W(\tau) d\tau} = e^{\int_0^t (A(\tau) + W(\tau)) d\tau},$$
(3.5.10)

where W(t) is a matrix with period *T*. The rest of the proof follows the proof of Theorem 3.4.2.

THEOREM 3.5.3. If the conditions (1) and (2) of Theorem 3.5.2 are satisfied, and

$$B(T) - B(0) := \int_{0}^{T} A(t_1) dt_1$$

and

$$\tilde{B}(T) - \tilde{B}(0) := \int_{0}^{T} \omega(t_1) dt_1$$

are Hurwitz matrices, then the zero solution is exponentially stable.

PROOF. By using (3.5.10), the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.5.1) is

$$X(t) = e^{\int_0^t A(t_1) dt_1} e^{\int_0^t W(t_1) dt_1}$$

Let

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(B(T) - B(0)) < -\alpha_1 < 0,$$
  
$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda(\tilde{B}(T) - \tilde{B}(0)) < -\alpha_2 < 0.$$

Then, there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\left\|X(t)\right\| \leqslant M e^{-\frac{\alpha_1}{T}t} e^{-\frac{\alpha_2}{T}t} = M e^{-\left[\frac{\alpha_1}{T} + \frac{\alpha_2}{T}\right]t} = M e^{-\frac{\alpha_1+\alpha_2}{T}t},$$

and so the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 3.5.4. Suppose that

(1) there exists a constant matrix  $A_1$  such that

$$A_1 A(t) - A(t) A_1 = \frac{dA(t)}{dt};$$
(3.5.11)

 $\Box$ 

- (2)  $A_1A_2 = A_2A_1$ , where  $A_2 := e^{-A_1t_0}[A(t_0) A_1]e^{A_1t_0}$ ;
- (3)  $A_1 + A_2$  is a Hurwitz matrix;

then the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. Multiplying respectively  $e^{-A_1(t-t_0)}$  and  $e^{A_1(t-t_0)}$  to the left-hand and right-hand sides of (3.5.11) we obtain

$$e^{-A_{1}(t-t_{0})}A_{1}A(t)e^{A_{1}(t-t_{0})} - e^{-A_{1}(t-t_{0})}A(t)A_{1}e^{A_{1}(t-t_{0})}$$
  
=  $e^{-A_{1}(t-t_{0})}\frac{dA(t)}{dt}e^{A_{1}(t-t_{0})},$  (3.5.12)

i.e.,

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left[ e^{-A_1(t-t_0)} A(t) e^{A_1(t-t_0)} \right] = 0.$$
(3.5.13)

Integrate (3.5.13) to obtain

$$A(t) = e^{A_1(t-t_0)} A(t_0) e^{-A_1(t-t_0)}.$$

Hence, (3.5.1) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = e^{A_1(t-t_0)} A(t_0) e^{-A_1(t-t_0)} x.$$
(3.5.14)

Using the transformation

$$x(t) = e^{A_1 t} y(t),$$

we get

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = e^{-A_1 t_0} [A(t_0) - A_1] e^{A_1 t_0} y := A_2 y,$$
  
$$y(t) = e^{A_2 (t - t_0)} y(t_0).$$

Finally, we obtain

$$X(t) = e^{A_1 t} e^{A_2 (t-t_0)} e^{-A_1 (t_0)} x(t_0),$$

which indicates that (3.5.1) has the following Cauchy matrix solution:

$$X(t) = e^{A_1 t} e^{A_2 t} = e^{(A_1 + A_2)t}$$

So there exist constants M > 0 and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $||X(t)|| \le Me^{-\alpha t}$ . This implies that the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable.

THEOREM 3.5.5. Assume that

- (1) the conditions (1) and (2) of Theorem 3.5.3 are satisfied;
- (2)  $A_1$  and  $A_2 = e^{-A_1 t_0} [A(t_0) A_1] e^{A_1 t_0}$  are Hurwitz matrices;

then the zero solution of (3.5.1) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. Following the proof of Theorem 3.5.4, we have the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.5.1),  $X(t) = e^{A_1 t} e^{A_2 t}$ . There exist constants  $M_1 > 0$ ,  $M_2 > 0$ ,  $\alpha_1 > 0$  and  $\alpha_2 > 0$  such that

$$||X(t)|| \leq M_1 e^{-\alpha_1 t} M_2 e^{-\alpha_2 t} = M_1 M_2 e^{-(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2) t}.$$

So the condition is true.

EXAMPLE 3.5.6. Discuss the stability of the following periodic system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = (a + \cos bt)x_1 - \frac{1}{2}x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = \frac{1}{2}x_1 + (a + \cos bt)x_2. \end{cases}$$
(3.5.15)

Obviously, the coefficient matrix A(t) satisfies

$$A(t) \int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 = \int_{t_0}^t A(t_1) dt_1 A(t)$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{|b|}{|b|}} A(t_1) dt = B\left(\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|}\right) - B(0) = \begin{bmatrix} a\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|} & -\frac{1}{\alpha}\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|} \\ -\frac{1}{\alpha}\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|} & a\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|} \end{bmatrix}$$

 $B(\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|}) - B(0)$  is a Hurwitz matrix if and only if  $\alpha < -\frac{1}{2}$ .  $B(\frac{\alpha\pi}{|b|}) - B(0)$  is quasi-stable if and only if  $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$ .

Hence, the zero solution of system (3.5.15) is exponentially stable if and only if  $\alpha < -\frac{1}{2}$ ; and is stable if and only if  $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$ .

## 3.6. Spectral estimation for linear systems

Let  $x^{(k)}(t)$  be an arbitrary solution of (3.1.2). Then,

$$\alpha := \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \left\| x^{(k)}(t) \right\|$$

is called eigenexponent of  $x^{(k)}$ . All eigenexponents form a set called the spectral of systems (3.1.2).

Lyapunov proved that if  $||A(t)|| \leq c < \infty$ , then for every solution  $x(t) \neq 0$ , the eigenexponent is infinite.

Let x(t) be any solution of (3.1.2), we have the following estimation:

$$\|x(t_0)\|e^{\int_{t_0}^t \lambda(t_1) dt_1} \leq \|x(t)\| \leq \|x(t_0)\|e^{\int_{t_0}^t \Lambda(t_1) dt_1}$$
(3.6.1)

where  $\|\cdot\|$  denotes the Euclidean norm,  $\lambda(t)$  and  $\Lambda(t)$  are respectively the minimum and maximum eigenvalues of the matrix

$$A^{H} = \frac{1}{2} \left[ A(t) + A^{T}(t) \right].$$
(3.6.2)

Hence, from (3.6.2) one can obtain the interval of the spectral, [l, L], where

$$l = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \lambda(t_1) \, dt_1,$$

$$L = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \Lambda(t_1) \, dt_1.$$

Further, it follows that

- (1) if L < 0, then the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable;
- (2) if l > 0, then the zero solution of (3.1.2) is unstable.

Next, we present a general result.

DEFINITION 3.6.1. The matrix  $L(t) = (\ell_{ij}(t))_{n \times n} \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}]$  is called Lyapunov matrix, if

(1)  $\|\dot{L}(t)\| < \infty$  and  $\|L(t)\| < \infty$ , (2)  $|\det L(t)| > m > 0;$ 

and y = L(t)x is called Lyapunov transformation.

THEOREM 3.6.2. Take a Lyapunov transformation

$$g = L(t)x := \operatorname{diag}(\ell_{11}(t), \dots, \ell_{nn}(t))x.$$

*Then, any solution of* (3.1.2) *has the estimation:* 

$$\|L(t)\|^{-1} \|L(t_0)x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1} \leq \|x(t)\| \leq \|L^{-1}(t)\| \|L(t_0)x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\Lambda}(t_1) dt_1},$$
(3.6.3)

where  $\|\cdot\|$  denotes the Euclidean norm, and  $\tilde{\lambda}(t)$  and  $\tilde{\Lambda}(t)$  are respectively minimum and maximum eigenvalues of the matrix

$$\tilde{A}^{H} := \frac{1}{2} \left[ \tilde{A}(t) + \tilde{A}^{T}(t) \right], \tag{3.6.4}$$

where

$$\tilde{A} := \left( L(t)A(t)L^{-1}(t) - L(t)\dot{L}^{-1}(t) \right).$$
(3.6.5)

PROOF. Since L(t) is a Lyapunov transformation, the inverse transformation  $L^{-1}(t)$  exists. Let  $x(t) = L^{-1}(t)y$ . Then,

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \left(L(t)A(t)L^{-1}(t) - \dot{L}(t)L^{-1}(t)\right)y := \tilde{A}(t)y.$$
(3.6.6)

If  $y = (y_1, \dots, y_n)^T$  is a solution of (3.3.6), Then,  $y^* = (\bar{y}_1, \bar{y}_2, \dots, \bar{y}_n)$  is the solution of

$$\frac{dy^*}{dt} = y^* A^T. aga{3.6.7}$$

As a result, we have

$$\frac{d\|y\|^2}{dt} = \frac{dy^*y}{dt} = y^* \frac{dy}{dt} + \frac{dy^*}{dt}y = y^* \tilde{A}y + y^* \tilde{A}^T y = y^* (\tilde{A}(t) + \tilde{A}^T(t))y = 2y^* \tilde{A}^H y.$$
(3.6.8)

But since  $\tilde{\lambda}(t)y^*y \leq y^*A^Hy \leq \tilde{\Lambda}(t)y^*y$ , we obtain

$$2\tilde{\lambda}(t) \|y(t)\|^{2} \leq \frac{d\|y\|^{2}}{dt} \leq 2\tilde{\Lambda}(t) \|y(t)\|^{2},$$
  
$$\|y(t_{0})\|^{2} e^{2\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \tilde{\lambda}(t_{1}) dt_{1}} \leq \|y(t)\|^{2} \leq \|y(t_{0})\|^{2} e^{2\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \tilde{\Lambda}(t_{1}) dt_{1}},$$
  
$$\|y(t_{0})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \tilde{\lambda}(t_{1}) dt_{1}} \leq \|y(t)\| \leq \|y(t_{0})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \tilde{\Lambda}(t_{1}) dt_{1}}.$$
 (3.6.9)

Furthermore, we have

$$y(t) = L(t)x(t),$$
  
$$\|y(t)\| \leq \|L(t)\| \|x(t)\|,$$
  
$$\|x(t)\| \leq \|L^{-1}(t)\| \|y(t)\|,$$

which yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|L(t)\|^{-1} \|y(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1} \\ &= \|L(t)\|^{-1} \|L(t_0)\| \|x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1} \leqslant \|x(t)\|, \end{aligned} (3.6.10)$$

and

$$\|x(t)\| \leq \|L^{-1}(t)\| \|L(t_0)x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t \tilde{A}(t_1) dt_1}.$$
(3.6.11)

Combining (3.6.10) and (3.6.11) shows that (3.6.3) is true.

The proof is completed.

COROLLARY 3.6.3. The spectral of systems (3.1.2) is distributed on interval  $[\underline{l}, \overline{L}]$ , where

$$\underline{l} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1,$$
$$\tilde{L} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\Lambda}(t_1) dt_1.$$

If  $\tilde{L} < 0$ , the zero solution of (3.1.2) is exponentially stable; and if  $\underline{l} > 0$ , the zero solution of (3.1.2) is unstable.

**PROOF.** Since L(t) and  $L^{-1}(t)$  are bounded, we have

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|L(t)\| = 0, \qquad \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|L^{-1}(t)\| = 0$$

Hence,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|L(t)\|^{-1} \|L(t_0)x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1} = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1,$$
  
$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|L^{-1}(t)\| \|L(t_0)x(t_0) e^{\int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1}\| = \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1,$$
  
$$\tilde{l} := \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\Lambda}(t_1) dt_1 \leqslant \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \ln \|x(t)\|$$
  
$$\leqslant \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\Lambda}(t_1) dt_1 := \tilde{L}.$$

Thus, the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 3.6.4. If  $L(t) = L = \text{diag}(L_{11}, \ldots, L_{nn})$  is a constant matrix, then  $\tilde{A} = (LA(t)L^{-1})$ . If  $L(t) = I_n$ , then  $l = \underline{l}, L = \overline{L}$ .

EXAMPLE 3.6.5. Consider the stability of the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -\left(1 + \frac{1}{t}\right)x_1 + 81(1 + \sin t)x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -(1 + \sin t)x_1 - \left(1 + \frac{1}{t}\right)x_2. \end{cases}$$
(3.6.12)

It is easy to obtain that

$$A(t) = \begin{bmatrix} -1 - \frac{1}{t} & 81(1 + \sin t) \\ -(1 + \sin t) & -(1 + \frac{1}{t}) \end{bmatrix},$$
  
$$\frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} A(t) + A^{T}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 - \frac{1}{t} & 40(1 + \sin t) \\ 40(1 + \sin t) & -1 - \frac{1}{t} \end{bmatrix},$$
  
$$\lambda = \pm 40(1 + \sin t) - 1 - \frac{1}{t},$$
  
$$\lambda(t) = -41 - \frac{1}{t} - 40\sin t,$$
  
$$A(t) = 39 - \frac{1}{t} + 40\sin t,$$

Chapter 3. Time-Varying Linear Systems

$$l = \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1 = -40,$$
$$L = \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_0}^t \Lambda(t_1) dt = 39.$$

Since we only know that the spectral of (3.6.12) is distributed on interval [-40, 39], we cannot determine the stability of the system.

Now using Theorem 3.6.2, let  $L = \text{diag}(1, 9), L^{-1} = \text{diag}(1, \frac{1}{9})$ . Then, we have

$$\begin{split} L &= \operatorname{diag}(1,9), \quad L^{-1} = \operatorname{diag}\left(1,\frac{1}{9}\right), \\ \tilde{A} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 9 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -1 - \frac{1}{t} & 81(1+\sin t) \\ -(1+\sin t) & -1 - \frac{1}{t} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{9} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} -1 - \frac{1}{t} & 9(1+\sin t) \\ -9(1+\sin t) & -1 - \frac{1}{t} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A} + \tilde{A}^T \end{bmatrix} &= \begin{bmatrix} -1 - \frac{1}{t} & 0 \\ 0 & -1 - \frac{1}{t} \end{bmatrix}, \\ \tilde{\lambda}(t) &= -1 - \frac{1}{t}, \quad \tilde{\Lambda}(t) = -1 - \frac{1}{t}. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\underline{l} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^{t} \tilde{\lambda}(t_1) dt_1 = -1,$$
$$\tilde{L} = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{t} \int_{t_0}^{t} \tilde{\Lambda}(t_1) dt_1 = -1,$$

implying that the spectral of the system is -1. So the zero solution of the system is exponentially stable.

#### 3.7. Partial variable stability of linear systems

Partial variable stability theory is very useful and is still an active area. For stationary linear systems, many results on partial stability have been obtained. For time-varying linear systems, however, general theory of partial variable stability has not been established.

In this section, we give a series of necessary and sufficient conditions for partial variable stability of linear time-varying systems.

We rewrite (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy}{dt} = A_{11}(t)y + A_{12}(t)z + f_I(t), \\ \frac{dz}{dt} = A_{21}(t)y + A_{22}(t)z + f_{II}(t), \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = A_{11}(t)y + A_{12}(t)z, \\ \frac{dz}{dt} = A_{21}(t)y + A_{22}(t)z. \end{cases}$$
(3.7.2)

Let

$$y := (x_{1}, \dots, x_{m})^{T},$$

$$z := (x_{m+1}, \dots, x_{n})^{T},$$

$$y_{(n)} := (x_{1}, \dots, x_{m}, \overbrace{0, \dots, 0}^{n-m})^{T}, \quad 1 \le m \le n,$$

$$A_{11}(t) = (a_{ij}(t_{1}))_{m \times m}, \quad i \le i, j \le m,$$

$$A_{12}(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{m \times (n-m)}, \quad 1 \le i \le m, m+1 \le j \le n,$$

$$A_{21}(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{(n-m) \times n}, \quad m+1 \le i \le n, \ 1 \le j \le m,$$

$$A_{22}(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{(n-m) \times (n-m)}, \quad m+1 \le i, \ j \le n,$$

$$f_{I}(t) = (f_{1}(t), f_{2}(t), \dots, f_{m}(t_{1}))^{T},$$

$$f_{II}(t) = (f_{m+1}(t), \dots, f_{n}(t))^{T},$$

 $K(t, t_0)$  is the Cauchy matrix solution of (3.7.2),  $k_m(t, t_0) := E_m K(t, t_0)$  is called cut matrix of  $K(t, t_0)$ , where  $E_m = \begin{bmatrix} I_m & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ ,  $I_m$  is  $m \times m$  unit matrix.

DEFINITION 3.7.1. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is said to be stable with respect to variable *y*, if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0, \exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon), \forall x_0 \in S_{\delta} := \{x, ||x|| < \delta\}$  such that the following condition

 $\|y(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon, \quad t \ge t_0,$ 

holds. If  $\delta(t_0, \varepsilon) = \delta(\varepsilon)$ , i.e.,  $\delta$  is independent of  $t_0$ , then the zero solution is said to be uniformly stable with respect to variable *y*.

DEFINITION 3.7.2. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is said to be attractive with respect to variable *y*, if  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \sigma(t_0), \forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall x_0 \in S_{\sigma(t_0)} = \{x, ||x|| \leq \sigma(t_0)\}, \exists T(t_0, x_0, \varepsilon)$  such that when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ ,

$$\left\| y(t,t_0,x_0) \right\| < \varepsilon.$$

If  $\sigma(t_0) = \sigma$ ,  $T(t_0, x_0, \varepsilon) = T(\varepsilon)$ , then the zero solution of (3.7.2) is said to be uniformly attractive with respect to variable *y*.

DEFINITION 3.7.3. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is said to be asymptotically stable with respect to variable y, if x = 0 is stable and attractive with respect to variable y.

Similarly we can define uniformly asymptotic stability, equi-asymptotic stability, globally asymptotic stability, exponential stability with respect to variable *y*.

THEOREM 3.7.4.  $\forall f(t) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^n]$ , system (3.7.1) has certain class of stability with respect to variable y if and only if the zero solution of (3.1.2) has the same stability with respect to variable y.

**PROOF.** Any solution x(t) of (3.7.1) corresponding to  $y_{(n)}(t)$  can be expressed as

$$y_{(n)}(t) = E_m X(t) = K_m(t, t_0) x(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^{t} K_m(t, \tau) f(\tau) d\tau.$$
(3.7.3)

Then any perturbed solution  $\tilde{x}(t)$  of x(t) corresponding to  $\hat{y}_{(n)}(t)$  can be expressed as

$$\hat{y}_{(n)}(t) = K_m(t, t_0)\hat{x}(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t K_m(t, \tau)f(\tau)\,d\tau.$$
(3.7.4)

Hence, one can obtain

$$y_{(n)}(t) - \tilde{y}_n(t) = K_m(t, t_0) \big( x(t_0) - \tilde{x}(t_0) \big).$$
(3.7.5)

Let any perturbed solution for the zero solution of (3.7.2) corresponding to  $y_{(n)}(t)$  be  $\eta(t)$ . Obviously,  $\eta_{(n)}(t) = K_m(t, t_0)\eta(t_0)$ .

Let  $\eta(t_0) = x(t_0) - \tilde{x}(t_0), \eta_{(n)}(t_0) = y_{(n)}(t_0) - \tilde{y}_n(t_0)$ . Then,

$$\eta_{(n)}(t) = K_m(t, t_0) \big( x(t_0) - \tilde{x}(t_0) \big).$$
(3.7.6)

Equations (3.7.4) and (3.7.6) imply that the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 3.7.5. Any solution of (3.7.2) has certain type of stability with respect to partial variable y if and only if the zero solution of (3.7.2) has the same stability with respect to variable y.

THEOREM 3.7.6. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is stable (uniformly stable) if and only if  $K_m(t, t_0)$  is bounded (uniformly bounded).

**PROOF.** *Sufficiency*. Any perturbed solution x(t) of the zero solution corresponding to  $y_{(n)}$  can be written as

$$y_{(n)} = K_m(t, t_0) x(t_0), \qquad (3.7.7)$$

where  $K_m(t, t_0)$  is bounded (uniformly bounded). So there exists a constant  $M(t_0)$  (M > 0) such that  $||K_m(t, t_0)|| \leq M(t_0) (||K_m(t, t_0)|| \leq M)$  for  $t \ge t_0$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta(\varepsilon, t_0) = \frac{\varepsilon}{M(t_0)} [\delta(\varepsilon) = \frac{\varepsilon}{M}]$ . Then, when  $||x(t_0)|| < \delta$ , we have

$$\|y(t)\| = \|y_{(n)}(t)\| = \|K_m(t, t_0)\| \|x(t_0)\| < \varepsilon, \quad t \ge t_0.$$
(3.7.8)

Hence the zero solution of (3.7.2) is stable (uniformly stable) with respect to variable *y*.

*Necessity*. Suppose the zero solution of (3.7.2) is stable (uniformly stable) with respect to *y*. Then, for  $\varepsilon_0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon_0, t_0) > 0$  ( $\delta(\varepsilon_0) > 0$ ) such that

$$\|x(t_0)\| < \delta, \|y(t)\| = \|y_{(n)}(t)\| = \|K_m(t, t_0)x(t_0)\| < \varepsilon_0 \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

Take

$$x(t_0) = \frac{\delta}{2} (\overbrace{0, \dots, 0}^{k-1}, 1, \overbrace{0, \dots, 0}^{n-k})^T := \frac{\delta}{2} e_k, \quad 1 \le k \le n.$$
(3.7.9)

Then, the *k*th column of  $K_m(t, t_0)$  can be expressed as

$$(x_{1k}(t),\ldots,x_{mk}(t),0,\ldots,0)^T = \frac{2}{\delta}K_m(t,t_0)x(t_0), \quad k=1,2,\ldots,n,$$

and  $||x(t_0)|| = \frac{\delta}{2} < \delta$ . So

. ...

$$\|(x_{1k}(t),\ldots,x_{mk}(t),0,\ldots,0)^t\| \leq 2\frac{\varepsilon_0}{\delta} := M, \quad k = 1, 2, \ldots, n.$$

This implies that  $K_m(t, t_0)$  is bounded (uniformly bounded).

The proof is complete.

THEOREM 3.7.7. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is asymptotically stable with respect to variable y if and only if it is attract with respect to variable y.

PROOF. Necessity is obvious.

For sufficiency, by the conditions,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \sigma(t_0) > 0$  such that when  $\|x(t_0)\| \leq \sigma(t_0)$ ,  $\|y(t)\| = \|y_{(n)}(t)\| = \|K_m(t, t_0)x(t_0)\| \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ . Take

$$x(t_0) = (\overbrace{0, \dots, 0}^{k-1}, 1, \overbrace{0, \dots, 0}^{n-k})^T, \quad \frac{\sigma(t_0)}{2} := \frac{\sigma(t_0)}{2}e_k.$$

 $\square$ 

Then, we have

$$\left(x_{1k}(t),\ldots,x_{mk}(t),0,\ldots,0\right)^{T} = \frac{2}{\sigma(t_0)} K_m(t,t_0) \frac{\sigma(t_0)}{2} e_k \to 0 \quad \text{as}$$
$$t \to +\infty.$$

Hence when  $t \ge t_0$ ,  $K_m(t, t_0)$  is bounded. According to Theorem 3.7.2, the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 3.7.8. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is uniformly asymptotically stable with respect to variable y, if and only if it is uniformly attractive with respect to variable y and  $K_m(t, t_0)$ ,  $t \ge t_0$ , is uniformly bounded.

PROOF. Since the zero solution of (3.7.2) is uniformly asymptotically stable with respect to variable *y*, it is uniformly stable and uniformly attractive with respect to *y*. By Theorem 3.7.7, the uniform stability of the zero solution with respect to *y* is equivalent to the uniform boundedness of  $K_m(t, t_0), t \ge t_0$ . So the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 3.7.9. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is asymptotically stable (uniformly asymptotically stable) if and only if  $K_m(t, t_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow \infty$  ( $K_m(t, t_0) \Rightarrow 0$  as  $t - t_0 \rightarrow +\infty$  uniformly holds for  $t_0$ ).

PROOF. Sufficiency is obvious.

*Necessity.* By Theorems 3.7.6 and 3.7.7, we only need to prove the conditions of Theorem 3.7.9 are necessary for the zero solution to be attract (uniformly attractive) with respect to variable y. But this is just the conclusion of Theorem 3.7.6.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 3.7.10. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is asymptotically stable (uniformly asymptotically stable) with respect to variable y if and only if it is globally asymptotically stable (globally uniformly asymptotically stable).

The proof of the theorem is left to readers as an exercise.

THEOREM 3.7.11. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is asymptotically stable with respect to y if and only if it is equi-asymptotically stable with respect to y.

**PROOF.** We only need to prove that the zero solution being attractive with respect to *y* implies the equi-attractive of the zero solution with respect to *y*.

In fact, by Theorems 3.7.7 and 3.7.8, we have

 $K_m(t, t_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

Then,  $\forall t_0 \in I, \forall \alpha > 0, \forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists T(t, \sigma, \varepsilon) > 0$  such that  $||K_m(t, t_0)|| < \varepsilon/\sigma$  for t > T. Therefore, when  $||x(t_0)|| < \sigma, t > T$ , we obtain

$$|y(t)|| = ||y_{(n)}|| = ||K_m(t, t_0)x(t_0)|| < \varepsilon.$$

This implies that the zero solution of (3.7.2) is equi-attractive with respect to variable *y*.

THEOREM 3.7.12. The zero solution of (3.7.2) is exponentially stable with respect to variable y if and only if there exist constants  $M \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\left\|K_m(t,t_0)\right\| \leqslant M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}, \quad t \ge t_0.$$
(3.7.10)

PROOF. Sufficiency is obvious.

*Necessity.* If the zero solution of (3.7.2) is exponentially stable with respect to *y*, then there exist constants  $M \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $\forall t_0 \in I, \forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  the following expression

$$||y(t)|| = ||y_{(n)}|| = ||K_m(t, t_0)x(t_0)|| \le M ||x(t_0)||e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \quad \forall t \ge t_0,$$

holds. Hence, we have

$$\|K_m(t,t_0)\| \leq \sup_{\|x(t_0)\|=1} \|K_m(t,t_0)x(t_0)\| \leq Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}, \quad t \geq t_0.$$

The proof is complete.

Generally, computing  $K_m(t, t_0)$  is difficult, but sometimes estimating  $||K_m(t, t_0)||$  is possible.

EXAMPLE 3.7.13. Discuss the stability of the zero solution with respect to  $x_1$  for the following system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -2x_1 + \frac{1}{t+1}e^{-rt}x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = \frac{-10}{1+t}e^{-rt}x_1 + x_2, \end{cases}$$
(3.7.11)

where  $r \ge 1$  is a constant.

Let  $(\xi_1(t), \xi_2(t))^T$ ,  $(\eta_1(t), \eta_2(t))^T$  be solutions of (3.7.11) satisfying the initial conditions  $\xi_1(t_0) = 1$ ,  $\xi_2(t_0) = 0$  and  $\eta_1(t) = 0$ ,  $\eta_2(t_0) = 1$  respectively. Then, we have

$$K_1(t, t_0) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-2(t-t_0)} + \int_{t_0}^t e^{-2(t-\tau)} \frac{1}{1+\tau} e^{-r\tau} \xi_2(\tau) d\tau & \int_{t_0}^t e^{-2(t-\tau)} \frac{1}{1+\tau} e^{-r\tau} \eta_2(\tau) d\tau \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

For any solution  $(x_1(t), x_2(t))^T$ , by Theorem 3.7.12 the estimation is given by

$$|x_2(t)| \leq |x_1(t)| + |x_2(t)| \leq M(|x_1(t)| + |x_2(t_0)|)e^{t-t_0}$$

where M > 0 is a constant. So when  $t \ge t_0 > 0$ , we have

$$\|K_1(t,t_0)\| \leq Ne^{-2(t-t_0)} + NMe^{-t_0} \int_{t_0}^t e^{-2(t-\tau)} \frac{1}{\tau+1} e^{-\tau r} e^{\tau} d\tau,$$

where N > 0 is a constant.

4

When r = 1 it is easy to show that

$$NMe^{-t_0} \int_{t_0}^{t} e^{-2(t-\tau)} \frac{1}{\tau+1} e^{-\tau} e^{\tau} d\tau \to 0, \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

Therefore,  $K_1(t, t_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ , implying that the zero solution of (3.7.11) is asymptotically stable with respect to variable  $x_1$ .

When r > 1, one can prove that there exist constants c > 0 and  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$NMe^{-t_0}\int_{t_0}^t \frac{1}{\tau+1}e^{-2(t-\tau)}e^{-r\tau}e^{\tau} d\tau \leq ce^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)} \quad \forall t \geq t_0.$$

Hence,  $||K_1(t, t_0)|| \leq Le^{-\beta(t-t_0)}$ , where  $\beta = \min(2, \varepsilon)$  and *L* is a constant. This shows that the zero solution of the system is exponentially stable with respect to variable  $x_1$ .

# Lyapunov Direct Method

It is well know that Lyapunov direct method plays the key role in the stability study of dynamical systems. Historically, Lyapunov presented four celebrated original theorems on stability, asymptotic stability and instability, which are now called the principal theorems of stability which are fundamental to stability of dynamical systems.

Many researchers have extensively studied the Lyapunov direct method, in order to explore the effectiveness of the principal theorems. While such work was difficulty to perform, many good results were achieved. In particular, it was clarified that almost all of the principal theorems have their inverses. This motivated the development of stability theory. On the other hand, researchers have also extended and improved the principal theorems, and investigated how to constructing Lyapunov functions. It had took a long time and hard work from the presentation of Lyapunov principal theorems to establishing the inverse theorems.

In this chapter, we first give an example to show the Lyapunov direct method geometrically. Then, we present Lyapunov principal theorems and their extended versions together with their inverse theorems, since some of the inverse theorems cannot be found in the existing literature or they are not expressed in detail. The advantage of this treatment is that the panorama could be clarified easily.

From the view point of applications, inverse theorems are not perfect, since, in their proofs (i.e., the necessary part of the theorems), the Lyapunov functions are constructed based on the solutions of the equations. By this reason, we will present the extensions of various stability theorems for applications. Furthermore, Lyapunov direct method is not merely limited to stability study in the Lyapunov sense. The results of using the Lyapunov direct method to other applications will be discussed in Chapter 5.

The main results presented in this chapter are chosen from [234] for Section 4.1, [298,330,331] for Section 4.2, [280,299,331,332] for Section 4.3, [98] for Section 4.4, [292] for Section 4.5, [292] for Section 4.6, [76] for Section 4.7 and [234] for Section 4.8.

## 4.1. Geometrical illustration of Lyapunov direct method

First, we illustrate the geometrical meaning of the Lyapunov direct method by using a two-dimensional autonomous systems, described by:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = f_1(x_1, x_2), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = f_2(x_1, x_2), \end{cases}$$
(4.1.1)

where  $f_1, f_2 \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^2]$  satisfying  $f_1(0, 0) = f_2(0, 0) = 0$ , and assume that the solution of (4.1.1) is unique.

Let  $V(x) = V(x_1, x_2) \in K$  and  $V(x) \in C^1[R^2, R^1]$ . The solution  $x(t) = (x_1(t), x_2(t))^T$  is unknown or finding solution is very difficult, but assume that its derivative satisfies

$$(\dot{x}_1(t), \dot{x}_2(t)) = (f_1(x_1, x_2), f_2(x_1, x_2)).$$

If we substitute the solution x(t) into function V(t), we have V(t) := V(x(t)). Then the stability, asymptotic stability and instability can be normally described as

"Be around the origin and goes to the origin  $x_1 = x_2 = 0$ ",

"Does not leave the origin" and

"Leaves the origin",

which are equivalent to V(x(t)) being nonincreasing, decreasing and increasing, respectively, i.e.,



Figure 4.1.1. Geometric expression of the Lyapunov direct method.



Figure 4.1.2. Geometric expression of the Lyapunov function method.

This is shown in Figure 4.1.1.

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_i} \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} = \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_i} f_i(x_1, x_2) = \text{grad } V \bullet f$$

$$\begin{cases} < 0, \quad \text{when } \theta > \frac{\pi}{2}, \\ = 0, \quad \text{when } \theta = \frac{\pi}{2}, \\ > 0, \quad \text{when } \theta < \frac{\pi}{2}, \end{cases}$$

where  $\theta$  is the angle between the directions of grad V and the vector f. (See Figure 4.1.2.)

However, the last expression is independent of the solution x(t), but only depends on the function V(x) and the known vector f(x). This is the original, geometrical idea of the Lyapunov direct method.

#### 4.2. NASCs for stability and uniform stability

Consider the general *n*-dimensional nonautonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x) \tag{4.2.1}$$

where  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f = (f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n)^T \in \mathbb{C}[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$  which assures the uniqueness of the solution of (4.2.1) and  $f(t, 0) \equiv 0$ .

THEOREM 4.2.1. (See [298,330].) The necessary and sufficient condition (NASC) for the zero solution of system, (4.2.1) being stable is that there exists

a positive definite function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times G_H, R^1]$  such that along the solution of (4.2.1),

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_i} f_i(t, x) \leqslant 0$$
(4.2.2)

holds, where  $G_H := \{(t, x), t \ge t_0, ||x|| < H = constant\}.$ 

**PROOF.** Sufficiency (see [298]). Since V(t, x) is positive definite, there exists  $\varphi(||x||) \in K$  such that

$$V(t,x) \ge \varphi(\|x\|). \tag{4.2.3}$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ (0 < \varepsilon < H), \exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0 \text{ such that } V(t_0, 0) = 0 \text{ and } V(t_0, x) \ge 0 \text{ is continuous, and when } ||x_0|| < \delta(t_0, \varepsilon) \text{ we have}$ 

$$V(t_0, x_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon). \tag{4.2.4}$$

Equations (4.2.3) and (4.2.4) imply that

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon) \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

Further,

$$\varphi\big(\big\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t,x(t_0,x_0)\big) \leqslant V(t_0,x_0) \leqslant \varphi(\varepsilon) \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

It follows from  $\varphi \in K$  that

$$\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0),$$

i.e., the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable.

*Necessity.* Let  $x(t, t_0, a)$  be a solution of (4.2.1). By uniqueness of solution, we have  $a(t_0, t, x) \equiv a$  (see Figure 4.2.1).

Let

$$V(t,x) = (1 + e^{-t}) \|a(t_0, t, x)\|^2.$$
(4.2.5)

When t and x vary on a same integral curve,  $a(t_0, t, x)$  is not varied. But when t and x vary on different integral curves,  $a(t_0, t_0, x)$  takes different values. By the continuity theorem on the initial value, we know that V(t, x) of (4.2.5) is continuous.

(1) Prove that V(t, x) is positive definite.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $||x|| < \delta$ ,

$$\|x(t, t_0, a)\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

Thus, for  $\varepsilon \leq ||x|| \leq H$ , we have

$$|a(t_0, t, x)|| = ||a|| \ge \delta > 0.$$
(4.2.6)



Figure 4.2.1. The relation between  $a(t_0, t, x)$  and  $x(t, t_0, a)$ .

Hence, when  $\varepsilon \leq ||x|| \leq H$ ,

$$V(t, x) \ge ||a(t_0, t, x)||^2 = ||a||^2 \ge \delta^2 := \eta > 0.$$

Now let  $\varepsilon_1 = \frac{H}{2}$ ,  $\varepsilon_2 = \frac{H}{3}$ , ...,  $\varepsilon_n = \frac{H}{n+1}$ . Then, we obtain corresponding values  $\eta_1 > \eta_2 > \cdots > \eta_n$  such that

$$V(t,x) > \eta_n$$

in the interval  $\varepsilon_n = \frac{H}{n+1} \leq ||x|| \leq \frac{H}{n} = \varepsilon_{n-1}$ . Construct a function

$$W(x) := \eta_{n+1} + \frac{n(n+1)}{H}(\eta_n - \eta_{n+1}) \bigg( \|x\| - \frac{H}{n+1} \bigg),$$

see Figure 4.2.2 for the geometric meaning of this function.

Then obviously, we have

$$W(x) \ge \eta_{n+1} + \frac{n(n+1)}{H} (\eta_n - \eta_{n+1}) \left( \frac{H}{n+1} - \frac{H}{n+1} \right)$$
  
=  $\eta_{n+1} > 0$  for  $\frac{H}{n+1} \le ||x|| \le \frac{H}{n}$ , (4.2.7)  
 $W(x) \le \eta_{n+1} + \frac{n(n+1)}{H} (\eta_n - \eta_{n+1}) \left( \frac{H}{n} - \frac{H}{n+1} \right)$ 

$$= \eta_{n+1} + \frac{n(n+1)}{H} (\eta_n - \eta_{n+1}) \left( \begin{array}{c} n & n+1 \end{array} \right)$$
$$= \eta_{n+1} + \frac{n(n+1)}{H} (\eta_n - \eta_{n+1}) \frac{H}{n(n+1)}$$
$$= \eta_{n+1} + \eta_n - \eta_{n+1} = \eta_n \quad \text{for } \frac{H}{n+1} \leqslant ||x|| \leqslant \frac{H}{n}.$$
(4.2.8)



Figure 4.2.2. The geometric meaning of function W(x).

Therefore,  $V(t, x) \ge \eta_n \ge W(x)$ . Since  $W(0^+) \le V(t, 0) = 0$ , we can definite W(0) := 0. This implies that V(t, x) is positive definite.

(2) Along an arbitrary solution  $x(t, t_0, a)$  of (4.2.1), we have

$$V(t) := V(t, x(t, t_0, a)) := (1 + e^{-t}) \|a(t_0, t, x(t, t_0, a))\|^2$$
  
=  $(1 + e^{-t}) \|a(t_0, t_0, a)\| = (1 + e^{-t}) \|a\|^2.$  (4.2.9)

So

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} = -e^{-t} \left\| a \left( t_0, t_0, x(t, t_0, a) \right) \right\|^2 \le 0.$$
(4.2.10)

The proof of Theorem 4.2.1 is complete.

EXAMPLE 4.2.2. (See [234].) If the definition of positive finite for V(t, x) is changed to V(t, x) > 0 ( $x \neq 0$ ), V(t, 0) = 0, then the conclusion of Theorem 4.2.1 does not hold. For example, consider

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = \frac{1}{2}x_1, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = \frac{1}{2}x_2. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.11)

The general solution is

$$\begin{cases} x_1 = x_1^{(0)} e^{\frac{1}{2}(t-t_0)}, \\ x_2 = x_2^{(0)} e^{\frac{1}{2}(t-t_0)}. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.12)

Obviously, the zero solution is unstable. But if we construct the function

$$V(t, x) = \left(x_1^2 + x_2^2\right)e^{-2t},$$

then V(t, 0) = 0, V(t, x) > 0. For  $x \neq 0$ 

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V}{\partial t_1} \frac{dx_1}{dt} + \frac{\partial V}{\partial t_2} \frac{dx_2}{dt}$$
  
=  $-2e^{-2t}(x_1^2 + x_2^2) + e^{-2t}(x_1^2 + x_2^2)$   
=  $-e^{-2t}(x_1^2 + x_2^2)$   
 $\leqslant 0.$   
Let  $V(t, x) = (x_1^2 + x_2^2)e^{-2t} = c$ , i.e.,  
 $x_1^2 + x_2^2 = c e^{2t}.$  (4.2.13)

It is easy to find that the equivalent solution curve (4.2.13) leaves the origin with a rate  $e^{2t}$ , but the solution (4.2.12) leaves the origin with a rate  $e^{\frac{1}{2}t}$ . Hence,  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$  still holds. This shows that the definition of positive definite for V(t, x) cannot be changed to V(t, x) > 0,  $x \neq 0$ .

THEOREM 4.2.3. The zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly stable if and only if there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[G_H, R^1]$  with infinitesimal upper bound such that

$$D^+V(t,x)\Big|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant 0.$$
 (4.2.14)

**PROOF.** Sufficiency. By the given condition,  $\exists \varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  such that

 $\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|),$ 

Then,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$  ( $\varepsilon < H$ ) such that by taking  $\delta = \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon))$ , i.e.,  $\varepsilon = \varphi_1^{-1}(\varphi_2(\delta))$ , we have

$$\varphi_1\big(\big\|x(t,x_0,x_0)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t,x(t,t_0,x_0)\big) \leqslant V(t_0,x_0) \leqslant \varphi_2\big(\|x_0\|\big) < \varphi_2(\delta).$$

Then, when  $||x_0|| < \delta$ , it follows that.

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| < \varphi_1^{-1}(\varphi_2(\delta)) = \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

However,  $\delta = \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon)) = \delta(\varepsilon)$  is independent of  $t_0$ . So the zero solution is uniformly stable.

Necessity. Choose

$$V(t,x) := \left(1 + e^{-t}\right) \inf_{t_0 \leqslant \tau \leqslant t} \left\| p(\tau,t,x) \right\|^2.$$
(4.2.15)

(1) Obviously, V(t, x) is continuous and  $V(t, x) \leq 2 \|p(t, t, x)\|^2 = 2 \|x\|^2$ . So V(t, x) is infinitesimally upper bounded.

(2) Prove that V(t, x) is positive definite. Since the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly stable,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon)$ , when  $||a|| < \sigma$ , for all  $\tau \ge t_0$  and  $t \ge \tau$ , we



Figure 4.2.3. The relation between  $a(\tau^*, t^*, x^*)$  and  $x(t, t_0, a)$ .

have

$$\left\|x(t,\tau,a)\right\| < \varepsilon. \tag{4.2.16}$$

Thus, when  $\varepsilon \leq ||x|| \leq H$ , for all  $t \geq \tau \geq t_0$ , we have

$$\|p(\tau, t, x)\| \ge \delta > 0. \tag{4.2.17}$$

Otherwise, for certain  $x^*$ ,  $\tau^*$ ,  $t^*$ ,  $\varepsilon \leq ||x^*|| \leq H$ ,  $t_0 \leq \tau^* \leq t^*$ , we have (see Figure 4.2.3)

$$\left\|p(\tau^*,t^*,x^*)\right\| < \delta.$$

Let  $a = p(\tau^*, t^*, x^*)$ . Then, we have

$$x^* = p(t^*, \tau^*, a).$$

By uniform stability, when  $||a|| = ||p(\tau^*, t^*, x^*)|| < \delta$ ,  $p(t, \tau^*, a)|| < \varepsilon$  holds for all  $t \ge \tau^*$ . Particularly, when  $t = t^* > \tau^*$ ,  $||p(t^*, \tau^*, a)|| = ||x^*|| < \varepsilon$ , which contradicts that  $||x^*|| \ge \varepsilon$ . Thus, (4.2.16) is true.

Following the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, one can construct positive definite function W(x) such that  $V(t, x) \ge W(x)$ . Therefore, V(t, x) is positive definite.

(3) Now prove  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(4,2,1)} \leq 0$ . Since  $x = p(t, t_0, a)$  along an arbitrary solution of (4.2.1), we have

$$V(t) := V(t, p(t, t_0, a))$$
  
=  $(1 + e^{-t}) \inf_{t_0 \le \tau \le t} || p(t, t, p(t, t_0, a)) ||$   
=  $(1 + e^{-t}) \inf_{t_0 \le \tau \le t} || p(\tau, t_0, a) ||,$ 

showing that V(t) is a monotone increasing function of t. As a result,  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(4,2,1)} \leq 0$  is true.

The proof of Theorem 4.2.3 is complete.

# **4.3.** NASCs for uniformly asymptotic and equi-asymptotic stabilities

We again consider system (4.2.1).

THEOREM 4.3.1. The zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly asymptotically stable if and only if there exists a positive definite function with infinitesimal upper bounded,  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$ , such that along the solutions of (4.2.1),

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \tag{4.3.1}$$

is negative definite, where  $G_H$  is defined in Theorem 4.2.1.

PROOF. Sufficiency. Obviously, the conditions in Theorem 4.3.1 imply the conditions of Theorem 4.2.2, so the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly stable. Thus, we only need to prove that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly attractive. By the given conditions, there exist  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3 \in K$  such that

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|),$$

and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant -\varphi_3 \big( \|x\| \big) \leqslant -\varphi_3 \big( \varphi_2^{-1} V(t) \big) < 0,$$

i.e.,

$$\int_{V(t_0)}^{V(t)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}V(t))} \leqslant -(t-t_0),$$

or

$$\int_{V(t)}^{V(t_0)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}V(t))} \ge t - t_0.$$
(4.3.2)

Hence,  $V(t) := V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)), \forall \varepsilon > 0 \ (\varepsilon < H)$ . Using  $\varphi_1(||x(t)||) \leq V(t) := V(t, x(t))$  and  $V(t_0) \leq \varphi_2(||x_0||) \leq \varphi_2(H)$ , we obtain

$$\int_{\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|)}^{\varphi_2(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}V(t))}$$

$$= \int_{\varphi_{1}(\|x(t)\|)}^{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_{3}(\varphi_{2}^{-1}V(t))} + \int_{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_{2}(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_{3}(\varphi_{2}^{-1}V(t))}$$

$$\geq \int_{V(t)}^{V(t_{0})} \frac{dV}{\varphi_{3}(\varphi_{2}^{-1}V(t))} \ge t - t_{0}.$$
(4.3.3)

Take

$$T = T(\varepsilon, H) > \int_{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_2(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}V(t))}.$$
(4.3.4)

Then, when  $t \ge t_0 + t$ , it follows that

$$\int_{\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|)}^{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}V(t))} \ge t - t_0 - \int_{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_2(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}V(t))}$$
$$> t - t_0 - T \ge 0.$$

Hence, we can obtain

 $\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|) < \varphi_1(\varepsilon) \quad (t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, H)),$ 

i.e.,  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ . Since  $T = T(\varepsilon, H)$  is independent of  $t_0$  and  $x_0$ , this means that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly attractive. This completes the proof of sufficiency.

We need the following lemma for proving necessity.

LEMMA 4.3.2. Let  $\varphi(\tau)$  be a continuous decreasing function for  $\tau \ge 0$  and  $\lim_{t\to +\infty} \varphi(\tau) = 0$ ,  $\xi(\tau)$  be continuous nondecreasing positive function for  $\tau \ge 0$ . Then, there exists continuous increasing function G(r) with G(0) = 0 such that for arbitrary positive continuous function  $\varphi^*(\tau)$  ( $\tau \ge 0$ ) which satisfies  $\varphi^*(\tau) \le \varphi(\tau)$ , the inequality

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} G(\varphi^*(\tau))\xi(\tau)\,d\tau < 1 \tag{4.3.5}$$

holds.

The function  $\phi(t)$  is shown in Figure 4.3.1.

**PROOF.** As Figure 4.3.1 shows, for function  $\varphi(t)$  we can choose a sequence  $\{t_n\}$  such that when  $t \ge t_n$ ,



Figure 4.3.1. Function  $\phi(t)$ .

$$\varphi(t) \leqslant \frac{1}{n+1} \tag{4.3.6}$$

holds, where  $t_n > 1$ ,  $t_{n+1} > t_n + 1$ .

Construct a function  $\eta(t)$  such that  $\eta(t_n) = \frac{1}{n}$  and  $\eta(t)$  is linear in  $[t_n, t_{n+1}]$ . However,  $\eta(t) = (\frac{t_1}{t})^p$  for  $0 < t < t_1$ , where *p* is the maximum positive integer such that

$$\dot{\eta}(t_1 - 0) < \dot{\eta}(t_1 + 0).$$

Obviously, when  $t \ge t_1$ ,  $\varphi(t) < \eta(t)$  and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \eta(t) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \varphi(t) = 0.$$
  
Let  $G(0) = 0$ ,  
$$G(r) = \begin{cases} \frac{e^{-\eta^{-1}(r)}}{\xi(\eta^{-1}(r))} & \text{for } r > 0, \\ 0 & \text{for } r = 0, \end{cases}$$

where  $\eta^{-1}$  is the inverse function of  $\eta$  and  $\eta^{-1}$  is decreasing, and  $\varphi^*(\tau) \leq \varphi(\tau)$  holds for all  $t \geq t_1$ . Hence,

$$\begin{split} \eta^{-1} \bigl( \varphi^*(\tau) \bigr) &\geq \eta^{-1} \bigl( \varphi(\tau) \bigr) > \eta^{-1} \bigl( \eta(\tau) \bigr) = \tau, \\ e^{-\eta^{-1}(\varphi^*(\tau))} &< e^{-\tau}, \\ \xi \bigl( \eta^{-1} \bigl( \varphi^*(\tau) \bigr) \bigr) &\geq \xi(\tau). \end{split}$$

Thus, we have estimation:

$$G(\varphi^*(\tau)) = \frac{e^{-\eta^{-1}(\varphi^*(\tau))}}{\xi(\eta^{-1}(\varphi^*(\tau)))} < \frac{e^{-\tau}}{\xi(\tau)}.$$
(4.3.7)

Integrating the above inequality from 0 to  $+\infty$  yields

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} G(\varphi^{*}(\tau))\xi(\tau) d\tau < \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{e^{-\tau}}{\xi(\tau)}\xi(\tau) d\tau = \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-\tau} d\tau = 1.$$
(4.3.8)

Lemma 4.3.2 is proved.

Now we prove the *Necessity* for Theorem 4.3.1. By the uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution of (4.2.1), we can prove that there exist monotone increasing function  $\varphi(\tau)$ , with  $\varphi(0) = 0$  and positive continuous decreasing function  $\sigma(\tau)$  with

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma(\tau) = 0,$$

such that the solution of (4.2.1) satisfies

$$\left\|P(t_0+\tau,t_0,a)\right\| \leqslant \varphi(\|a\|)\sigma(\tau) \tag{4.3.9}$$

in  $||a|| \leq H$ . Take  $\varphi(\tau) = \varphi(H)\sigma(\tau), \xi(\tau) \equiv 1$ . According to Lemma 4.3.2 there exists a continuous increasing function G(r) with G(0) = 0, which is positive definite in the interval  $0 \leq r \leq \varphi(0) = \varphi(H)\sigma(0)$ .

Let  $g(\tau) = G^2(\tau)$ . By the property of functions  $\varphi(\tau)$  and  $\sigma(\tau)$ , we know that

$$g(\varphi(||a||)\sigma(\tau - t)) = [g(\varphi(||a||)\sigma(\tau - t))]^{1/2} [g(\varphi(||a||)\sigma(\tau - t))]^{1/2} \leq [g(\varphi(||a||)\sigma(0))]^{1/2} [g(\varphi(||a||)\sigma(\tau - t))]^{1/2}.$$
(4.3.10)

Now, we define

$$V(t,x) := \int_{t}^{\infty} g(\|p(\tau,t,x)\|) d\tau,$$
(4.3.11)

and then obtain

$$\begin{split} V(t,x) &\leqslant \left[g\left(\varphi\big(\|x\|\right)\sigma(0)\right)\right]^{1/2} \int_{t}^{\infty} \left[g\left(\varphi(H)\sigma(\tau-t)\right)\right]^{1/2} d\tau \\ &= G\left(\varphi\big(\|x\|\right)\sigma(0)\right) \int_{t}^{\infty} G\left(\varphi(H)\sigma(\tau-t)\right) d\tau \\ &= G\left(\varphi\big(\|x\|\right)\sigma(0)\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} G\left(\varphi(H)\sigma(\tau)\right) d\tau \\ &< G\left(\varphi\big(\|x\|\right)\sigma(0)\right). \end{split}$$

Thus, V(t, x) exists, is continuous and has an infinitesimal upper bound. So  $V(t, x) \ge 0$  and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} = -G^2 \big( \left\| p(t, t, x) \right\| \big) = -G^2 \big( \left\| x \right\| \big).$$

By Theorem 4.2.3, there exists a positive definite function with infinitesimal upper bound W(t, x) satisfying

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leq W(t,x) \leq \varphi_2(\|x\|) \quad (\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K),$$
$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)} \leq 0.$$

Defining U(t, x) = V(t, x) + W(t, x), we have

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant W(t,x) \leqslant U(t,x) \leqslant G(\varphi(\|x\|)\sigma(0)) + \varphi_2(\|x\|)$$

Thus, U(t, x) is positive definite and has infinitesimal upper bound, and

$$\frac{dU(x)}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.11)} = \frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)} + \frac{dW(x,x)}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)}$$
$$\leqslant \frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)} = -G^2(||x||).$$

Hence, U(t, x) satisfies the conditions of Theorem 4.3.1.

REMARK 4.3.3. Lyapunov only proved that the conditions of Theorem 4.3.1 imply that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable. We have proved that the conditions of Theorem 4.3.1 is sufficient for the zero solution of (4.2.1) to be uniformly asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 4.3.4. Massera [308] gave the following illustrative example to show that the infinitesimal upper bound condition is important for asymptotic stability.

Let  $g \in C^1[I, R]$ . Then, as shown in Figure 4.3.2, g(n) = 1 (n = 1, 2, ...). Consider a differential equation

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{g'(t)}{g(t)}x,$$
(4.3.12)

which has general solution  $x(t) = \frac{g(t)}{g(t_0)}$ , and  $x(t_0)$  does not tend to zero as  $t \to \infty$ . So the zero solution is not asymptotically stable.

We construct a Lyapunov function:

$$V(t, x) = \frac{x^2}{g^2(t)} \left[ 3 - \int_0^t g^2(s) \, ds \right].$$



Figure 4.3.2. Massera function.

Since

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} g^{2}(s) \, ds < \int_{0}^{+\infty} e^{-s} \, ds + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^{n} = 1 + \frac{\frac{1}{2}}{1 - \frac{1}{2}} = 2.$$

 $V(t, x) \ge \frac{x^2}{g^2(t)} \ge x^2 > 0$  for  $x \ne 0$ . Thus, V(t, x) is positive definite and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt} &= \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V}{\partial x} \frac{dx}{dt} \\ &= \frac{2 \times [3 - \int_0^t g^2(s) \, ds]}{g^2(t)} \cdot \frac{g'(t)}{g(t)} x \\ &+ \frac{-x^2 g^4(t) - x^2 [3 - \int_0^t g^2(s) \, ds] 2g(t) g'(t)}{g^4(t)} \\ &= -x^2 < 0 \quad (x \neq 0). \end{aligned}$$

But there does not exist a positive definite W(x) such that  $V(t, x) \leq W(x)$ . This illustrates that the infinitesimal upper bound condition is important.

EXAMPLE 4.3.5. We use this example to show that the condition of Theorem 4.3.1 is not necessary, i.e., Lyapunov asymptotic stability theorem does not have an inverse counterpart.

Consider the differential equation:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -\frac{x}{t+1}.$$
(4.3.13)

Its general solution is

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = \frac{1+t_0}{1+t} x_0 \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta = \varepsilon$ . Then for  $|x_0| < \delta$  we obtain  $|x(t, t_0, x_0)| < |x_0| < \varepsilon$  for  $t > t_0$ . So the zero solution is asymptotically stable, but there does not exist a positive definite function V(t, x) with infinitesimal upper bound such that  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite.

In fact, if otherwise, then  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , when  $||x|| \leq \delta$ , we have  $0 \leq V(t, x) \leq \varepsilon$  for all  $t \geq t_0$ , and  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite. So there exists a positive definite function W(x) such that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.3.13)} \leqslant -W(x)$$

Let

$$l = \inf_{\frac{\delta}{2} \leqslant |x| \leqslant H} W(x),$$

and take  $|x_0| = \delta$ . Then

$$V(t_1, V(t_1)) = V(t_0, x_0) + \int_{t_0}^{t} \frac{dV}{dt} dt$$
  

$$\leq V(t_0, x_0) - l(t_1 - t_0)$$
  

$$= V(t_0, x_0) - l(1 + t_0) < 0 \quad (\text{taking } t_1 = 2t_0 + 1) \text{ for } t_0 \gg 1.$$

But on the other hand, when  $t_1 = 2t_0 + 1$ , we have

$$x(t_1, t_0, x_0) = \frac{1+t_0}{1+t} x_0 = \frac{1+t_0}{2(1+t_0)} x_0 = \frac{x_0}{2}$$

Thus,

$$||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| = \frac{\delta}{2} \neq 0.$$

Hence  $V(t_1, x(t_1, t_0, x_0)) > 0$ , leading to a contradiction. This means that the conclusion is true.

REMARK 4.3.6. Example 4.3.5 shows that if one only assumes V(t, x) is positive definite and  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite one still cannot assure the zero solution being asymptotically stable. But if adding the infinitesimal upper bound condition, then not only the asymptotic stability but also the uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution are valid. Therefore, for asymptotic stability, the required conditions of Theorem 4.3.1 may be relaxed.

THEOREM 4.3.7. Suppose  $f(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^n]$ . Then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is equi-asymptotically stable if and only if there exists positive definite  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  such that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4,2.1)} \leq 0$ , and for any  $\eta > 0$  and all (t, x(t)), when  $V(t, x) < \eta$  holds uniformly, we have

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|x(t)\| = 0.$$
(4.3.14)

**PROOF.** Necessity. Let  $x(t) = x(t, t_0, x_0)$  be solution of (4.2.1), and *s* a fixed positive number. Construct a function

$$V(t,x) = \|x(t_0,t,x)\|^2 (1+e^{-t}).$$
(4.3.15)

Then,  $f(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, \mathbb{R}^n]$  implies  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, \mathbb{R}^n]$ . So the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly stable. Then,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta = \delta(\varepsilon)$ , when  $||x|| > \varepsilon$  the following inequality holds:

$$\|x(t_0, t, x)\| \ge \delta(\varepsilon).$$

So  $V(t, x) \ge \delta^2(\varepsilon)$  ( $||x|| \ge \varepsilon$ ), i.e., V(t, x) is positive definite.

Because of the equi-attraction of the zero solution, there exists  $\delta_0 = \delta(x_0) > 0$ such that  $||x_0|| = ||x(t_0, t, x)|| \le \delta(t_0)$ . Thus,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $T = T(\varepsilon, t_0)$ such that

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0 + T).$$

Take  $\eta = \delta(t_0)$ . Then, when  $V(t, x) < \eta$ , we have

$$\left\|x(t_0, t, x(t))\right\|^2 = \frac{V(t, x(t))}{1 + e^{-t}} < \frac{\eta}{1 + e^{-t}} < \eta = \delta(t_0).$$

Therefore, when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ ,  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ , i.e., for all (t, x(t)) which satisfy  $V(t, x(t)) < \eta$  uniformly, we have

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} x(t) = 0.$$

On the other hand,

$$V(t, x(t)) = \|x(t_0, x(t))\|^2 (1 + e^{-t}) = \|x_0\|^2 (1 + e^{-t}),$$

so

$$\frac{dV(t, x(t))}{dt} = -e^{-t} \|x_0\|_E^2 = -e^{-t} \|x(t_0, t, x(t))\|_E^2$$
$$= \frac{-e^{-t}}{1 + e^{-t}} V(t, x(t)) \leq 0.$$

The necessity is proved.

*Sufficiency*. If the condition is satisfied, obviously the zero solution is stable. When  $V(t_0, x_0) < \eta$ ,  $||x_0|| \le \delta(\eta)$  holds owing to

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant 0.$$

Thus, one obtains  $V(t, x(t)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) < \eta$ . So

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} x(t) = 0$$

uniformly holds for  $x_0$ . This means that the zero solution is equi-asymptotically stable.

The proof is complete.

THEOREM 4.3.8. Assume  $f(t,x) \in C^1[G_H, R^n]$ . Then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable if and only if there exists a positive definite  $V(t,x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  such that

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant 0,$$

and for any  $\eta > 0$  and for all (t, x(t)) which satisfy  $V(t, x) < \eta$ ,

 $\lim_{t\to\infty} \|x(t)\| = 0.$ 

PROOF. The proof of Theorem 4.3.8 is almost the same as the proof of Theorem 4.3.7, so is omitted.  $\hfill \Box$ 

#### 4.4. NASCs of exponential stability and instability

THEOREM 4.4.1. Let  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^n]$ ,  $f(t, 0) \equiv 0$  and f satisfy the Lipschitz condition for x. Then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is globally exponentially stable if and only if there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[I \times R^n, R^1]$  such that

(1)  $||x|| \leq V(t, x) \leq K(\alpha) ||x||, x \in S_{\alpha} := \{x: ||x|| \leq \alpha\};$ (2)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4,2,1)} \leq -qcV(t, x), where 0 < q < 1, c > 0, q, c are constants.$ 

PROOF. Sufficiency.  $\forall \alpha > 0$ , when  $x_0 \in S_{\alpha}$ , let  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0)$ . By condition (2), we have

$$\frac{d}{dt}V(t,x(t)) \leqslant -cqV(t,x(t)).$$
(4.4.1)

Consider the comparison equation:

$$\frac{du}{dt} = -cqu. \tag{4.4.2}$$

Let  $u_0 = V(t_0, x_0)$ . Then,

 $u(t, t_0, u_0) = u_0 e^{-cq(t-t_0)}.$ 

By comparison theorem we obtain

$$V(t, x(t)) \leq u_0 e^{-cq(t-t_0)} = V(t_0, x_0) e^{-cq(t-t_0)}, \quad t \geq t_0.$$

By conditions (1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t)\| &\leq V(t, x(t)) \leq K(\alpha) \|x_0\| e^{-cq(t-t_0)} \\ &:= K(\alpha) \|x_0\| e^{-\lambda(t-t_0))} \quad (\lambda = cq > 0), \end{aligned}$$

i.e.,

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| \leqslant K(\alpha) \|x_0\| e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)} \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

So the zero solution of (4.2.1) is globally exponentially stable.

*Necessity.* Let the zero solution of (4.2.1) be globally experientially stable. Then there exists constant c > 0 such that  $\forall \alpha > 0, \exists K(\alpha) > 0$ , when  $x_0 \in S_{\alpha}$ ,

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leqslant K(\alpha) \|x_0\| e^{-c(t-t_0)}$$
(4.4.3)

holds. For 0 < q < 1, define a function:

$$V(t,x) := \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t+\tau,t,x)\| e^{cq\tau}.$$

Then,  $\forall x \in S_{\alpha}$ , we have:

$$\|x\| \leq V(t, x) \leq \sup_{\tau \geq 0} K(\alpha) \|x\| e^{-c\tau} e^{cq\tau}$$
$$= K(\alpha) \|x\| \sup_{\tau \geq 0} e^{-(1-q)c\tau} \leq K(\alpha) \|x\|,$$

i.e.,

$$\|x\| \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant K(\alpha) \|x\|. \tag{4.4.4}$$

(2) Let  $x^* = x(t + h, t, x)$ . It follows that

$$V(t + h, t, x^{*}) = \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t + h + \tau, t + h, x^{*})\|e^{cq\tau}$$
  
=  $\sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t + h + \tau, t, x)\|e^{cq\tau}$   
 $\leq \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t + h, t, x)\|e^{cq\tau} \cdot e^{-cqh}$   
=  $V(t, x)e^{-cqh}$ .

Furthermore, we can obtain

$$\frac{V(t+h,x^*)-V(t,x)}{h} \leqslant V(t,x)\frac{e^{-cqh}-1}{h}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)} = \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{V(t+h, x^*) - V(t, x)}{h}$$
$$\leqslant \lim_{h \to 0^+} V(t, x) \frac{e^{-cqh} - 1}{h}$$
$$= V(t, x) \lim_{h \to 0^+} \frac{e^{-cqh}}{h}$$
$$= -cqV(t, x),$$

i.e.,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant -cqV(t,x).$$

The proof is complete.

In the following, we present the NASC of instability [331,332].

THEOREM 4.4.2. Let  $f(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, \mathbb{R}^n]$ . Then the zero solution is unstable if and only if the following conditions hold:

- (1) when t is fixed, V(t, x) and  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4,2,1)}$  are positive definite; (2)  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , there exist  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $T = T(\varepsilon) > 0$  and  $||x_0|| = \alpha$  such that  $V(T, x_0) < \varepsilon$ ε.

PROOF. Necessity. Assume that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable and  $x(t) := x(t, 0, x_0)$  is an arbitrary solution. Construct a function

$$V(t, x) = \left\| x(t, 0, x_0) \right\|^2 \frac{1 + 2t}{1 + t}.$$

Since  $f(t, x) \in C^1$ ,  $V(t, x) \in C^1$  and x = 0 is the solution. Hence, for an arbitrarily fixed t, when  $x \neq 0$ , we have

$$V(t, x) \ge ||x(0, t, x)||^2 > 0.$$

So when t is fixed, V(t, x) is positive definite. Furthermore, since

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4,2,1)} = \frac{d}{dt} \left( \left\| x(0,t,x(t)) \right\|^2 \frac{1+2t}{1+t} \right)$$

$$= \|x_0\|^2 \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{1+2t}{1+t}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{(1+t)(1+2t)} V(t, x(t)),$$

 $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)}$  is positive definite for a fixed t.

By the instability of the zero solution we know that for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exist  $\alpha > 0$ , T > 0 and  $||x_0|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$  such that

$$||x(T, 0, x_0)||^2 = a.$$

Taking  $\tilde{x}_0 = x(T, 0, x_0)$ , we obtain

$$V(T, \tilde{x}_0) = \left\| x \left( 0, T, x(T, 0, x_0) \right) \right\|^2 \frac{1 + 2T}{1 + T} = \|x_0\|^2 \frac{1 + 2T}{1 + T} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \cdot 2 = \varepsilon.$$

The necessity is proved.

*Sufficiency*. Suppose that the conclusion were not true, i.e., the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable. Let  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$ , which satisfies the conditions (1) and (2). Then,  $\forall a > 0$ , there exists  $\delta = \delta(\alpha) > 0$  such that

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0)||^2 < a \quad (t \ge t_0) \quad \text{when } ||x_0|| < \delta,$$

because V(t, x) is positive definite for a fixed t. Then, there exists l > 0 such that

 $V(t_0, x) \ge l$  when  $||x|| \ge \delta$ .

We take  $0 < \varepsilon < l$ . By the given condition,  $\exists x \text{ and } T \ge t_0$  such that

 $V(T, x) < \varepsilon$  when ||x|| = 2.

Let  $x_T := x(T, t_0, x_0)$ ,  $||x_T||^2 = \alpha$ . Then  $x_0 = x(t_0, T, x_T)$ , which means that  $||x_0|| > \delta$ . Otherwise, if  $||x_0|| \le \delta$ , then we have

$$\alpha = \|x_T\|^2 = \|x(T, t_0, x_0)\|^2 < \alpha.$$

This is impossible. So  $V(t_0, x_0) \ge l > \varepsilon > 0$ . By  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} > 0$ ,

$$\varepsilon \leq l \leq V(t_0, x_0) \leq V(T, x(T, t_0, x_0)) < \varepsilon.$$

This is a contradiction. Therefore, the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

#### 4.5. Sufficient conditions for stability

In this section, we present some sufficient conditions for stability.

THEOREM 4.5.1. If there exist a positive definite function  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$ with infinitesimal upper bound and a negative definite function  $V_1(t, x) \in C[G_H, R^1]$ such that in any fixed region  $0 < \lambda \leq ||x|| \leq \mu \leq H, \forall \delta > 0, \exists t^*(\delta)$ , when  $t \geq t^*$ ,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} < V_1(t,x) + \delta.$$
(4.5.1)

Then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable.

**PROOF.** By the given conditions of Theorem 4.5.1, we know that there exist functions  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3 \in K$  such that

$$0 < \varphi_1(\|x\|) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(\|x\|) \quad \text{for } x \neq 0,$$
  
$$V_1(t, x) \leq -\varphi_3(\|x\|).$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , let

$$\varepsilon_1 := \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon)), \qquad \lambda := \inf_{\|x\| \ge \frac{\varepsilon_1}{2}} \varphi_3(\|x\|),$$

and take  $\delta = \frac{\lambda}{2}$ . From the given conditions of the theorem we know that when  $\frac{\varepsilon_1}{2} \leq ||x|| \leq H$ , for this  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\exists t^*(\delta)$ , where  $t \geq t^*$ , we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)} < V_1(t, x(t)) + \delta$$
  
$$\leq -\varphi_3(||x(t)||) + \delta$$
  
$$\leq -\inf_{||x|| \ge \frac{\varepsilon_1}{2}} \varphi_3(||x(t)||) + \delta$$
  
$$= -\frac{\lambda}{2} < 0.$$

Therefore, when  $||x(t^*, t_0, x_0)|| := ||x(t^*)|| \le \varepsilon_1$  for  $t \ge t^*$ , we have

$$\varphi_1(||x(t)||) \leq V(t,x(t)) < V(t^*,x(t^*)) \leq \varphi_2(||x(t^*)||) \leq \varphi_2(\varepsilon_1).$$

Furthermore, we can show that  $||x(t)|| \leq \varphi_1^{-1}(\varphi_2(\varepsilon_1)) = \varepsilon$  holds in a finite interval  $[t_0, t^*]$ . Then, by the continuity of Theorem 1.1.2 we only need  $||x_0|| \leq \eta \ll 1$ . Thus,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq \varepsilon_1, t \geq t_0$ , and so the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable.

REMARK 4.5.2. Theorem 4.5.1 is a generalization of the following Malkin's theorem [300].
MALKIN'S THEOREM. (See [300].) If there exists a positive definite V(t, x) with infinitesimal upper bound and negative definite  $V_1(t, x)$  such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left( \frac{dV}{dt} - V_1 \right) = 0, \tag{4.5.2}$$

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable.

Obviously, (4.5.2) holds if and only if  $\forall \delta > 0$ ,  $\exists t^*(\delta)$ , when  $t \ge t^*$ ,

$$V_1(t,x) - \delta < \frac{dV}{dt} < V_1(t,x) + \delta.$$
 (4.5.3)

The following example removes the restriction on the left-hand side of (4.5.3) and admits  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  being variable.

EXAMPLE 4.5.3. Consider the system

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \left(\frac{1}{1+t} + \sin t - |\sin t|\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j\right) - x_i^{2n-1},$$
  
$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (4.5.4)

where  $a_{ij}$  (*i*, *j* = 1, ..., *n*) are constants, and the general quadratic form

$$x^T A x = \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij} x_i x_j$$

is positive semi-definite, then the zero solution of (4.5.4) is stable.

In fact, choosing the Lyapunov function

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2,$$

and evaluating the derivative along the solution of (4.5.4) yields

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.5.4)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \dot{x}_i$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{1+t} + \sin t - |\sin t| \right) \right] \sum_{j=1}^{n} (a_{ij} x_i x_j - x_i^{2n})$$

$$= \left( \frac{1}{1+t} + \sin t - |\sin t| \right) x^T A x - \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^{2n}.$$
(4.5.5)

Let

$$V_1 = -\sum_{i=1}^n x_i^{2n}.$$

Obviously, V is positive definite with infinitesimal upper bound and  $V_1$  is negative definite, but

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = V_1 + \left(\frac{1}{1+t} + \sin t - |\sin t|\right) x^T A x$$
(4.5.6)

in any region  $\lambda \leq ||x|| \leq \mu$ , satisfying

$$\lim_{t\to+\infty}\left(\frac{dV}{dt}-V_1\right)\neq 0.$$

But the conditions of Theorem 4.5.1 are satisfied, because  $\frac{dV}{dt} - V_1 \leq \frac{1}{1+t}x^T Ax$ and  $x^T Ax$  is bounded. So the zero solution of (4.5.4) is stable.

THEOREM 4.5.4. (See [411].) Assume that

- (1)  $h(t) \in C[I, R^+]$ ,  $g(t) \in [I, R^1]$ .  $\frac{1}{h(s)}$  and g(s) are integral functions on I, and  $\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} g(t) dt$  is convergent;
- (2) there exist  $V(t, x) \in C[G_H, \mathbb{R}^1]$  with  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$ ,  $\varphi_1(||x|| \leq V(t, x))$ , when  $T \gg 1$ ,  $\varphi_1 \in K$ , such that for arbitrary  $\lambda \in (0, \rho)$   $(0 < \rho \ll 1)$ ,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant g(t)h\big(V(t,x)\big) \tag{4.5.7}$$

*holds for*  $\forall t \ge T$ ,  $0 < \lambda \le V \le \rho$ ;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable.

**PROOF.** Given  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $\varepsilon_1 := \varphi_1(\varepsilon) \in (0, \rho)$ . Let

$$\lambda = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_1, \qquad H(s) = \int_{t_0}^s \frac{dt}{h(t)} \quad (0 \le t_0 \ll 1).$$

 $h(t) \ge 0$  implies  $H(\varepsilon_1) - H(\lambda) > 0$  by condition (1). Therefore, we know that  $\exists T > 0$  such that

$$\left|\int_{t'}^{t''} g(t) dt\right| < H(\varepsilon_1) - H(\lambda) \quad \forall t', t'' \in [T, \infty).$$
(4.5.8)

First, we prove that there exists  $\delta_1 < \lambda$  such that when  $V_T = V(T, x(T)) < \delta_1$ ,

$$V(t) := V(t, x(t)) < \varepsilon_1 = \varphi_1(\varepsilon) \quad \text{for } t \ge T.$$
(4.5.9)

Otherwise, we have  $t_2 > t_1 \ge T$  such that  $\forall t \in [t_1, t_2]$ ,

$$V(t_1) = \lambda \leqslant V(t) \leqslant V(t_2) = \varepsilon_1. \tag{4.5.10}$$

From (4.5.7), (4.5.9) and (4.5.10) we obtain

$$H(\varepsilon_1) = H(V(t_2)) \leqslant H(V(t_1)) + \left| \int_{t_1}^{t_2} g(t) dt \right|$$
$$\leqslant H(\lambda) + (H(\varepsilon_1) - H(\lambda))$$
$$= H(\varepsilon_1).$$

Therefore (4.5.9) is valid. So we have

$$\varphi_1\big(\big\|x(t,T,x_T)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t,x(t,T,x_T)\big) < \varphi_1(\varepsilon),$$

i.e., when  $V_T < \delta_1$ ,

$$\|x(t,T,x_T)\| < \varepsilon \quad \forall t \ge T.$$
(4.5.11)

Since V(t, x) is continuous,  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$ , for the above-chosen  $\delta_1$ , there exists  $\delta_2 < \varepsilon$ , when  $||x_T|| < \delta_2$ ,

 $0 < V(t, x_T) < \delta_1.$ 

Using Theorem 1.1.2, for  $\delta_2$ ,  $\exists \delta$ , when  $||x_0|| < \delta < r$ , we have

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \delta_2 < \varepsilon \quad \forall t \in [t_0, T].$$
(4.5.12)

Combining (4.5.11) and (4.5.12) shows that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable. Theorem 4.5.4 is proved.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 4.5.5. If the conditions in Theorem 4.5.4 hold and, in addition, there exists  $\varphi_2(||x||) \in K$  such that

$$V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|),$$

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly stable.

By using the same method used for proving Theorem 4.5.4, one can easily prove Theorem 4.5.5.

EXAMPLE 4.5.6. Consider the system:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = \frac{1}{1+t^2} x_1 \left( e^{x_1^2 + x_2^2} + 1 \right) - (\sin t) x_2,$$
  
$$\frac{dx_2}{dt} = (\sin t) x_1 + \frac{1}{1+t_2} x_2 \left( e^{x_1^2 + x_2^2} + 1 \right).$$
 (4.5.13)

Take  $V(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 + x_2^2$ . Then,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \frac{2}{1+t^2} (Ve^V + V).$$

Let

$$g(t) = \frac{2}{1+t^2}, \quad \varphi_1 = \varphi_2 = x_1^2 + x_2^2, \quad h(v) = Ve^V + V,$$

 $\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} g(t) dt$  is convergent, and  $\frac{1}{h(t)}$  and g(t) are integrated in  $[t_0, +\infty)$ . According to Theorem 4.5.5, the zero solution of (4.5.13) is uniformly stable.

THEOREM 4.5.7. Suppose that there exist positive definite function  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$ ,  $W(x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  and  $\theta(t) \in [I, R^1]$  such that

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(4,2,1)} \leqslant 0, \quad \left.\frac{dU}{dt}\right|_{(4,2,1)} \geqslant 0,$$

where  $U(t, x) := V(t, x) - \theta(t)W(t)$ ,  $\theta(t)$  is a monotonic increasing function, and

$$\theta(t_0) = 1, \quad \lim_{t \to +\infty} \theta(t) = +\infty.$$

Then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly stable and is attractive.

PROOF. (1) If  $V(t, x) - \theta(t)W(x) = 0$ , then

$$W(x(t)) = \frac{V(t, x(t))}{\theta(t)}, \qquad \frac{dV(t, x)}{dt}\Big|_{(4.2.1)} \leq 0.$$

So V(t, x(t)) is monotonically decreasing. But  $\theta(t)$  is a monotone increasing function, so it follows that

$$\left.\frac{dW(x(t))}{dt}\right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant 0.$$

This implies that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable. Owing to W(x) being positive definite, there exists  $\varphi \in K$  such that

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leq W(x(t)) = \frac{V(t, x(t))}{\theta(t)} \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

Thus,  $||x(t)|| \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ , i.e., the zero solution of (4.2.1) is attractive. (2) If  $V(t, x) - \theta(t)W(t) = U(t, x) \neq 0$ ,  $\frac{dU}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} \ge 0$ . Let

$$\tilde{V}(t,x) := V(t,x) - U(t,x) = \theta(t)W(x).$$

Then,

$$\hat{V}(t,x) - \theta(t)W(t) \equiv 0,$$

and so

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} = \frac{dV}{dt} \left|_{(4.2.1)} - \frac{dU}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \le 0.$$

By the proof of (1) we know that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable and attractive.

The theorem is proved.

EXAMPLE 4.5.8. Discuss the stability of the zero solution of the equation:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -\frac{x}{1+t}.$$
(4.5.14)

We choose the positive definite function  $V(t, x) = (1 + t)x^2$  with no infinitesimal upper bound. Let  $W(x) = x^2$  and  $\theta(t) = 1 + t$ . Then,  $U(t, x) = V(t, x) - \theta W(x) \equiv 0$ , and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4,5,1)} = -x^2, \qquad \frac{dU}{dt} \ge 0.$$

So the zero solution of (4.5.14) is uniformly stable and attractive.

In the following, we consider the *n*-dimensional autonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(x), \quad f(0) = 0,$$
(4.5.15)

where

$$x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n, \qquad f = (f_1, f_2, \dots, f_n)^T \in \mathbb{C}[\Omega_H, \mathbb{R}^n],$$
  
$$\Omega_H := \{x: ||x|| \le H\}.$$

THEOREM 4.5.9. (See [215].) Assume that

(1) there exist two positive number series  $\{r_k\}, \{\eta_k\}$  with

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} r_k = 0, \quad \eta_k < r_k;$$

(2) there exists a positive definite function  $V(x) \in C^1[\Omega_H, \mathbb{R}^1]$  such that

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.5.15)} \leqslant 0$$

$$(x \in D_k := \{x \mid r_k \ge V(t) \ge r_k - \eta_k > 0, \ k = 1, 2, \ldots\}).$$

Then the zero solution of (4.5.15) is stable.

PROOF. The theorem is illustrated in Figure 4.5.1.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\varepsilon < H$ , let  $l = \inf_{\|x\|=\varepsilon} V(t) > 0$ . Since  $\lim_{k \to \infty} r_k = 0$ , there exists K > 0, when k > K,  $r_k < l$  holds. Take  $\tilde{K} = K + 1$ . Due to  $\lim_{x\to 0} V(x) = 0$ , for  $r_k > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta$ ,  $0 < \delta < \varepsilon$ , when  $\|x\| < \delta$ , we have

$$V(x) < r_{\tilde{k}} - \eta_{\tilde{k}}.$$

Now, we prove that for all  $t \ge t_0$ , when  $||x_0|| < \delta$ ,

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon, \quad t \ge t_0.$$

Otherwise, when  $0 < t - t_0 \ll 1$ ,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$  holds, but  $\exists t^* > t_0$  such that  $||x(t^*, t_0, x_0)|| = \varepsilon$ . By the mean value theorem of continuous function, there must exist  $t_2 > t_1 > t_0$  such that

$$V(x(t_1, t_0, x_0)) = r_{\tilde{k}} - \eta_{\tilde{k}},$$
  
$$V(x(t_2, t_0, x_0)) = r_{\tilde{k}}.$$

Thus,

$$V(x(t_1, t_0, x_0)) < V(x(t_2, t_0, x_0)).$$



Figure 4.5.1. Geometric expression of Theorem 4.5.9.

However, on the other hand, since  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.5.15)} \leq 0$  for  $r_{\tilde{k}} - \eta_{\tilde{k}} \leq V(t) \leq r_{\tilde{k}}$ ,  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is decreasing, implying that  $V(x(t_2, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(t_1, t_0, x_0)$ . Thus the zero solution of (4.5.15) is stable.

REMARK 4.5.10. Theorem 4.5.9 is also valid for the case of a variable sign function  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ .

EXAMPLE 4.5.11. Analyze the stability of the zero solution of the system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \begin{cases} -y + x(x^2 + y^2)\sin(\frac{1}{x^2 + y^2}) & \text{when } x^2 + y^2 \neq 0, \\ -y & \text{when } x^2 + y^2 = 0, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = \begin{cases} x + y(x^2 + y^2)\sin(\frac{1}{x^2 + y^2}) & \text{when } x^2 + y^2 \neq 0, \\ x & \text{when } x^2 + y^2 = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.5.16)

Construct a positive definite Lyapunov function  $V = (x^2 + y^2)$ , so

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.5.16)} = 2(x^2 + y^2)^2 \sin\left(\frac{1}{x^2 + y^2}\right) \quad \text{(when } x^2 + y^2 \neq 0\text{)}.$$

Taking

$$r_{k} = \frac{1}{2k\pi + \frac{3\pi}{2}} > 0,$$
  
$$\eta_{k} = \frac{\pi/4}{(2k\pi + \frac{3\pi}{2})(2k\pi + \frac{3\pi}{2} + \frac{\pi}{4})} > 0 \quad (k = 1, 2, ...),$$

we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} r_k = 0, \qquad \left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.5.16)} < 0$$

when  $r_k - \eta_k \leq x^2 + y^2 \leq r_k$ . All the conditions of Theorem 4.5.9 are satisfied, and so the zero solution of (4.5.16) is stable.

REMARK 4.5.12. Let  $x = r \cos \theta$ ,  $y = r \sin \theta$ . Then, system (4.5.16) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dr}{dt} = \begin{cases} r^3 \sin \frac{1}{r^2} & \text{when } r \neq 0, \\ 0 & \frac{d\theta}{dt} = 1. \end{cases}$$
(4.5.17)

Obviously, system (4.5.17) has a sequence of closed orbits, i.e., it has infinite number of periodic solutions. Other trajectories are family of spirals.

EXAMPLE 4.5.13. Study the stability of the zero solution of the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = -x(x^2 + y^2)[1 - \cos\ln(x^2 + y^2) - \sin\ln(x^2 + y^2)]\\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -y(x^2 + y^2)[1 - \cos\ln(x^2 + y^2) - \sin\ln(x^2 + y^2)]\\ \text{when } x^2 + y^2 \neq 0; \qquad (4.5.18)\\ \begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = 0\\ \frac{dy}{dt} = 0 \end{cases} \text{ when } x^2 + y^2 = 0. \end{cases}$$

Choose a positive Lyapunov function  $V = x^2 + y^2$ . Then,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.5.17)} = -2(x^2 + y^2)^2 \left[ 1 - \sqrt{2}\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{4} + \ln(x^2 + y^2)\right) \right].$$

Taking  $r_k = e^{-2k\pi - \frac{\pi}{4}} > 0, \ \eta_k = e^{-2k\pi} (e^{-\frac{\pi}{4}} - e^{-\frac{\pi}{2}})$  results in

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} e^{-2k\pi - \frac{\pi}{4}} = 0,$$

and so  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.5.17)} < 0$  when  $e^{-2k\pi - \pi/2} \le x^2 + y^2 \le e^{-2k\pi - \pi/4}$ , implying that the zero solution of (4.5.17) is stable.

## 4.6. Sufficient conditions for asymptotic stability

In this section, we present some sufficient conditions for asymptotic stability.

THEOREM 4.6.1. If there exist functions  $V(t, x) \in C[R_H, R^1]$ , negative semidefinite function  $\theta(t, x) \in C[R_H, R^1]$  and positive definite function  $W(x) \in C[\Omega_H, R^1]$ , such that

(1)  $V(t, x) - \theta(t, x)W(x) \ge 0;$ (2)  $\theta(t, x) \to +\infty \text{ as } t \to +\infty \text{ holds uniformly for } x;$ (3)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4,2,1)} \le 0;$ 

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Condition (2) implies that  $\theta(t, x) \ge 1$  holds uniformly for x when  $t \gg 1$ . So  $V(t, x) \ge W(x)$ , i.e., V(t, x) is positive definite. By conditions (3) we know that the zero solution is stable.

Since W(x) is positive definite, there exists  $\varphi \in K$  such that  $W(x) \ge \varphi(||x||)$ . By condition (3), V(t, x(t)) is monotone decreasing and bounded. Hence, there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$M \ge V(t, x(t)) \ge \theta(t, x(t)) W(x(t)) \ge \theta(t, x(t)) \varphi(||x(t)||).$$

Therefore,

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leqslant \frac{M}{\theta(t,x(t))}.$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \varphi(\varepsilon) > 0$ , there exists *T*, when t > T,

$$\theta(t, x(t)) > \frac{M}{\varphi(\varepsilon)}$$

i.e.,  $\varphi(\varepsilon) > \frac{M}{\theta(t, x(t))}$ . Thus,  $\varphi(||x(t)||) < \varphi(\varepsilon)$ , and so

$$\|x(t)\| < \varepsilon,$$

i.e.,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) = 0.$$

This implies that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable.

The proof is complete.

 $\square$ 

REMARK 4.6.2. Theorem 4.6.1 is a generation of Theorem 4.5.7.

EXAMPLE 4.6.3. Consider the asymptotic stability of the solution of the system

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = -\frac{x}{t + \sin x} \tag{4.6.1}$$

in  $[t_0, +\infty)$ .

Choose  $V(t, x) = (t + \sin x)x^2$ ,  $\theta(t, x) = t + \sin x$  ( $t_0 \ge 2$ ). Then,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = 2(t+\sin x)x\left(\frac{-x}{t+\sin x}\right) + x^2\left(1-\cos x \cdot \frac{x}{t+\sin x}\right)$$
$$= -2x^2 + x^2\left(1-\frac{x\cos x}{t+\sin x}\right) = -x^2\left(1+\frac{x\cos x}{1+\sin x}\right)$$
$$\leqslant 0 \quad (\|x\| \ll 1).$$

Hence, when  $||x|| \leq H \ll 2$ ,  $t \geq t_0 \gg 1$ , the conditions of Theorem 4.6.1 are satisfied. Therefore, the zero solution of (4.6.1) is asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 4.6.4. Assume that (4.2.1) satisfies the following conditions: f(t, x) is bounded for  $t \ge 0$ ,  $||x|| \le H$ , and there exists a positive definite function  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  such that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)}$  is negative definite, then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Obviously, the conditions of Theorem 4.6.4 imply that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable. Thus, we only need to prove that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is attractive.

Otherwise, there exists an infinite sequence  $\{t_m\}$ , where  $t_m \to +\infty$  as  $m \to \infty$  such that for certain  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $||x(t_m, t_0, x_0)|| \ge \varepsilon$  holds. By the boundedness of f(t, x), there exists a constant k > 0 such that

$$\dot{x}(t) < k.$$

So in the close interval  $[t_m - \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}, t_m + \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}]$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= x(t_m) + \dot{x}(\xi)(t - t_m) \quad \text{where } \xi \in \left[ t_m - \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}, t - t_m + \frac{\varepsilon}{2k} \right], \\ \left| x(t) \right| &\ge \varepsilon - k \left( \frac{\varepsilon}{2k} \right) = \frac{\varepsilon}{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, in these intervals, there exists a constant c > 0 such that  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq -c$ . Without loss of generality, suppose that  $t_1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2k} > t_0$  and these intervals do not intersect. Then, we obtain

$$V\left(t_m + \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}\right) - V(t_0) = \int_{t_0}^{t_m + \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}} \frac{dV}{dt} dt \leqslant \sum_{k=1}^m \int_{t_k - \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}}^{t_k + \frac{\varepsilon}{2k}} \frac{dV}{dt} dt$$
$$\leqslant -cm\frac{\varepsilon}{k} \to -\infty \quad \text{as } m \to \infty,$$

which contradicts the fact that V(t, x) is positive definite. So the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 4.6.5. Consider (4.2.1) for  $t \ge 0$  and assume that  $||x|| \le H$  satisfies the following conditions:

(1) there exists positive definite function W(x) such that

$$\left. \frac{dW}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial W}{\partial x_i} f_i(t, x) = \left( \frac{\partial W}{\partial x} \cdot f(t, x) \right)$$
(4.6.2)

has upper bound or lower bound;

(2) there exists a positive definite function V(t, x) such that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4,2,1)}$  is negative; then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. The condition (2) in Theorem 4.6.5 implies that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable. So we only need to prove the attraction of zero solution of (4.2.1).

Consider the case of  $(\frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x))$  with the upper bound. By the method of reducing into a contradiction, suppose that the zero solution is not attractive. Then, there exists an infinite sequence  $\{t_m\}, t_m \to +\infty$  as  $m \to \infty$ , such that for certain  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\|x(t_m, t_0, x_0)\| \ge \varepsilon. \tag{4.6.3}$$

By condition (1) of the theorem, there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$W(x(t_m, t_0, x_0)) \ge \delta \tag{4.6.4}$$

holds for all natural numbers, and there exists a constant k > 0 such that

$$\frac{dW(x(t))}{dt} = \left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x)\right) < k.$$
(4.6.5)

Next, we prove that  $\forall t \in [t_m - \frac{\delta}{2k}, t_m]$ ,

$$W(x(t)) \ge \frac{\delta}{2}.$$
(4.6.6)

In fact, otherwise, there exists  $\bar{t} \in [t_m - \frac{\delta}{2k}, t_m]$  such that

$$W(x(\tilde{t})) < \frac{\delta}{2}.$$

By the mean value theorem, there exists  $t^* \in (\bar{t}, t_m)$  such that

$$\frac{dW(x(t^*))}{dt} = \frac{W(x(t_m)) - W(x(\tilde{t}_0))}{t_m - t} \ge \frac{\delta - \frac{\delta}{2}}{\frac{\delta}{2k}} = k,$$
(4.6.7)

which is a contradiction with (4.6.5). So (4.6.6) is true. By the property of W(x), there exists  $\eta > 0$  such that

$$||x(t)|| \ge \eta > 0$$

holds for all natural numbers and for all  $t \in [t_m - \frac{\delta}{2k}, t_m]$ . Since  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)}$  is negative definite, there exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant -c$$

is true for all  $t \in [t_m - \frac{\delta}{2k}, t_m]$ .

Without loss of generality, let  $t_1 - \frac{\delta}{2k} > t_0$ . Suppose that the above intervals do not intersect. Then,

$$V(t_m) - V(t_0) = \int_{t_0}^{t_m} \frac{dV}{dt} dt \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{t_i - \frac{\delta}{2k}}^{t_i} \frac{dV}{dt} dt$$

$$\leq -cm\frac{\delta}{2k} \to -\infty \quad \text{as } m \to \infty,$$

which contradicts that V(t, x) is positive definite. So the zero solution is asymptotically stable.

For the case of  $(\frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x))$  having a lower bound, the proof is similar. Suppose that there exists k > 0 such that

$$\frac{dW(x(t))}{dt} = \left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x)\right) > -k.$$
(4.6.8)

Using (4.6.4) and (4.6.8) one can obtain

$$W(x(t)) \ge \frac{\delta}{2} \tag{4.6.9}$$

for  $\forall t \in [t_m, t_m + \frac{\delta}{2k}]$ . Otherwise,  $\exists \tilde{t} \in [t_m, t_m + \frac{\delta}{2k}]$  such that

$$W(x(\bar{t})) < \frac{\delta}{2}.$$

By the mean value theorem,  $\exists t^* \in (t_m, \tilde{t})$  such that

$$\frac{dW(x(t^*))}{dt} = \frac{W(\tilde{t}) - W(t_m)}{\tilde{t} - t_m} = -\frac{W(t_m) - W(\tilde{t})}{\tilde{t} - t_m}$$
$$\leqslant -\frac{\delta - \frac{\delta}{2}}{\frac{\delta}{2k}} = -k.$$
(4.6.10)

This contradicts that W(x(t)) > -k. So  $W(x(t)) \ge \frac{\delta}{2}$ . Then, we only need to replace  $[t_m - \frac{\delta}{2k}, t_m]$  by  $[t_m, t_m + \frac{\delta}{2k}]$ . Similar to the case of  $(\frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x))$  with an upper bound, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t)\| &\ge \eta > 0, \qquad \left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant -c, \\ V(t_m) - V(t_0) &= \int_{t_0}^{t_m} \frac{dV}{dt} \, dt \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{t_i}^{t_i + \frac{\delta}{2k}} \frac{dV}{dt} \, dt \leqslant -cm \frac{\delta}{2k} \to -\infty \end{aligned}$$

 $\forall t \in [t_m, t_m + \frac{\delta}{2k}]$ . This is impossible, because V(t, x) is positive definite. So the zero solution is asymptotically stable

REMARK 4.6.6. Theorem 4.6.5 includes Theorem 4.6.4 as a special case.

EXAMPLE 4.6.7. Consider the asymptotic stability of the zero solution of system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{-x}{1+t} + t^2 y^{2k-1} - tx^{2r-1} + \frac{1}{t} x y^{2k}, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = \frac{y}{1+t} - t^2 x^{2k-1} - ty^{2r-1} + \frac{1}{t} x^{2k} y, \end{cases}$$
(4.6.11)

where  $0 < \tau < t < +\infty$ ,  $\tau = \text{constant}$ , *r* and *k* are natural numbers.

PROOF. To prove that the zero solution of (4.6.11) is asymptotically stable, choose a positive definite Lyapunov function:

$$V(t, x, y) = (1+t)\left(x^{2k} + y^{2k}\right) \ge x^{2k} + y^{2k}$$
(4.6.12)

with no infinitesimal upper bound when

$$x^{2k} + y^{2k} \leqslant \alpha^2 := \frac{\tau}{2(1+\tau)}.$$

From

$$4k\left(1+\frac{1}{\tau}\right)x^{2k}y^{2k} = -2k\left(1+\frac{1}{\tau}\right)\left(x^{2k}-y^{2k}\right)^2 + 2k\left(1+\frac{1}{\tau}\right)\left(x^{4k}+y^{4k}\right) \\ \leqslant -2k\left(1+\frac{1}{\tau}\right)\left(x^{2k}-y^{2k}\right)^2 + k\left(x^{2k}+y^{2k}\right),$$
(4.6.13)

we obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.6.11)} = (x^{2k} + y^{2k}) + 2k(1+t)(x^{2k-1}\dot{x} + y^{2k-1}\dot{y}) 
= (x^{2k} + y^{2k}) + 2k(1+t) 
\times \left[-\frac{x^{2k} + y^{2k}}{1+t} - t(x^{2(k+r-1)} + y^{2(k+r-1)}) + \frac{1}{t}x^{2k}y^{2k}\right] 
< (1-2k)(x^{2k} + y^{2k}) - 2k\tau(1+\tau)[x^{2(k+r-1)} + y^{2(k+r-1)}] + 4k\left(1 + \frac{1}{\tau}\right)x^{2k}y^{2k} 
\leqslant -(2k-1-k)(x^{2k} + y^{2k}) 
- 2k\tau(1+\tau)[x^{2(k+r-1)} + y^{2(k+r-1)}].$$
(4.6.14)

So  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.6.11)}$  is negative definite. Let  $W(x) = x^{2k} + y^{2k}$ . W(x) is positive definite and  $\frac{\partial W}{\partial x} = 2k(x^{2k-1}, y^{2k-1})$ . Thus,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x) \end{pmatrix} = 2k \left( x^{2k-1} \dot{x} + y^{2k-1} \dot{y} \right)$$
  
=  $2k \left[ -\frac{x^{2k} + y^{2k}}{1+t} - t \left( x^{2(k+r-1)} + y^{2(k+r-1)} \right) + \frac{2}{t} x^{2k} y^{2k} \right]$ 

$$\leqslant \frac{4k}{\tau} x^{2k} y^{2k} \leqslant \frac{2k}{\tau} (x^{2k} + y^{2k})^2 \leqslant \frac{2k}{\tau} \alpha^4,$$

indicating that  $\left(\frac{\partial W}{\partial x}, f(t, x)\right)$  has an upper bound, according to Theorem 4.6.4. Hence, the zero solution is asymptotically stable.

For autonomous systems, the Lyapunov asymptotic stability theorem has been generalized [21,192].

Consider the *n*-dimensional autonomous system (4.5.15).

DEFINITION 4.6.8. The set  $E = \{x \mid x(t, t_0, x_0), t \ge t_0\}$  is called positive half trajectory with  $x(t_0, t_0, x_0) = x_0$ ; when  $x_0 \ne 0$ , *E* is called nontrivial positive half trajectory;  $x^* \in \Omega_H$  is called  $\omega$ -limit point of positive half trajectory, if there exists a sequence  $\{t_k\}$  ( $t_k \rightarrow +\infty$  as  $k \rightarrow \infty$ ) such that

$$x^* = \lim_{t_k \to \infty} x(t_k, t_0, x_0).$$
(4.6.15)

The set consisting of  $\omega$ -limit point is denoted by  $\Omega(t_0)$ .

For example, if x = 0 is asymptotically stable, then x = 0 is an  $\omega$ -limit point of all positive half trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ ,  $x_0$  in attractive basin of x = 0.

LEMMA 4.6.9. Let  $x^*$  be  $\omega$  limit point of  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ . Then, all the points of positive half trajectories  $x(t, t_0, x^*)$  are  $\omega$  limit points of positive half trajectory. Therefore,  $\Omega$  is constituted by full positive half trajectories.

**PROOF.** Since there exists a sequence  $\{t_n\} \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  such that

$$x^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} x(t_n, t_0, x_0).$$

Let  $x(\tau, t_0, x^*)$  be an arbitrary point on the trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x^*)$ . By the Group's property of autonomous systems, we have

$$x(t_n + \tau, t_0, x_0) = x(\tau, t_0, x(t_n, t_0, x_0)).$$

Furthermore,

....

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x(t_n + \tau, t_0, x_0) = \lim_{n \to \infty} x(\tau, t_0, x(t_n, t_0, x_0)) = x(\tau, t_0, x^*)$$

holds, i.e.,  $x(\tau, t_0, x^*)$  is also an  $\omega$ -limit point of  $x(t, t_0, x^*)$ .

Lemma 4.6.9 is proved.

THEOREM 4.6.10. If there exists positive definite function  $V(x(t)) \in C^1[D, R^1]$  such that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.5.15)} \leqslant 0, \tag{4.6.16}$$

 $\square$ 

then the set  $M := \{x | \frac{dV}{dt} | (4.5.15) = 0, x \in D\}$  excludes x = 0, i.e., it does not include all positive half trajectories which are nonzero. Then, the zero solution of (4.5.15) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Obviously, the conditions in Theorem 4.6.10 imply the conditions of Lyapunov stability theorem (see Theorem 4.4.2) for autonomous cases. So the zero solution is stable.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$  ( $0 < \varepsilon < H$ ),  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon)$ , when  $||x_0|| < \delta$ ,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon < H$  holds. By the Weierstrass accumulation principle we know that the  $\omega$  limit point set  $\Omega(t_0)$  is not empty and so  $\Omega(t_0)$  is bounded.

Now prove  $\Omega(t_0) = \{0\}$ . Otherwise, there exists  $\{t_n\}, t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} x(t_n, t_0, x_0) = x^* \neq 0.$$

By the property of positive definiteness of V(x(t)) and negative semi-definiteness of  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ ,  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is monotone decreasing, negative, and continuous. Hence, we have

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} V(x(t, t_0, x_0)) = V(x^*) > 0.$$
(4.6.17)

Consider the trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x^*)$ . Since

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(4.5.15)} \leqslant 0,$$

we have

$$V(x(t, t_0, x^*)) \leqslant V(x^*).$$

If for all  $t \ge t_0$ ,  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0^*)) \equiv V(x_0^*)$  is true, then  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.5.15)} \equiv 0$ . Then, there is no trivial full positive half trajectory

$$x(t, t_0, x^*) \subset M.$$

This is impossible. Thus, there exists  $t_1 \ge t_0$  such that

$$V(x(t_1, t_0, x^*)) < V(x^*).$$

Lemma 4.6.9 shows that  $\forall t_1 > t_0, x(t_1, t_0, x^*)$  is an  $\omega$ -limit point of  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ . Hence, there exists  $\{t_n^*\}, t_n^* \to t_1$  as  $n \to \infty$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} x(t_n^*, t_0, x_0) = x(t_1, t_0, x^*).$$

It follows that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} V(x(t_n^*, t_0, x_0)) = V(x(t_1, t_0, x^*)) < V(x^*),$$
(4.6.18)

which contradicts (4.6.17), so  $\Omega = \{0\}$ , i.e.,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t, t_0, x_0) = \lim_{t \to \infty} x(t, t_0, x_0) = 0 = \lim_{t \to \infty} x(t, t_0, x_0).$$

The proof of Theorem 4.6.10 is complete.

EXAMPLE 4.6.11. Consider the stability of the equilibrium for a single pendulum system with damping:

$$\frac{d^2\varphi}{dt^2} + \frac{H}{m}\frac{d\varphi}{dt} + \frac{g}{l}\sin\varphi = 0,$$
(4.6.19)

where H > 0 is the damping coefficient, *m* is the mass of the pendulum, *l* is the length of the pendulum, and *g* is the gravity constant.  $\theta = 0$  is an equilibrium, as shown in Figure 4.6.1.

Solution: Let  $x = \varphi$ ,  $y = \frac{d\varphi}{dt}$ . Then, equation (4.6.19) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = y, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -\frac{g}{l}\sin x - \frac{H}{m}y. \end{cases}$$
(4.6.20)

Choose a Lyapunov function:

$$V = \frac{1}{2}y^2 + \frac{g}{l}(1 - \cos x).$$
(4.6.21)

When  $0 < x^2 + y^2 \leq 1$ , *V* is positive definite, and

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.6.20)} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial x}y + \frac{\partial V}{\partial y}\left[-\frac{g}{l}\sin x - \frac{H}{m}y\right] = -\frac{H}{m}y^2 \leqslant 0.$$



Figure 4.6.1. Single pendulum.

Letting  $\frac{dV}{dt} = 0$  yields

 $M = \{y \mid y = 0\}.$ 

But y = 0 does not include full nonzero positive half trajectories. So the equilibrium  $\theta = 0$  of (4.6.21) is asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 4.6.12. (See [21].) Assume that there exists  $V(x) \in C^1[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^1]$ , which is positive definite and radially unbounded, and

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(4.2.1)} \leqslant 0.$$

Then, the set  $M = \{x | \frac{dV}{dt} | _{(4.2.1)} = 0\}$  excludes x = 0, i.e., it does not include full nonzero positive half trajectories. Then, the zero solution of (4.2.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Obviously, the conditions of Theorem 4.6.12 imply that the zero solution of (4.2.1) is stable  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(x_0)$  holds, because  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} \leq 0$ .

Since V is a positive definite and radially unbounded function,  $\forall M > 0$ ,  $\exists R$  such that  $V(x) \ge R$  and  $V(x) \ge M$  holds. If  $V(x) \le V(x_0)$ ,  $\exists r > 0$  such that ||x|| < r, then  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  is in a compact set of  $R^n$ .

Following the proof of Theorem 4.6.10 one can show that

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t,t_0,x_0) = 0.$$

The proof of Theorem 4.6.12 is complete.

EXAMPLE 4.6.13. Prove that the zero solution of the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = y, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = f(z) - az, \\ \frac{dz}{dt} = -g(x) - by, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.6.22)$$

is globally asymptotically stable, where f(0) = g(0) = 0, a > 0, b > 0 are constants.  $g(x) \in C^1$  and  $f(z) \in C$  satisfy

- (1) xg(x) > 0 for  $x \neq 0$ ;
- (2) zf(z) > 0 for  $z \neq 0$ ;
- (3)  $\dot{g}(x) < ab$  for  $x \neq 0$ ;
- (4)  $V(t, x, z) = a \int_0^x g(\xi) d\xi + yg(x) + \int_0^z f(\eta) d\eta + \frac{b}{2} y^2 \to +\infty$  as  $(x^2 + y^2 + z^2) \to \infty$ .

PROOF. Let

$$\begin{split} M(x, y) &= a \int_{0}^{x} g(\xi) \, d\xi + yg(x) + \frac{b}{2} y^2 \\ &:= aG(x) + yg(x) + bY(y) \\ &= \frac{[\alpha \sqrt{b}y(y) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{b}} yg(x)]^2}{4Y(g)} + \frac{4aG(x)Y(y) - \frac{1}{b} y^2 g^2(x)}{4Y(g)}, \end{split}$$

and

$$U(x, y) := 4aG(x)Y(y) - \frac{1}{b}y^2g^2(x)$$
  
=  $4\int_0^x g(x) \left\{ \int_0^y \left[ a - \frac{y'(t)}{b} \right] y \, dy \right\} dx.$ 

By conditions (1) and (3) we know that U(x, y) is positive definite. This implies that M(t, y) is positive definite. Hence, V(x, y, z) is a positive definite and radially unbounded function, and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.6.22)} = y^2 \big[ g'(x) - ab \big] \leqslant 0.$$

The set

$$M = \left\{ x, y, z, \frac{dV}{dt} \Big|_{(4.6.22)} = 0 \right\} = \{y, y = 0\}$$

does not include full nonzero positive half trajectory. Hence, the zero solution of (4.6.22) is globally asymptotically stable.

For general nonautonomous systems the above theorem is not true.

EXAMPLE 4.6.14. Consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = \frac{-3}{1+t^2}x_1 + \frac{1}{1+t^2}x^2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = \frac{-1}{1+t^2}x_1 - \frac{1}{1+t^2}x^2. \end{cases}$$
(4.6.23)

Taking  $V = \frac{1}{2}(x_1^2 + x_2^2)$  we have

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.6.23)} = -\frac{3}{1+t^2} x_1^2 - \frac{1}{1+t^2} x_2^2 \le 0.$$

 $M := \{(t, x) \mid \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.6.23)} = 0\}$  only includes  $\{x_1 = x_2 = 0\}$ , but the equation admits a special solution:

$$x_1(t) = x_2(t) = e^{-2\int_{t_0}^t \frac{d\xi}{1+\xi^2}} = e^{-2[\arctan(t) - \arctan(t_0)]}.$$

This special solution does not tend to zero as  $t \to +\infty$ . So the zero solution of (4.6.23) is not asymptotically stable.

We again consider (4.2.1) but let (4.2.1) be a periodic system, i.e.,  $\exists \tau > 0$  such that  $f(t + \tau, x) \equiv f(t, x)$ .

THEOREM 4.6.15. (See [19].) Assume that there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$ with  $V(t + \tau, x) \equiv V(t, x)$  such that

- (1) V(t, x) is positive definite, i.e., there exists  $\varphi \in K$  such that  $V(t, x) \ge \varphi(||x||)$ ;
- (2)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} \leq 0;$

 $\langle n \rangle$ 

(3)  $M := \{(t, x) \in G_H \cap \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} = 0\}$  does not include nonzero full positive half trajectory;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.** The conditions in the theorem imply that the zero solution is stable. But system (4.2.1) is periodic, so the stability is uniform, i.e.,

$$\forall \alpha > 0, \ \exists \delta(\alpha) > 0, \ \text{when } \|x_0\| < \delta, \ \|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq \alpha.$$

Now, we prove that the zero solution is uniformly attractive. Since  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \le \alpha$ , the sequence

$$x_0^{(k)} := x(t_0 + k\tau, t_0, x_0) \tag{4.6.24}$$

has limit point  $x_0^*$ , i.e., there exists a convergent subsequence, still denoted by  $\{x_0^{\{k\}}\}$ , such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} x_0^{(k)} = x_0^*.$$

First, we prove that  $x_0^* = 0$ . Otherwise, suppose  $x_0^* \neq 0$ . Consider the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0^*)$ . By condition (3) we know that there exists  $t^* > t_0$  such that

$$\frac{dV(t^*, x(t^*, t_0, x_0^*))}{dt} < 0.$$
(4.6.25)

Furthermore, for all  $\tilde{t} \ge t^*$  we have

$$V(t^*, x(t^*, t_0, x_0^*)) < V(t_0, x_0^*).$$
(4.6.26)

According to periodic propriety, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x(t^*, t_0, x_0^{(k)}) &\equiv x(t^* + k\tau, t_0 + k\tau, x_0^{(k)}) \\ &\equiv x(t^* + k\tau, t_0 + k\tau, x(t_0 + k\tau, x_0, x_0)) \\ &\equiv x(t^* + k\tau, t_0, x_0). \end{aligned}$$

Without loss of generality, let  $t^* = t_0 + 2r\tau$ . Using the periodic property of V(t, x) with respect t we have

$$V(t_{0}, x^{*}) = \lim_{\kappa \to \infty} V(t^{*} + \kappa\tau, x(t^{*} + k\tau, t_{0}, x_{0}))$$
  

$$= \lim_{\kappa \to +\infty} V(t^{*} + k\tau, x(t^{*} + k\tau, t_{0}, x_{0}))$$
  

$$= \lim_{\kappa \to \infty} V(t^{*}, x(t^{*}, t_{0}, x_{0}^{(k)}))$$
  

$$= V(t^{*}, x(t^{*}, t_{0}, x_{0}^{*}))$$
  

$$< V(t_{0}, x_{0}^{*}).$$
(4.6.27)

This is a contradiction, and therefore  $x_0^* = 0$ .

Next, we prove that  $x_0^* = 0$  implies  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t, t_0, x_0) = 0$ . Otherwise, there exists  $\{t_n\}, t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  such that

$$\lim_{t_n\to\infty} x(t_n, t_0, x_0) = \tilde{x} \neq 0.$$

Therefore, on one hand, we have

$$\lim_{t_n \to \infty} V(t_n, x(t_n, t_0, x_0)) = \lim_{t \to \infty} V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$$
$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} V(t_0 + k\tau, x(t_0 + k\tau, t_0, x_0))$$
$$= V(t_0, x_0^*) = V(t_0, 0) = 0, \qquad (4.6.28)$$

but on the other hand, we have

$$\lim_{t_n \to \infty} V(t_n, x(t_n, t_0, x_0)) \ge \lim_{t_n \to \infty} \varphi(\|x(t_n, t_0, x_0)\|)$$
$$= \varphi(\|\tilde{x}\|) > 0.$$
(4.6.29)

This is a contradiction. Therefore  $x_0^* = 0$ , implying

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}x(t,t_0,x_0)=0.$$

So the zero solution is attractive and is uniformly attractive by periodic propriety. Therefore, the zero solution is uniformly asymptotically stable.  $\Box$ 

#### 4.7. Sufficient conditions for instability

In this section, we introduce some sufficient conditions for instability.

THEOREM 4.7.1. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with V(t, 0) = 0 such that

- (1) in any neighborhood of the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , there exists a region such that V > 0( $t \ge t_0$ );
- (2) in region V > 0, V(t, x) is bounded;
- (3)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)}$  is positive definite in V > 0, i.e.,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists l > 0$  such that when  $V \ge \varepsilon > 0$ ,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \ge l > 0 \quad \forall t \ge t_0 \tag{4.7.1}$$

holds;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

PROOF. Choose  $\varepsilon > 0, 0 < \varepsilon < H$ .  $\forall \delta > 0$ , there exist  $x_0 \in S_{\delta} := \{x, ||x|| < \delta\}$ and  $t_1 > t_0$  such that  $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| \ge \varepsilon$ . Take  $x_0$  in the region  $V > 0, x_0 \in S_{\delta}$ , such that

 $V(t_0, x_0) > 0.$ 

By condition (1), this is possible. Condition (2) implies that  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \ge V(t_0, x_0) > 0$  for  $t \ge t_0$ . If

$$||x(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))|| \ge V(t_0, x_0) > 0,$$

then due to condition (3) the trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  stays in  $V > 0 \forall t \ge t_0$ . So there exists l > 0 such that

$$\left. \frac{dV(t, x(t))}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \ge l > 0.$$

Thus, by condition (2), we have

$$V(t, x(t)) = V(t_0, x_0) + \int_{t_0}^t \frac{dV}{dt} dt$$
  
$$\geq V(t_0, x_0) + l(t - t_0) \to +\infty \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty.$$
(4.7.2)

This is impossible, therefore the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

In the following we give two Lyapunov instability criteria, which are special cases of Theorem 4.7.1.

COROLLARY 4.7.2. (See [298].) If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$  such that

- (1) condition (2) in Theorem 4.7.1 holds;
- (2) V(t, x) has infinitesimal upper bound;

(3)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)}$  is negative definite;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

**PROOF.** By condition (2), there exists positive definite function W(x) such that

 $\left|V(t,x)\right| \leqslant W(x).$ 

So  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta(\varepsilon)$ , when  $||x|| < \delta$ , we have

 $|V(t,x)| < \varepsilon \quad \forall t > t_0.$ 

Hence, on the intersection set of certain neighborhood of the origin  $O_{\delta}$  and V > 0, V(t, x) is bounded, implying that the condition (2) in Theorem 4.7.1 holds.

Condition (3) implies that there exists a positive definite W(x) such that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} \ge W(x)$ . So  $\forall \varepsilon^* > 0$  on  $V \ge \varepsilon^*$  and  $||x|| \ge \delta$  one can take

$$l = \inf_{\delta \leqslant \|x\| \leqslant H} W(x).$$

Thus,  $\frac{dV}{dt} \ge l > 0$ , i.e.,  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is positive definite in V > 0. Thus, all conditions of Theorem 4.7.1 are satisfied. Hence, the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

COROLLARY 4.7.3. (See [298].) If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  such that

- (1) the condition (1) of Theorem 4.7.1 holds;
- (2) V(t, x) is bounded in  $G_H$ ;

(3)

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.7.2)} = \lambda V + W(t, x), \tag{4.7.3}$$

where  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $W(t, x) \ge 0$ ;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

PROOF. Obviously, conditions (1) and (2) imply conditions (1) and (2) in Theorem 4.7.1.  $\forall \epsilon > 0$ , take  $l(\epsilon) = \lambda \epsilon$ . Then for  $V \ge \epsilon$ ,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} \geqslant \lambda \varepsilon > 0.$$

Hence, condition (3) in Theorem 4.7.1 is satisfied. So the conclusion is true.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 4.7.4. Assume that there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with V(t, 0) = 0 such that

- (1) in any neighborhood  $B_{\delta} := \{x, \|x\| < \delta \leq H\}$  of the origin there exists region in which V > 0;
- (2) in the region V > 0, V is bounded and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} = \xi(t)K(V) + U(t,x) \ge 0, \tag{4.7.4}$$

where  $\xi(t)$  is integrable in any bounded interval I and  $\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} \xi(t) dt = +\infty$ , K(V) is a continuous function and when V > 0, K(V) > 0 and  $U(t, x) \ge 0$ ;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

**PROOF.** According to condition (1),  $\forall \delta > 0$ , one can take  $(t_0, x_0)$  such that  $||x_0|| < \delta$ ,  $V(t_0, x_0) = \alpha > 0$ .

We now prove that for certain *h* that is 0 < h < H, there must exist  $t_1 > t_0$  such that  $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| > h$ . By condition (2),

$$V(t, x(t)) \ge V(t_0, x(t_0)) = \alpha > 0$$

holds. So  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  stays in  $V > 0 \forall t \ge t_0$ .

Let  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \le h < H$  for  $t \ge t_0$ . By condition (2), we obtain

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.2.1)} \ge \xi(t) K(V).$$

Hence,

$$\int_{V(t_0,x_0)}^{V(t,x(t))} \frac{dV}{K(V)} \ge \int_{t_0}^t \xi(t) dt \to +\infty \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty.$$
(4.7.5)

This implies  $V(t, x(t)) \to +\infty$  as  $t \to +\infty$ , which contradicts that V is bounded in V > 0. Thus,  $\exists t_1$  such that  $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| > h$ , i.e., the zero solution is unstable.

EXAMPLE 4.7.5. Consider the stability of the zero solution of the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = \frac{2}{t+1}(x^2 + xy)e^{\cos(x+y)} + ye^{\sin t}, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = xe^{\sin t} + y^2e^{\cos(x+y)} \quad (t \ge 0). \end{cases}$$
(4.7.6)

Let V(x, y) = x + y. Then in the positive definite region  $D := \{t \ge 0, x + y > 0\}$ , as shown in Figure 4.7.1, one can show that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.7.6)} = \frac{dx}{dt} + \frac{dy}{dt}$$



Figure 4.7.1. Illustration for Example 4.7.5.

$$= \frac{2}{t+1} (x^2 + xy) e^{\cos(x+y)} + y e^{\sin t} + x e^{\sin t} + y^2 e^{\cos(x+y)}$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{1+t} (x+y)^2 e^{\cos(x+y)} + \frac{x^2}{t+1} e^{\cos(x+y)}$$
  

$$+ (x+y) e^{\sin t} + y^2 e^{\cos(x+y)} \left(1 - \frac{1}{t+1}\right).$$
  

$$\xi(t) := \frac{1}{t+1} > 0,$$
  

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \frac{dt}{1+t} = +\infty, \qquad K(V) = V^2 e^{\cos V} = (x+y)^2 e^{\cos(x+y)} > 0,$$
  

$$U(t, x, y) = y^2 \left(1 - \frac{1}{t+1}\right) e^{\cos(x+y)} + (x+y) e^{\sin t}$$
  

$$+ \frac{1}{1+t} e^{\cos(x+y)} \ge 0.$$

According to Theorem 4.7.4 we know that the zero solution of (4.7.6) is unstable.

EXAMPLE 4.7.6. Analyze the stability of the zero solution of the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = x \arctan(y - x^2) + x^3 \sin y - \frac{1}{t+1}x^3, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = (4+t)y \arctan(y - x^2) + 2x^2y \quad (t \ge 0). \end{cases}$$
(4.7.7)

Let  $V(x, y) = y - x^2$ . Then  $D := \{t, x, y \mid t \ge 0, y > x^2\}$  is a positive definite region of V(x, y).

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.7.7)} = (4+t)y \arctan(y-x^2) + 2x^2y$$
  
-  $2x\Big[x \arctan(y-x^2) + x^3 \sin y - \frac{1}{t+1}x^3\Big]$   
=  $2(y-x^2) \arctan(y-x^2) + (2+t)y \arctan(y-x^2)$   
+  $2x^2y - 2x^4 \sin y + \frac{2}{t+1}x^4 \ge 0$ 

in D.

$$\xi(t) := 2 > 0, \qquad \int_{0}^{+\infty} \xi(t) \, dt = +\infty,$$
  

$$K(V) = V \arctan V = (y - x^2) \arctan(y - x^2) > 0,$$
  

$$U(t, x, y) = (2 + t)y \arctan(y - x^2) + 2x^2y - 2x^4 \sin y + \frac{2}{t+1}x^4$$
  

$$> (2 + t)y \arctan(y - x^2) + 2x^4(1 - \sin y) + \frac{2}{1+t}x^4 > 0.$$

So the zero solution of (4.7.7) is unstable.

THEOREM 4.7.7. Suppose that there exist  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$  and  $\varphi(||x||) \in K$  such that

- (1) in any neighborhood of the origin and I, there exist t and x such that V(t, x) > 0;
- (2) *in region* V(t, x) > 0,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4,2,1)} \ge \eta \left( V(t,x), t \right) \ge 0, \quad 0 \le V(t,x) \le \varphi \left( \|x\| \right)$$
(4.7.8)

holds, where  $\eta(V, t) \ge 0$ , when  $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2$ ,  $\eta(\alpha_1, t) \ge \eta(\alpha_2, t)$  and for any  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $\int_{t_0}^t \eta(\alpha, t) dt$  is not bounded;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

PROOF. We wish to prove that for certain  $\varepsilon > 0$  ( $\varepsilon < H$ ),  $\forall \delta > 0$  ( $\delta < \varepsilon$ ),  $\exists x_0 \in B_{\delta} := \{x, ||x|| < \delta\}$  and  $t_1 > t_0$  such that  $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| \ge \varepsilon$ .

Otherwise, let  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$ ,  $t \ge t_0$ . By condition (1) we know that  $\exists t_1 \ge t_0$  and  $x_1 \in B_{\delta}$  such that  $V(t_1, x_1) > 0$ . The continuity of V(t, x) implies that there exists a neighborhood  $D(t_1, x_1)$  of  $(t_1, x_1)$  such that when

 $(t, x) \in D(t, x) \subset B_{\varepsilon} = \{x \mid ||x|| < \varepsilon\}, 0 < V(t, x) \leq \varphi(||x||), x(t, t_1, x_1) \in B_{\varepsilon}$  $(t \ge t_0)$  holds.

By the condition (2), we have

$$\dot{V}_{(4,2,1)}(t, x(t, t_1, x_1)) \ge \eta (V(t, x), t) \ge 0,$$
(4.7.9)

so when  $t \ge t_1 \ge t_0$ ,

$$V(t, x(t, t_1, x_1)) \ge V(t_1, x_1) > 0$$

Integrating (4.7.9) yields

$$V(t, x(t, t_1, x_1)) - V(t_1, x_1) \ge \int_{t_1}^t \eta (V(s, x(s, t_1, x_1)), s) ds$$
$$\ge \int_{t_1}^t \eta (V(t_1, x_1), s) ds \quad (t \ge t_0). \quad (4.7.10)$$

Therefore, we have

$$V(t, x(t, t_1, x_1)) \ge V(t, x(t, t_1, x_1)) - V(t_1, x_1) \ge \int_{t_1}^t \eta(V(t_1, x_1), s) \, ds.$$

Furthermore, we have

$$\varphi(H) \ge \varphi(\|x(t)\|) \ge V(t, x(t, t_1, x_1)) \ge \int_{t_1}^t \eta(V(t_1, x_1), s) ds,$$

which contradicts that  $\int_{t_1}^t \eta(V(t_1, x_1), s) ds$  is unbound. So the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

For autonomous system (4.5.15) Karsovskii [192] generated the Lyapunov instability theorem.

LEMMA 4.7.8. If there exists function  $V(x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with a lower bound such that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.5.15)} \leqslant 0, \tag{4.7.11}$$

and any trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  does not leave  $G_H$  when  $t \to +\infty$ . Then, the  $\omega$ -limit set  $\Omega$  is located on certain hypersurface  $V = V_0 = constant$ .

PROOF. Let  $x_0 \in G_H$  and  $y \in \Omega(t_0)$ . Then, there exist  $\{t_n\}, t_n \to +\infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$  such that

$$y = \lim_{n \to +\infty} x(t_n, t_0, x_0),$$

owing to  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.5.15)} \leq 0$ .

The function  $V(x(t_n, t_0, x_0))$  is descending with a lower bound, so

$$V_0 = \lim_{n \to +\infty} V(x(t_n, t_0, x_0))$$
(4.7.12)

by using the continuity of V(t, x). Thus,

$$V(y) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} V(x(t_n, t_0, x_0)).$$

Therefore, for any sequence  $\{\tilde{t}_n\}, \tilde{t}_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ ,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} V(x(t_n, t_0, x_0)) = V_0,$$

i.e., for any  $y \in \Omega$ , we have  $V(y) = V_0$ .

THEOREM 4.7.9. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) there exists a function  $V(x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with V(0) = 0, and in any neighborhood of the origin there exists  $x_0$  such that  $V(x_0) > 0$ ;
- (2)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.5.15)} \ge 0$  and  $M := \{x, \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.5.15)} = 0\}$  does not include full nonzero positive half trajectories;

then the zero solution of (4.5.15) is unstable.

PROOF. By the conditions in Theorem 4.7.9, for some fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall \delta > 0$  $(\delta < \varepsilon)$ , there exists  $x_0 \in B_{\delta} = \{x \mid ||x|| < \delta\}$  such that  $V(x_0) = V_0 > 0$ . The continuity of V(x) and V(0) = 0 imply that there exists  $\eta > 0$ ,  $0 < \eta < \delta$ , when  $||x|| < \eta$ 

$$\left|V(x)\right| < V_0$$

holds.

Next, we prove that there exists  $t_1 > t_0$  such that

 $\|x(t_1)\| := \|x(t_1, t_0, x_0)\| \ge \varepsilon.$ 

Otherwise, let  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$   $(t \ge t_0)$ . By  $\frac{dV}{dt} \ge 0$  one obtains

 $V(x(t)) \ge V(x_0) > 0 \quad (t \ge t_0).$ 

Hence,  $\eta \leq ||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ . Since the  $\omega$  limit set is not empty,  $\forall y \in \Omega(x_0)$ , there exist  $\{t_n\}, t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} x(t_n, t_0, x_0) = y$$

158

owing to  $\frac{dV(x(t))}{dt} \ge 0$  and  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is increasing and has an upper bound. Thus,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} V(x(t, t_0, x_0)) = c > 0$$

by using the continuity of V(x). Thus,  $\forall y \in \Omega(x_0)$ ,  $V(y) \equiv c$  and on  $\Omega(t_0)$ ,  $\frac{dV}{dt} = 0$ . But  $\Omega(t_0)$  consists of full positive half trajectories. This is a contradiction. Therefore the zero solution of (4.5.15) is unstable.

EXAMPLE 4.7.10. Consider the stability of the zero solution for the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1 + 3(1+x_2)^2 x_2. \end{cases}$$
(4.7.13)

Solution: Choose

$$V = x_1^2 + x_2^2, \qquad \left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.7.13)} = 6(1 + x_2^2)x_2^2 \ge 0.$$

Letting  $\frac{dV}{dt} = 0$  yields  $x_2 = 0$ . Substitute  $x_2(t) = 0$  into

$$\frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1 + 3(1+x_2)^2 x_2$$

to obtain  $x_1 = 0$ . Hence,  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  only includes  $x_1 = x_2 = 0$ . So the zero solution is unstable.

We again consider (4.2.1) as a periodic system, i.e.,  $\exists \tau > 0$  such that  $f(t + \tau, x) \equiv f(t, x)$ .

THEOREM 4.7.11. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^1[G_H, R^1]$  with  $V(t + \tau, x) \equiv V(t, x)$ ,  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$  such that

- (1) in any neighborhood of the region  $B_{\delta} := \{x, \|x\| < \delta\}$  there exists a region V > 0;
- (2) in the region V > 0,  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.2.1)} \ge 0$ ;
- (3) the set  $M = \{x \mid \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4,2,1)} = 0 \cap V(t,x) > 0\}$  does not include full nonzero positive half trajectories;

then the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

PROOF. By condition (1), there exists some  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  in  $||x|| \le \varepsilon_0$  such that V(t, x) > 0, and  $\forall \delta(\delta < \varepsilon_0), \exists x_0 \in V > 0$  and  $||x_0|| < \delta$ . Let  $V(t_0, x_0) = V_0 > 0$ . We want to show that there exists  $t_1 > t_0$  such that

$$\|x(t_1,t_0,x_0)\| > \varepsilon_0.$$

Otherwise, let  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq \varepsilon_0$ . Condition (2) implies

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \ge V(t_0, x_0) = V_0 > 0.$$

Thus,  $x_0^{(k)} := (t_0 + k\tau, t_0, x_0)$  have limiting points. Without loss of generality, let  $x_0^{(k)} \to x_0^*$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Owing to that  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is continuous, monotone increasing and bounded, there exists the limit

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) := V_{\infty}.$$
(4.7.14)

Since  $V(t + \tau, x) \equiv V(t, x)$ , the above limit can be obtained:

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) = \lim_{k \to +\infty} V(t_0 + k\tau, x(t_0 + k\tau, t_0, x_0))$$
$$= \lim_{k \to +\infty} V(t_0, x(t_0 + k\tau, t_0, x_0))$$
$$= \lim_{k \to +\infty} V(t_0, x^{(k)})$$
$$= V(t_0, x^*) = V_{\infty}.$$
(4.7.15)

But on the other hand, consider the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0^*)$ . By condition (3),  $\exists t^* > t_0$ ,

$$\frac{dV(t^*, x(t^*, t_0, x_0^*))}{dt} > 0,$$

and

$$V(t^*, x(t^*, t_0, x_0^*)) > V(t_0, x_0^*).$$

Owing to  $f(t + \tau, x) \equiv f(t, x)$  and  $V(t + \tau, x) \equiv V(t, x)$  we have

$$x(t^*, t_0, x_0^{(k)}) = x(t^* + k\tau, t_0 + k\tau, x_0^{(k)})$$
  
=  $x(t^* + k\tau, t_0 + k\tau, x(t_0 + k\tau, t_0, x_0))$   
=  $x(t^* + k\tau, t_0, x_0)$  (4.7.16)

and

$$V(t_0, x_0^*) = \lim_{k \to \infty} V(t^* + k\tau, x(t^* + k\tau, t_0, x_0))$$
  
=  $\lim_{k \to \infty} V(t^*, x(t^*, t_0, x_0^{(k)}))$   
=  $V(t^*, x(t^*, t_0, x_0^*))$   
>  $V(t_0, x_0^*).$  (4.7.17)

This is impossible. Hence, the zero solution of (4.2.1) is unstable.

EXAMPLE 4.7.12. Consider a third-order nonlinear equation:

$$\ddot{x} + f_1(x, \dot{x})\ddot{x} + f_2(x, \dot{x})\dot{x} + f_3(x) = 0, \qquad (4.7.18)$$

where  $f_1$ ,  $f_2$  and  $f_3$  are continuous differentiable functions of x and  $\dot{x}$  and  $f_2(0, 0) = f_3(0) = 0$ .

To analyze the stability of the zero solution, let  $\dot{x} = y$  and  $\ddot{x} = z$ . Then, the above equation can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = y, \\ \dot{y} = z, \\ \dot{z} = -f_3(x) - f_2(x, y) - f_1(x, y, )z. \end{cases}$$
(4.7.19)

Let  $D_1 = \{x, y, z \mid y \ge x \ge 0, z \ge 0\}$  and  $D_2$  be any small neighborhood of the origin. In  $D_1 \cap D_2$  the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  $f_1(x, y) < 0;$ (2)  $xf_3(x) > 0 \ (x \neq 0), \ yf_2(x, y) > 0 \ \forall y \neq 0;$ (3)  $\frac{\partial f_2(x, y)}{\partial x} \ge 0, \ f'_3(x) > 0.$ 

Then the zero solution of (4.7.18) is unstable.

**PROOF.** Choose a Lyapunov function:

$$V(x, y, z) = yf_3(x) + \frac{1}{2}z^2 + \int_0^y f_2(x, y) \, dy.$$

By condition (2),

$$\int_{0}^{y} f_2(x, y) \, dy > 0 \quad \forall y \neq 0.$$

in the region defined by  $y \ge x$  and  $yf_3(x) \ge 0$ . So V(x, y, z) is positive definite in  $D_1 \cap D_2$ . By condition (3) we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(4.7.19)} = y^2 f'_3(x) - f_1(x, y)z^2 + y \int_0^y \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x} \, dy \ge 0.$$

Letting  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.7.19)} = 0$  yields y = z = 0 and x = c. If x = 0, then  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.7.19)}$  only includes x = y = z = 0. If  $x = c \neq 0$ , one can choose  $x = C \in D_1 \cap D_2$ . So the zero solution of (4.7.19) is unstable.

EXAMPLE 4.7.13. Again consider system (4.7.19), but now let

$$\tilde{D}_1 := \{x, y, z | z \ge x | \},\$$

and  $\tilde{D}_2$  be any small neighborhood of the origin. In  $\tilde{D}_1 \cap \tilde{D}_2$ , the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  $f_1(x, y) > a > 0;$ (2)  $yf_2(x, y) < 0 \ (y \neq 0, xf_3(x) > 0, x \neq 0);$ (3)  $\frac{\partial f_1(x, y)}{\partial x} y \ge 0.$ 

Then the zero solution of (4.7.19) is unstable.

PROOF. Construct a Lyapunov function:

$$V(t, y, z) = \int_{0}^{x} f_{3}(x) dx + yz + \int_{0}^{y} y f_{1}(x, y) dy.$$

By condition (2) we know that  $\int_0^x f_3(x) dx > 0$  ( $x \neq 0$ ) in the region defined by  $z \ge x$  and yz > 0. So V(x, y, z) is positive definite, and

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(4.7.19)} = z^2 - yf_2(x, y) + y \int_0^y \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x} y \, dy \ge 0.$$

Letting  $\frac{dv}{dt}|_{(4.7.19)} = 0$ , we obtain y = z = 0 and x = c. So the zero solution of (4.7.19) is unstable.

## 4.8. Summary of constructing Lyapunov functions

After the fundamental Lyapunov stability theory was established, further studies were carried out by many scholars. Most of the basic Lyapunov theorems are invertible. So theoretically, stability implies the existence of Lyapunov function. To seek suitable Lyapunov function to perform stability analysis is of interest, but is difficult because there is no general rule for constructing Lyapunov functions. In most of situations, it relies on one's experience and skill.

The success of constructing Lyapunov functions may depends on practical background. For example, for some physical models, the V function has a clear physical meaning. The kinetic and potential energies can be combined to construct a V function for a conservative mechanical system. Also, one can employ linear analogy method to have a similar V function for nonlinear differential equations.

There are two fundamental methods for constructing Lyapunov functions, while they cannot ensure success.

By the first essential method, one tries to construct a positive definite function and calculate the derivative  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  along the solution of the system. If the conditions of the system ensure  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  to be negative definite or negative semi-definite, one can get asymptotic stability or stability of the system. Otherwise, no result of stability can be obtained, and one has to try the other approaches. This method is used by almost all books on stability. The good candidates of Lyapunov functions may be (1) quadratic form; (2) sum of quadratic terms; (3) combination of absolute values; (4) quadratic form plus nonlinear integrals, etc.

The second method is first to assume that  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite or negative semi-definite, and then obtain V by integration. At the same time check the positive definiteness of V. If V is positive definite, one can determine asymptotic stability or stability of the system Otherwise, there is no conclusion. By this method, one can generalize the gradient-method, the variable gradient method, the integral method and the energy measure method to develop new methods.

The third method is called differential variant method, that is, to construct V and  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  simultaneously.

Since energy function is usually employed in the analysis of neural network, which is relevant to the second method. We will introduce the gradient method in detail below.

Consider the *n*-dimensional nonlinear autonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(x),\tag{4.8.1}$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$  and f(0) = 0 and satisfies the Lipschitz condition. Consider a function V = V(x). The derivative of V along the solution of system (4.8.1) is

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(4.8.1)} = \left( \operatorname{grad} V \right)^T \cdot f(x), \tag{4.8.2}$$

where grad  $V = (\frac{\partial V}{\partial x_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_n})^T$  is the gradient of V. First, let grad V = W, where W is a given vector and satisfies

$$\frac{\partial W_i}{\partial x_j} = \frac{\partial W_j}{\partial x_i} \quad (i, j = 1, \dots, n).$$
(4.8.3)

Then, V is solved as the integral of grad V, i.e.,

$$V = \int_{0}^{x} (\operatorname{grad} V)^{T} dx = \int_{0}^{x} W^{T} dx, \qquad (4.8.4)$$

where the upper limit of the integral is an arbitrary point in the phase space. From equation (4.8.3), we know that the integral (4.8.4) is independent of the integration path. Thus, we have

$$V = \int_{0}^{x_1} W_1(\tau_1, 0, \dots, 0) \, d\tau_1 + \int_{0}^{x_2} W_2(x_1, \tau_2, 0, \dots, 0) \, d\tau_2$$

$$+\dots + \int_{0}^{x_{n}} W_{n}(x_{1},\dots,x_{n-1},\tau_{n}) d\tau_{n}.$$
(4.8.5)

The problem is now reduced into the problem of determining the gradient:

grad V = W.

The key step is to choose  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  such that the V solved from (4.8.5) is positive definite or positive semi-definite. If so, the equilibrium x = 0 of system (4.8.1) is stable.

According to the choice of the gradient grad V = W, the method can be generalized to the variable gradient method, the integrand method and the energy measure method. In the following, we discuss the variable gradient method.

By this method, one can seek the energy function for a neural by assuming that grad V = Bx, where  $B = (b_{ij})$  is to be determined.  $b_{ij}$  can be a constant or a function of x and  $b_{ij}(x) = b_{ji}(x)$ .

Choosing suitable  $b_{ij}$  such that W satisfies the general restrictive condition (4.8.3) and  $x^T B^T f(x)$  is positive definite or positive semi-definite as well. For example, if f(x) = A(x)x, then (4.8.1) becomes

$$\dot{x} = x^T B^T A(x) x, \tag{4.8.6}$$

where  $H(x) = B^T A(x) = (h_{ij})$ .

For general quadratic form H(x), the following condition is taken

$$\begin{cases} h_{ii} < 0 \quad \text{or} \quad h_{ii} \leqslant 0, \\ h_{ij} + h_{ji} = 0, \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$
(4.8.7)

to ensure that  $\dot{V}$  is negative definite or negative semi-definite. Thus,  $h_{ij}$  should be selected such that (4.8.7) and (4.8.3) are satisfied.

If *B* is given, by integral (4.8.5), we can calculate *V* and check whether it is positive definite or positive semi-definite. One could adjust  $b_{ij}$  untill it satisfies the conditions.

EXAMPLE 4.8.1. Consider the system:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_1 = x_2, \\ \dot{x}_2 = -x_2^2 - x_2. \end{cases}$$
(4.8.8)

Assume that

 $W = \begin{bmatrix} b_{11} & b_{12} \\ b_{21} & b_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}.$ 

By (4.8.8) we have  $A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -x_1^2 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ . Then, it follows from  $H = B^T A$  and (4.8.7) that

$$h_{11} = -b_{21}x_1^2, \qquad h_{22} = b_{12} - b_{22} < 0,$$
  

$$k_{12} + h_{21} = b_{11} - b_{12} - b_{22}x_1^2 = 0.$$
(4.8.9)

Simplifying (4.8.9) yields

$$b_{21} > 0,$$
  $b_{22} > b_{12},$   $b_{11} = b_{21} + b_{22}x_1^2.$ 

Let  $b_{ij}$   $(i \neq j)$  be constants. Choosing  $b_{12} = 1$ , by using the general restrictive condition (4.8.3), we have  $b_{12} = b_{21}$  and then  $b_{21} = 1$ . Let  $b_{21} = 2$ , we have  $b_{11} = 1 + 2x_1^2$  and then obtain that

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} 1+2x_1^2 & 1\\ 1 & 2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1\\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2x_1^3 + x_1 + x_2\\ x_1 + 2x_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\dot{V} = W^T f(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 2x_1^3 + x_1 + x_2 \\ x_1 + 2x_2 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ x_1^3 - x_2 \end{pmatrix} = -x_1^4 - x_2^2$$

is negative definite. Finally, performing the integration (4.8.5) we obtain

$$V = \int_{0}^{x_{1}} (2\tau_{1}^{2} + \tau_{1} + 0) d\tau_{1} + \int_{0}^{x_{2}} (x_{1} + 2\tau_{2}) d\tau_{2}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2}x_{1}^{4} + \frac{1}{2}x_{1}^{2} + x_{1}x_{2} + x_{2}^{2}$   
=  $\left(\frac{1}{2}x_{1} + x_{2}\right)^{2} + \frac{1}{4}x_{1}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}x_{1}^{4}.$ 

Obviously, V is a positive definite and radially unbounded. Furthermore, it can be verified that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(4.8.8)}$  is negative definite. Then, the zero solution of system (4.8.8) is globally asymptotically stable.

Variable gradient method is a kind of exploring and assembling method if V cannot be obtained by using one approach. This certainly does not mean that a suitable V does not exist.

The technique to select  $b_{ij}$  could yield different V functions and could give different attractive basins.

This page intentionally left blank

# **Development of Lyapunov Direct Method**

Based on energy functions, Lyapunov direct method has its general significance in both theoretical development and applications. This method can be used to study not only the stability in the sense of Lyapunov, but also the asymptotic behaviors of dynamical systems without solving equations. In this chapter, we introduce typical extensions of Lyapunov direct method, such as LaSalle invariant principle, comparison principle, Lagrange stability, robust boundedness, practical stability, partial variable stability, asymptotic equivalence, conditional stability and set stability, etc.

The materials given in this chapter are mainly chosen from [222] for Section 5.1, [163] for Section 5.2, [151] for Section 5.3, [151,234] for Section 5.4, [265] for Section 5.5, [299,153] for Section 5.6, [225] for Section 5.7, [127] for Section 5.8, [268] for Section 5.9, [98] for Section 5.10, [333] for Section 5.11 and [234] for Section 5.12.

#### 5.1. LaSalle's invariant principle

In 1960, the well-known American mathematician LaSalle discovered the relation between Lyapunov function and Birkhoff limit set. He extended Lyapunov direct method and gave a uniform concept of Lyapunov's theory. He considered the limit position of a motion as an asymptotic behavior. Moreover, he pointed out that based on a suitable Lyapunov function, especially by utilizing the invariance of the limit set, one could obtain the information of the limit set. This idea is now called "invariance principal". By this principal, LaSalle presented the essential theory for the stability of motion of dynamical systems.

In the following, for the dynamical systems composed of ordinary differential equations, we introduce the LaSalle invariant principle.

Consider the *n*-dimensional autonomous system, described by

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(x), \qquad f(0) = 0,$$
(5.1.1)
where  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f = (f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_n)^T \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ . Assume that the solution of (5.1.1) is unique.

DEFINITION 5.1.1. The set  $M \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is called positive invariant set of solution of (5.1.1), if  $\forall x_0 \in M$ , the trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset M(t \ge t_0)$ ; and  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow M$  as  $t \rightarrow \infty$  if there exist point  $p \in M$  and  $\{t_n\}, t_n \rightarrow \infty$  as  $n \rightarrow \infty$ , such that  $||x(t_n, t_0, x_0) - p|| \rightarrow 0$ .

LEMMA 5.1.2. If  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  is bounded for all  $t \ge t_0$ , then the  $\omega$ -limit set  $\Omega(x_0)$  has the following proprieties:

- (1)  $\Omega(x_0)$  is not empty;
- (2)  $\Omega(x_0)$  is compact (i.e., bounded and closed);
- (3)  $\Omega(x_0)$  is invariant on the set of the trajectories of system (5.1.1);
- (4)  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow \Omega(x_0)$  when  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ .

PROOF. (1) By the Weierstrass accumulation principle, we know that there exist  $t_n \to +\infty \ (n \to +\infty)$  such that

 $\lim_{t_n\to+\infty} x(t_n) := \lim_{t_n\to+\infty} x(t_n, t_0, x_0) = x^* \in \Omega(x_0),$ 

so  $\Omega(x_0)$  is not empty.

(2)  $\forall \{p_n\} \in \Omega(x_0)$  satisfying  $p_n \to p$  (as  $n \to \infty$ ), we prove  $p \in \Omega(x_0)$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \eta_0$  such that  $p_{n_0} \in \Omega(x_0)$  and  $||p_{n_0} - p|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ . Hence, there exist  $\{t_n\}$ ,  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ , when  $n \gg 1$  it holds

$$\left\|x(t_n)-p_{n_0}\right\|<\frac{\varepsilon}{2}.$$

Thus,  $||x(t_n) - p|| \leq ||x(t_n) - P_{n_0}|| + ||P_{n_0} - P|| < \varepsilon$  by arbitrary property of  $\varepsilon$ . This means that  $p \in \Omega(x_0)$  and  $\Omega(x_0)$  is a compact set.

(3)  $\forall p \in \Omega(t_0)$ , there exist  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$  such that

$$\lim_{n\to+\infty}x(t_n,t_0,x_0)=p.$$

If using  $t = t_0 = 0$ ,  $x(0) = x_0$  in  $x(t, t_0, p)$ , then by the uniqueness of solution, we have

 $x(t + t_n, 0, x_0) = x(t, 0, x(t_n, 0, x_0)),$ 

and

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} x(t + t_n, 0, x_0) = x(t, 0, p).$$

Therefore, the solution  $x(t, 0, p) \subset \Omega(x_0)$  is positively invariant.

(4) Now, we prove  $x(t, 0, x_0) \rightarrow \Omega(x_0)$ . If otherwise, let  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ , and assume that x(t) does not move towards  $\Omega(x_0)$ . Then, there exists  $\varepsilon_0 > 0, \forall T > 0$ ,

 $\exists t^* > T$ , such that  $\forall p \in \Omega(x_0)$ , we have

$$\|x(t^*, 0, x_0) - p\| \ge \varepsilon.$$

So there exist  $\{t_n^*\}, t_n \to +\infty \ (n \to \infty)$ , such that for all  $p \in \Omega(x_0)$  it holds

 $\|x(t_n^*, 0, x_0) - p\| \ge \varepsilon.$ 

But  $x(t, 0, x_0)$  is bounded for  $t \ge 0$ . By Weierstrass accumulation principle, there exists a limiting point  $x^* \in \Omega(x_0)$  such that  $x(t_n^*) \to x^*$ . This contradiction shows that  $x(t, 0, x_0) \to \Omega(x_0)$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

THEOREM 5.1.3 (LaSalle invariant principle [219]). Suppose D is a compact set.  $\forall x_0 \in D$ ,  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \in D$ , i.e., D is a positive invariant set, and there exists  $V(x) \in C^1[D, R]$  such that

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(5.1.1)} \leqslant 0.$$

Let  $E = \{x \mid \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.1.1)} = 0, x \in D\}$ .  $M \subset E$  is the biggest invariant set. Then,  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow M$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ . Particularly, if  $M = \{0\}$ , then the zero solution of (5.1.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Let  $x_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ , so  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \in \mathcal{D}$  by condition. Denote the  $\omega$ -limit set of  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  by  $\Omega(x_0)$ . Since  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.1.1)} \leq 0$ ,  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is monotone decreasing and  $V(x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is continuous on compact  $\mathcal{D}$ . So we have the lower bound:

$$\lim_{t\to+\infty}V\big(x(t,t_0,x_0)\big):=V_{\infty}.$$

Thus, on  $\Omega(x_0)$  it holds

$$V(t) \equiv V_{\infty} = C, \qquad \left. \frac{dV(x(t))}{dt} \right|_{(5.5.1)} = 0,$$

where  $x(t) \in \Omega$ . However,  $\Omega \subset E$ , so  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow \Omega$  implies  $x(t, 0, x_0) \rightarrow M$ .

Theorem 5.1.3 is proved.

REMARK 5.1.4. The basic idea of Theorem 5.1.3 is, based on the LaSalle invariant principle, to use the properties of the Lyapunov function V(x) and  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$  to determine the position of the largest invariant set,

$$\Omega \subset M \subset E \subset D.$$

In some applications, given a Lyapunov function V(x), and at the some time, one can also find  $\mathcal{D}$ . Define  $\mathcal{D}$  as

$$\mathcal{D} := \{ x \mid V(x) \leq l \}.$$

If *f* is bounded, and in  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.1.1)} \leq 0, \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{D}, x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset D$ . Then, we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 5.1.5. Let  $\mathcal{D} := \{x \mid V(x) \leq l\}$  be bounded.  $V(x) \in C^1[\mathcal{D}, R^1]$  and  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.1.1)} \leq 0$ , then  $\forall x_0 \in \mathcal{D}, x(t, t_0, x_0) \in \mathcal{D}$  and  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow M \subset E := \{x \mid \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.1.1)} = 0\}$ .

The proof is similar to that for Theorem 5.1.3 and thus omitted.

EXAMPLE 5.1.6. Consider the stability of the zero solution of the equation:

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2} + a\frac{dx}{dt} + bx + x^2 = 0 \quad (a > 0, \ b > 0).$$
(5.1.2)

We first rewrite (5.1.2) as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -bx_1 - ax_2 - x_1^2. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.3)

Choose the function:

$$V(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{2}bx_1^2 + \frac{1}{2}x_2^2 + \frac{1}{3}x_1^3,$$

and then construct the following bounded and closed region  $\mathcal{D}$ , as shown in Figure 5.1.1.



Figure 5.1.1. Construction of set *D* for Example 5.1.6.

Take

$$V \leqslant \frac{1}{2}\alpha^2\beta^2$$
,  $W_1 = x_1 \geqslant -\beta$ ,  $W_2 = x_2 + ax_1 \geqslant -\alpha\beta$ ,  $\beta > 0$ .

Then, we prove that  $\forall x_0 \in \mathcal{D}$ , when  $t \ge t_0$ ,  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset \mathcal{D}$ . Otherwise, the trajectory  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  will leave  $\mathcal{D}$ . Then, it crosses over the curve  $\widehat{ABCD}$  or the lines  $\overline{AE}$ ,  $\overline{DE}$  at certain  $t = t_1$  to  $\mathbb{R}^n/\mathcal{D}$ . But  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.1.3)} = -ax_2^2 < 0$ ,  $x_2 \neq 0$  for  $(x_1, x_2)$  on  $\widehat{ABCD}$ , so  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  cannot move from D to  $\mathbb{R}^n/\mathcal{D}$ , crossing the curve  $\widehat{ABCD}$ . Further,

$$\frac{dW_1}{dt}\Big|_{(5.1.3)} = \frac{dx_1}{dt}\Big|_{x_1 = -\beta} = x_2 > 0 \quad (x_2 \neq 0, x_1 \text{ on } \overline{DE}).$$

So  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  cannot move from  $\mathcal{D}$  to  $\mathbb{R}^n/\mathcal{D}$  crossing line  $\overline{DE}$ .

On the line  $\overline{AE}$ ,  $x_1 \leq 0$  and  $-x_1 = \beta + \frac{x_2}{a} < \beta$  ( $x_2 \neq 0$ ) when  $0 < \beta < b$ . Thus,  $b + x_1 > 0$  ( $x_2 \neq 0$ ). Hence,  $\frac{dW_2}{dt}|_{(5.1.3)} = -x_1(b + x_1) > 0$  ( $x_2 \neq 0$ ) for ( $x_1, x_2$ ) on line  $\overline{AE}$ . So  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  cannot cross the line  $\overline{AE}$  moving from  $\mathcal{D}$  to  $\mathbb{R}^n/\mathcal{D}$ .

Therefore,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = ax_2^2, \qquad E = \{x_2 = 0\}, \qquad M = \{0, 0\},$$

i.e., when  $0 < \beta < b$ ,  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ . As a result, the zero solution of (5.1.3) is asymptotically stable.

REMARK 5.1.7. Compare LaSalle invariant principle with the Barabashin– Krasovskii Theorem 4.6.10, the former, theoretically, is more general and it does not request  $V(x) \ge 0$ , but only requires  $\frac{dV}{dt} \le 0$ . If  $M = \{0\}$ , then the absorbing area  $\mathcal{D}$  is given by invariant principle, yet generally, the structure of the maximum invariant set may be very complicated, and the Barabashin–Krasovskii Theorem 4.6.10 is much convenient in verifying the conditions.

#### 5.2. Comparability theory

The basic theorems of the Lyapunov direct method and some generalization presented in Chapter 4 can solve many problems in practice, but some problems are still very hard to solve. Among other methods, the comparability method (or called comparability theory) is the most useful theory and is widely used in applications.

First, we use the following simple example to explain the basic idea of this method.

EXAMPLE 5.2.1. Consider the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = (-3 + 8\sin t)x_1 + \frac{4}{5}(\sin t)x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = \frac{6}{5}(\cos t)x_1 + (-3 + 8\sin t)x_2. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.1)

If we choose the Lyapunov function, given by

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \left( x_1^2 + x_2^2 \right)$$

Then,

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.2.1)} = (-3 + 8\sin t)x_1^2 + \frac{4}{5}(\sin t)x_1x_2 + \frac{6}{5}(\cos t)x_1x_2 + (-3 + 8\sin t)x_2^2.$$
(5.2.2)

Obviously, the sign of  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.2.1)}$  can be positive or negative. So we cannot use the theorems in Chapter 4 to determine the stability of the zero solution of (5.2.1).

Now we change (5.2.2) to the following inequality:

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.2.1)} \leq (-3 + 8\sin t)x_1^2 + x_1^2 + x_2^2 + (-3 + 8\sin t)x_2^2 
= (-2 + 8\sin t)x_1^2 + (-2 + 8\sin t)x_2^2 
\leq 2(-2 + 8\sin t)V.$$
(5.2.3)

Then, we have

$$V(t, x(t)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) e^{2\int_{t_0}^t (-2+8\sin s)\,ds} \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty.$$
 (5.2.4)

From (5.2.4), we can conclude that the zero solution of (5.2.1) is asymptotically stable. However, note that

$$V(t_0, x_0)e^{2\int_{t_0}^t (-2+8\sin s)\,ds}$$

is actually just the solution of the following differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dU}{dt} = 2(-2+8\sin t)U, \\ U(t_0) = V(t_0, x_0). \end{cases}$$
(5.2.5)

This example tells us that combining the Lyapunov function with comparison principle can lead to a more general conclusion on stability.

In the following, we present the general comparison principle. Consider the general *n*-dimensional nonautonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{5.2.6}$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f = (f_1, f_2, \dots, f_n)^T \in [I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ , which assures the uniqueness of solution of (5.2.6) and  $f(t, 0) \equiv 0$ . For comparison, consider a scale differential equation:

$$\frac{dU}{dt} = g(t, U), \tag{5.2.7}$$

where  $g \in C[I \times R^+, R^1]$ ,  $g(t, 0) \equiv 0$  if and only if U = 0.

THEOREM 5.2.2. If there exists positive definite function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^+]$ , which satisfies the Lipschitz condition for x, and  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$ , further,

 $D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.2.6)} \le g(t,V),$ 

then the following conclusions hold:

- (1) the stability of the zero solution of (5.2.7) implies the stability of the zero solution of (5.2.6);
- (2) *if V has infinitesimal upper bound, then the uniform stability of the zero so-lution of* (5.2.7) *implies the uniform stability of the zero solution of* (5.2.6);
- (3) *the asymptotic stability of the zero solution of* (5.2.7) *implies the asymptotic stability of* (5.2.6);
- (4) *if V has infinitesimal upper bound, then the uniform asymptotic stability of the zero solution of* (5.2.7) *implies the uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution of* (5.2.6);
- (5) *if there exist constants* a > 0, b > 0 *such that*

$$a\|x\|^{b} \leqslant V(t,x), \tag{5.2.8}$$

and V has infinitesimal upper bound, then the exponential stability of the zero solution of (5.2.7) implies the exponential stability of the zero solution of (5.2.6);

(6) *if there exist*  $\varphi$ ,  $\psi \in KR$  such that

$$\varphi(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \psi(\|x\|), \tag{5.2.9}$$

then the globally uniformly asymptotic stability of the zero solution of (5.2.7) implies the same type stability of the zero solution of (5.2.6).

PROOF. (1) Since V(t, x) is positive definite, there exists  $\phi(||x||) \in K$  such that  $V(t, x) \ge \varphi(||x||)$ . Further, since the zero solution of (5.2.7) is stable,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I, \exists \delta^*(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $0 < U_0 < \delta^*$ , we have

 $U(t, t_0, U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon).$ 

By the continuity of V(t, x) and  $V(t, 0) \equiv 0$ , for the above  $\delta^* > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$  such that when  $||x_0|| < \delta$ , it holds

$$0 < V(t_0, x_0) < \delta^*$$
.

Let  $V(t) := V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$ . Then, we have

$$\begin{cases} D^+ V(t)|_{(5.2.6)} \leqslant g(t, V(t)), \\ V(t_0, x_0) := V_0. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.10)

Consider the comparison equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dU}{dt} = g(t, U(t)), \\ U(t_0) = U_0 := V_0. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.11)

By Theorem 1.5.1 we obtain

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq U(t, t_0, V_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon),$$

i.e.,  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ . So the zero solution of (5.2.6) is stable.

(2) Owing to V(t, x) with infinitesimal upper bound, there exist  $\varphi, \psi \in K$  such that

$$\varphi(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \psi(\|x\|).$$

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \varphi(\varepsilon) > 0$ , for this  $\varphi(\varepsilon), \exists \delta(\varepsilon)$  such that when  $||x_0|| < \delta$ , we have

$$U_0 := V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \psi(||x_0||) < \psi(\delta(\varepsilon)),$$
  
$$U(t, t_0, U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon).$$

With a similar method used in the proof of (1) we can show that

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t)) \leqslant U(t, t_0, U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon),$$
(5.2.12)

which implies  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$  when  $||x_0|| < \varepsilon$ . Thus, the zero solution of (5.2.6) is uniformly stable.

(3) Choose  $\sigma(t_0) > 0$ . When  $||U_0|| < \sigma(t_0)$ , from (5.2.10), (5.2.11) and Theorem 1.5.1, we have

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq U(t, t_0, U_0) \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

So the zero solution of (5.2.6) is asymptotically stable.

(4) Obviously, the conditions assure that the zero solution of (5.2.6) is uniformly stable. Since the zero solution of (5.2.7) is uniformly asymptotically stable,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \eta > 0$  and  $T(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that when  $0 < U_0 < \eta$ ,  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$ , it holds

 $0 < U(t, t_0, U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon).$ 

Further, choose  $\delta_0$ ,  $U_0$ ,  $x_0$  such that

 $U_0 = V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \psi(\|x_0\|) < \psi(\delta_0) \leqslant \eta.$ 

Thus, by (5.2.10), (5.2.12) and Theorem 1.5.1 we have

$$\varphi(||x(t)||) \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq U(t, t_0, U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon).$$

Therefore,  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$  when  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$ , i.e., the zero solution of (5.2.6) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

(5) According to the exponential stability of the zero solution of (5.2.7), there exists constant  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \eta(\varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $0 < U_0 < \eta(\varepsilon)$  we have

$$U(t, t_0, U_0) \leqslant \varepsilon e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \quad \forall t \ge t_0.$$

Take  $U_0 = V(t_0, x_0) \leq \psi(||x_0||) < \psi(\delta(\varepsilon)) \leq \eta(\varepsilon)$ . Then, by (5.2.10), (5.2.12) and Theorem 1.5.1 we obtain

$$a \| x(t, t_0, x_0) \|^b \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq U(t, t_0, U_0) \leq \varepsilon e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)},$$

i.e.,

$$\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\| \leq \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{a}\right)^{1/b} e^{-\frac{a}{b}(t-t_0)}.$$

So the zero solution of (5.2.6) is exponentially stable.

(6) In this case, the conditions and conclusion of (2) hold. Thus, the zero solution of (5.2.6) is uniformly stable. Then, we need to prove the uniform boundedness of all solutions of (5.2.6).  $\forall r > 0$ , for  $\varphi(r) > 0$ , when  $0 \leq U_0 < \varphi(r)$ ,  $\exists \tilde{\beta}(r)$  such that

$$U(t, t_0, U_0) < \tilde{\beta}(r).$$

So when  $||x_0|| < r$ ,

$$U_0 = V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \psi(||x_0||) < \psi(r),$$

It follows from (5.2.10), (5.2.12) and Theorem 1.5.1 that

$$\varphi\big(\big\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t,x(t,t_0,x_0)\big) \leqslant U(t,t_0,U_0) < \tilde{\beta}(r),$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| < \varphi^{-1}\big(\tilde{\beta}(r)\big) := \beta(r).$$

This mean that all solutions of (5.2.6) are uniformly bounded.

Next, we prove the globally uniform attraction of the zero solution of (5.2.6).  $\forall \varepsilon, \alpha > 0, t_0 \in I$  then for  $\varphi(\varepsilon) > 0, \psi(\alpha) > 0$  and fixed  $\varepsilon, \alpha$ , there exists  $T(\varepsilon, \alpha) > 0$  such that when  $0 < U_0 < \psi(\alpha), t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, \alpha)$ , it holds

$$U(t, t_0, U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon)$$

Take  $U_0 = V(t_0, x_0) \leq \psi(||x_0||) < \psi(\alpha)$ . By (5.2.10), (5.2.12) and Theorem 1.5.1 we get

$$\varphi(\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\|) \leq V(t,x(t)) \leq U(t,t_0,U_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon).$$

It follows that

 $\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| < \varepsilon$ 

which indicates that the zero solution of (5.2.6) is globally, uniformly and asymptotically stable.

The proof of Theorem 5.2.2 is complete.

THEOREM 5.2.3. Let  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times B_{\sigma}, R^n]$ ,  $g(t, u) \in C[I \times B_{\delta}, R^1]$ , and there exists positive definite  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times B_{\sigma}, R^1]$ , with infinitesimal upper bound, such that

$$D_+V|_{(5,2,6)} \ge g(t, V), \quad (t, x) \in I \times B_{\delta},$$

then the instability of the zero solution of (5.2.7) implies the instability of the zero solution of (5.2.6).

PROOF. Since V(t, x) admits infinitesimal upper bound, there exists  $\varphi \in K$  such that

$$\varphi(\|x\|) \geqslant V(t,x).$$

By the instability of the zero solution of (5.2.7),  $\exists \varepsilon_0, \forall \delta > 0, \forall t_0 \in I, \exists t_1 > t_0, \exists U_0 > 0, U_0 < \delta$  such that

 $U(t_1, t_0, U_0) \ge \varphi(\varepsilon_0).$ 

Take  $U_0 = V(t_0, x_0)$ . Applying (5.2.10), (5.2.12) and Theorem 1.5.1 yields

$$\varphi(\|x(t_1)\|) \ge V(t_1, x(t_1)) \ge U(t_1, t_0, U_0) \ge \varphi(\varepsilon_0).$$

Hence,  $||x(t_1)|| \ge \varepsilon_0$ , i.e., the zero solution of (5.2.6) is unstable.

REMARK 5.2.4. The conclusion of the comparison Theorem 5.2.2 can include the sufficient condition of Lyapunov stability Theorem 4.2.1 as particular. The great advantage of the comparison method does not require the sign invariant of  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ . However, this does not imply the Lyapunov asymptotic stability Theorem 4.3.1 and Barabashin–Krasovskii Theorem 4.6.10 which require  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$ . By comparison theorems, one can only obtain the conclusion of stability. The failure of the comparison method is usually due to the request that the expression has to be given in a function form g(t, V) for variables t, V. Sometimes this is very difficult.

Figure 5.2.1 shows the idea of the comparison method. We summarize various cases as follows:

176



Figure 5.2.1. Illustration of the comparison method with respect to the Lyapunov direct method.

- (1) when  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$ , the stability of the zero solution of the system can be determined;
- (2) the comparison method can be used to determine stability of the system;
- (3) the comparison method can be used to determine asymptotic stability of the system;
- (4) when  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$ , the asymptotic stability of the system can be determined.

## 5.3. Lagrange stability

In this section, we study another type of stability—Lagrange stability. We can still use the Lyapunov direct method to analyze this stability.

Consider again the *n*-dimensional nonautonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{5.3.1}$$

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^n]$ . Assume that the solution of (5.3.1) is unique.

DEFINITION 5.3.1. If every solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of (5.3.1) is bounded, i.e., there exists a constant  $\beta(t_0, x_0) > 0$  such that

 $\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq \beta(t_0, x_0) \quad \forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n,$ 

then the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  is said to be Lagrange stable, or bounded.

DEFINITION 5.3.2. If  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ , there exists  $\beta(t_0, \alpha) > 0$  such that  $\forall x_0 \in S_\alpha := \{x, ||x|| \leq \alpha\}$  it holds

 $\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\| \leq \beta(t_0,\alpha) \quad (t \geq t_0),$ 

then the solution of (5.3.1) is said to be equi-Lagrange stable or equi-bounded. If the above  $\beta(t_0, \alpha) = \beta(\alpha)$ , independent of  $t_0$ , then the solution of (5.3.1) is said to be uniformly Lagrange stable or uniformly bounded.

THEOREM 5.3.3. The solution of (5.3.1) is Lagrange stable if and only if there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^1]$  such that

(1)  $V(t, x) \ge \varphi(||x||)$  for  $\varphi(||x||) \in KR$ ;

(2) for every solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ ,  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is not an increasing function of t.

PROOF. Sufficiency. When the conditions are satisfied, we have

$$\varphi\big(\big\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t,x(t,t_0,x_0)\big) \leqslant V(t_0,x_0),$$

so

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq \varphi^{-1} (V(t_0, x_0)) := \beta(t_0, x_0) \quad (t \ge t_0),$$

i.e., the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  is Lagrange stable.

*Necessity.* Let an arbitrary solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  be bounded on  $[t_0, +\infty)$ . Let

$$V(t, x) = \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t + \tau, t, x_0)\|^2 \ge \|x(t, t, x)\|^2 = \|x\|^2 := \varphi(\|x\|).$$

Obviously,  $\varphi(||x||) \in KR$ . So condition (1) is satisfied.

Next,  $\forall t_1, t_2 \in I$ , let  $t_0 < t_1 < t_2$ . By the uniqueness of the solution,  $x(t, t_2, x(t_2, t_0, x_0))$  is a continuation of  $x(t, t_1, x(t_1, t_0, x_0))$ , so we have

$$V(t_{1}, x(t_{1}, t_{0}, x_{0})) = \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \left\| x(t_{1} + \tau, t_{1}, x(t_{1}, t_{0}, x_{0})) \right\|^{2}$$
  
=  $\max \left[ \sup_{0 \le \tau \le t_{2} - t_{1}} \left\| x(t_{1} + \tau, t_{1}, x(t_{1}, t_{0}, x_{0})) \right\|^{2}, \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \left\| x(t_{2} + \tau, t_{2}, x(t_{2}, t_{0}, x_{0})) \right\|^{2} \right]$   
$$\ge \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \left\| x(t_{2} + \tau, t_{2}, x(t_{2}, t_{0}, x_{0})) \right\|^{2}$$
  
=  $V(t_{2}, x(t_{2}, t_{0}, x_{0})).$ 

This means that condition (2) is satisfied.

REMARK 5.3.4. Condition (2) in Theorem 5.3.3 is very hard to verify. If  $V(t, x) \in C^1[I \times R^n, R]$ , then condition (2), as a sufficient condition, can be replaced by  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.3.1)} \leq 0$ .

EXAMPLE 5.3.5. Discuss the Lagrange stability for the following system:

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2} + p(t)\frac{dx}{dt} + q(t)f(x) = 0,$$
(5.3.2)

where  $p(t) \in C[I, R], q(t) \in C^{1}[I, R], f(x) \in C[R, R]$ , satisfying

(1) 
$$0 < q(t) \leq M = \text{constant};$$
  
(2)  $p(t) \geq -\frac{q'(t)}{2q(t)};$   
(3)  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} f(x) dx = +\infty.$ 

Then, an arbitrary solution x(t) and its derivative  $\dot{x}(t)$  are bounded.

PROOF. Rewrite (5.3.2) as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = y, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -p(t)y - q(t)f(x). \end{cases}$$
(5.3.3)

Let

$$V(t, x, y) = \int_{0}^{x} f(\xi) d\xi + \frac{y^2}{2q(t)}.$$

According to condition (1), we have

$$V(t, x, y) \ge \int_{0}^{x} f(\xi) d\xi + \frac{y^2}{2M} = W(x, y) \to +\infty$$
  
when  $x^2 + y^2 \to +\infty$ .

So there exists  $\varphi \in KR$  such that

$$V(t, x, y) \ge \varphi(x^2 + y^2)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} D^{+}V(t, x(t), y(t))\big|_{(5.3.3)} &= f(x(t))y(t) + \frac{y(t)}{q(t)}\frac{dy}{dt} - \frac{y^{2}(t)\dot{q}(t)}{2q^{2}(t)} \\ &= f(x(t))y(t) - \frac{y(t)}{q(t)}\{p(t)y(t) + q(t)f(x(t))\} - \frac{y^{2}(t)\dot{q}(t)}{2q^{2}(t)} \\ &= -\frac{y^{2}(t)}{q(t)}\left[p(t) + \frac{\dot{q}(t)}{2q(t)}\right] \\ &\leqslant 0, \end{aligned}$$

indicating that x(t) and  $y(t) = \dot{x}(t)$  are bounded on *I*.

THEOREM 5.3.6. The solution of (5.3.1) is equi-Lagrange stable if and only if there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^1]$  such that

(1)  $V(t, x) \ge \varphi(||x||)$  for  $\varphi \in KR$ ;

(2) for every solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ ,  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is not increasing;

(3)  $\forall \alpha > 0, \exists \beta(t, \alpha) > 0, \forall x \in S_{\alpha} := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq \alpha\}, V(t, x) \leq \beta(t, \alpha) holds.$ 

PROOF. *Sufficiency*. Choose a Lyapunov function V(t, x) which satisfies the conditions of Theorem 5.3.6. By condition (3),  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall x_0 \in S_\alpha := \{x_0 \mid ||x_0|| \leq \alpha\}, \exists \beta(t_0, \alpha) > 0$  such that

$$V(t_0, x_0) < \varphi(\beta(t_0, \alpha)).$$

Then, by the conditions (1) and (2), we have

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t)) \leqslant V(t_0, x(t_0)) \leqslant \varphi(\beta(t_0, \alpha)),$$

so

$$|x(t)|| \leq \varphi^{-1}(\beta(t_0,\alpha)) = \beta(t_0,\alpha),$$

i.e., the solution of (5.3.1) is equi-Lagrange stable or equi-bounded.

Necessity. Suppose the solution of (5.3.1) is equi-Lagrange stable. Let

$$V(t, x) = \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t + \tau, t, x)\|^2.$$

Then, for any fixed t, on any compact set  $||x|| \leq \alpha$ , V(t, x) is bounded, i.e., condition (3) holds and

$$V(t,x) \ge ||x||^2 := \varphi(||x||) \in KR.$$

So condition (1) is true.

Following the proof of Theorem 5.3.3, it is easy to prove that  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is a monotonically nonincreasing function. Thus, condition (2) holds.

 $\square$ 

The proof of Theorem 5.3.6 is complete.

COROLLARY 5.3.7. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  such that

(1)  $V(t, x) \ge \varphi(||x||)$  for  $\varphi \in KR$ ; (2)  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.3.1)} \le 0$ ;

then the solution of (5.3.2) is equi-Lagrange stable.

PROOF. Choose a Lyapunov function V(t, x), which satisfies the conditions of Corollary 5.3.7. Since  $V(t_0, x)$  is continuous,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ , on any compact set,  $V(t_0, x)$  is bounded. Thus,  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall x_0 \in S_\alpha := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq \alpha\}, \exists \beta(t_0, \alpha) > 0$  such that

$$V(t_0, x) \leqslant \varphi \big( \beta(t_0, \alpha) \big).$$

By the conditions we have

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0) < \varphi(\beta(t_0, \alpha)),$$

so

$$|x(t)| \leq \beta(t_0, \alpha),$$

i.e., the solution of (5.3.1) is equi-Lagrange stable.

EXAMPLE 5.3.8. Consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = 0, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -z|x|, \\ \frac{dz}{dt} = yx^2, \end{cases}$$
(5.3.4)

and study the Lagrange stability of the solution of the system, with the initial condition  $(0, x_0, y_0, z_0)$ . Obviously, if  $x_0 = 0$ , then x(t) = 0,  $y(t) = y_0$ ,  $z(t) = z_0$ ; if  $x_0 \neq 0$ , then the solution is given by

$$\begin{cases} x = x_0, \\ y = y_0 \cos \sqrt{|x_0|^3} t - \frac{z_0}{\sqrt{|x_0|}} \sin \sqrt{|x_0|^3} t, \\ z = y_0 \sqrt{|x_0|} \sin \sqrt{|x_0|^3} t + z_0 \cos \sqrt{|x_0|^3} t. \end{cases}$$

So every solution is bounded. But when  $|x_0| \ll 1$ ,  $|y| \gg 1$ , it indicates that the solution of (5.3.4) is not equi-Lagrange stable.

REMARK 5.3.9. The condition  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^1]$  in Theorem 5.3.3 can be changed to  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega^H, \mathbb{R}^1]$ , where  $\Omega^H = \{x \mid ||x|| \ge H\}$ .

THEOREM 5.3.10. If f(t, x) satisfies the Lipschitz condition for x, i.e.,

 $||f(t, x) - f(x, y)|| \le L||x - y||,$ 

then  $\forall x, y \in S_{\alpha} = \{x, \|x\| \leq \alpha\}$ , the solution of (5.3.1) is uniformly Lagrange stable if and only if there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R]$  such that

(1)  $\varphi_1(||x||) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||)$  for  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in KR$ ; (2)  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.3.1)} \leq 0$ .

PROOF. Sufficiency.  $\forall \alpha > 0$ , choose  $\beta(\alpha)$  such that  $\varphi_2(\alpha) < \varphi_1(\beta)$ . Therefore,  $\forall x_0 \in S_\alpha := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq \alpha\}$ , by the conditions (1) and (2), we have

$$\varphi_1\big(\big\|x(t)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)\big) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \varphi_2\big(\|x_0\|\big) \leqslant \varphi_2(\alpha) < \varphi_1(\beta).$$

So  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \beta$  where  $\beta$  is independent of  $t_0$  and  $x_0$ . As a result, the solution of (5.3.1) is uniformly Lagrange stable.

 $\Box$ 

Necessity. (1) Let

$$V(t,x) := (1 + e^{-t}) \inf_{t_0 \le \tau \le t} \|x(\tau,t,x)\|^2.$$

Obviously, V(t, x) is continuous and

$$V(t, x) \leq 2 \|x(t, t, x)\|^2 = 2 \|x\|^2 := \varphi_2(\|x\|)$$

Following the proof of Theorem 4.2.1, one can show that V(t, x) is positive definite. So there exists  $\varphi_1(||x||)$  such that

 $\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x).$ 

Hence, condition (1) holds.

(2) Along the arbitrary solution  $x(t, t_0, a)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} V(t_2) &:= V(t_2, x(t_2, t_0, \alpha)) := (1 + e^{-t_2}) \inf_{t_0 \leqslant \tau \leqslant t_2} \|x(\tau, t_2, x(t_2, t_0, \alpha))\| \\ &= (1 + e^{-t_2}) \inf_{t_0 \leqslant \tau \leqslant t_2} \|x(\tau, t_0, \alpha)\| \\ &\leqslant (1 + e^{-t_1}) \inf_{t_0 \leqslant \tau \leqslant t_1} \|x(\tau, t_0, \alpha)\| \\ &= V(t_1). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, V(t) is a continuously monotone decreasing function. Thus, we have

 $D^+V(t)|_{(5,3,1)} \leq 0,$ 

and so condition (2) is satisfied.

The theorem is proved.

EXAMPLE 5.3.11. Study the uniform Lagrange stability of the following system:

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2} + f(x, \dot{x})\frac{dx}{dt} + g(x) = p(t).$$
(5.3.5)

 $\square$ 

Assume that

- (1) f(x, y), g(x) are continuous with respect to all variables; (2) p(t) is continuous on I and  $\int_0^{+\infty} |p(t)| dt < +\infty$ ;
- (3)  $f(x, y) \ge 0$  for all x, y; (4)  $G(x) := \int_0^x g(u) \, du > 0 \, \forall x \neq 0$ , and  $G(x) \to +\infty$  as  $x \to \infty$ .

Then, the solution x(t) and its derivative  $\dot{x}(t)$  are uniformly bounded.

PROOF. Rewrite (5.3.5) as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = y, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -f(x, y)y - g(x) + p(t). \end{cases}$$
(5.3.6)

Now take

$$V(t, x, y) = \sqrt{y^2 + 2G(x)} - \int_0^t |p(s)| \, ds.$$

When  $x^2 + y^2 \ge k^2 \gg 1$ , it holds

$$\varphi_1(x^2 + y^2) := \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{y^2 + 2G(x)} \leqslant V(t, x, y) \leqslant \sqrt{y^2 + 2G(x)}$$
$$:= \varphi_2(x^2 + y^2)$$

and

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.3.6)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{y^2 + 2G(t)}} \Big\{ g(x)y + y \Big( -f(x, y)y - g(x) + p(t) \Big) \Big\} \\ - \big| p(t) \big| \le 0.$$

So all conditions of Theorem 5.3.10 are satisfied. This implies that the solution x(t) and its derivative  $\dot{x}(t)$  are uniformly bounded.

In the following, we introduce a theorem which is convenience in for certain applications. Consider the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = F(t, x, y), \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = G(t, x, y), \end{cases}$$
(5.3.7)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $F(t, x, y) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m]$ ,  $G(t, x, y) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m]$ ,  $\mathbb{R}^m$ ].

THEOREM 5.3.12. (See [418].) If there exists  $V(t, x, y) \in C[I \times \Omega^H, R^1]$  such that

- (1)  $V(t, x, y) \rightarrow +\infty$  as  $||y|| \rightarrow +\infty$  holds uniformly for (t, x);
- (2)  $V(t, x, y) \leq b(||x||, ||y||)$ , where b(r, s) is continuous positive function;
- (3)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5,3,7)} \leq 0$  where  $\Omega^H := \{x, y \mid ||x||^2 + ||y||^2 \ge H > 0\}.$

Further, for every M > 0, there exists  $W(t, x, y) \in C[I \times \Omega^M, R]$  such that

- (4)  $W(t, x, y) \Rightarrow +\infty \text{ as } ||x|| \rightarrow +\infty \text{ holds for } (x, y);$
- (5)  $W(t, x, y) \leq c(||x||)$ , where c(r) is continuous positive function;
- (6)  $\frac{dW}{dt}|_{(5,3,7)} \leq 0$ , where  $\Omega^M := \{x, y, \|x\| \ge K(M), \|y\| \le M\}, K \gg 1$ .

Then the solution of (5.3.6) is uniformly Lagrange stable.

PROOF. Let  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0, y_0)$ ,  $y(t) := y(t, t_0, x_0, y_0)$  be solutions of (5.3.6) with the initial values  $||x_0|| + ||y_0|| \le \alpha \ (\alpha > H)$ . Choose  $\beta(\alpha) \gg 1$ 

such that

$$l = \sup_{\substack{\|x\|+\|y\|=\alpha\\t\in I}} V(t, x, y) \leq \sup_{\substack{\|x\|+\|y\|=\alpha\\t\in I}} b(\|x\|, \|y\|) < \inf_{\substack{\|y\|=\beta\\t\in I}} V(t, x, y).$$

This is possible under the conditions (1) and (2). By condition (3) we know that  $||x_0||^2 + ||y_0||^2 \leq \alpha^2$  which implies

$$\|y(t, t_0, x_0, y_0)\| < \beta(\alpha).$$
(5.3.8)

Otherwise, there exists  $t_1 > t_0$  such that

 $||y(t_1, t_0, x_0, y_0)|| = \beta(\alpha).$ 

On one band, it holds

$$V(t_1, x(t_1), y(t_1)) \leq V(t_0, x_0, y_0) \leq l;$$

while on the other hand, we have

$$V(t_1, x(t_1), y(t_1)) \ge \inf_{\|y\|=\beta} V(t, x(t), y(t)) = L > l.$$

This means that (5.3.8) is true.

Now consider  $W(t, x, y) \in C[I \times \Omega^{k_1(\beta)}, R^1]$ , where  $\Omega^{K_1(\beta)} = \{x, y \mid ||x|| \ge 1$  $K_1(\beta), ||y|| \leq \beta$ . Let  $\alpha^* = \max\{\alpha, K_1(\beta)\}$  and  $r \gg 1$  such that

$$\sup_{\substack{t \in I \\ \|x\| = \alpha^*, \|y\| \le \beta}} \left\{ W(t, x, y) \right\} < \inf_{\substack{t \in I \\ \|x\| = \gamma, \|y\| \le \beta}} \left\{ W(t, x, y) \right\}.$$

This is possible under condition (4). From condition (6) we obtain  $||x(t)|| < \gamma(\alpha)$ . For all  $t \ge t_0$ ,

$$\|x(t)\| < \gamma(\alpha), \qquad \|y(t)\| < \beta(\alpha)$$

Therefore, the solution of (5.3.8) is uniformly Lagrange stable.

Theorem 5.3.12 is proved.

EXAMPLE 5.3.13. Consider the Lagrange stability of the solution of the equation:

$$\frac{d^2x}{dt^2} + f(x)\frac{dx}{dt} + g(x) = p(t).$$
(5.3.9)

 $\Box$ 

Assume that

- (1)  $f(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^1, \mathbb{R}^1]$  and  $F(x) := \int_0^x f(u) \, du \to +\infty$  as  $x \to \pm\infty$ ;
- (2)  $g(x) \in C[R^1, R^1]$  and xg(x) > 0 for  $|x| > q \gg 1$ ; (3)  $p(t) \in C[I, R^1]$  and  $p(t) := \int_0^t p(\xi) d\xi$  is bounded.

Then, the solution and its derivative are uniformly bounded.

PROOF. Consider the equivalent system of (5.3.9), given by

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = y - F(x) + p(t), \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -g(x). \end{cases}$$
(5.3.10)

Choose constants  $\alpha > 0, b > 0$ . Let

$$G(x) = \int_{0}^{x} g(u) \, du, \qquad U(x, y) = G(x) + \frac{y^2}{2}.$$

Let

$$V(t, x, y) = \begin{cases} U(x, y) & (x \ge a, |y| < \infty), \\ U(x, y) - x + a & (|x| \le a, y \ge b), \\ U(x, y) + 2a & (x \le -a, y \ge b), \\ U(x, y) + \frac{2a}{b}y & (x \le -a, |y| < b), \\ U(x, y) - 2a & (x \le -a, y \le -b), \\ U(x, y) + x - a & (|x| \le a, y \le -b). \end{cases}$$

It is easy to see that V(t, x, y) satisfies the conditions (1), (2) and (3) of Theorem 5.3.12. For appropriate  $k_1$ , on  $|x| > k_1(M)$  and  $|y| \le M$  define a function W(t, x, y) := |x|, which satisfies the conditions (3), (4) and (5). Since y(t), F(x(t)) and |p(t)| are bounded, the solution and its derivative are thus uniformly bounded, i.e., the solution of (5.3.9) is uniformly Lagrange stable.

REMARK 5.3.14. This example provides a good idea, that is, applying different Lyapunov functions for different regions of state variables, and then summarizing the results solves the global boundedness of the system.

#### 5.4. Lagrange asymptotic stability

Consider the general *n*-dimensional nonautonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x),\tag{5.4.1}$$

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ , f(t, x) assumes the uniqueness of the solution of (5.4.1).

DEFINITION 5.4.1. If there exists a constant B > 0 such that every solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of (5.4.1) satisfies  $\overline{\lim}_{h\to+\infty} ||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq B$ , i.e., there exists a constant  $T(t_0, x_0) > 0$ , when  $t \ge t_0 + T(t_0, x_0)$  it holds  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| < B$ . Then, (5.4.1) is said to be Lagrange asymptotically stable; or the system is called a dissipative system with the limit bound B. DEFINITION 5.4.2. If there exists a constant B > 0,  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall x_0 \in S_{\alpha} := \{x, \|x\| \leq \alpha\}$  such that  $\overline{\lim}_{h \to +\infty} \|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leq B$  holds uniformly for any  $x_0 \in S_{\alpha}$ , i.e.,  $\exists T(t_0, \alpha) > 0$  such that

$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| < B$$

when  $t \ge t_0 + T(t_0, \alpha)$ . Then, (5.4.1) is said to be an equi-dissipative system with limit bound *B*; or system (5.4.1) is said to be equi-Lagrange asymptotically stable.

DEFINITION 5.4.3. If in Definition 4.5.2  $T(t_0, \alpha) = T(\alpha)$  independent of  $t_0$ , then (5.4.1) is an uniformly dissipative system with limit bound *B*; or system (5.4.1) is said to be a uniformly Lagrange asymptotically stable. Here, X(t) = (x(t), y(t), z(t)).

REMARK 5.4.4. The dissipation propriety of a system is merely the attractive propriety of the set  $S_B := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq B\}$ .

THEOREM 5.4.5. System (5.4.1) is uniformly Lagrange asymptotically stable for bound B if and only if there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega^H]$  such that on  $[I \times \Omega^H]$  it holds:

(1)  $\varphi_1(||x||) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||)$  for  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$ ; (2)  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.4.1)} \leq -\psi(||x||)$  for  $\psi \in K$ , where  $\Omega^H := \{x \mid ||x|| \geq H\}$ , 0 < H < B.

PROOF. Sufficiency.  $\forall x_0 \in S_{\alpha} := \{x: \|x\| \leq \alpha\}, \alpha \geq H$ , choose  $\beta > B$  such that  $\varphi_2(\alpha) < \varphi_1(\beta)$ . Then, condition (2) of the theorem implies that

$$\varphi_{1}(\|x(t, t_{0}, x_{0})\|) \leq V(t, x(t, t_{0}, x_{0})) \leq V(t_{0}, x_{0})$$
  
$$\leq \varphi_{2}(\|x(t, t_{0}, x_{0})\|) \leq \varphi_{2}(\alpha) < \varphi_{1}(\beta).$$
(5.4.2)

Hence,

 $\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| < \beta \quad (t \ge t_0),$ 

i.e., the solution of (5.4.1) is uniformly Lagrange stable

Choose B > H,  $\forall \alpha > B$ ,  $\forall x_0 \in S_{\alpha} = \{x \mid ||x|| \leq \alpha\}$  there must exist  $t_1 > t_0$  such that

 $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| < B.$ 

If otherwise for all  $t \ge t_0$  it holds

$$B \leqslant \|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leqslant \beta.$$

Let  $c^* = c(\beta) = \inf_{B \le ||x|| \le \beta} c(||x||) > 0$ , then

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) - c^*(t - t_0) \to -\infty.$$
(5.4.3)

This is imposable, and so  $||x(t_1, t_0, x_0)|| < B$ . Again choose  $B^*$  satisfying  $B < B^* \leq \alpha$ . Let  $T(\alpha) = \frac{\varphi_2(\alpha) - \varphi_1(B^*)}{c^*} > 0$ . Then, we have

$$\varphi_1(\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$$
  
$$\leqslant V(t_0, x_0) - c^* \frac{\varphi_2(\alpha) - \varphi_1(B^*)}{c^*}$$
  
$$\leqslant \varphi_2(\|x_0\|) - \varphi_2(\alpha) + \varphi_1(B^*)$$
  
$$< \varphi_2(\alpha) - \varphi_2(\alpha) + \varphi_1(B^*)$$
  
$$= \varphi_1(B^*)$$

for  $t \ge t_0 + T(\alpha)$ . Hence,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \le B^*$ . This shows that system (5.4.1) is uniformly Lagrange asymptotically stable with the limit bound *B*.

*Necessity.* Suppose system (5.4.1) is uniformly Lagrange asymptotically stable with the limit bound *B*. Let  $M_B = \{x: ||x|| \leq B\}$  and  $d(p(t_0 + \tau, t_0, x_0), M_B)$  represent the distance from point  $p(t_0 + \tau, t_0, x_0)$  to set  $M_B$ . Then, one can apply Lemma 4.3.2 to show that there exist monotone increasing function  $\psi(\tau)$  with  $\psi(0) = 0$  and positive continuous decreasing function  $\sigma(t) \rightarrow 0$  (as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ ) such that

$$d(p(t_0+\tau, t_0, x_0), M_B) \leq \psi(d(x_0, M_B))\sigma(\tau).$$

Take  $\varphi(\tau) = \psi(\alpha - \beta)\sigma(\tau), \xi(\tau) \equiv 1$ . Then, there exists continuous increasing function G(r) defined on  $0 \leq r \leq \varphi(0) = \psi(\alpha - \beta)\sigma(0)$  with G(0) = 0. Let  $g(\tau) = G^2(\tau)$ . By the property of  $\psi$  and  $\sigma$  we know that

$$g\left(\psi\left(d(x_0, M_B)\right)\sigma(\tau - t)\right)$$

$$= \left[g\left(\psi\left(d(x_0, M_B)\right)\sigma(\tau - t)\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[g\left(\psi\left(d(x_0, M_B)\right)\sigma(\tau - t)\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\leq \left[g\left(\psi\left(d(x_0, M_B)\right)\sigma(0)\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[g\left(\psi(\alpha - \beta), \sigma(\tau - t)\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad (5.4.4)$$

when  $\tau \ge t$ ,  $d(x_0, M_B) < \alpha - \beta$ . Now we define the function:

$$V(t, x) = \int_{t}^{\infty} g(d(p(t_0 + \tau, t_0, x_0), M_B)) d\tau \ge 0.$$
 (5.4.5)

Then,

$$V(t,x) \leq \left[g\left(\psi\left(d(x,M_B)\right)\sigma(0)\right)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{t}^{\infty} g\left(\psi(\alpha-\beta),\sigma(\tau-t)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\tau$$

$$= G\left(\psi\left(d(x, M_B)\sigma(0)\right)\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} G\left(\psi(\alpha - \beta), \sigma(\tau)\right) d\tau$$
  
$$< G\left(\psi\left(d(x, M_B)\sigma(0)\right)\right) := \tilde{\varphi}_2(\|x\|),$$
  
$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.4.1)} = -G^2\left(d(x, M_B)\right) := c\left(\|x\|\right).$$

According to Theorem 5.3.10, there exists  $W(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^1]$  such that

- (1)  $\varphi_1(||x||) \leq W(t,x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||)$  for  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in KR$ ;
- (2)  $D^+W(t,x)|_{(5.4.1)} \leq 0.$

Let U(t, x) := V(t, x) + W(t, x). Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned}
\varphi_1(\|x\|) &\leqslant W(t,x) \leqslant U(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|) + b(\|x\|) := \tilde{\varphi}_2(\|x\|), \\
D^+U(t,x)|_{(5.4.1)} &\leqslant D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.4.1)} + D^+W(t,x)|_{(5.4.1)} \\
&\leqslant -c(\|x\|),
\end{aligned}$$
(5.4.6)

so all the conditions are satisfied. The necessity is proved, and the proof is complete.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## 5.5. Lagrange exponential stability of the Lorenz system

As we know, so far not much work has been done on the Lagrange globally exponential stability and even very little has been discussed on this topic in the literature. In this section, we introduce our new results on the Lagrange globally exponential stability of the well-known Lorenz chaotic system. The method given in this section may help study other chaotic systems.

Since Lorenz discovered the Lorenz chaotic attractor in 1963, extensive studies have been given to the well-known Lorenz system [294]:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = a(y - x),$$

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = cx - y - xz,$$

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = xy - bz,$$
(5.5.1)

where a, b and c are parameters. The typical parameter values for system (5.5.1) to exhibit a chaotic attractor are: a = 10, b = 8/3, c = 28. The Lorenz system has played a fundamental role in the area of nonlinear science and chaotic dynamics. Although everyone believes the existence of the Lorenz attractor, no rigorous mathematical proof has been given so far. This problem has been listed

as one of the fundamental mathematical problems, proposed by Smale [364] for the 21st century. This problem is extensively discussed with the aid of numerical computation. It has been realized that it is extremely difficult to obtain the information of the chaotic attractor directly from the differential equation (5.5.1). Most of the results in the literature are computer simulations. Even based on computation of Lyapunov exponents of the system, one needs to assume the system being bounded in order to conclude that the system is chaotic. Therefore, the study of the globally attractive set of the Lorenz system is not only theoretically significant, but also practically important.

Chen and Lü [69] proposed the following Lorenz family:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = (25\alpha + 10)(y - x) := a_{\alpha}(y - x),$$
  

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = (28 - 35\alpha)x - xz + (29\alpha - 1)y := d_{\alpha}x - xz + c_{\alpha}y,$$
  

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = xy - \frac{\alpha + 8}{3}y := xy - b_{\alpha}z,$$
(5.5.2)

where  $\alpha \in [0, 1/29)$ . In the following, we consider the globally exponentially Lagrange stability of systems (5.5.2) and (5.5.1).

Up to now, the concept of globally exponentially attractive set has not been formally proposed in the literature for studying the bounds of chaotic attractors. Thus, the convergent speed of trajectories from outside of the globally attractive set to the boundary of the set is unknown. In this section, we propose the concept of globally exponentially attractive set and apply it to obtain the exponential estimation of such set. Our results contain various existing results on the globally exponentially attractive set as special cases.

DEFINITION 5.5.1. If there exists a positive number  $L_{\lambda} > 0$ ,  $r_{\lambda} > 0$  and a generalized positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function for system (5.5.2) such that for  $\forall X_0 \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , it holds

$$V_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda} \leq (V_{\lambda}(X_0) - L_{\lambda})e^{-r_{\lambda}(t-t_0)}$$

when  $V_{\lambda}(X(t)) > L_{\lambda}$ ,  $t \ge t_0$ , then system (5.5.2) is said to be globally exponentially Lagrange stable.

THEOREM 5.5.2. Define

$$L_{\lambda} = \frac{b_{\alpha}^2 (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^2}{8(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}}$$

Then, we have estimation for the globally exponentially attractive set of system (5.5.2), given by

$$V_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda} \leq (V_{\lambda}(X_0) - L_{\lambda})e^{-2d_{\lambda}(t-t_0)}.$$

In particular, the set

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega_{\lambda} &= \left\{ X \mid V_{\lambda}(X) \leqslant L_{\lambda} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ X \mid \lambda x^{2} + y^{2} + (z - \lambda a_{\lambda} - c_{\lambda})^{2} \leqslant \frac{b_{\alpha}^{2} (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^{2}}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

is the globally attractive set of (5.5.2).

PROOF. Let  $f(z) = -(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})z^2 + (b_{\alpha} - 2d_{\alpha})(\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})z$ . Then, setting  $f'(z) = -2(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})z + (b_{\alpha} - 2d_{\alpha})(\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})$  zero yields

$$z_0 = \frac{(b_\alpha - 2d_\alpha)(\lambda a_\alpha + c_\alpha)}{2(b_\alpha - d_\alpha)}.$$

since  $b_{\alpha} > 2 > d_{\alpha}$ ,  $0 < d_{\alpha} \leq 1$ , it follows that  $z_0 > 0$  and  $f''(z_0) = -2(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha}) < 0$ . Thus,

$$\sup_{z \in R} f(z) = f(z_0) = \frac{\left[ (b_\alpha - 2d_\alpha)(\lambda a_\alpha + c_\alpha) \right]^2}{4(b_\alpha - d_\alpha)}.$$

Then, using the facts that  $a_{\alpha} > 1$  and  $0 < d_{\alpha} \leq 1$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV_{\lambda}}{dt}\Big|_{(5.5.2)} &= \lambda x^2 = y^2 + (z - \lambda a_{\alpha} - c_{\alpha})^2 \\ &= -\lambda x^2 - d_{\alpha} y^2 - d_{\alpha} z^2 + b_{\alpha} (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha}) z \\ &= -\lambda x^2 - d_{\alpha} y^2 - d_{\alpha} z^2 + 2d_{\alpha} (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha}) z \\ &- (b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha}) z^2 + (b_{\alpha} - 2d_{\alpha}) (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha}) z \\ &\leqslant -\lambda x^2 - d_{\alpha} y^2 - d_{\alpha} (z - \lambda a_{\alpha} - c_{\alpha})^2 + d_{\alpha} (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^2 + f(z) \\ &\leqslant -\lambda x^2 - d_{\alpha} y^2 - d_{\alpha} (z - \lambda a_{\alpha} - c_{\alpha})^2 + d_{\alpha} (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^2 + f(z_0) \\ &= -\lambda x^2 - d_{\alpha} y^2 - d_{\alpha} (z - \lambda a_{\alpha} - c_{\alpha})^2 + \frac{b_{\alpha}^2 (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^2}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})} \\ &\leqslant -\lambda x^2 - d_{\alpha} y^2 - d_{\alpha} (z - \lambda a_{\alpha} - c_{\alpha})^2 + \frac{b_{\alpha}^2 (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^2}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})} \\ &\leqslant -2d_{\alpha} V_{\lambda} + 2d_{\alpha} L_{\lambda} \\ &\leqslant 0 \quad \text{when } V_{\lambda} \geqslant L_{\lambda}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.5.3)

By comparison theorem and integrating both sides of (5.5.3) yields

$$V_{\lambda}(X(t)) \leq V_{\lambda}(X_{0})e^{-2d_{\alpha}(t-t_{0})} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-2d_{\alpha}(t-\tau)}2d_{\alpha}L_{\lambda}d\tau$$
  
=  $V_{\lambda}(X_{0})e^{-2d_{\alpha}(t-t_{0})} + L_{\lambda}(1-e^{-2d_{\alpha}(t-t_{0})}).$  (5.5.4)

So, if  $V_{\lambda}(X(t)) > L_{\lambda}$ ,  $t \ge t_0$ , we have the following estimation for the globally exponentially attractive set:

$$V_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda} \leq (V_{\lambda}(X_0) - L_{\lambda})e^{-2d_{\lambda}(t-t_0)}.$$

By the definition, taking the upper limit on both sides of the above inequality results in

$$\overline{\lim_{h\to\infty}} V_{\lambda}(X(t)) \leqslant L_{\lambda},$$

namely, the set

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega_{\lambda} &= \left\{ X \mid V_{\lambda}(X) \leqslant L_{\lambda} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ X \mid \lambda x^{2} + y^{2} + (z - \lambda a_{\lambda} - c_{\lambda})^{2} \leqslant \frac{b_{\alpha}^{2} (\lambda a_{\alpha} + c_{\alpha})^{2}}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}} \right\} \end{aligned}$$

is a globally exponentially attractive set, i.e., system (5.5.2) is Lagrange globally exponentially stable.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 5.5.3. Let

$$V_0 = \frac{1}{2} \left[ y^2 + (z - c_{\alpha})^2 \right] \quad and \quad L_0 = \frac{b_{\alpha}^2 c_{\alpha}^2}{8(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}}.$$

*Then, an estimation of the globally exponentially attractive set of the interval Lorenz system* (5.5.2) *is* 

$$\begin{cases} V_0(X(t)) - L_0 \leqslant (V_0(X_0) - L_0)e^{-2d_\alpha(t-t_0)} \\ \leqslant (V_0(X_0) - L_0)e^{-\min(2d_\alpha, a_\alpha)(t-t_0)}, \\ x^2(t) - 2L_0 \leqslant (x_0^2 - 2L_0)e^{-a_\alpha(t-t_0)} \leqslant (x_0^2 - 2L_0)e^{-\min(2d_\alpha, a_\alpha)(t-t_0)}. \end{cases}$$

Especially, the set

$$\Omega_0 = \left\{ X \left| \begin{matrix} V_0(X) \leqslant L_0 \\ x^2 \leqslant 2L_0 \end{matrix} \right\} = \left\{ X \left| \begin{matrix} y^2 + (z-c)^2 \leqslant \frac{b_\alpha^2 c_\alpha^2}{4(b_\alpha - d_\alpha)d_\alpha} \\ x^2 \leqslant \frac{b_\alpha^2 c_\alpha^2}{4(b_\alpha - d_\alpha)d_\alpha} \end{matrix} \right\} (5.5.5) \right\}$$

is the globally attractive and positive invariant set of (5.5.2), where X = (y, z), and so system (5.5.2) is Lagrange globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. Setting  $\lambda = 0$  in Theorem 5.5.2, we analogously obtain the estimation for the globally exponentially attractive set with respect to the variables *y* and *z*:

$$V_0(X(t)) - L_0 \leqslant (V_0(X_0) - L_0)e^{-2d_\alpha(t-t_0)}.$$
(5.5.6)

Then, taking upper limit on both sides of (5.5.6) leads to

$$\overline{\lim_{h\to\infty}} V_0(X(t)) \leqslant L_0,$$

i.e.,

$$\overline{\lim_{h\to\infty}} \left( y^2(t) + \left( z(t) - c_\alpha \right)^2 \right) \leqslant \frac{b_\alpha^2 c_\alpha^2}{4(b_\alpha - d_\alpha)d_\alpha} = 2L_0.$$

So, the estimation of the ultimate bound for *y* is

$$y^2 \leqslant 2L_0.$$

Next, for the first equation of system (5.5.2), we construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V = \frac{1}{2}x^2.$$

Then,

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.5.2)} = -a_{\alpha}x^2 + a_{\alpha}xy \leqslant -a_{\alpha}x^2 + a_{\alpha}|x||y|$$
$$= -a_{\alpha}x^2 + \frac{1}{2}a_{\alpha}x^2 + a_{\alpha}L_0 = -a_{\alpha}V + a_{\alpha}L_0.$$

Hence,

$$V(X(t)) - L_0 \leq (V(x_0) - L_0)e^{-a_{\alpha}(t-t_0)},$$
(5.5.7)

i.e.,

$$x^{2}(t) - \frac{b_{\alpha}^{2}c_{\alpha}^{2}}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}} \leqslant \left(x_{0}^{2} - \frac{b_{\alpha}^{2}c_{\alpha}^{2}}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}}\right)e^{-a_{\alpha}(t-t_{0})}.$$

Therefore, the ultimate bound is given by the upper limit

$$\lim_{h \to \infty} x^2(t) \leqslant \frac{b_{\alpha}^2 c_{\alpha}^2}{4(b_{\alpha} - d_{\alpha})d_{\alpha}} = 2L_0.$$

This implies that  $\Omega_0$  is a globally attractive and positive invariant set of (5.5.2).  $\Box$ 

Now, we return to system (5.5.1), but assume that the system parameters are defined as a > 0, b > 1, c > 0. For convenience, we call such system (5.5.1) the infinite interval Lorenz system family. Comparing with (5.5.2), though system (5.5.1) has one less parameter (d), its parameter values are unbounded and analysis is different from that of system (5.5.2). For certain values of the parameters, system (5.5.1) may be not chaotic. Here, we consider the globally exponentially attractive set of (5.5.1), regardless whether it is chaotic or not.

THEOREM 5.5.4. Let

$$\bar{V}_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} [\lambda x^2 + y^2 + (z - \lambda a - c)^2],$$
  
$$\bar{L}_{\lambda}^{(1)} = \frac{(\lambda a + c)^2 b^2}{8(b - 1)}, \quad \bar{L}_{\lambda}^{(2)} = \frac{(\lambda a + c)^2}{2}, \quad \bar{L}_{\lambda}^{(3)} = \frac{(\lambda a + c)^2 b^2}{8a(b - a)}.$$

*Then, the globally exponentially attractive and positive invariant sets of the infinite interval Lorenz system* (5.5.1) *are given by* 

$$\begin{split} \bar{V}_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda}^{(1)} &\leq \left(\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X_{0}) - L_{\lambda}^{(1)}\right)e^{-2(t-t_{0})} \quad \text{when } a \geq 1, \ b \geq 2, \\ \bar{V}_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda}^{(2)} &\leq \left(\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X_{0}) - L_{\lambda}^{(2)}\right)e^{-2b(t-t_{0})} \quad \text{when } a > \frac{b}{2}, \ b < 2, \\ \bar{V}_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda}^{(3)} &\leq \left(\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X_{0}) - L_{\lambda}^{(3)}\right)e^{-2a(t-t_{0})} \quad \text{when } 0 < a < 1, \ b \geq 2a. \end{split}$$

Especially, the sets

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega_{\lambda}^{(k)} &= \left\{ X \mid \bar{V}_{\lambda}(X) \leqslant L_{\lambda}^{(k)} \right\} \\ &= \left\{ X \mid \lambda x^{2} + y^{2} + (z - \lambda a - c)^{2} \leqslant 2L_{\lambda}^{(k)} \right\}, \quad k = 1, 2, 3, \end{aligned}$$

*are the estimations of the globally exponentially attractive and positive invariant sets of system* (5.5.1).

PROOF. Take

$$\bar{V}_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2} [\lambda x^2 + y^2 + (z - \lambda a - c)^2].$$

(1) When  $a \ge 1$ ,  $b \ge 2$ , analogous to the proof of (5.5.3), we have

$$\left. \frac{dV_{\lambda}}{dt} \right|_{(5.5.1)} \leqslant -\lambda x^2 - y^2 - (z - \lambda a - c)^2 + 2L_{\lambda}^{(1)} = -2\bar{V}_{\lambda} + 2L_{\lambda}^{(1)},$$

which yields

\_

$$\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda}^{(1)} \leqslant (\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X_0) - L_{\lambda}^{(1)})e^{-2(t-t_0)}.$$
(5.5.8)

(2) When  $a > \frac{b}{2}$ , b < 2, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left. \frac{dV_{\lambda}}{dt} \right|_{(5.5.1)} &\leqslant -\lambda a x^2 - y^2 - b z^2 + b(\lambda a + c) z \\ &\leqslant -\lambda \frac{b}{2} x^2 - \frac{b}{2} y^2 - \frac{b}{2} z^2 + \frac{b}{2} 2(\lambda a + c) z \\ &\leqslant -\lambda \frac{b}{2} x^2 - \frac{b}{2} y^2 - \frac{b}{2} (z - \lambda a - c)^2 + \frac{b}{2} (\lambda a + c)^2 \\ &\leqslant -\frac{b}{2} (2\bar{V}_{\lambda} - 2L_{\lambda}^{(2)}) = -b(\bar{V}_{\lambda} - L_{\lambda}^{(2)}). \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda}^{(1)} \leqslant \left(\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X_0) - L_{\lambda}^{(1)}\right) e^{-b(t-t_0)}.$$
(5.5.9)

(3) When  $a < 1, b \ge 2a$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left. \frac{d\bar{V}_{\lambda}}{dt} \right|_{(5.5.1)} &\leqslant -\lambda a x^2 - y^2 - b z^2 + b(\lambda a + c) z \\ &\leqslant -\lambda a x^2 - a y^2 - a z^2 + 2a(\lambda a + c) z - a(\lambda a + c)^2 \\ &+ (a - b) z^2 + (b - 2a)(\lambda a + c) z + a(\lambda a + c)^2 \\ &\leqslant -a [\lambda x^2 + y^2 + (z - \lambda a - c)^2] \\ &+ (a - b) z^2 + (b - 2a)(\lambda a + c) z + a(\lambda a + c)^2 \\ &\leqslant -2a (\bar{V}_{\lambda} - L_{\lambda}^{(3)}). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X(t)) - L_{\lambda}^{(3)} \leqslant (\bar{V}_{\lambda}(X_0) - L_{\lambda}^{(3)})e^{-2a(t-t_0)}.$$
(5.5.10)

Further, taking upper limit on both sides of (5.5.8), (5.5.9) and (5.5.10) yields

$$\lim_{h \to \infty} \left( \lambda x^2 + y^2(t) + \left( z(t) - \lambda a - c \right)^2 \right)$$

$$\leqslant \begin{cases} \frac{(\lambda a + c)^2 b^2}{4(b-1)} & \text{when } a \ge 1, b \ge 2, \\ (\lambda a + c)^2 & \text{when } a > \frac{b}{2}, b < 2, \\ \frac{(\lambda a + c)^2 b^2}{4a(b-a)} & \text{when } a < 1, b > 2a. \end{cases}$$
(5.5.11)

THEOREM 5.5.5. Let

$$V_0 = \frac{1}{2} [y^2 + (z - c)^2]$$
 and  $L_0 = \frac{b^2 c^2}{8(b - 1)}.$ 

*Then, the estimation of the globally exponentially attractive set of the infinite interval Lorenz system* (5.5.1) *is* 

$$\begin{cases} \bar{V}_0(X(t)) - L_0^{(1)} \leqslant (\bar{V}_0(X_0) - L_0^{(1)})e^{-2b(t-t_0)} \\ \leqslant (\bar{V}_0(X_0) - \bar{L}_0)e^{-\min(2b,a)(t-t_0)}, \\ x^2(t) - L_0 \leqslant (x_0^2 - \bar{L}_0)e^{-a(t-t_0)} \leqslant (x_0^2 - \bar{L}_0)e^{-\min(2b,a_\alpha)(t-t_0)}. \end{cases}$$

Especially, the set

$$\bar{\Omega}_{0} = \left\{ X \left| \begin{array}{c} y^{2} + (z - c)^{2} \leqslant \frac{b^{2}c^{2}}{4(b - 1)d_{\alpha}} \\ x^{2} \leqslant \frac{b^{2}c^{2}}{4(b - 1)d_{\alpha}} \end{array} \right\}$$
(5.5.12)

is the globally attractive and positive invariant set of (5.5.1).

PROOF. Similar to the proofs for (5.5.7) and (5.5.9), differentiating  $\bar{V}_0$  with respect to time *t* and using the second and third equations of system (5.5.1) lead to the conclusion. The details are omitted here for simplicity.

Equilibrium points, periodic and almost-periodic solutions are all positive invariant sets. Therefore, as a direct application of the results obtained in this section, we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 5.5.6. Outside the globally attractive sets of the interval Lorenz systems (5.5.1) and (5.5.2), there are no bounded positive invariant sets that do not intersect the globally attractive sets.

PROOF. By contradiction, suppose  $\Omega$  is the globally attractive set of (5.5.1) and there is a bounded positive invariant set Q outside the set  $\Omega$ , and  $\Omega \cap Q = \Phi$  (empty set). Thus, we have

$$\inf_{\substack{X\in\Omega\\\bar{X}\in Q}} \|X-\bar{X}\| > 0.$$

By the definition of positive invariant set, we have  $X(t, t_0, X_0) \in Q$  for  $X_0 \in Q$ and  $t \ge t_0$ . Hence,

$$\inf_{\substack{X \in \Omega \\ X(t,t_0,X_0) \in Q \\ t \ge t_0}} \|X - X(t,t_0,X_0)\| > 0.$$

On the other hand, since  $\Omega$  is the globally attractive set, we have  $X(t, t_0, X_0) \rightarrow \Omega$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ . This implies that

$$\inf_{\substack{X \in \Omega \\ t > t_0 \\ t \ge t_0}} \|X - X(t, t_0, X_0)\| = 0,$$

leading to a contradiction.

195

# 5.6. Robust stability under disturbance of system structure

It is well known that both the Lyapunov stability and the Lagrange stability are defined in the sense of disturbance on initial conditions. In this section, we study the robust stability of nonlinear systems, which admit simultaneously disturbances on the structure of the system and the initial conditions.

Consider the general nonlinear system without disturbance:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x),\tag{5.6.1}$$

where  $f(t, x) \equiv x$  if and only if  $x = 0, f \in C[I \times S_H, R^n]$ , and

$$S_H := \{ x \mid ||x|| \leqslant H \}.$$

At the same time, we consider the system under disturbance on the structure of the system:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = f(t, y) + g(t, y), \quad g \in C[I \times S_H, R^n].$$
(5.6.2)

DEFINITION 5.6.1. The zero solution of systems (5.6.1) is said to be robust stable in the sense of Lyapunov under disturbance of structure, if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta_1(\varepsilon) > 0$ ,  $\delta_2(\varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $||g(t, y)|| \leq \delta_1$ ,  $||y_0|| \leq \delta_2$ , the solution  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  of (5.6.2) satisfies

$$\left\| y(t, t_0, y_0) \right\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0). \tag{5.6.3}$$

LEMMA 5.6.2. If there exists a function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times S_H, R]$  such that

(1)  $||x|| \leq V(t, x) \leq K(\alpha) ||x|| \quad \forall x \in S_{\alpha} \subset S_{H}, K(\alpha) = constant;$ (2)  $D^{+}V(t, x)|_{(5.6.1)} \leq -cV(t, x) \ (c > 0);$ 

then the zero solution of system (5.6.1) is exponentially stable.

The proof is similar to that of Theorem 4.4.1, and is thus omitted.

THEOREM 5.6.3. If there exists a function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times S_H, R^1]$ , satisfying

(1)  $\varphi_1(||x||) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||);$ (2)  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.6.1)} \leq -cV(t, x);$ (3)  $||V(t, x) - V(t, y)|| \leq k ||x - y||.$ 

Then the zero solution of system (5.6.1) is robust stable in the sense of Lyapunov under disturbance of structure.

PROOF.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta_1(\varepsilon) < \varepsilon$  such that  $\varphi_2(\delta_1) < \varphi_1(\varepsilon)$ , and choose  $0 < \delta \ll 1$  such that

 $C\varphi_1(\delta_1) - k\delta > 0 \quad (\delta < \delta_1).$ 

In the following, we prove that when  $||g(t, y)|| < \delta$ ,  $||y_0|| < \delta_1$  it holds

 $\left\| y(t, t_0, y_0) \right\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0).$ 

If otherwise, suppose that there exist  $t_1$ ,  $t_2$ ,  $t_1 < t_2$ , such that

$$\| y(t_1, t_0, y_0) \| = \delta_1,$$
  
 $\| y(t_2, t_0, y_0) \| = \varepsilon,$ 

and for  $t \in (t_1, t_2)$  it holds

$$\delta_1 < \left\| y(t, t_0, y_0) \right\| < \varepsilon.$$

However, on other hand, for  $t \in [t_1, t_2]$  we have

$$D^{+}V(t, y(t, t_{0}, y_{0}))|_{(5.6.2)} \leq -cV(t, y(t, t_{0}, y_{0})) + k|g(t, y(t, t_{0}, y_{0}))|$$
  
$$\leq -c\varphi_{1}(\delta_{1}) + k\delta$$
  
$$\leq 0.$$

This implies that

$$\varphi_1(\varepsilon) \leqslant V\big(t_2, y(t_2, t_0, y_0)\big) \leqslant V\big(t_1, y(t_1, t_0, y_0)\big) \leqslant \varphi_2(\delta_1) < \varphi_1(\varepsilon),$$

leading to a contradiction. Hence, for all  $t \ge t_0$ , we have

$$\left\| y(t,t_0,y_0) \right\| < \varepsilon,$$

i.e., the zero solution of systems (5.6.1) is robust stable in the sense of Lyapunov under disturbance of structure.

For linear systems, exponential stability implies robust stability in the sense of Definition 5.6.1, but this not generally true for nonlinear systems.

THEOREM 5.6.4. Consider the linear system:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = A(t)x,$$
(5.6.4)

where  $A(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$  is a continuous matrix function. The robust stability of the zero solution of (5.6.4) implies its exponential stability.

PROOF. Since the zero solution of (5.6.4) is robust stable in the sense of Lyapunov under disturbance of structure, in the region  $||x|| \leq 1$ , for  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{2}$  there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that for the disturbed system (5.6.4):

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = A(t)y + \delta y, \qquad (5.6.5)$$

the solution of (5.6.5)  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  (when  $||y_0|| < \delta$ ) satisfies

$$||y(t, t_0, y_0)|| < \frac{1}{2}.$$

But the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of (5.6.4) and the solution  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  of (5.6.5) have the following relation:

$$y(t, t_0, y_0) = x(t, t_0, x_0)e^{\delta(t-t_0)},$$

i.e.,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq \frac{1}{2}e^{-\delta(t-t_0)}$ . Hence, the zero solution of (5.6.4) is exponentially stable.

DEFINITION 5.6.5. The solution of (5.6.1) is said to be robust stable in the sense of Lagrange under disturbance of structure, if  $\forall \alpha > 0$ , there exist constants  $\beta(\alpha) > 0$  and  $r(\alpha) > 0$  such that

$$\left\|g(t, y)\right\| < r(\alpha),$$

and further if  $y_0 \in S_{\alpha}$ , then for all  $t \ge t_0$  it holds

 $\left\| y(t,t_0,y_0) \right\| < \beta(\alpha),$ 

where  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  is the solution of (5.6.2).

THEOREM 5.6.6. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times S^k, R]$  such that on  $I \times S^k$  it holds

- (1)  $\varphi_1(||x||) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||)$  for  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in KR$ ;
- (2) on any compact  $k \leq \alpha \leq x \leq \beta$ ,

$$|V(t,x) - V(t,x^*)| \leq K(\alpha,\beta) ||x - x^*||, \quad K(\alpha,\beta) = constant;$$

(3)  $D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.6.1)} \leq -\lambda(||x||), C(r)$  is a continuous positive function.

Then the solution of (5.6.1) is robust stable in the sense of Lagrange under disturbance of structure.

**PROOF.**  $\forall \alpha > k > 0$ , take  $\beta(\alpha) > \alpha > 0$  such that  $\varphi_1(\beta) > \varphi_2(\alpha)$ . By the conditions (2) and (3), we have

$$\left|V(t,x) - V(t,x^*)\right| \leq K(\alpha,\beta) \|x - x^*\|,$$

$$D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.6.1)} \leq -\lambda(\alpha).$$

So on  $0 \leq t < +\infty$ ,  $\alpha \leq ||x|| \leq \beta$ , we have

$$D^{+}V(t, y)|_{(5.6.2)} \leq D^{+}V(t, y)|_{(5.6.1)} + K(\alpha, \beta) ||g(t, y)||$$
  
$$\leq -\lambda(\alpha) + K(\alpha, \beta) ||g(t, y)||.$$

Thus, we can choose  $r(\alpha) > 0$  such that

$$\gamma(\alpha) \leqslant \frac{\lambda(\alpha)}{K(\alpha,\beta)}$$

on the region defined by  $0 \le t < +\infty, \alpha \le ||x|| \le \beta$ . If

$$\|g(t, y)\| \leq \gamma(\alpha),$$

then  $D^+V(t, y)|_{(5,6,2)} \leq 0$ . Therefore, if  $g_0 \in S_\alpha$ , we have

$$\varphi_1(\|y(t)\|) \leq V(t, y(t, t_0, y_0)) \leq V(t_0, y_0) \leq \varphi_2(\|y_0\|) \leq \varphi_2(\alpha) \leq \varphi_2(\beta),$$
  
|y(t)||  $\leq \beta$ . So the conclusion is true.

i.e.,  $||y(t)|| \leq \beta$ . So the conclusion is true.

DEFINITION 5.6.7. For a given function f(r) > 0, system (5.6.1) is said to be robust dissipative under f(r) degree disturbance of structure, if there exist two constants  $\beta > 0$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that for  $||y|| \ge \beta$  it holds

$$\left\|g(t, y)\right\| < \alpha f\left(\|y\|\right)$$

and

$$\overline{\lim_{t\to\infty}} \| y(t,t_0,y_0) \| < \beta,$$

where  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  is a solution of (5.6.2).

THEOREM 5.6.8. Suppose the conditions of Theorem 5.6.4 are satisfied. Let L(r)be the Lipschitz constant, i.e.,

$$|V(t,x) - V(t,x^*)| \leq L(r) ||x - x^*|| \quad \forall x, x^* \in S_r,$$

and L(r) f(r) = 0(c(r)) as  $r \to \infty$ . Then, the system (5.6.1) is robust dissipative under f(r) degree structure disturbance.

**PROOF.** According to the conditions, we can choose  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\alpha \leqslant \frac{c(r)}{2L(r)f(r)}$$

when  $r \ge k$  (k is a constant). For this  $\alpha$ , if  $||g(t, y)|| \le \alpha f(||y||)$ , then

$$D^{+}V(t, y)|_{(5.6.2)} \leq D^{+}V(t, y)|_{(5.6.1)} + L(||y||) ||g(t, y)||$$

$$\leq -c(||y||) + \alpha L(||y||) f(||y||)$$
  
$$\leq -\frac{1}{2}c(||y||) \quad \text{when } ||y|| \geq k.$$

The above inequality indicates that system (5.6.1) is robust dissipative under f(r) degree structure disturbance.

REMARK 5.6.9. In the stability study under structural disturbance, the disturbing function g(t, x) is unknown except for it being bounded by  $\delta_1$ . If more information about g(t, x) is known, we could obtain stronger stability results.

### 5.7. Practical stability

In the definition of Lyapunov stability,  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrary and  $\delta(\varepsilon)$  is only requested to exist no matter how small it is. However, in practice if  $\delta$  is too small, requiring the initial disturbance not to exceed  $\delta$  is impossible. Similarly, the discrepancy in the actual running state and the ideal state is impossible or not necessary to be infinitely small. Therefore, real systems admit to run within a given discrepancy bound. For example, many air crafts and missiles work in such situation. Thus, practical stability was necessary and developed. In the following, we briefly introduce the practical stability according to Lefschetz [225].

Consider two *n*-dimensional nonautonomous systems, given by

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \quad f(t, 0) \equiv 0, \quad f \in C[I \times S_H, R^n], \tag{5.7.1}$$

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t,x) + p(t,x) \quad \left(p \in C\left[I \times S_H, R^n\right]\right).$$
(5.7.2)

DEFINITION 5.7.1. For pre-defined positive number  $\delta$ , and two sets Q and  $Q_0$ , where  $Q_0 \subset Q \subset S_H$ , if  $\forall x_0 \in Q_0$ ,  $t_0 \ge 0$  and  $\forall p(t, x) \in P := \{p(t, x) \mid \|p(t, x)\| \le \delta\}$ , the solution of (5.7.2)  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q(t \ge t_0)$ . Then the zero solution of (5.7.1) is said to be practically stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ .

The practical stability is correlated with  $\delta$ , and the set  $\{Q, Q_0, Q\}$  is the permissive state set,  $Q_0$  is the initial state set. See the illustration given in Figure 5.7.1. Before studying the practical stability, we must consider:

- (1) the dimension of Q needed to ensure the system to perform normally;
- (2) the admitted disturbance range (the value of  $\delta$ );
- (3) the deviation to be controlled by the initial condition (the dimension of  $Q_0$ ).

Note that the practical stability and the Lyapunov stability do not include each other.



Figure 5.7.1. Practical stability.

THEOREM 5.7.2. Let  $Q_0$  be a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}^n, 0 \in Q_0$ . If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  such that for all  $x \in Q_0^c$  it holds:

$$D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.7.1)} \leqslant 0, \tag{5.7.3}$$

and  $\forall x_1 \in Q_0, x_2 \in Q^c, \forall t_2 \ge t \ge 0$ , we have the inequality:

$$V(t_1, x_1) < V(t_2, x_2),$$
 (5.7.4)

where  $Q_0^c$  and  $Q^c$  are respectively the complementary sets of  $Q_0$  and Q, then  $\forall x_0 \in Q_0$ , the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q$ ,  $t \ge t_0$ , i.e., the zero solution of (5.7.1) is practically stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ .

PROOF.  $\forall x_0 \in Q_0$ , consider the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ . If at certain  $T > t_0$ ,  $x(T, t_0, x_0) \subset Q_0^C$ , then there exist  $t_1, t_0 < t_1 < T$  such that  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q_0^c$ , and when  $t_1 < t \leq T$ ,  $x(t_1, t_0, x_0) \in Q_0$ . Hence, we have

$$V(t_1, x(t_1, t_0, x_0)) < V(T, x(T, t_0, x_0)).$$
(5.7.5)

However, on the other hand, for  $t_1 < t \leq T$ , by condition (5.7.3), we obtain

 $D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.7.1)} \le 0.$ 

It follows that

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \ge V(T, x(T, t_0, x_0)).$$

Hence,

$$V(t_1, x(t_1, t_0, x_0)) = \lim_{t \to t_1} V(t, x(t)) \ge V(T, x(T)).$$
(5.7.6)

The inequalities (5.7.5) and (5.7.6) show a contradiction. So  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q$ , i.e., the zero solution of (5.7.1) is practically stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ .

DEFINITION 5.7.3. The zero solution of (5.7.1) is said to be practically stable in finite time interval  $[t_0, t_0 + T]$  with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ , if  $\forall p \in P :=$  $\{p(t, x) \mid ||p(t, x)|| \leq \delta\}, \forall x_0 \in Q_0, x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q$  when  $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$ .

THEOREM 5.7.4. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R]$  such that  $V \leq l_0$  when  $x \in Q_0$ , and  $V \geq l$  when  $x \in Q^c$ . Further,  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.7.2)} \leq (l-l_0)/T$  when  $x \in Q^c_0$ . Then,  $\forall x_0 \in Q_0, x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q$  (when  $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$ ), i.e., the zero solution of (5.7.1) is practically stable in finite time interval  $[t_0, t_0 + T]$ , with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ .

PROOF. Let  $V(t, x(t)) := V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$ , and  $x_0 \in Q_0$  when  $t > t_0$ , and  $x(t) \in Q_0^c$  when  $t \in [t_0, t_0 + T]$ . Then, we have

$$V(t, x(t)) - V(t_0, x(t_0)) = V(\xi, x(\xi))(t - t_0)$$
  
$$\leq \frac{l - l_0}{T}(t - t_0)$$
  
$$\leq \frac{l - l_0}{T}T = l - l_0.$$

Hence,  $V(t, x(t)) \leq l - l_0 + l_0 = l$ . Thus,  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q$ , i.e., the conclusion of theorem is true.

DEFINITION 5.7.5. The zero solution of (5.7.1) is said to be practically strongly stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ , if it is practically stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Qand  $Q_0$ , and  $\forall x_0 \in Q_0$ , there exists T > 0 such that the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ of (5.7.2) satisfies

 $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q$  when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ .

That is, the system (5.7.1) is robust dissipative.

THEOREM 5.7.6. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^n]$  such that  $V(t, x) \rightarrow +\infty$  when  $||x|| \rightarrow \infty$  and  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.7.2)} \leq -\varepsilon < 0$  for all  $x \in Q_0$  and for all  $p \in P$ , and V(t, x) < V(t, y) for all  $x \in Q_0$ ,  $y \in Q^c$ , then the zero solution of (5.7.1) is practically strongly stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ .

PROOF. First, we prove that the zero solution of (5.7.1) is practically stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ . Suppose  $\forall x_0 \in Q_0$ , then at certain time  $T > t_0$ ,  $x(T, t_0, x_0) \subset Q^c$ , there exist  $t_1, t_0 < t_1 < T$  such that  $x(t_1, t_0, x_0) \in Q_0$ , but  $x(T, t_0, x_0) \subset Q^c$ , and for all  $t \in [t_1, T]$ ,  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q_0^c$ . Hence,

$$V(t_1, x(t_1, t_0, x_0)) < V(T, x(T, t_0, x_0)),$$

which is impossible because  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))$  is monotone decreasing function of t. So the zero solution of (5.7.1) is practically stable with respect to  $\delta$ , Q and  $Q_0$ .

Next, we prove the dissipation, i.e., to prove that  $\forall x_0 \in Q^c$  there exists  $T(t_0, x_0)$  such that

$$\mathbf{x}(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q \quad \forall t \ge t_0 + T(t_0, x_0).$$

If otherwise, suppose for all  $t \ge t_0$  we have

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) \subset Q^c.$$

Since  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq -\varepsilon < 0$ , it follows that

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) - \varepsilon(t - t_0) \to -\infty \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

Therefore, we can take  $x_0 \in Q^c$ . Let  $y(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0)$ . Then,

 $C := V(t_0, x_0) < V(t, y(t)) \to -\infty \quad (t \to \infty),$ 

leading to a contradiction. So the system (5.7.2) is robust dissipative.

### 5.8. Lipschitz stability

Lipschitz stability is a new stability developed in recent years. It is often used to analyze nonlinear problems. It is also useful in studying boundedness of solutions and existence of periodic solutions. Application of this stability has been extended from the dynamical systems defined by ordinary differential equation to those described by functional differential equations or other types of equations. In this chapter, we introduce the basic concepts of the Lipschitz stability theory.

Consider the *n*-dimensional system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{5.8.1}$$

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^n]$ ,  $f(t, 0) \equiv 0$ . Assume that the solution of (5.8.1) is unique. Take  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  as a solution of (5.8.1), and then define the variational system of (5.8.1) as

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = f_x (t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) z,$$
(5.8.2)

where  $f_x$  denotes the Jacobi matrix  $\left(\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial x_j}\right)_{n \times n}$ .

DEFINITION 5.8.1.

- (1) The zero solution of (5.8.1) is said to be uniformly Lipschitz stable, if there exist constants M > 0,  $\delta > 0$  such that  $||x_0|| < \delta$  ( $t \ge t_0 \ge 0$ ) implies  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \le M ||x_0||$ , where *M* is the Lipschitz constant.
- (2) The zero solution of (5.8.1) is said to be globally uniformly Lipschitz stable, if  $\delta = +\infty$  in (1).

 $\square$
- (3) The zero solution of (5.8.1) is said to be uniformly variational Lipschitz stable, if there exit constants M > 0, δ > 0 such that when ||x<sub>0</sub>|| < δ, t ≥ t<sub>0</sub> ≥ 0, ||K(t, t<sub>0</sub>, x<sub>0</sub>)|| ≤ M, where K(t, t<sub>0</sub>, x<sub>0</sub>) = ∂/∂x<sub>0</sub>(x(t, t<sub>0</sub>, x<sub>0</sub>)).
  (4) The zero solution of (5.8.1) is said to be uniformly variational globally Lip-
- (4) The zero solution of (5.8.1) is said to be uniformly variational globally Lipschitz stable, if δ = +∞ in (3).

The above definitions show that the uniform Lipschitz stability of the zero solution of (5.8.1) implies the uniform Lyapunov stability of the zero solution of (5.8.1), but the reverse is generally not true.

THEOREM 5.8.2. Let the zero solution of variational equation of (5.8.1) be

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = f_x(t,0)z,\tag{5.8.3}$$

then the uniform Lipschitz stability of the zero solution of (5.8.1) implies the uniform Lipschitz stability of the zero solution of (5.8.3).

PROOF. Let the zero solution of (5.8.1) be uniformly Lipschitz stable. Then, there exist  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $\delta > 0$  such that when  $||x_0|| \leq \delta$ ,  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq \alpha ||x_0||$  for  $t \ge t_0$ . Now take

$$x_{0_i} = e_i h, \quad h \leq \alpha, \quad e_i = (\overbrace{0, \dots, 1}^i, \overbrace{0, \dots, 0}^{n-i})^T$$

Then, we have

$$\left\|\frac{\partial x(t,t_0,0)}{\partial x_{0_i}}\right\| = \left\|\lim_{h\to 0}\frac{x(t,t_0,x_0) - x(t,t_0,0)}{h}\right\| \leqslant \lim_{h\to 0}\frac{\alpha \|x_0\|}{h} = \alpha.$$

On the other hand,

$$\left\|K(t,t_0)\right\| = \left\|K(t,t_0,0)\right\| = \left\|\frac{\partial x(t,t_0,0)}{\partial x_0}\right\| \leq \alpha,$$

where  $K(t, t_0)$  is the Cauchy matrix solution of (5.8.3). So the zero solution of (5.8.1) is uniformly Lipschitz stable.

EXAMPLE 5.8.3. Consider a nonlinear system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_1^3. \end{cases}$$
(5.8.4)

We choose the positive definite Lyapunov function:

$$V(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{2}x_1^4 + x_2^2.$$

Then

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(5.8.4)} = 2x_1^3 x_2 - 2x_1^3 x_2 = 0$$

So the zero solution of (5.8.4) is Lyapunov uniformly stable. However, the zero solution of (5.8.4) corresponds to the variational system:

$$\left\{\begin{array}{l} \frac{dy_1}{dt} = y_2, \\ \frac{dy_2}{dt} = 0, \end{array}\right.$$
(5.8.5)

which has the general solution:

$$\begin{cases} y_1 = y_2^{(0)}(t - t_0), \\ y_2 = y_2^{(0)}. \end{cases}$$

Obviously, the zero solution of (5.8.4) is Lipschitz unstable.

This example shows that for certain nonlinear systems, the Lipschitz stability is stronger than the Lyapunov stability. But for the linear system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x,\tag{5.8.6}$$

the general solution can be expressed as

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = K(t, t_0)x_0,$$

where  $K(t, t_0)$  is the Cauchy matrix solution. It is well known that the Lipschitz stability and the Lyapunov stability of the zero solution of (5.8.6) are equivalent with respect to the boundedness of  $K(t, t_0)$ . Hence, for linear systems, the Lyapunov stability and Lipschitz stability of the zero solution are equivalent.

In the following, we present several Lipschitz stability theorems.

THEOREM 5.8.4. Suppose that f(t, x) satisfies uniformly local Lipschitz condition with respect to t. Then the zero solution of (5.8.1) is uniformly Lipschitz stable if and only if there exists function  $V(t, x) \in [I \times S_{\delta}, R]$  such that on  $U \times S_{\delta}$  the following conditions hold:

(1)  $||x|| \leq V(t, x) \leq L||x||, L = const > 0;$ (2)  $|V(t, x) - V(t, y)| \leq ||x - y||;$ (3)  $D^+V(t, x|_{(5.8.1)}) \leq 0.$ 

PROOF. Sufficiency. By the conditions, we have

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \leq V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) \leq L ||x_0|| \text{ when } ||x_0|| \leq \delta.$$

So the sufficiency is true.

*Necessity.* Let  $V(t, x) := \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t + \tau, t, x)\|(1 + e^{-\tau - t})$ . Then,

$$\|x\| := \|x(t, t, x)\| \leq \|x(t, t, x)\| (1 + e^{-t}) \leq V(t, x)$$
  
$$\leq M \sup_{\tau \geq 0} \|x\| (1 + e^{-\tau - t}) \leq 2M \|x\| := L \|x\|.$$

It follows that condition (1) is true.

According to the Lipschitz propriety of f(t, x), it is easy to prove that there exists  $K = K(M, \delta)$  such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x(t+\tau,t,x) - x(t+\tau,t,y) \right\| &\leq e^{k\tau} \|x-y\| \\ \text{for } \|x\| &\leq \delta, \ \|y\| &\leq \delta, \ \tau \geq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Due to the Lipschitz stability of the zero solution of (5.8.1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x(t+\tau,t,x) \right\| &\leq M \|x\| \leq M\delta, \\ \left\| x(t+\tau,t,y) \right\| &\leq M \|y\| \leq M\delta. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\sup_{\tau \ge 0} \|x(t+\tau,t,x)\| (1+e^{-\tau-t}) \le \sup_{\tau \ge 0} (e^T + e^{T-(t+\tau)}) \|x\|,$$

where  $T = \ln M$ . When t < T, choose  $\tau$  such that  $0 \le t + \tau \le T$ . When  $t \ge T$ , take  $\tau = 0$ . Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| V(t,x) - V(t,y) \right| &\leq \sup_{\tau} \left\{ \left\| x(t+\tau,t,x) - x(t+\tau,t,y) \right\| (1+e^{-t-\tau}) \right\} \\ &\leq \sup_{\tau} e^k \| x - y \| (1+e^{-t-\tau}) \\ &\leq L \| x - y \|, \end{aligned}$$

which leads to condition (2). Further,

$$\begin{split} D^{+}V(t,x)|_{(5.8.1)} &\leqslant \overline{\lim_{h \to 0^{+}}} \frac{1}{h} \{ V(t+h,x(t+h,t,x)) - V(t,x) \} \\ &= \overline{\lim_{h \to 0^{+}}} \frac{1}{h} \{ \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \| x(t+h+\tau,t,x) \| (1+e^{-t-\tau-h}) \\ &- \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \| x(t+\tau,t,x) \| (1+e^{-t-\tau}) \} \\ &= \overline{\lim_{h \to 0^{+}}} \frac{1}{h} \{ \sup_{\tau \ge h} \| x(t+\tau,t,x) \| (1+e^{-t-\tau}) \\ &- \sup_{t \ge 0} \| x(t+\tau,t,x) \| (1+e^{-t-\tau}) \} \\ &\leqslant 0, \end{split}$$

i.e., condition (3) holds.

To prove the continuity of V(t, x), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| V(t+h, x+y) - V(t, x) \right| \\ &\leq \left| V(t+h, x+y) - V(t+h, x(t+h, t, x+y)) \right| \\ &+ \left| V(t+h, x(t+h, t, x+y)) - V(t, x+y) \right| \\ &+ \left| V(t, x+y) - V(t, x) \right|. \end{aligned}$$
(5.8.7)

By the Lipschitz propriety of V(t, x) and the continuity of the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ , the first term and third term in (5.8.7) are infinitesimal, and the second term is also infinitesimal by the method of proving  $D^+V$  (see Theorem 5.8.2). So V(t, x) is continuous.

The proof of Theorem 5.8.4 is complete.

THEOREM 5.8.5. If there exist function  $V(t, x) \in C[G_H, R]$  and  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  such that

$$\begin{split} \varphi_1\big(\|x\|\big) &\leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2\big(\|x\|\big) \quad (t \ge t_0),\\ \lim_{s \to 0^+} \frac{\varphi_1^{-1}(\varphi_2(s))}{s} &\leqslant M = const \quad (M \ge 1),\\ \frac{dV}{dt} \bigg|_{(5.8.1)} &\leqslant 0 \quad (t \ge t_0), \end{split}$$

then the zero solution of (5.8.1) is uniformly Lipschitz stable.

PROOF. Since by the conditions, one easily obtain:

$$\varphi_1(\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x_0\|),$$
  
$$\|x(t, t_0, x_0)\| \leqslant \varphi_1^{-1}\varphi_2(\|x_0\|) \leqslant M\|M_0\|.$$

THEOREM 5.8.6. If there exist constants L > 0,  $\beta > 1$  and nondecreasing positive function  $\alpha(t)$  such that

(1) 
$$\alpha(t) \|x\|^2 \leq x^T G(t) x \leq L \alpha(t) \|x\|^2;$$
  
(2)  $\beta \|G(t)F(t,x)\| \leq \|x\|,$ 

where

so

$$F(t, x) = f(t, x) - f_x(t, 0)x,$$
  

$$G(t) = \int_t^\infty \psi^T(s, t)\psi(s, t) \, ds,$$

in which  $\psi(t, t_0)$  is the Cauchy matrix solution of (5.8.3), then the zero solution of (5.8.1) is uniformly Lipschitz stable.

 $\square$ 

PROOF. Choose  $V(t, x) = x^T G(t)x$ . Obviously, G(t) is a symmetric positive matrix. Then,

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(5.8.1)} = x^T \dot{G}(t) x + 2x^T G(t) f_x(t,0) x + 2x^T G(t) F(t,x),$$

where  $f(t, x) = f_x(t, 0)x + F(t, x) = \frac{\partial f(t, 0)}{\partial x}x + F(t, x)$ . Owing to

$$\frac{\partial \psi(s,t)}{\partial t} = -\psi(s,t) f_x(t,0),$$
$$\dot{G}(t) = -I_n + \int_t^\infty \left[ \frac{\partial \psi^T(s,t)}{\partial t} \psi(s,t) + \psi^T(s,t) \frac{\partial \psi(s,t)}{\partial t} \right] ds,$$

one can further obtain

$$G'(t) = -I_n - f_x^T(t, 0)G(t) - G(t)f_x(t, 0)$$

and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(5.8.1)} = -x^T x + 2x^T G(t) F(t, x) \leqslant -x^T x + x^T x \leqslant 0.$$

Hence,

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0).$$

Further, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(t) \|x(t)\|^2 &= x^T(t)G(t)x(t) \\ &\leq x^T(t_0)G(t_0)x(t_0) \\ &\leq L\alpha(t_0) \|x(t_0)\|^2, \\ \|x(t)\|^2 &\leq \alpha^{-1}(t)\alpha(t_0)L \|x(t_0)\|^2 \\ &\leq \alpha^{-1}(t_0)\alpha(t_0)L \|x_0\|^2 \\ &= L^2 \|x_0\|^2, \\ \|x(t)\| &\leq L \|x_0\|, \end{aligned}$$

implying that the zero solution of (5.8.1) is uniformly Lipschitz stable. Theorem 5.8.6 is proved.  $\hfill \Box$ 

## 5.9. Asymptotic equivalence of two dynamical systems

The process of using a mathematical model to describe a real physical system is usually an approximation due to errors in measurements of experiments, model

simplifications, or other factors. Hence, it is important to study the structural stability of systems under perturbations or the robust stability of systems (see [316, 361]).

In any study of the structural stability of dynamical systems under perturbations, the asymptotic equivalence of two systems is one of the most important concepts. It can be used to study the robustness of the unperturbed system or to explore whether the behavior of a complicated system can be determined by that of a simpler system. While there have been many studies of asymptotic equivalence in the literature, there are few in large-scale systems. The basic idea in studies of stability of large-scale systems seems to be to decompose the system into isolated subsystems and their connecting systems, and then to determine the stability of the original system by the asymptotic behavior of the subsystems. In general, however, the original system and the subsystems may not be asymptotically equivalent, which may produce misleading results.

In this section, we study asymptotic equivalence of certain large-scale systems and their isolated subsystems. The technique employed in this section is utilizing different stability degrees of the isolated subsystems of a given large-scale system to control the perturbations, in order to guarantee the stability of the large-scale system. Sufficient conditions are obtained and an example is given to illustrate the results.

Consider the following two systems

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{5.9.1}$$

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = g(t, y), \tag{5.9.2}$$

where  $f(t, x), g(t, y) : [t_0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  are continuous. It is assumed that solutions of (5.9.1) and (5.9.2) with initial values exist and are unique for  $t \ge t_0$ . We are concerned with the asymptotic behavior of solutions of (5.9.1) and (5.9.2).

DEFINITION 5.9.1. Let  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  and  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  be solutions of (5.9.1) and (5.9.2) with initial values  $x_0$  and  $y_0$ , respectively. If there is a homeomorphism which maps each  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  to  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|x(t, t_0, x_0) - y(t, t_0, y_0)\| = 0.$$

where  $\|\cdot\|$  is a suitable norm, then the two systems (5.9.1) and (5.9.2) are said to be asymptotically equivalent.

To obtain our main results stated later in this section we need the following lemma, which is a special case of the comparison principle in [153].

LEMMA 5.9.2. Let  $H(h_{ij}(t)) \in \mathbb{R}^{r \times r}$  be continuous in  $(t_0, \infty)$ , with  $h_{ij}(t) \ge 0$ ,  $i \ne j$ ,  $h_{ij}(t)$  bounded, and let  $f(t) \in C[t_0, \infty)$ . Assume that  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a solution of the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} \leqslant H(t)x + f(t), \\ x(t_0) = x_0, \end{cases}$$

and that  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is a solution of the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy}{dt} = H(t)y + f(t), \\ y(t_0) = y_0. \end{cases}$$

Then whenever  $x_0 = y_0$ ,

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) \leqslant y(t, t_0, y_0), \quad t \ge t_0,$$

i.e.,

$$x_i(t, t_0, x_0) \leqslant y_i(t, t_0, y_0), \quad t \ge t_0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Now, consider a large-scale dynamical system governed by the following system of equations

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}(t), \dots, A_{rr}(t))y + B(B_{ij}(t))y, \qquad (5.9.3)$$

and its associated isolated subsystems

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}(t), \dots, A_{rr}(t))x, \qquad (5.9.4)$$

where

$$y = (y_1, \dots, y_r)^T, \qquad y_i = (y_1^{(i)}, \dots, y_{n_i}^{(i)})^T \in \mathbb{R}^{n_i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, r,$$
  
$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_r)^T, \qquad x_i = (x_1^{(i)}, \dots, x_{n_i}^{(i)})^T \in \mathbb{R}^{n_i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, r,$$

 $A_{ii}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_i \times n_i}$  and  $B_{ii}(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_i \times n_i}$  are continuous, and  $\sum_{i=1}^r n_i = n$ .

THEOREM 5.9.3. Let  $P(t, t_0) = \text{diag}(P_{11}(t, t_0), \dots, P_{rr}(t, t_0))$  be the fundamental matrix of (5.9.4) with  $P(t_0, t_0) = I$ , where I is the  $n \times n$  identity matrix. Assume the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)

$$\|P_{ii}(t,t_0)\| \leq M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r-1, \\\|P_{rr}(t,t_0)\| \leq M_r,$$

where  $M_i$  and  $\alpha_i$  are constants;

$$||B_{ij}(t)|| \leq L_{ij}, \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, r-1;$$

(2)

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \|B_{rj}(t)\| dt < \infty, \quad \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \|B_{ir}(t)\| dt < \infty, \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, r-1,$$

where  $L_{ij}$  are constants;

(3) *The matrix* 

$$G := -\operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_{r-1}) + \operatorname{diag}(M_1, \dots, M_{r-1})(L_{ij})$$
  

$$\in R^{(r-1) \times (r-1)}$$

is stable, i.e., all eigenvalues of G have negative real part. Then system (5.9.3) and its isolated subsystems (5.9.4) are asymptotically equivalent.

PROOF. (I) First, we show that all solutions of (5.9.3) are bounded.

Set  $y_i(t, t_0, y_0) = y_i(t)$  and  $y_i(t) = y_{i0}$ . The solutions of (5.9.3) can be written as

$$y_{i}(t) = P_{ii}(t, t_{0})y_{i0} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} P_{ii}(t, \tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} B_{ij}(\tau)y_{j}(\tau) d\tau, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., r.$$
(5.9.5)

Then,

$$\|y_{i}(t)\| \leq M_{i} \|y_{i0}\| e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} + M_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-\tau)} L_{ij} \|y_{j}(\tau)\| d\tau + M_{i} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-\tau)} \|B_{ir}(\tau)\| \|y_{r}(\tau)\| d\tau, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., r-1, \|y_{r}(t)\| \leq M_{r} \|y_{r0}\| + M_{r} \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \|B_{rj}(\tau)\| \|y_{j}(\tau)\| d\tau.$$

$$(5.9.6)$$

Define

$$\xi_{i}(t) = M_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-\tau)} L_{ij} \| y_{j}(\tau) \| d\tau$$
  
+  $M_{i} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-\tau)} \| B_{ir}(\tau) \| \| y_{r}(\tau) \| d\tau, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., r-1,$ 

$$\xi_r(t) = M_r \sum_{j=1}^r \int_{t_0}^t \left\| B_{rj}(\tau) \right\| \left\| y_j(\tau) \right\| d\tau.$$
(5.9.7)

Then,

$$\|y_i(t)\| \leq M_i \|y_{i0}\| e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} + \xi_i(t), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r-1, \|y_r(t)\| \leq M_r \|y_{r0}\| + \xi_r(t),$$
(5.9.8)

and hence,

$$\frac{d\xi_i}{dt} \leq -\alpha_i \xi_i + M_i \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} L_{ij} \xi_j + M_i \|B_{ir}(t)\|\xi_r + f_i(t), 
i = 1, 2, \dots, r-1, 
\frac{d\xi_r}{dt} \leq M_r \sum_{j=1}^r \|B_{rj}(t)\|\xi_j + f_r(t),$$
(5.9.9)

where

$$f_{i}(t) = M_{r} \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} M_{j} L_{ij} \|y_{j0}\| e^{-\alpha_{j}(t-t_{0})} + M_{i} M_{r} \|B_{ir}(t)\| \|y_{r0}\|,$$

$$f_{i}(t) = M_{r} \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} M_{j} \|B_{rj}(t)\| \|y_{j0}\| e^{-\alpha_{j}(t-t_{0})} + M_{r}^{2} \|B_{rr}(t)\| \|y_{r0}\|.$$
(5.9.10)

Now consider the comparison system of (5.9.9):

$$\frac{d\eta_i}{dt} = -\alpha_i \eta_i + M_i \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} L_{ij} \eta_j + M_i \|B_{ir}(t)\|\eta_r + f_i(t),$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, r-1,$$

$$\frac{d\eta_r}{dt} = M_r \sum_{j=1}^r \|B_{rj}(t)\|\eta_j + f_r(t).$$
(5.9.11)

Let W be the matrix defined by

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} G & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \in R^{n \times n}.$$

Then from condition (3), W has only a simple zero eigenvalue and other eigenvalues of W all have negative real part. Thus, the fundamental matrix  $K(t, t_0)$  of the system

$$\frac{d\eta}{dt} = W\eta \tag{5.9.12}$$

is bounded for  $t \ge t_0$ , where  $\eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_r)^T$ .

Let  $\tilde{K}(t, t_0)$  be the fundamental matrix of the homogeneous system associated with (5.9.11). Since  $||B_{rj}(t)|| \in L^1(t_0, \infty)$  and  $||B_{ir}(t)|| \in L^1(t_0, \infty)$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., r, it follows from condition 2) that  $\tilde{K}(t, t_0)$  is also bounded.

The solutions of (5.9.11) can then be written as

$$\eta(t) = \tilde{K}(t, t_0)\eta(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t \tilde{K}(t, \tau) f(\tau) d\tau, \qquad (5.9.13)$$

where  $f(t) = (f_1(t), ..., f_r(t))^T$  is defined in (5.9.10).

Since  $f(t) \in L^1(t_0, \infty)$ ,  $\eta(t)$  is bounded. In addition to (5.9.5) and (5.9.7), it follows from Lemma 5.9.2 that y(t) is bounded.

(II) Then we show that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} y_i(t, t_0, y_0) = 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, r-1$ . Set  $\tilde{\eta} = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_{r-1})^T$  and

$$\tilde{f}(t) = \left(M_1 \| B_{1r}(t) \| \eta_r(t), \dots, M_{r-1} \| B_{r-1r}(t) \| \eta_r(t)\right)^T + \left(f_1(t), \dots, f_{r-1}(t)\right)^T.$$

Since  $\eta_r(t)$  is bounded and  $||B_{ir}(t)|| \in L^1(t_0, \infty), i = 1, 2, \dots, r$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| \tilde{f}(t) \right\| dt \leqslant k,$$

for some k > 0.

It then follows from (5.9.11) that  $\tilde{\eta}$  satisfies the following nonhomogeneous equations:

$$\frac{d\tilde{\eta}}{dt} = G\tilde{\eta} + \tilde{f}(t).$$
(5.9.14)

Then,

$$\tilde{\eta}(t, t_0, \tilde{\eta}_0) = e^{G(t-t_0)}\tilde{\eta}_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{G(t-\tau)}\tilde{f}(\tau)\,d\tau.$$
(5.9.15)

Since *G* is stable from condition (3), there exist constants c > 0 and  $\beta > 0$  such that

$$\|e^{G(t-\tau)}\| \leqslant ce^{-\beta(t-\tau)}.$$

Then, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \tilde{\eta}(t, t_0, \tilde{\eta}_0) \right\| &\leq c e^{-\beta(t-\tau)} \| \tilde{\eta}_0 \| + \int_{t_0}^t c e^{-\beta(t-\tau)} \left\| \tilde{f}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &\leq c e^{-\beta(t-\tau)} \| \tilde{\eta}_0 \| \int_{t_0}^{t/2} c e^{-\beta(t-\tau)} \left\| \tilde{f}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \int_{t/2}^{t} c e^{-\beta(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{f}(\tau)\| d\tau$$
  
$$\leq c e^{-\beta(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{\eta}_{0}\| + \frac{ck}{2} e^{-\frac{\beta t}{2}} + c \int_{t/2}^{t} \|\tilde{f}(\tau)\| d\tau$$
  
$$\to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to \infty, \qquad (5.9.16)$$

which leads to  $\xi_i(t, t_0, \xi_{i0}) \rightarrow 0$  and hence,  $y_i(t, t_0, y_{i0}) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ , for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, r - 1$ .

(III) We now construct a homeomorphic mapping between solutions of (5.9.3) and (5.9.4) as follows.

$$I_{1} = \operatorname{diag}(\overbrace{1, \dots, 1}^{n_{1}}, 0, \dots, 0) \in R^{n \times n},$$

$$I_{2} = \operatorname{diag}(0, \dots, 0, \overbrace{1, \dots, 1}^{n_{2}}, 0, \dots, 0) \in R^{n \times n},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$I_{r} = \operatorname{diag}(0, \dots, 0, \overbrace{1, \dots, 1}^{n_{r}}) \in R^{n \times n}.$$
(5.9.17)

Then the fundamental matrix of (5.9.4) can be written as

$$P(t, t_0) = \sum_{i=1}^{r} P(t, t_0) I_i,$$
(5.9.18)

which gives that

$$y(t) = P(t, t_0)y_0 + \sum_{i=1}^r \int_{t_0}^t P(t, \tau)I_i B(\tau)y(\tau) d\tau$$
  
=  $P(t, t_0)y_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \int_{t_0}^t P(t, \tau)I_i B(\tau)y(\tau) d\tau$   
+  $\int_{t_0}^\infty P(t, \tau)I_r B(\tau)y(\tau) d\tau - \int_t^\infty P(t, \tau)I_r B(\tau)y(\tau) d\tau$   
=  $P(t, t_0)y_0 \left( y_0 + \int_{t_0}^\infty P(t_0, \tau)I_r B(\tau)y(\tau) d\tau \right)$ 

5.9. Asymptotic equivalence of two dynamical systems

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{r-1}\int_{t_0}^t P(t,\tau)I_iB(\tau)y(\tau)\,d\tau - \int_t^\infty P(t,\tau)I_rB(\tau)y(\tau)\,d\tau.$$
(5.9.19)

Let  $Y(t, t_0)$  be the transition matrix of (5.9.3) and

$$x_{0} = y_{0} + \int_{t_{0}}^{\infty} P(t_{0}, \tau) I_{r} B(\tau) y(\tau) d\tau$$
  
=  $\left(I + \int_{t_{0}}^{\infty} P(t_{0}, \tau) I_{r} B(\tau) Y(\tau, t_{0}) d\tau\right) y_{0}.$  (5.9.20)

it is clear from (5.9.20) that  $x_0$  is a single-valued continuous function of  $y_0$ .

Denote

$$Z_0 = \int_{t_0}^{\infty} P(t_0, \tau) I_r B(\tau) Y(\tau, t_0) d\tau.$$

It follows from the boundedness of y(t) and the absolute integrability of  $||B_{rj}(t)||$ , i = 1, ..., t, that  $Z_0 \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Hence,  $t_0$  can be chosen sufficiently large so that the matrix  $I + Z_0$  is nonsingular. Then,

$$y_0 = (I + Z_0)^{-1} x_0,$$

which implies that  $y_0$  is also a single-valued continuous function of  $x_0$ . Therefore, the mapping between the initial value spaces  $R_{y_0}^n$  and  $R_{x_0}^n$  given by (5.9.20) is a homeomorphism. From the existence and uniqueness of solutions of (5.9.3) and (5.9.4), this homeomorphic mapping is also a homeomorphism between the solutions of (5.9.3) and (5.9.4).

(IV) Finally, we show that

$$\sum_{t \to \infty} \|x(t, t_0, x_0) - y(t, t_0, y_0)\| = 0, \quad \text{where } x_0 = (I + Z_0)y_0.$$

Denote  $y(t) = y(t, t_0, y_0)$  and  $x(t) = x(t, t_0, x_0)$ . Then it follows from (5.9.19) and (5.9.20) that

$$\|y(t) - x(t)\| \leq \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \int_{t_0}^{t} \left\|\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} P(t,\tau) I_i B_{ij}(\tau) y_j(\tau)\right\| d\tau + \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \int_{t_0}^{t} \|P(t,\tau) I_i B_{ir}(\tau) y_r(\tau)\| d\tau$$

$$\begin{aligned} &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{\infty} \left\| P(t,\tau) I_{r} B_{rj}(\tau) y_{j}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} M_{i} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \left\| B_{ij}(\tau) \right\| \left\| y_{j}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} M_{i} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} \left\| B_{ir}(\tau) \right\| \left\| y_{r}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{\infty} \left\| P_{rr}(t,\tau) \right\| \left\| B_{rj}(\tau) \right\| \left\| y_{j}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &:= J_{1} + J_{2} + J_{3}. \end{aligned}$$

Straightforward calculations yield

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} J_1 \lim_{t \to \infty} \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \frac{1}{\alpha_i} M_i \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \|B_{ij}(t)\| \|y_j(t)\| = 0,$$
  
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} J_2 = \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} M_i \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t_0}^{t/2} e^{-\alpha_i(t-\tau)} \|B_{ir}(t)\| \|y_r(t)\| d\tau$$
  
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} M_i \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t/2}^{t} e^{-\alpha_i(t-\tau)} \|B_{ir}(t)\| \|y_r(t)\| d\tau$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} \left(\lim_{t \to \infty} c_1 e^{-\frac{\alpha_i t}{2}} + \lim_{t \to \infty} c_1 \int_{t/2}^{t} \|B_{ir}(t)\| d\tau\right) = 0,$$

where  $c_1$  is positive and sufficiently large, and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} J_3 = \sum_{i=1}^r \lim_{t \to \infty} \int_t^\infty \|P_{rr}(t,\tau)\| \|B_{rj}(\tau)\| \|y_r(\tau)\| d\tau = 0.$$

The proof is complete.

Next, we consider a nonlinear large-scale system governed by the following equation

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \text{diag}(A_{11}(t), \dots, A_{rr}(t))y + f(t, y),$$
(5.9.21)

where  $f:[t_0,\infty)\times \mathbb{R}^n\to \mathbb{R}^n$  is continuous and  $f(t,0)\equiv 0$ . Then, we have

THEOREM 5.9.4. Assume that the condition (1) and (3) in Theorem 5.9.3 hold and that

$$\left\|f_{i}(t,x)-f_{i}(t,y)\right\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} \left\|B_{ij}(t)\right\| \|x_{j}-y_{j}\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} L_{ij} \|x_{j}-y_{j}\|,$$

where

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \|B_{rj}(t)\| dt < \infty, \qquad \int_{t_0}^{\infty} \|B_{ir}(t)\| dt < \infty, \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

Then the nonlinear system (5.9.21) and (5.9.4) are asymptotically equivalent.

The proof is similar to that of Theorem 5.9.3 and is omitted.

To end this section, we give an example to illustrate the significance of Theorem 5.9.3.

EXAMPLE 5.9.5. Consider the following system

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2 + \sin t & \cos t & \frac{1}{1+t^2} \\ \cos 2t & -4 + 2\sin t & te^{-t} \\ \frac{\cos t}{1+t^2} & e^{-t}\sin t & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.9.22)

By rewriting (5.9.22) as

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -4 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sin t & \cos t & \frac{1}{1+t^2} \\ \cos 2t & 2\sin t & te^{-t} \\ \frac{\cos t}{1+t^2} & e^{-t}\sin t & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ y_3 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}, A_{22}, A_{33})y + B(B_{ij})y,$$

the isolated subsystems are

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -2x_1, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -4x_2, \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} = 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.9.23)

A fundamental matrix of (5.9.23) is given by

$$P(t, t_0) = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-2(t-t_0)} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & e^{-4(t-t_0)} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Set  $M_i = 1, i = 1, 2, 3$ , and  $\alpha_1 = 2, \alpha_2 = 4$ . Then condition (1) of Theorem 5.9.3 is satisfied.

Clearly,

~

$$\left\| B_{ij}(t) \right\| \leqslant L_{ij} = \begin{cases} 2 & \text{if } i = j = 2, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Since, in addition,

$$\int_{t_0}^{\infty} \left( \frac{1}{1+t^2} + te^{-t} + \frac{|\cos t|}{1+t^2} + |e^{-t}\sin t| + e^{-t} \right) dt < \infty,$$

which indicates that condition (2) is satisfied.

Moreover, the matrix

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha_1 & 0\\ 0 & -\alpha_2 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} M_1 L_{11} & M_1 L_{12}\\ M_2 L_{21} & M_2 L_{22} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1\\ 1 & -2 \end{bmatrix}$$

is stable, which satisfies condition (3). Then system (5.9.22) and its isolated subsystems (5.9.23) are asymptotically equivalent. As (5.9.23) has a two-dimensional exponentially stable manifold and a one-dimensional stable manifold, so does (5.9.22). This is difficult to obtain by using any other criterion in the literature.

# 5.10. Conditional stability

In the definitions of Lyapunov stability and asymptotic stability, it admits initial disturbance in the *n*-dimensional neighborhood of positive equilibrium. If the initial disturbance is restricted, we have the following conditional stability.

First, we give an example to illustrate the concept. Consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = x, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = -y. \end{cases}$$
(5.10.1)

The general solution of (5.10.1) is

$$\begin{cases} x(t, 0, x_0) = x_0 e^t, \\ y(t, 0, y_0) = y_0 e^{-t}. \end{cases}$$

Obviously, the zero solution of (5.10.1) is unstable. But if the initial value is chosen from the set  $E = \{x_0 = 0\}$ , then

$$x(t, 0, x_0) = 0,$$
  
 $y(t, 0, y_0) = y_0 e^{-t} \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$ 

In this case, the zero solution of systems (5.10.1) is said to be conditionally stable.

Next, consider general *n*-dimensional system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{5.10.2}$$

where  $f \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ ,  $f(t, 0) \equiv 0$ .

DEFINITION 5.10.1. The solution  $\xi = \xi(t)$  of systems (5.10.2) is said to be conditionally stable, if there exists a *k*-dimensional subset  $S_k(\xi(t_0)) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  ( $1 \leq k < n$ ) such that  $\forall x(t_0) \in S_k(\xi(t_0))$ , when  $||x(t_0) - \xi(t_0)|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , we have

$$\|x(t,t_0,x_0) - \xi(t,t_0,\xi_0)\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0),$$

where  $x(t_0 = x_0)$ ,  $\xi(t_0) = \xi_0$ .

The solution  $\xi = \xi(t)$  of (5.10.2) is said to be conditionally asymptotically stable, if it is conditionally stable and there exists  $\sigma = \text{const} > 0$  such that

 $\|x(t_0) - \xi(t_0)\| < \sigma \quad \text{when } x(t_0) \in S_k,$ 

and  $||x(t) - \xi(t)|| \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

Consider a quasi-linear system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + \varphi(t, x), \quad A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}, \quad \varphi \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n].$$
(5.10.3)

THEOREM 5.10.2. Assume that A is a constant matrix having k eigenvalues with negative real part and

$$\lim_{x \to 0} \frac{\varphi(t, x)}{x} = 0$$

uniformly holds with respect to t. Further,

$$\|\varphi(t, x') - \varphi(t, x)\| \leq L(\Delta) \|x - x'\|$$

for  $t \ge 0$ ,  $||x'|| \le \Delta$ ,  $||x|| \le \Delta$ , where  $L = L(\Delta) \to 0$  as  $\Delta \to 0$ . Then the zero solution of (5.10.3) is conditionally asymptotically stable with respect to certain *k*-dimensional subset  $S_k$ .

PROOF. Without loss of generality, choose the nonsingular linear transformation:

$$x = Cy,$$

where *C* is an  $n \times n$  real nonsingular matrix such that  $C^{-1}AC = B = \text{diag}(N, P)$ , and

$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(N) < 0 \quad (j = 1, 2, \dots, k),$$
  
$$\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(P) \ge 0 \quad (j = k + 1, \dots, n),$$

then system (5.10.3) is transformed to

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = By + \psi(t, y), \tag{5.10.4}$$

where  $\psi(t, y) = C^{-1}\varphi(t, cy)$ .

Let  $L_1 = ||C^{-1}||L$ . It only needs  $||y|| < \Delta_1$ ,  $||y'|| < \Delta_1$ , where  $\Delta_1 = \Delta/||C||$ . Obviously, it holds:

$$\|\psi(t, y') - \psi(t, y)\| \leq L_1 \|y' - y\| \quad (t \ge 0).$$

Let  $\beta < 0$ ,  $|\beta| \ll 1$ ,  $\alpha > 0$  be chosen such that  $\alpha + |\beta| < \min[-\operatorname{Re} \lambda_j(N)]$  and  $\alpha \ge -2\beta$ . Then, we have

$$\|e^{Nt}\| < Ke^{-(\alpha+|\beta|)t} \quad \text{for } t \ge 0, \\ \|e^{pt}\| < Ke^{\beta t} \quad \text{for } t \le 0,$$

where *K* is a positive constant satisfying  $K \gg 1$ . Let

$$G(t) = \begin{cases} e^{Bt} \operatorname{diag}(E_k, 0) & \text{when } t \ge 0, \\ -e^{Bt} \operatorname{diag}(0, E_{n-k}) & \text{when } t \le 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.10.5)

where  $E_k$  and  $E_{n-k}$  are kth- and (n - k)th-order unit matrices, respectively. Obviously,

$$G(t+0) - G(-0) = E_n$$
.

From (5.10.5) and

$$e^{Bt} = \operatorname{diag}(e^{Nt}, e^{Pt}),$$

we obtain

$$\left\|G(t)\right\| \leqslant \begin{cases} Ke^{-(\alpha+|\beta|t)}, & t \ge 0, \\ Ke^{\beta t}, & t \le 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.10.6)

On the other hand, we have

 $G(t) = BG(t) \quad (t \neq 0).$ 

Consider the single integral equation:

$$y(t,a) = z(t)a + \int_0^\infty G(t-s)\psi(s, y(s,a)) ds,$$

where  $z(t) = e^{Bt} \operatorname{diag}(E_k, 0) = \operatorname{diag}(e^{Nt,0})$ , and *a* is a constant vector with zeros for the last (n - k) components. We solve the integral equation by the iterated

method:

$$\begin{cases} y_l(t,a) = Z(t)a + \int_0^\infty G(t-s)\psi(s, y_{l-1}(s,a)) \, ds, \\ y_0(t,a) = 0, \quad l = 1, 2, \dots \end{cases}$$
(5.10.7)

Choose  $|\Delta| \ll 1$  such that

$$L_1 < \frac{|B|}{\psi k},$$

and let  $||a|| < \frac{\Delta_1}{2k} = a_0$ . Then for  $t \ge 0$ , it holds

$$\|y_1(t,a) - y_0(t,a)\| \leq \|z(t)\| \|a\| \leq K e^{-(\alpha + |\beta|)t} \|a\|$$
  
$$\leq K \|a\| e^{-\alpha t}.$$
 (5.10.8)

Let

$$\left\| y_l(t,a) - y_{l-1}(t,a) \right\| \leq \frac{K}{2^{l-1}} \|\alpha\| e^{-\alpha t} \quad \text{when } t \ge 0, l \ge 1.$$

By using (5.10.6) we can deduce from (5.10.7) that

$$\begin{split} \left\| y_{l+1}(t,a) - y_{l}(t,a) \right\| \\ &\leqslant \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\| G(t-s) \right\| \left\| \psi\left(s, y_{l}(s,a)\right) - \psi\left(s, y_{l-1}(s,a)\right) \right\| ds \\ &\leqslant \int_{0}^{\infty} K e^{-(\alpha+|\beta|)(k-s)} \frac{|\beta|}{4k} \frac{K}{2^{p-1}} \|\alpha\| e^{-\alpha s} ds \\ &+ \int_{t}^{\infty} K e^{\beta(k-s)} \frac{|\beta|}{4k} \frac{K}{2^{l-1}} \|a\| e^{-\alpha s} ds \\ &= \frac{|\beta|K}{2^{l+1}} \|a\| e^{-(\alpha+|\beta|)t} \frac{e^{|\beta|t} - 1}{|\beta|} + \frac{|\beta|K}{2^{l+1}} \|a\| \frac{e^{-(\alpha+\beta)t}}{\alpha+\beta} e^{\beta t} \\ &\leqslant \frac{K}{2^{l+1}} \|a\| e^{-\alpha t} \left(1 + \frac{|\beta|}{\alpha+\beta}\right) \\ &= \frac{K}{2^{l+1}} \|a\| e^{-\alpha t}, \quad \forall t \ge 0. \end{split}$$

Hence, all  $y_l(t, a)$  are well defined and the inequity (5.10.8) holds for all integers *l*. So on the interval  $[0, +\infty)$ ,  $y_l(t, a) \rightarrow y(t, a)$ , and the limit function y(t, a) is continuous on certain neighborhood of *t* and *a*, where  $0 \le t < \infty$  and

 $||a|| < a_0$ . Thus,

$$\lim_{l\to\infty} y_l(t,a) = z(t)a + \int_0^\infty G(t-s) \lim_{l\to\infty} \psi(s, y_{l-1}(s,a)) \, ds.$$

It follows that

$$y(t,a) = z(t)a + \int_{0}^{\infty} G(t-s)\psi(s, y(s,a)) \, ds, \qquad (5.10.9)$$

i.e., the limit function y(t, a) is the solution of the integral equation (5.10.9). Differentiating (5.10.9) with respect to t yields

$$y'_{t}(t,a) = Bz(t)a + \int_{0}^{t} BG(t-s)\psi(s, y(s,a)) ds + \int_{t}^{\infty} BG(t-s)\psi(s, y(s,a)) ds + (G(t-0) - G(-0))\psi(t, y(t,a)),$$

i.e.,  $y'_t(t, a) = By(t, a) + \psi(t, y(t, a))$ . Thus, y(t, a) is the solution of (5.10.4). Using estimation (5.10.8), we have

$$\|y(t,a)\| \leq \|y_0(t,a)\| + \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \|y_l(t,a) - y_{l-1}(t,a)\|$$
$$\leq \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{k}{2^{l-1}} \|a\| e^{-\alpha t} = 2k \|a\| e^{-\alpha t},$$
(5.10.10)

which implies that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} y(t, a) = 0.$$

Therefore, y(t, a) is the solution family of system (5.10.4) which continuously depends on  $a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_k$ . Let

$$y_j(0,a) = y_j^{(0)}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, k,$$
  
$$y_j(0,a) = \left[\int_0^\infty G(-s)\psi(s, y(s, a)) \, ds\right]_j \quad (j = k+1, \dots, n), \quad (5.10.11)$$

where  $[\int_0^{+\infty} G(-s)\psi(s, y(s, a)) ds]_j$  denotes the *j*th component of the matrix  $\int_0^{\infty} G(-s)\psi(s, y(s, a)) ds$ . So  $y_j^{(0)} = [y(0, a)]_j$  satisfies the equations:

$$y_{k+j}^{(0)} = Q_j(y_j^{(0)}, \dots, y_k^{(0)}), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n-k,$$

which define certain k-dimensional manifold:  $S_k$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  when  $y_0 \in S_k$ . Furthermore,

 $y(t, t_0, y_0) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ .

Since the transformation x = Cy is nonsingular, the solution x(t) of (5.10.3) have the some propriety. This completes the proof.

COROLLARY 5.10.3. Let the matrix A have k eigenvalues with negative real part and (n - k) eigenvalues with positive real part, and  $\psi(t, x)$  satisfy the Lipschitz condition:

$$\left|\psi(t,x) - \psi(t,x^*)\right| \leq L \left\|x - x^*\right\|$$

when  $0 < L \ll l$ . Then there exist a k-dimensional manifold  $S_k^+$  and an (n - k)-dimensional manifold  $S_{n-k}^-$  in certain neighborhood of x = 0 in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that the solution x(t) of (5.10.3) holds the following limit relations:

 $x(t) \to 0$  when  $t \to +\infty$  if  $x(0) \in S_k^+$ ;  $x(t) \to 0$  when  $t \to -\infty$  if  $x(0) \in S_{n-k}^-$ .

This is illustrated in Figure 5.10.1.



Figure 5.10.1. Stable and unstable manifolds.

#### 5.11. Partial variable stability

Study of partial variable stability is demanded in practice. For instance, study of stability for a higher-order scaler equation can be transformed into the study of partial stability of a group of equations. Also, in some practical problems, one could only focus on some partial variables of the system. The reason for developing such technique may be due to some technical difficulty. For example, the remaining variables may be uncontrollable or unobservable. From the view point of methodology, one may use different methods to deal with different variables, and then synthesize them to solve the problem with respect to all system variables (see [418,357]). It is seen in Chapter 9 of this book that the key idea to analyze the absolute stability of a Lurie control system is to employ the partial variable stability.

We again consider the system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \quad f \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n].$$
(5.11.1)

Let

$$y = (x_1, \dots, x_m)^T, \qquad z = (x_{m+1}, \dots, x_n)^T,$$
$$x = (y, z)^T, \qquad \|x\| := \left(\sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2\right)^{1/2},$$
$$\|y\| := \left(\sum_{i=1}^m x_i^2\right)^{1/2}, \qquad \|z\| = \left(\sum_{i=m+1}^n x_i^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

Then every solution of (5.11.1) is said to be an extension with respect to *z*, i.e., any solution x(t) is defined for  $t \ge t_0$  and  $||y(t)|| \le H = \text{const.}$ 

DEFINITION 5.11.1. The zero solution of (5.11.1) is stable with respect to partial variable *y*, if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon)$ ,  $\forall x_0 \in S_{\delta} := \{x, ||x|| < \delta\}$  the following inequality holds:

$$\|y(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

Otherwise, the zero solution of the system is said to be unstable with respect to partial variable y. If  $\delta(t_0, \varepsilon)$  is independent of  $t_0$ , then the zero solution of (5.11.1) is said to be uniformly stable with respect to partial variable y.

DEFINITION 5.11.2. The zero solution of (5.11.1) is said to be attractive with respect to partial variable y, if  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \sigma(t_0) > 0$ ,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall x_0 \in S_{\sigma(t_0)} = \{x: ||x|| \leq \sigma(t_0)\}$ ,  $\exists T(t_0, x_0, \varepsilon)$  such that when  $t \geq t_0 + T$  we have

$$\left\| y(t,t_0,x_0) \right\| < \varepsilon.$$



Figure 5.11.1. Partial variable stability.

If  $\sigma(t_0) = \sigma$ ,  $T(t_0, x_0, \varepsilon) = T(\varepsilon)$ , independent of  $t_0$  and  $x_0$ , then the zero solution of (5.11.1) is said to be uniformly attractive with respect to partial variable *y*.

DEFINITION 5.11.3. The zero solution of (5.11.1) is said to be asymptotically stable with respect to partial variable *y*, if it is stable and attractive with respect to *y*. The zero solution of (5.11.1) is said to be uniformly asymptotically stable with respect to *y*, if it is uniformly stable and uniformly attractive with respect to *y*.

Figures 5.11.1 and 5.11.2 geometrically illustrate partial variable stability in  $R^n$  space, and partial variable attractivity in  $R^n$  space, respectively.

In the following, we give the definitions of positive definite or negative definite with respect to partial variable *y*.

DEFINITION 5.11.4. The function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R]$  is said to be positive definite (negative definite) with respect to partial variable *y*, if there exists  $\varphi_1 \in K$  such that

$$V(t,x) \ge \varphi_1(||y||) \quad (V(t,x) \le -\varphi_1(||y||)).$$

Following the definitions of infinitesimal upper bound and radially unboundedness of V(t, x), we can give similar definitions for  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times R^n, R^1]$  with respect to partial variable y.

THEOREM 5.11.5 (Stability theorem with respect to y).

(1) Assume that there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$  such that  $V(t, x) \ge \varphi(||y||)$ for  $\varphi \in k$ , and  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.11.1)} \le 0$ , then the zero solution of (5.11.1) is stable with respect to partial variable y.



Figure 5.11.2. Partial variable attractivity.

(2) If condition (1) is satisfied and V(t, x) has infinitesimal upper bound, then the zero solution of (5.11.1) is uniformly stable with respect to partial variable y.

**PROOF.** (1)  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall t_0 \in I, \exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon) > 0$  such that  $\forall x_0 \in S_{\delta}$  it holds:

 $V(t_0, x_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon).$ 

Let  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0), x_0 \in S_{\delta}$ . By  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.11,1)} \leq 0$ , we have

$$\varphi(\|y(t,t_0,x_0)\|) \leqslant V(t,x(t,t_0,x_0)) \leqslant V(t_0,x_0) \leqslant \varphi(\varepsilon).$$

Hence, it follows that

 $\left\|y(t,t_0,x_0)\right\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0).$ 

So the zero solution of (5.11.1) is stable with respect to partial variable y.

(2) Since  $\varphi_1(||x||) \leq V(t,x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||), \forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta(\varepsilon) := \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon))$ . Then for  $||x_0|| < \delta$ , we have

$$\varphi_1(\|y(t, t_0, x_0)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0)$$
$$\leqslant \varphi_2(\|x_0\|) \leqslant \varphi_2(\varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon)))$$
$$= \varphi_1(\varepsilon).$$

Therefore,  $||y(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$   $(t \ge t_0)$ . Thus, the zero solution of (5.11.1) is uniformly stable with respect to the partial variable *y*.

The theorem is proved.

THEOREM 5.11.6 (Asymptotic stability theorem with respect to y). If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$  such that

$$\varphi_1(||y||) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2\left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^k x_i^2\right)^{1/2}\right) \quad \text{for } m \leq k \leq n,$$
$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.11.1)} \leq -\psi\left(\left(\sum_{i=1}^k x_i^2\right)^{1/2}\right),$$

then the zero solution of (5.11.1) is asymptotically stable with respect to the partial variable y.

PROOF. We only need to prove that the zero solution is attractive with respect to *y*, because the condition implies the stability with respect to *y*. By Theorem 5.11.5,  $\exists \delta(t_0), \forall x_0 \in S_{\delta}$  it holds:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) = 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\varphi_1(\|y(t)\|) \leqslant V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty.$$
(5.11.2)

Now we show that (5.11.2) is true by contradiction. Assume that there exists  $x_0$ ,  $||x_0|| < \delta$  such that

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

Since

$$\frac{dV(t, x(t, t_0, x_0))}{dt} \leqslant 0$$

implies that

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}V(t,x(t,t_0,x_0))=V_{\infty},$$

hence,  $V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \ge V_{\infty} > 0$ . By the condition we have

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} x_i^2(t, t_0, x_0)\right)^{1/2} \ge \varphi_2^{-1}(V_{\infty}) \text{ and } \frac{dV}{dt} \le -\psi(\varphi_2^{-1}(V_{\infty})),$$

and further we obtain

$$0 \leqslant V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant -\psi(\varphi_2^{-1}(V_\infty))(t - t_0) \to -\infty$$
  
as  $\to +\infty$ ,

which is a contradiction. So (5.11.2) holds, implying that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|y(t)\| = 0.$$

THEOREM 5.11.7 (Uniformly asymptotic stability theorem with respect to y). Assume that there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$  such that

(1)  $\varphi_1(||y||) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(||x||) \text{ for } \varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K;$ (2)  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(5.11.1)} \leq -\psi(||x(t, t_0, x_0)||) \text{ for } \psi \in K.$ 

*Then the zero solution of* (5.11.1) *is uniformly asymptotically stable with respect to partial variable y.* 

**PROOF.** By the condition,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take  $\delta(\varepsilon) = \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon))$  such that when  $||x_0|| < \delta$  we have

$$\varphi_1\big(\big\|y(t,t_0,x_0)\big\|\big) \leqslant V\big(t,x(t,t_0,x_0)\big) \leqslant V(t_0,x_0) \leqslant \varphi_2\big(\|x_0\|\big) \leqslant \varphi_1(\varepsilon),$$

so we obtain

$$\|y(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

Let  $\Delta_0 = \delta(H)$ ,  $T(\varepsilon) = \varphi_2(\Delta_0)/\psi(\delta(\varepsilon))$ ,  $||x_0|| < \Delta_0$ ,  $t_0 \in I$ . We prove that there exists  $t^* \in (t_0, t_0 + T)$  such that

$$\|x(t^*, t_0, x_0)\| < \delta(\varepsilon).$$
 (5.11.3)

If otherwise, assume that  $||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| \ge \delta(\varepsilon)$  for all  $t \in (t_0, t_0 + T)$ . Then by condition (2) it must hold:

$$0 \leq V(t_0 + t, x(t_0 + T, t_0, x_0))$$
  
$$\leq V(t_0, x_0) - \psi(\delta(\varepsilon))T < \psi(\Delta_0) - \psi(\delta(\varepsilon))T = 0, \qquad (5.11.4)$$

which is a contradiction, and so (5.11.3) is true.

Hence,  $||y(t, t_0, x_0)|| < \varepsilon$  when  $t \ge t_0 + T \ge t^*$ . This means that the conclusion of Theorem 5.11.7 holds.

In the following, we discuss instability with respect to partial variable y. We only need to show that  $\exists \delta > 0, \forall \delta_1 = 0, \exists x_0 \in S_{\delta_1}$  and  $t_1 > t_0$  such that  $\|y(t_1, t_0, x_0)\| \ge \delta_1$ .

The function U(t, x) is said to be positive definite in the region defined by V(t, x) > 0, where

 $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R],$ 

if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta(\varepsilon), \forall (t, x) \in G(t_0, x) := \{(t, x) \mid t \ge t_0, \|y\| \le H, \|z\| < \infty\}$ . Then  $U(t, x) \ge \delta > 0$  holds when if  $V(t, x) \ge \varepsilon$ .

THEOREM 5.11.8 (Instability theorem with respect to y). If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times \Omega, R^1]$  for  $\forall t \in I, \forall \varepsilon > 0, ||x|| \leq \varepsilon$ , then there exists a region defined by V > 0 such that V is bounded on V > 0, and  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.11.1)}$  is positive definite in the region V > 0. Then the zero solution of (5.11.1) is unstable.

PROOF. By contradiction, if otherwise, assume that the zero solution of (5.11.1) is stable. Then  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$  ( $\varepsilon \leq H$ ),  $\forall t_0 \in I, \exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon)$  such that when  $||x_0|| < \delta, t \geq 0$ t<sub>0</sub> it holds:

$$\|y(t, t_0, x_0)\| < \varepsilon \leq H.$$

For given  $\varepsilon_0 \leq H$ ,  $t_0 \in I$ , choose  $x_0$ ,  $||x_0|| < \delta(t_0, \varepsilon)$ , such that

$$V(t_0, x_0) = V_0 > 0.$$

Since  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(5.11.1)}$  is positive definite in the region V > 0, there exists l > 0 for  $V_0$ such that

$$\frac{dV(t, x(t))}{dt} \ge l > 0 \quad (t \ge t_0).$$

Hence,

$$V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \ge l(t - t_0) + V(t_0, x_0) \to +\infty \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty.$$

This is a contradiction with the boundedness of V > 0. So the zero solution is unstable with respect to partial variable y. The proof of theorem is complete.  $\Box$ 

In the following, we give some practically simple criteria of partial variable stability for nonlinear, time-varying dynamical systems.

Consider the following nonlinear, time-varying dynamical system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x + g(t, x),$$
 (5.11.5)

where

$$\begin{aligned} x &= (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T, \qquad A(t) = \left(a_{ij}(t)\right)_{n \times n} \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^{n^2}], \\ g(t, x) &\in C[I \times \Omega, \mathbb{R}^n], \qquad \Omega = \left\{ |||x|| \leq H \right\}, \\ g(t, 0) &\equiv 0, \qquad g(t, x) = \left(g_1(t, x), \dots, g_n(t, x)\right)^T, \end{aligned}$$

and  $\frac{\partial g(t,x)}{\partial x}$  exists. We rewrite (5.11.5) as

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = A_{11}(t)y + A_{12}(t)z + g_I(t,x), \qquad (5.11.5)_a$$

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = A_{21}(t)y + A_{22}(t)z + g_{II}(t,x), \qquad (5.11.5)_{\rm b}$$

where

$$y = (x_1, ..., x_m)^T, \qquad z = (x_{m+1}, ..., x_n)^T,$$

$$\begin{aligned} A_{11}(t) &= \left(a_{ij}(t)\right)_{m \times m}, \quad 1 \leq i, j \leq m, \\ A_{12}(t) &= \left(a_{ij}(t)\right)_{m \times (n-m)}, \quad 1 \leq i \leq m, \ m+1 \leq j \leq n, \\ A_{21}(t) &= \left(a_{ij}(t)\right)_{(n-m) \times n}, \quad m+1 \leq i \leq n, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ A_{22}(t) &= \left(a_{ij}(t)\right)_{(n-m) \times (n-m)}, \quad m+1 \leq i, \ j \leq n; \\ g_{I}(t,x) &= \left(g_{1}(t,x), \dots, g_{m}(t,x)\right)^{T}, \\ g_{II}(t,x) &= \left(g_{m+1}(t,x), \dots, g_{n}(t,x)\right)^{T}, \\ \left\|g_{i}(t,x)\right\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} l_{ij}(t)|x_{j}| \quad (i = 1, \dots, m), \\ \left\|g_{II}(t,x)\right\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} l_{ij}(t)|x_{j}| \quad (i = m+1, \dots, n). \end{aligned}$$

Let

$$\begin{split} L_{11}(t) &= \left(l_{ij}(t)\right)_{m \times m}, \quad 1 \leq i, \ j \leq m, \\ L_{12}(t) &= \left(l_{ij}(t)\right)_{m \times (n-m)}, \quad 1 \leq i \leq m, \ m+1 \leq j \leq n, \\ L_{21}(t) &= \left(l_{ij}(t)\right)_{(n-m) \times m}, \quad m+1 \leq i \leq n, \ 1 \leq j \leq m, \\ L_{22}(t) &= \left(l_{ij}(t)\right)_{(n-m) \times (n-m)}, \quad m+1 \leq i, \ j \leq n. \end{split}$$

THEOREM 5.11.9. *If the following conditions are satisfied*: (1)

(2)  
$$\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} \left( \left\| A_{11}(t) \right\| + \left\| L_{11}(t) \right\| \right) dt := M < +\infty,$$

$$\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(\xi) d\xi} \left( \left\| A_{12}(t) \right\| + \left\| L_{12}(t) \right\| \right) dt := k < +\infty,$$

then the zero solution of (5.11.5) is partially stable with respect to partial variable y, where  $\Lambda(t) = \Lambda_1(t) + \Lambda_2(t)$ ,  $\Lambda_1(t)$  is the maximal eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}(A(t) + A^T(t))$ , and  $\Lambda_2(t)$  is the maximal eigenvalue of  $\frac{1}{2}(L(t) + L^T(t))$ , where  $A(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$ ,  $L(t) = (l_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$ .

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V = \frac{1}{2}x^2.$$

Use  $(x, \tilde{x})$  to denote the inner product of vectors x and  $\tilde{x}$ . Let  $|x| = (|x_1|, ..., |x_n|)^T$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(5.11.5)} &= \left(\frac{dx}{dt}, x\right) \\ &= (Ax, x) + \left(g(t, x), x\right) \leqslant (Ax, x) + \left(L(t)|x|, |x|\right) \\ &\leqslant \frac{1}{2}x^T \left(A(t) + A^T(t)\right)x + \frac{1}{2}|x|^T \left(L(t) + L^T(t)\right)|x| \\ &\leqslant \Lambda_1(t)x^2 + \Lambda_2(t)x^2 \\ &= \Lambda(t)x^2 = 2\Lambda(t)V, \end{aligned}$$

from which we obtain

$$V(t) \leqslant V(t_0) e^{\int_{t_0}^t 2\Lambda(\xi) \, d\xi},$$
(5.11.6)

which implies that

$$||x(t)||^2 \leq ||x(t_0)||^2 e^{\int_{t_0}^t 2\Lambda(\xi) d\xi}.$$

Thus,

$$\|y(t)\| \le \|x(t)\| \le \|x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} \Lambda(\xi) d\xi},$$
(5.11.7)

$$\|z(t)\| \leq \|x(t)\| \leq \|x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^t \Lambda(\xi) \, d\xi}.$$
(5.11.8)

Rewrite  $(5.11.5)_a$  as an integral equation:

$$y(t) = y(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t A_{11}(\tau) y(\tau) d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t g_I(\tau, x(\tau)) d\tau.$$
 (5.11.9)

Using (5.11.5) and (5.11.6) to estimate (5.11.9) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|y(t)\| &\leq \|y(t_0)\| + \int_{t_0}^t \|A_{11}(\tau)\| \|y(\tau)\| \, d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t \|L_{11}(\tau)\| \|y(\tau)\| \, d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t \|A_{12}(\tau)\| \|z(\tau)\| \, d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t \|L_{12}(\tau)\| \|z(\tau)\| \, d\tau \\ &\leq \|x_0\| + \|x_0\| \int_{t_0}^t (\|A_{12}(\tau)\| + \|L_{12}(\tau)\|) e^{\int_{t_0}^\tau \Lambda(\xi) \, d\xi \, d\tau} \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \int_{t_0}^{t} \left( \left\| A_{11}(\tau) \right\| + \left\| L_{11}(\tau) \right\| \right) \left\| y(\tau) \right\| d\tau$$
  
$$\leq \left\| x(t_0) \right\| (1+k) + \int_{t_0}^{t} \left( \left\| A_{11}(\tau) \right\| + \left\| L_{11}(\tau) \right\| \right) \left\| y(\tau) \right\| d\tau.$$

Now applying Gronwall-Bellman inequality, we finally obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| y(t) \right\| &\leq \left\| x(t_0) \right\| (1+k) e^{\int_{t_0}^t (\|A_{11}(\tau)\| + \|L_{11}(\tau)\|) \, d\tau} \\ &\leq \left\| x(t_0) \right\| (1+k) e^M, \end{aligned}$$
(5.11.10)

from which we know that the zero solution of (5.11.5) is partially stable with respect to partial variable *y*.

THEOREM 5.11.10. If the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) For the *m*-dimensional linear system:

t

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = A_{11}(t)y, (5.11.11)$$

its Cauchy matrix solution satisfies the following estimation:

 $\|k(t,t_0)\| \leqslant M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)},$ 

where M and  $\alpha$  are positive constants;

(2)

$$e^{\int_{t_0}^t A(\xi) d\xi} (\|A_{12}(t)\| + \|L_{11}(t)\| + \|L_{12}(t)\|) \to 0 \quad as \ t \to +\infty,$$

where  $\Lambda(t)$  is defined in Theorem 5.11.9,

then the zero solution of (5.11.5) is partially asymptotically stable with respect to partial variable y.

PROOF. Based on equation  $(5.11.5)_a$ , with the aid of the variation constant formula, we have

$$y(t) = k(t, t_0)y(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t k(t, \tau)A_{12}(\tau)z(\tau) d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t k(t, \tau)g_I(t, x(\tau)) d\tau.$$
(5.11.12)

Hence,

$$\|y(t)\| \leq Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x(t_0)\| + \int_{t_0}^t Me^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|A_{12}(\tau)\| \|x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^{\tau} \Lambda(\xi) d\xi} d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t Me^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} (\|L_{11}(\tau)\| + \|L_{12}(\tau)\|) \|x(t_0)\| e^{\int_{t_0}^{\tau} \Lambda(\xi) d\xi} d\tau.$$
(5.11.13)

Let

$$I_{1}(t) = M \| x(t_{0}) \| e^{-\alpha(t-t_{0})},$$
  

$$I_{2}(t) = \| x(t_{0}) \| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} (\| A_{12}(\tau) \| + \| L_{11}(\tau) \| + \| L_{12}(\tau) \|) d\tau.$$

Obviously,  $I_1(t)$  and  $I_2(t)$  are linearly dependent with respect to  $||x_0||$ , and

$$\begin{split} \lim_{t \to +\infty} I_1(t) &= 0, \\ \lim_{t \to +\infty} I_2(t) &= \lim_{t \to +\infty} M \| x(t_0) \| e^{-\alpha t} \\ &\times \int_{t_0}^t (\| A_{12}(\tau) \| + \| L_{11}(\tau) \| + \| L_{12}(\tau) \|) e^{\alpha \tau} e^{\int_{t_0}^{\tau} \Lambda(\xi) d\xi} d\tau \\ &= M \| x(t_0) \| \\ &\times \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{(\| A_{12}(t) \| + \| L_{11}(t) \| + \| L_{12}(t) \|) e^{\alpha t} e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} \Lambda(\xi) d\xi}}{\alpha e^{\alpha t}} \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the zero solution of (5.11.5) is asymptotically stable with respect to partial variable y.

THEOREM 5.11.11. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) *condition* (1) *of Theorem* 5.11.10;
- (2)  $e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} \Lambda(\xi) d\xi} \leq e^{\gamma(t-t_0)}$ , where  $\gamma$  is a constant, and  $\Lambda(t)$  is defined as in Theorem 5.11.9;
- (3)  $(||A_{12}(t)|| + ||L_{11}(t)|| + ||L_{12}(t)||) \le \mu e^{\beta l}$ ,

where  $\beta$ ,  $\mu$  are positive constants and  $\beta + \gamma < 0$ , then the zero solution of (5.11.5) is exponentially stable with respect to partial variable y.

PROOF. Following Theorem 5.11.10, we can prove

$$||z(t)|| \le ||x(t)|| \le ||x(t_0)|| \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t \Lambda(\xi) \, d\xi\right) \le ||x_0|| e^{\gamma(t-t_0)},$$
 (5.11.14)

$$\|y(t)\| \le \|x(t)\| \le \|x(t_0)\| \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t \Lambda(\xi) d\xi\right) \le \|x_0\| e^{\gamma(t-t_0)}.$$
 (5.11.15)

Let

 $-\varepsilon = \beta + \gamma \quad \text{if } \alpha - \varepsilon > 0.$ 

From  $(5.11.5)_a$  and the variation constant formula, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} y(t) &= K(t, t_0) y(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, \tau) A_{12}(\tau) z(\tau) \, d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t K(t, \tau) A_{12}(\tau) z(\tau) \, d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t K(t, \tau) g_I(\tau, x(\tau)) \, d\tau, \\ \|y(t)\| &\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x(t_0)\| + \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|A_{12}(\tau)\| \|z(\tau)\| \, d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} (\|L_{11}(\tau)\| \|y(\tau)\| + \|L_{12}(\tau)\| \|z(\tau)\|) \, d\tau \\ &\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|x(t_0)\| + M \|x(t_0)\| \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|A_{12}(\tau)\| \|z(\tau)\| \, d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} (\|L_{11}(\tau)\| \|y(\tau)\| + \|L_{12}(\tau)\| \|z(\tau)\|) \, d\tau \\ &\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|x(t_0)\| + M \|x(t_0)\| \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|A_{12}(\tau)\| e^{\gamma(t-t_0)} \, d\tau \\ &+ M \|x(t_0)\| \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} (\|L_{11}(\tau)\| + \|L_{12}(\tau)\|) e^{\gamma(t-t_0)} \, d\tau \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x_0\| + \mu M \|x(t_0)\| e^{-\gamma t_0} e^{-\alpha t} \int_{t_0}^t M e^{(\alpha+\beta+\gamma)\tau} d\tau$$

$$= M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x_0\| + \mu M \|x(t_0)\| e^{-\gamma t_0} e^{-\alpha t} \int_{t_0}^t e^{(\alpha-\varepsilon)\tau} d\tau$$

$$= M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x_0\| + \mu M \|x(t_0)\| e^{-\gamma t_0} e^{-\alpha t} \left[ \frac{e^{(\alpha-\varepsilon)t}}{\alpha-\varepsilon} - \frac{e^{(\alpha-\varepsilon)t_0}}{\alpha-\varepsilon} \right]$$

$$\leq M \|x_0\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)} + \frac{\mu M e^{-\gamma t_0}}{\alpha-\varepsilon} e^{\varepsilon t_0} \|x_0\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}$$

$$= \left[ M \|x_0\| + \frac{\mu M e^{(-\gamma+\varepsilon)t_0}}{\alpha-\varepsilon} \|x_0\| \right] e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}$$

$$:= \tilde{M} \|x_0\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}, \qquad (5.11.16)$$

where

$$\tilde{M} = M + rac{\mu M e^{(-\gamma + \varepsilon)t_0}}{lpha - \varepsilon}.$$

Then if  $\alpha - \varepsilon < 0$ , we have

$$\|y(t)\| \leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x(t_0)\| + \mu M \|x(t_0)\| e^{-\gamma t_0} e^{-\alpha t} \left[\frac{e^{(\alpha-\varepsilon)t}}{\alpha-\varepsilon} - \frac{e^{(\alpha-\varepsilon)t_0}}{\alpha-\varepsilon}\right]$$
$$\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|x(t_0)\| + \mu M \|x(t_0)\| \frac{e^{(-\gamma-\varepsilon)t_0}}{\varepsilon-\alpha} e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$
$$:= M^* \|x(t_0)\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}, \tag{5.11.17}$$

where

$$M^* = M + \mu M \frac{e^{(-\gamma - \varepsilon)t_0}}{\varepsilon - \alpha}.$$

Finally, by (5.11.17) and (5.11.17), Theorem 5.11.11 is proved.

## 5.12. Stability and boundedness of sets

The Lyapunov function method can be generalized to analyze the stability and boundedness of set. The concept of stability and boundedness of set is very general, which includes many other stabilities as particular, like the Lyapunov stability, Lagrange stability and partial variable stability.

Consider the general system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(t, x), \tag{5.12.1}$$



Figure 5.12.1. The set M in  $I \times \mathbb{R}^n$ .



Figure 5.12.2. The projection of set M in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

where  $f(t, x) \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ .

Consider a set M on  $I \times \mathbb{R}^n$ , which can be unbounded or bounded. Let  $M(\sigma) := \{x, (\sigma, x) \in M\}$  denote the intersect of hyperplane  $t = \sigma$  and M, and  $\Pi_M$  stands for the projection of M on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , as shown in Figures 5.12.1 and 5.12.2.

If in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , there exists a set Q such that  $Q \supset \Pi_M$ , then M is bounded, and the minimum distance from x to M is expressed as d(x, M),

$$d(x, M) := \inf_{y \in \Pi_M} \|x - y\|.$$
(5.12.2)

Let  $M(\sigma, \varepsilon)$  be  $\varepsilon$ -neighborhood of  $M(\sigma)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , which denotes the distance of point of  $M(\sigma, \varepsilon)$  to M without exceeding  $\varepsilon$ .

DEFINITION 5.12.1. The set *M* is said to be stable (uniformly stable) with respect to system (5.12.1) if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I \exists \delta(t_0, \varepsilon, \alpha) > 0 (\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0)$ 

such that

$$\forall x_0 \in S_{\alpha} := \{ x \mid ||x|| \leq \alpha \},$$
when  $d(x_0, M(t_0)) < \delta(t_0, \varepsilon, \alpha) \ (< \delta(\varepsilon)) \text{ it holds}$ 

$$d(x(t, t_0, x_0), M(t)) < \varepsilon \quad (t \geq t_0).$$
(5.12.3)

DEFINITION 5.12.2. The set *M* is said to be globally attractive with respect to system (5.12.1) if every solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0) \rightarrow M$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ . The set *M* is said to be globally uniformly attractive, if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall \eta > 0, \forall \alpha > 0, \forall t_0 \in I$ , there exists  $T(\varepsilon, \eta) > 0$  such that when  $x_0 \in S_{\alpha} := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq \alpha\}$  and

$$d(x_0, M(t_0)) \leqslant \eta, \tag{5.12.4}$$

it holds  $d(x(t, t_0, x_0), M(t)) < \varepsilon \ (t \ge t_0 + T)$ .

DEFINITION 5.12.3. If the set is stable and attractive, then it is called asymptotically stable with respect to system (5.12.1).

DEFINITION 5.12.4. The set *M* is said to be uniformly bounded with respect to systems (5.12.1), if  $\forall \eta > 0$ ,  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \beta(\eta) > 0$  such that  $\forall x_0 \in R^n$  and when  $d(x_0, M(t_0)) < \eta$ , the following condition is satisfied:

$$d(x(t, t_0, x_0), M(t)) < \beta(\eta) \quad (t \ge t_0).$$
(5.12.5)

The concept of set is very general. Some examples are given below.

- (1) Let  $M(t) = \{I \times 0\}$ . Then the stability, attraction of M(t) are just, respectively, the stability and attraction of the zero solution in the sense of Lyapunov.
- (2) Let  $M(t) = \{I \times x(t, t_0, x_0)\}$ , and assume that system (5.12.1) is an autonomous system. Then the stability and attraction are just the Lyapunov stability for the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$ .
- (3) Let  $M(t) = \{I \times y = 0\}$ . Then the stability or attraction of M(t) is just the stability or attraction of the partial variable stability with respect to the partial variable *y*.
- (4) Let  $M(t) = I \times S_B := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq B\}$ . Then the attraction of M(t) is just the asymptotic stability of Lagrange.

THEOREM 5.12.5. If there exists a function  $V(t, x) \in C[I \times D_H, R], D_H := \{x \mid d(x, M(t)) \leq H\}$  such that on  $I \times D_H$  it holds:

- (1)  $\varphi_1(d(x, M(t))) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(d(x, M(t)))$  for  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$ ,
- (2)  $D^+V(t,x)|_{(5.12.1)} \leq 0$ ,

then the set M is uniformly stable.

PROOF.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $(\varepsilon < H)$ ,  $\forall (t_0, x_0) \in I \times D_H$ , let  $x(t) = x(t, t_0, x_0)$ , and take  $\delta = \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon))$ , i.e.,  $\varepsilon = \varphi_1^{-1}(\varphi_2(\delta))$ . Then when  $d(x_0, M(t_0)) < \delta$ , it holds

$$\varphi_1(d(x(t), M(t))) \leqslant V(t, x(t)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \varphi_2(d(x_0, M(t_0))) < \varphi_2(\delta).$$

Therefore, we have

$$d(x(t), M(t)) < \varphi_1^{-1}(\varphi_2(\delta)) = \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0),$$

i.e., M(t) is uniformly stable.

THEOREM 5.12.6. If there exists  $V(t, x) \in C^{(1)}[I \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$  such that

(1)  $\varphi_1(d(x, M)) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_2(d(x, M))$  for  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in KR$ , (2)  $\frac{dV(t,x)}{dt} \leq -\psi(d(x, M))$  for  $\psi \in K$ ,

then the set M is uniformly, globally and asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.** First, since the conditions of Theorem 5.12.6 imply the conditions of Theorem 5.12.5. Thus the set is uniformly stable.

Next, we prove the global attraction.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \forall \eta > 0, \forall \alpha > 0$ , then  $\forall t_0 \in I$ , by condition (2) it holds:

$$\varphi_1(d(x(t), M(t))) \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq \varphi_2(d(x(t), M(t))).$$

Thus,

$$d(x(t), M(t)) \ge \varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t, x(t))),$$

$$\frac{d}{dt}V(t, x(t)) \le -\psi(\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t, x(t)))) < 0,$$

$$\frac{dV(t, x(t))}{\psi(\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t, x(t))))} \le -dt,$$

$$\int_{V(t_{0}, x(t_{0}))}^{V(t, x(t))} \frac{dV}{\psi(\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t, x(t))))} \le -(t - t_{0}),$$

$$\int_{V(t_{0}, x(t_{0}))}^{V(t_{0}, x(t_{0}))} \frac{dV}{\psi(\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t, x(t))))} \ge t - t_{0}.$$
(5.12.6)

Let

$$V(t_0) \leqslant \varphi_2(d(x_0, M(t_0))) \leqslant \varphi_2(\eta).$$

238

Then, we have

$$t - t_{0} \leqslant \int_{V(t_{0},x(t_{0}))}^{V(t_{0},x(t_{0}))} \frac{dV}{\psi[\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t,x(t)))]}$$
  
$$\leqslant \int_{\varphi_{1}(d(x(t),M(t)))}^{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)} \frac{dV}{\psi[\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t,x(t)))]}$$
  
$$+ \int_{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_{2}(\eta)} \frac{dV}{\psi[\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t,x(t)))]}.$$
 (5.12.7)

Take

$$T = T(\varepsilon, \eta) > \int_{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_2(\eta)} \frac{dV}{\psi[\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t, x(t)))]}.$$

Obviously, when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ , the following holds:

$$\int_{\varphi_{1}(d(x(t),M(t)))}^{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)} \frac{dV}{\psi[\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t,x(t)))]} \ge t - t_{0},$$
  
$$-\int_{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_{2}(\eta)} \frac{dV}{\psi[\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t,x(t)))]} \ge t - t_{0} - T \ge 0.$$

So  $\varphi_1(\varepsilon) > \varphi_1(d(x(t), M(t)))$ , i.e.,

$$d(x(t), M(t)) < \varepsilon$$
 when  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, \eta)$ .

Hence, M is globally, uniformly, asymptotically stable.

Following the proof of Lagrange stability theorem, one can prove the following theorem.

### THEOREM 5.12.7. If there exists a function

 $V(t, x) \in C[I \times D_{H}^{c}, R^{1}], \quad D_{H}^{c} := \{x \mid d(x, M(t)) \geq H\}$ such that on  $I \times D_{H}^{c}$  it holds: (1)  $\varphi_{1}(d(x, M(t))) \leq V(t, x) \leq \varphi_{2}(d(x, M(t)))$  for  $\varphi_{1}, \varphi_{2} \in KR$ , (2)  $D^{+}V(t, x)|_{(5.12.1)} \leq 0$ ,

then the set M is uniformly bounded with respect to system (5.12.1).
This page intentionally left blank

#### Nonlinear Systems with Separate Variables

There is some special interest of nonlinear systems with separated variables in the field of control theory. The reason is that this kind of nonlinear systems is a natural extension of linear systems. For example, if a part of components of a linear system is changed into some appropriate nonlinear ones, the linear system is changed into a nonlinear system with separated variables. Also, some nonlinear systems can be transformed into this kind of systems by using certain invertible transformations. The typical examples can be found in ecological systems, Lurie control systems and some neural networks. Classical research for 2- and 3-dimensional systems was developed along with the Aizeman's conjecture.

In this chapter, we first introduce a linear form of V function method. Then, we present a general nonlinear form of V function method to obtain a general criterion of global stability for autonomous nonlinear systems with separated variables. By this method, we can study global stability of general systems with separated variables and nonautonomous systems with separated variables. Finally, we present some results on the properties of boundedness and dissipation for this kind of systems.

More details for the results presented in this chapter can be found in [228,229, 235,237,248,253,263,350].

#### 6.1. Linear Lyapunov function method

Consider a nonlinear system with separated variables:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{1j}(x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{nj}(x_j)\right)^T,$$
(6.1.1)

where  $f_{ij}(x_j) \in C[R, R]$ ,  $f_{ij}(0) = 0$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n. Suppose that the solution of the initial value problem (6.1.1) is unique.

We first introduce the results obtained in [228,229]. Let

$$\varphi_i(x_i) = \begin{cases} a_i & \text{when } x_i \ge 0, \\ -b_i & \text{when } x_i < 0, \end{cases} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(6.1.2)

where  $a_i > 0$  and  $b_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, are constants.

THEOREM 6.1.1. If there exist functions  $\varphi_i(x_i)$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j) < 0 \quad (x_j \neq 0, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$
(6.1.3)

then the zero solution of system (6.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. We employ the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) x_i,$$
(6.1.4)

which is positive definite and radially unbounded. Consider any nonzero solution

$$x(t) := x(t, t_0, x^{(0)}).$$
(6.1.5)

Now we prove  $V(x(t)) < V(x^{(0)})$  for  $t > t_0$ , i.e., V(x) is strictly monotone decreasing.

From system (6.1.1), we find that

$$\left. \frac{dx_i(t)}{dt} \right|_{t=t_0} = f_{i1}(x_1^{(0)}) + \dots + f_{in}(x_n^{(0)}) := l_i \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$

that is,

$$\lim_{t \to t_0} \frac{x_i(t) - x_i^{(0)}}{t - t_0} = l_i$$

Thus,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta > 0$ , when  $t_0 \leq t \leq t_0 + \delta$  we have

$$l_i - \varepsilon < \frac{x_i(t) - x_i^{(0)}}{t - t_0} < l_i + \varepsilon,$$
(6.1.6)

which is equivalent to

$$x_i(t) < x_i^{(0)} + (l_i + \varepsilon)(t - t_0),$$
 (6.1.7)

$$x_i(t) > x_i^{(0)} + (l_i - \varepsilon)(t - t_0).$$
 (6.1.8)

Then, from  $\varphi_i(x_i(t)) = a_i > 0$  for  $x_i(t) > 0$ , and by (6.1.7), we drive that

$$\varphi_i(x_i(t))x_i(t) < \varphi_i(x_i(t))x_i^{(0)} + (l_i + \varepsilon)(t - t_0)\varphi_i(x_i(t)), \qquad (6.1.9)$$

and

$$\varphi_i(x_i(t)) = -b_i < 0 \quad \text{for } x_i(t) < 0.$$

It follows from (6.1.8) that

$$\varphi_i\big(x_i(t)\big)x_i(t) < \varphi_i\big(x_i(t)\big)x_i^{(0)} + (l_i - \varepsilon)(t - t_0)\varphi_i\big(x_i(t)\big).$$
(6.1.10)

Let  $\varepsilon_i = \pm \varepsilon$ . Combining (6.1.9) and (6.1.10) yields

$$\varphi_i(x_i(t))x_i(t) < \varphi_i(x_i(t))x_i^{(0)} + (l_i + \varepsilon_i)(t - t_0)\varphi_i(x_i(t)).$$
(6.1.11)

Hence,

$$V(x(t)) < \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) x_i^{(0)} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) (l_i + \varepsilon_i)(t - t_0).$$
(6.1.12)

Since  $x_i(t)$  is continuous with respect to t, when  $x^{(0)} \neq 0$ , we can choose  $\delta > 0$  such that  $x_i(t) \neq 0$ , and when  $t_0 \leq t \leq t_0 + \delta$ ,  $x_j^{(0)} x_i(t) > 0$ , i.e.,

$$\varphi_j(x_j(t)) = \varphi_j(x_j^{(0)}).$$

However,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) l_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_j^{(0)})$$
  

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) f_{ij}(x_j^{(0)})$$
  

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\varphi_j(x_j^{(0)}) f_{jj}(x_j^{(0)})) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) f_{ij}(x_j^{(0)})$$
  

$$:= \sum_{j=1}^{n} -k_j(x_j^{(0)}).$$
(6.1.13)

As a result, it holds

$$V(x(t)) < \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i^{(0)}) x_i^{(0)} + (t-t_0) \left\{ -\sum_{j=1}^{n} k_j(x_j^{(0)}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i(t)) \varepsilon_i \right\},\$$

where  $k_i(x_i^{(0)}) > 0$  is a constant and  $0 < \varepsilon_i \ll 1$ ,  $\varphi_i(x_i(t))$  is bounded. So we can choose  $\varepsilon_i$  such that

$$-\sum_{j=1}^n k_j(x_j^{(0)}) + \sum_{i=1}^n \varphi_i(x_i(t))\varepsilon_i < 0.$$

Thus, there exists T > 0 such that

$$V(x(t)) < V(x^{(0)}) \quad (t_0 < t \le T).$$
 (6.1.14)

Next, we prove that (6.1.14) is true for all  $t > t_0$ . If otherwise, there exists  $t_2 > t_0$  such that

$$V(x(t)) < V(x^{(0)}) \quad (t_0 < t < t_2),$$
  
$$V(x(t_2)) = V(x^{(0)}).$$

Owing to that V(x(t)) is a continuous function of t, there exists  $t_1 \in (t_0, t_2)$  such that

$$V(x(t_1)) \leqslant V(x(t)). \tag{6.1.15}$$

Let  $x' = x(t_1, t_0, x^{(0)}), x(t, t_1, x') = x(t, t_0, x^{(0)})$ . Then, we have

$$V(x(t, t_0, x^{(0)})) = V(x(t, t_1, x')) < V(x'),$$
  

$$t_1 < t \le t_1 + \delta_1, \ 0 < \delta_1 \ll 1.$$
(6.1.16)

Combining (6.1.15) and (6.1.16) leads to a contradiction. Therefore, (6.1.14) holds for all  $t > t_0$ .

Let

$$\lambda_m := \min_{1 \le i \le n} (a_i, b_i),$$
  
$$\lambda_M := \max_{1 \le i \le n} (a_i, b_i),$$
  
$$\|x\| := \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i|, \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

When

$$\|x^{(0)}\| \leq \delta(\varepsilon) := \frac{\lambda_m}{\lambda_M} \varepsilon,$$

we have

$$\|x(t)\| \leq \frac{1}{\lambda_m} V(x(t)) \leq \frac{1}{\lambda_m} V(x^{(0)}) \leq \frac{\lambda_M}{\lambda_m} \|x^{(0)}\| \leq \varepsilon \quad (t \ge t_0). \quad (6.1.17)$$

Hence, the zero solution of (6.1.1) is stable.

The limit

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} V(x(t)) = V_0 \ge 0$$

exists. Since the solution has a nonempty  $\omega$ -limit set, it has an  $\omega$ -limit orbit  $\tilde{x}(t)$  for every fixed *t*. So we can find  $\{t_k\}, t_k \to \infty$ , such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} x(t_k) = \tilde{x}(t)$$

and

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} V(x(t_k)) = V(\tilde{x}(t)).$$
(6.1.18)

Thus, for all t it holds

 $V\big(\tilde{x}(t)\big) = V_0.$ 

As a result, it has been verified that  $\tilde{x}(t) \equiv 0$  and  $V_0 = 0$ . Since the function V(x(t)) is strictly monotone decreasing, this implies that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) = 0.$$

The proof of Theorem 6.1.1 is complete.

EXAMPLE 6.1.2. When n = 2, system (6.1.1) becomes

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = f_{11}(x_1) + f_{12}(x_2), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = f_{21}(x_1) + f_{22}(x_2). \end{cases}$$

We take

$$V(x_1, x_2) = \varphi_1(x_1)x_1 + \varphi_2(x_2)x_2$$
  
= 
$$\begin{cases} a_1x_1 + a_2x_2 = c, & x_1 \ge 0, \ x_2 \ge 0, \\ -b_1x_1 + a_2x_2 = c, & x_1 < 0, \ x_2 \ge 0, \\ -b_1x_1 - b_2x_2 = c, & x_1 < 0, \ x_2 < 0, \\ a_1x_1 - b_2x_2 = c, & x_1 \ge 0, \ x_2 < 0. \end{cases}$$

The geometric interpretation of V is shown as in Figure 6.1.1.

If system (6.1.1) is a linear system, described by

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(6.1.1)'

then we have a stronger result, since the asymptotic stability of a linear system is equivalent to the globally exponentially stability of the system.

COROLLARY 6.1.3. Consider the linear system (6.1.1)'. If  $a_{jj} < 0$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n) and there exist  $a_j > 0$ ,  $b_j > 0$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$a_{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \varphi_{i}(x_{i})a_{ij} < 0,$$

$$-b_{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \varphi_{i}(x_{i})a_{ij} > 0,$$
(6.1.20)



Figure 6.1.1. Linear Lyapunov functions.

then the zero solution of system (6.1.1)' is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. By (6.1.19) and (6.1.20), we have

$$a_j a_{jj} x_j + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \varphi_i(x_i) a_{ij} x_j < 0 \quad \text{for } x_j > 0,$$
  
$$-b_j a_{jj} x_j + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \varphi_i(x_i) a_{ij} x_j < 0 \quad \text{for } x_j < 0,$$

i.e., when  $x_j \neq 0$ , it holds

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) a_{ij} x_j < 0 \quad \text{for } j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Hence, the conditions in Theorem 6.1.1 are satisfied, and the conclusion holds.  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY 6.1.4. Suppose  $a_{jj} < 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ . Let

$$a := \max_{j=2,\dots,n} \left\{ \max_{i=1,2,\dots,n-1} \left| \frac{na_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right|^{\frac{1}{j-i}} \right\} \quad (j > i),$$
  
$$\frac{1}{b} := \max_{j=1,2,\dots,n-1} \left\{ \max_{i=2,\dots,n} \left| \frac{a_{jj}}{na_{ij}} \right|^{\frac{1}{i-j}} \right\} \quad (i > j).$$

If  $b \ge a > 0$ , then the zero solution of the system (6.1.1)' is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. From the conditions it follows that

1

$$a \ge \left|\frac{na_{ij}}{a_{jj}}\right|^{\frac{1}{j-i}}, \quad \text{i.e.,} \quad \frac{a^{j-i}}{n} \ge \left|\frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}}\right| \quad (j > i, \ j = 2, \dots, n),$$
$$\frac{1}{b} \ge \left|\frac{na_{ij}}{a_{jj}}\right|^{\frac{1}{i-j}}, \quad \text{i.e.,} \quad \frac{a^{j-i}}{n} \ge \left|\frac{a_{ji}}{a_{jj}}\right| \quad (i > j, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1).$$

Taking  $a_i = a^i, b_i = a^i, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , we have

$$\begin{split} a_{j}a_{jj} &+ \sum_{i \neq j}^{n} \varphi_{i}(x_{i})a_{ij} \leqslant a^{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} |\varphi_{i}(x_{i})||a_{ij}| \\ &= a^{j}|a_{jj}| \left\{ -1 + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} \frac{a^{i}}{a^{j}} \left| \frac{a_{ij}}{a_{jj}} \right| \right\} \\ &\leqslant a^{j}|a_{jj}| \left\{ -1 + \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} a^{i-j} \frac{a^{j-i}}{n} + \sum_{i=j+1}^{n} a^{i-j} \frac{b^{j-i}}{n} \right\} \\ &\leqslant a^{j}|a_{jj}| \left\{ -1 + \frac{j-1}{n} + \sum_{i=j+1}^{n} a^{i-j} \frac{a^{j-i}}{n} \right\} \\ &= a^{j}|a_{ij}| \left\{ -1 + \frac{j-1}{n} + \frac{n-j}{n} \right\} \\ &= a^{j}|a_{ij}| \left\{ -1 + \frac{j-1}{n} + \frac{n-j}{n} \right\} \\ &\leq 0 \quad \text{for } a \leqslant b, \ i > j, \ a^{i-j} \leqslant b^{i-j}. \end{split}$$

By the same argument, one can prove that

$$-b_j a_{jj} + \sum_{i \neq j}^n \varphi_j(x_i) a_{ij} > 0.$$

Thus, the conclusion of Corollary 6.1.4 is true.

Let

$$|B| := \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & |a_{21}| & \cdots & |a_{n1}| \\ |a_{12}| & a_{22} & \cdots & |a_{n2}| \\ \vdots & & & \\ |a_{1n}| & |a_{2n}| & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{vmatrix},$$

and  $|B_{ij}|$  denote the complement minor of the element (i, j) in |B|. Then we have the following result.

COROLLARY 6.1.5. If  $|B||B_{ij}| < 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n, then the zero solution of system (6.1.1)' is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF.  $\forall \delta_1 > 0$ , take  $0 < \delta_i \ll 1$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$\left(-\delta_1|B_{1s}|-\delta_2|B_{2s}|-\cdots-\delta_n|B_{nz}|\right)\left(-\delta_1|B_{1s}|\right)>0.$$

Consider  $\xi_i$  (*i* = 1, 2, ..., *n*) in the linear equations:

$$\begin{cases} \xi_1 a_{11} + \xi_2 |a_{21}| + \dots + \xi_n |a_{n1}| = -\delta_1, \\ \xi_1 |a_{12}| + \xi_2 a_{22} + \dots + \xi_n |a_{n2}| = -\delta_2, \\ \vdots \\ \xi_1 |a_{1n}| + \xi_2 |a_{2n}| + \dots + \xi_n a_{nn} = -\delta_n. \end{cases}$$
(6.1.21)

The solution is given by

$$\xi_j = \frac{1}{|B|} \left( -\delta_1 |B_{1j}| - \delta_2 |B_{2j}| - \dots - \delta_n |B_{nz}| \right) \quad (j = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$

By the choice of  $\delta_i$  (*j* = 1, ..., *n*) and  $|B||B_{ij}| < 0$  (*j* = 1, 2, ..., *n*), we obtain

$$\xi_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i \neq j \ i=1}}^n \varphi_i(x_i) a_{ij} \leqslant \xi_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i \neq j \ i=1}}^n \xi_i |a_{ij}| = -\delta_j < 0.$$

So the conclusion is true.

REMARK 6.1.6. Corollaries 6.1.3–6.1.5 are only applicable for linear systems. Actually, the conclusion is also true for nonlinear systems. We have the following result.

THEOREM 6.1.7. If  $x_j f_{jj}(x_j) < 0$  for  $x_j \neq 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n, and there exists a constant  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\left|\frac{f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)}\right| \leqslant \frac{a^{j-i}}{n} \quad (i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n, i \neq j),$$

then the zero solution to system (6.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Let  $a_i = b_i = a^i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n. When  $x_j \neq 0$ , we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j) = \varphi_j(x_j) f_{jj}(x_j) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j)$$

$$= \left|\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j})\right| \left\{-1 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{\varphi_{i}(x_{i})f_{ij}(x_{j})}{|\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j})|}\right\}$$

$$\leq \left|\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j})\right| \left\{-1 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left|\frac{\varphi_{i}(x_{i})}{\varphi_{j}(x_{j})}\right|\right| \left\{\int_{j}^{n} \frac{f_{ij}(x_{j})}{f_{ij}(x_{j})}\right|\right\}$$

$$\leq \left|\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j})\right| \left\{-1 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} a^{i-j} \frac{a^{j-i}}{n}\right\}$$

$$= -n^{-1} \left|\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j})\right|$$

$$< 0,$$

which implies that the conditions in Theorem 6.1.1 are satisfied. Thus, the conclusion of Theorem 6.1.7 is true.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Let

$$\left|\frac{f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)}\right| \leqslant a_{ij} \quad (i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n, i \neq j) \text{ for } x_j \neq 0,$$
$$|A^*| := \begin{vmatrix} -1 & a_{21} & \cdots & a_{n1} \\ a_{12} & -1 & \cdots & a_{n2} \\ \vdots & & & \\ a_{1n} & \cdots & & -1 \end{vmatrix},$$

where  $|A_{ij}^*|$  denotes the complement minor of the element (i, j) in  $|A^*|$ .

THEOREM 6.1.8. If  $x_j f_{jj}(x_j) < 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n, and  $|A^*||A_{ij}^*| < 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n, then the zero solution of system (6.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Following the proof of Corollary 6.1.5,  $\forall \delta_1 > 0$ , choose  $0 < \delta_i < 1$  such that

$$a_j(-1) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n a_i a_{ij} = -\delta_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

....

where

$$a_{i} = \frac{1}{|A^{*}|} \left( -\delta_{1} |A_{1i}^{*}| - \dots - \delta_{n} |A_{ni}^{*}| \right) > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Take  $b_i = a_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n). Then  $x_j \varphi_j(x_j) > 0$ ,  $x_j f_{jj}(x_j) < 0$  and  $x_j \neq 0$  imply

$$\varphi_j(x_j) f_{jj}(x_j) < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ x_j \neq 0.$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) f_{ij}(x_{j}) &= \varphi_{j}(x_{j}) f_{jj}(x_{j}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) f_{ij}(x_{j}) \\ &\leq \left| \varphi_{j}(x_{j}) f_{jj}(x_{j}) \right| \left\{ -1 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left| \frac{\varphi_{i}(x_{i})}{\varphi_{j}(x_{j})} \right| \left| \frac{f_{ij}(x_{j})}{f_{jj}(x_{j})} \right| \right\} \\ &\leq \left| \varphi_{j}(x_{j}) f_{jj}(x_{j}) \right| \left\{ -1 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{a_{i}}{a_{j}} a_{ij} \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{a_{j}} \left| \varphi_{j}(x_{j}) f_{jj}(x_{j}) \right| \left\{ a_{j}(-1) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} a_{i} a_{ij} \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{a_{j}} \left| \varphi_{j}(x_{j}) f_{jj}(x_{j}) \right| \{ -\delta_{j} \} < 0 \quad (x_{j} \neq 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n), \end{split}$$

which means that the conditions of Theorem 6.1.1 are satisfied. Hence, the zero solution of system (6.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.  $\Box$ 

Note that the 2n constants  $a_i, b_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) need to be determined, but under some very weak conditions. Only n constants need to be determined. We have

THEOREM 6.1.9. (See [234,235].) If the sign of  $f_{ij}(x_j)$  ( $i \neq j$ ) is variable, then there exists a function

$$\varphi_i(x_i) = \begin{cases} a_i > 0, & x_i \ge 0, \\ -b_i < 0, & x_i < 0, \end{cases}$$

such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j) < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
(6.1.22)

if and only if there exist constants  $c_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$-c_{j}|f_{jj}(x_{j})| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i}|f_{ij}(x_{j})| < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(6.1.23)

PROOF. Obviously, (6.1.22) implies (6.1.23) because one can take  $b_i = a_i$ .

Now suppose (6.1.23) is true. We rewrite (6.1.22) as

$$\varphi_j(x_j)f_{jj}(x_j) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \varphi_i(x_i)f_{ij}(x_j) < 0.$$
(6.1.24)

Since  $\varphi_i(x_i)$   $(i \neq j)$  are independent of  $f_{ij}(x_j)$ , let  $a_{i_0} > b_{i_0}$   $(i_0 \neq j)$ , then when  $\varphi_{i_0}(x_{i_0}) = a_{i_0}$ , (6.1.24) becomes

$$\varphi_j(x_j)f_{jj}(x_j) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j\\i\neq i_0}}^n \varphi_i(x_i)f_{ij}(x_j) + a_{i_0}f_{i_0j}(x_j) < 0.$$
(6.1.25)

By the property of variable sign of  $f_{i_0 j}(x_j)$ , it must hold:

$$\varphi_j(x_j)f_{jj}(x_j) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq i_0, i\neq j}}^n \varphi_i(x_i)f_{ij}(x_j) + a_{i_0}|f_{i_0,j}(x_j)| < 0.$$

For other cases when  $i \neq j$ , a similar argument yields

$$\varphi_j(x_j)f_{jj}(x_j) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \max\{a_i, b_i\} |f_{ij}(x_j)| < 0,$$

i.e.,

$$a_{j}\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \max\{a_{i}, b_{i}\} |f_{ij}(x_{j})| < 0 \quad (x_{j} \ge 0),$$
  
$$-b_{j}\varphi_{j}(x_{j})f_{jj}(x_{j}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \max\{a_{i}, b_{i}\} |f_{ij}(x_{j})| < 0 \quad (x_{j} \le 0).$$

Let

 $c_i = \max\{a_i, b_i\}$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n).

Then,

$$-\max\{a_{j}, b_{j}\} |f_{jj}(x_{j})| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \max\{a_{i}, b_{i}\} |f_{ij}(x_{j})|$$
$$:= -c_{j} |f_{jj}(x_{j})| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i} |f_{ij}(x_{j})| < 0 \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., n).$$

The proof of Theorem 6.1.9 is complete.

In the following, we give some sufficient conditions for the existence of  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., n) in Theorem 6.1.9.

THEOREM 6.1.10. Assume that

(1) 
$$x_j f_{jj}(x_j) < 0$$
 for  $x_j \neq 0$ ;

(2) 
$$\left|\frac{f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)}\right| \leqslant a_{ij};$$

(3) *the matrix* 

$$A := \begin{vmatrix} 1 & -a_{12} & \cdots & -a_{1n} \\ -a_{21} & 1 & \cdots & a_{2n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ -a_{n1} & -a_{n2} & \cdots & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$

is an M matrix.

Then the zero solution of system (6.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Since A is an M matrix,  $A^T$  is also M matrix.  $\forall \xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n)^T > 0$ , the linear equation for  $\eta$ :

 $A^T \eta = \xi, \quad \eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_n)^T$ 

has positive solution  $C = \eta = (A^T)^{-1} \xi > 0$ . Take

 $\varphi_i(x_i) = -\operatorname{sign} f_{ii}(x_i)c_i.$ 

Then,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_{i}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} -\text{sign } f_{ii}(x_{i})c_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_{j})$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} -c_{j} |f_{jj}(x_{j})| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i} |f_{ij}(x_{j})|$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ -c_{j} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i}a_{ij} \right] |f_{jj}(x_{j})|$$

$$= -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{i} |f_{jj}(x_{j})|$$

$$< 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq 0.$$

So the conclusion holds.

COROLLARY 6.1.11. If  $a_{ij} \ge 0$  and one of the following conditions holds, then A is an M matrix:

(1) 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} a_{ij} \mu_j + \sum_{j=i+1}^n a_{ij} := \mu_i < 1 \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., n);$$

(2) 
$$\rho_1 = \max_{2 \leq j \leq n} a_{1j}, \quad \rho_2 = a_{21}\rho_1 + \max_{3 \leq j \leq n} a_{2j}, \quad \dots,$$

$$\rho_n := \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} a_{nj} \rho_j, \quad \sum_{j=1}^n \rho_j < 1;$$

(3) 
$$\left[\sum_{j=1}^{l} a_{ij}^2 \sigma_j^2 + \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} a_{ij}^2\right] := \sigma_i^2, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_i^2 < 1;$$

(4) 
$$\max_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n}\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n}a_{ij}<1;$$

(5) 
$$\max_{1 \leq j \leq n} \sum_{\substack{i=1 \\ i \neq j}}^{n} a_{ij} < 1;$$

(6) 
$$\sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} a_{ij}^2 < 1;$$

(7) 
$$h_i := 1 - \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \neq i}}^n \frac{1}{2}(a_{ij} + a_{ji}) > 0.$$

The conclusion of Corollary 6.1.11 is obvious since each of the seven conditions implies the sufficient condition of Theorem 6.1.10.

## 6.2. General nonlinear Lyapunov function with separable variable

In this section, we generalize the method described in Section 6.1 to consider general nonlinear Lyapunov function with separable variables.

Consider the general nonlinear autonomous system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(x), \quad f(0) = 0,$$
(6.2.1)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ ,  $f(x) = (f_1(x), \dots, f_n(x))^T$ . Assume that the solution of the initial value problem of (6.2.1) is unique.

DEFINITION 6.2.1. A function  $\varphi(x) \in C[R, R]$  is said to have a discontinuous point of the first kind at  $x_0$ , if both the right limit

 $\lim_{x\to x_0^+}\varphi(x),$ 

and the left limit

$$\lim_{x \to x_0^-} \varphi(x)$$

exist and are bounded.

THEOREM 6.2.2. If there exist functions  $\varphi_i(x) \in [R, R]$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first kind, such that

(1)  $\varphi_i(x_i)x_i > 0 \text{ for } x_i \neq 0;$ (2)  $\int_0^{\pm\infty} \varphi_i(x_i) dx_i = +\infty, i = 1, 2, ..., n;$ (3)  $G(x) := \sum_{i=1}^n \varphi_i(x_i \pm 0) f_i(x) \text{ is negative definite};$ 

then the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.** We construct a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_i} \varphi_i(x_i) \, dx_i.$$
(6.2.2)

We now prove that along any nonzero solution  $x(t, \tau, \xi)$  of system (6.2.1), V(x) is strictly monotone decreasing, i.e.,

$$V(x(t,\tau,\xi)) := \psi(t) < \psi(\tau) := V(x(\tau,\tau,\xi)) \quad \text{for } t > \tau.$$
(6.2.3)

First, we show that (6.2.3) holds when  $0 < t - \tau \ll 1$ . Rewrite (6.2.1) as an integral equation, and then by mean value theorem, we obtain

$$x_{i}(t,\tau,\xi) = \xi_{i} + \int_{\tau}^{t} f_{i}(x(s,\tau,\xi)) ds = \xi_{i} + (t-\tau) f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi))$$
$$= \xi_{i} + (t-\tau) f_{i}(\xi) + (t-\tau) [f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi)) - f_{i}(\xi)] \quad (6.2.4)$$

for  $t_i \in [\tau, t]$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n. Thus,  $\forall \varepsilon_{i1} > 0$ ,  $\varepsilon_{i2} > 0$ , by the continuity of  $f_i(x)$  and the solution  $x(t, \tau, \xi)$ , there exists  $\delta_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that for  $0 < t - \tau < \delta_i$  there is no discontinuous point of  $\varphi_s(x_s)$  on  $[\xi_i, \xi_i + (t - t)]$ 

 $\tau$ )  $f_i(x(t_i, \tau, \xi))$ ] except  $\xi_i$  and at least there is an *i* such that  $f_i(x(t_i, \tau, \xi)) \neq 0$ . When  $f_i(x(t_i, \tau, \xi)) > 0$ , applying the mean value theorem once again yields

$$\int_{0}^{x_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} = \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}-0} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + \int_{\xi_{i}+0}^{\xi_{i}+(t-\tau)[f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi))-f_{i}(\xi)]} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i}$$

$$< \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}-0} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + (t-\tau)[f_{i}(\xi)\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)) + \varepsilon_{i1}|\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))|]$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}-0} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{2} + (t-\tau)\{f_{i}(\xi)[\varphi_{i}(\varphi_{i}\pm 0) + (\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)))]$$

$$-\varphi_{i}(\xi_{i}\pm 0)]\} + (t-\tau)\varepsilon_{i1}|\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))|$$

$$< \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}-0} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + (t-\tau)f_{i}(\xi)\varphi_{i}(\xi_{i}\pm 0) + (t-\tau)\varepsilon_{i2}|f_{i}(\xi)|$$

$$+ (t-\tau)\varepsilon_{i1}|\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))|, \quad \bar{t}_{i}\in[\tau,t], \ i=1,2,\ldots,n. \quad (6.2.5)$$

When  $f_i(x(t_i, \tau, \xi)) < 0$ , by using

$$\int_{0}^{x_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} = \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}-0} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + \int_{\varphi_{i}+0}^{\xi_{i}+(t-\tau)[f_{i}(\xi)+f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi))-f_{i}(\xi)]} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i},$$

we have a similar estimation as (6.2.5). Thus, we obtain

$$V(x(t,\tau,\xi)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i}$$
  

$$< \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + (t-\tau) \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(\xi)\varphi_{i}(\xi_{i} \pm 0) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{i2} |f_{i}(\xi)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{i1} |\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))| \right]$$
  

$$= V(x(\tau,\tau,\xi)) + (t-\tau) \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(\xi)\varphi_{i}(\xi \pm 0) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{i2} |f_{i}(\xi)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{i1} |\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))| \right]. \quad (6.2.6)$$

By condition (3) and the arbitrary of  $\varepsilon_{i1}$ ,  $\varepsilon_{i2}$ , when  $0 < t - \tau \ll 1$ , (6.2.3) holds.

Second, we prove that (6.2.3) holds for all  $t > \tau$ . Otherwise, assume that there exists  $\tau_1 > \tau$  such that  $\psi(\tau_1) = \psi(\tau)$ . Since  $\psi(t)$  is a continuous function, there exists  $t^* \in [\tau, \tau_1]$  such that

$$\psi(t^*) \leqslant \psi(t) \quad \forall t \in [\tau, \tau_1]. \tag{6.2.7}$$

Let  $\xi^* = x(t^*, \tau, \xi)$ . Then,  $x(t, t^*, \xi^*) \equiv x(t, \tau, \xi)$  and it must have

$$\psi(t) = V(x(t, t^*, \xi^*)) < \psi(t^*) \quad \text{for } 0 < t - t^* \ll 1.$$
(6.2.8)

This is a contradiction. So (6.2.3) holds for all  $t \ge t_0$ .

Now by (6.2.3), we prove that the zero solution of system (6.1.1) is stable, and any solution is bounded. In fact,  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , let

$$l = \inf_{\|x\|=\varepsilon} V(x) > 0,$$

one can then choose  $0 < \eta < \varepsilon$  such that

$$V_{\|\xi\| \leqslant \eta} \left( x(t,\tau,\xi) \right) < V_{\|\xi\| \leqslant \eta} \left( x(\tau,\tau,\xi) \right) < l \quad (t > \tau).$$

$$(6.2.9)$$

If there exists  $t_1 > \tau$  such that

$$\|x(t_1,\tau,\xi)\| = \varepsilon,$$

then

$$V(x(t_1,\tau,\xi))| \ge l \tag{6.2.10}$$

Comparing (6.2.9) with (6.2.10) leads to a contradiction. Thus, the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is stable, and all solutions are bounded.

Finally, we prove

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} x(t, \tau, \xi) = 0 \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Since  $\psi(t)$  is a strictly monotone decreasing function, the limit

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} V(x(t,\tau,\xi)) = V_0$$

exists.

The solution  $x(t, \tau, \xi)$  has a nonempty  $\omega$ -limit set. So it has an  $\omega$ -limit orbit  $\tilde{x}(t)$  for every fixed *t*. We can choose a fixed sequence  $\{t_k\}$ ,  $t_k \to +\infty$  as  $k \to +\infty$ , such that

$$\lim_{k\to+\infty} x(t_k,\,\tau,\,\xi) = \tilde{x}(t).$$

Hence,

$$\lim_{k\to+\infty} V(x(t_k,\tau,\xi)) = V(\tilde{x}(t)).$$

Thus,  $V(\tilde{x}(t)) = V_0$  for all  $t > \tau$ . Therefore,  $\tilde{x}(t) \equiv 0$  and  $V_0 = 0$ , i.e.,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} x(t, \tau, \xi) = 0.$$

The proof of Theorem 6.2.2 is complete.

Remark 6.2.3. If

$$f_i(x) = \sum_{j=1}^n f_{ij}(x_j)$$

and

$$\varphi_i(x_i) = \begin{cases} a_i, & x_i \ge 0, \\ -b_i, & x_i < 0, \end{cases} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

then we can obtain all results presented in Section 6.1 as particular cases of Theorem 6.2.2.

THEOREM 6.2.4. Let  $I\delta := \{x \mid ||x|| \leq \delta\}$ . If there exist  $\delta_i > 0$  and functions  $\varphi_i(x_i) \in [I\delta, R]$ , which are continuous or only have finite discontinuous points of the first kind, such that

(1) 
$$\varphi_i(x_i)x_i \begin{cases} > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m-1, \\ < 0, \quad i = m, m+1, \dots, n, \end{cases} x_i \neq 0;$$

(2) 
$$G(x) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i \pm 0) f_i(x)$$
 is negative definite;

then the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is unstable.

PROOF. For a given r > 0 ( $0 < r < \delta$ ) and  $\forall \eta > 0$ , we prove that one can choose  $\xi \neq 0$  ( $\|\xi\| \leq \eta$ ) such that the solution  $x(t, \tau, \xi)$  of system (6.2.1) at a certain point  $t_1 > \tau$  satisfies  $\|x(t_1, \tau, \xi)\| \ge r$ .

In fact, by employing the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i}$$
(6.2.11)

one can find that the set  $E = \{x \mid V(x) < 0\}$  is not empty. Take  $\xi \in E$  and  $\|\xi\| \leq \eta$ . Using the same method applied in (6.2.5) results in

$$\int_{0}^{x_i} \varphi_i(x_i) \, dx_i$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + \int_{\xi_{i}\pm0}^{\xi_{i}+(t-\tau)f_{i}(\xi)+(t-\tau)[f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi))-f_{i}(\xi)]} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + (t-\tau) \{f_{i}(\xi)\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)) + [f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi)) - f_{i}(\xi)]\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))\} \}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + (t-\tau) \{f_{i}(\xi)\varphi_{i}(\xi_{i}\pm0) + f_{i}(\xi)[(\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))) - \varphi_{i}(\xi_{i}\pm0)] + [f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi)) - f_{i}(\xi)]\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi))\} \}$$
for  $i = 1, 2, ..., n, \ t_{i} \in [\tau, t_{i}], \ \tilde{t}_{i} \in [\tau, t_{i}].$ 
(6.2.12)

Then it follows that

$$V(x(t,\tau,\xi)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i}$$
  

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{\xi_{i}} \varphi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + (t-\tau) \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(\xi) \varphi_{i}(\xi_{i} \pm 0) \right]$$
  

$$+ (t-\tau) \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(\xi) [\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)) - \varphi_{i}(\xi \pm 0)] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} [f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi)) - f_{i}(\xi)] \varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)) \right\}$$
  

$$= V(\xi) + G(\xi)(t-\tau)$$
  

$$+ (t-\tau) \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{i}(\xi) [\varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)) - \varphi_{i}(\xi \pm 0)] + \sum_{i=1}^{n} [f_{i}(x(t_{i},\tau,\xi)) - f_{i}(\xi)] \varphi_{i}(x_{i}(\bar{t}_{i},\tau,\xi)) \right\}.$$
 (6.2.13)

Let

$$\mu = \inf_{x \in [x, V(x) \leqslant V(\xi) < 0]} ||x||, \qquad \lambda = \inf_{\mu \leqslant ||x|| \leqslant H} |G(x)|.$$

Then  $\mu > 0$  and  $\lambda > 0$ . Note that

$$M_1 = \max_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq n \\ \|x\| \leq H}} \left| f_i(x) \right|, \qquad M_2 = \sup_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq n \\ |x_i| \leq \delta_i}} \left| \varphi \left( x_i(\bar{t}_i, \tau, s) \right) \right|,$$

and choose  $0 < \delta \ll 1$  such that when  $0 < t - \tau < \delta$ , the conditions are satisfied:

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\varphi_i\big(x_i(\bar{t}_i,\tau,\xi)\big) - \varphi_i(\xi_1\pm 0)\right| &< \frac{\lambda}{3nM_1},\\ \left|f_i\big(x(t_i,\tau,\xi,\xi)\big) - f_i(\xi)\right| &< \frac{\lambda}{3nM_2}. \end{aligned}$$

Then by (6.2.13) we obtain

$$V(x(t,\tau,\xi)) < V(x(\tau,\tau,\xi)) - (t-\tau)\lambda + \left(\frac{nM_1\lambda}{3nM_1} + \frac{nM_2\lambda}{3nM_2}\right)(t-\tau)$$
  
=  $V(x(\tau,\tau,\xi)) - (t-\tau)\frac{\lambda}{3}.$  (6.2.14)

Choose  $\{t_n\}$ ,  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  and  $0 < t_i - t_{i-1} \ll 1$ . Then it follows from (6.2.14) that

$$V(x(t_1, \tau, \xi)) < V(x(\tau, \tau, \xi)) - (t_1 - \tau)\frac{\lambda}{3},$$
(6.2.15)<sub>1</sub>

$$V(x(t_2,\tau,\xi)) < V(x(t_1,\tau,\xi)) - (t_2 - t_1)\frac{\lambda}{3}, \qquad (6.2.15)_2$$

| • |  |
|---|--|
|   |  |
| • |  |
| ٠ |  |

$$V(x(t_n, \tau, \xi)) < V(x(t_{n-1}, \tau, \xi)) - (t_n - t_{n-1})\frac{\lambda}{3}.$$
(6.2.15)<sub>n</sub>

From  $(6.2.15)_1 - (6.2.15)_n$  we get

$$V(x(t_n, \tau, \xi)) < V(x(\tau, \tau, \xi)) - (t_n - \tau)\frac{\lambda}{3}.$$

Since  $t_n - \tau \gg 1$ ,  $V(x(\tau, \tau, \xi)) = \text{const.}, |V(x(t_n, \tau, \xi))| \gg 1$ , we have  $||x(t_n, \tau, \xi)|| \ge r$ , i.e., the solution of (6.2.1) is unstable.

The proof is complete.

As applications of Theorems 6.2.2 and 6.2.4, we again consider system (6.2.1).

THEOREM 6.2.5. If system (6.2.1) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $f_{ii}(x_i)x_i < 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ ;

- (2)  $\int_0^{\pm\infty} f_{ii}(x_i) \, dx_i = -\infty;$
- (3) there exist positive definite functions  $c_i(x_i) \in C[R^1, R^+]$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that the matrix  $A(a_{ij}(x))$  is negative definite;

then the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is globally asymptotically stable. Here,

$$a_{ij}(x) = \begin{cases} -c_i(x_i), & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{c_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{ij}(x_j)} + \frac{c_j(x_j) f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \right), & i \neq j, \ x_i x_j \neq 0, \\ & i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. Let  $\varphi_i(x_i) = -c_i(x_i) f_{ii}(x_i)$   $(i = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ . We prove that

$$G(t) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(x_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_j)$$

is negative definite.  $\forall x = \xi$ , without loss the generality, let

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \neq 0, \quad \sum_{i=k+1}^{n} \xi_i^2 = 0 \quad (1 \le k \le n).$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} G(\xi) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \varphi_i(\xi_i) \sum_{j=1}^{k} f_{ij}(\xi_j) = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_i(\xi_i) f_{ii}^2(\xi_i) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \left[ \frac{-c_i(\xi_i) f_{ii}(\xi_i) f_{ij}(\xi_j)}{2} + \frac{-c_j(\xi_j) f_{jj}(\xi_j) f_{ji}(\xi_i)}{2} \right] \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_i(\xi_i) f_{ii}^2(\xi_i) \\ &- \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \left( \frac{c_i(\xi_i) f_{ij}(\xi_i)}{2 f_{jj}(\xi_j)} + \frac{c_j(\xi_j) f_{ji}(\xi_i)}{2 f_{ii}(\xi_i)} \right) f_{ii}(\xi_i) f_{jj}(\xi_j). \end{split}$$

By condition (3) we know that the general quadratic form

$$W(f_{11}, f_{22}, \dots, f_{kk}) = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_i(\xi_i) f_{ii}^2(x_i) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} a_{ij}(\xi_i, \xi_j) f_{ii}(x_i) f_{jj}(x_j)$$

is negative definite with respect to  $f_{11}, f_{22}, \ldots, f_{kk}$ . By condition (1) and  $f_{ii}(0) = 0$   $(i = 1, 2, \ldots, n)$  we know that W(0) = 0, and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} f_{ii}^2 = 0.$$

By noticing that

$$W(f_{11},\ldots,f_{kk})<0\quad\Longleftrightarrow\quad\sum_{i=1}^k f_{ii}^2\neq 0$$

and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} f_{ii}^{2} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \sum_{i=1}^{k} x_{i}^{2} = 0,$$

*W* is negative definite with respect to  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_k$ , and in particular,  $G(\xi) = W(f_{11}(\xi_1), ..., f_{kk}(\xi_k)) < 0$ . Due to  $\xi$  being arbitrary and G(0) = 0, we know that G(x) is negative definite. Hence, the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

**REMARK 6.2.6.** If the elements of  $A(a_{ij}(x))$  are changed to

$$a_{ij}(x) \begin{cases} = -c_i(x_i), & i = j, \\ \geqslant \frac{1}{2} \Big| \frac{c_i(x_i)f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{c_j(x_j)f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \Big|, & i \neq j, \ x_i, x_j \neq 0, \end{cases}$$

then the conditions of Theorem 6.2.5 are still satisfied, and the conclusion holds. Thus, we can choose easier computing method, for example, we can use  $a_{ij}(t) = \text{constant } i \neq j$  to check the negative definiteness of matrix  $A(a_{ij}(t))$  easier.

COROLLARY 6.2.7. If the conditions (1) and (2) in Theorem 6.2.2 are satisfied, and in condition (3) there exist functions  $c_i(x_i) > \delta > 0$ ,  $c_i(x_i) \in C[R, R]$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, and  $M_i^{(j)}(x_i, x_j)$ ,  $M_j^{(i)}(x_i, x_j) \ge 0$  such that

$$\left|\frac{c_i(x_i)f_{ij}(x_i)}{2f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{c_j(x_j)f_{ji}(x_i)}{2f_{ii}(x_i)}\right| \leq M_i^{(j)}(x_i, x_j)M_j^{(i)}(x_i, x_j),$$

for  $i \neq j$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n,  $x_i, x_j \neq 0$ , and

$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} \left( M_{i}^{(j)}(x_{i}, x_{j}) \right)^{2} < c_{i}(x_{i}) \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n);$$

then the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Let  $\varphi_i(x_i) = -c_i(x_i) f_{ii}(x_i)$   $(i = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ .  $\forall x = \xi$ , where

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \neq 0, \quad \sum_{i=k+1}^{n} \xi_i^2 = 0 \quad (1 \le k \le n),$$

we have

$$\begin{split} G(\xi) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \varphi_{i}(\xi_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{k} f_{ij}(\xi_{j}) = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{k} f_{ij}(\xi_{j}) \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \left| \frac{-c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ij}(\xi_{j})}{2f_{jj}(\xi_{j})} + \frac{-c_{j}(\xi_{j}) f_{ji}(\xi_{i})}{2f_{ii}(\xi_{i})} \right| \left| f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) \right| \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \left| \frac{-c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ij}(\xi_{j})}{2f_{jj}(\xi_{j})} + \frac{-c_{j}(\xi_{j}) f_{ji}(\xi_{i})}{2f_{ii}(\xi_{i})} \right| \left| f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) \right| \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} M_{i}^{(i)}(\xi_{i},\xi_{j}) M_{j}^{(i)}(\xi_{j},\xi_{i}) \left| f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) \right| \left| f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) \right| \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_{i}(\xi_{i}) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} (M_{i}^{(j)}(\xi_{i},\xi_{j})^{2} \right] f_{jj}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left[ -c_{j}(\xi_{j}) + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{k} M_{i}^{(j)}(\xi_{i},\xi_{j})^{2} \right] f_{jj}^{2}(\xi_{j}) < 0. \end{split}$$

By the arbitrary of  $\xi$ , we know that G(t) is negative definite. So the zero solution of system (6.2.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

REMARK 6.2.8. If take  $c_i(x_1) = 1$ , then

$$M_i^{(j)}(x_i, x_j) = M_j^{(i)}(x_j, x_i) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \left| \frac{f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \right|}$$

and condition (3) of Corollary 6.2.7 becomes

$$\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} \left| \frac{f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \right| < 2, \quad x_i x_j \neq 0.$$

THEOREM 6.2.9. If in certain neighborhood of x = 0, system (6.1.1) satisfies

(1)

$$f_{ii}(x_i)x_i < 0, \quad x_i \neq 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, m - 1,$$
  
$$f_{ii}(x_i)x_i > 0, \quad x_i \neq 0, \ i = m, m + 1, \dots, n;$$

(2) there exist  $c_i(x_i) \ge \delta > 0$  such that the matrix  $A(a_{ij}(x))$  is negative definite, where

$$a_{ij}(x) = \begin{cases} -c_i(x_i), & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n \\ -\frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{c_i(x_i)f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{c_j(x_j)f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \right], & i \neq j, \ x_i x_j \neq 0, \\ & j = 1, 2, \dots, n; \end{cases}$$

then the zero solution of system (6.1.1) is unstable.

PROOF. One can follow the proof of Theorem 6.2.5 to prove this theorem.  $\Box$ 

## 6.3. Systems which can be transformed to separable variable systems

In this section, we consider some systems which can be transformed to separable variables systems.

Consider the system:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = F_i \left( \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j \right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(6.3.1)

where  $F_i(0) = 0$ ,  $y_i F_i(y_i) > 0$  for  $y_i \neq 0$  and  $F_i(y_i) \in C[\mathbb{R}^1, \mathbb{R}^1]$ . Assume that the solution of the Cauchy problem (6.3.1) is unique.

THEOREM 6.3.1. If system (6.3.1) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $\int_0^{\pm\infty} F_j(y_j) = +\infty;$
- (2)  $a_{jj} < 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n;$
- (3) the matrix A is Lyapunov–Volterra stable, i.e., there exist constants  $c_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that the matrix  $B(b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is negative definite, where

$$b_{ij} = \begin{cases} c_i |a_{ii}|, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{1}{2} [c_i a_{ij} + c_j a_{ji}], & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n; \end{cases}$$

then the zero solution of system (6.3.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Let us consider an auxiliary linear system:

$$\frac{dz_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} z_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(6.3.2)

By employing the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function

$$V(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{z_i} c_i z_i \, dz_i$$

we obtain

$$\frac{dV(z)}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} -c_i |a_{ii}| z_i^2 + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{k} \frac{1}{2} (c_i a_{ij} + c_j a_{ji}) z_i z_j < 0 \quad \text{for } z \neq 0,$$

showing that the zero solution of system (6.3.2) is globally asymptotically stable, and so det  $|A| \neq 0$ .

By a nonsingular linear transformation:

$$y_i = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

system (6.3.1) is transformed to

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} \frac{dx_j}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_j(y_j).$$
(6.3.3)

The stability of the zero solutions of systems (6.3.1) and (6.3.3) are equivalent, but system (6.3.3) has separable variables.

Let  $\varphi_i(y_i) = c_i F_i(y_i)$ . Then

$$G(\mathbf{y}) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(\mathbf{y}_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} F_j(\mathbf{y}_j)$$

6.3. Systems which can be transformed to separable variable systems

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i F_i(y_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} F_j(y_j)$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i a_{ii} F_i^2(y_i) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} (c_i a_{ij} + c_j a_{ji}) F_i(y_i) F_j(y_j)$$
  
= 
$$F^T(y) BF(y) < 0 \quad \text{for } F(y) \neq 0.$$

By condition (3) and  $y_m F(y_m) > 0$ ,  $F_m(0) = 0$ , we can apply the same method to prove that G(y) is negative definite with respect to y.

Thus, the zero solution of system (6.3.1) is globally asymptotically stable.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 6.3.2. Assume that

(1) 
$$\int_0^{\pm\infty} F_i(y_i) \, dy_i = +\infty \ (i = 1, 2, \dots, n);$$
  
(2)

$$\begin{bmatrix} -a_{11} & |a_{12}| & \cdots & |a_{1n}| \\ -|a_{12}| & -a_{22} & \cdots & |a_{2n}| \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ -|a_{nn}| & \cdots & -a_{nn} \end{bmatrix}$$

is an M matrix.

Then the zero solution of system (6.3.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. This conclusion is true simply because condition (2) implies the conditions (2) and (3) in Theorem 6.3.1.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 6.3.3. If det  $A \neq 0$ ,  $a_{ii} \neq 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, and there exist  $a_{i_0i_0} > 0$ ,  $c_i \neq 0$  (i = 1, ..., n),  $c_{i_0} > 0$  such that the matrix  $\tilde{B}(\tilde{b}_{ij})$  is negative definite, where

$$\tilde{b}_{ij} = \tilde{b}_{ji} = \begin{cases} -c_i(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})a_{ii}, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -\frac{1}{2} [c_i(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})a_{ij} + c_j(\operatorname{sign} a_{jj})a_{ji}], \\ i \neq j, i, j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$

then the zero solution of system (6.3.1) is unstable.

PROOF. Let  $\varphi_i(y_i) = -c_i(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})F_i(y_i)$ . Then,

$$G(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varphi_i(\mathbf{y}_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} F_j(\mathbf{y}_j)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})F_{i}(y_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}F_{j}(y_{j})$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})a_{ii}F_{i}^{2}(y_{j})$$

$$- \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} [c_{i}(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})a_{ij} + c_{j}(\operatorname{sign} a_{jj})a_{ji}]F_{i}(y_{i})F_{j}(y_{j})$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}(\operatorname{sign} a_{ii})a_{ii}F_{i}^{2}(y_{i}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \tilde{b}_{ij}F_{i}(y_{i})F_{j}(y_{j})$$

$$< 0 \quad \text{for } y \neq 0.$$

 $\square$ 

So the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 6.3.4. *If there exist*  $a_{i_0i_0} > 0$ , and

$$\begin{bmatrix} |a_{11}| & -|a_{12}| & \cdots & -|a_{1n}| \\ -|a_{21}| & |a_{22}| & & -|a_{2n}| \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ -|a_{nn}| & \cdots & \cdots & |a_{nn}| \end{bmatrix}$$

being an M matrix, then the zero solution of system (6.3.1) is unstable.

PROOF. One can follow Theorem 6.3.3 to prove this theorem.

In the following, we consider the Volterra-type ecological systems, described by

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = x_i \left( r_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j \right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(6.3.4)

This is the earliest mathematical model that describes the ecological system with *n* kinds of species, including animals, plants and microbes as nourishing elements.

Here,  $x_i$  is the amount (or density, or some other character) of the *i*th species,  $\frac{dx_i}{dt}$  is the increasing rate of the whole *i*th species, and  $\frac{dr_i}{dt}$  is the relative increasing rate ( $r_i$  is the inner increasing rate of  $x_i$ ). If others do not exists,  $r_i > 0$  and  $r_i < 0$ denote the increasing rate and the mortality of the species, respectively.  $a_{ii}$  refers to the *i*th species's own increasing rate being curbed ( $a_{ii} < 0$ ) or helped ( $a_{ii} > 0$ ), or not influenced ( $a_{ii} = 0$ ) by the limited food and the restrict environment;  $a_{ij}$ refers to the interaction between  $x_i$  and  $x_j$ ,  $a_{ij} > 0$ ,  $a_{ij} = 0$  and  $a_{ij} < 0$  mean that the *j*th species is helpful to, has no relation to, or retains the *i*th species.

According to the ecological meaning, the nonnegative conditions of the species, we confine  $x_i \ge 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ 

Let  $x_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) and  $x_i = x_i^* > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, denotes an equilibrium point. By the topological transformation

$$y_i = l_n \frac{x_i}{x_i^*}$$
, i.e.,  $x_i = x_i^* e^{y_i}$   $(i = 1, 2, ..., n)$ , (6.3.5)

we have  $y: R_+^n := \{x \mid x > 0\} \to R_y^n$ , i.e., the transformation (6.3.5) transforms  $R_+^n$  to  $R_y^n = \{y \mid y \in R^n\}$ , and thus system (6.3.4) becomes

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = r_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j = -\sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j^* + \sum_{j=1}^n x_j^* a_{ij} e^{y_j}$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j^* (e^{y_j} - 1) := \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} f_j(y_j),$$
(6.3.6)

where  $f_j(y_j) = x_j^*(e^{y_j} - 1)$ . Obviously, the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of (6.3.4) is globally asymptotically stable if and only if the zero solution of (6.3.6) is globally asymptotically stable. However, (6.3.6) is a system with separable variables.

THEOREM 6.3.5. If matrix A is Lyapunov–Volterra stable, then the zero solution of (6.3.6) is globally asymptotically stable. Hence, the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $R^n_+$ .

**PROOF.** The condition implies that there exists a positive definite matrix  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n)$  such that

$$PA + A^T P$$

is negative definite.

By choosing the Lyapunov function:

$$V(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \int_{0}^{y_i} f_i(y_i) \, dy_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i x_i^* \big( e^{y_i} - y_i - 1 \big), \tag{6.3.7}$$

we have

$$\frac{dV(y)}{dt}\Big|_{(6.3.6)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}a_{ij}f_{i}(y_{i})f_{j}(y_{j})$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2}(f_{1}(y_{1}), \dots, f_{n}(y_{n}))(PA + A^{T}P)(f_{1}(y_{1}), \dots, f_{n}(y_{n}))^{T}$   
< 0 for  $f(y) \neq 0$ ,

implying that the conclusion holds.

267

THEOREM 6.3.6. If system (6.3.4) has a positive equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  and there exists an M matrix  $-G(g_{ij})$  such that

$$a_{ii} \leq g_{ii}, \quad |a_{ij}| \leq g_{ij} \quad (i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$

then the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of (6.3.4) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

PROOF. Since  $-G(g_{ij})$  is an *M* matrix,  $g_{ii} < 0$  and  $-G^T$  is also an *M* matrix. Thus,  $\forall (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n)^T > 0$ , the equation  $-G^T P = \xi$  has a positive solution

$$P = (p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n)^T = (-G^T)^{-1} \xi > 0.$$

Choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i |y_i|$$

to obtain

$$D^{+}V(y)|_{(6.3.6)} \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \operatorname{sign} y_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} f_{j}(y_{j})$$
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( p_{j} a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i} |a_{ij}| \right) |f_{j}(y_{j})|$$
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( p_{j} g_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i} g_{ij} \right) |f_{j}(y_{j})|$$
$$\leqslant -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{j} |f_{j}(y_{j})|$$
$$< 0 \quad \text{for } f(y) \neq 0.$$

So the conclusion is true.

# 6.4. Partial variable stability for systems with separable variables

In this section, we preset partial variable stability of systems with separable variables. Let  $y = (x_1, \ldots, x_m)^T$ ,  $z = (x_{m+1}, \ldots, x_n)^T$ . Then system (6.2.1) is reduced to

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{1j}(x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{mj}(x_j)\right)^T, \\ \frac{dz}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{m+1,j}(x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{nj}(x_j)\right)^T. \end{cases}$$
(6.4.1)

 $\square$ 

Similar to the discussion in the Sylvester's condition, we first establish a criterion for positive definiteness and negative definiteness of quadratic forms with respect to partial variables.

DEFINITION 6.4.1. The quadratic form

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}$$

is said to be positive (negative) definite with respect to y if there are constants  $\varepsilon_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m) such that

$$x^T A x \ge \sum_{i=1}^m \varepsilon_i x_i^2 \quad \left( x^T A x \leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^m \varepsilon_i x_i^2 \right),$$

where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$

LEMMA 6.4.2. The quadratic form

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}$$

is positive (negative) definite with respect to variable y if and only if there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} - \varepsilon I_m & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
 is positive semi-definite,  
$$\begin{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} + \varepsilon I_m & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
 is positive semi-definite $\end{pmatrix},$ 

where  $I_m$  is an  $m \times m$  unit matrix.

PROOF. For an illustration, we prove the case of positive definite. The proof for other cases is similar and thus omitted.

Necessity. Since

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{y} \\ \mathbf{z} \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{y} \\ \mathbf{z} \end{pmatrix}$$

is positive definite with respect to variable y, there exist some constants  $\varepsilon_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m) such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix} \ge \sum_{i=1}^m \varepsilon_i x_i^2.$$
 (6.4.2)

Let  $\varepsilon = \min_{1 \leq i \leq m} \varepsilon_i$ . Then we can find

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix} \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon_{i} x_{i}^{2} \ge \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}^{2}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon I_{m} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.4.3)

Thus,

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} - \varepsilon I_m & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix} \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} - \varepsilon I_m & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

is positive semi-definite. In particular,  $A_{11}$  is positive definite.

Sufficiency. The assumptions can be reduced to

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} - \varepsilon I_m & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix} \ge 0.$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y \\ z \end{pmatrix} \ge \sum_{i=1}^m \varepsilon x_i^2.$$

This implies our claim.

LEMMA 6.4.3. If there exist functions  $\phi_i(x_i)$  (i = 1, ..., n) on  $(-\infty, +\infty)$ , which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first kind, such that

- (1)  $\phi_i(x_i > 0)$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $\phi_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n; (2)  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} \phi_i(x_i) dx_i = +\infty$ , i = 1, ..., m;
- (3) there is a positive definite function  $\psi(y)$  satisfying

$$G(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_i(x_i \pm 0) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_j) \leqslant -\psi(y);$$

then the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to variable y.

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} \phi_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i}.$$
(6.4.4)

 $\Box$ 

Obviously, the conditions (1) and (2) imply that

$$V(x) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{x_i} \phi_i(x_i) \, dx_i = \varphi(y) \to +\infty \quad \text{as } \|y\| \to +\infty.$$

Hence, V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to y; and along the solution of (6.4.1), the Dini derivative of V(x) is

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(6.4.1)} = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{i}(x_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_{j}) \\ \text{at the continuous points of } \phi_{i}(x_{i}), \ i = 1, \dots, n, \\ \max \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{i}(x_{i} + 0) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_{j}), \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{i}(x_{i} - 0) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_{j}) \right\} \\ \text{at the discontinuous points of } \phi_{i}(x_{i}), \ i = 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Hence, condition (3) implies that

$$D^+V(x)|_{(6.4.1)} \leq -\psi(||y||).$$

As a result, the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally asymptotically stable with respect to variable y.

REMARK 6.4.4. In case m = n, conditions in Lemma 6.4.3 imply that the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable for all variables. In Theorem 6.4.5 below, when m = n, the statement follows from global stability of all variables.

THEOREM 6.4.5. If system (6.4.2) satisfies

(1)  $f_{ii}(x_i)x_i < 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_{ii}(x_i)x_i \leq 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n, and

$$\int_{0}^{\pm\infty} f_{ii}(x_i) \, dx_i = -\infty, \quad i = 1, \dots, m;$$

(2) there are constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n),  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$A(a_{ij}(x))_{n \times n} + \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon E_{m \times m} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n}$$

is negative semi-definite, where

$$(a_{ij}(x))_{n \times n} = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{c_i f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{c_j f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \right), & x_i x_j \neq 0, \\ 0, & x_i x_j = 0, \end{cases} i, j = 1, \dots, n;$$

then the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_i} c_i f_{ii}(x_i) \, dx_i.$$
(6.4.5)

Then, clearly V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to y, since

$$V(x) \ge -\sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{x_i} c_i f_{ii}(x_i) \, dx_i := \varphi(y) \to +\infty \quad \text{as } \|y\| \to +\infty.$$

Now, we prove that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(6.4.1)} = G(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i f_{ii}(x_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(x_j)$$

is negative definite with respect to y. For any  $x = \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , without loss of generality, we can assume that

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \neq 0, \quad \sum_{i=k+1}^{n} \xi_i^2 = 0, \quad 1 \leq k \leq n.$$

Then, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} G(\xi) &= -\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_{i} f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{k} f_{ij}(\xi_{j}) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j=1}^{k} \left[ c_{i} f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) f_{ij}(\xi_{j}) + c_{j} f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) f_{ji}(\xi_{i}) \right] \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) - \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{k} \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{c_{i} f_{ij}(\xi_{j})}{f_{jj}(\xi_{j})} + \frac{c_{j} f_{ji}(\xi_{i})}{f_{ii}(\xi_{i})} \right] f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_{ii}(\xi) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{k} a_{ij}(\xi) f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) < 0. \end{aligned}$$
(6.4.6)

Since  $\xi$  is arbitrary, we have shown that G(x) is negative definite with respect to y. Then the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to variable y.

THEOREM 6.4.6. Suppose that system (6.4.1) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1) condition (1) of Theorem 6.4.5 holds;
- (2) there exist n functions  $c_i(x_i)$  (i = 1, ..., n), which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first or third kind, and satisfy

$$c_i(x_i)x_i > 0 \quad \text{for } x_i \neq 0 \quad \text{and}$$

$$\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} c_i(x_i) \, dx_i = +\infty, \quad i = 1, \dots, m,$$

$$c_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0, \quad \text{for } i = m + 1, \dots, n;$$

(3) there exist functions  $\varepsilon_i(x_i) > 0$  (i = 1, ..., n) such that

$$\tilde{A}(\tilde{a}_{ij}(x))_{n \times n} + \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\varepsilon_1(x_1), \dots, \varepsilon_m(x_m)) & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}_{n \times n}$$

is negative semi-definite, where

$$\tilde{a}_{ij}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{c_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j)}{\sqrt{|f_{ii}(x_i) f_{jj}(x_j)|}} + \frac{c_j(x_j) f_{ji}(x_i)}{\sqrt{|f_{jj}(x_j) f_{ii}(x_i)|}} \right], & x_i x_j \neq 0, \\ 0, & x_i x_j = 0, \ i, \ j = 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Then the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

PROOF. Choose

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} c_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i},$$

and proceed along the lines of Theorem 6.4.5 to complete the proof.

THEOREM 6.4.7. If system (6.4.1) satisfies that

n

- (1) condition (1) of Theorem 6.4.5 holds;
- (2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n) such that

$$-c_j |f_{jj}(x_j)| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n c_i |f_{ij}(x_j)| < 0, \text{ for } x_j \neq 0, \ j = 1, \dots, m,$$

$$-c_j |f_{jj}(x_j)| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n c_i |f_{ij}(x_j)| \leq 0 \quad for \ j = m+1, \dots, n;$$

then the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to variable y.

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov function

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i|.$$

Clearly,

$$V(x) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i |x_i| := \varphi(y) \to +\infty \text{ as } ||y|| \to +\infty,$$

and  $\varphi(y)$  is positive definite. On the other hand, we have

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(6.4.1)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ -c_{j} \left| f_{jj}(x_{j}) \right| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} c_{i} \left| f_{ij}(x_{j}) \right| \right]$$
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left[ -c_{j} \left| f_{jj}(x_{j}) \right| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} c_{i} \left| f_{ij}(x_{j}) \right| \right]$$
$$< 0 \quad \text{for } y \neq 0.$$

Therefore, the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to y.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 6.4.8. Suppose that system (6.4.1) satisfies the following conditions:

(1) condition (1) of Theorem 6.4.5 holds; (2)  $\left|\frac{f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)}\right| \leq b_{ij} = const., i \neq j, i, j = 1, ..., n;$ (3)

$$\tilde{A} := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -b_{21} & \cdots & -b_{n1} \\ -b_{12} & 1 & \cdots & -b_{n2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ -b_{1n} & -b_{2n} & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}_{11} & \tilde{A}_{12} \\ \tilde{A}_{21} & \tilde{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $\tilde{A}_{11}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_{22}$  and  $I_m - \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1} \tilde{A}_{12} \tilde{A}_{22}^{-1} \tilde{A}_{21}$  are *M* matrices, in which  $\tilde{A}_{11}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_{12}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_{21}$  and  $\tilde{A}_{22}$  are  $m \times m$ ,  $m \times p$ ,  $p \times m$  and  $p \times p$  matrices, respectively.

Then the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

PROOF. For any  $\xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_m)^T > 0$ ,  $\eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_p)^T \ge 0$  and m + p = n, we consider the linear algebraic equations with respect to  $c = (c_1, \dots, c_m)^T$  and  $\tilde{c} = (\tilde{c}_1, \dots, \tilde{c}_p)^T$ :

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{A}_{11}c + \tilde{A}_{12}\tilde{c} = \xi, \\ \tilde{A}_{21}c + \tilde{A}_{22}\tilde{c} = \eta, \end{cases}$$
(6.4.7)

or the equivalent ones:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{c} = -\tilde{A}_{22}^{-1}\tilde{A}_{21}c + \tilde{A}_{22}^{-1}\eta, \\ c = \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1}\tilde{A}_{12}\tilde{A}_{22}^{-1}\tilde{A}_{21}c - \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1}\tilde{A}_{12}\tilde{A}_{22}^{-1}\eta + \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1}\xi. \end{cases}$$
(6.4.8)

Since  $\tilde{A}_{11}$  and  $\tilde{A}_{22}$  are *M* matrices, we have

$$\tilde{A}_{11}^{-1} \ge 0, \quad \tilde{A}_{22}^{-1} \ge 0;$$

but  $\tilde{A}_{12} \leq 0$  and  $\xi > 0$ ,  $\eta \ge 0$ . Therefore, we obtain

$$-\tilde{A}_{11}^{-1}\tilde{A}_{12}\tilde{A}_{22}^{-1}\eta \ge 0, \quad \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1}\xi > 0,$$

since  $(I_m - \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1} \tilde{A}_{12} \tilde{A}_{22}^{-1} \tilde{A}_{21})$  is an *M* matrix. The second equation in (6.4.8) has a positive solution with respect to *c*, and the first one in (6.4.8) has a nonnegative solution with respect to  $\tilde{c}$ . Thus, the conditions in Theorem 6.4.7 are satisfied.

Hence, we conclude that the zero solution of system (6.4.1) is globally stable with respect to variable *y*.  $\Box$ 

In the following, we consider a more specific system:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{1j} f_j(x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{mj} f_j(x_j)\right)^T,$$
  
$$\frac{dz}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{m+1,j} f_j(x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{nj} f_j(x_j)\right)^T,$$
(6.4.9)

where  $f_j(x_j) \in C[R, R]$ ,  $f_j(0) = 0$ , j = 1, ..., n. It is assumed that the solution of the initial value problem (6.4.9) is unique.

THEOREM 6.4.9. Suppose system (6.4.9) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $f_i(x_i)x_i > 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ ,  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} f_i(x_i) dx_i = +\infty$ ,  $a_{ii} < 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $a_{ii} \leq 0$ ,  $f_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n;
- (2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n),  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$B(b_{ij})_{n \times n} + \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon I_m & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n}$$
is negative semi-definite, where

$$b_{ij} = \begin{cases} -c_i |a_{ii}|, & i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ -\frac{1}{2}(c_i a_{ij} + c_j a_{ji}), & i \neq j, i, j = 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Then the zero solution of system (6.4.9) is globally stable with respect to variable y.

PROOF. Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \int_{0}^{x_i} f(x_i) \, dx_i,$$

then the proof is analogous to that of Theorem 6.4.9, and thus omitted.

THEOREM 6.4.10. Suppose system (6.4.9) satisfy the following conditions:

- (1)  $f_i(x_i)x_i < 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ ,  $a_{ii} > 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_i(x_i)x_i \leq 0$ ,  $a_{ii} \ge 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n;
- (2) there exist functions  $c_i(x_i)$  (i = 1, ..., n), which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first or third kind, such that

$$c_i(x_i) > 0 \quad \text{for } x_i \neq 0, \quad \int_0^{\pm \infty} c_i(x_i) \, dx_i = +\infty, \quad i = 1, \dots, m,$$
  
$$c_i(x_i) \ge 0 \quad \text{for } i = m + 1, \dots, n;$$

(3) there exist functions  $\varepsilon_i(x_i) > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m) such that

$$\tilde{B}(\tilde{b}_{ij}(x))_{n \times n} + \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\varepsilon_1(x_1), \dots, \varepsilon_m(x_m)) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative semi-definite, where

$$\tilde{b}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \left[ \frac{c_i(x_i)a_{ij}f_j(x_j)}{\sqrt{|f_i(x_i)f_j(x_j)|}} + \frac{c_j(x_j)a_{ji}f_i(x_i)}{\sqrt{|f_j(x_j)f_i(x_i)|}} \right], & x_i x_j \neq 0, \\ 0, & x_i x_j = 0, \ i, \ j = 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

*Then the zero solution of the system* (6.4.9) *is globally stable with respect to variable y.* 

**PROOF.** Choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function with respect to *y*:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_i} c_i(x_i) \, dx_i.$$

Then the proof is similar to that of Theorem 6.4.5 and so omitted.

THEOREM 6.4.11. If system (6.4.9) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $f_i(x_i)x_i > 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ ,  $a_{ii} < 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0$ ,  $a_{ii} \le 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n;
- (2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n) such that

$$\begin{aligned} -c_{j}|a_{jj}| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |a_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = i, \dots, m, \\ -c_{j}|a_{jj}| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |a_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = m+1, \dots, n; \end{aligned}$$

then the zero solution of (6.4.9) is globally stable with respect to y.

**PROOF.** Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function with respect to *y*:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i|,$$

and then follow the proof for Theorem 6.4.9.

THEOREM 6.4.12. Suppose system (6.4.9) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $f_i(x_i)x_i > 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n,  $a_{ii} < 0, i = 1, ..., n$ ;

$$\tilde{A} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -|\frac{a_{21}}{a_{11}}| & \cdots & -|\frac{a_{n1}}{a_{11}}| \\ -|\frac{a_{12}}{a_{22}}| & 1 & \cdots & -|\frac{a_{n2}}{a_{22}}| \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -|\frac{a_{1n}}{a_{nn}}| & -|\frac{a_{2n}}{a_{nn}}| & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}_{11} & \tilde{A}_{12} \\ \tilde{A}_{21} & \tilde{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$

where  $\tilde{A}_{11}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_{22}$  and  $I_m - \tilde{A}_{11}^{-1} \tilde{A}_{12} \tilde{A}_{22}^{-1} \tilde{A}_{21}$  are *M* matrices, in which  $\tilde{A}_{11}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_{12}$ ,  $\tilde{A}_{21}$  and  $\tilde{A}_{22}$  represent  $m \times m$ ,  $m \times p$ ,  $p \times m$  and  $p \times p$  matrices, respectively.

Then the zero solution of system (6.4.9) is globally asymptotically stable with respect to variable y.

**PROOF.** We can follow the approach applied in the proof of Theorem 6.4.8.  $\Box$ 

277

 $\square$ 

## 6.5. Autonomous systems with generalized separable variables

Consider the system with generalized separable variables:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n F_{ij}(x) \cdot f_{ij}(x_j), \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(6.5.1)

where  $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)^T$ ,  $F_{ij} \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$ ,  $f_{ij} \in C[\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}]$ ,  $f_{ij}(0) = 0$ , i, j = 1, ..., n. Suppose the solution of the initial value problem (6.5.1) is unique.

Let 
$$y = (x_1, ..., x_m)^T$$
,  $z = (x_{m+1}, ..., x_n)^T$ . Rewrite system (6.5.1) as  

$$\begin{cases}
\frac{dy}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n F_{1j}(x) f_{1j}(x_j), ..., \sum_{j=1}^n F_{mj}(x) f_{mj}(x_j)\right)^T, \\
\frac{dz}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n F_{m+1,j}(x) f_{m+1,j}(x_j), ..., \sum_{j=1}^n F_{nj}(x) f_{nj}(x_j)\right)^T.
\end{cases}$$
(6.5.2)

THEOREM 6.5.1. If system (6.5.2) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $f_{ii}(x_i)x_i > 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$  and  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} f_{ii}(x_i) dx_i = +\infty$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_{ii}(x_i)x_i \ge 0, i = m + 1, ..., n$ ;
- (2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n),  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$B(b_{ij}(x))_{n \times n} + \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon E_{m \times m} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n}$$

is negative semi-definite, where

$$b_{ij}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{F_{ij}(x)f_{ij}(x_j)}{f_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{F_{ji}(x)f_{ji}(x_i)}{f_{ii}(x_i)} \right), & x_i x_j \neq 0, \\ 0, & x_i x_j = 0 \ (i, j = 1, \dots, n); \end{cases}$$

then the zero solution of system (6.5.2) is globally asymptotically stable with respect to variable y.

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} f_{ii}(x_{i}) \, dx_{i}.$$

Clearly,

$$V(x) \ge \sum_{j=1}^n \int_0^{x_j} f_{ii}(x_i) \, dx_i := \varphi(\|y\|) \to \infty \quad \text{as } \|y\| \to +\infty.$$

Hence, V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to y. Now we proceed to prove that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(6.5.2)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{ii}(x_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} F_{ij}(x) f_{ij}(x_j)$$

is negative definite with respect to y.

For any  $x = \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , without loss of generality, we assume that

$$\prod_{j=1}^{k} \xi_j \neq 0, \quad \sum_{i=k+1}^{n} \xi_i^2 = 0, \quad 1 \le k \le n.$$

Then it follows that

$$\begin{split} G(\xi) &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) \sum_{j=1}^{k} F_{ij}(\xi) f_{ij}(\xi_{j}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} F_{ii}(\xi) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} \left[ f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) F_{ij}(\xi) f_{ij}(\xi_{j}) + f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) F_{ji}(\xi) f_{ji}(\xi_{i}) \right] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} b_{ii}(\xi) f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} b_{ij}(\xi) f_{ii}(\xi_{i}) f_{jj}(\xi_{j}) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &\leqslant - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon f_{ii}^{2}(\xi_{i}) \\ &\leqslant 0. \end{split}$$

Since  $\xi$  is arbitrary, we have shown that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(6.5.2)}$  is negative definite with respect to y. 

The proof is complete.

THEOREM 6.5.2. If system (6.5.2) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $F_{ii}(x)f_{ii}(x_i)x_i < 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $F_{ii}(x)f_{ii}(x_i)x_i \leq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m $m+1,\ldots,n;$ 

(2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n) such that

$$-c_{j} |F_{jj}(x)f_{jj}(x_{j})| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i} |F_{ij}(x)f_{ij}(x_{j})| < 0$$
  
for  $x_{j} \neq 0, \ j = 1, ..., m,$   
 $-c_{j} |F_{jj}(x)f_{jj}(x_{j})| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i} |F_{ij}(x)f_{ij}(x_{j})| \leq 0$   
for  $j = m + 1, ..., m;$ 

then the zero solution of (6.5.2) is globally stable with respect with y.

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i|,$$

which is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to y, and then follow the proof of Theorem 6.4.7 to complete the proof.

#### 6.6. Nonautonomous systems with separable variables

Consider the nonautonomous system with separable variables:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{1j}(t, x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{mj}(t, x_j)\right)^{T},$$
$$\frac{dz}{dt} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{m+1,j}(t, x_j), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{nj}(t, x_j)\right)^{T},$$
(6.6.1)

where  $y = (x_1, \ldots, x_m)^T$ ,  $z = (x_{m+1}, \ldots, x_n)^T$ ,  $f_{ij}(t, x_j) \in C[I \times R^1, R^1]$ ,  $f_{ij}(t, 0) \equiv 0, i, j = 1, \ldots, n$ . Suppose the solution of the initial value problem (6.6.1) is unique.

LEMMA 6.6.1. If there exist functions  $\phi_i(x_i)$  (i = 1, ..., n) on  $(-\infty, +\infty)$ , which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first or third kind, such that

(1) 
$$\phi_i(x_i)x_i > 0$$
 for  $x_i \neq 0$ ,  $i = 1, ..., m$ ,  $\phi_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0$ ,  $i = m + 1, ..., n$ ;  
(2)  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} \phi_i(x_i) dx_i = +\infty$ ,  $i = 1, ..., m$ ;

(3) there is a positive definite function  $\psi$  satisfying

$$G(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_i(x_i \pm 0) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(t, x_j) \leqslant -\psi(y);$$

then the zero solution of system (6.6.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

PROOF. The proof repeats that for Lemma 6.4.3 and is omitted.

THEOREM 6.6.2. Suppose system (6.6.1) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $f_{ii}(t, x_i)x_i < 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_{ii}(t, x_i)x_i \leq 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n;
- (2) there exist functions  $F_{ii}(x_i) \in C[R^1, R^1]$  (i = 1, ..., n), which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first or third kind, such that

$$\begin{cases} F_{ii}(x_i)x_i > 0 \quad for \ x_i \neq 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, m, \\ F_{ii}(x_i)x_i \ge 0, & i = m+1, \dots, n, \\ \int_0^{\pm \infty} F_{ii}(x_i) \ dx_i = +\infty, & i = 1, \dots, m, \\ |F_{ii}(x_i)| \le |f_{ii}(t, x_i)|, & i = 1, \dots, n; \end{cases}$$

(3) the matrix

$$A(a_{ij}(t,x))_{n\times n} + \begin{bmatrix} \varepsilon E_{m\times m} & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{n\times n}$$

is negative semi-definite, where  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ , and

$$a_{ij}(t,x) = \begin{cases} -1, & i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{f_{ij}(t,x_j)}{F_{jj}(x_j)} + \frac{f_{ji}(t,x_i)}{F_{ii}(x_i)} \right), & i \neq j, \ x_i x_j \neq 0, \ i, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \\ 0, & i \neq j, \ x_i x_j = 0, \ i, \ j = 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Then the zero solution of system (6.6.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

PROOF. Consider the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} F_{ii}(x_{i}) \, dx_{i}.$$

Then

$$V(x) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{x_i} F_{ii}(x_i) \, dx_i = \varphi(y).$$

281

Clearly, we have

 $\varphi(y) \to +\infty$  as  $||y|| \to +\infty$ .

So V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to y. We now prove that

 $\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(6.6.1)} = G(t, x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} F_{ii}(x_i) \sum_{i=1}^{n} f_{ij}(t, x_j)$ 

is negative definite with respect to y.

For any  $x = \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , without loss of generality, we assume that

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \neq 0, \quad \sum_{i=k+1}^{n} \xi_i^2 = 0, \quad 1 \leq k \leq n.$$

Then, it follows that

$$G(t,\xi) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} F_{ii}(\xi_i) \sum_{j=1}^{k} f_{ij}(t,\xi_j)$$
  

$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_{ii}(t,\xi) F_{ii}^2(\xi_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon F_{ii}^2(\xi_i)$$
  

$$+ \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{k} a_{ij}(t,\xi) F_{ii}(\xi_i) F_{jj}(\xi_j) - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon F_{ii}^2(\xi_i)$$
  

$$\leqslant - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon F_{ii}^2(\xi_i)$$
  

$$< 0.$$

Since  $\xi$  is arbitrary, we have shown that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(6.6.1)}$  is negative definite with respect to y. Hence, the zero solution of system (6.6.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

THEOREM 6.6.3. If system (6.6.1) satisfies the following conditions:

12

- (1)  $f_{ii}(t, x_i)x_i < 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $f_{ii}(t, x_i)x_i \leq 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n;
- (2) there exist constants  $c_i > 0$  (i = i, ..., m),  $c_j \ge 0$  (j = m + 1, ..., n) such that

$$-c_j |f_{jj}(t, x_j)| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n c_i |f_{ij}(t, x_j)| < 0 \quad \text{for } x_j \neq 0, \ j = 1, \dots, m,$$

$$-c_j |f_{jj}(t, x_j)| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n c_i |f_{ij}(t, x_j)| \leq 0 \quad \text{for } j = m+1, \dots, n;$$

then the zero solution of system (6.6.1) is globally stable with respect to variable y.

PROOF. Let us choose

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i|,$$

then analogous to the proof of Theorem 6.4.7, we can verify the validity of this theorem.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 6.6.4. Assume that system (6.6.1) satisfies the following assertion:

- (1) there exist function  $\phi_i(x_i) \in [R^1, R^1]$  (i = 1, ..., n), which are continuous or have only finite discontinuous points of the first or third kind, such that  $\phi_i(x_i)x_i > 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$  and  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} \phi_i(x_i) dx_i = +\infty$ , i = 1, ..., m,  $\phi_i(x_i)x_i \ge 0$ , i = m + 1, ..., n;
- (2) there are functions  $a_i(x_i)$  with  $a_i(x_i) > 0$  for  $x_i \neq 0$  (i = 1, ..., m) such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j) \leqslant -a_j(x_j), \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, m,$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(x_j) \leqslant 0, \quad \text{for } j = m+1, \dots, n.$$

Then the zero solution of system (6.6.1) is globally stable with respect to y.

**PROOF.** Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function with respect to *y*:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^n \int_0^{x_i} \phi_i(x_i) \, dx_i.$$

Then, we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(6.6.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_i(x_i) \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{ij}(t, x_j) \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \phi_i(x_i) f_{ij}(t, x_j)$$
$$\leqslant -\sum_{j=1}^{m} a_j(x_j),$$

which indicates that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(6.6.1)}$  is negative definite with respect to y. Therefore, the zero solution of system (6.6.1) is globally stable with respect to variable y.  $\Box$ 

## **Iteration Method for Stability**

In the study of the stability of general nonlinear systems, the Lyapunov direct method is the main and powerful tool. However, generally great difficulties arise in applying this method to higher-dimensional systems with complicated structure, because there is no universal and systematic procedure available for constructing the required Lyapunov function. Therefore, it is necessary and important to develop explicit algebraic criteria for stability analysis.

In this chapter, we explore an approach for stability analysis, called iteration method. This method is based on the idea of Picard's iterative approach, which has been used in the proof of the existence and uniqueness theorem of differential equations. This method avoids the difficulties in constructing Lyapunov function and complex calculations. This method uses the estimation of the integral of the function on the right-hand side of the system, and yields algebraic criteria of stability. Because of the average property of an integral, this method does not require the slowly time-variant feature of a system; and can even be applied to systems with large time-variant amplitude of motions. It should be emphasized that though involved calculations appear for proving theorems, the procedure of calculation in each iterative step is not necessary. The convergent conditions of the iteration can yield various criteria of stability. Moreover, the internal relations between iterative convergence and stability are established. The advantage of this method is the independence of unknown functions or parameters of the systems. Further, this method can be used to consider the stability problems of other kind of dynamic systems, such as discrete systems, functional differential systems. In this chapter, we introduce this method only for ordinary differential equations. In the next chapter, this method will also be employed to study delay differential equations.

Part of materials presented in this chapter are chosen from [237,242,234,279, 244,245,361].

#### 7.1. Picard iteration type method

We consider the following nonlinear time-dependent, large-scale dynamical system:

Chapter 7. Iteration Method for Stability

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \text{diag}(A_{11}(t), A_{22}(t), \dots, A_{rr}(t))x + F(t, x),$$
(7.1.1)

where

$$F(t, x) \in C[I \times R^{n}, R^{n}], \quad F(t, 0) = 0,$$
  

$$F(t, x) = (F_{1}(t, x), \dots, F_{r}(t, x))^{T}, \quad F_{i}(t, x) \in C[I \times R^{n}, R^{n_{i}}],$$
  

$$x = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{r})^{T}, \quad x_{i} \in R^{n_{i}}, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{r} n_{i} = n, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

and  $F_i(t, x)$ ,  $A_{ii}(t)$  are  $n_i \times n_i$  matrices of continuous functions  $F_i(t, x)$ , satisfying the Lipschitz conditions:

$$\|F_i(t,x) - F_i(t,y)\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^r g_{ij}(t) \|x_j - y_j\|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

At the same time, we consider the isolated subsystem:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}(t), \dots, A_{rr}(t)).$$
(7.1.2)

Assume that  $K(t, t_0) = \text{diag}(K_{11}(t, t_0), \dots, K_{rr}(t, t_0))$  is the standard fundamental solution matrix of (7.1.2), called Cauchy matrix solution (or simply Cauchy matrix), i.e.,

$$\frac{dK(t, t_0)}{dt} = \text{diag}(A_{11}(t, t_0), \dots, A_{rr}(t, t_0))K(t, t_0), K(t, t_0), K(t, t_0), K(t, t_0) = I_{n \times n}.$$

**THEOREM 7.1.1.** Suppose the following conditions hold:

(1) there exist secular function  $\alpha_i(t) \in C[I, R^+]$ ,  $\varepsilon(t) \in C[I, R^1]$  and constants  $M_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., r) such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|K_{ii}(t,t_0)\| &\leq M_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \alpha_i(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leq M_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}, \quad i=1,\ldots,r, \ t \geq t_0; \end{aligned}$$

(2) there exist constants  $h_{ij}$  such that

$$\int_{t_0}^t M_i e^{-\int_{t_1}^t (\alpha_i(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} g_{ij}(t_1) dt_1 \leqslant h_{ij}, \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, r;$$

(3) the spectral radius of the matrix  $H(h_{ij})_{r \times r}$ ,  $\rho(H)$ , is less than 1, i.e.,  $\rho(H) < 1$  (particularly ||H|| < 1).

Then the flowing conclusions hold:

(a) 
$$\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \ge l(t_0) = const. \ (t \ge t_0 \ge 0);$$
  
(b) 
$$\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \ge l = const. \ (t \ge t_0 \ge 0);$$
  
(c) 
$$\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi = +\infty;$$
  
(d) 
$$\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \to +\infty \ as \ t - t_0 \to +\infty \ holds \ uniformly \ for \ t_0;$$
  
(e) 
$$\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \ge l(t_0) \ge \alpha(t - t_0) \ (\alpha = const. > 0);$$

which respectively imply that:

(a) the zero solution of system (7.1.1) is stable;

(b) *the zero solution of system* (7.1.1) *is uniformly stable*;

(c) *the zero solution of system* (7.1.1) *is asymptotically stable*;

(d) the zero solution of system (7.1.1) is uniformly asymptotically stable;

(e) the zero solution of system (7.1.1) is exponentially stable.

**PROOF.** By the method of constant variation, we can prove that the general solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of system (7.1.1) is equivalent to the continuous solution of the following integral equations:

$$x_{i}(t) := x_{i}(t, t_{0}, x_{0}) = K_{i}(t, t_{0})x_{0i} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} K_{i}(t, t_{1})F_{i}(t_{1}, x(t_{1})) dt_{1}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
(7.1.3)

Applying the Picard iteration to equation (7.1.3), we have

$$x_i^{(0)}(t) = K_{ii}(t, t_0) x_{i0}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$
 (7.1.4)

$$x_i^{(m)}(t) = x_i^{(0)}(t) + \int_{t_0}^{t} K_i(t, t_1) F_i(t_1, x^{(m-1)}(t_1)) dt_1.$$
(7.1.5)

Hence, we obtain

$$\left( \left\| x_{1}^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} \leq (M_{1}, \dots, M_{r})^{T} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi},$$
(7.1.6)  
$$\left\| x_{i}^{(1)}(t) \right\| \leq \left\| x_{i}^{(0)}(t) \right\|$$
$$+ \left( \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} (\alpha_{i}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t_{1}), M_{j} dt_{1} \right) e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}$$
$$\leq M_{i} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} h_{ij} M_{j} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(7.1.7)

$$\left( \left\| x_1^{(1)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r^{(1)}(t) \right\| \right)^T \leq (I+H)(M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \quad (t \ge t_0).$$
 (7.1.8)

Then, one can easily prove that

$$\left( \left\| x_1^{(1)}(t) - x_1^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r^{(1)}(t) - x_r^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^T \leq H(M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \quad (t \ge t_0).$$
 (7.1.9)

Suppose

$$\left( \left\| x_{1}^{(m)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(m)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} \leq (I + H, \dots, +H^{m})(M_{1}, \dots, M_{r})^{T} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \quad (t \ge t_{0}), \qquad (7.1.10) \left( \left\| x_{1}^{(m)}(t) - x_{1}^{(m-1)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(m)}(t) - x_{r}^{(m-1)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T}$$

$$\leq H^m(M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}$$
  $(t \ge_0).$  (7.1.11)

Let  $H^m = (h_{ij}^{(m)})_{r \times r}$ . Then, it follows that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_{i}^{(m+1)}(t) \right\| &\leq \left\| x_{i}^{(0)}(t) \right\| + \left\{ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} (\alpha_{i}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t_{1}) \right. \\ & \left. \times \left[ \sum_{s=1}^{r} \left( \delta_{js} + h_{js} + \dots + h_{js}^{(m)} \right) M_{j} dt_{1} \right] \right\} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ & \leq M_{i} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ & \left. + \sum_{j=1}^{r} h_{ij} \left[ \sum_{s=1}^{r} \delta_{js} + h_{js} + \dots + h_{js}^{(m)} \right] M_{s} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ & = \sum_{s=1}^{r} \left[ \delta_{js} + h_{js} + \dots + h_{js}^{(m+1)} \right] M_{s} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}, \\ & i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \ t \geq t_{0}, \end{aligned}$$
(7.1.12)

where

$$\delta_{js} = \begin{cases} 1, & j = s, \\ 0, & j \neq s, \end{cases} i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

Thus, we have

$$\left\|x_{i}^{(m+1)}(t) - x_{i}^{(m)}(t)\right\|$$

$$\leq \left\{ \int_{t_0}^t M_i e^{-\int_{t_1}^t (\alpha_i(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^r g_{ij}(t_1) \left( \sum_{s=1}^r h_{js}^{(m)} M_s \right) dt_1 \right\} e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}$$
  
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^r h_{ij} \sum_{s=1}^r h_{js}^{(m)} M_s e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ t \ge t_0.$$
(7.1.13)

Hence, by the method of mathematical induction, the estimations given in (7.1.10)and (7.1.11) hold for arbitrary natural number *m*. It is well known that  $\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} H^m$  is convergent and

$$\sum_{m=0}^{+\infty} H^m = (I - Q)^{-1}.$$

So on any finite interval  $[t_0, T]$ , the convergence of

$$\sum_{m=0}^{+\infty} H^m(M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi}$$
(7.1.14)

implies the convergence of

$$\sum_{m=0}^{+\infty} \left( \left\| x_1^{(m)}(t) - x_1^{(m-1)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r^{(m)}(t) - x_r^{(m-1)}(t) \right\| \right)^T + \left( \left\| x_1^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^T.$$
(7.1.15)

But, the convergence of (7.1.15) implies the convergence of the following iteration

$$\left(x_1^{(m)}(t), \dots, x_r^{(m)}(t)\right)^T$$
. (7.1.16)

Therefore, on an arbitrary finite interval  $[t_0, T]$ , we have

$$\left(x_1^{(m)}(t),\ldots,x_r^{(m)}(t)\right)^T \rightarrow \left(x_1(t),\ldots,x_r(t)\right)^T$$
 as  $m \rightarrow +\infty$ .

Therefore,

$$\left( \left\| x_1(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r(t) \right\| \right)^T \\ \leqslant (I - H)^{-1} (M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi},$$
 (7.1.17)

from which we can conclude that the conclusions (a)–(e) are true.

The proof of Theorem 7.1.1 is complete.

REMARK 7.1.2. In general, to find  $K(t, t_0)$  of the isolated system (7.1.2) is difficult. But it is easy to find  $K(t, t_0)$  for the following special cases.

289

(1)  $A_{ii}(t) = a_{ii}(t)$ , i.e., every isolated subsystems is one-dimensional, then

$$K_{ii}(t, t_0) = e^{-\int_{t_0}^t a_{ii}(t) dt}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

- (2)  $A_{ii}(t) \equiv A_{ii}$ , i.e.,  $A_{ii}$  is a constant matrix. Then  $K_{ii}(t, t_0) = e^{A_{ii}(t-t_0)}$ ,  $i = e^{A_{ii}$  $1, 2, \ldots, r.$
- (3) The variation of  $A_{ii}(t)$  is sufficiently slow. Let  $A_{ii}(t) = \mathring{A}_{ii}(t_0) + A_{ii}(t) A_{ii}(t_0) + A_{ii}(t_0)$  $A_{ii}(t_0)$ . In the isolated subsystem (7.1.2) with  $\mathring{A}_{ii}(t_0)$  to replace  $A_{ii}(t)$ , we may combine  $\mathring{A}_{ii}(t_0) - A_{ii}(t_0)$  with the associated terms.
- (4) If  $\lim_{t\to\infty} A_{ii}(t) = A_{ii}$ ,  $(A_{ii}$  is a constant matrix). Let  $A_{ii}(t) = A_{ii} + A_{ii}(t)$  $A_{ii}(t) - A_{ii}$ . We may combine  $A_{ii}(t) - A_{ii}$  with the associated terms as in (3).
- (5) If  $A_{ii}(t) \int_{t_0}^t A_{ii}(\xi) d\xi \equiv \int_{t_0}^t A_{ii}(\xi) d\xi A_{ii}(t)$ , then  $K_{ii}(t, t_0) = e^{\int_{t_0}^t A_{ii}(\xi) d\xi}$ . (6) We may use the expression of  $K(t, t_0)$  for some particular linear isolated
- subsystem.

EXAMPLE 7.1.3. Consider the linear equations:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(7.1.18)

If

(1)  $a_{ii} < 0 \ (i = 1, 2, ..., n);$ (2)  $\rho(\tilde{A}) < 1$ , where  $\tilde{A} := I_n - \left(\frac{|a_{ij}|}{|a_{ij}|}\right)_{n \times n};$ 

then system (7.1.18) is exponentially stable by Theorem 7.1.1.

#### 7.2. Gauss–Seidel type iteration method

In this section, we still consider systems (7.1.1) and (7.1.2), but for (7.1.3) we apply the Gauss-Seidel type iteration:

$$\begin{aligned} x_i^{(0)}(t) &= K_{ii}(t, t_0) x_{0i}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \\ x_i^{(m)}(t) &= K_{ii}(t, t_0) x_{0i} \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t K_{ii}(t, t_1) F_i(t, x_1^{(m)}(t_1), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(m)}(t_1), x_i^{(m-1)}(t_1), \dots, x_r^{(m-1)}(t_1)) dt, \\ &i = 1, 2, \dots, r. \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.2)

THEOREM 7.2.1. If the conditions (1) and (2) in Theorem 7.1.1 are satisfied, and (3) the spectral radius  $\rho(\tilde{H})$  of matrix  $\tilde{H} := (I - H_{\Delta})^{-1} H^{\Delta}$  is less than 1

(particularly  $\|\tilde{H}\| < 1$ ), where

$$H_{\Delta} := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ h_{21} & 0 & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ h_{r1} & \cdots & h_{r,r-1} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad H^{\Delta} := H - H_{\Delta},$$

then the same conclusion of Theorem 7.1.1 holds.

PROOF. From condition (1) we have

$$\|x_i^{(0)}(t)\| \leq M_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} := \|y_i^{(0)}(t)\| \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \ t \ge t_0, \quad (7.2.3)$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{1}^{(1)}(t) - x_{1}^{(0)}(t)\| \\ &\leqslant \left[\int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{1}e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha_{1}(\xi)d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t_{1})e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi)d\xi} M_{j} dt_{1}\right] e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi)d\xi} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{r} h_{ij}M_{j}e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi)d\xi} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}\|y_{j}^{(0)}(t)\| := \|y_{1}^{(1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(0)}(t)\| \quad (t \ge t_{0}), \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.4)<sub>1</sub>

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{2}^{(0)}(t) - x_{2}^{(0)}(t)\| \\ &\leqslant \left[\int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{2}e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha_{2}(\xi) d\xi} g_{2i}(t_{1})e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{r} h_{1j}M_{j} dt_{1}\right] e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &+ \left[\int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{2}e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha_{2}(\xi) d\xi} \sum_{j=2}^{r} g_{2j}(t_{1})e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} M_{j} dt_{1}\right] e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &= h_{21} \|y_{1}^{(1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(0)}(t)\| + \sum_{j=2}^{r} h_{2j}M_{j} \|y_{j}^{(0)}(t)\| \\ &\coloneqq \|y_{2}^{(1)}(t) - y_{2}^{(0)}(t)\| \qquad (7.2.4)_{2} \\ &\vdots \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \left[ \int_{t_0}^t M_r e^{-\int_{t_1}^t \alpha_r(\xi) \, d\xi + \int_{t_1}^t \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} g_{rj}(t_1) \, dt_1 \right] \|y_j^{(1)}(t) - y_j^{(0)}(t)\| \\ + \left[ \int_{t_0}^t M_r e^{-\int_{t_1}^t \alpha_r(\xi) \, d\xi} g_{rr}(t_1) \, dt_1 \right] \|g_r^{(0)}(t)\| \\ = h_{r1} \|y^{(1)}(t) - y_1^{(0)}(t)\| + h_{r2} \|y_2^{(1)}(t) - y_2^{(0)}(t)\| + \cdots \\ + h_{r,r-1} \|y_{r-1}^{(1)}(t) - y_{r-1}^{(0)}(t)\| + h_{rr} \|y_r^{(0)}(t)\| \\ \coloneqq \|y_r^{(1)}(t) - y_r^{(0)}(t)\|.$$
(7.2.4)

We rewrite  $(7.2.4)_1 - (7.2.4)_r$  as

$$I_{n}(||y_{1}^{(1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(0)}(t)||, \dots, ||y_{r}^{(1)}(t) - y_{r}^{(0)}(t)||)^{T}$$
  
=  $H_{\Delta}(||y_{1}^{(1)}(t) - y_{r}^{(0)}(t)||, \dots, ||y_{r}^{(1)}(t) - y_{r}^{(0)}(t)||)^{T}$   
+  $H^{\Delta}(||y_{1}^{(0)}(t)||, \dots, ||y_{r}^{(0)}||)^{T}.$ 

Since the matrix  $(I_n - H_{\triangle})$  is nonsingular, we have

$$\left( \left\| x_{1}^{(1)}(t) - x_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(1)}(t) - x_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} \leq \left( \left\| y_{1}^{(1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| y_{r}^{(0)}(t) - y_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} = (I_{n} - H_{\Delta})^{-1} \left( \left\| y_{1}^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| y_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} := \tilde{H} \left( \left\| y_{1}^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| y_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T}.$$

$$(7.2.5)$$

Let  $\tilde{H}_m := (h_{ij}^{(m)})_{r \times r}$ . Then we can express (7.2.5) as

$$\|x_i^{(m)}(t) - x_i^{(m-1)}(t)\| \le \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}^{(m)} \|y_j^{(0)}(t)\| \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., r).$$
 (7.2.6)

Similarly, following the derivation of  $(7.2.4)_1$ – $(7.2.4)_r$  we can prove that

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{1}^{(m+1)}(t) - x_{1}^{(m)}(t)\| &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} \sum_{s=1}^{r} h_{ij} h_{js}^{(m)} \|y_{j}^{(0)}(t)\| \\ &:= \|y_{1}^{(m+1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(m)}(t)\|, \\ \|x_{2}^{(m+1)}(t) - x_{2}^{(m)}(t)\| &\leq h_{21} \|y_{1}^{(m+1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(m)}(t)\| \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^{r} h_{2j} \|y_{j}^{(m)}(t) - y_{j}^{(m-1)}(t)\| \\ &:= \|y_{2}^{(m+1)}(t) - y_{2}^{(m)}(t)\|, \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.8)

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_{r}^{(m+1)}(t) - x_{r}^{(m)}(t) \right\| &\leq h_{21} \left\| y_{1}^{(m+1)}(t) - y_{1}^{(m)}(t) \right\| \\ &+ h_{r2} \left\| y_{2}^{(m+1)}(t) - y_{2}^{(m)}(t) \right\| \\ &+ \dots + h_{rr} \left\| y_{r}^{(m)}(t) - y_{r}^{(m-1)}(t) \right\| \\ &\coloneqq \left\| y_{r}^{(m+1)}(t) - y_{r}^{(m)}(t) \right\|. \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.9)

So we obtain

$$\left( \left\| x_1^{(m+1)}(t) - x_1^{(m)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r^{(m+1)}(t) - x_r^{(m)}(t) \right\| \right)^T \leq \tilde{H} \tilde{H}^m \left( \left\| y_1^{(0)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| y_r^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^T = \tilde{H}^{m+1}(M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}.$$

$$(7.2.10)$$

Hence, by the method of mathematical induction, we conclude that (7.2.10) holds for arbitrary natural numbers *m*, and

$$( \|x_1^{(m+1)}(t)\|, \dots, \|x_r^{(m+1)}(t)\| )^T \leq ( \|x_1^{(m+1)}(t) - x_1^{(m)}(t)\|, \dots, \|x_r^{(m+1)}(t) - x_r^{(m)}(t)\| )^T + \dots + ( \|x_1^{(1)}(t) - x_1^{(0)}(t)\|, \dots, \|x_r^{(1)}(t) - x_r^{(0)}(t)\| )^T + ( \|x_1^{(0)}(t)\|, \dots, \|x_r^{(0)}(t)\| )^T \leq (I_n + \tilde{H}, \dots, \tilde{H}^{m+1}) (M_1, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \leq (I_n - \tilde{H})^{-1} (M_1, M_2, \dots, M_r)^T e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}.$$

Finally, by proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 7.1.1, Theorem 7.2.1 is proved.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 7.2.2. Suppose that

- (1) condition (1) in Theorem 7.1.1 holds;
- (2) let  $b_{ij}(t) := b_{ij}(t, t_0) := \int_{t_0}^t e^{-\int_{t_1}^t (\alpha_i(\xi) \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} g_{ij}(t_1) dt_1, \ i, j = 1, \dots, r,$

:

$$\sum_{j=2}^{n} b_{ij}(t, t_0) \leq \mu_1 < 1,$$
  
$$b_{21}(t, t_0)\mu_1 + \sum_{j=2}^{n} b_{ij}(t, t_0) \leq \mu_2 < 1,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} b_{rj}(t,t_0)\mu_j + b_{rr}(t,t_0) \leqslant \mu_r < 1.$$

Then the conclusions (a)–(e) in Theorem 7.1.1 hold, respectively, under the conditions (a)–(e) of condition (3) of Theorem 7.1.1.

PROOF. Let  $c_i = x_{i0}, x_i(t, t_0, c) := x_i(t)$ . Take

$$\begin{split} c &:= \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant r} |c_i|, \\ k &:= \sup_{\substack{1 \leqslant i \leqslant r \\ i \geqslant t_0}} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^r b_{ij}(t, t_0) + 1 \right\}, \\ \mu &:= \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant r} \mu_i. \end{split}$$

We again consider systems (7.1.1) and (7.1.2), but for (7.1.3) we apply the following Gauss–Seidel type iteration:

$$\begin{aligned} x_i^{(1)}(t) &= K_{ii}(t, t_0)c_i \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t K_{ii}(t, t_1)F_i(t_1, x_i^{(0)}(t_1), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(0)}(t_1), 0, \dots, 0) dt_1, \\ &i &= 1, \dots, r, \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.11)  
$$x_i^{(m)}(t) &= K_{ii}(t, t_0)c_i \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t K_{ii}(t, t_1)F_i(t_1, x_1^{(m)}(t_1), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(m)}(t_1), x_i^{(m-1)}(t_1), \dots, x_r^{(m-1)}(t_1)) dt_1, \\ &= 2, 3, \dots, i = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.12)

We obtain the following estimations:

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{1}^{(1)}(t)\| &\leq cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi},\\ \|x_{2}^{(1)}(t)\| &\leq cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\alpha_{i}(\xi)\,d\xi}\\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t}e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t}[\alpha_{2}(\xi)-\varepsilon(\xi)]\,d\xi}g_{21}(t_{1})e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t}-\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}-\varepsilon(\xi)d\xi}\,dt_{1}\\ &\leq cMe^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t}-\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}+cMb_{21}(t)e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t}-\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}\\ &\leq kcMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi},\\ &\vdots \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_{r}^{(1)}(t) \right\| &\leq cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} + \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha_{j}(\xi) \, d\xi} g_{rj}(t_{1}) \left| x_{j}^{(i)}(t_{1}) \right| \, dt_{1} \\ &\leq cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} + b_{n1}(t) cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \\ &+ b_{r2}(t) k cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \\ &+ \cdots + b_{r,r-1}(t) k^{r-1} cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \\ &\leq k^{n} cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi}, \end{aligned}$$

i.e., it holds

$$\begin{split} \|x_{l}^{(1)}(t)\| &\leq k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., r). \end{split}$$
(7.2.13)  
$$\|x_{1}^{(2)}(t) - x_{1}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} [\alpha_{11}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)] d\xi} g_{1j}(t_{1}) e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} k^{r} c M b_{ij}(t) e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leq \mu_{1} k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}, \qquad (7.2.14)_{1} \\ \|x_{2}^{(2)}(t) - x_{2}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leq \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha_{22}(\xi) d\xi} g_{2i}(t_{1}) \|x_{1}^{(2)}(t_{1}) - x_{1}^{(1)}(t_{1})\| dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha_{22}(\xi) d\xi} g_{2j}(t_{1}) \|x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1})\| dt_{1} \\ &\leq \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} [\alpha_{22}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)] d\xi} g_{21}(t_{1}) e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \mu_{1} k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} [\alpha_{22}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)] d\xi} g_{2j}(t_{1}) k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \\ &\leq \left[\mu_{1} b_{21}(t) + \sum_{j=2}^{r} b_{2j}(t)\right] k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \end{aligned}$$

$$\leqslant \mu_{2}k^{r}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}$$

$$(7.2.14)_{2}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\|x_{n}^{(2)}(t) - x_{n}^{(1)}(t)\|$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{r-1}\int_{t_{0}}^{t}e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t}(\alpha_{n}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi))\,d\xi}g_{rj}(t_{1})e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}\|x_{j}^{(2)}(t_{1}) - x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1})\|\,dt_{1}$$

$$+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t}e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t}(\alpha_{n}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi))\,d\xi}g_{rr}(t_{1})e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}\|x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1})\|\,dt_{1}$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n-1}\mu_{j}b_{nj}(t)k^{n}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi} + b_{rr}(t)k^{n}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}$$

$$\leqslant \mu_{r}k^{r}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\varepsilon(\xi)\,d\xi}.$$

$$(7.2.14)_{r}$$

Now, by the method of mathematical induction, we can prove that

$$\|x_j^{(m)}(t) - x_j^{(m-1)}(t)\| \leq \mu^{m-1} k^r c M e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}, \quad j = 1, \dots, r, \quad (7.2.15)$$

hold for arbitrary natural number m, which implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{i}^{(m+1)}(t)\| &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{m} \|x_{i}^{(j+1)}(t) - x_{i}^{(j)}(t)\| + \|x_{i}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{j=0}^{m} \mu^{j}\right) k^{r-1} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \\ &\leq \frac{k^{r}}{1-\mu} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi}, \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.16)

and thus, for arbitrary natural number p, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{i}^{(m+p)}(t) - x_{i}^{(m)}(t)\| &\leq \sum_{j=m+1}^{m+p} \|x_{i}^{(j)}(t) - x_{i}^{(j-1)}(t)\| \\ &\leq \left(\sum_{j=m+1}^{m+p} \mu^{j}\right) k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu^{m}}{1-\mu} k^{r} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}. \end{aligned}$$
(7.2.17)

Therefore, on any finite interval  $[t_0, T]$   $\{x_i^{(m)}(t)\}$  is a fundamental sequence (Cauchy sequence).

Next, we prove that the zero solution of (7.1.1) is stable. Otherwise, assume that  $\exists \varepsilon > 0, \forall \delta > 0, \exists t_0 \text{ and } \exists \tau > 0, \|x_0\| < \delta$  the system at east has the solution:

$$\|x_{0i}(t_0+\tau,t_0,x_0)\| \ge \varepsilon. \tag{7.2.18}$$

However, since the continuous function space  $C[t_0, t_0 + 2T]$  with uniformly convergent topology structure is a Banach space, we have

$$x_i^{(m)} \to x_i(t)$$
 as  $m \to \infty$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, n$ .

Thus,  $x_i(t)$  admits the estimation:

$$\left\|x_{i}(t)\right\| \leqslant \frac{k^{r} c M}{1-\mu} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \quad (i=1,2,\ldots,n)$$

on  $[t_0, t_0 + 2T]$ .

Now we choose

$$0 < \delta < (1-\mu)\varepsilon/mk^r \max_{t_0 \leqslant t \leqslant t_0 + 2T} e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}$$

and then for  $0 < ||x_0|| < \delta$  we have

$$\|x_{i}(t)\| \leq \frac{k' cM}{1-\mu} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} < \varepsilon,$$
  
 $i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ t \in [t_{0}, t_{0} + 2T],$ 
(7.2.19)

which is a contradiction with (7.2.18). So the zero solution of system (7.1.1) is stable. By the estimation (7.2.16) one can obtain all conclusions in Theorem 7.2.2.  $\square$ 

The proof of Theorem 7.2.2 is complete.

COROLLARY 7.2.3. If the following conditions hold:

(1)  $||K_{ii}(t, t_0)|| \leq M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)}$   $(t \geq t_0, i = 1, 2, ..., r);$ (2)  $g_{ii}(t) = g_{ii} = const, i, j = 1, 2, ..., r$ ,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{g_{1j}}{\alpha_1} M_1 \leq \mu_1 < 1,$$

$$\frac{g_{21}M_2}{\alpha_2} \mu_1 + \sum_{j=2}^{n} \frac{M_2 g_{2j}}{\alpha_2} \leq \mu_2 < 1,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \frac{g_{rj}M_r}{\alpha_r} M_j + g_{rr} \leq \mu_n < 1;$$
(7.2.20)

then the zero solution of system (7.1.1) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. Choose  $0 < \varepsilon \ll \alpha_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., r). Then, we have

- (1)  $||K_{ii}(t, t_0)|| \leq M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} \leq M e^{-\varepsilon}(t-t_0)$ , i.e., the condition (1) in Theorem 7.2.2 holds.
- (2) Since

$$b_{ij}(t, t_0) = \int_{t_0}^t M_i e^{-(\alpha_i - \varepsilon)(t - t_1)} g_{ij} dt_1 \leqslant e^{-(\alpha_i - \varepsilon)} M_i g_{ij} \cdot \frac{e^{(a_i - \varepsilon)t}}{a_i - \varepsilon}$$
$$= \frac{M_i g_{ij}}{a_i - \varepsilon},$$

one can take  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$  such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r} \frac{g_{ij}M_1}{a_1 - \varepsilon} \leqslant \tilde{\mu}_1 < 1,$$
$$\frac{a_{21}M_2}{a_2 - \varepsilon} \mu_1 + \sum_{j=2}^{n} g_{2j}M_2 \leqslant \tilde{\mu}_2 < 1,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \frac{g_{rj} M_r}{a_n - \varepsilon} \tilde{\mu}_j + g_{rr} M_r \leqslant \tilde{\mu}_r < 1.$$

÷

Hence, condition (2) of Theorem 7.2.2 hold.

The conclusion is true.

THEOREM 7.2.4. Assume that

- (1) condition (1) of Theorem 7.2.2 holds;
- (2)  $b_{ij}(t)$  defined in condition (2) of Theorem 7.2.2 satisfies

$$\max_{1 \leq j \leq n} b_{1j}(t, t_0) \leq \rho^{(1)},$$
  
$$b_{21}(t, t_0) \rho^{(1)} + \max_{2 \leq j \leq n} b_{2j}(t, t_0) \leq \rho^{(2)},$$

$$\vdots 
\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} b_{rj}(t, t_0) \rho^{(j)} + b_{rr}(t, t_0) \leqslant \rho^{(r)}, 
\sum_{j=1}^{r} \rho^{(j)} := \rho < 1.$$
(7.2.21)

#### Then the conclusions of Theorem 7.2.2 hold.

PROOF. Along the derivation from (7.2.11) to (7.2.13) and let M, c, k be that defined in Theorem 7.2.2, we have

$$\begin{split} \|x_{1}^{(2)}(t) - x_{1}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{1} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} g_{1j}(t_{1}) k^{j-1} c M dt_{1} \right) e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leqslant \rho^{(1)} r k^{r-1} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} ,\\ \|x_{2}^{(2)}(t) - x_{2}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leqslant \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{2} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} (\alpha_{2}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} g_{21}(t_{1}) \|x_{1}^{(2)}(t_{1}) - x_{1}^{(1)}(t_{1})\| dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=2}^{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{2} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha_{2}(\xi)} g_{2j}(t_{1}) \|x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1})\| dt_{1} \\ &\leqslant \left( \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} (\alpha_{2}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi))} g_{2j}(t_{1}) \rho^{(1)} r k^{r-1} c M dt_{1} \\ &+ \max_{2 \leqslant j \leqslant n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{2} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} [\alpha_{2}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)] d\xi} g_{2j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} n k^{n-1} c M \right) e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leqslant \rho^{(2)} r k^{r-1} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} ,\\ &\vdots \\ \|x_{r}^{(2)}(t) - x_{r}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{r-1} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{r} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} (\alpha_{r}(\xi) - \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} g_{rj}(t_{1}) \|x_{j}^{(2)}(t_{1}) - x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1})\| dt_{1} \\ &\leqslant r k^{r-1} c M \rho^{(r)} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} . \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r} \|x_{j}^{(2)}(t) - x_{j}^{(1)}(t)\| \leq rk^{r-1}cM\rho e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}.$$

Then, by the method of mathematical induction one can prove that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r} \left\| x_{j}^{(m)}(t) - x_{j}^{(m-1)}(t) \right\| \leq \rho^{m-1} r k^{r-1} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi}$$

holds for arbitrary natural number m, and

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|x_{j}^{(m)}(t)\| &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|x_{j}^{(m)}(t) - x_{j}^{(m-1)}(t)\| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|x_{j}^{(m-1)}(t) - x_{j}^{(m-2)}(t)\| + \dots + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|x_{j}^{(1)}(t)\| \\ &\leq (\rho^{m-1} + \rho^{m-2} + \dots + 1)rk^{r-1}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{1 - \rho}rk^{r-1}cMe^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,  $\{x_i^{(m)}(t)\}$  is a fundamental sequence

Finally, it follows from the proof of Theorem 7.2.2 that the conclusion is true.  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY 7.2.5. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) condition (1) of Corollary 7.2.3 holds;
- (2)  $g_{ij}(t) = g_{ij} = const., i, j = 1, 2, ..., r,$

$$\max_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant r} g_{ij} \frac{M_1}{\alpha_1} \leqslant \rho^{(1)},$$
$$\frac{g_{21}M_2}{\alpha_2} \rho^{(1)} + \max_{2 \leqslant j \leqslant r} \frac{g_{ij}M_2}{\alpha_2} \leqslant \rho^{(2)},$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{r-1} g_{rj} \frac{M_r}{\alpha_r} \rho^{(j)} + \frac{M_r}{\alpha_r} \cdot g_{rr} \leqslant \rho^{(r)},$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^r \rho^{(j)} = \rho < 1;$$

then the zero solution of (7.1.1) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. The proof is similar to that for Corollary 7.2.3 and is thus omitted.  $\Box$ 

EXAMPLE 7.2.6. Consider the stability of the linear system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = (-1+2\sin t)x_1 + a^2(\cos^m t)x_2,\\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = b^2(\sin^n t)x_1 + (-1+2\cos t)x_2, \end{cases}$$
(7.2.22)

where  $a^2 < \frac{0.9}{e^4}, b^2 < \frac{0.9^2}{e^4}$ .

(2)

We check the conditions of Corollary 7.2.3 for system (7.2.22).

(1) Take  $\varepsilon(t) = 0.1$ ,  $M = e^4$ . Then, we have

$$e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} [-1+2\sin\xi] d\xi} \leqslant e^4 e^{-\int_{t_0}^{t} d\xi} \leqslant e^4 e^{-0.1(t-t_0)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty;$$
$$e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} [-1+2\cos\xi] d\xi} \leqslant e^4 e^{-0.1(t-t_0)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty;$$

$$b_{12}(t, t_0) := \int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_0}^t [-0.9 + 2\sin\xi] d\xi} |a^2 \cos^m t_1| dt_1$$
  

$$\leqslant a^2 e^4 \int_{t_0}^t e^{-0.9t} e^{+0.9t_1} dt_1$$
  

$$= \frac{a^2 e^4}{0.9} e^{-0.9t} (e^{0.9t} - e^{0.9t_0})$$
  

$$\leqslant \frac{a^2 e^4}{0.9} := \mu_1 < 1,$$
  

$$b_{21}(t, t_0) \mu_1 = \frac{a^2 e^4}{0.9} \int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_1}^t [-0.9 + 2\cos\xi] d\xi} |b^2 \sin^2 t_1| dt_1$$
  

$$\leqslant \frac{a^2 e^4}{0.9} b^2 e^4 e^{-0.9t} (e^{0.9t} - e^{0.9t_0})$$
  

$$\leqslant \frac{a^2 b^2}{0.9^2} e^8$$
  

$$= \mu_2 < 1.$$

Hence, the conditions are satisfied. So the zero solution of system (7.2.22) is exponentially stable.

For exponentially stable system, the estimation of exponential rate is very important, which is usually called decay rate, as appeared in automatic control systems.

EXAMPLE 7.2.7. Estimate the decay rate of the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -3x_1 + (\sin t)x_2, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = \frac{at}{1+t^2}x_1 + (-3 + \cos t)x_2, \end{cases}$$
(7.2.23)

where it is assumed that |a| < 4.

Since 
$$e^{\int_{t_0}^t a_{11} d\xi} = e^{-\int_{t_0}^t 3 d\xi} = e^{-3(t-t_0)} \leqslant e^{-(t-t_0)}$$
 (taking  $\varepsilon = 1$ ), we have  

$$\int_{t_0}^t e^{-\int_{t_1}^t (-3+1) d\xi} |\sin t_1| dt_1 \leqslant \frac{1}{2} := \mu_1,$$

$$\int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_1}^t (-3+\cos\xi+1) d\xi} \left| \frac{at_1}{1+t_1^2} \right| dt_1 \leqslant \int_{t_0}^t e^{-(t-t_1)} \frac{|a|}{2} dt_1 \frac{1}{2} < \frac{|a|}{4} = \mu_2 < 1.$$

Thus, the solution of (7.2.23) admits that estimation:

 $||x(t)|| \leq Me^{-(t-t_0)}$  by taking  $\alpha = 1$ ,

i.e., the system (7.2.23) at least has the decay rate  $\alpha = 1$ .

### 7.3. Application of iteration method to extreme stability

In this section, we apply the iteration method to investigate the extreme stability for a class of nonlinear systems.

Consider the system:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n p_{ij}(t)x_j + f_i(t, x), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(7.3.1)

where  $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)^T$ ,  $f_i(t, x) \in C[S_H, R^n]$ ,  $p_{ij}(t) \in C[I, R^1]$ ,  $S_H = \{x \mid ||x|| \leq H\}$ .

Suppose  $f = (f_1, ..., f_n)^T$  satisfies the Lipschitz condition:

$$\left| \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} p_{ij}(t)(x_j - y_j) + f_i(t, x) - f_i(t, y) \right|$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} l_{ij}(t)|x_j - y_i| \quad \text{for } l_{ij}(t) \in C[I, R^1_+]$$

DEFINITION 7.3.1. System (7.3.1) is said to be extremely stable (uniformly extremely stable) with respect to  $H^*$  ( $H^* < H$ ) if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall t_0 \in I$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon, t_0)$  ( $\delta(\varepsilon)$ ),  $\forall x_0 \in S_H^*$ ,  $y_0 \in S_H^*$ ,  $S_H^* = \{x \mid ||x|| \leq H^*\}$  such that when  $||x_0 - y_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon, t_0)$  it holds

$$\left\|x(t,t_0,x_0)-y(t,t_0,y_0)\right\| < \varepsilon, \quad t \ge t_0.$$

DEFINITION 7.3.2. System (7.3.1) is said to be extremely attractive (uniformly extremely attractive) with respect to  $(H^*, H)$  if  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon)$  and  $T(\varepsilon, t_0) > 0$   $(T(\varepsilon) > 0)$  such that  $\forall x_0 \in S_H^*$ ,  $y_0 \in S_H^*$ , when  $||x_0 - y_0|| < \delta$  for all  $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, t_0)$  ( $t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon)$ ) it holds

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0) - y(t, t_0, y_0)|| < \varepsilon.$$

DEFINITION 7.3.3. If system (7.3.1) is extremely stable and extremely attractive (extremely uniformly stable and extremely uniformly attractive), then system (7.3.1) is said to be extremely asymptotically stable (extremely uniformly asymptotically stable).

DEFINITION 7.3.4. System (7.3.1) is said to be extremely exponentially stable if  $\forall x_0 \in S_H^*$ ,  $y_0 \in S_H^*$ , there exist  $M(x_0, y_0) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$||x(t, t_0, x_0) - y(t, t_0, y_0)|| < M(x_0, y_0)e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$

THEOREM 7.3.5. If system (7.3.1) satisfies the following conditions:

(1) there exist function  $\varepsilon(t) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^1]$  and constant M > 0 such that

$$e^{\int_{t_0}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \leqslant M e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi};$$

(2) 
$$a_{ij}(t) := \int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_1}^t [p_{ii}(\xi) + \varepsilon(\xi)] d\xi} l_{ij}(t_1) dt_1 \ (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n), and$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(t) \leq \mu_1 < 1,$$
$$a_{21}(t)\mu_1 + \sum_{j=2}^{n} a_{2j}(t) \leq \mu_2 < 1,$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} a_{nj}(t)\mu_j + a_{nn}(t) \leq \mu_n < 1,$$

where  $\mu_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) are positive constants;

then,

(1)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \ge k(t_0) = const. \ (t \ge t_0 \ge 0);$ (2)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \ge k = const. \ (t \ge t_0 \ge 0);$ (3)  $\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi = +\infty;$ (4)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \to +\infty \text{ with respect to } t_0, \text{ as } t - t_0 \to +\infty;$ (5)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi \ge \alpha(t - t_0) \ (\alpha = const. > 0);$  which imply, respectively, the solution of (7.3.1) to be

- (1) *extremely stable*;
- (2) uniformly extremely stable;
- (3) *extremely asymptotically stable*;
- (4) uniformly extremely asymptotically stable;
- (5) *extremely exponentially stable*;

PROOF. Let the solution of (7.3.1) be

$$x_i(t, t_0, x_0) := x_i(t),$$
 (7.3.2)

$$y_i(t, t_0, y_0) := y_i(t).$$
 (7.3.3)

Applying the method of constant variation, we have

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}(t) &= x_{0i}e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{n} p_{ij}(t_{1})x_{j}(t_{1}) + f_{i}\left(t_{1}, x_{1}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{n}(t_{1})\right) \right] dt_{1}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \end{aligned}$$
(7.3.4)  
$$y_{i}(t) &= y_{0i}e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{n} p_{ij}(t_{1})y_{j}(t_{1}) + f_{i}\left(t_{1}, y_{1}(t_{1}), \dots, y_{n}(t_{1})\right) \right] dt_{1}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{aligned}$$
(7.3.5)

For equations (7.3.4) and (7.3.5), we respectively apply the iteration to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}^{(m)}(t) &= x_{0i}e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{j-1} p_{ij}(t_{1})x_{j}^{(m)}(t_{1}) + \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} p_{ij}(t_{1})x_{j}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) \right. \\ &+ f_{i}\left(t_{1}, x_{1}^{(m)}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(m)}(t_{1}), x_{i}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{n}^{(m-1)}(t_{1})\right) \right] dt_{1} \\ &(m = 2, 3, \dots, i = 1, 2, \dots, n), \end{aligned}$$
(7.3.6)  
$$x_{i}^{(1)}(t) = x_{0i}e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{j-1} p_{ij}(t_{1})x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1}) \right] dt_{1}$$

$$+ f_{i}(t_{1}, x_{1}^{(1)}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(1)}(t_{1}), 0, \dots, 0) \bigg] dt_{1},$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

$$y_{i}^{(m)}(t) = y_{0i} e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi}$$

$$(7.3.7)$$

$$+ \int_{t_0} e^{\int_{t_1}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{t_{-1}} p_{ij}(t_1) y_j^{(m)}(t_1) + \sum_{j=i+1}^n p_{ij}(t_1) y_j^{(m-1)}(t_1) \right. \\ \left. + f_i \left( t_1, y_1^{(m)}(t_1), \dots, y_{i-1}^{(m)}(t_1), y_i^{(m-1)}(t_1), \dots, y_n^{(m-1)}(t_1) \right) \right] dt_1 \\ \left. (m = 2, 3, \dots, i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$
(7.3.8)

$$y_{i}^{(1)}(t) = y_{0i}e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} p_{ij}(t_{1})y_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1}) + f_{i}\left(t_{1}, y_{1}^{(1)}(t_{1}), \dots, y_{i-1}^{(1)}(t_{1}), 0, \dots, 0\right)\right] dt_{1}.$$
(7.3.9)

Let  $z_i^{(m)}(t) = x_i^{(m)}(t) - y_i^{(m)}(t)$ ,  $z_i(t) = x_i(t) - y_i(t)$ ,  $z_{0i} = x_{0i} - y_{i0}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, m = 1, 2, ... Then we have

$$z_{i}^{(m)}(t) = z_{0i} e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} p_{ij}(t_{1}) z_{j}^{(m)}(t) + \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} p_{ij}(t_{1}) z_{j}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) \right. \\ \left. + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} p_{ij}(t_{1}) z_{j}^{(m)}(t) + \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} p_{ij}(t_{1}) z_{j}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) \right. \\ \left. + \int_{i}^{t} (t_{1}, x_{1}^{(m)}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(m)}(t_{1}), x_{i}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{n}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) \right) \right] dt_{1} \\ \left. - \int_{i}^{t} (t, y_{1}^{(m)}(t_{1}), \dots, y_{i-1}^{(m)}(t_{1}), y_{i}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}), \dots, y_{n}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) \right) \right] dt_{1} \\ \left. (i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ m = 2, 3, \dots), \right.$$
(7.3.10)  
$$z_{i}^{(1)}(t) = z_{0i} e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} p_{ij}(t_{1}) z_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1}) \right. \\ \left. + \int_{i}^{t} (t_{1}, x_{1}^{(1)}(t_{1}), \dots, x_{i-1}^{(1)}(t_{1}), 0, \dots, 0) \right] dt_{1}.$$
(7.3.11)

Following the proof of Theorem 7.2.2 and employing the method of mathematical induction, one can prove that for an arbitrary natural number m, it holds

$$\begin{split} \left\| z_{i}^{(m+1)}(t) - z_{i}^{(m)}(t) \right\| &\leq \mu^{m} k^{n-1} c M e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) \, d\xi} \\ &\leq \mu^{m} k^{n-1} c M e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n), \\ \left\| z_{i}^{(m+1)}(t) \right\| &\leq \frac{k^{n-1} c M}{1 - \mu} e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) \, d\xi} \\ &\leq \frac{k^{n-1} c M}{1 - \mu} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) \, d\xi} \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n). \end{split}$$

Hence, we have the estimation:

$$\|z_{i}(t)\| \leq \frac{k^{n-1}cM}{1-\mu} e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi}$$
  
$$\leq \frac{k^{n-1}cM}{1-\mu} e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., n),$$
(7.3.12)

where  $c = \max_{1 \le i \le n} |x_{0i} - y_{0i}|$ . Equation (7.3.12) shows that all the conclusions of Theorem 7.3.5 are true.

THEOREM 7.3.6. If system (7.3.1) satisfies that

(1) condition (1) of Theorem 7.3.5 holds;
 (2)

$$\max_{1 \leq j \leq n} a_{ij}(t) \leq \rho^{(1)} = const.,$$

$$a_{21}(t)\rho^{(1)} + \max_{2 \leq j \leq n} a_{ij}(t) \leq \rho^{(2)} = const.,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} a_{nj}(t)\rho^{(j)} + a_{nn}(t) \leq \rho^{(n)} = const.,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \rho^{(j)} = \rho < 1,$$

where

$$a_{ij}(t) = \int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_1}^t [p_{ii}(\xi) + \varepsilon(\xi)] d\xi} l_{ij}(t_1) dt_1;$$

then all the conclusions of Theorem 7.2.1 hold.

PROOF. Following the procedures as in the proof of Theorems 7.3.5 and 7.2.4, one can complete the proof for this theorem.  $\hfill \Box$ 

#### 7.4. Application of iteration method to stationary oscillation

In this section, we consider a class of nonlinear time-varying periodic systems, described by

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n p_{ij}(t)x_j + f_i(t, x_i(t), \dots, x_n(t)) + g_i(t),$$
  
 $i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$ 
(7.4.1)

where

$$p_{ij}(t+w) \equiv p_{ij}(t), \quad f_i(t+w,x) \equiv f_i(t,x),$$
  

$$g_i(t+w) \equiv g_i(t), \quad w = \text{const.} > 0,$$
  

$$p_{ij}(t) \in C[I, R^1], \quad \xi_i(t) \in C[I, R^1],$$
  

$$f_{ij}(t, x_1, \dots, x_n) \in C[I \times R^n, R^1].$$

DEFINITION 7.4.1. If there exists a unique periodic solution  $\eta(t, t_0, x_0)$  with period  $\omega$ , which is globally asymptotically stable, then the system (7.4.1) is called a stationary oscillating system.

THEOREM 7.4.2. If system (7.4.1) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)

$$\left|\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} p_{ij}(t)(x_j - y_j) + f_i(t, x) - f_i(t, y)\right| \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} l_{ij}(t)|x_j - y_j|,$$

for i = 1, 2, ..., n and  $l_{ij}(t) \in C[I, R^1_+];$ 

(2) there exist function  $\varepsilon(t) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^1]$  and constant M > 0 such that

$$e^{\int_{t_0}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \leqslant M e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \varepsilon(\xi) d\xi} \to 0 \quad as \ t \to +\infty;$$

(3)

$$a_{ij}(t) := \int_{t}^{t} e^{\int_{t_1}^{t} (p_{ii}(\xi) + \varepsilon(\xi)) d\xi} l_{ij}(t_1) dt_1$$
  
$$\leqslant \tilde{a}_{ij} = const. \quad (i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n) \ (t \ge t_0),$$

where the spectral radius  $\rho(\tilde{A})$  of the matrix  $\tilde{A}$  is less than 1, i.e.,  $\rho(\tilde{A}) < 1$  (particularly  $\|\tilde{A}\| < 1$ );

then the system (7.4.1) is a stationary oscillating system.

PROOF. First, we express the solution of (7.4.1) as

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}(t) &= e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} x_{0i} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \left[ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi)} p_{ij}(t_{1}) x_{j}(t_{1}) + e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} f_{i}(t_{1}, x_{1}(t_{1})), \dots, x_{n}(t_{1}) \right] dt_{1} \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t} p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} g_{i}(t_{1}) dt_{1}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{aligned}$$
(7.4.2)

Since continuous periodic function is bounded, let  $||g(t)|| \leq k = \text{const.}$  Then applying the Picard type iteration to (7.4.2) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x_i^{(1)}(t) &= x_{0i} e^{\int_{t_0}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_1}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} g_i(t) dt_1 \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., n), \\ x_i^{(m)}(t) &= x_{0i} e^{\int_{t_0}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} + \int_{t_0}^t e^{\int_{t_1}^t p_{ii}(\xi) d\xi} \bigg[ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^n p_{ij}(t_1) x_j^{(m-1)}(t_1) \\ &+ f_i \big( t_1, x^{(m-1)}(t_1), \dots, x_n^{(m-1)}(t_1) \big) \bigg] dt_1, \\ &i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ m = 2, 3, \dots. \end{aligned}$$

So, we have

$$|x_{i}^{(1)}(t)| \leq |x_{0i}|e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{0})} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-\alpha_{i}(t-t_{1})}k \, dt_{1}$$
$$\leq |x_{0i}| + \frac{k}{\alpha_{i}}$$
$$:= \tilde{M}_{i} \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., r),$$

that is,

$$\left(\left|x_{1}^{(1)}(t)\right|,\ldots,\left|x_{n}^{(1)}(t_{1})\right|\right)^{T} \leqslant I_{n}\left(\tilde{M}_{1},\ldots,\tilde{M}_{r}\right)^{T},$$
(7.4.3)

$$|x_i^{(1)}(t)| \leq \tilde{M}_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{t_0}^t e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_1)} L_{ij}(t_1) |x_j^{(1)}(t_1) dt_1|$$
  
=  $\tilde{M}_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{ij} \tilde{M}_j.$ 

Hence,  $(|x_1^{(2)}(t)|, \dots, |x_n^{(2)}(t)|)^T \leq (I_n + \tilde{A})(\tilde{M}_1, \dots, \tilde{M}_r)^T$ .

Finally, one can use the method of mathematical induction to prove  $(|x_1^{(m)}(t)|, \dots, |x_1^{(m)}(t)|)^T \leq (I_n + \tilde{A} + \dots + \tilde{A}^m) \cdot (\tilde{M}_1, \tilde{M}_r)^T$ . Since  $\rho(\tilde{A}) < 1$ , we have

$$(|x_1(t)|,\ldots,|x_n(t)|)^T \leq (I_n-\tilde{A})^{-1}(\tilde{M}_1,\ldots,\tilde{M}_n)^T,$$

which shows that the solution is bounded. According to Theorem 7.3.5, we know that the solution of system (7.1.1) is extremely asymptotically stable, and thus the system (7.1.1) is a stationary oscillating system.

The proof of Theorem 7.4.2 is complete.

# 7.5. Application of iteration method to improve frozen coefficient method

In this section, we employ the iteration method to improve frozen coefficient method. Consider the linear time-varying system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t)x \quad A(t) \in C[I, \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}], \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(7.5.1)

The classical frozen coefficient method can be stated as follows [344]. Assume that

(1) 
$$\forall t_1, t_2 \in [t_0, +\infty], \exists c = \text{constant} > 0 \text{ such that}$$

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^n \left| a_{ij}(t_1) - a_{ij}(t_2) \right| \leqslant c;$$

(2)  $\operatorname{Re}\lambda(A(t)) < -r < 0;$ 

(3) the Cauchy matrix solution  $K(t, t_0)$  of the system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(t_0)x\tag{7.5.2}$$

satisfies

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left| k_{ij}(t,t_0) \right| \leq b e^{-\frac{r}{2}(t-t_0)}$$
  
and  $bc < \frac{r}{4}$ .

309

Then the solution x(t) of system (7.5.1) admits the estimation:

 $||x(t)|| \leq b ||x_0|| e^{-\frac{r}{4}(t-t_0)}.$ 

The procedure of applying the iteration method to improve the classical frozen coefficient method is described below.

- (1) The frozen is only needed at certain point  $t_0^*$ . The frozen coefficient matrix  $A(t_0^*)$  is stable. Replace Re  $\lambda(A(t)) < -r$  by Re  $\lambda(A^*(t_0)) < -r$ .
- (2) Apply the integral average property to broad the demand of relaxation variety in classical frozen coefficient method.
- (3) Make use of the different stable degree of the frozen coefficient matrix of the isolated subsystem to control the different coupling, and to estimate the solution's accessing property accurately.
- (4) Convert the calculation of high-dimensional Cauchy matrix solution to the calculation of low-dimensional Cauchy matrix solution, which augments the possibility of calculation, and extends the application of frozen coefficient method adopted in solving engineering problems.

Rewrite system (7.5.1) as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}(t_0), \dots, A_{rr}(t_0))x 
+ \operatorname{diag}((A_{11}(t) - A_{11}(t_0)), \dots, (A_{11}(t) - A_{rr}(t_0))x 
+ (A_{ij}(t)\sigma_{ij})x,$$
(7.5.3)

where  $A_{ii}(t)$  and  $A_{ij}(t)$  are  $n_i \times n_i$  and  $n_i \times n_j$  matrices, respectively.  $A_{ii}(t_0)$  is the frozen matrix of  $A_{ii}(t)$  at  $t = t_0$ , and

$$x_{i} = (x_{1}^{(1)}, \dots, x_{n_{i}}^{(i)})^{T}, \quad x = (x_{1}^{T}, \dots, x_{r}^{T})^{T},$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{r} n_{i} = n, \quad \sigma_{ij} = 1 - \delta_{ij}, \quad 1 \leq i, j \leq r.$$

For the isolated subsystem:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \text{diag}(A_{11}(t_0), \dots, A_{rr}(t_0))x,$$
(7.5.4)

we have the following theorem.

#### THEOREM 7.5.1. If the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) the Cauchy matrix solution of (7.5.4) admits the estimation:

$$P(t, t_0) = \operatorname{diag}(P_{11}(t, t_0), \dots, P_{rr}(t - t_0))$$
  
= 
$$\operatorname{diag}(e^{A_{11}(t_0)(t - t_0)}, \dots, e^{A_{rr}(t_0)(t - t_0)})$$

with

$$\|P_{ii}(t,t_0)\| \leq m_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_1)},$$
(7.5.5)

where  $m_i \ge 1$  and  $\alpha_i$  are positive constants;

(2)

$$\|A_{ii}(t) - A_{ii}(t_0)\| \le l_{ii}(t), \quad \|A_{ij}(t)\| \le l_{ij}(t),$$
(7.5.6)

where  $l_{ij}(t) \in C[I, R^1_+]$ ; (3) there exists constant  $\varepsilon$  (0 <  $\varepsilon$  < min<sub>1 \leq i \leq n</sub>  $\alpha_i$ ) such that

$$b_{ij}(t) := \int_{t_0}^t m_i e^{-(\alpha_i - \varepsilon)(t - t_1)} l_{ij}(t_1) \, dt_1 \leqslant \tilde{b}_{ij} = const., \tag{7.5.7}$$

and the spectral radius  $\rho(\tilde{B})$  of the matrix  $\tilde{B}$  is  $\rho(\tilde{B}) < 1$  (particularly  $\|\tilde{B}\| < 1$ ;

then the zero solution of system (7.5.3) is exponentially stable.

**PROOF.** Any solution of system (7.5.3)  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0)$  satisfies

$$x_{i}(t) = e^{A_{ii}(t_{0})(t-t_{0})} x_{0i}$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{A_{ii}(t_{0})(t-t_{0})} \left[ \left( A_{ii}(t_{1}) - A_{ii}(t_{0}) \right) x_{i}(t_{1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{r} A_{ij}(t_{1}) \sigma_{ij} x_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \right].$$
 (7.5.8)

Applying the Picard iteration to (7.5.8) yields

$$\begin{cases} x_i^{(m)}(t) = e^{A_{ii}(t_0)(t-t_0)} x_{0i} + \int_{t_0}^t e^{A_{ii}(t_0)(t-t_1)} \Big[ (A_{ii}(t_1) - A_{ii}(t_0)) x_i^{(m-1)}(t_1) \\ + \sum_{j=1}^n A_{ij}(t_1) \sigma_{ij} x_j^{(m-1)}(t_1) \Big] dt_1, \qquad (7.5.9) \\ x_i^{(0)}(t) = e^{A_{ii}(t_0)(t-t_0)} x_{0i}. \end{cases}$$

Further, we can prove that

$$\left( \left\| x_{1}^{(m)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(m)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} \\ \leq \left( \left( I_{n} + B + \dots + B^{m} \right) \left( m_{1} \| x_{01} \|, \dots, m_{r} \| x_{0r} \| \right) e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})} \right)^{T} \\ \leq \left( \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} B^{m} \right) \left( m_{1} \| x_{01} \|, \dots, m_{r} \| x_{0r} \| \right)^{T} e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})}$$
$$= (I_n - B)^{-1} (m_1 || x_{01} ||, \dots, m_r || x_{0r} ||)^T e^{-\varepsilon(t - t_0)}$$
(7.5.10)

holds for all natural numbers, which means that the zero solution of system (7.5.3) is exponentially stable.  $\hfill \Box$ 

#### COROLLARY 7.5.2. If

- (1) condition (1) in Theorem 7.5.1 holds;
- (2)  $l_{ij}(t) = l_{ij} = const.$  in condition (2) of Theorem 7.5.3;
- (3)  $\rho(B(\frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i}))_{r \times r} < 1 \text{ (particularly } \|B(\frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i})\| < 1);$

then the zero solution of system (7.5.3) is exponentially stable.

PROOF. Choose  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$  such that

$$b_{ij}(t) := \int_{t_0}^t m_i e^{-(\alpha_i - \varepsilon)(t - t_1)} l_{ij} dt_1 \leqslant \frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i - \varepsilon} := \tilde{b}_{ij}.$$

Since

$$\rho\left(B\left(\frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i}\right)\right) < 1 \quad \left(\left\|B\left(\frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i}\right)\right\| < 1\right)$$

implies

$$\rho\left(B\left(\frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i - \varepsilon}\right)\right) < 1 \quad \left(\left\|B\left(\frac{m_i l_{ij}}{\alpha_i - \varepsilon}\right)\right\| < 1\right)$$

when  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ .

So the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 7.5.3. If the conditions (1) and (2) in Theorem 7.5.1 are satisfied, and

(3)  $b_{ij}(t)$  defined by (7.5.7) satisfy

$$\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} b_{ij}(t)\mu_j + \sum_{j=i}^r b_{ij}(t) \leqslant \mu_j = const. < 1$$
  
(i = 1, 2, ..., r), (7.5.11)

then the zero solution of system (7.5.3) is exponentially stable.

**PROOF.** Apply the following iterations to system (7.6.1):

$$x_i^{(m)}(t) = e^{A_{ii}(t_0)(t-t_0)} x_{0i} + \int_{t_0}^t e^{A_{ii}(t_0)(t-t_0)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} A_{ij}(t_1) x_j^{(m)}(t_1) \right]$$

312

7.5. Application of iteration method to improve frozen coefficient method

$$+ \left(A_{ii}(t_{1}) - A_{ii}(t_{0})\right) x_{i}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) + \sum_{j=i+1}^{r} A_{ij}(t_{1}) x_{j}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) \right] dt_{1}$$

$$(m = 2, 3, \dots, i = 1, 2, \dots, r),$$

$$x_{i}^{(1)}(t) = e^{A_{ii}(t_{0})(t-t_{0})} x_{0i} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{A_{ii}(t-t_{1})} \left[\sum_{j=1}^{i-1} A_{ij}(t_{1}) x_{j}^{(1)}(t_{1})\right] dt_{1},$$

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
(7.5.12)

Let

$$M = \max_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq r \\ t \geq t_0}} m_i, \quad c = \max_{\substack{1 \leq j \leq r \\ 1 \leq j \leq r \\ t \geq t_0}} \|x_{0j}\|,$$
$$k = \sup_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq r \\ t \geq t_0}} \left\{ \sum_{j=1}^r b_{ij}(t) + 1 \right\}, \quad \mu = \max_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq r \\ 1 \leq i \leq r \\ t \geq t_0}} \mu_i,$$
$$\sigma = k^{r-1} c M.$$

Then, we can prove that for any natural numbers,

$$\left\|x_i^{(m)}(t)\right\| \leqslant \frac{\sigma}{1-\mu} e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}, \quad x_i^{(m)}(t) \to x_i(t)$$

which implies that  $||x_i(t)|| \leq \frac{\sigma}{1-\mu}e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}$ . Hence, the zero solution of system (7.5.3) is exponentially stable.

EXAMPLE 7.5.4. Consider a 4-dimensional time-varying linear system:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \\ \dot{x}_3 \\ \dot{x}_4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -6 & 3 & \sin \frac{t}{8} & \frac{1}{8} \cos t \\ -5 & 2 & \frac{1}{7} \sin t & \frac{1}{7} \cos t \\ \frac{t}{1+t^2} & \frac{1}{2} \cos t & -4 + \frac{1}{2} \sin t & 1 \\ \frac{1}{2} \sin t & \frac{t}{1+t^2} & 1 & -4 - \frac{1}{2} \sin t \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{at } t_0 = 0}_{\text{frozen}} \begin{bmatrix} -6 & 3 & 0 & 0 \\ -5 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -4 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \sin \frac{1}{8}t & \frac{1}{8} \cos t \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{7} \sin t & \frac{1}{7} \cos t \\ \frac{t}{1+t^2} & \frac{1}{2} \cos t & \frac{1}{2} \sin t & 0 \\ \frac{1}{2} \sin t & \frac{t}{1+t^2} & 0 & -\frac{1}{2} \sin t \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \end{pmatrix}$$

or

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \\ \dot{x}_3 \\ \dot{x}_4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}(0) & 0_2 \\ 0_2 & A_{22}(0) \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} A_{11}(t) - A_{11}(0) & A_{12}(t) \\ A_{21}(t) & A_{22}(t) - A_{22}(0) \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(7.5.13)

The eigenvalues of

$$A_{11}(0) = \begin{bmatrix} -6 & 3\\ -5 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$$

are  $\lambda_1 = -3$ ,  $\lambda_2 = -1$ , and that of

$$A_{22}(0) = \begin{pmatrix} -4 & 1\\ 1 & -4 \end{pmatrix}$$

are  $\lambda_1 = -5$ ,  $\lambda_2 = -3$ . Thus, the Cauchy matrix solution to the first isolated subsystem:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -6 & 3 \\ -5 & 2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} = A_{11}(0) \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.5.14)

is

$$e^{A_{11}(0)t} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{5}{2}e^{-3t} - \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} & -\frac{3}{2}e^{-3t} + \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} \\ \frac{3}{2}e^{-3t} - \frac{3}{2}e^{-t} & -\frac{3}{2}e^{-3t} + \frac{5}{2}e^{-t} \end{bmatrix},$$
(7.5.15)

while the Cauchy matrix solution to the second isolated subsystem:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_3\\ \dot{x}_4 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -4 & 1\\ 1 & -4 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_3\\ x_4 \end{pmatrix} = A_{22}(0) \begin{pmatrix} x_3\\ x_4 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.5.16)

is

$$e^{A_{22}(0)t} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} & -\frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} \\ -\frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} & \frac{1}{2}e^{-5t} + \frac{1}{2}e^{-3t} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (7.5.17)

Hence, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|e^{A_{11}(0)t}\| &\leq 3e^{-t}, \\ \|e^{A_{22}(0)t}\| &\leq \frac{3}{2}e^{-3t}, \\ \|A_{12}(t)\| &\leq \frac{2}{7}, \\ \|A_{21}(t)\| &\leq 1, \end{aligned}$$

$$||A_{22}(t) - A_{22}(0)|| \leq \frac{1}{2},$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\| e^{A_{11}(0)(t-\tau)} \right\| \left\| A_{12}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \leq 3 \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(t-\tau)} \frac{2}{7} d\tau \leq \frac{6}{7} < 1,$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\| e^{A_{11}(0)(t-\tau)} \right\| \left[ \left\| A_{21}(\tau) \right\| + \left\| A_{22}(\tau) - A_{22}(0) \right\| \right] d\tau$$
  
$$\leq \frac{3}{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-3(t-\tau)} \frac{3}{2} d\tau \leq \frac{3}{4} < 1.$$

Obviously, one can choose  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$  such that any one of the conditions in Theorem 7.5.1 holds. Thus, system (7.5.13) is exponentially stable.

## 7.6. Application of iteration method to interval matrix

It is well known that an  $n \times n$  internal matrix N[P, Q] is a set of real matrices:

$$N[PQ] = \left[A = A(a_{ij}) \mid P(p_{ij}) \leqslant A(a_{ij}) \leqslant Q(q_{ij})\right],$$

i.e.,  $p_{ij} \leq a_{ij} \leq q_{ij}$ , where  $p_{ij}$ ,  $q_{ij}$  are known, while  $a_{ij}$  is unknown.

The set N[P, Q] is said to be stable, if every  $A \in N[P, Q]$  is stable.

The idea of frozen coefficient method can be applied to study the stability of interval matrix.

Let

$$A = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}, A_{22}, \dots, A_{rr}) + ((1 - \delta_{ij})A_{ij}),$$
  

$$P = \operatorname{diag}(P_{11}, P_{22}, \dots, P_{rr}) + ((1 - \delta_{ij})P_{ij}),$$
  

$$Q = \operatorname{diag}(Q_{11}, Q_{22}, \dots, Q_{rr}) + ((1 - \delta_{ij})Q_{ij}),$$
  

$$A_{ij} \in N(P_{ij}, Q_{ij}),$$
  

$$\mathring{A}_{ii} = \frac{1}{2}(P_{ii} + Q_{ii}), \quad B_{ii} = A_{ii} - \mathring{A}_{ii}, \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$

where  $A_{ij}$ ,  $P_{ij}$ ,  $Q_{ij}$  are  $n_i \times n_j$  matrices, and

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\prime} n_i = n.$$

 $\delta_{ij}$  is the Kronecker delta function,  $m_{ij} = \max ||A_{ij}||$  and  $A_{ij} \in N(P_{ij}, Q_{ij})$ . Then  $||B_{ii}|| \leq \frac{m_{ii}}{2}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., r. We consider a linear dynamical system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = \text{diag}(A_{11}, \dots, A_{rr})x + ((1 - \delta_{ij})A_{ij})x \\ = \text{diag}(\mathring{A}_{11}, \dots, \mathring{A}_{rr})x + \text{diag}(B_{11}, \dots, B_{rr})x + ((1 - \delta_{ij})A_{ij})x \\ x(t_0) = x_n, \end{cases}$$
(7.6.1)

or

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_i}{dt} = \mathring{A}_{ii}x_i + B_{ii}x_i + \sum_{j=1}^r A_{ij}x_j, \\ x_i(t_0) = x_{0i}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \end{cases}$$
(7.6.2)

where

$$x_i = (x_1^{(i)}, \dots, x_{n_i}^{(i)})^T, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \quad \sum_{i=1}^r n_i = n$$

At the same time, we consider the isolated subsystem:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_i}{dt} = \mathring{A}_{ii} x_i, \\ x = x_{0i}. \end{cases}$$
(7.6.3)

THEOREM 7.6.1. Assume that

(1) there exist constants  $M_i > 1$ ,  $\alpha_i > 0$  such that

$$e^{\hat{A}_{ii}(t-t_0)} \leqslant M_i e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r;$$

(2) let 
$$c_{ij} := \frac{M_i}{\alpha_i} (1 - \delta_{ij}) m_{ij} + \frac{M_i m_{ii}}{2\alpha_i}$$

then  $\rho(C) < 1$  (in particular ||C|| < 1) implies that the interval matrix N[P, Q] is stable. where  $\rho(C)$  is the spectral radius of the matrix C.

PROOF. From the method of constant variation, the solution of (7.6.2) can he written as

$$x_{i}(t) = e^{\mathring{A}_{ii}(t-t_{0})} x_{0i} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{\mathring{A}_{ii}(t-t_{1})} \left[ B_{ii}(t_{1}) x_{i}(t_{1}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} (1-\delta_{ij}) A_{ij} x_{j}(t_{1}) \right] dt_{1}.$$
 (7.6.4)

Let

$$\tilde{c}_{ij} = \frac{M_i}{\alpha_i - \varepsilon} \left( 1 - \delta_{ij} m_{ij} + \frac{M_i m_{ij}}{2\alpha_i - \varepsilon} \right), \qquad \tilde{C} = (\tilde{c}_{ij}).$$

Since the eigenvalues of a matrix continuously depend on its elements,  $\rho(C) < 1$ (||C|| < 1) implies  $\rho(\tilde{C}) < 1$  ( $||\tilde{c}|| < 1$ ) for  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . We now apply the

iteration to (7.6.4) to obtain

$$\begin{cases} x_i^{(m)}(t) = e^{\mathring{A}_{ii}(t-t_0)} x_{0i} \\ + \int_{t_0}^t e^{\mathring{A}_{ii}(t-t_1)} \Big[ B_{ii} x_i(t_1) + \sum_{j=1}^r (1-\delta_{ij}) A_{ij} x_j^{(m-1)} \Big] dt_1 \\ x_i^{(0)}(t) = e^{\mathring{A}_{ii}(t-t_0)} x_{0i}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r, \ m = 1, 2, \dots, \end{cases}$$
(7.6.5)

where  $t \ge t_0, 0 < \varepsilon < \min_{1 \le i \le r} \alpha_i$ . We obtain

$$\|x_i^{(0)}(t)\| \leq M_i \|x_{0i}\| e^{-\alpha_i(t-t_0)} \leq M_i \|x_{0i}\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}, \left( \|x_1^{(0)}(t)\|, \dots, \|x_r^{(0)}(t)\| \right)^T \leq I_r \left( M_1 \|x_{0i}\|, \dots, M_r \|x_{0r}\| \right)^T e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)},$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_{i}^{(1)}(t)\| &\leq M_{i} \|x_{0i}\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} r^{-(\alpha_{i}-\varepsilon)(t-t_{1})} \\ &\times \left[ \|B_{ii}\| \|x_{0i}\| + \sum_{j=1}^{r} (1-\delta_{ij})\|A_{ij}\| M_{j} \|x_{0j}\| dt_{1} \right] e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})} \\ &\leq M_{i} \|x_{0i}\| e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})} + \frac{M_{i} m_{ii}}{2(\alpha_{i}-\varepsilon)} \|x_{0i}\| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \frac{(1-\delta_{ij})m_{ij}M_{j}\|x_{0j}\|}{\alpha_{i}-\varepsilon} e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\|x_i^{(1)}(t) - x_i^{(0)}(t)\| \leq \left(\sum_{j=1}^r \left(\frac{1 - \delta_{ij}}{\alpha_i - \varepsilon}\right) m_{ij} M_j + \frac{M_i m_{ij}}{2(\alpha_i - \varepsilon)}\right) e^{-\varepsilon(t - t_0)},$$
  

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$
(7.6.6)

that is,

$$\left( \left\| x_{1}^{(1)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(1)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T} \leq (E + \tilde{B}) \left( M_{1} \| x_{01} \|, \dots, M_{r} \| x_{0r} \| \right)^{T} e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})},$$

$$\left( \left\| x_{1}^{(1)}(t) - x_{0}^{(1)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(1)}(t) - x_{r}^{(0)}(t) \right\| \right)^{T}$$

$$(7.6.7)$$

$$\leq \tilde{B}(M_1 \| x_{01} \|, \dots, M_r \| x_{0r} \|)^T e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}.$$
(7.6.8)

Finally, by the method of mathematical induction we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| x_{1}^{(m)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_{r}^{(m)}(t) \right\| \\ &\leqslant \left( I_{r} + \tilde{C} + \dots + \tilde{C}^{m} \right) \left( M_{1} \| x_{01} \|, \dots, M_{r} \| x_{0r} \| \right)^{T} \\ &\leqslant \left( I_{r} - \tilde{C} \right)^{-1} \left( M_{1} \| x_{01} \|, \dots, M_{r} \| x_{0r} \| \right)^{T} e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.6.9)$$

and

$$\left( \left\| x_1^{(m)}(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r^{(m)}(t) \right\| \right)^T \leq (I_r - \tilde{C})^{-1} \left( M_1 \| x_{0i} \|, \dots, M_r \| x_{0r} \| \right)^T e^{-\varepsilon(t-0)}$$
(7.6.10)

 $\Box$ 

which shows that the conclusion of Theorem 7.6.1 is true.

EXAMPLE 7.6.2. Consider the stability of a mechanical system with angular speed  $\omega$  [361]:

$$\dot{X}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} X_{1} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \omega^{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} X_{1} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2\omega \end{bmatrix} X_{2},$$
  
$$\dot{X}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} X_{2} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2\omega \end{bmatrix} X_{1} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ \omega^{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} X_{2},$$

where

$$X_1 = (x_1, x_2)^T, \quad X_2 = (x_3, x_4)^T.$$

We are interested in estimating the stability region for the coupling parameter  $\omega \ge 0$ . Siljak [361] applied the decomposition-aggregation method with Lyapunov vector function to determine the stability interval for  $\omega$  as  $0 \le \omega \le 0.05$ , i.e., the interval matrix

$$N(P, Q) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ [-2, -1 + (0.05)^2] & -1 & 0 & [0, 0.1] \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & [-0.1, 0] & [-1, -1 + (0.05)^2] & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

is stable. Here, we have applied Theorem 7.6.1 to obtain a greater interval of  $\omega$  for the stability as  $0 \le \omega \le 0.08768$ .

For the isolated subsystem:

$$\dot{X}_i = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} X_i, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

we have

$$\exp\left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} t\right) = e^{-\frac{t}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} \cos\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}\sin\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t & \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{3}\sin\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t\\ \frac{-2\sqrt{3}}{3}\sin\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t & \cos\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{3}\sin\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}t \end{bmatrix}.$$

Therefore,

$$\left\| \exp\left( \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} t \right) \right\| \leq (1 + \sqrt{3})e^{-\frac{t}{2}},$$
$$\int_{t_0}^t (1 + \sqrt{3})e^{-\frac{t-\tau}{2}}\omega^2 d\tau \leq 2(1 + \sqrt{3})\omega^2,$$
$$\int_0^t (1 + \sqrt{3})e^{-\frac{t-\tau}{2}} \leq 4\omega(1 + \sqrt{3}).$$

Let  $2(1 + \sqrt{3})\omega^2 + 4(1 + \sqrt{3})\omega - 1 < 0$ . Then  $0 \le \omega \le 0.08768$ , i.e., the interval matrix, given by

$$N(P, Q) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ [-1, -1 + (0.08768)^2] & -1 & 0 & [0, 0.17436] \\ 0 & [-0.17436, 0] & [-1, -1 + (0.08768)^2] & -1 \end{bmatrix},$$

is stable.

This page intentionally left blank

# Dynamical Systems with Time Delay

As we know, ordinary differential equation is an important mathematical tool, not only in solving problems in natural science and social science, but also playing a significant role in the development of dynamical system theory and methodologies. As a matter of fact, general theory of Lyapunov stability theory was developed over a century ago by using ordinary differential equations. Later, the theory was extended to different types of dynamic systems, described by difference equations, differential difference equations, functional equations, partial differential equations, stochastic differential equations and so on. The research on the direct Lyapunov method for constructing stability criteria is still a main topic in dynamical systems.

Whether from development of theory or from applications, the most important part is still the stability of dynamical systems described by differential difference equations with time delays. In this chapter, we systematically introduce the stability theory of the differential difference equations.

The materials presented in this chapter are chosen from various sources, in particular, [231] for Section 8.1, [344,231] for Section 8.2, [280] for Section 8.7, [139] for Section 8.8, [243] for Section 8.9, Section 8.10 and [155,280] for Section 8.11.

#### 8.1. Basic concepts

In natural or social phenomena, the trend or the future status of many systems are not only determined by their current situation but also determined by their history. Such phenomena are called delay or genetic effect. Many mathematical models arising from engineering, physics, mechanics, control theory, chemical reaction, or biomedicine always involve delays. For example, the delitescence of a contagion in biomedicine, the hysteresis in elastic mechanics, and especially, any automatic control systems with feedback in general always contain time delay. This is because these systems have only limited time to receive information and react accordingly. Such a system cannot be described by purely differential equations, but has to be treated with differential difference equations or the so called differential equations with difference variables.

For illustration, let us consider the motion of a swing ship. Let  $\theta(t)$  denote the angle to the vertical position. Then  $\theta$  satisfies the following differential equation:

$$m\hat{\theta}(t) + c\hat{\theta}(t) + k\theta(t) = f(t). \tag{8.1.1}$$

To reduce the swing, besides increasing the damping c, some ships are equipped with water pumps on both sides, which can transfer water from one cabin to another in order to increase the damping  $q\dot{\theta}(t)$ . Since there always exists delay in the servo of control system, system (8.1.1) should be more precisely described by

$$m\ddot{\theta}(t) + C\dot{\theta}(t) + q\dot{\theta}(t-\tau) + k\theta(t) = f(t), \qquad (8.1.2)$$

where  $\tau$  is the delay. This is a typical time-delay differential equation.

Although some differential equation with difference variables appeared as early as in 1750 in Euler's geometrical problem, systematic studies started only in the 20th century. The development of this research and its applications were first related to automatic control theory. Recently, researchers paid particular attention to the stability of neural network with time delay.

When different values are introduced to the independent variable t of an unknown function x(t) in a differential equation, the equation is called differential difference equation. For example,

$$\dot{x}(t) = g(t, x(t), x(t - \tau(t)))$$
(8.1.3)

$$\dot{x}(t) = g(t, x(t), x(t - \tau_1), x(t - \tau_2), \dots, x(t - \tau_n))$$
(8.1.4)

$$\ddot{x}(t) = g(t, x(t), \dot{x}(t), x(t - \tau(t)), \dot{x}(t - \tau(t)))$$
(8.1.5)

$$\ddot{x}(t) = g\left(t, x\left(\frac{t}{2}\right), \dot{x}\left(\frac{t}{2}\right), x(t), \dot{x}(t)\right).$$
(8.1.6)

If the independent variable in the highest-order derivatives is not less than any other order derivatives as well as the independent variable *t*, it is called delayed differential difference equation. For example, if  $\tau_1 > 0$  in (8.1.3) (8.1.5),  $\tau_1 > 0$ ,  $\tau_2 > 0, \ldots, \tau_n > 0$  in (8.1.4), and  $\frac{t}{2} = t - \frac{t}{2} \ge 0$  in (8.1.6), then all these equations are called differential difference equations.

Another type of delayed differential difference equations is called neutral differential difference equation. For example,

$$\dot{x}(t) = g(t, x(t), x(t-\tau), \dot{x}(t-\tau)), \quad \tau > 0,$$
(8.1.7)

$$\ddot{x}(t) = g\bigl(t, x(t), \dot{x}\bigl(t - \tau(t)\bigr), \dot{x}\bigl(t - \tau(t)\bigr)\ddot{x}\bigl(t - \tau(t)\bigr)\bigr).$$
(8.1.8)

...

The independent variable in the highest-order derivatives can take different values. So, general time-delay differential difference equations can be described by

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = g(t, y(t), y(t - \tau_1(t)), \dots, y(t - \tau_m(t))), \quad \tau_i(t) \ge 0, 
y(t) = \tilde{\psi}(t) \in E_{t_0} = \left\{ t_0 - \sup_{t \ge t_0} \tau_i(t), \ i = 1, \dots, m \right\}.$$
(8.1.9)

Suppose the function on the right-hand side of (8.1.9) is smooth enough, such that the existence and uniqueness of Cauchy problem is guaranteed.

To study the stability of any solution of (8.1.9),  $\hat{y}(t)$ , we only need a transformation  $x(t) = y(t) - \hat{y}(t)$  so that it is equivalent to study the stability of the zero solution of the following equation

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f\left(t, x(t), x\left(t - \tau_1(t)\right), \dots, x\left(t - \tau_m(t)\right)\right).$$
(8.1.10)

Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f \in [I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R}^n]$ . In the following, we first give the definitions of different stabilities for differential difference equations. For the neural type equations, it is not difficult for readers to obtain their definitions.

DEFINITION 8.1.1. The zero solution of (8.1.10) is said to be stable, if  $\forall t_0 \in I, \forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists \delta(\varepsilon, t_0) > 0, \forall \xi(t) \in E_{t_0}$ , when  $\|\xi(t)\| < \delta$ , it holds

$$\|x(t, t_0, \xi)\| < \varepsilon \quad \forall t \ge t_0.$$

If  $\delta(\varepsilon, t_0)$  in the above definition is independent of  $t_0$ , then the zero solution of (8.1.10) is said to be uniformly stable.

If the zero solution of (8.1.10) is stable, and  $\exists \sigma(t_0) > 0, \forall \xi(t) \in E_{t_0}$ , when  $\|\xi(t)\| < \sigma(t_0)$ , it holds

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \left\| x(t, t_0, \xi) \right\| = 0,$$

then the zero solution of (8.1.10) is said to be asymptotically stable.

DEFINITION 8.1.2. The zero solution of system (8.1.10) is said to be uniformly asymptotically stable, if it is uniformly stable, and there exists  $\sigma > 0$  (independent of  $t_1$ ),  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists T(\varepsilon) > 0$  (also independent of  $t_1$ ), when  $t > t_1 + T(\varepsilon)$ ,  $\|\xi(t)\| < \sigma$ ,  $\|x(t, t_0, \xi)\| < \varepsilon$  holds. Here,  $\xi(t)$  is an arbitrary function defined on  $E_{t_1}$  for  $t_1 \ge t_0$ .

DEFINITION 8.1.3. The zero solution of system (8.1.10) is said to be exponentially stable, if there exist  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $B(\delta) \ge 1$  such that when  $\|\xi\| < \delta$  and t > T,

$$\|x(t, t_0, \xi)\| \leq B(\delta) \Big(\max_{t \in E_{t_0}} \|\xi\| \Big) e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}.$$
 (8.1.11)

DEFINITION 8.1.4. The zero solution of system (8.1.10) is said to be globally asymptotically stable, if it is stable and for any initial value function  $\xi(t)$  (i.e., the  $\delta$  in Definition 8.1.1 can be arbitrarily large),

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \left\| x(t, t_0, \xi) \right\| = 0$$

holds.

For the neutral equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx(t)}{dt} = f(x, x(t), x(t - \tau_1(t)), \dots, x(t - \tau_m(t)), \\ \dot{x}(t - \tau_1(t)), \dots, \dot{x}(t - \tau_m(t))), \\ x(t) = \xi(t), \quad t \in E_{t_0}, \\ \dot{x}(t) = \dot{\xi}(t), \quad t \in E_{t_0}, \end{cases}$$
(8.1.12)

the definitions of different stabilities for its solution are similar to Definitions 8.1.1–8.1.4, one only needs to change the initial condition  $\|\phi(t)\| < \delta$  in Definitions 8.1.1–8.1.4 to  $\|\xi(t)\| < \delta$ ,  $\|\dot{\xi}(t) < \delta\|$ .

# 8.2. Lyapunov function method for stability

It is natural to extend the basic ideas and approaches of Lyapunov function method developed for the stability of ordinary differential equations to that of the differential difference equations.

To make easy understand and readable, we, instead of (8.1.10), use a simpler system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f\left(t, x(t), x\left(t - \tau(t)\right)\right)$$
(8.2.1)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f \in \mathbb{C}[I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ ,  $f(t, 0, 0) \equiv 0, 0 \leq \tau(t) < t < +\infty$ , and

$$x(t-\tau(t)) = (x_1(t-\tau_1(t)), \dots, x_n(t-\tau_n(t)))^T, 0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau_i = \text{constant.}$$

Similar to the results of stability obtained in Chapter 4, it is easy to obtain the following theorem.

For convenience, let  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, \xi)$ .  $x(\theta) = \xi(\theta)$  when  $\theta \in [t_0 - \tau, t_0]$ .

THEOREM 8.2.1. If there exists a positive definite function V(t, x) in some region  $G_H := \{(t, x), t \ge t_0, ||x|| \le H\}$  such that

$$D^+V(t,x)|_{(8.2.1)} \leq 0.$$
 (8.2.2)

(Specifically,  $\frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}|_{(8.2.1)} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_i} f_i(t, x(t), x(t - \tau(t))) \leq 0.$ ) Then the zero solution of (8.2.1) is stable.

**PROOF.** Since V(t, x) is positive definite, there exists

$$\varphi(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x), \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$
(8.2.3)

Because V(t, 0) = 0, there exists  $\delta(t_0)$  such that when  $||x_0|| \le \delta(t_0)$ ,  $V(t_0, x_0) < \varphi(\varepsilon)$ . It then follows from (8.2.2) and (8.2.3) that

$$\varphi(\|x(t)\|) \leqslant V(t_0, x(t)) \leqslant V(t_0, x_0) \leqslant \varphi(\varepsilon),$$

implying that  $||x(t)|| \leq \varepsilon$ ,  $t \geq t_0$ . Thus, the zero solution of (8.2.1) is stable.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 8.2.2. If there exists a positive definite function V(t, x) with infinitesimal upper bound in some region  $G_H$  such that

$$D^+V(t,x)|_{(8,2,1)} \leq 0.$$

(In particular,  $\frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}|_{(8.2.1)} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_i} f_i(t, x(t), x(t - \tau(t))) \leq 0.$ ) Then, the zero solution of (8.2.1) is uniformly stable.

**PROOF.** Because V(t, x) is positive definite with infinitesimal upper bound, there exist  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  such that

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|) \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0.$$

Choose  $\delta(\varepsilon) = \varphi_2^{-1}(\varphi_1(\varepsilon))$ . When  $||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , from the assumption we have

$$\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|) \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq V(t_0, x_0) \leq \varphi_2(\|x_0\|) \leq \varphi_2(\|\delta(\varepsilon)\|).$$

So  $||x(t)|| \leq \varphi_1^{-1}\varphi_2(||\delta(\varepsilon)||) \leq \varepsilon ||$ , implying that the zero solution of (8.2.1) is uniformly stable.

EXAMPLE 8.2.3. Consider the stability of the zero solution of the following two dimensional delayed system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = (-3 + \sin t)x_1(t)(1 + \sin(x_1^2(t - \tau_2(t)))) \\ + x_2(t)\sin(x_1)(t - \tau_1(t)), \end{cases}$$
(8.2.4)  
$$\frac{dx_2}{dt} = -2x_1\sin(x_1(t - \tau_1(t))) - 2x(1 + \frac{1}{2}\cos(x_2(t - \tau_2(t))))x_2, \end{cases}$$

where  $0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau_i = \text{constant}, i = 1, 2$ .

PROOF. Consider the positive definite Lyapunov function with infinitesimal upper bound:

$$V = x_1^2 + \frac{1}{2}x_2^2.$$

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(8.2.4)} &= 2(-3+\sin t)x_1^2(t)\left(1+\sin x_1^2(t-\tau_1(t))\right) \\ &+ 2x_1(t)x_2(t)\sin x_1(t-\tau_1(t)) \\ &- 2x_1(t)x_2(t)\sin x_1(t-\tau_1(t)) \\ &- 2\left(1+\frac{1}{2}\cos(x_2(t-\tau_1(t)))\right)x_2^2(t) \\ &\leqslant -4x_1^2(t)-x_2^2(t) < 0 \quad \text{when } x_1^2+x_2^2 \neq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Thus the zero solution of (8.2.4) is uniformly stable.

THEOREM 8.2.4. If there exists a positive definite function V(t, x) with infinitesimal upper bound in some region  $G_H$  such that

 $\square$ 

$$D^+V(t,x)|_{(8.2.4)}$$

is negative definite, in particular, if

$$\frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}\Big|_{(8.2.4)} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial V}{\partial x_i} f_i(t,x(t),x(t-\tau(t)))$$

*is negative definite, then the zero solution of* (8.2.4) *is uniformly asymptotically stable.* 

When  $G_H = R^n$ , the conclusion of Theorem 8.2.4 becomes globally asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.** Let V(t) := V(t, x(t)). From the condition we know that there exist  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  such that

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|).$$

Because  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(8.2.4)}$  is negative definite,  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(8.2.4)}$  is negative definite. This implies that  $D^+V(t, x)|_{(8.2.4)}$  ( $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(8.2.4)}$ ) is negative definite about x(t). Therefore,  $\exists \varphi_3(||x||) \in K$  such that

$$D^{+}V(t,x(t))\big|_{(8.2.4)} \leqslant -\varphi_{3}(\big\|x(t)\big\|) \leqslant -\varphi_{3}(\big\|\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t))\big\|) \leqslant 0,$$

i.e.,

$$\int_{V(t_0)}^{V(t)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))} \leqslant -(t-t_0),$$

or

$$\int_{V(t)}^{V(t_0)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))} \ge t - t_0.$$

 $\forall \varepsilon < H$ , using

$$\varphi_1(||x(t)||) \leq V(t) := V(t, x(t))$$

and

$$V(t_0) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x_0\|) \leqslant \varphi_2(H),$$

we have

$$\int_{\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|)}^{\varphi_2(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))} = \int_{\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|)}^{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))} + \int_{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_2(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))}$$
$$\geq \int_{V(t)}^{V(t_0)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))} \ge t - t_0.$$

Thus,

$$T = T(\varepsilon, H) > \int_{\varphi_1(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_2(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_3(\varphi_2^{-1}(V(t)))}$$

Obviously, when  $t \ge t_0 + T$ , it is easy to obtain from the above equation:

$$\int_{\varphi_{1}(\|x(t)\|)}^{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_{3}(\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t)))} \ge t - t_{0} - \int_{\varphi_{1}(\varepsilon)}^{\varphi_{2}(H)} \frac{dV}{\varphi_{3}(\varphi_{2}^{-1}(V(t)))} \ge t - t_{0} - T \ge 0$$
(8.2.5)

from which we can deduce that

$$\varphi_1(||x(t)||) < \varphi_1(\varepsilon), \text{ when } t \ge t_0 + T(\varepsilon, H).$$

Since  $T = T(\varepsilon, H)$  is independent of  $t_0$  and  $x_0, x = 0$  is uniformly attractive.

Further, noticing that the conditions in Theorem 8.2.4 imply the conditions of Theorem 8.2.2, we know that x = 0 is uniformly stable. Therefore, x = 0 is uniformly asymptotically stable.

Again we consider Example 8.2.3. Obviously, for this example, the conditions in Theorem 8.2.4 are satisfied. Hence, x = 0 of Example 8.2.3 is uniformly asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 8.2.5. If there exists function  $V(t, x) \in [I \times G_H, R]$  in  $G_H$  satisfying the following conditions:

- (1)  $||x|| \leq V(t, x) \leq k(H) ||x||, x \in G_H;$ (2)  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(8.2.4)} \leq -cV(t, x)$ , where c > 0 is a constant;
- then the zero solution of (8.2.4) is exponentially stable. If  $G_H = R^n$ , the conclusion of Theorem 8.2.5 is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. From condition (2), we know that

$$V(t, x(t)) \leq V(t_0, x(t_0)) \leq V(t_0, x_0)e^{-c(t-t_0)}$$

Thus, the conclusion is true.

EXAMPLE 8.2.6. Consider the stability of the zero solution for the following nonlinear system with variable time delays:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1(t)(1 + x_2^2(t - \tau_2(t))) \\ + 2x_2(t)x_1(t - \tau_1(t))x_2(t - \tau_2(t)), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -3x_1(t)x_1(t - \tau_1(t))x_2(t - \tau_2(t)) \\ - x_2(t)(2 + \sin x_1(t - \tau_1(t))), \end{cases}$$
(8.2.6)

where  $0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau_i = \text{constant}, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ .

Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V = \frac{(3x_1^2 + 2x_2^2)}{2}.$$

Then, we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(8.2.6)} = -3x_1^2(t)\left(1 + x_2^2(t - \tau_1(t))\right) + 6x_1(t)x_2(t)x_1(t - \tau_1(t))x_2(t - \tau_2(t)) - 6x_1(t)x_2(t)x_1(t - \tau_1(t))x_2(t - \tau_2(t)) - 2x_2^2(2 + \sin x_1(t - \tau_1(t)))$$

 $\square$ 

$$\leq -3x_1^2(t) - 2x_2^2(t)$$
$$= -2V(t, x(t)),$$

which satisfies the conditions in Theorem 8.2.5. Thus, the zero solution of (8.2.6) is globally exponentially stable.

THEOREM 8.2.7. If there exists function  $V(t, x) \in C[G_H, R]$  such that V(t, 0) = 0 and

- (1) for  $t \ge t_0$ , in any neighborhood of the origin, there exists region such that V > 0;
- (2) in the region where V > 0, V(t, x) is bounded;
- (3) in the region where V > 0,  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(8.2.6)}$  is positive definite;

then the zero solution of (8.2.6) is unstable.

PROOF. In the region V > 0, the meaning of  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(8.2.6)}$  being positive definite is:  $\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists l > 0$  in the region  $V \ge \varepsilon > 0, \forall t \ge t_0$ , it holds

$$\left.\frac{dV}{dt}\right|_{(8.2.6)} \ge l > 0.$$

Now choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $0 < \varepsilon < H$ . We want to show that there exists  $x_0$ , no matter how small  $||x_0||$  is, the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  moves out the region defined by  $||x|| < \varepsilon$ .

To achieve this, from condition (1), in the region of V > 0, we can choose any  $x_0$  such that  $|x_0|$  is arbitrarily small and satisfies  $V(t_0, x_0) > 0$ .

Suppose the solution orbit  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  does not move out the region  $||x|| < \varepsilon$ . Since

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(8.2.1)} \ge 0 \quad (t > t_0), \quad \text{and} \quad V(t, x(t, t_0, x_0)) \ge V(t_0, x_0) > 0,$$

so the solution  $x(t, t_0, x_0)$  would stay in the region V(t, x) > 0 for  $t \ge t_0$ . Then from condition (3) we know that there exists l > 0 such that

$$\frac{dV(t,x(t))}{dt} \ge l > 0.$$

Hence,

1 . . . |

$$V(t, x(t)) = V(t_0, x_0) + \int_{t_0}^t \frac{dV}{dt} dt \ge V(t_0, x_0) + l(t - t_0), \qquad (8.2.7)$$

which implies that when  $t \gg 1$ , V(t, x(t)) can be arbitrary large. This contradicts condition (2). So the conclusion of Theorem 8.2.7 is true.

Theorems 8.2.1–8.2.7 are almost parallel extensions of the Lyapunov stabilities of ordinary differential equations.

Generally, the expression of the derivative of V(t, x),  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ , involves both instant state variables,  $x_1(t), \ldots, x_n(t)$ , and past (delayed) state variables,  $x_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, x_n(t - \tau_n(t))$ . Sometimes it even contains the derivatives of the past state variables,  $\dot{x}_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, \dot{x}_n(t - \tau_n(t))$ . So it is very difficult to determine whether  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite or not.

The above simple examples are proved by enlarging the inequality to eliminate the delayed state variables. Certainly, such cases are very rare.

There are approaches to overcome this difficulty. The first is to consider  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  as a function of 2n variables,  $x_1(t), \ldots, x_n(t), x_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, x_n(t - \tau_n(t)))$  or even 3n variables,  $x_1(t), \ldots, x_n(t), x_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, x_n(t - \tau_n(t)), \dot{x}_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, \dot{x}_n(t - \tau_n(t)))$ . Then if  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite for these variables, one can conclude that  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite about  $x_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, x_n(t - \tau_n(t))$ . This brings difficulty due to the dimension increase of the system.

Another effective method is the Razumikhin method, which will be discussed in the next section.

## 8.3. Lyapunov function method with Razumikhin technique

First, we use a very simple example to illustrate the original idea of the Lyapunov function method with Razumikhin technique, proposed in the 1960s by the famous former Soviet scholar, Razumikhin [228].

Consider the stability of a 1-dimensional ordinary differential equation with a constant delay:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = ax(t) + bx(t - \tau(t)), \qquad (8.3.1)$$

where  $0 \leq \tau(t) \leq \tau = \text{constant}$ .

If we construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function

$$V = \frac{1}{2}x^2,$$

then,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = ax^{2}(t) + bx(t)x(t - \tau(t)).$$
(8.3.2)

In this case, even if assume a < 0,  $|b| \ll 1$ , we cannot deduce the negative definiteness of  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  about x(t) even if  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite about x(t) and  $x(t - \tau)$ .

For more complicated systems, it is more difficult to determine whether  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite or not about x(t) by increasing the dimension of the system with additional variables  $x(t - \tau)$ .



Figure 8.3.1. Geometric expression of the Lyapunov direct method.

The right-hand side of (8.3.2) is a function of x(t) and  $x(t - \tau)$ . Roughly speaking, the stability of a system is to study the relation between the future state and the current state. When  $|x(t - \tau)| > |x(t)|$ , the trend of the solution becomes decreasing (or stable), which does not add any constraints on  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ . Thus, one only needs to apply restriction to the increasing trend. In other words, when  $|x(t)| \ge |x(t - \tau)|$ , we use the condition  $\frac{dV}{dt} < 0$ , which is exactly used to overcome the instability of the system. However, there does not necessarily exist relation between the condition  $|x(t)| \ge |x(t - \tau)|$  and the sign of  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ .

Consequently, we only need to show  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$  when  $|x(t)| \geq |x(t-\tau)|$  (i.e.,  $|V(x(t))| \geq |V(x(t-\tau))|$ ). In other words, it is not necessary to show  $\frac{dV}{dt} \leq 0$  for the whole  $x(t)-x(t-\tau)$  plane, but just for the shaded sector, as shown in Figure 8.3.1.

Back to system (8.3.1), when  $|x(t - \tau)| \leq |x(t)|$ ,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} \leq ax^2(t) + \left| bx(t) \right| \left| x(t-\tau) \right| \leq ax^2(t) + \left| b \right| x^2(t).$$

When a + |b| < 0,  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite about x(t). Thus, if a + |b| < 0, we can conclude that the zero solution of (8.3.2) is globally asymptotically stable.

Now, consider a general delayed system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f\left(t, x(t), x\left(t - \tau(t)\right)\right),\tag{8.3.3}$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f \in \mathbb{C}[I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$  and  $f(t, 0, 0) = 0, 0 \leq \tau(t) \leq \tau < \infty$ .

#### THEOREM 8.3.1. (See [228].)

(1) If there exists function  $V(t, x) \in C[G_H, R^1]$  and  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  such that

$$\varphi_1(\|x\|) \leqslant V(t,x) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x\|)$$

in  $G_H$ ;

(2) the Dini derivative of V(t, x) along the solution of (8.3.3) satisfies

$$D^{+}V(t,x)|_{(8.3.3)} := \overline{\lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h}} \Big[ V(t+h,x(t+h,t,x_{0})) - V(t,x_{0}) \Big] \\ \leqslant g(t)F(V(t,x(t)))$$

when

$$V(t-\tau(t)), x(t-\tau(t)) \leq V(t, x(t)),$$
(8.3.4)

where F(V) > 0 and when V > 0, F(0) = 0;

(3)

$$\lim_{h \to 0^+} \int_{a}^{b} \frac{dr}{F(r)} = +\infty.$$
(8.3.5)

Then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable. Here, a > b,  $g(t) \ge 0$ ,  $\int_0^{+\infty} g(t) dt = M > 0$ .

PROOF. Construct the following equation:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = \bar{g}(t)F(y), \text{ where } \bar{g}(t) = g(t) + \frac{1}{t^2 + 1}.$$
 (8.3.6)

Then from condition (3) we know that there exists  $y_0$  such that

$$\int_{y(0)}^{\varepsilon_1} \frac{dy}{F(y)} = \overline{M} = \int_0^{+\infty} \overline{g}(t) dt.$$
(8.3.7)

Assuming that y(t) is the solution of (8.3.6) and  $y(t_0) = y_0 > 0$ , we have

$$\int_{y_0}^{y(t)} \frac{dy}{F(y)} = \int_{t_0}^t \overline{g}(s) \, ds < \int_0^{+\infty} \overline{g}(s) \, ds := \overline{M} = \int_{y(0)}^{\varepsilon} \frac{dy}{F(y)}.$$
(8.3.8)

So,  $0 < y(t) < \varepsilon_1, t \ge t_0$ 

Let

$$0 < \delta < y_0, \qquad \varphi_2(\delta) < y_0, \tag{8.3.9}$$

where the initial value function  $\xi(t)$  satisfies

 $\left\|\xi(t)\right\| < \delta.$ 

Now, we prove that for the solution of (8.3.3)  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, \xi)$  satisfying  $\|\xi\| \leq \delta$ , we have

$$V(t, x(t)) := V(t) \leqslant y(t), \quad t \ge t_0.$$
(8.3.10)

Otherwise, there exists  $t_1 > t_0$  such that

$$V(t) \leq y(t), \quad t \leq t_1, \quad V(t_1) = y(t_1),$$

and there exists  $0 < r \ll 1$  for which there is an infinite number of  $\bar{t}_i$  (i = 1, 2, ...) such that  $\bar{t}_i \to +\infty$ ,  $\bar{t}_i \in [t_i, x_1 + r]$  and  $V(\bar{t}_i) > y(\bar{t}_i)$ . It follows from the definition of upper limit that

$$D^{+}V(t_{1}) \ge \frac{dy}{dt}\Big|_{t=t_{1}} = \overline{g}(t_{1})F(y(t_{1})) = \overline{g}(t_{1})F(V(t_{1})).$$
(8.3.11)

But

$$V(\xi) \leq V(t_1), \quad t_1 - r \leq \xi \leq t_1, D^+ V(t_1) \leq g(t_1) F(V(t_1)) < \overline{g}(t_1) F(V(t_1)).$$
(8.3.12)

This contradicts (8.3.11), so (8.3.10) holds. Thus,

$$\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|) \leqslant V(t) \leqslant g(t) < \varepsilon_1 \leqslant \varphi_1(\varepsilon),$$

implying that  $||x(t)|| < \varepsilon$ ,  $t \ge t_0$ . Since  $\delta < y_0$  is independent of  $t_0$ , the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable.

COROLLARY 8.3.2. If

(1) condition (1) in Theorem 8.3.1 holds; and

(2) condition (2) in Theorem 8.3.1 is changed to

 $D^+V(t,x)|_{(8.3.1)} \leq 0;$ 

then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable.

This is the improved Razumikhin theorem which can be used to find the stability of the zero solution of differential difference equation (8.3.3).

THEOREM 8.3.3. Assume the following conditions hold:

- (1) condition (1) in Theorem 8.3.1 holds;
- (2) there exist nonnegative continuous functions F(t, x),  $\psi(t, x)$  such that  $\forall \sigma > 0$ , when  $|x| \ge \delta$ ,  $t \ge t_0$  it holds

$$F(t, x(t)) \ge \psi(t, \sigma) \ge 0, \tag{8.3.13}$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{t} \psi(t,\sigma) dt \Rightarrow +\infty \quad (uniformly about t_0) as t \to +\infty; \qquad (8.3.14)$$

(3) there exists continuous nondecreasing function P(s) > s, when s > 0 and

$$V(t - \tau(t), x(t - \tau(t))) \leq PV(t, x(t)),$$
(8.3.15)

it holds

$$D^+V(t,x(t))\big|_{(8.3.3)} \leqslant -F(t,x(t));$$
 (8.3.16)

then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable.

**PROOF.** Let  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, \varphi)$ , V(t) := V(t, x(t)). Obviously,

$$-F(t, x(t)) \leq \frac{1}{t^2 + 1}V(t).$$

So the conditions in Theorem 8.3.1 are satisfied, and thus the zero solution of (8.3.1) is uniformly stable.

Next, we prove that the zero solution is uniformly asymptotically stable.  $\forall \sigma < \varepsilon_1 < H, \exists \delta > 0$ , when the initial value function  $|\varphi| < \delta$ , there exist  $|x(t_0)| < H$  and

$$V(t, x_0) < \varphi_2(\varepsilon_1), \quad t \ge t_0,$$
  
$$\forall \eta > 0, \quad 0 < \eta < \min(\varepsilon_1, \delta),$$

such that  $0 < \varphi_1(\eta) < \varphi_2(\varepsilon)$ .

We want to prove that  $\exists t_N$  such that  $|x(t)| \leq \eta$  when  $t \geq t_N$ . To achieve this, let

$$a = \inf[P(s) - s] > 0$$
 when  $\varphi_1(\eta) \leq s \leq \varphi_2(\varepsilon_1)$ .

Further, there exists  $\sigma > 0$  such that  $\varphi_1(\eta) \ge \varphi_2(\sigma) > 0$ . So, when  $\varphi_2(||x(t_0)||) \ge \varphi_1(\eta) \ge \varphi_2(\sigma) > 0$ , we have  $||x(t_0)|| \ge \sigma > 0$  and

$$F(t, \|x(t_0)\|) \ge \psi(t, \sigma). \tag{8.3.17}$$

Assume that N is a positive integer such that

$$\varphi_1(\eta) + Na \ge \varphi_2(\varepsilon_1) > \varphi_1(\eta_1) + (N-1)a.$$
 (8.3.18)

Then, there must exists  $T_1 \ge t_0 + r$  such that

$$V(T_1) < \varphi_1(\eta_1) + (N-1)a. \tag{8.3.19}$$

Otherwise, we have

$$V(t) \ge \varphi_1(\eta_1) + (N-1)a, \quad t > t_0 + r.$$

On the other hand,

$$P(V(t)) \ge V(t) + a \ge \varphi_1(\eta) + Na \ge \varphi_2(\varepsilon_1)$$
  
>  $V(\xi)$  when  $t - r \le \xi \le t$ .

Since

$$\varphi_2(\|x(t)\|) \ge V(t) \ge \varphi_1(\eta) > \varphi_2(\sigma)$$

and  $||x(t)|| \ge \sigma$ , from condition (2) and (3) we can get

$$D^+V(t) \leqslant -F(t, ||x(t)||) \leqslant -\psi(t, \sigma), \quad t \ge t_0 + r.$$

Therefore,

$$V(t) \leq V(t_0+r) - \int_{t_0-r}^t \psi(s,\sigma) \, ds \to -\infty \quad \text{when } t \to \infty.$$

This is impossible. Thus, (8.3.19) is true.

Since  $D^+V(t) \leq 0, \forall t \geq T_1$ ,

$$V(t) \leqslant \varphi_2(\eta) + (N-1)a$$

holds. Repeating the above process, we can show that there must exist  $T_2, \ldots, T_N$  such that

$$V(t) \leqslant \varphi_2(\eta) + (N-l)a, \quad t \ge T_l, \ l = 1, \dots, N,$$

from which we obtain

$$\varphi_1(\|x(t)\|) \leq V(t, x(t)) \leq \varphi_1(\eta), \quad t \geq T_N.$$

Thus,

 $\|x(t)\| \leq \eta, \quad t \geq T_N.$ 

Due to the arbitrary of  $\eta$ , we know that the zero solution of (8.3.12) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

COROLLARY 8.3.4. Assume that the conditions in Theorem 8.3.3 are satisfied, while  $F(t, ||x(t_0)||) = \psi(t)W(||x(t_0)||), \psi(t) > 0, t \ge t_0$ , and for arbitrarily given  $\beta > 0$ , there exists  $\alpha(\beta) > 0$  such that  $\int_{t_1}^t \psi(s) ds \ge \beta$  holds uniformly for  $t \ge t_1 + \alpha(\beta)$  (irrelevant to  $t_1 \ge t_0 \ge 0$ ). Then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly asymptotically stable. Particularly, if take  $\psi(t) \equiv 1$ , then all conditions in Corollary 8.3.4 hold, and thus the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 8.3.5. Consider the stability of the following 2-dimensional timedelay prototype system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -3x_1(t) + a_{12}x_2(t) + \frac{1}{3}x_1(t-\tau(t)) + \frac{1}{2}x_2(t-\tau(t)),\\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = a_{21}x_1(t) - 4x_2(t) + \frac{2}{3}x_1(t-\tau(t)) + \frac{1}{2}x_2(t-\tau(t)), \end{cases}$$
(8.3.20)

where  $a_{12}$  and  $a_{21}$  are real constants.

Construct the Lyapunov function:

 $V(x_1, x_2) = |x_1| + |x_2|.$ 

Obviously,  $V(x_1, x_2)$  is positive definite and radially unbounded. Then, we have that when  $|x_1(t - \tau(t))| + |x_2(t - \tau(t))| \le |x_1(t)| + |x_2(t)|$ ,

$$D^{+}V(x_{1}, x_{2})|_{(8.3.20)} \leq (-3 + |a_{21}|)|x_{1}(t)| + (-4 + |a_{12}|)|x_{2}(t)| + |x_{1}(t - \tau(t))| + |x_{2}(t - \tau(t))| \leq (-3 + |a_{21}|)|x_{1}(t)| + (-4 + |a_{12}|)|x_{2}(t)| + |x_{1}(t)| + |x_{2}(t)| = (-2 + |a_{21}|)|x_{1}(t)| + (-3 + |a_{12}|)|x_{2}(t)| \leq 0 \quad (x \neq 0).$$

$$(8.3.21)$$

Based on Corollary 8.3.2, when  $|a_{21}| \leq 2$  and  $|a_{12}| \leq 3$ , the zero solution of (8.3.20) is stable.

When  $|a_{21}| < 2$  and  $|a_{12}| < 3$ , according to Corollary 8.3.4, the zero solution of (8.3.20) is asymptotically stable. In fact, let  $2 - |a_{21}| = \varepsilon_1$ ,  $3 - |a_{12}| = \varepsilon_2$ . Choose  $P(S) = (1 + \frac{1}{2}\min(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2))S$ . Then, when  $V(x_1(t - \tau(t)), x_2(t - \tau(t))) \leq PV(x_1(t), x_2(t))$ , we have

$$D^{+}V(x_{1}, x_{2})|_{(8.3.19)} \leq (-3 + |a_{21}|)|x_{1}(t)| + (-4 + |a_{12}|)|x_{2}(t)| + |x_{1}(t - \tau(t))| + |x_{2}(t - \tau(t))| \leq (-3 + |a_{21}|)|x_{1}(t)| + (-4 + |a_{12}|)|x_{2}(t)| + (1 + \frac{1}{2}\min(\varepsilon_{1}, \varepsilon_{2}))(|x_{1}(t)| + |x_{2}(t)|) = (-2 + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{1} + |a_{21}|)|x_{1}(t)| + (-3 + \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{1} + |a_{21}|)|x_{2}(t)| \leq -\varepsilon_{1}|x_{1}(t)| - \varepsilon_{2}|x_{2}(t)|$$

8.3. Lyapunov function method with Razumikhin technique

< 0 when 
$$x_1^2 + x_1^2 \neq 0$$
.

In addition, we have

$$V(x_1(t-\tau_t), x_2(t-\tau_t)) \leq P(V(x_1(t), x_2(t))).$$

Thus, the zero solution of (8.3.20) is asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 8.3.6. Consider the time-delay system:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = -a_{11}^2 x_1(t) - a_{12} x_2(t) + b_{11} x_1(t - \tau(t)) 
+ b_{12} x_2(t - \tau(t)), 
\frac{dx_2}{dt} = 2a_{12} x_1(t) - a_{22}^2 x_2(t) + b_{21} x_1(t - \tau(t)) 
+ b_{22} x_2(t - \tau(t)),$$
(8.3.22)

and determine the range of the values of the coefficients such that the zero solution of the system is stable.

Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 + \frac{1}{2}x_2^2.$$

Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(8.3.22)} &= -2a_{11}^2 x_1^2(t) - a_{22}^2 x_2^2(t) + 2b_{11} x_1(t) x_1(t - \tau(t)) \\ &+ 2b_{12} x_1(t) x_2(t - \tau(t)) + b_{21} x_2(t) x_1(t - \tau(t)) \\ &+ b_{22} x_2(t) x_2(t - \tau(t)) \\ &\leq -2a_{11}^2 x_1^2(t) - a_{22}^2 x_2^2(t) + b_{11}^2 x_1^2(t) + x_1^2(t)(t - \tau(t)) \\ &+ 2b_{12}^2 x_1^2(t) + \frac{x_2^2(t - \tau(t))}{2} + \frac{b_{21}^2}{4} x_2^2(t) \\ &+ x_1^2(t - \tau(t)) + \frac{b_{22}^2}{2} x_2^2(t) + \frac{x_2^2(t - \tau(t))}{2} \\ &= -[2a_{11}^2 - b_{11}^2 - 2b_{12}^2 - 1]x_1^2(t) - \left[a_{22}^2 - \frac{b_{21}^2}{4} - \frac{b_{22}^2}{2}\right] x_2^2(t) \\ &+ 2V \left(x_1(t - \tau(t)), x_2(t - \tau(t))\right) \\ &\leqslant -[2a_{11}^2 - b_{11}^2 - 2b_{12}^2 - 1]x_1^2(t) - \left[a_{22}^2 - \frac{b_{21}^2}{4} - \frac{b_{22}^2}{2}\right] x_2^2(t). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, when

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} 2a_{11}^2 \geqslant b_{11}^2 + 2b_{12}^2 + 1, \\ a_{22}^2 \geqslant \frac{b_{21}^2}{4} + \frac{b_{22}^2}{2}, \end{array} \right. \label{eq:alpha_eq}$$

the zero solution of system (8.3.22) is stable.

When the above two inequalities take strict inequalities, similarly following the proof of Example 8.3.5 we can show that the zero solution of system (8.3.22) is globally asymptotically stable.

#### 8.4. Lyapunov functional method for stability analysis

Razumikhin method is still an important research topic that has been continuously studied, promoted and improved by scientists. One of its advantages is that it does not need to verify whether the derivative of function V,  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ , is negative definite or not about the state variables  $x_1(t - \tau_1(t)), \ldots, x_n(t - \tau_n(t))$ , but only needs to show that  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ , satisfying  $V(x(t - \tau(t))) < P(V(x(t)))$  (where P(s) > s when  $s \neq 0$  is a function to be determined), is negative definite about the variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$ . However, in general, there are various types of  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ , and it is hard to obtain a V(x(t)) satisfying the form of  $P(V(x(t - \tau(t)))) > V(x(t - \tau(t)))$ , except for some very special V and  $\frac{dV}{dt}$ .

In this section, we discuss the method introduced by Krasovskii, which uses Lyapunov functional to replace Lyapunov function to study stability. This is one of the most important methods in the study of stability of differential difference equations.

First, we introduce several norms of functionals defined on  $C[-\tau, 0]$  as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(s)\|_{\tau} &= \sup_{\substack{-\tau \leqslant s \leqslant 0\\ 1 \leqslant i \leqslant n}} |x_i|, \\ \|x(s)\|_{\tau}^2 &= \left(\int_{-\tau}^{0} \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2(s) \, ds\right)^{1/2} \\ \|x\|_1 &= \sup_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} |x_i|, \\ \|x\|_2 &= \left(\sum_{i=1}^n x_1^2\right)^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

DEFINITION 8.4.1. Functional V(t, x(s)),  $t \ge t_0$ ,  $-\tau \le s \le 0$ , is said to be positive definite, if there exists  $\varphi_1 \in K$  such that  $\varphi_1(||x(s)||_{\tau}) \le V(t, x(s))$ . Functional V(t, x(s)),  $t \ge t_0$ ,  $-\tau \le s \le 0$ , is said to have infinitesimal upper bound, if there exists  $\varphi \in K$  such that  $V(t, x(s)) \le \varphi_2(||x(s)||_{\tau})$ .

Similarly, we can define the negative definite and radially unboundedness of functional V(t, x(s)).

Let  $x_t(\xi)$  denote the solution of (8.3.3) satisfying the initial value condition  $x(t) = \xi(t), -\tau \le t \le 0.$ 

THEOREM 8.4.2. If there exists positive definite functional V(t, x(s)) with infinitesimal upper bound in some region  $G_H = \{(t, x), ||x(s)||_{\tau} < H, -\tau \leq s \leq 0, t \geq t_0\}$  such that the Dini derivative of V(t, x(s)) along the solution (8.3.3), defined by

$$D^{+}V(t, x(x))\big|_{(8.3.3)} := \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{1}{h} \big( V(t+h, x_{t+h}(\xi)) \big) - V(t, x_{t}(\xi)) \leqslant 0,$$
(8.4.1)

is positive definite, then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable.

**PROOF.** Assume that there exist  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  satisfying

 $\varphi_1(\|x(s)\|_{\tau}) \leqslant V(t, x(s)) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|x(s)\|_{\tau}).$ 

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ (0 < \varepsilon < h)$ , choose  $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that  $\varphi_2(t) < \varphi_1(t)$ . Then, when  $\|\xi(s)\| < \delta$ , we have

$$\varphi_1(\|x_t(\xi)\|) \leqslant V(t, x_t(\xi)) \leqslant V(t_0, \xi(s)) \leqslant \varphi_2(\|\xi\|_{\tau}) \leqslant \varphi_2(\delta) < \varphi_1(\varepsilon).$$

Thus,

 $\left\|x_t(\xi)\right\|_T < \varepsilon,$ 

which indicates that the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable.

THEOREM 8.4.3. If there exists positive definite functional V(t, x(s)) in region  $G_H$ , with infinitesimal upper bound, such that its Dini derivative is negative definite along the solution of (8.3.3), then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.** Assume that there exist  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \in K$  and positive definite function W such that

$$\varphi_1(\|x(s)\|_{\tau}) \leq V(t, x(s)) \leq \varphi_2(\|x(s)\|_{\tau}), D^+V(t, x(s))|_{(8,3,3)} \leq -W(x(0)).$$
(8.4.2)

Since the conditions in Theorem 8.4.3 imply that the conditions in Theorem 8.4.2 are satisfied, the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly stable.

Now we prove that the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly attractive.  $\forall \eta > 0$ , choose  $\sigma(\eta) > 0$  such that

$$\sup_{\|x(s)\|_{\tau} \leq \sigma_{1}(\eta)} V(t, x(s)) < \inf_{\|x(s)\|_{\tau} = \eta} V(t, x(s)), \quad t \geq t_{0}.$$

 $\square$ 

Next, we show that there exists T > 0, when  $t^* = t_0 + T$ , it holds

 $\left\|x_t^*(\xi)\right\|_{\tau} < \sigma(\eta).$ 

Otherwise, suppose

 $\sigma(\eta) \leqslant \left\| x_t(\xi) \right\|_{\tau} \leqslant H.$ 

Let  $\alpha = \inf_{\alpha \leq \|x\| \leq H} W(x)$ . Then, there exists

$$D^+V(t, x(s)) \leqslant -\alpha \quad \text{on } \alpha \leqslant ||x|| \leqslant H.$$

Thus,  $\forall t \ge t_0$ , we have

 $V(t, x_t(\xi)) \leq V(t_0, x_{t_0}(\xi)) - \alpha(t - t_0) \to -\infty \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$ 

This implies that there exists  $T > \frac{1}{2}V[t_0, x_0(\xi)] + \alpha t_0$  such that  $||x_T(\xi)||_{\tau} < \sigma(\eta)$ . Thus, when  $t > t_0 + T$ , we have  $||x_t(\xi)|| < \eta$ , while  $\sigma(\eta)$  is independent on  $t_0$ . So, the zero solution is uniformly asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 8.4.4.

(1) If there exist functional V(t, x(s)) and  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, W_1, W_2 \in K$  and positive definite function V(t, x(s)) satisfying

$$V(t, x(s)) \leq \varphi_1(||x(0)||) + \varphi_2(||x(\xi)||_{\tau}^2),$$
  
$$V(t, x(s)) \geq W_1(||x(0)||);$$

(2) 
$$D^+V(t, x(s))|_{(8.3.3)} \leq -W_2(||x(0)||);$$

then the zero solution of (8.3.3) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

PROOF. One can follow the proofs of Theorems 8.4.2 and 8.4.3 to finish the proof of Theorem 8.4.4. Thus, the details are omitted.  $\Box$ 

In the above we only discussed general principle and method of how to use the Lyapunov functional to study the stability of time-delay systems. The key problem is how to construct the Lyapunov functional, which will be discussed further later with more examples given in Section 8.6, Chapter 9 (Absolute stability), and Chapter 10 (Stability of neural networks).

EXAMPLE 8.4.5. Consider an n-dimensional time-delay system with constant coefficients

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax(t) + Bx(t-\tau), \qquad (8.4.3)$$

where  $R \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , A, B are all  $n \times n$  constant matrices, and  $\tau = \text{constant} > 0$ .

The stability of the zero solution of system (8.4.3) can be determined by using eigenvalue. Here, we use the Lyapunov functional method to solve the problem.

Assuming A is stable, for an arbitrary given  $n \times n$  symmetric positive definite matrix D, the Lyapunov matrix equation

$$A^T C + C A = -D$$

has symmetric positive definite matrix solution  $C_{n \times n}$ .

Choose Lyapunov functional

$$V(x) = x^{T}Cx + \int_{t-\tau}^{t} x^{T}(s)Gx(s) \, ds.$$
(8.4.4)

Then we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(8.4.3)} = -x^{T}(t)Dx(t) + 2x^{T}(t)CBx(t-\tau) + x^{T}(t)Gx(t) - x^{T}(t-r)Gx(t-\tau).$$
(8.4.5)

Consider the right-hand side of the above equation as a quadratic form about x(t) and  $x(t - \tau)$ , with some constrains on matrices *A* and *B* so that *C* and *G* can be solved, under which the quadratic form (8.4.4) is negative definite. Thus, the zero solution of (8.4.3) is asymptotically stable. To achieve this, we only need

$$\begin{bmatrix} D - G & -CB \\ -B^T C & G \end{bmatrix}$$

being negative definite.

The above condition can be even further weakened by requiring the above quadratic form being negative definite only about x(t), not necessarily for both x(t) and  $x(t - \tau)$ .

## 8.5. Nonlinear autonomous systems with various time delays

Nonlinear systems with separate various time delays are often encountered in autonomic control, biomathematics, and specially, in neural networks. In this section, we discuss general methods in determining the stability of nonlinear autonomous systems with separate various time delays.

Consider the following nonlinear autonomous system with separate various time delays:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} f_j(x_j(t)) + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} g_j(x(t - \tau_j(t))),$$
  
 $i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$ 
(8.5.1)

where  $f_j(\cdot) \in C[(-\infty + \infty), R]$ ,  $g_j(\cdot) \in C[(-\infty + \infty), R]$ , but  $|g_i(\cdot)| \leq |f_i(\cdot)|$ . Suppose that these conditions guarantee the uniqueness of the Cauchy problem, and

$$f_i(0) = 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad 0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau_i = \text{constant},$$

and  $A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}$ ,  $B = (B_{ij})_{n \times n}$  are given real matrices.

THEOREM 8.5.1. For system (8.5.1), if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1)  $f_j(x_j)x_j > 0$  when  $x_j \neq 0$ ,  $\int_0^{+\infty} f_j(x_j) dx_j = +\infty$ ;
- (2)  $1 \dot{\tau}_{j}(t) \ge \delta_{j} > 0, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$  and
- (3) there exist positive definite diagonal matrices  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, \dots, p_n)$  and  $\xi = \text{diag}(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n)$  such that the matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} PA + A^T P + \xi \delta^{-1} & PB \\ B^T P & -\xi \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite, where  $\delta^{-1} = \text{diag}(\frac{1}{\delta_1}, \dots, \frac{1}{\delta_n})$ ,

then the zero solution of (8.5.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. We construct a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional as follows:

$$V(x(t),t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} 2p_i \int_{0}^{x_i} f_i(x_i) \, dx_i + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_i}{\delta_i} \int_{t-\tau_i(t)}^{t} g_i(x(s)) \, ds.$$
(8.5.2)

Differentiating V(x(t), t) with respect to time t along the solution of (8.5.1) yields

$$\frac{dV(x(t),t)}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} 2p_{i}a_{ij}f_{i}(x_{i}(t))f_{j}(x_{j}(t))$$

$$+ 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}b_{ij}f_{i}(x_{i}(t))g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{\delta_{i}}g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t)) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{\delta_{i}}g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t)))(1-\dot{\tau}_{i}(t))$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} 2p_{i}a_{ij}f_{i}(x_{i}(t))f_{j}(x_{j}(t))$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} 2p_{i}b_{ij}f_{i}(x_{i}(t))f_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{\delta_{i}} f_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t)) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t)))$$

$$\leq \begin{pmatrix} f(x(t))\\ g(x(t-\tau(t))) \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} PA + A^{T}P + \xi\delta^{-1} & PB\\ B^{T}P & -\xi \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\times \begin{pmatrix} f(x(t))\\ g(x(t-\tau(t))) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$< 0 \quad \text{when } x \neq 0,$$

where

$$f(x(t)) = (f_1(x_1(t)), \dots, f_n(x_n(t)))^T$$
$$g(x(t - \tau(t))) = (g_1(x_1(t - \tau_1(t))), \dots, g_n(x_n(t - \tau_n(t))))^T$$

Thus, the conclusion is true.

Particularly, choosing  $P = I_n$ , we have

COROLLARY 8.5.2. *If the conditions* (1) *and* (2) *in Theorem* 8.5.1 *hold, and* (3)

 $\begin{bmatrix} A + A^T + \xi \delta^{-1} & B \\ B^T & -\xi \end{bmatrix}$ 

is negative definite, then the conclusion in Theorem 8.5.1 holds.

REMARK 8.5.3. It is generally assumed that  $\dot{\tau}_j(t) \leq 0$  in the literature. The identity matrix  $I_n$  is often used to replace  $\xi$ , i.e., using the negative definite matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} PA + A^T P + I_n & PB \\ B^T P & -I_n \end{bmatrix}$$

to replace condition (3) in Theorem 8.5.1. Here, we use  $\xi$  to replace  $I_n$  so that  $\xi$  or  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$  can be appropriately chosen depending upon the diagonal elements of  $PA + A^T P$ . For example, when the diagonal elements of  $PA + A^T P$ ,  $2p_i a_{ii} > -1$ , choosing  $I_n$  would not satisfy the conditions. Therefore, sometimes one can adjust  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$  to satisfy the conditions in Theorem 8.5.1 or Corollary 8.5.2.

EXAMPLE 8.5.4. Consider a 2-dimensional nonlinear system with constant time delays:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}f_1(x_1(t)) + 8f_2(x_2(t)) 
+ \frac{1}{4}f_1(x_1(t-\tau_1)) + \frac{1}{5}f_2(x_2(t-\tau_2)), 
\frac{dx_2}{dt} = -8f_1(x_1(t)) - f_2(x_2(t)) 
- \frac{1}{5}f_1(x_1(t-\tau_1)) + \frac{1}{4}f_2(x_2(t-\tau_2)),$$
(8.5.3)

343

where  $\tau_i = \text{constant}$ , i = 1, 2,  $f_i(0) = 0$ , i = 1, 2, satisfying the basic assumptions in Theorem 8.5.1.

Obviously,

$$\begin{bmatrix} A + A^T + I_2 & B \\ B^T & -I_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1+1 & 0 & \frac{1}{4} & \frac{1}{5} \\ 0 & -2+1 & -\frac{1}{5} & \frac{1}{4} \\ \frac{1}{4} & -\frac{1}{5} & -1 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{5} & \frac{1}{4} & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

is not negative definite, but negative semi-definite.

If we choose  $\xi_1 = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $\xi_2 = 1$ , then

$$\begin{bmatrix} A + A^T + \xi & B \\ B^T & -\xi \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{2} & 0 & \frac{1}{4} & \frac{1}{5} \\ 0 & -1 & -\frac{1}{5} & \frac{1}{4} \\ \frac{1}{4} & -\frac{1}{5} & -\frac{1}{2} & 0 \\ \frac{1}{5} & \frac{1}{4} & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite. So the conditions in Corollary 8.5.2 are satisfied. Thus, the zero solution of Example 8.5.4 is globally asymptotically stable.

In the following, we discuss another more general class of nonlinear time-delay systems with separable variables, described by

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} f_j(x_j(t)) + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} g_j(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))),$$
  
 $i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$ 
(8.5.4)

where  $\tau_{ij}(t) \neq \tau_j(t)$ , and  $f_j(\cdot)$  satisfies the basic assumptions given for system (8.5.1).

THEOREM 8.5.5. If the following conditions are satisfied for system (8.5.4)

(1)  $f_j(x_j)x_j > 0$  when  $x_j \neq 0$ ; (2)  $\tau_{ij}(t)$  is differentiable and  $1 - \dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \ge \delta_{ij} = constant > 0$ ; (3)  $|g_i(\cdot)| \le f_i(\cdot)$ ; (4)  $\overline{A} = (\overline{a}_{ij})_{m \times n}$  is an M matrix;

then the zero solution of (8.5.4) is globally asymptotically stable. Here,

$$\bar{a}_{ij} = \begin{cases} -a_{ij}, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n \\ -|a_{ij}| - \frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}}, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. Since  $\overline{A} = (\overline{a}_{ij})_{m \times n}$  is an *M* matrix, there exists positive numbers  $p_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$p_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_i |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^n p_i \frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}} < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Construct a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(x(t),t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i |x_i(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_j \frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} |g_j(x_j(s))| \, ds. \quad (8.5.5)$$

Taking the Dini derivative of V(x(t), t) along the solution of (8.5.4) yields

$$D^{+}V(x(t),t) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}D^{+}|x_{i}(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}\frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}}|g_{j}(x_{j}(t))|$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}\frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}}|g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}(t)))|(1-\dot{\tau}_{ij}(t))$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j}a_{jj}|f_{j}(x_{j}(t))| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}||f_{j}(x_{j}(t))|$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{ij}||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}(t)))|$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}\frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}}|g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}(t)))|$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{ij}||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}(t)))|$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(p_{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}\frac{|b_{ij}|}{\delta_{ij}}\right)|f_{j}(x_{j}(t))|$$

$$< 0 \quad \text{when } x \neq 0.$$

So, the conclusion of Theorem 8.5.5 is true.

COROLLARY 8.5.6. If the conditions (1), (2) and (3) in Theorem 8.5.5 hold, and

$$a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |a_{jj}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{|b_{jj}|}{\delta_{ij}} < 0,$$

or

$$a_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |a_{jj}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|b_{jj}|}{\delta_{ij}} < 0,$$

then the conclusion of Theorem 8.5.5 holds.

Since the conditions in Corollary 8.5.6 imply that  $\overline{A}_{ij}(\overline{a}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix, the conclusion of Corollary 8.5.6 is true.

REMARK 8.5.7. In Theorems 8.5.1, 8.5.5 and in Corollary 8.5.6, when the time delays are constants ( $\tau_{ij}(t) = \tau_{ij} = \text{constant}$ ), or  $\dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \leq 0$ , the conclusions still hold.

EXAMPLE 8.5.8. Consider the following nonlinear system with variable time delays:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_{1}(t)}{dt} = a_{11}f_{1}(x_{1}(t)) + a_{12}f_{2}(x_{2}(t)) + b_{11}g_{1}(x_{1}(t - \tau_{11}(t))) \\ + b_{12}g_{2}(x_{2}(t - \tau_{12}(t))) \\ = -3x_{1}^{3}(t) + \frac{1}{2}x_{2}^{5}(t) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{2x_{1}(t - \frac{1}{2}\sin(t))}{1 + x_{1}^{2}(t - \frac{1}{2}\sin(t))}x_{1}^{3}(t - \frac{1}{2}\sin(t)) \\ + \frac{1}{2}e^{-x_{2}^{2}(t - \frac{1}{3}\cos(t))}x_{2}^{5}(t - \frac{1}{3}\cos(t)), \\ \frac{dx_{2}(t)}{dt} = a_{21}f_{1}(x_{1}(t)) + a_{22}f_{2}(x_{2}(t)) + b_{21}g_{1}(x_{1}(t - \tau_{11}(t))) \\ + b_{22}g_{2}(x_{2}(t - \tau_{22}(t))) \\ = \frac{1}{2}x_{1}^{3}(t) - 3x_{2}^{5}(t) + \frac{2}{3}\frac{2x_{1}(t - \frac{1}{3}\sin(t))}{1 + x_{1}^{2}(t - \frac{1}{2}\sin(t))}x_{1}^{3}(t - \frac{1}{3}\sin(t)) \\ + \frac{2}{3}e^{-x_{2}^{2}(t - \frac{1}{3}\cos(t))}x_{2}^{5}(t - \frac{1}{3}\cos(t)), \end{cases}$$
(8.5.6)

where  $1 - \dot{\tau}_{i1}(t) \ge \frac{1}{2} = \delta_{i1}$ , i = 1, 2, and  $1 - \dot{\tau}_{i2}(t) \ge \frac{2}{3} = \delta_{i2}$ , i = 1, 2. Obviously,

$$\begin{aligned} \left|g_{1}(x_{1})\right| &= \left|\frac{2x_{1}}{1+x_{1}^{2}}x_{1}^{3}\right| \leqslant x_{1}^{3} = \left|f_{1}(x_{1})\right|,\\ \left|g_{2}(x_{2})\right| &= \left|e^{-x_{2}^{2}}x_{2}^{5}\right| \leqslant x_{2}^{5} = \left|f_{2}(x_{2})\right|,\\ a_{11} + \left|a_{21}\right| + \frac{\left|b_{11}\right|}{\delta_{11}} + \frac{\left|b_{21}\right|}{\delta_{21}} &= -3 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{2}{3}\frac{1}{\frac{1}{2}}\\ &= -3 + \frac{1}{2} + 1 + \frac{4}{3} = -\frac{1}{6} < 0, \end{aligned}$$

$$a_{22} + |a_{12}| + \frac{|b_{12}|}{\delta_{12}} + \frac{|b_{22}|}{\delta_{22}} = -3 + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{2}{3}\frac{3}{2} + \frac{2}{3}\frac{3}{2}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} < 0.$$

Hence, this Example 8.5.8 satisfies all the conditions in Corollary 8.5.6, and so the zero solution of (8.5.6) is globally asymptotically stable.

Next we consider nonlinear time-varying system with varying time delays:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}(t) f_j x_j(t) + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij}(t) g_j x_j (t - \tau_j(t)),$$
(8.5.7)

where  $f(\cdot)$ ,  $g(\cdot)$  and  $\tau_j(t)$  satisfy the conditions given in (8.5.1) and (8.5.4).  $A(t) = (a_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$  and  $B(t) = (b_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$  are continuous matrix functions. The condition (1) and (2) in Theorem 8.5.1 still hold, but only to replace Condition (3) by the following: there exist positive definite diagonal matrices P =diag $(p_1, \ldots, p_n)$  and  $\xi =$  diag $(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n)$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} PA(t) + A^{T}(t)P + \xi\delta^{-1} & PB(t) \\ B^{T}(t)P & -\xi \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite, then the zero solution of (8.5.7) is globally asymptotically stable. However, it is very difficult to verify whether a time varying matrix is negative definite or not.

Similarly, if the conditions (1), (2) and (3) in Theorem 8.5.5 still hold, but condition (4) is changed to that  $\overline{A}(\overline{a}_{ij}(t))_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix, where

$$\bar{a}_{ij}(t) = \begin{cases} -a_{ij}(t) & \text{for } i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ -|a_{ij}(t)| - \frac{|b_{ij}(t)|}{\delta_{ij}} & \text{for } i, j = 1, \dots, n, \ i \neq j, \end{cases}$$
(8.5.8)

then the zero solution of (8.5.7) is globally asymptotically stable. Again, it is very difficult to verify whether a time varying matrix is an M matrix or not.

If the conditions in Corollary 8.5.6 are changed to

$$a_{jj}(t) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left| a_{ij}(t) \right| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{|b_{ij}(t)|}{\delta_{ij}} < 0$$

or

$$a_{ii}(t) + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} \left| a_{ij}(t) \right| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{|b_{ij}(t)|}{\delta_{ij}} < 0,$$

(then the zero solution of (8.8.7) is globally asymptotically stable), then these conditions are relatively easy to verify.
For convenience in verifying the conditions, in the following we present some results with stronger conditions.

THEOREM 8.5.9. If the following conditions are satisfied for system (8.5.7):

- (1)  $f_i(x_i)x_i > 0$  when  $x_i \neq 0$ ,  $f_i(0) = 0$ ,  $\int_0^{\pm \infty} f_i(x_i) dx_i = +\infty$ ;
- (2)  $\tau_j(t)$  is differentiable and  $1 \dot{\tau}_j(t) \ge \delta_j = constant > 0$ ;
- (3)  $|g_i(\cdot)| \leq |f_i(\cdot)|;$
- (4) there exists positive definite diagonal matrices  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, \dots, p_n) > 0$ and  $\xi = \text{diag}(\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n) > 0$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} P\overline{A}^* + \overline{A}^{*T}P + \xi\delta^{-1} & P\overline{B}^* \\ \overline{B}^{*T}P & -\xi \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite;

then the zero solution of (8.5.7) is globally asymptotically stable. Here,

$$\bar{a}_{ij}^{*} = \begin{cases} a_{ii}^{*} = \sup_{t \in [t_0, +\infty)} \{a_{ii}(t)\}, & i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ a_{ij}^{*} = \sup_{t \in [t_0, +\infty)} |a_{ij}(t)|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$
$$b_{ij}^{*} = \sup_{t \in [t_0, +\infty)} |b_{ij}(t)|, \quad j = 1, \dots, n.$$

PROOF. Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(x(t),t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} f_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \delta_{i}^{-1} \int_{t-\tau_{i}(t)}^{t} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(s)) ds.$$

Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt} \Big|_{(8.5.7)} &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} f_{i}(x_{i}) \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \delta_{i}^{-1} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t)) \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t))) (1-\dot{\tau}_{i}(t)) \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} a_{ij}^{*} \Big| f_{i}(x_{i}(t)) \Big| \Big| f_{j}(x_{i}(t)) \Big| \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} b_{ij}^{*} \Big| f_{i}(x_{i}(t)) \Big| \Big| g_{j}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{j}(t))) \Big| \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \delta_{i}^{-1} f_{j}^{2}(x_{i}(t)) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t))) \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \begin{pmatrix} |f(x(t))| \\ |g(x(t-\tau(t)))| \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} P\overline{A}^* + \overline{A}^*P + \xi\delta^{-1} & P\overline{B}^* \\ \overline{B}^{*T}P & -\xi \end{bmatrix} \\ \times \begin{pmatrix} |f(x(t))| \\ |g(x(t-\tau(t)))| \end{pmatrix} \\ < 0 \quad \text{when } x \neq 0,$$

where,

$$\left|f(\mathbf{x}(t))\right| = \left(\left|f_1(\mathbf{x}_1(t))\right|, \dots, \left|f_n(\mathbf{x}_n(t))\right|\right)^T$$

and

$$|g(x(t-\tau(t)))| = (|g_1(x_1(t-\tau(t)))|, \ldots, |g_n(x_n(t-\tau_n(t)))|)^T$$

Thus, the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 8.5.10. If the conditions (1) and (2) in Theorem 8.5.9 hold, and condition (3) is changed to

$$\begin{bmatrix} \overline{A}^* + \overline{A}^{*T} + \xi \delta^{-1} & \overline{B}^* \\ \overline{B}^{*T} & -\xi \end{bmatrix}$$

*being negative definite, then the zero solution of* (8.5.7) *is globally asymptotically stable.* 

Now we allow  $\tau_{ij}(t) = \tau_j(t)$  in (8.5.7), yielding

THEOREM 8.5.11. If condition (1) in Theorem 8.5.9 holds, and  $|g_i(\cdot)| \leq |f_i(\cdot)|$ ,

(2)  $\tau_{ij}(t)$  is differentiable and  $1 - \dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \ge \delta_{ij} = constant > 0, \ j = 1, 2, ..., n;$ (3) there exist  $p_i > 0, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , such that

$$p_j \bar{a}_{jj}^* + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_i \bar{a}_{ij}^* + \sum_{i=1}^n p_i \frac{\bar{b}_{ij}^*}{\delta_j} < 0;$$

then the zero solution of (8.5.7) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(x(t),t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i |x_i(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_j \frac{\bar{b}_{ij}^*}{\delta_{ij}} \int_{t-\tau_j(t)}^{t} |g_i(x_i(s))| ds,$$

349

from which we obtain

$$D^{+}V(x(t),t)|_{(8.5.7)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}a_{jj}(t)|f_{j}(x_{j}(t))| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}(t)||f_{j}(x_{j}(t))| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{ij}(t)||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}\frac{\overline{b}_{ij}}{\delta_{ij}}|g_{j}(x_{j}(t))| - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}\frac{\overline{b}_{ij}^{*}}{\delta_{ij}}|g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}(t)))|(1-\dot{\tau}_{ij}) \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( p_{i}\overline{a}_{jj}^{*} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}a_{ij}^{*} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} P_{i}\frac{b_{ij}^{*}}{\sigma} \right)|f_{j}(x_{j}(t))| < 0 \quad \text{when } x \neq 0.$$

So the zero solution of (8.5.7) is globally asymptotically stable.

COROLLARY 8.5.12. *If the conditions* (1) *and* (2) *in Theorem* 8.5.9 *hold, and* (3)

 $\square$ 

$$a_{jj}^* + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n a_{ij}^* + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{b_{ij}^*}{\delta_{ij}} < 0$$

or

$$a_{ii}^* + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n a_{ij}^* + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{b_{ij}^*}{\delta} < 0.$$

then the zero solution of (8.5.7) is globally asymptotically stable.

# 8.6. Application of inequality with time delay and comparison principle

Differential inequality and comparison principle play a great role in the study of stability in ordinary differential equation. It is Halanay who first extended differential inequality to differential difference inequality. Here, we first extend the Halanay one-dimensional time-delay differential inequality from standard derivative to Dini derivative inequality.

LEMMA 8.6.1 (Extended Halanay one-dimensional time-delay differential inequality). Assume that constants a > b > 0, and that function x(t) is a nonnegative unitary continuous function on  $[t_0 - \tau, t]$  with the following inequality held

$$D^+x(t) \leqslant -ax(t) + b\overline{x}(t), \tag{8.6.1}$$

where

$$\overline{x}(t) := \sup_{t-\tau \leqslant s \leqslant t} \{ x(s) \}, \quad \tau \ge 0,$$

is a constant. Then, there exists

$$x(t) \leqslant \overline{x}(t_0) e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad \forall t \geqslant t_0,$$
(8.6.2)

where  $\lambda$  is the unique positive root of the following transcendent equation:

$$\lambda = a - be^{\lambda \tau}.\tag{8.6.3}$$

**PROOF.** First, we prove that the transcendent equation (8.6.3) has only one positive solution. To achieve this, consider

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta(\mu) &= \mu - a + be^{\mu t}, \quad \mu \in [0, a], \\ \Delta(0) &= -a + b < 0, \quad \Delta(a) = be^{at} > 0, \\ \Delta'(\mu) &= 1 + b\tau e^{\mu t} > 0, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\Delta(\mu)$  is a strictly monotone increasing function. Thus, there exists a unique  $\lambda \in (0, \alpha)$  on [0, a] satisfying (8.6.3).

Let

$$y(t) = \bar{x}(t_0)e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}, \quad t_0 - \tau \le t < \beta.$$
 (8.6.4)

Assume k > 1 is an arbitrary constant. Then x(t) < ky(t) holds on  $t_0 - \tau \le t \le t_0$ .

Now, suppose that for some  $t \in (t_0, \beta)$ , where  $\beta > t_0$  is arbitrary, we have x(t) = ky(t). Since x(t) and y(t) are continuous functions, there must exist  $t_1 \in (t_0, \beta)$  such that

$$x(t) < ky(t), \quad t_0 - \tau \le t < t_1, \quad x(t_1) < ky(t_1).$$
 (8.6.5)

Thus,  $D^+x(t_1) \ge ky'(t_1)$ .

On the other hand, due to (8.6.1), we have

$$D^+x(t_1) \leq -ax(t_1) + b\overline{x}(t_1) < -aky(t_1) + bky(t_1 - \tau) = ky'(t_1)$$

i.e.,

$$D^+ x(t_1) < ky'(t_1). ag{8.6.6}$$

This shows that (8.6.5) and (8.6.6) are contradictory, thus, for any  $\beta > t$  we have

 $x(t) < ky(t) \quad \forall t \in [t_0, \beta].$ 

Finally, letting  $k \rightarrow 1$  results in

$$x(t) \leq y(t) = x(t_0)e^{-\lambda(t-t_0)}.$$
 (8.6.7)

The proof is complete.

Next, we extend the case of one-dimensional inequality to higher dimensional cases.

Assume that  $C^n$  is a set consisting of all functions  $f \in C[I \times R^n \times C^n, R^n]$ .

DEFINITION 8.6.2. G(t, x, y) is said to be an  $H_n$  class function, if the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  $\forall t \in I, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \forall y^{(1)}, y^{(2)} \in \mathbb{C}^n$ , when  $y^{(1)} \leq y^{(2)}$  (i.e.,  $y^{(1)}_i \leq y^{(2)}_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n) it holds

$$G(t, x, y^{(1)}) \leq G(t, x, y^{(2)});$$
 (8.6.8)

(2)  $\forall t \in I, \forall y \in C^n, \forall x^{(1)}, x^{(2)} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , when

$$x^{(1)} \leq x^{(2)}$$
 (but  $x_i^{(1)} = x_i^{(2)}$  for some *i*) (8.6.9)

it holds

$$g_i(t, x^{(1)}, y) \le g_i(t, x^{(2)}, y)$$
 for these *i*'s. (8.6.10)

LEMMA 8.6.3. If a continuous n-dimensional vector function

$$x(t), y(t), \quad \overline{x}(t) := \sup_{\xi \in [t-\tau,t]} x(\xi), \quad \overline{y}(t) := \sup_{\xi \in [t-\tau,t]} y(\xi)$$

satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $x(\theta) < y(\theta), \theta \in [-\tau, 0];$
- (2)  $D^+ y_i(t) > g_i(t, y(t), \overline{y}(t)), i = 1, 2, ..., n, t \ge 0; D^+ x_i(t) \le g_i(t, x(t), \overline{x}(t)), i = 1, 2, ..., n, t \ge 0;$

then x(t) < y(t) for t > 0. Here,

$$G(t, x(t), \overline{x}(t)) = (g_1(t, x(t), \overline{x}(t)), \dots, g_n(t, x(t), \overline{x}(t)))^T.$$

PROOF. By contradiction. Suppose there exists a constant  $\eta > 0$  and some *i* such that

$$x_i(\eta) = y_i(\eta).$$

Let  $Z = \{\eta \mid x_i(\eta) = y_i(\eta) \text{ for some } i\}$ . Obviously, Z is not empty. Thus, from condition (1),  $\exists \eta_0 = \inf_{\eta \in z} \eta$  such that

$$x(\theta) < y(\theta), \quad \theta \in [-\tau, 0],$$

and thus  $\eta_0 > 0$ ,  $x(\theta) \leq y(\eta_0)$  and  $\overline{x}(\theta) \leq \overline{y}(\eta)$ . This implies that there exists j,  $1 \leq j \leq n$ , such that

$$x_j(\eta_0) = y_j(\eta_0).$$

From  $G \in H_n$  and condition (2) we have

$$D^{+}x_{j}(t_{0}) \leq g_{j}(\eta_{0}, x(\eta_{0}), \overline{x}(\eta_{0}))$$
  
$$\leq g_{j}(\eta_{0}, y(\eta_{0}), \overline{y}(\eta_{0})) < D^{+}y_{j}(\eta_{0}).$$
(8.6.11)

However, when  $0 < t < \eta_0$ , we have

x(t) < y(t), i.e.,  $x_j(t) < y_j(t)$ , but  $x_j(\eta_0) < y_j(\eta_0)$ .

Hence, we obtain

$$D^+ x_j(\eta_0) \ge D^+ y_j(\eta_0).$$
 (8.6.12)

Consider the following *n*-dimensional varying time delay linear system:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{ij} x_j(t) + \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{b}_{ij} x \left( t - \tau_j(t) \right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(8.6.13)

where  $a_{ij}$ 's are real coefficients and  $0 \le \tau_j(t) \le \tau_j = \text{constant}, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n$ .

THEOREM 8.6.4. Assume that the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)

$$D^+|x_i| \leq \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} |x_j(t)| + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} \overline{x} (t - \tau_j(t)), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

where

$$a_{ij} = \begin{cases} \tilde{a}_{ii}, & i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ |\tilde{a}_{ij}|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$
  
$$b_{ij} = |\tilde{b}_{ij}|, & i, j = 1, \dots, n, \\ a_{ij} \ge 0, & i \neq j, b_{ij} \ge 0, i, j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\sum_{i=1}^n \bar{x}_i(t_0) > 0, \qquad \bar{x}_j(t_0) = \sup_{t-\tau \leqslant s \leqslant t} \{x_j(s)\};$$

(2)  $M := -(a_{ij} + b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an M matrix.

Then, there exist constants  $\gamma_i > 0$ ,  $a_i > 0$  such that the solution of differential inequality (8.6.3) has the following estimation

$$|x_i(t)| \leq \gamma_i \left[\sum_{j=1}^n |\bar{x}_j(t_0)|\right] e^{-a(t-t_0)}.$$
 (8.6.14)

This implies that the zero solution of (8.6.13) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. Let

$$g_i(t, |x(t)|, |\bar{x}(t)|) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} |x_j(t)| + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} |\bar{x}_j(t)|\right),$$
  

$$G(t, |x(t)|, |\bar{x}(t)|)$$
  

$$= \left(g_1(t, |x(t)|, |\bar{x}(t)|), \dots, g_n(t, |x(t)|, |\bar{x}(t)|)\right)^T \in H_n.$$

Then from condition (2) we know that there exist  $\delta > 0$  and  $d_j > 0$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} (a_{ij} + b_{ij})d_j < -\delta, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(8.6.15)

Choose  $0 < a \ll 1$  such that

$$ad_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}d_i + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij}d_j e^{a\tau} < 0.$$
(8.6.16)

When  $t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_0]$ ,  $j \neq i$ , choose  $R \gg 1$  such that

$$Rd_i e^{a\tau} > 1.$$
 (8.6.17)

 $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , let

$$q_{i}(t) = Rd_{i} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \bar{x}_{j}(t_{0}) \right| + \varepsilon \right] e^{-a(t-t_{0})}.$$
(8.6.18)

Then, from (8.6.16) we have

$$D^+q_i(t) = -aRd_i \left[\sum_{j=1}^n \left|\bar{x}_j(t_0)\right| + \varepsilon\right] e^{-a(t-t_0)}$$

$$\begin{split} & \geqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ a_{ij} d_{j} + b_{ij} d_{j} e^{a\tau} \right] R \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \bar{x}_{j}(t_{0}) \right| + \varepsilon \right] e^{-a(t-t_{0})} \\ & = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} d_{j} R \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \bar{x}_{j}(t_{0}) \right| + \varepsilon \right] e^{-a(t-t_{0})} \\ & + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij} d_{j} R \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| \bar{x}_{j}(t_{0}) \right| + \varepsilon \right] e^{-a(t-t_{0})} e^{a\tau} \\ & \geqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} q_{j}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij} \bar{q}_{j}(t) \\ & = g_{i} \left( t, q(t), \bar{q}(t) \right), \end{split}$$

which indicates that  $D^+q_i(t) > g_i(t, q(t), \overline{q}(t))$ . Thus, when  $t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_0]$ , it follows from (8.6.17) that

$$q_i(t) = Rd_i \left[ \sum_{j=1}^n \left| \overline{x}_j(t_0) \right| + \varepsilon \right] e^{-a(t-t_0)} > \sum_{j=1}^n \left| \overline{x}_j(t_0) \right| + \varepsilon.$$

Now, let

$$|x_i(t)| \leq \sum_{j=1}^n |\overline{x}_j(t_0)| + \varepsilon.$$

Then, when  $t \in [t_0 - \tau, t_0]$ , from Lemma 8.6.3 we know that

$$\left|x_{i}(t)\right| < q_{i}(t) = Rd_{i}\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n}\left|\overline{x}_{j}(t_{0})\right| + \varepsilon\right]e^{-a(t-t_{0})}.$$

Finally, let  $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ ,  $Rd_i = \gamma_i$ . Then, by using Theorem 8.6.4, we obtain

$$|x_i(t)| \leq \gamma_i \left[\sum_{j=1}^n |x_j(t_0)|\right] e^{-a(t-t_0)}$$
 when  $t \geq t_0, i = 1, \dots, n$ ,

and thus the zero solution of (8.6.13) is globally exponentially stable.

REMARK 8.6.5. The greatest advantage of using differential inequality method is that it avoids the strict constrains that the delay I(t) is differentiable when applying the Lyapunov functional method. In this section, we only discussed linear differential systems with constant coefficients. More applications will be given in Chapter 10 for neural networks. Readers can try, instead of Lyapunov functional method, to employ Lyapunov function method with Razumikhin principle to get similar results.

355

### 8.7. Algebraic method for LDS with constant coefficients and time delay

In this section, we introduce algebraic methods for studying the stability of linear delay systems (LDS) with constant coefficients and constant time delays.

Consider a general linear system with constant coefficients and constant time delay [153]

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A_0 x(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k x(t - \gamma_k \cdot r),$$
(8.7.1)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , every  $A_k$  is an  $n \times n$  real constant matrix,  $r = (r_1, \ldots, r_m)$  and  $\gamma_k = (\gamma_{k_1}, \ldots, \gamma_{k_m}), \gamma_{k_j} > 0$  are given nonnegative integers, and

$$\gamma_k r = \sum_{j=1}^m \gamma_{k_j} r_j \quad (k = 1, 2, \dots, m)$$

The characteristic equation of (8.7.1) is

$$f(\lambda, r, A) = \det\left[\lambda I - A_0 - \sum_{k=1}^n A_k e^{-\lambda \gamma_k \cdot r}\right] = 0, \qquad (8.7.2)$$

where  $A_0, A_2, ..., A_n \in \mathbb{R}^{n^2}$ .

Similar to linear systems described by ordinary differential equations with constant coefficients, the distribution of the roots of characteristic equation (8.7.2) plays the key role in determining the stability of the zero solution of the system.

LEMMA 8.7.1. The necessary and sufficient conditions for the zero solution of (8.7.1) being time delay independent, asymptotically stable are

(1) when the time delay is zero, all roots of

$$f(\lambda, 0, A) = \det\left[\lambda I - \sum_{k=0}^{N} A_k\right] = 0$$

are located on the open left-half of the complex plane, i.e.,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda < 0$ ; (2)

$$f(iy, r, A) = \det\left[iyI - A_0 - \sum_{k=1}^N A_k e^{-\lambda r_k \cdot r}\right] \neq 0 \quad \forall y \in R.$$

The basic idea of this lemma is simple. Condition (1) implies that when r = 0, the roots of (8.7.2) are all located in the open left-half of the complex plane.

Because of the continuous dependence of the roots on the coefficients, if some roots move to right-half of the complex plane or reach the imaginary axis, they must reach the imaginary axis at some  $\tau_0 > 0$ . However, condition (2) excludes this possibility, and thus the conclusion is true.

If (8.7.2) has eigenvalues with positive real part, then the zero solution of (8.7.2) is unstable. But it is very difficult to verify the conditions (1) and (2) for the characteristic equation (8.7.2). In this section, we will give some simple sufficient conditions in determining stability.

DEFINITION 8.7.2. System (8.7.1) is said to be asymptotically stable about (r, A), if its characteristic equation has only eigenvalues with negative real parts, i.e., Re  $\lambda < 0$ .

For given  $r \in (R^+)^m$ , define the radial line  $\Gamma_r$  passing through r as

$$\Gamma_r := \left\{ r \mid dr \in \left( R^+ \right)^m, \ d \ge 0 \right\}.$$
(8.7.3)

DEFINITION 8.7.3. For given  $r^0 \in (R^+)^M$ , the asymptotically stable cone,  $S_{r^0}$ , about *r* is defined as

$$S_{r^0} := \left\{ A \in \left( \mathbb{R}^{n^2(N+1)} \right) \mid (8.7.1) \text{ is asymptotically stable about } (r, A) \\ \text{for every } r \in \Gamma_{r^0} \right\}; \tag{8.7.4}$$

and the asymptotically stable cone S is defined as [153]

$$S = \bigcap_{r} \left( S_r \colon r \in \left( R^+ \right)^m \right). \tag{8.7.5}$$

Let  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A)$  denote the real part of the eigenvalues of matrix A. To obtain some practically useful criteria, we need the following lemma.

LEMMA 8.7.4. (See [280].) Assume  $G(g_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a complex matrix, and  $H(h_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an M matrix, where

$$h_{ij} = \begin{cases} |g_{ij}|, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -|g_{ij}|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Then det  $G(g_{ij}) \neq 0$ .

PROOF. Since *M* is an *M* matrix, there exist constants  $\beta_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$|g_{ii}|\beta_i - \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n \beta_i |g_{ij}| > 0 \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$
(8.7.6)

From the Gershgorin disk theorem we know that zero is not an eigenvalue of matrix  $G \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n)$ . Thus,

$$\det(G)\operatorname{diag}(\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_n)=\det(G)\operatorname{det}(\operatorname{diag}(\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_n))\neq 0.$$

But

$$\det(\operatorname{diag}(\beta_1,\ldots,\beta_n)) = \prod_{i=1}^n \beta_i \neq 0.$$

Therefore, det  $G \neq 0$ . The lemma is proved.

LEMMA 8.7.5. (See [280].) For the two given matrices  $H(h_{ij})$  and  $\hat{H}(\tilde{h}_{ij})$ , if

- (1) H is an M matrix;
- (2)  $h_{ij} \leq \tilde{h}_{ij}, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ \tilde{h}_{ij} \leq 0, i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$

then  $\hat{H}$  is also an M matrix.

PROOF. From the properties of *M* matrix we know that *H* is an *M* matrix, if and only if there exist *n* constants  $\beta_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that  $\sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}\beta_j > 0$ . However,  $\tilde{h}_{ii} \ge h_{ii} > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n,  $h_{ii} \le \tilde{h}_{ii} \le 0$ ,  $i \ne j$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n. Thus,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \tilde{h}_{ij}\beta_j \ge \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{ij}\beta_j > 0,$$

which means that  $\tilde{H}$  is an M matrix.

Let the elements of  $A_k$  be  $a_{ij}^{(k)}$ , i.e.,  $A_k = (a_{ij}^{(k)})_{n \times n}$ .

THEOREM 8.7.6. (See [280].) Assume

$$b_{ij} := \begin{cases} |a_{ii}^0| - \sum_{k=1}^N |a_{ii}^{(k)}|, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -\sum_{k=1}^N |a_{ij}^{(k)}|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n \end{cases}$$

If  $B(b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an M matrix, and  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(\sum_{k=0}^{N} A_k) < 0$  (particularly,  $a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n), then  $A \in S$ , i.e., the zero solution of (8.7.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

358

PROOF. Define

$$\hat{B}(\hat{b}_{ij}) = \begin{bmatrix} |a_{11}^{(0)} - iy| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{11}^{(k)}| & -\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_{12}^{(k)}| & \cdots & -\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_{1n}^{(k)}| \\ -\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_{21}^{(k)}| & |a_{22}^{0} - iy| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{22}^{(k)}| & \cdots & -\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_{2n}^{(k)}| \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_{n1}^{(k)}| & -\sum_{k=0}^{n} |a_{n2}^{(k)}| & \cdots & |a_{nn}^{(0)} - iy| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{nn}^{(k)}| \end{bmatrix}$$

Since  $B(b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix and satisfies

$$\hat{b}_{ij} = b_{ij} \leqslant 0, \quad i \neq j,$$
  
$$\hat{b}_{ii} = |a_{ii}^{(0)} - iy| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ii}^{(k)}| \geqslant |a_{ii}^{(0)}| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ii}^{(k)}| = b_{ii} > 0.$$
(8.7.7)

By Lemma 8.7.4, we know that  $\hat{B}(\hat{b}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix. Further, also from Lemma 8.7.4, we have

$$\det_{\substack{s_j \in C \\ |s_j|=1}} = \left[ iyI - A_0 - \sum_{k=1}^N A_k s_{r_{k_1}}, \dots, s_{r_{k_m}} \right] \neq 0,$$

which, together with the condition  $\operatorname{Re}(\sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k) < 0$ , we know that the zero solution of (8.7.1) is asymptotically stable by Lemma 8.7.1.

COROLLARY 8.7.7. If  $b_{ii} > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n),  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(\sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k) < 0$  (particularly,  $a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n), and any one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(1) 
$$b_{jj} > \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{N} |b_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n;$$
  
(2)  $b_{ii} > \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{n} |b_{ij}|, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n;$   
(3)  $b_{ii} > \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{n} (|b_{ij}| + |b_{ji}|), \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n;$ 

(4) 
$$\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left(\frac{|b_{ij}|}{|b_{ii}|}\right)^2 < 1;$$

(5) 
$$b_{ii}^2 > \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n \frac{1}{2} (|b_{ii}b_{ij}| + |b_{jj}b_{ji}|);$$

then  $A \in S$ , the zero solution of system (8.7.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. According to the property of M matrix, we know that any of the above conditions implies that  $B(b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an M matrix. Thus, the conditions of Theorem 8.7.6 hold.

EXAMPLE 8.7.8. Consider the following system

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1(t) \\ \dot{x}_2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}^{(0)} & a_{12}^{(0)} \\ a_{21}^{(0)} & a_{22}^{(0)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t) \\ x_2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}^{(1)} & a_{12}^{(1)} \\ a_{21}^{(1)} & a_{22}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t-\tau) \\ x_2(t-\tau) \end{pmatrix}, (8.7.8)$$

where  $\tau = \text{constant} > 0$ , and

$$A_0 = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}^{(0)} & a_{12}^{(0)} \\ a_{21}^{(0)} & a_{22}^{(0)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A_1 = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}^{(1)} & a_{12}^{(1)} \\ a_{21}^{(1)} & a_{22}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Assume that

$$(1) \ a_{11}^{(0)} + a_{22}^{(0)} + a_{11}^{(1)} + a_{22}^{(1)} < 0 \text{ and} \\ \det \begin{bmatrix} a_{11}^{(0)} + a_{11}^{(1)} & a_{12}^{(0)} + a_{12}^{(1)} \\ a_{21}^{(0)} + a_{21}^{(1)} & a_{22}^{(0)} + a_{22}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} > 0; \\ (2) \ |a_{ii}^{(0)}| - |a_{ii}^{(1)}| > 0, i = 1, 2, \text{ and} \\ (|a_{11}^{(0)}| - |a_{11}^{(1)}|)(|a_{22}^{(0)}| - |a_{22}^{(1)}|) \\ - (|a_{12}^{(0)}| + |a_{12}^{(1)}|)(|a_{21}^{(0)}| + |a_{21}^{(1)}|) > 0; \end{aligned}$$

then  $(A_0, A_1) \in S$ .

Since  $(A_0, A_1) \in S$ , if and only if

(1°) Re 
$$\lambda(A_0 + A_1) < 0;$$
  
(2°)  $\forall \tau > 0, \forall y \in R,$   
det  $\Delta := \begin{vmatrix} a_{11}^{(0)} + a_{11}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau} - iy & a_{12}^{(0)} + a_{12}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau} \\ a_{21}^{(0)} + a_{21}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau} & a_{22}^{(0)} + a_{22}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau} - iy \end{vmatrix} \neq 0.$ 

Obviously  $(1^\circ)$  and (1) are equivalent. Now we prove that (2) implies  $(2^\circ)$ . In fact,

$$\begin{split} |\Delta| \ge \left(a_{11}^{(0)} + a_{11}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau} - iy\right) \left(a_{22}^{(0)} + a_{22}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau} - iy\right) \\ - \left(a_{12}^{(0)} + a_{12}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau}\right) \left(a_{21}^{(0)} + a_{21}^{(1)}e^{-iy\tau}\right) \end{split}$$

$$\geqslant |a_{11}^{(0)} + a_{11}^{(1)} \cos \tau y| |a_{22}^{(0)} + a_{22}^{(1)} \cos \tau y| - |a_{12}^{(0)}| + |a_{12}^{(1)}| |a_{21}^{(0)}| + |a_{21}^{(1)}| \geqslant (|a_{11}^{(0)}| - |a_{11}^{(1)}|) (|a_{22}^{(0)} - a_{22}^{(1)}|) - (|a_{12}^{(0)}| + |a_{12}^{(1)}|) (|a_{21}^{(0)}| + |a_{21}^{(1)}|) > 0.$$

Thus,  $\Delta \neq 0$  and so  $(A_1, A_2) \in S$ . This implies that the zero solution of (8.7.8) is asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 8.7.9. Consider the following scalar equation:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = a_0 x(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k x(t - \tau_k).$$
(8.7.9)

From Theorem 8.7.6 we know that if

$$|a_0| > \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_k|$$
 and  $a < 0$ ,

then  $a \in S$ , which indicates that the zero solution of (8.7.9) is asymptotically stable.

J. Hale [155] once raised the following question: Does an asymptotically stable cone have the property of convexity? That is, given  $A \in S$  and  $\hat{A} \in S$ , does that  $\alpha A + (1 - \alpha)\tilde{A}$  also belong to *S* for  $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$ ? The significance of this question is that if the answer is positive, then any combinations of two convex asymptotically stable cones yields a new asymptotically stable cone, and thus it can generate infinite number of asymptotically stable cones.

However, generally, the answer to this question is no, unless the system is a scalar system or the system has symmetric coefficients.

In the following, we give sufficient conditions for a system to be asymptotically stable cone.

THEOREM 8.7.10. (See [280].) Assume system (8.7.1) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n;$ 

$$(2)_1 \quad b_{ii} - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{1}{2} |b_{ij} + b_{ji}| > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \text{ or }$$

$$(2)_2 \quad b_{ii} - \sqrt{\sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{(b_{ii}b_{ij} + b_{jj}b_{ji})}{2}} > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n \text{ or }$$

(2)<sub>3</sub>  $B(b_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a symmetric M matrix;

where  $b_{ij}$ 's are defined in Theorem 8.7.6. Denote the system satisfying the conditions (1) and (2)<sub>q</sub> ((q = 1, 2, 3) as S<sub>q</sub>).

Then  $S_q \subset S$  and  $S_q$  is convex.

PROOF.  $\forall A, \hat{A} \in S_1, \forall \alpha \in [01]$ , we have

$$\alpha A + (1 - \alpha)\hat{A} = \left(\alpha \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_{ij}^{(k)} + (1 - \alpha) \sum_{k=0}^{N} \hat{a}_{ij}^{(k)}\right).$$

Since  $a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0$  and  $\tilde{a}_{ii}^{(0)} < 0$ , it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha a_{ii}^{(0)} + (1 - \alpha) \tilde{a}_{ii}^{(0)} < 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \alpha b_{ii} + (1 - \alpha) \tilde{b}_{ii} > \alpha \frac{|b_{ij} + b_{ji}|}{2} + (1 - \alpha) \frac{|\tilde{b}_{ij} + \tilde{b}_{ji}|}{2} \\ \geqslant \frac{1}{2} |\alpha b_{ij} + (1 - \alpha) \tilde{b}_{ij} + \alpha b_{ji} + (1 - \alpha) \tilde{b}_{ji}|, \end{aligned}$$

i.e.,

$$\alpha b_{ii} + (1-\alpha)\tilde{b}_{ii} - \frac{1}{2} \left| \alpha b_{ij} + (1-\alpha)\tilde{b}_{ij} + \alpha b_{ji} + (1-\alpha)\tilde{b}_{ji} \right| > 0.$$

Moreover,  $\alpha A + (1 - \alpha)\tilde{A} \in S_1$ ,  $S_1$  is convex.  $S_1 \in S$  has been proved in Theorem 8.7.6 and Corollary 8.7.7.

Similarly, we can prove that  $S_2 \in S$  is convex.

 $S_3 \in S$  has been proved in Theorem 8.7.6 and Corollary 8.7.7. Now we prove that  $S_3$  is convex.  $\forall A, \hat{A} \in S_3, \forall \alpha \in [01], a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0, \hat{a}_{ii}^{(0)} < 0$  we have

$$\alpha a_{ii}^{(0)} + (1 - \alpha) a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0, \quad \alpha \in [01]$$

Because *B* and  $\hat{B}$  are symmetric, so is  $\alpha B + (1 - \alpha)\hat{B}$ . Moreover, it is an *M* matrix. So,  $\alpha A + (1 - \alpha)\hat{A} \in S_3$ . Thus,  $S_3$  is convex.

#### 8.8. A class of time delay neutral differential difference systems

Consider a general neutral differential difference system [139]

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = f\left(t, x(t), x\left(t - \tau(t)\right), \dot{x}\left(t - \tau(t)\right)\right),$$
(8.8.1)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $f \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n]$ ,  $f(t, 0, 0, 0) = 0, 0 \leq \tau(t) < +\infty$ ,

$$x(t-\tau(t)) = (x_1(t-\tau_1(t)), \ldots, x_n(t-\tau_n(t))),$$

and

$$\dot{x}(t-\tau(t)) = (\dot{x}_1(t-\tau_1(t)), \ldots, \dot{x}_n(t-\tau_n(t))).$$

All results in Theorems 8.2.1 to 8.2.7, about delayed differential difference equation (8.2.1), can be extended to neutral systems. If we have method to determine the negative definiteness of  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  about  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$ , then similar conclusions can be obtained. However, generally  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is a function of 3n variables, it is difficult to determine whether  $\frac{dV}{dt}$  is negative definite or not.

First, we consider a special class of time-delay linear neutral differential difference equations. This class of systems was first developed from electrical networks.

In the following, we extend the results from the constant time-delay system (8.2.1) to varying time-delay systems.

Consider the following more general time-varying linear neutral system [139]:

$$\frac{dx_i(t)}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}(t)x_j(t) + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij}(t)x_j\left(t - \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t)\right) + \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij}(t)\dot{x}_j\left(t - \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t)\right),$$
(8.8.2)

where

$$\dot{x}_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t)) = \frac{dx_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))}{dt}, \quad 0 \leq \tau_{ij}^{(i)}(t) \leq \tau_{ij}^{(i)} = \text{constant},$$
(8.8.3)

$$\begin{aligned} x_i(s) &= \varphi_i(s), \quad s \in [-\tau, 0], \\ \frac{dx_i(s)}{dt} &= \psi_i(s), \quad s \in [-\tau, 0], \ \tau = \max_{1 \le i, j \le n} (\tau_{ij}^{(1)}, \tau_{ij}^{(2)}), \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{aligned}$$
(8.8.4)

Here,  $\psi_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) is almost piecewise continuous on  $[-\tau, 0]$ ,  $\varphi_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) is bounded and integrable on  $[-\tau, 0]$ , satisfying

$$\frac{d\varphi_i(s)}{ds} = \psi_i(s), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

THEOREM 8.8.1. Assume that the varying coefficients in (8.8.1) satisfy

(1)  $a_{ij}(t), b_{ij}(t), c_{ij}(t)$  are all continuous bounded functions on  $[-\tau, +\infty]$ ; (2) there exists a nonnegative constant *c* such that

$$\max_{i \leq j \leq n} c_j^* := c < 1, \quad \text{where } c_j^* = \sup_{t \geq -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^n |c_{ij}(t)|,$$
  
$$j = 1, 2, \dots, n; \tag{8.8.5}$$

(3) there exist positive constants  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  such that

$$a_{jj}(t) \leq -\alpha < 0$$
  
and  
 $|a_{jj}(t)| - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} |a_{ij}(t)| - \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))| \geq \beta > 0,$   
 $t \geq 0;$  (8.8.6)

(4)  $\dot{\tau}_{ij}^{(i)} \leq 0, \ i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$ 

then the zero solution of (8.8.2) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. If  $\dot{x}_i(t)$  has an infinite number of isolated zero points on  $[0, +\infty]$ , then for any t > 0, choose  $t_i^*$  such that  $\dot{x}_i$  does not change its sign on  $(t_i^*, t)$ ; if t is a zero of  $\dot{x}_i$ , let  $t_i^* = t$ ; if  $\dot{x}_i$  has a finite number of isolated zero points on  $(0, +\infty)$ , let  $t_i^*$  be the last zero of  $\dot{x}_i$ ; if  $\dot{x}_i$  does not have zero points on  $(0, +\infty)$ , let  $t_i^* = 0$ .

Now, we construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \left| x_{i}(t) \right| + \left| x_{i}(t_{i}^{*}) \right| - c_{i}^{*} \int_{t_{i}^{*}}^{t} \left| \frac{dx_{i}(t)}{ds} \right| ds \right] \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t)}^{t} \left| b_{ij} \left( s + \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(s) \right) \right| \left| x_{j}(s) \right| ds \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \int_{t-\tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t)}^{t} \left| c_{ij} \left( s + \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(s) \right) \right| \left| \dot{x}_{j}(s) \right| ds \right].$$
(8.8.7)

From the initial condition and the assumption of the coefficients we know that V(0) is finite. Thus,

$$V(t) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \left| x_i(t) \right| - c_i^* \left| x_i(t) \right| \right] \ge (1 - c) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| x_i(t) \right|, \quad t \ge 0.$$
(8.8.8)

Using  $\dot{\tau}_{ij}^{(1)}(t) \leq 0$ , we have

$$D^{+}V|_{(8.8.2)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \left( \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \right) \operatorname{sign} x_{i} - c_{i}^{*} |\dot{x}_{i}(t)| \right] + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \{ |b_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t))| |x_{j}(t)| - |b_{ij}(t)| |x_{j}(t - \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t))| \} (1 - \dot{\tau}_{ij}^{(1)}(t)) \}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \{ |c_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))| |x_{j}(t)| - |c_{ij}(t)| |x_{j}(t - \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))| \} (1 - \dot{\tau}_{ij}^{(2)}(t))$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ -|a_{ii}(t)| |x_{i}(t)| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq 1}}^{n} |a_{ij}(t)| |x_{j}(t)| - c_{i}^{*}|\dot{x}_{i}(t)|$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t))| |x_{j}(t)| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |c_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))| |\dot{x}_{j}(t)| \right]$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ -|a_{jj}(t)| + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |a_{ij}(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t))| \right] |x_{j}(t)|$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |c_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))| - c_{j}^{*} \right] |\dot{x}_{j}(t)|$$

$$\leq -\beta \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_{j}(t)| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |c_{ij}(t + \tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t))| - c_{j}^{*} \right] |\dot{x}_{j}(t)|$$

$$\leq -\beta \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_{j}(t)|.$$

$$(8.8.9)$$

It then follows from (8.8.9) that

$$V(t) \leqslant V(0) - \beta \int_0^t \left( \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(s)| \right) ds.$$

Further, by using (8.8.8) we obtain

$$(1-c)\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i(t)| + \beta \int_0^t \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i(s)|\right) ds \leqslant V(0) < \infty, \quad t \ge 0, \quad (8.8.10)$$

which means that  $x_i(t)$  (i = 1, ..., n) is bounded.

From (8.8.2), we have

$$\left|\frac{dx}{dt}\right| = \left|\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{dx_i}{dt}\right|$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}(t)| |x_j(t)| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}(t)| |x_j(t_j(t - \tau_{ij}^{(1)}(t)))|$$

Chapter 8. Dynamical Systems with Time Delay

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{n} |c_{ij}(t)| |\dot{x}_{j}(t_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}^{(2)}(t)))|.$$
(8.8.11)

Define

$$m(t) := \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \sup_{s \in [t-\tau,t]} |\dot{x}_i(s)| \right).$$
(8.8.12)

By the assumption, we have

$$\sup_{t \ge -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \left| a_{ij}(t) \right| + \left| \sup_{t \ge -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}(t) \right| \right] < \infty.$$
(8.8.13)

Then it follows from (8.8.10)–(8.8.12) that

$$m(t) \leq \left\{ \sup_{t \geq -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \left| a_{ij}(t) \right| + \left| \sup_{t \geq -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}(t) \right| \right] \right\} \left( \sup_{t \geq -\tau} \left| x_j(t) \right| \right) + \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sup_{t \geq -\tau} \left| c_{ij}(t) \right| \right] \left( \sup_{s \in [t-\tau,t]} \left| \dot{x}_j(s) \right| \right) \\ \leq \sigma + cm(t),$$

$$(8.8.14)$$

where

$$\sigma = \sup_{t \ge -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \left| a_{ij}(t) \right| + \left| \sup_{t \ge -\tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}(t) \right| \right] \\ \times \left( \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sup_{t \ge -\tau} \left| x_j(t) \right| \right) < \infty.$$

$$(8.8.15)$$

Since c < 1, from (8.8.13) we know that  $m(t) \leq \frac{\sigma}{1-c}$  for  $t \ge 0$ .

Therefore, the derivative of  $x_i(t)$  is bounded on  $[0, \infty]$ , so  $\sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(t)|$  is uniformly continuous on  $[0, \infty]$ , and  $\sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(t)| \in L_1(0, \infty)$ . Thus, from (8.8.15) we know that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(t)| = 0$ , implying that the zero solution of (8.8.2) is asymptotically stable.

## **8.9.** The method of iteration by parts for large-scale neural systems

The basic idea for analyzing large-scale systems is to decompose the large-scale system into a number of lower order isolated subsystems, and then determine the stability of the whole large system on the basis of stability degree of the subsystems as well as connection strength between the subsystems. The current mostly

used methods are still the Lyapunov vector function (functional) method or the weight and scalar Lyapunov function (functional) method. The main difficulty in using these methods is that there do not exist general rules or skills in constructing such Lyapunov functions (functionals). So the results obtained are mainly for existence.

In this section, we introduce a comparison method for stability study of largescale neutral systems. The main idea of this method is as follows: Based on the integral estimation of the subsystem's Cauchy matrix solution and couping matrix solution, for the solution of the whole system, we find estimations for each subsystem, and then construct explicit comparison system from which we determine the stability of the whole large system.

First we give a lemma as follows.

LEMMA 8.9.1. Assume  $H(h_{ij}(t))_{r \times r} \in C[I, R^{r \times r}], h_{ij}(t) \ge 0, i \ne j, i, j = 1, \ldots, r, f(t) \in C[I, R^r]$ . Then the solution of the differential inequality:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx(t)}{dt} \leqslant H(t)x(t) + f(t), \\ x(t_0) = x_0, \end{cases}$$
(8.9.1)

is right-up limited by the solution of the differential equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy(t)}{dt} = H(t)y(t) + f(t), \\ y(t_0) = y_0 \ge x_0, \end{cases}$$
(8.9.2)

*i.e.*,  $x(t) \leq y(t)$ ,  $t \geq t_0$  or  $x_i(t) \leq y_i(t)$ , i = 1, ..., r.

PROOF. Let

$$z(t) := y(t) - x(t) := y(t, t_0, y_0) - x(t, t_0, x_0) = z(t, t_0, z_0)$$

and

$$g(t) := \frac{dz(t)}{dt} - H(t)z \ge 0, \qquad D_H(t) := \operatorname{diag}(h_{11}(t), \dots, h_{\tau\tau}(t)),$$

then z(t) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dz(t)}{dt} = \left[ D_H(t) + H(t) - D_H(t) \right] z(t) + g(t), \\ z(t_0) = z_0, \end{cases}$$
(8.9.3)

and

$$z(t) = z_0 e^{\int_{t_0}^t D_H(t) dt} + \int_{t_0}^t \left[ e^{\int_{\tau}^t D_H(\xi) d\xi} (H(\tau) - D_H(\tau)) z(\tau) + g(\tau) \right] d\tau.$$
(8.9.4)

Choosing  $z^{(0)}(t) = z^{(0)} e^{\int_{t_0}^{t} D_H(t) dt} \ge 0$ , one may apply the Picard iteration method to obtain

$$z^{(m)}(t) = z^{(0)} e^{\int_{t_0}^t D_H(t) dt} + \int_{t_0}^t \left[ e^{\int_{\tau}^t D_H(\xi) d\xi} (H(\tau) - D_H(\tau)) z^{(m-1)}(\tau) + g(\tau) \right] d\tau.$$

Since for any natural number m,  $z^{(m)}(t) \ge 0$ , and thus

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} z^{(m)}(t) = z(t) \ge 0, \quad \text{i.e.,} \quad x(t, t_0, x_0) \le y(t, t_0, y_0).$$

Consider the following large-scale linear system described by the neutral differential difference equation [243]:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}(t), \dots, A_{11}(t))x(t) + ((1 - \delta_{ij})A_{ij}(t))x(t) + (B_{ij}(t))x(t - \tau) + (C_{ij}(t))\dot{x}(t - \tau),$$
(8.9.5)

where  $C_{ij}(t)$  is  $n_i \times n_i$  continuously differentiable matrix function on  $[t_0, +\infty]$ ,  $A_{ij}(t)$  and  $B_{ij}(t)$  are  $n_i \times n_i$ , continuous matrix functions, and  $\tau$  is a positive constant.

Assume that  $\varphi(t)$  is a continuously differentiable matrix function on  $[t_0 - \tau, t_0]$ , and  $P_{ii}(t, t_0)$  is the Cauchy matrix solution of the subsystems:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = A_{ii}(t)x_i, \quad x_i = \left(x_1^i, \dots, x_{n_i}^i\right)^T, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
(8.9.6)

Let

$$f_{i}(t) := P_{ii}(t, t_{0})\varphi_{i}(t_{0}) + \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} P_{ii}(t, t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} B_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\varphi_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1}$$
  
$$- P_{ii}(t, t_{0}) \sum_{j=1}^{r} C_{ij}(t_{0})\varphi_{j}(t_{0}-\tau)$$
  
$$+ \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} A_{ii}(t_{1}+\tau) P_{ii}(t, t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} C_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\varphi_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1}$$
  
$$- \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} P_{ii}(t, t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} \dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\varphi_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

**THEOREM 8.9.2.** Suppose the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) there exist scalar function  $\alpha(t) \in C[t_0, +\infty]$  and constants  $\overline{M}_i \ge 1$ ,  $M_i \ge 1$  such that

$$\|f_i(t)\| \leqslant \overline{M}_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \alpha(\xi) d\xi}, \quad t \ge t_0,$$
$$\|P_{ii}(t, t_0)\| \leqslant M_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \alpha(\xi) d\xi}, \quad t \ge t_0;$$

- (2)  $||C_{ii}(t)||$  is a monotone nonincreasing function of t;
- (3) there exists scalar function  $\beta(t) \in C[t_0, +\infty]$  such that the Cauchy matrix solution  $R(t, t_0)$  of the following ordinary differential equations:

$$\frac{d\xi_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^r \left[ M_i (1 - \delta_{ij}) \| A_{ij}(t) \| + M_i K \| B_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \\
+ M_i K \| A_{ii}(t + \tau) \| \| C_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \\
+ M_i K \| \dot{C}_{iJ}(t + \tau) \| + \frac{K}{\tau} \| C_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \right] \xi_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$

has the estimation

$$\|R(t,t_0)\| \leq N \exp\left(\int_{t_0}^t \beta(\xi) d\xi\right),$$

where

$$K := \sup_{t \ge t_0} \exp\left(\int_{t-\tau}^t \alpha(\xi) \, d\xi\right) < +\infty,$$

 $N \ge 1$  is a constant.

Then the following five conditions:

(1)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} [\alpha(\xi) - \beta(\xi)] d\xi \ge c(t_0) > -\infty \quad (t \ge t_0),$ (2)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} [\alpha(\xi) - \beta(\xi)] d\xi \ge c > -\infty \quad (t \ge t_0),$ (3)  $\int_{t_0}^{+\infty} [\alpha(\xi) - \beta(\xi)] d\xi = +\infty,$ (4)  $\int_{t_0}^{t} [\alpha(\xi) - \beta(\xi)] d\xi = +\infty \text{ when } (t - t_0) \to +\infty \text{ (uniformly about } t_0),$ 

(5) 
$$\int_{t_0}^t [\alpha(\xi) - \beta(\xi)] d\xi \ge \gamma(t - t_0) \ (t \ge t_0, \gamma > 0 \ being \ a \ constant)$$

imply that the trivial zero solution of (8.9.5) is stable, uniformly stable, asymptotically stable, uniformly asymptotically stable, and exponentially stable, respectively.

PROOF. Denote the solution of (8.9.5) as x(t) which satisfies the initial condition  $x(t) = \varphi(t), \dot{x}(t) = \psi(t)$  and  $t_0 - \tau \le t \le t_0$ . By using the variation of constants

formula for integration substitution and integrate by parts, we can show that

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}(t) &= P_{ii}(t,t_{0})\varphi_{i}(t_{0}) + \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} P_{ii}(t,t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} B_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\varphi_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &- P_{ii}(t,t_{0}) \sum_{j=1}^{r} C_{ij}(t_{0})\varphi_{j}(t_{0}-\tau) \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} A_{ii}(t_{1}+\tau) P_{ii}(t,t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} C_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\varphi_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &- \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} P_{ii}(t,t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} \dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\varphi_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} P_{ii}(t,t_{1}) \sum_{j=1}^{r} (1-\delta_{ij})A_{ij}(t_{1})x_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t-\tau} P_{ii}(t,t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} B_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)x_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t-\tau} A_{ii}(t_{1}+\tau)P_{ii}(t,t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} C_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)x_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &- \int_{t_{0}}^{t-\tau} P_{ii}(t,t_{1}+\tau) \sum_{j=1}^{r} \dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)x_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} C_{ij}(t)x_{j}(t-\tau). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we have

$$\|x_{i}(t)\| = \sum_{j=1}^{r} M_{i} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} (1 - \delta_{ij}) \|A_{ij}(t_{1})\| e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|x_{j}(t_{1})\| dt_{1}$$
$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} \|B_{ij}(t_{1} + \tau)\| e^{-\int_{t_{1}+\tau}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|x_{j}(t_{1})\| dt_{1}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_0}^{t} M_i \|A_{ij}(t_1+\tau)\| e^{-\int_{t_1+\tau}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|C_{ij}(t_1+\tau)\| \|x_j(t_1)\| dt_1$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_0}^{t} M_i e^{-\int_{t_1+\tau}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|\dot{C}_{ij}(t_1+\tau)\| \|x_j(t_1)\| dt_1$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|C_{ij}(t)\| \|x_1(t-\tau)\| + \overline{M}_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi},$$

which, in turn, gives

$$\begin{split} \|x_{i}(t)\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} (1-\delta_{ij}) M_{i} \|A_{ij}(t_{1})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|x_{j}(t_{1})\| dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} \|B_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\| e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{1}+\tau} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|x_{j}(t_{1})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} \|A_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}+\tau} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\times \|C_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\| \|x_{j}(t_{1})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} e^{\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{1}+\tau} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|\dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1}+\tau)\| \|x_{j}(t_{1})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{0}} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} dt_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|C_{ij}(t)\| e^{\int_{t_{-\tau}}^{t} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \|x_{i}(t-\tau)\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t-\tau} \alpha(\xi) d\xi} + \overline{M}_{i}. \end{split}$$

Let

$$y_i(t) = \sum_{t_0 - \tau \leqslant t_1 \leqslant t} ||x_i(t_1)|| \exp \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \alpha(\xi) d\xi.$$

Then, using the properties of monotone nondecreasing of  $y_i(t)$  and monotone nonincreasing of  $||C_{ij}(t)||$ , we obtain

$$\|x_{i}(t)\|e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\alpha(\xi)\,d\xi} \leq \overline{M}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{r}\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \left[M_{i}(1-\delta_{ij})\|A_{ij}(t_{1})\| + M_{i}K\|B_{jj}(t_{1}+\tau)\|\right]$$

$$+ M_{i}K \|A_{ii}(t_{1} + \tau)\| \|C_{ij}(t_{1} + \tau)\| + M_{i}K \|\dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1} + \tau)\| ]y_{i}(t_{1}) dt_{1} + \frac{K}{\tau} \int_{t-\tau}^{t} \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|\dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1})\| y_{1}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \leq M_{i}^{*} + \sum_{j=1}^{r} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} \left[ (1 - \delta_{ij}) \|A_{ij}(t_{1})\| + M_{i}K \|B_{ij}(t_{1} + \tau)\| + M_{i}K \|A_{ii}(t_{1} + \tau)\| \|C_{ij}(t_{1} + \tau)\| + M_{i}K \|\dot{C}_{ij}(t_{1} + \tau)\| + \frac{K}{\tau} \|C_{ij}(t_{1})\| \right] y_{i}(t_{1}) dt_{1},$$

$$(8.9.7)$$

where

$$M_{i}^{*} := \overline{M}_{i} + \frac{K}{\tau} \int_{t_{0}-\tau}^{t_{0}} \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|C_{ij}(t_{1})\| y_{j}^{*}(t_{1}) dt_{1},$$
$$y_{i}^{*} := \max_{t_{0}-\tau < t_{1} < t < t_{0}} \|\varphi_{j}(t_{1})\| e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} \alpha(\xi) d\xi}.$$

Denote the right-hand side of (8.9.7) as  $\eta_i(t)$ . Since  $\eta_i(t)$  is monotone nondecreasing,  $y_i(t) \leq \eta_i(t)$  and  $\eta_i(t)$  satisfies the following set of differential inequalities:

$$\frac{d\eta_i}{dt} \leq \sum_{j=1}^r \left[ M_i (1 - \delta_{ij}) \| A_{ij}(t) \| + M_i K \| B_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \\
+ M_i K \| A_{ii}(t + \tau) \| \| C_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \\
+ M_i K \| C_{ij}(t + \tau) \| + \frac{K}{\tau} \| C_{ij}(t) \| \right] \eta_i,$$
(8.9.8)
$$\eta_i(t) = M_i^*, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

Assume that  $\xi_i(t)$  satisfies the following set of differential equalities:

$$\frac{d\xi_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{r} \left[ M_i (1 - \delta_{ij}) \| A_{ij}(t) \| + M_i K \| B_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \\
+ M_i K \| A_{ii}(t + \tau) \| \| C_{ij}(t + \tau) \| \\
+ M_i K \| \dot{C}_{ij}(t + \tau) \| + \frac{K}{\tau} \| C_{ij}(t) \| \right] \xi_i,$$
(8.9.9)
$$\xi_i(t_0) = M_i^*, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$

Then, from Lemma 8.9.1 we know that  $\eta_i(t) \leq \xi_i(t)$ , i = 1, 2, ..., r. Further, by condition (3) we have

$$\|(\|x_1(t)\|,\ldots,\|x_r(t)\|)^T\|e^{\int_{t_0}^t \alpha(\xi) d\xi} \leq N(M_1^*,\ldots,M_r^*)^T e^{\int_{t_0}^t \beta(\xi) d\xi}$$

and finally we obtain

$$\| \left( \| x_1(t) \|, \dots, \| x_r(t) \| \right)^T \| \\ \leq N \left( M_1^*, \dots, M_r^* \right)^T eY - \int_{t_0}^t \left[ \alpha(\xi) - \beta(\xi) \right] d\xi,$$
(8.9.10)

which implies that the conclusion of the theorem is true.

The proof is complete.

### 8.10. Stability of large-scale neutral systems on $C^1$ space

Consider a class of large-scale nonlinear neutral system with varying time delays:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = \operatorname{diag}(A_{11}, \dots, A_{rr})x(t) \\ + F\left(\left(t, x\left(t - \Delta(t)\right)\right), \dot{x}\left(t - \Delta(t)\right)\right), \\ x(t) = \Phi, \quad \dot{x}(t) = \dot{\Phi}(t), \quad \text{for } t_0 - \Delta \leqslant t \leqslant t_0, \end{cases}$$
(8.10.1)

and the isolated subsystems:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \text{diag}(A_{11}, \dots, A_{rr})x(t),$$
 (8.10.2)

where

$$F \in C[I \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n], \quad F(t, 0, 0) \equiv 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Let  $P(t, t_0) = \text{diag}(P_{11}(t, t_0), \dots, P_{rr}(t, t_0))x(t)$  be a Cauchy matrix solution of (8.10.2).

If the trivial solution of (8.10.1) is asymptotically stable about x and  $\dot{x}$ , then it is said to be asymptotically stable on  $C^1$ .

ТНЕОВЕМ 8.10.1. *If* 

(1) in an open neighborhood of D enclosing the origin, F(t, x, y) satisfies

$$\left\|F_{i}(t, x, y)\right\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t) \left[\|x_{j}\| + \|y_{j}\|\right],$$
(8.10.3)

where  $g_{ij}(t) \in C[t_0, +\infty]$  is a nonnegative bounded function, and

$$x_i \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad y_i \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad \sum_{j=1}^r n_i = n;$$

(2) the Cauchy matrix solution of (8.10.2),  $P(t, t_0)$ , has the estimation:

$$\left\|P_{11}(t,t_0)\right\| \leqslant M_i e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \alpha_i(\xi) d\xi} \to 0 \quad as \ t \to +\infty,$$

where  $M_i > 0$  is a known constant, and  $\alpha_i(t) \in C[t_0, +\infty]$  (i = 1, 2, ..., r) are given functions;

(3) the spectral radius of matrix  $\Omega(\sigma_{ij})$ ,  $\rho(\Omega) < 1$  (particularly  $||\Omega|| < 1$ ), where

$$\sigma_{ii} = (1 - K\tilde{g}_{ii})^{-1} \int_{0}^{+\infty} m_i K_i g_{ii}(t_1) dt_1 + \delta_{ij} (1 - k\tilde{g}_{ii})^{-1} K_i \tilde{g}_{ij},$$
  

$$K_i = \sup_{t \ge t_0} e^{\int_{t-\Delta(t)}^{t} \alpha_i(\xi) d\xi},$$
  

$$m_i = (1 + \tilde{A}_{ii}) M_i, \qquad \tilde{A}_{ii} = \sup_{t \ge t_0} ||A_{ii}(t)||,$$
  

$$\tilde{g}_{ij} = \sup_{t \ge t_0} g_{ij}(t), \qquad K_i \tilde{g}_{ij} < 1;$$

then the trivial solution of (8.10.1) is asymptotically stable on  $C^1$ .

**PROOF.** Let the solution of (8.10.1), x(t), be expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}(t) &= P_{ii}(t, t_{0}) \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} P_{ii}(t, t_{1}) \left( F_{i}\left(t_{1}, x\left(t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1})\right)\right), \dot{x}\left(t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1})\right) \right) dt_{1}, \end{aligned} (8.10.4) \\ \dot{x}_{i}(t) &= A_{ii} P_{ii}(t, t_{0}) \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} A_{ii} P_{ii}(t, t_{1}) \left( F_{i}\left(t_{1}, x\left(t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1})\right)\right), \dot{x}\left(t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1})\right) \right) dt_{1} \\ &+ \left( F_{i}\left(t, x\left(t - \Delta(t)\right)\right), \dot{x}\left(t - \Delta(t)\right) \right), \end{aligned} (8.10.5) \\ \|x_{i}(t)\| &\leq M_{i} \|\Phi_{i}(t_{0})\| e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \\ &+ \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} e^{-\int_{t_{1}}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1}) \left[ \|x_{j}\left(t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1})\right) \| \\ &+ \|\dot{x}_{j}\left(t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1})\right) \| \right] dt_{1}, \end{aligned} (8.10.6) \\ \|x_{i}(t)\| &\leq \|A_{ii}(t)\|M_{i}\|\Phi_{i}(t_{0})\| e^{-\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \int_{t_0}^{t} \|A_{ii}(t)\| M_i e^{-\int_{t_1}^{t} \alpha_i(\xi) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_1) [\|x_j(t_1 - \Delta(t_1))\|] \\ + \|\dot{x}_i(t_1 - \Delta(t_1))\|] dt_1 \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t) [\|x_j(t - \Delta(t))\| + \|\dot{x}_j(t - \Delta(t))\|].$$
(8.10.7)

Let

$$\tilde{A}_{ii} = \sup_{t \ge t_0} \|A_{ii}\|, \quad K_i = \sup_{t \ge t_0} e^{\int_{t-\Delta(t)}^t \alpha_i(\xi) d\xi},$$
$$m_i = (1 + \tilde{A}_{ii})M_i \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{g}_{ij} = \sup_{t \ge t_0} g_{ij}(t).$$

Then, it follows from (8.10.6) and (8.10.7) that

$$\begin{aligned} \left( \left\| x_{i}(t) \right\| + \left\| \dot{x}_{i}(t) \right\| \right) e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leqslant m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} M_{i} e^{\int_{t_{1}-\Delta(t_{1})}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1}) \left[ \left\| x_{j} \left( t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1}) \right) \right\| \right] \\ &+ \left\| \dot{x}_{j} \left( t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1}) \right) \right\| \left] e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t-\Delta(t)} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} + e^{\int_{t_{0}-\Delta(t)}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\times \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t) \left[ \left\| x_{j} \left( t - \Delta(t) \right) \right\| \right\| \dot{x}_{j} \left( t - \Delta(t) \right) \right\| \left] e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t-\Delta(t)} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \\ &\leqslant m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} K_{i} m_{i} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1}) \left\| x_{j} \left( t_{1} - \Delta(t_{1}) \right) \right\| \right] \\ &+ K_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t) \left[ \left\| x_{j} \left( t - \Delta(t) \right) \right\| \\ &+ \left\| \dot{x}_{i} \left( t - \Delta(t) \right) \right\| \right] e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t-\Delta t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi} \\ \end{bmatrix} dt. \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.10.8)$$

Let

$$u_{i}(t) = \sup_{t_{0} - \Delta \leqslant t_{1} \leqslant t} \{ \|x_{i}(t_{1})\| + \|\dot{x}_{i}(t_{1})\| \} e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t} \alpha_{i}(\xi) d\xi},$$

where  $x_i(t) = \Phi_i(t), \dot{x}_i(t) = \dot{\Phi}_i(t), t_0 - \Delta \leq t_1 \leq t_0$ . Then, we have

$$(\|x_{i}(t)\| + \|\dot{x}_{i}(t)\|)e^{\int_{t_{0}}^{t}\alpha_{i}(\xi)\,d\xi} \leq m_{i}\|\Phi_{i}(t_{0})\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t}m_{i}K_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{r}g_{ij}(t_{1})u_{j}(t_{1})\,dt_{1} + K\sum_{j=1}^{r}\tilde{g}_{ij}u_{j}(t).$$

$$(8.10.9)$$

Since the right-hand side of (8.10.9) is a monotone nondecreasing function of t, we obtain

$$u_{i}(t) \leq m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} m_{i}k_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1})u_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} + K \sum_{j=1}^{r} \tilde{g}_{ij}u_{j}(t).$$
(8.10.10)

Further, because of the right-hand side of (8.10.10) being nonnegative, we have

$$u_{i}(t) \leq m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1}$$

$$+ \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} m_{i} K_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1}) u_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1}$$

$$+ \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} K_{i} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq i}}^{r} \tilde{g}_{ij} u_{j}(t).$$
(8.10.11)

Consider the following integral equation:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}_{i}(t) &= m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} \\ &+ \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} m_{i} K_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1}) \tilde{u}_{j}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &+ \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} K_{i} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq i}}^{r} \tilde{g}_{ij} \tilde{u}_{j}(t) \\ &:= L(\tilde{u}). \end{split}$$
(8.10.12)

We prove that on any finite interval  $[t_0, T]$ , the solutions of the integral inequality system (8.10.11) and the integral equation (8.10.12), with the same initial value,

satisfy

$$u_i(t) \leq \tilde{u}_i(t)$$

Due to the condition in the theorem,  $\rho(\Omega) < 1$ , integral operator L(u) is essentially a contraction operator, and thus the following iteration

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}_{i}^{(0)}(t) &= m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1}, \\ \tilde{u}_{i}^{(m)}(t) &= m_{i} \left\| \Phi_{i}(t_{0}) \right\| \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} \\ &+ (1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii})^{-1} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} m_{i} K_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1}) \tilde{u}_{j}^{(m-1)}(t_{1}) dt_{1} \\ &+ \left( 1 - K_{i} \tilde{g}_{ii} \right)^{-1} K_{i} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{r} \tilde{g}_{ij} \tilde{u}_{j}^{(m-1)}(t), \quad m = 1, 2, \dots, (8.10.13) \end{split}$$

converges to some limit function  $u_i^*(t)$  (i = 1, 2, ..., r) in any finite interval  $[t_0, T]$ . This leads to the following estimation:

$$\left( \tilde{u}_1^{(m)}(t), \dots, \tilde{u}_r^{(m)}(t) \right)^T \leqslant \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \Omega^m(\sigma_{ij}) \left( \tilde{u}_1^{(0)}(t), \dots, \tilde{u}_r^{(0)}(t) \right)^T$$
  
=  $(E - \Omega)^{-1} \left( \tilde{u}_1^{(0)}(t), \dots, \tilde{u}_r^{(0)}(t) \right)^T,$ 

implying that

$$\left(u_1^*(t), \dots, u_r^*(t)\right)^T \leq (E - \Omega)^{-1} \left(\tilde{u}_1^{(0)}(t), \dots, \tilde{u}_r^{(0)}(t)\right)^T.$$
 (8.10.14)

On the interval  $[t_0, T]$ , in principle, one can repeatedly employ varying step sizes to transform the neutral system (8.10.11) into several corresponding ordinary differential systems and then to solve the IVP (initial value problem) of these differential systems. The ordinary differential equations deduced from the conditions of the theorem will take some linear ordinary differential equations as their control equations. Therefore, they have lower limit on  $[t_0, T]$ , and thus we may take

$$\sup_{t_o \leqslant t \leqslant T} \left\{ u_i(t) - u_i^{(0)}(t) \right\} := N_i < +\infty.$$

It follows from (8.10.11) and (8.10.13) that

$$u_{i}(t) - \tilde{u}_{i}^{(1)} \leq \left(1 - K_{i}\tilde{g}_{ii}\right)^{-1} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} m_{i}K_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{r} g_{ij}(t_{1})u_{j}\left(t_{1} - u_{j}^{(0)}(t_{1})\right) dt_{1}$$

Chapter 8. Dynamical Systems with Time Delay

$$+ (1 - K_{i}\tilde{g}_{ii})^{-1}K_{i}\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{r}\tilde{g}_{ij}[u_{j}(t) - u_{j}^{(0)}(t)]$$

$$\leq (1 - K_{i}\tilde{g}_{ii})^{-1}\int_{t_{0}}^{t}m_{i}K_{i}\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{r}g_{ij}(t_{1})N_{j}dt_{1}$$

$$+ (1 - K_{i}\tilde{g}_{ii})^{-1}K_{i}\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{r}\tilde{g}_{ij}N_{i}$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{r}\sigma_{ij}N_{j}.$$
(8.10.15)

So,  $(u_1(t) - \tilde{u}_1^{(1)}(t), \dots, u_r(t) - \tilde{u}_r^{(1)}(t))^T \leq \Omega(N_1, N_2, \dots, N_r)^T$ . Thus, we can apply the method of mathematical induction to show that

$$\left(u_{1}(t)-\tilde{u}_{1}^{(m)}(t),\ldots,u_{r}(t)-\tilde{u}_{r}^{(m)}(t)\right)^{T} \leq \Omega^{(m)}(N_{1},N_{2},\ldots,N_{r})^{T}.$$

Since  $\rho(\Omega) < 1$ , we have  $\lim_{n\to\infty} \Omega^n = 0$ . When  $[t_0, T]$  is determined,  $N_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., r) are fixed. Thus,

$$\left(u_1(t) - \tilde{u}_1^*(t), \dots, u_r(t) - \tilde{u}_r^*(t)\right)^T = 0.$$
(8.10.16)

Since  $[t_0, T]$  is an arbitrarily finite interval, (8.10.16) holds on  $[t_0, \infty]$ . This indicates that

$$(u_1(t), u_2(t), \dots, u_r(t))^T \leq (u_1^*(t), u_2^*(t), \dots, u_r^*(t))^T \leq (E - \Omega)^{-1} (u_1^{(0)}(t), u_2^{(0)}(t), \dots, u_r^{(0)}(t))^T,$$

from which we obtain

$$\left( \left\| x_1(t) \right\| + \left\| \dot{x}_1(t) \right\|, \dots, \left\| x_r(t) \right\| + \left\| \dot{x}_r(t) \right\| \right)^T \leq (E - \Omega)^{-1} \operatorname{col} \left( u_1^{(0)}(t) e^{\int_{t_0}^t \alpha_1(\xi) \, d\xi}, \dots, u_r^{(0)}(t) e^{-\int_{t_0}^t \alpha_r(\xi) \, d\xi} \right).$$
(8.10.17)

Obviously, the last inequality (8.10.17) implies that the trivial solution of (8.10.11) is asymptotically stable on  $C^1$ .

#### 8.11. Algebraic methods for GLNS with constant coefficients

Consider the following general linear neutral system (GLNS) with constant coefficients:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[x(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k x(t - \gamma_k, r)\right] = A_0 x_t + \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k x(t - \gamma_k r), \qquad (8.11.1)$$

where  $B_k$  is an  $n \times n$  real matrix, while all the other notations are the same as that defined in (8.7.1).

To study the stability of system (8.11.1), we first consider difference system

$$x(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k x(t - \gamma_k r) = 0.$$
(8.11.2)

The characteristic equation of (8.11.2) is

$$e(\lambda, r, B) := \det\left[I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k e^{-\lambda \gamma_k r}\right] = 0.$$

DEFINITION 8.11.1. (See [155].) System (8.11.2) is said to be uniformly asymptotically stable about (r, B) if

$$\left\{\operatorname{Re}\lambda:\ e(\lambda,r,B)=0\right\}\cap\left[-\delta,+\infty\right]=\emptyset,\tag{8.11.3}$$

where  $\delta > 0$  is a constant. Equation (8.11.3) means that the eigenvalue of (8.11.2) Re  $\lambda \leq -\delta < 0$ .

DEFINITION 8.11.2. (See [155].) System (8.11.2) is said to be locally asymptotically stable about  $(r^0, B)$ , if there exists a neighborhood of  $r^0$ ,  $U(r^0)$ , such that  $\forall r \in U(r^0)$ , system (8.11.2) is asymptotically stable about *B*. If for every  $r \in (R^+)^M$ , (8.11.2) is asymptotically stable about (r, B), then system (8.11.2) is said to be globally asymptotically stable about *B*.

It should be noted that the above definitions of asymptotic stability and global asymptotic stability are different from those of Lyapunov stabilities.

Now we discuss how to determine these stabilities. Let

$$\eta_{ij} := \begin{cases} -\sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ii}^{(k)}|, & i = j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -\sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ij}^{(k)}|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$
(8.11.4)

THEOREM 8.11.3. If  $(\eta_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix, then (8.11.2) is globally asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.**  $\forall \mu(\theta), |\mu(\theta)| \ge 1$ , we obtain

$$\left| \mu(\theta) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} b_{ii} e^{i\gamma_k \theta} \right| \ge \left| \mu(\theta) \right| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ii}^{(k)} \right| \ge 1 - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ii}^{(k)} \right| > 0.$$

According to Lemmas 8.7.4 and 8.7.5 we have

$$\det\left[\mu(\theta)I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k e^{i\gamma_k\theta}\right] \neq 0,$$

which shows that the difference system (8.11.2) is globally asymptotically stable about *B*.  $\Box$ 

#### COROLLARY 8.11.4. If

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ij}^{(k)} \right| < 1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

or

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ij}^{(k)} \right| < 1, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

then system (8.11.2) is globally asymptotically stable about B.

In the following, when we discuss the stability of the neutral system (8.11.1), we always assume that (8.11.2) is uniformly asymptotically stable.

Now, we study the stability of the neutral system (8.11.1). The characteristic equation of (8.11.1) is

$$g(\lambda, r, A, B) := \det \left[ \lambda \left( I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k e^{-\lambda \gamma_k r} \right) - A_0 - \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k e^{-\lambda \gamma_k r} \right] = 0, \qquad (8.11.5)$$

where  $A = (A_0, A_1, ..., A_N)$  and  $B = (B_1, ..., B_N)$ .

DEFINITION 8.11.5. (See [155].) System (8.11.1) is said to be uniformly asymptotically stable about (r, A, B), if

$$\left\{\operatorname{Re}\lambda: g(\lambda, r, A, B) = 0\right\} \cap \left[-\delta, +\infty\right] = \emptyset.$$
(8.11.6)

DEFINITION 8.11.6. (See [155].) For a given  $r^0 \in (R^+)^M$ ,

$$S_{r^0} = \left\{ (A, B) \in \mathbb{R}^{n^2(N+1)} \times \mathbb{R}^{n^2(N+1)}, \text{ system } (8.11.1) \text{ is} \\ \text{asymptotically stable about } (r, A, B) \text{ for every } r = \alpha r^0, \alpha \ge 0 \right\}$$

is called asymptotically stable cone about  $r^0$ .

Let

$$S = \bigcap_{r} S_r \tag{8.11.7}$$

be an asymptotically stable cone.

LEMMA 8.11.7. (See [155].) For system (8.11.1), the necessary and sufficient conditions for  $(A, B) \in S_r$  are

(1)

$$\operatorname{Re}\left[\left(I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_{k}\right)^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} A_{k}\right] < 0;$$
(8.11.8)

(2)

 $g(iy, \alpha, r, A, B) \neq 0 \quad for all \ y \in R, \ y \neq 0, \ \alpha \ge 0. \tag{8.11.9}$ 

Similar to Lemma 8.7.1, the idea of Lemma 8.11.7 is simple and the proof is omitted.

Let

$$\sigma_{ij} := \begin{cases} |a_{ij}^{0} + iy| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ii}^{(k)} iy| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ii}^{(k)}|, \\ i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ -\sum_{k=1}^{N} |iyb_{ij}^{(k)}| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ij}^{(k)}|, \\ i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$

$$(8.11.10)$$

$$\eta(\eta_{ij}) := \left[ \left( I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k \right)^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k \right], \tag{8.11.11}$$

$$\tilde{\eta}_{ii} := \begin{cases} -\delta_{ij}, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -|\delta_{ij}|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$
(8.11.12)

THEOREM 8.11.8. (See [280].) If for all  $y \in R$ ,  $\alpha \ge 0$ , and  $\sigma(\sigma_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an M matrix, in addition,  $(\tilde{\eta}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is also an M matrix, then  $(A, B) \in S_r$ , i.e., system (8.11.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. According to the condition of the theorem, and Lemmas 8.7.4 and 8.11.7, it is easy to prove that

$$g(iy, \alpha\gamma, A, B) := \det\left[iy\left(I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k e^{-iy_k\alpha\gamma}\right) - A_0\right]$$

$$-\sum_{k=1}^{N}A_{k}e^{-iY_{r_{k}}\alpha\gamma}\right]\neq0$$

for all  $\alpha \ge 0$  and  $y \in R$ . Thus condition (2) in Lemma 8.11.1 is satisfied. Since  $\tilde{\eta}(\tilde{\eta}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix,  $\eta(\eta_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is stable. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda\left(\left(I-\sum_{k=1}^{N}B_{k}\right)^{-1}\sum_{k=1}^{N}A_{k}\right)<0,$$
(8.11.13)

which indicates that Condition (1) in Lemma 8.11.7 holds, so  $(A, B) \in S_r$ .  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY 8.11.9. If any of the following conditions is satisfied:

$$\left|-a_{ii}^{(0)}-iy\right| > \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left|b_{ij}^{(k)}iy\right| + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left|a_{ij}^{(k)}\right| + \sum_{j=1, j\neq 1}^{n} \left|a_{ij}^{(0)}\right|;$$

(2)

$$-\eta_{ii} > \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{n} |\eta_{ij}^{(0)}|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

then  $(A, B) \in S_r$ , so system (8.11.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. It is easy to verify that the conditions in Lemma 8.11.7 are satisfied. □
COROLLARY 8.11.10. *If any of the following conditions is satisfied:*(1) *both*

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} |a_{ii}^{(0)}| > \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ij}^{(k)}| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{n} |a_{ij}^{(0)}| \quad and \quad \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} > \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ij}^{(k)}|$$

hold;

(2) condition (2) in Corollary 8.11.9 is satisfied;

then  $(A, B) \in S_r$ , so system (8.11.1) is globally stable.

PROOF. Since

$$\left|-a_{ii}^{(0)}+iy\right| = \sqrt{\left(a_{ii}^{(0)}\right)^2 + y^2} \ge \frac{|a_{ii}^{(0)}|}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{|iy|}{\sqrt{2}}$$

8.11. Algebraic methods for GLNS with constant coefficients

$$> \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ij}^{(k)} iy \right| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{ij}^{(k)} \right| + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} \left| a_{ij}^{(0)} \right|, \quad (8.11.14)$$

all the conditions in Corollary 8.11.9 are satisfied. Thus, the conclusion of Corollary 8.11.10 is true.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Let

$$\begin{aligned} (\xi_{ij})_{n \times n} &:= -\left(I - \sum_{k=1}^{N} B_k s_1^{\gamma k_1}, \dots, s_m^{\gamma k_m}\right)^{-1} \\ &\times \left(A_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} A_k s_1^{\gamma k_1}, \dots, s_m^{\gamma k_m}\right), \\ \tilde{\xi}_{ij} &= \begin{cases} |\xi_{ij}|, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -|\xi_{ij}|, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we can prove the following

THEOREM 8.11.11. (See [280].) If system (8.11.11) satisfies that

- (1) all the conditions in Theorem 8.11.3 hold;
- (2)  $(\xi_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an M matrix;
- (3)  $(\tilde{\eta}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix;

then  $(A, B) \in S$ , and so system (8.11.1) is globally stable.

J. Hale [155] once raised a question: Is the asymptotically stable cone of the neutral system (8.11.1) convex? In general, the answer is no. Here is a counter example.

EXAMPLE 8.11.12. Consider the following scalar function:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(x(t) + Bx(t - \tau)) = A_0 x(t) + A_1 x(t - \tau),$$
  

$$N = 1, \ n = 2, \ x \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$
(8.11.15)

Take

$$B^{(1)} = \begin{bmatrix} 1/2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A^{(1)}_0 = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 0 \\ 4 & -2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A^{(1)}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 6 & -1 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$B^{(2)} = \begin{bmatrix} 1/3 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/3 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A^{(2)}_0 = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 4 \\ 0 & -2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A^{(2)}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 6 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

It is easy to verify that  $(A_0^{(1)}, A_1^{(1)}, B^{(1)}) \in S$  and  $(A_0^{(2)}, A_1^{(2)}, B^{(2)}) \in S$ .
Further, choose  $r = \frac{1}{2}$ . Then, we have

$$B = rB^{(1)} + (1 - r)B^{(2)} = \frac{5}{12}I,$$
  

$$A_0 = rA_0^{(1)} + (1 - r)A_0^{(2)} = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 2\\ 2 & -2 \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$A_1 = rA_1^{(1)} + (1 - r)A_1^{(2)} = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 3\\ 3 & -2 \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda[(I - B)^{-1}(A_0 + A_1)] = \operatorname{Re}\lambda\begin{bmatrix} -\frac{60}{7} & \frac{75}{7}\\ \frac{75}{7} & -\frac{60}{7} \end{bmatrix} \neq 0.$$

This shows that  $(AB) \notin S$ , and so S is not a convex set.

To prove that the asymptotically stable cone of the neutral system (8.11.1) is convex, more conditions are needed.

THEOREM 8.11.13. (See [280].) For the scalar neutral function:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[x(t) - \sum_{k=1}^{N} b_k x(t - \gamma_k)\right] = a_0 x(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k x(t - \gamma_k), \quad (8.11.16)$$

S is a convex set.

**PROOF.** It is known [154] that  $(a, b) \in S$ , if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

(1)  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_k| < 1$ , (2)  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} a_k < 0$  and  $\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_k| \leq |a_0|$ .

Choose  $a_i^{(j)}$  and  $b_i^{(j)}$  (i = 1, 2, ..., N, j = 1, 2) to satisfy conditions (1) and (2). Then,  $a_0^{(j)} < 0$ , and for  $0 \le r \le 1$  we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| rb_{k}^{(1)} + (1-r)b_{k}^{(2)} \right| \leq r \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{k}^{(1)} \right| + (1-r) \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{k}^{(2)} \right|$$
$$\leq \max \left[ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{k}^{(1)} \right|, \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{k}^{(2)} \right| \right]$$
$$< 1,$$
$$\sum_{k=0}^{N} ra_{k}^{(1)} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} (1-r)a_{k}^{(2)} = r \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{k}^{(1)} + (1-r) \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_{k}^{(2)}$$
$$< 0,$$

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=0}^{N} & \left| ra_{k}^{(1)} + (1-r)a_{k}^{(2)} \right| \leqslant r \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{k}^{(1)} \right| + (1-r) \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{k}^{(1)} \right| \\ & \leqslant \left| ra_{0}^{(1)} \right| + (1-r) \left| a_{0}^{(2)} \right| \\ & = \left| ra_{0}^{(1)} + (1-r)a_{0}^{(2)} \right|. \end{split}$$

These conditions imply that *S* is convex.

THEOREM 8.11.14. (See [280].) Assume in system (8.11.1) that  $B_k := \text{diag}(b_{11}^{(k)}, \dots, b_{nn}^{(k)})$  which satisfy

(1)  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ii}^{(k)}| < 1, i = 1, 2, ..., n;$ (2)  $a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n, and$  $|a_{ii}^{(0)}| > \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ii}^{(k)}| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |a_{ij}^{(0)}|, i = 1, 2, ..., n.$ 

These conditions mean that  $S_1$  includes all (A, B) that satisfies conditions (1) and (2). Thus,  $(A, B) \in S_1 \subset S$  and  $S_1$  is convex.

PROOF. Let

$$\mu_{ij} := \begin{cases} \frac{1}{1 - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ii}^{(k)}|} \left( \left| a_{ii}^{(0)} \right| - \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{ii}^{(k)} \right| \right), \\ i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -\frac{1}{1 - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ii}^{(k)}|} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{N} \left| a_{ij}^{(k)} \right| \right), \\ i \neq j, \ i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

$$(8.11.17)$$

From conditions (1), (2), and Lemmas 8.7.1 and 8.11.7, it is easy to prove that  $S_1 \subset S$ . So, we only prove that  $S_1$  is convex.

For  $(A^{(1)}, B^{(1)}) \in S_1$  and  $(A^{(2)}, B^{(2)}) \in S_1$ , let

$$\begin{split} (A, B) &:= \left(\gamma A^{(1)} + (1 - \lambda) A^{(2)}, \gamma B^{(1)} + (1 - \gamma) B^{(2)}\right), \quad 0 \leqslant \gamma \leqslant 1, \\ \tilde{\mu}_{ii} &:= \begin{cases} \frac{|\gamma a_{ii}^{(1.0)} + (1 - \gamma) a_{ii}^{(2.0)}| - (\sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma a_{ii}^{(1.k)} + (1 - \gamma) a_{ii}^{(2.k)}|)}{1 - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma b_{ii}^{(1.k)} + (1 - \gamma) b_{ii}^{(2.k)}|}, \\ i, j = 1, \dots, n, \\ \frac{-(\sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma a_{ij}^{(1.k)} + (1 - \gamma) a_{ij}^{(2.k)}|)}{1 - \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma b_{ii}^{(2.k)} + (1 - \gamma) b_{ii}^{(2.k)}|}, \\ i \neq j, i, j = 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$

$$(8.11.18)$$

385

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| \gamma b_{ii}^{(1,k)} + (1-\gamma) b_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right| \leq \gamma \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ii}^{(1,k)} \right| + (1-\gamma),$$
  
$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right| \leq \max\left( \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ii}^{(1,k)} \right|, \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| b_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right| \right) < 1.$$
(8.11.19)

Since  $a_{ii}^{(1,0)} < 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ , we have

$$\gamma a_{ii}^{(1,0)} + (1-\gamma)a_{ii}^{(2,0)} < 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |\gamma a_{ii}^{(1,0)} + (1-\gamma)a_{ii}^{(2,0)}| &= \gamma |a_{ii}^{(1,0)}| + (1-\gamma)|a_{ii}^{(2,0)}| \\ &> \gamma \left[ \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ii}^{(1,k)}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ij}^{(1,k)}| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |a_{ij}^{(1,0)}| \right] \\ &\geqslant \sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma a_{ii}^{(1,k)}| + (1-\gamma)|a_{ii}^{(2,k)}| \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |\gamma a_{ij}^{(1,0)}| + (1-\gamma)|a_{ij}^{(2,0)}|. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the conditions in Theorem 8.11.11 are satisfied, and so  $S_1$  is convex.  $\square$ 

THEOREM 8.11.15. (See [280].) Assume that  $B_k := \text{diag}(b_{11}^{(k)}, \dots, b_{nn}^{(k)}), k =$  $1, 2, \ldots, N, and$ 

- (1)  $\sum_{k=1}^{N} |b_{ii}^{(k)}| < 1, i = 1, 2, ..., n;$ (2)  $a_{ii}^{(0)} < 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n, and <math>(\mu_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a symmetric positive definite matrix.

Then  $(A, B) \subset S_2 \subset S$  and  $S_2$  is convex.

PROOF. By employing a similar method as that used in Theorem 8.11.14, it is easy to prove that  $S_2 \subset S$ . We thus only prove that  $S_2$  is convex.  $\forall (A^{(1)}, B^{(1)}) \in S_2, (A^{(2)}, B^{(2)}) \in S_2$ , consider

$$(A, B) = (\gamma A^{(1)} + (1 - \lambda)A^{(2)}, \gamma B^{(1)} + (1 - \gamma)B^{(2)}).$$

Choose (8.11.18), so (8.11.19) holds and condition (1) in Theorem 8.11.15 is satisfied.

Since 
$$a_{ii}^{(j,0)} < 0$$
, we have  

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \gamma a_{ii}^{(1,0)} + (1-\gamma) a_{ii}^{(2,0)} \right| - \left| \gamma a_{ii}^{(1,0)} + (1-\gamma) a_{ii}^{(2,0)} \right| \\ &- \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| \gamma a_{ii}^{(1,k)} + (1-\gamma) a_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right| \\ &\geqslant \gamma \left| a_{ii}^{(1,0)} \right| + (1-\gamma) \left| a_{ii}^{(2,0)} \right| - \gamma \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{ii}^{(1,k)} \right| - (1-\gamma) \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right|, \\ &\gamma \mu_{ij}^{(1)} &\coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{\gamma \left| a_{ii}^{(1,0)} \right| - \gamma \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| a_{ii}^{(1,k)} \right| \\ \frac{1-\sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| \gamma b_{ii}^{(1,k)} + (1-\gamma) b_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right|, \\ \frac{-\gamma \sum_{k=0}^{N} \left| a_{ii}^{(1,k)} \right| }{1-\sum_{k=1}^{N} \left| \gamma b_{ii}^{(1,k)} + (1-\gamma) b_{ii}^{(2,k)} \right|, \end{cases} \quad i \neq j, \ i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$(1-\gamma)\mu_{ij}^{(2)} := \begin{cases} \frac{(1-\gamma)|a_{ii}^{(2)}| - (1-\gamma)\sum_{k=1}^{N} |a_{ii}^{(2,k)}|}{1-\sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma b_{ii}^{(1,k)} + (1-\gamma)b_{ii}^{(2,k)}|}, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{(1-\gamma)\sum_{k=0}^{N} |a_{ij}^{(2,k)}|}{1-\sum_{k=1}^{N} |\gamma b_{ii}^{(1,k)} + (1-\gamma)b_{ii}^{(2,k)}|}, & i \neq j, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Since  $(\mu_{ij}^{(1)})$  and  $(\mu_{ij}^{(2)})$  are symmetric and positive definite for  $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$\left(\gamma \mu_{ij}^{(1)}\right), \quad \left((1-\gamma)\mu_{ij}^{(2)}\right) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\gamma \mu_{ij}^{(1)}+(1-\gamma)\left(\mu_{ij}^{(2)}\right)\right)$$

are all symmetric and positive definite. Thus  $S_2$  is convex.

387

This page intentionally left blank

## **Absolute Stability of Nonlinear Control Systems**

The automatic control theory was originally motivated by the stability analysis of Watt centrifugal governor by Maxwell. In early 1940s, the former Soviet Union scholars Lurie, Postnikov and others developed method to deal with a class of nonlinear systems, now called nonlinear isolate method. Lurie and his co-workers studied many real control systems, including the Bulgakov problem of aircraft automatic control. They first isolated the nonlinear part from the system and considered it as a feedback control of the system so that the system has a closed-loop form. Thus, the well-known Lurie problem was proposed, which initiated the research on the robust control and robust stability for nondeterministic systems or multivalued differential equations. It promoted the application and development of stability theory.

This chapter introduces the background of Lurie problem, the methodology for solving Lurie problem, and in particular present three classical methods for studying absolute stability—the Lyapunov–Lurie type V-function method (i.e., the V function containing integrals and quadric form), the S-program method, and Popov frequency-domain criteria. Main attention is given to sufficient and necessary conditions for absolute stability and some simple algebraic sufficient conditions.

The materials presented in this chapter include both classical results and new results obtained recently. Details can be found from [368] for Section 9.1, [403, 346] for Section 9.2, [456,458] for Section 9.3, [337,350,451,452] for Section 9.4, [239] for Section 9.5, [246] for Section 9.6, [247,242] for Section 9.7, [255,282] for Section 9.8, [271] for Section 9.9, [261] for Section 9.10 and [285] for Section 9.11.

# 9.1. The principal of centrifugal governor and general Lurie systems

First we introduce the centrifugal governor, as shown in Figure 9.1.1, which is the earliest example of Lurie control system. The work principal of the centrifugal



Figure 9.1.1. Centrifugal governor model.

governor is described as follows. The angle velocity of the generator,  $\omega$ , is measured by the centrifugal governor. The centrifugal governor is connected to the server 4 through the level 2 and the sliding valve 3. The server 4 makes the regulator 5 move so that the generator is rotating with a constant speed. When the load of the generator is reducing and so the speed of the generator is increasing, the governor sleeve is moving up to raise the sliding valve via the level. Thus, high pressure gasoline enters the upper part of the server cylinder, and the gasoline left in the lower part of the cylinder is drained off through the lower narrow passage. Therefore, the piston descends to move the regulator to reduce the amount of gasoline and so the angle velocity of the generator is reduced. On the other hand, when the speed of the generator is below the normal speed, the server moves up to adjust the regulator to increase the amount of gasoline. Thus, the speed of the generator increases. Due to the negative feedback of the centrifugal governor, the generator's angle velocity can be kept in a constant value. As we know, a generator is usually working in the environment that the end-users' loads are frequently varying. If the generator cannot be kept in a constant angle velocity, the users will not have a constant currency, which could cause damage or even disaster.

Now, we consider the mathematical model of the centrifugal governor. The differential equation of motion of the generator is

$$J\frac{d\Delta\omega}{dt} = k_1\Delta\omega + k_2\Delta L,$$

where J is the angular inertia,  $\Delta \omega$  is the increment of the angular velocity,  $\Delta L$  is the position increment of the regulator, and  $k_1$  and  $k_2$  are the rates of the changes of the moments per unit.

The dynamic equation of motion for the centrifugal activator is given by

$$M\frac{d^2\Delta Z}{dt^2} + C\frac{d\Delta z}{dt} = F_1\Delta\omega + F_2\Delta z,$$

where *M* is the generalized mass, *C* is the damping coefficient,  $\Delta Z$  is the measurement of the position change of the governor sleeve,  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  denote the generalized forces per unit, respectively, for  $\omega$  and *Z*.

The equation of motion for the server is

$$A\frac{d\Delta L}{dt} = f(\Delta s)$$

where A is the cross-area of the governor cylinder,  $\Delta s$  is the amount of change of the sliding valve,  $f(\Delta s)$  is the quantity of gasoline entering into the cylinder per unit time. The nonlinear function f is determined by the shape of the sliding valve. In general, it is difficulty to know the exact form of function f.

The kinematics of the feedback lever is

$$\Delta s = a\Delta Z - b\Delta L,$$

where *a* and *b* are constants.

The above four equations can be transformed to the following dimensionless equations:

$$\begin{cases} a_1\varphi + a_2\varphi = -\mu, \\ b_1\eta + b_2\eta + b_3\eta = \varphi, \\ \dot{\mu} = f(\sigma), \\ \sigma = c_1\eta - c_2\mu, \end{cases}$$

where  $\varphi$ ,  $\eta$ ,  $\mu$ ,  $\sigma$  are, respectively, the variables proportional to  $\Delta \omega$ ,  $\Delta Z$ ,  $\Delta L$ ,  $\Delta s$ , while  $\sigma$  is the control signal which determines the amount of the gasoline entering into the cylinder.

Let  $\varphi = x_1, \eta = x_2, \frac{d\eta}{dt} = x_3, \mu = x_4$ . Then, the above equations can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -\frac{a_2}{a_1}x_1 - \frac{1}{a_1}x_4, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = x_3, \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} = \frac{1}{b_1}x_1 - \frac{b_3}{b_1}x_2 - \frac{b_2}{b_1}x_3 \\ \frac{dx_4}{dt} = f(\sigma), \\ \sigma = c_1x_1 - c_2x_2. \end{cases}$$

When the generator is working in normal condition, we have  $x_1 = x_2 = x_3 = x_4 = 0$  which is the equilibrium position of the system, which required to be kept globally stable.

Next, we introduce the Lurie type nonlinear control system [295–297], i.e., the so-called Lurie problem and its mathematical description. Around 1944, the former Soviet Union mathematical control scholar, A.I. Lurie, based on the study of aircraft automatic control system, proposed a control model, described by the following general differential equations:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + bf(\sigma), \\ \sigma = c^T x = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i x_i, \end{cases}$$
(9.1.1)

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state variable,  $b, c \in \mathbb{R}^n$  are known vectors,  $\sigma$  is the feedback control variable,  $f(\sigma)$  is a nonlinear function. The form of f is not specified, but it is known that it belongs to some type of functions  $F_{[0,k]}$ ,  $F_{[0,k)}$ , or  $F_{\infty}$ . Here,

$$F_{[0,k]} := \{ f \mid f(0) = 0, \ 0 < \sigma f(\sigma) \le k\sigma^2, \ \sigma \neq 0, \ f \text{ continuous} \}; \\F_{[0,k]} := \{ f \mid f(0) = 0, \ 0 < \sigma f(\sigma) < k\sigma^2, \ \sigma \neq 0, \ f \text{ continuous} \}; \\F_{\infty} := \{ f \mid f(0) = 0, \ \sigma f(\sigma) > 0, \ \sigma \neq 0, \ f \text{ continuous} \}.$$

Many practical nonlinear feedback control problems can be described by system (9.1.1), but the form of f is usually not known. Partial information about f may be obtained from experiments. However, experiments can only be carried out under specific loads, and thus f depends upon the leads. Usually one only knows that f belongs to  $F_{[0,k]}$ ,  $F_{[0,k]}$ , or  $F_{\infty}$ . No any other information is available in practice. So strictly speaking, system (9.1.1) is indefinite or is called a multiple valued system.

The classification of system (9.1.1) is given follows:

- (1) If A is a Hurwitz matrix, (9.1.1) is called direct control system.
- (2) If *A* has only one zero eigenvalue, and others have negative real parts, (9.1.1) is called indirect control system.
- (3) If Re λ(A) ≤ 0 and it does not belong to indirect control, then (9.1.1) is called critical control system.

DEFINITION 9.1.1. The zero solution of system (9.1.1) is said to be absolutely stable, if for any  $f \in F_{\infty}$ , the zero solution of (9.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable. The zero solution of (9.1.1) is said to be absolutely stable in the Hurwitz angle [0, k], ([0, k)), if  $\forall f \in F_{[0,k]}$   $(f \in F_{[0,k]})$  the zero solution of (9.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

In the following, we introduce some frequently used necessary conditions for the zero solution of system (9.1.1) to be absolutely stable.

THEOREM 9.1.2. If the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable, then one of the following conditions must hold:

- (1)  $\forall \varepsilon > 0 \ (0 < \varepsilon < k), A + \varepsilon b c^T$  is a Hurwitz matrix;
- (2) Re  $\lambda(A) \leq 0$ , *i.e.*, *A* has no eigenvalues with positive real parts;
- (3)  $c^T b \leq 0$ ;
- (4) if A is stable, then  $c^T A^{-1}b \ge 0$ .

PROOF. (1) Let  $f(\sigma) = \varepsilon \sigma = \varepsilon c^T x$ . Then the first equation of (9.1.1) becomes

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \left(A + \varepsilon b c^T\right) x,\tag{9.1.2}$$

whose zero solution is asymptotically stable. So  $A + \varepsilon bc^T$  is a Hurwitz matrix.

(2) Suppose there exists an eigenvalue  $\lambda_0$  with  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_0(A) > 0$ . By taking  $f(\sigma) = \varepsilon \sigma$  ( $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ ), the eigenvalues of  $A + \varepsilon b c^T$  depend continuously on the coefficients. For  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ , the coefficient matrix (9.1.2) must have an eigenvalue  $\lambda_0$  with  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda_0 > 0$ . This is a contradiction with the fact that the zero solution of (9.1.1) is absolutely stable. So  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ .

(3) Let  $f(\sigma) = h\sigma$ . Then system (9.1.1) becomes  $\frac{dx}{dt} = (A + hbc^T)x$ . So the trace of the matrix  $A + hbc^T$  satisfies

$$tr(A + hbc^{T}) = tr A + h tr bc^{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii} + h \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}b_{i} < 0.$$

But when  $c^T b > 0$ , for  $h \gg 1$ , it follows

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii} + h \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i b_i > 0.$$

which is impossible, showing that  $c^T b \leq 0$ .

(4) We first verify the identity of the linear algebraic equation:

 $\det(I + GH) = \det(I + HG),$ 

where G and H are arbitrary matrices for which GH and HG exist, The unit matrices on both sides of the equation can be in different order. Then,

$$det(I + GH) = det \begin{bmatrix} I + GH & 0 \\ H & I \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= det \left( \begin{bmatrix} I & G \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I & -G \\ H & I \end{bmatrix} \right)$$
$$= det \left( \begin{bmatrix} I & -G \\ H & I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I & G \\ 0 & I \end{bmatrix} \right)$$
$$= det \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ H & HG + I \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= det(I + HG).$$

Next, we prove  $c^T A^{-1}b \ge 0$ . Since A and  $A + \varepsilon b c^T$  ( $\varepsilon > 0$ ) are stable, for  $\lambda = 0$ , we have

$$\det(I\lambda - (A + \varepsilon bc^{T})) = \det(I\lambda - A) \det[I - \varepsilon(I\lambda - A)^{-1}bc^{T}]$$
$$= \det(I\lambda - A) \det[I - \varepsilon c^{T}(I\lambda - A)^{-1}b] \neq 0$$

if  $c^T A^{-1}b < 0$ . Then, there must exist  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that

$$1 - \varepsilon_0 c^T (-A)^{-1} b = 1 + \varepsilon_0 c^T A^{-1} b = 0, \qquad (9.1.3)$$

leading to a contradiction. As a result,  $c^T A^{-1} b \ge 0$ .

The proof of Theorem 9.1.2 is complete.

### 9.2. Lyapunov–Lurie type V function method

In this section, we present the sufficient conditions for absolute stability by using the Lyapunov–Lurie type V function.

Let (9.1.1) be a direct control system. That is, *A* is a Hurwitz matrix, Lurie first constructed the following Lyapunov–Lure type function:

$$V(t) = x^T P x + \beta \int_0^\sigma f(\sigma) \, d\sigma, \qquad (9.2.1)$$

for which, for any given symmetric positive matrix *B*, the Lyapunov matrix equation:

$$A^T P + PA = -B \tag{9.2.2}$$

has a unique symmetric positive matrix solution P.

THEOREM 9.2.1. (See [296].) Assume that there exist constant  $\beta \ge 0$  and an  $n \times n$  symmetric positive definite matrix such that

$$V(x) = x^T P x + \beta \int_0^\sigma f(\sigma) \, d\sigma, \qquad (9.2.3)$$

and the derivative of V along the solution of (9.1.1), given by

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.1.1)} = -x^T B x + 2 \left( P b + \frac{1}{2} \beta A^T c \right)^T x f(\sigma) + \beta c^T b f^2(\sigma), \quad (9.2.4)$$

is negative definite. Then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. For any  $f \in F_{\infty}$  (or  $f \in F_{[0,k]}$  or  $f \in F_{[0,k]}$ ), the Lyapunov function (9.2.3) is positive definite and radially unbounded. In addition to that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.1.1)}$  is negative, by the Lyapunov globally asymptotic stability theorem, the conclusion is true.  $\square$ 

Determining the negative definite propriety of (9.2.4) is a difficult problem. Equation (9.2.4) looks like a quadric form for x,  $f(\sigma)$ , but the Sylvester condition is not satisfied here. Lurie developed a method called S-program method, which can be used as a sufficient condition to determine the negative definite propriety of (9.2.4).

First, we give a lemma which is needed in the following analysis.

LEMMA 9.2.2. Given a real symmetric positive matrix:

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} K & d \\ d^T & r \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $K^T = K$ ,  $d \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{R}^1$ . Then, G is positive definite if and only if (1) K is a positive definite and  $r - d^T K^{-1} d > 0$ ; or (2) r > 0,  $K - \frac{1}{r} dd^T$ is positive definite.

PROOF. By a direct calculation, we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} I & -\frac{1}{r}d \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} K & d \\ d^T & r \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{r}d^T & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} K - \frac{1}{r}dd^T & 0 \\ 0 & r \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ -d^TK^{-1} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} K & d \\ d^T & r \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I & -K^{-1}d \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} K & 0 \\ 0 & r - d^TK^{-1}d \end{bmatrix}.$$
he conclusion is true.

So the conclusion is true.

Therefore, we can observe that the Lyapunov-Lurie function:

$$V(x) = x^T P x + \beta \int_0^t f(\sigma) \, d\sigma, \qquad (9.2.5)$$

where  $\beta > 0$  is constant and P is a symmetric positive matrix, is equivalent to

$$W(x) = x^T Q x + \int_0^t f(\sigma) d\sigma, \qquad (9.2.6)$$

where Q is a symmetric positive matrix.

It is easy to see from (9.2.5) and (9.2.6) that letting  $\beta = 1$ ,  $Q = \frac{P}{\beta}$  and so  $W(x) = \frac{V(x)}{\beta}$ , then (9.2.5) becomes (9.2.6). Therefore, in the following analysis we will use (9.2.6), instead of (9.2.5) since it has one less parameter. Now, we present Lurie's S-program method, which is a sufficient condition to assure that (9.2.4) is negative definite.  $\forall f(\sigma) \in F_{\infty}$ , we can rewrite (9.2.4) as

$$-\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.1.1)} = x^T Bx - 2\left(\frac{1}{2}c^T A + b^T P + \tau c^T\right)xf(\sigma) - c^T bf^2(\sigma) + 2\tau\sigma f(\sigma) := S(x, f) + 2\tau\sigma f(\sigma), \qquad (9.2.7)$$

where  $\tau > 0$  is a certain constant. Obviously, if

$$S(x, f) := x^{T} B x - 2 \left( \frac{1}{2} c^{T} A + b^{T} P + \tau c^{T} \right) x f(\sigma) - c^{T} b f^{2}(\sigma), \quad (9.2.8)$$

is positive definite with respect to x, f, then (9.2.4) is negative definite.

However, to determine whether S(x, f) is positive definite or not, one may use the famous Sylvester condition. The Sylvester condition holds if and only if a one-variable quadratic equation has positive solution. To be more specific, since *B* is positive definite,  $\forall x \neq 0$ , let y = Bx, then we have

$$y^{T}B^{-1}y = x^{T}B^{T}B^{-1}Bx = x^{T}BB^{-1}Bx = x^{T}Bx > 0$$
 for  $x \neq 0$ .

So  $B^{-1}$  is also positive definite. Further, since *B* is positive definite, the conditions for *S*(*x*, *f*) to be positive definite with respect to *x*, *f*( $\sigma$ ) are given by

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} B & -\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c\right) \\ -\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c\right)^{T} & -c^{T}b \end{bmatrix} > 0, \qquad (9.2.9)$$

which is equivalent to

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} B^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \det \begin{bmatrix} B & -(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c) \\ -(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c)^{T} & -c^{T}b \end{bmatrix}$$
  
$$= \det \begin{bmatrix} I & -B^{-1}(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c) \\ -(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c)^{T} & -c^{T}b \end{bmatrix}$$
  
$$= -c^{T}b - \left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c\right)^{T}B^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c\right)$$
  
$$> 0. \qquad (9.2.10)$$

Therefore, we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 9.2.3. (See [345].) If there exist symmetric positive matrix B and a positive number  $\tau$  such that

$$-c^{T}b > \left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c\right)^{T}B^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + \tau c\right),$$
(9.2.11)

then (9.2.4) is negative definite. Thus, the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

COROLLARY 9.2.4. If there exists a symmetric positive matrix B such that

$$-c^{T}b > \left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + c\right)^{T}B^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c + Pb + c\right),$$
(9.2.12)

then (9.2.4) is negative definite, and hence the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

If  $f(\sigma) \in F_{[0,k)}$ , then in (9.2.4) we can add and subtract a same term:  $2\tau f(\sigma)(\sigma - \frac{1}{k}f(\sigma))$  ( $\tau > 0$  is a constant) to obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.1.1)} = -x^T Bx + 2\left(\frac{1}{2}A^T c + Pb + \tau c\right)^T x f(\sigma) + \left(c^T b - \frac{2\tau}{k}\right) f^2(\sigma) - 2\tau f(\sigma) \left(\sigma - \frac{1}{k}f(\sigma)\right) := -S_1\left(x, f(\sigma)\right) - 2\tau f(\sigma) \left(\sigma - \frac{1}{k}f(\sigma)\right).$$
(9.2.13)

Since  $f(\sigma)(\sigma - \frac{1}{k}f(\sigma)) > 0, \forall \sigma \neq 0$ , if

$$S_1(xf(\sigma)) = x^T B x - 2\left(\frac{1}{2}A^T c + Pb + \tau c\right)^T x f(\sigma)$$
$$-\left(c^T b - \frac{2\tau}{k}\right)f^2(\sigma)$$

is positive definite for  $(x, f(\sigma))$ , then (9.2.13) is negative definite for x. Hence, the following result is obtained.

THEOREM 9.2.5. (See [345].) If there exist a symmetric positive matrix B and a constant  $\tau > 0$  such that

$$-\left(c^{T}b-\frac{2\tau}{k}\right)>\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c+Pb+\tau c\right)^{T}B^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c+Pb+\tau c\right),$$

then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k).

If  $\forall f(\sigma) \in F_{[0,k]}$ , similarly we can add and subtract a same term

$$2\tau \left[ f(\sigma) \left( \sigma - \frac{1}{k + \varepsilon} f(\sigma) \right) \right]$$

into (9.2.4) to obtain

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.1.1)} = -x^T B x + 2 \left( \frac{1}{2} A^T c + P b + \tau c \right)^T x f(\sigma)$$

Chapter 9. Absolute Stability of Nonlinear Control Systems

$$+ \left(c^{T}b - \frac{2\tau}{k+\varepsilon}\right)f^{2}(\sigma) - 2\tau f(\sigma)\left(\sigma - \frac{f(\sigma)}{k+\varepsilon}\right)$$
$$:= -S_{2}\left(x, f(\sigma)\left(\sigma - \frac{1}{k+\varepsilon}f(\sigma)\right)\right)$$
$$= -S_{2}\left(x, f(\sigma)\right) - 2\tau f(\sigma)\left(\sigma - \frac{f(\sigma)}{k+\varepsilon}\right). \tag{9.2.14}$$

So if

$$S_2(x, f) = x^T B x - 2\left(\frac{1}{2}A^T c + Pb + \tau c\right)^T x f(\sigma)$$
$$-\left(c^T b - \frac{2\tau}{k}\right) f^2(\sigma)$$

is positive definite for  $(x, f(\sigma))$ , then (9.2.14) is negative definite, leading to the following theorem.

THEOREM 9.2.6. If there exist a symmetric positive matrix B and a positive number  $\tau > 0$  such that

$$-\left(c^{T}b-\frac{2\tau}{k+\varepsilon}\right)>\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c+Pb+\tau c\right)^{T}B^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{2}A^{T}c+Pb+\tau c\right),$$

then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

The method described above is called *S*-method, which is simple and practically useful. However, note that the positive definite property is only a sufficient condition for the negative definite of  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.1.1)}$ , which is not necessary.

EXAMPLE 9.2.7. (See [458].) Consider the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -2x_1 + f(x_2), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_2 - \frac{1}{2}f(x_2). \end{cases}$$
(9.2.15)

We can show that the Lyapunov–Lurie V function exists such that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.2.15)}$  is negative definite, but there does not exist  $\tau > 0$  such that S(x, f) is positive definite.

## **9.3.** NASCs of negative definite for derivative of Lyapunov–Lurie type function

In this section, we present the necessary and sufficient conditions (NASCs) for the derivative of the following Lyapunov–Lurie type V function:

$$V(x) = x^{T} P x + \int_{0}^{t} f(\sigma) d\sigma \quad \text{(in which } \beta \text{ has been set 1)}$$
(9.3.1)

to be negative definite along the solution of system (9.1.1).

THEOREM 9.3.1. (See [456].) Let system (9.1.1) be a direct control systems. Then the derivative of (9.3.1) with respect to time t along the solution of system (9.1.1), given by

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.1.1)} = -x^T B x - \left( c^T A + 2b^T P \right) x + f(\sigma) + c^T b f^2(\sigma), \qquad (9.3.2)$$

is negative definite with respect x if and only if

- (1)  $W(x) := x^T B x (c^T A + 2b^T P) x c^T b \ge 0$  when  $c^T x = \sigma = 0$ , i.e., W(x) is positive semi-definite on hyperplane  $c^T x = \sigma = 0$ ;
- (2)  $c^T H H (A^T c + 2P^T b) \leq 0$ , where  $H^T B H = I_n$ .

The proof of the theorem is quite long and is omitted here. Interested readers can find the detailed proof in [456]. Later, Zhu [463] showed that the condition (1) in Theorem 9.3.1 is still difficult to verify. His improved result is given in the following theorem.

THEOREM 9.3.2. (See [463].) Let A be stable. Then  $\forall f \in F_{[0,k]}$ , the derivative of V given in (9.3.1),

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9,1,1)} = -x^T B x + \left( c^T A + 2b^T P \right) x f(\sigma) + c^T b f^2(\sigma),$$

is negative definite with respect to x if and only if

$$\frac{1}{k} - c^T B^{-1} d > 0, (9.3.3)$$

and

$$\frac{1}{c^T B^{-1} c} \left(\frac{1}{k} - c^T B^{-1} d\right)^2 - d^T B^{-1} d - c^T b > 0,$$
(9.3.4)

where  $d = Pb + \frac{1}{2}A^{T}c$ . Thus, when (9.3.3) and (9.3.4) hold, the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. *B* is symmetric positive definite and so is  $B^{-1}$ . In addition, there exists a matrix *H* such that  $B = H^T H$  and  $B^{-1} = H^{-1}(H^{-1})^T$ . Clearly, V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded. Equation (9.3.2) can be reduced to

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.1.1)} = x^{T}Bx - 2x^{T}\left(Pb + \frac{1}{2}Ac^{T}\right)f(\sigma) - c^{T}bf^{2}(\sigma) 
= x^{T}H^{T}Hx - 2x^{T}df(\sigma) - c^{T}bf^{2}(\sigma) 
= (Hx)^{T}(Hx) - 2(Hx)^{T}(H^{-1})^{T}df(\sigma) - c^{T}bf^{2}(\sigma) 
= [Hx - (H^{-1})^{T}df(\sigma)]^{T}[Hx - (H^{-1})^{T}df(\sigma)] 
- (d^{T}B^{-1}dc^{T}b)f^{2}(\sigma) 
= \begin{cases} 0, & \text{when } x = 0, \\ (Hx)^{T}(Hx) = x^{T}Bx > 0, & \text{when } f(\sigma) = 0, \ x \neq 0, \\ Uf^{2}(\sigma)f, \end{cases}$$
(9.3.5)

where

$$U := \left[ H \frac{x}{f(\sigma)} - (H^{-1})d \right]^{T} \left[ H \frac{c}{f(\sigma)} - (H^{-1})^{T}d \right] - (d^{T}B^{-1})d + c^{T}b.$$
(9.3.6)

Therefore, it is suffice to show that U > 0 for any  $c^T x \ge \frac{1}{k}$ . To complete the proof, we use the topological transformation:

$$y = Hx - \left(H^{-1}\right)^T d$$

to reduce U to  $U = y^T y - \rho$ , where  $\rho = d^T B^{-1} d + c^T b$ , and the condition  $c^T x \ge \frac{1}{k}$  is equivalent to

$$c^{T}H^{-1}[y + (H^{-1})^{T}d] \ge \frac{1}{k}.$$
 (9.3.7)

As a result, we only need to show that in the half space of y satisfying (9.3.7) the expression  $U = y^T y - \rho$  satisfies U > 0. It is easy to prove that for  $\rho \ge 0$ , when y = 0 we have  $U \le 0$ . Therefore, it only needs to guarantee that y = 0 is not on the half space of (9.3.7), i.e.,

$$c^{T}H^{-1}[0+(H^{-1})^{T}d] = c^{T}H^{-1}(H^{-1})^{T}d = c^{T}B^{-1}d < \frac{1}{k},$$

which is just exactly the condition (9.3.3).

Clearly, on the half space of (9.3.7) V reaches its minimum at  $y = y^*$ , i.e., at the intersection point of the hyperplane

$$c^{T}H^{-1}[y + (H^{-1})^{T}d] = \frac{1}{k},$$

and the normal line passing through the point y = 0.

Let  $y^* = \lambda (c^T H^{-1})^T$ , where  $\lambda$  is to be determined. Then the expression

$$c^T H^{-1} \left[ \lambda \left( c^T H^{-1} \right)^T d \right] = \frac{1}{k}$$

leads to

$$\lambda = \frac{\frac{1}{k} - c^T B^{-1} d}{c^T B^{-1} c}.$$

As a result, we have

$$V(y^*) = [\lambda (c^T H^{-1})^T]^T [\lambda (c^T H^{-1})^T] - P$$
  
=  $\lambda^2 c^T B^{-1} c - (d^T B^{-1} d + c^T b)$   
=  $\frac{1}{c^T B^{-1} c} (\frac{1}{k} - c^T B^{-1} d)^2 - d^T (B^{-1}) d - c^T d > 0.$ 

This is just the condition (9.3.4), and the proof of theorem is complete.

Through the proof for Theorem 9.3.2, we may find the following results.

COROLLARY 9.3.3. (See [463].) Let A be a Hurwitz matrix. Then  $\forall f(\sigma) \in F_{[0,k)}$ , the derivative of V of (9.3.1),

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.1.1)} = -x^T B x + \left( c^T A + 2b^T P \right) x f(\sigma) + c^T b f^2(\sigma),$$

is negative definite with respect to x if and only if

$$\frac{1}{k} - c^T B^{-1} d \ge 0, \tag{9.3.8}$$

$$\frac{1}{c^T B^{-1} c} \left(\frac{1}{k} - c^T B^{-1} d\right)^2 - d^T B^{-1} d - c^T b \ge 0.$$
(9.3.9)

Taking  $k \to +\infty$ , then  $\frac{1}{k} = 0$  and we have

COROLLARY 9.3.4. (See [463].) Let A be stable. Then  $\forall f(\sigma) \in F_{\infty}$ , the derivative of V of (9.3.1),

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.1.1)} = -x^T B x + \left( c^T A + 2b^T P \right) x f(\sigma) + c^T b f^2(\sigma),$$

is negative definite with respect to x if and only if

$$c^T B^{-1} d \leqslant 0, \tag{9.3.10}$$

$$\frac{1}{c^T B^{-1} c} (c^T B^{-1} d)^2 - d^T B^{-1} d - c^T b \ge 0.$$
(9.3.11)

401

 $\square$ 

### 9.4. Popov's criterion and improved criterion

THEOREM 9.4.1. (See [337].) Let A be stable. If there exists a real constant q such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+iq\omega)W(i\omega)\right\} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \omega \in [0, +\infty), \tag{9.4.1}$$

then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k], where

$$W(i\omega) := \frac{K(i\omega)}{D(i\omega)} = \frac{\det \begin{bmatrix} i\omega I_n - A & b \\ c^T & 0 \end{bmatrix}}{\det(i\omega I_n - A)}.$$
(9.4.2)

The above theorem is a well-known result. Its proof is very long and omitted here. Readers can find the details in [337,350].

THEOREM 9.4.2. Assume  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ . If there exists a real constant q such that (9.4.1) holds, then for  $\forall f(\sigma) \in F_{[\varepsilon,k]} := [f \mid 0 < \varepsilon \leq \frac{f(\sigma)}{\sigma} \leq k, \sigma \neq 0]$ , the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is globally stable. In this case, the zero solution of (9.1.1) is said to be absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle  $[\varepsilon, k]$ .

By setting  $k \to \infty$ , we easily obtain the conditions of absolute stability in Popov's absolutely stable condition within the Hurwitz angle  $[0, +\infty)$ ,  $([\varepsilon, +\infty])$  as

$$\operatorname{Re}\{(1+iq\omega)W(iw)\} > 0. \tag{9.4.3}$$

Since the frequency  $\omega$  is varied on the infinite interval  $[0, +\infty)$ , verifying these conditions is still difficult. Now, we introduce an improved criterion due to Zhang [451], which changes the infinite  $[0, +\infty)$  into a finite interval  $[0, \rho]$ . We still consider the direct control system (9.1.1).

Let

$$W(i\omega) := -c^T (i\omega I_n - A)^{-1} b := \frac{K(i\omega)}{D(i\omega)},$$
(9.4.4)

where

$$D(i\omega) := \det(i\omega I - A). \tag{9.4.5}$$

Denote

$$X(\omega) := \operatorname{Re} W(i\omega) = \frac{\operatorname{Re}\{K(i\omega)\overline{D}(i\omega)\}}{|D(i\omega)|^2}$$
(9.4.6)

$$Y(\omega) := I_m W(i\omega) = \frac{I_m \{K(i\omega)\bar{D}(i\omega)\}}{|D(i\omega)|^2} := \frac{H(\omega)}{|D(i\omega)|^2},$$
(9.4.7)

where

$$H(\omega) = h_{2n} + h_{2n-1}\omega + \dots + h_1\omega^{2n-1}.$$
(9.4.8)

According to the estimation of the boundedness of zeros of polynomials, all the zero points are located within the circle:

$$||z|| < \rho := 1 + \max_{1 \le i \le 2n} |h_i|.$$

LEMMA 9.4.3. Let  $f(\sigma) = \varepsilon \sigma$  ( $0 \le \varepsilon \le k$ ) in (9.1.1). Then the necessary and sufficient condition for the corresponding linearized system of (9.1.1) to be asymptotically stable is that the frequency characteristic curve  $W(i\omega)$  ( $0 \le \omega \le \rho$ ) and the line  $(-\infty, -\frac{1}{k})$  on the real axis has no intersection points.

PROOF. *Necessity*. By Theorem 9.4.1, the necessary and sufficient condition for the asymptotic stability of the linearized system of (9.1.1) is that the frequency characteristic curve  $W(i\omega)$  ( $-\infty \le \omega \le \infty$ ) and the line ( $-\infty, -\frac{1}{k}$ ) on the real axis has no intersection points. So, the necessity is obvious.

Sufficiency. Since  $W(i\omega) = X(\omega) + iY(\omega)$ , all the zero points  $\omega_j$  satisfying  $|w_j| < \rho, \ 1 \le j \le 2n - 1$ . When  $|W| > \rho, \ H(\omega) \ne 0$ , i.e.,  $y(\omega) \ne 0$ . By

$$x(\omega) = \frac{K(i\omega)D(-i\omega) + K(-i\omega)D(i\omega)}{2D(i\omega)D(-i\omega)}$$

we get  $X(-\omega) = X(\omega)$ . So if the curve  $W(i\omega)$   $(0 \le \omega \le \rho)$  and the line  $(-\infty, -\frac{1}{k})$  have no intersection points, then the curve  $W(i\omega)$   $(-\rho \le \omega \le 0)$  and the line  $(-\infty, -\frac{1}{k})$  have no intersection points. Hence  $W(i\omega)$   $(-\infty \le \omega \le +\infty)$  and the line  $(-\infty, -\frac{1}{k})$  do not intersect. The sufficiency is proved.

In the following, for convenience, we use the notations:

$$X^{*}(\omega) = \operatorname{Re} W(i\omega) = \frac{\omega I_{m} \{K(i\omega)D(i\omega)\}}{|D(i\omega)|^{2}} := \frac{A(\omega)}{I_{n}(\omega)},$$
$$Y^{*}(\omega) = \omega \operatorname{Im} W(i\omega) = \frac{\omega I_{m} \{K(i\omega)\overline{D}(i\omega)\}}{|D(i\omega)|^{2}} := \frac{B(\omega)}{I_{n}(\omega)}$$

THEOREM 9.4.4. If there exists a real number q such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{1+iq\omega W(i\omega)\right\}+\frac{1}{k}>0, \quad \omega\in[0,\rho],$$
(9.4.9)

then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k], where

$$\rho = 1 + \max_{2 \leq i \leq 2n+1} \rho_i \quad (i = 2, 3, \dots, 2n+1).$$

*Here,*  $\rho_i$  's are the coefficients of the polynomial function:

$$P(\omega) := A(\omega) - qB(\omega) + \frac{1}{k}I_n(\omega).$$
(9.4.10)

PROOF. The condition (9.4.9) is equivalent to

$$X^{*}(\omega) - qy^{*}(\omega) + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \omega \in [0, \rho],$$
 (9.4.11)

i.e.,

$$\frac{A(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)} - q \frac{B(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \omega \in [0, \rho],$$

or

$$\frac{A(\omega) - qB(\omega) + \frac{1}{k}I_n(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)} = \frac{P(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)}, \quad \omega \in [0, \rho].$$
(9.4.12)

By the definition of  $\rho$  and the zero points  $\omega_i$  of the polynomial function  $P(\omega)$ with  $|\omega_i| < \rho$ , we have  $P(\omega) \neq 0$  when  $\omega \ge \rho$  and  $P(\rho) > 0$ . Hence,  $P(\omega) > 0$ when  $\omega > \rho$ , i.e.,

$$X^*(\omega) - qy^*(\omega) + \frac{1}{k} = \frac{P(\omega)}{E(\omega)} > 0 \quad \text{when } \omega > \rho.$$
(9.4.13)

Combining (9.4.8) and (9.4.13) yields

$$\operatorname{Re}(Hiq\omega)W(i\omega) + \frac{1}{k} > 0 \text{ for all } \omega \ge 0.$$

Hence, by Popov theorem, we know that the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

The proof of Theorem 9.4.4 is complete.

However, it is noted in Theorem 9.4.4 that although  $\rho$  is independent of q, k, q is a parameter for existence. Determining  $\rho$  is still a difficult task. Therefore, we need to further specify the parameters.

For a given k > 0, let

$$G(\omega) := A(\omega) + \frac{1}{k} I_n(\omega) = x_{2n} + c_{2n-1}\omega + \dots + c_0 \omega^{2n},$$
  

$$B(\omega) := b_{2n} + b_{2n-1}\omega + \dots + b_1 \omega^{2n-1} + b_0 \omega^{2n},$$
  

$$\rho_1 = 1 + \max_{1 \le i \le 2n} \left| \frac{c_i}{c_0} \right|,$$
  

$$\rho_2 = 1 + \max_{1 \le i \le 2n} \left| \frac{b_i}{b_0} \right|.$$

THEOREM 9.4.5. (See [417].) If one of the following two conditions holds:

(1)  $b_0 < 0$  (or  $b_0 = 0$ ,  $b_1 < 1$ ) and there exists  $q \ge 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+iq\omega)W(i\omega)\right\} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \omega \in [0,\rho];$$
(9.4.14)

(2)  $b_0 > 0$  (or  $b_0 = 0$ ,  $b_1 > 1$ ) and there exists  $q \leq 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+iq\omega)W(i\omega)\right\} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \omega \in [0,\rho];$$
(9.4.15)

then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

PROOF. The condition (9.4.14) is equivalent to

$$\frac{A(\omega) - qB(\omega) + \frac{1}{k}I_n(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)} > 0, \quad \omega \in [0, \rho].$$
(9.4.16)

Thus one only needs to prove that under the condition:

$$A(\omega) - qB(\omega) + \frac{1}{k}I_n(\omega) = G(\omega) - qB(\omega) > 0 \quad \text{for } \omega > \rho, \qquad (9.4.17)$$

the conclusion is true.

If condition (1) holds, then by the definition of  $\rho$  it must hold  $G(\omega) \neq 0$ ,  $B(\omega) \neq 0$  when  $\omega > \rho$ , and by  $b_0 < c$  (or  $b_0 = 0$ ,  $b_1 < 0$ ), when  $\omega \gg 1$ ,  $B(\omega) < 0$ . However, the degree of  $A(\omega)$  is lower than the degree of  $E(\omega)$  at least by one. So the coefficient of the highest degree of  $G(\omega)$  is the same as that of  $\frac{1}{k}$ . Thus, when  $\omega \gg 1$ ,  $G(\omega) > 0$ . Further, we have  $G(\omega) > 0$  and  $B(\omega) < 0$  when  $\omega > \rho$ , i.e., (9.4.17) holds. By a similar method, one can show that the condition implies (9.4.17) to be held.

If the condition holds, one can similarly prove (9.4.17). Theorem 9.4.5 is proved.

Next, we present a criterion in which  $\rho$  is independent of q, k. Let

$$A(\omega) = a_{2n-1} + a_{2n-2}\omega + \dots + a_1\omega^{2n-2} + a_o\omega^{2n-1},$$

where

$$a_0, \quad a_1, \quad a_0^2 + a_1^2 \neq 0, \quad \rho_3 = 1 + \max_{1 \le i \le 2n-1} \left| \frac{a_i}{a_0} \right|.$$

THEOREM 9.4.6. (See [451].) If one of the following two conditions holds:

(1)  $a_0 > 0$  (or  $a_0 = 0$ ,  $a_1 < 0$ ),  $b_0 < 0$  (or  $b_0 = 0$ ,  $b_1 > 0$ ) and there exists  $q \ge 0$  such that

 $\square$ 

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+iq\omega)W(i\omega)\right\} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \forall \omega \in [0,\rho];$$
(9.4.18)

(2)  $a_0 < 0$  (or  $a_0 = 0$ ,  $a_1 < 0$ ),  $b_0 > 0$  (or  $b_0 = 0$ ,  $b_1 > 0$ ) and there exists  $q \leq 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+iq\omega)W(i\omega)\right\} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \forall \omega \in [0,\rho];$$
(9.4.19)

then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k], where  $\rho = \max\{\rho_1, \rho_2\}$ .

PROOF. If condition (1) holds, then (9.4.18) is equivalent to

$$X^{*}(\omega) - q \bar{y}^{*}(\omega) + \frac{1}{k}$$
  
=  $\frac{A(\omega)}{I_{n}(\omega)} - q \frac{B(\omega)}{I_{n}(\omega)} + \frac{1}{k} > 0, \quad \forall \omega \in [0, \rho].$  (9.4.20)

By the definition of  $\rho$ , we have  $A(\omega) \neq 0$ ,  $B(\omega) < 0$  when  $\omega > \rho$ . But, on the other hand, condition (1) implies  $A(\omega) > 0$ ,  $B(\omega) < 0$  when  $\omega > \rho$ , so when  $\omega > \rho$ ,  $A(\omega) - qB(\omega) > 0$  is true. Thus, when  $\omega > \rho$  it holds

$$\frac{A(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)} - q \frac{B(\omega)}{I_n(\omega)} + \frac{1}{k} > \frac{1}{k} > 0.$$
(9.4.21)

combining (9.4.18) and (9.4.21) yields

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+iq\omega)W(i\omega)\right\} + \frac{1}{k} > 0 \quad \text{when } \omega \ge 0,$$

implying that the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

If condition (2) holds, by a same argument one can prove that the conclusion is true.  $\hfill \Box$ 

The improved Popov's criterion described above only requests that the independent variable is varied in the range  $[0, \rho]$  for the frequency characteristic curve. Therefore, the computation of the characteristic curve can be executed on a computer system. Although the conditions in Theorems 9.4.5 and 9.4.6 are a little bit stronger than those in the Popov frequency criterion, the former is more convenient in application.

So far, we have introduced the main methods and results of the Lurie problem, namely, the quadratic form V function method with integrals, the *S*-method based on the V function method, and the Popov frequency domain method. There methods were developed during the same period of time, and motivated the development of new mathematical theory and methodology, such as complex function, mathematical analysis and matrix theory, positive real function theory, etc.

### 9.5. Simple algebraic criterion

In the previous sections, we introduced several classical methods for determining the derivative of the Lyapunov–Lurie function. However, a common point is observed: whether the V function method, or the Lyapunov Lurie type method combined with the *S*-method, or the Popov frequency domain method, all the conditions are based on the existence description and are merely sufficient conditions. In particular, when the dimension of a given system is large, the computation demanding increases significantly even with computers. Moreover, note that we must repeat a process so that p is obtained from solving the Lyapunov matrix equation. From the view point of application, practical engineers or designers prefer algebraic expressions since they are easy to verify. Especially, it is convenient for control designs since it enables one to easily consider stability requirement. In this section, we introduce some constructive, explicit algebraic conditions, which are independent of the existence matrices or parameters. For most of the results presented here, we only briefly state the results without giving detailed proof, but provide the necessary references.

We still consider system (9.1.1). Let

$$g(\sigma) = \begin{cases} \frac{f(\sigma)}{\sigma}, & \text{when } \sigma \neq 0, \\ 0, & \text{when } \sigma = 0, \end{cases}$$
$$F_{ij}(\sigma) := (a_{ij} + b_i c_j g(\sigma)).$$

Then (9.1.1) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} F_{ij}(\sigma) x_j.$$
(9.5.1)

Let

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leqslant g(\sigma) \leqslant k < \infty, \\ \tilde{b}_{ii} &= \begin{cases} a_{ii}, & \text{when } b_i c_i \leqslant 0\\ a_{ii} + b_i c_i k, & \text{when } b_i c_i > 0 \end{cases} (i = 1, 2, \dots, n), \\ \tilde{b}_{ij} &= \tilde{b}_{ji} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \max[|a_{ij} + a_{ji}|, k|b_i c_j + b_j c_i|]\\ & \text{when } (a_{ij} + a_{ji})(b_i c_j + c_j b_i) \leqslant 0, & i \neq j \\ \frac{1}{2} |a_{ij} + a_{ji} + k(b_i c_j + b_j c_i)|\\ & \text{when } (a_{ij} + a_{ji})(b_i c_j + b_j c_i) > 0 \end{cases} \\ (i = 1, 2, \dots, n). \end{split}$$

PROPOSITION 9.5.1. If  $\tilde{B}(\tilde{b}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix, then the zero solution of system (9.5.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

REMARK 9.5.2. One can use the simple Lyapunov function:

$$V(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2$$

to prove the proposition.

PROPOSITION 9.5.3. If the matrix  $-\tilde{A}(\tilde{a}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix, then the zero solution of system (9.5.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k], where

$$\tilde{a}_{ii} = \begin{cases} a_{ii}, & \text{for } b_i c_i \leq 0, \\ a_{ii} + k b_i c_i, & \text{for } b_i c_i > 0 \end{cases}$$

$$(i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{ij} := \begin{cases} \max\{|a_{ij}|kb_i c_j|\}, & \text{for } a_{ij}b_i c_j \leq 0, \ i \neq j, \\ |a_{ij} + k|b_i c_j|, & \text{for } a_{ij}b_i c_j > 0 \end{cases}$$

$$(i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$

REMARK 9.5.4. One can employ the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \eta_i |x_i|$$

to complete the proof, where  $\eta_i$  satisfy

$$\eta_j \tilde{a}_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^n \tilde{a}_{ij} \eta_i < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

In the following, we consider a more general case. Without loss of generality, let

$$b_i c_i < 0 \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., i_1), \qquad b_i c_i > 0 \quad (i = i_1 + 1, ..., i_2),$$
  

$$b_i = c_i = 0 \quad (i = i_2 + 1, ..., i_3), \qquad b_i = 0,$$
  

$$c_i \neq 0 \quad (i = i_3 + 1, ..., i_4),$$
  

$$b_i \neq 0, \qquad c_i = 0 \quad (i = i_4 + 1, ..., n, \ 1 \le i_1 \le i_2 \le i_3 \le i_4 \le n)$$

**PROPOSITION 9.5.5.** If the matrix  $[R(r_{ij})_{n \times n} + S(s_{ij})_{n \times n}]$  is negative definite, then the zero solution of system (9.5.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz

angle [0, k], where

$$\begin{split} r_{ij} &= r_{ji} = \begin{cases} -\frac{c_i}{b_i} a_{ii} & (i = j = 1, 2, \dots, i_1), \\ \frac{c_i}{b_i} a_{ii} & (i = j = i_1 + 1, \dots, i_2), \\ a_{ii} & (i = j = i_2 + 1, \dots, n), \\ \frac{1}{\alpha} \left[ \frac{r_{ii} a_{ij}}{a_{ii}} + \frac{r_{jj} a_{ji}}{a_{jj}} \right] & (i \neq j, \ i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n), \\ 0 & (i = j = 1, 2, \dots, i_1, i_1 + 1, \dots, i_2), \\ 0 & (i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n), \\ 3(i_2 - i_1)kc_i^2 & (i = j = i_2 + 1, \dots, i_3), \\ \frac{3}{4}(i_4 - i_3)kc_i^2 & (i = j = i_3 + 1, \dots, i_4), \\ \frac{3}{4}(n - i_4)kb_i^2 & (i = j = i_4 + 1, \dots, n). \end{split}$$

REMARK 9.5.6. One may choose the following Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{i_1} \frac{c_i}{b_i} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=i_1+1}^{i_2} \frac{c_i}{b_i} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=i_2+1}^{n} x_2^2$$

to prove the proposition.

**PROPOSITION 9.5.7.** If  $a_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), the matrix  $G(g_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is negative definite, then the zero solution of system (9.5.1) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k], where

$$g_{ij} = g_{ji} = \begin{cases} -a_{ii}^2 & when \ b_i c_i \leqslant 0, \ i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -a_{ii}^2 - a_{ii}^2 b_i c_i k & when \ b_i c_i > 0, \ i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \max\left[\frac{1}{2}|a_{ii}a_{ij} + a_{jj}a_{ji}|, \ \frac{1}{2}k|b_i c_j a_{ii} + b_j c_i a_{ij}|\right] \\ & when \ (a_{ii}a_{ij} + a_{jj}a_{ji})(b_i c_j a_{ij} + b_j c_i a_{ji}) \leqslant 0, \\ i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{1}{2}|a_{ii}a_{ij} + a_{jj}a_{ji} + k(b_i c_j a_{ij} + b_j a_i a_{ji})| \\ & when \ (a_{ii}a_{ij} + a_{jj}a_{ji})(b_i c_j a_{ii} + b_j c_i a_{ji}) > 0, \\ i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

REMARK 9.5.8. We take the Lyapunov function:

$$V(t) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{a_{ii}}{2} x_i^2$$

to prove that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.5.1)}$  is negative definite. So the conclusion is true.

**PROPOSITION 9.5.9.** If there exist constants  $r_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $r_i b_i = -\alpha c_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, and the matrix  $U(u_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is negative

definite, then the zero solution of system (9.5.1) is absolutely stable, where

$$u_{ij} = u_{ji} = \frac{1}{2}(r_i a_{ij} + r_j a_{ji}), \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

REMARK 9.5.10. Choosing

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i x_i^2,$$

we can show that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.5.1)}$  is negative definite, and thus the zero solution of system (9.5.1) is absolutely stable.

In the following, we consider a class of simplified systems, called first standard form:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -\rho_i x_i + f(\sigma), \quad \rho_i > 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
  
$$\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i x_i, \quad f(0) = 0,$$
  
$$0 < \sigma f(\sigma) \leqslant k\sigma^2, \quad \sigma \neq 0, \ 0 < k \leqslant \infty.$$
 (9.5.2)

Let

$$c_i \begin{cases} > 0 & \text{when } i = 1, \dots, i_1, \\ = 0 & \text{when } i = i_1 + 1, \dots, i_2, \\ < 0 & \text{when } i = i_2 + 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

**PROPOSITION 9.5.11.** If  $\rho_i > 2k(n - i_2)c_i$ ,  $i = i_2 + 1, ..., n$ , then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

REMARK 9.5.12. By using the Lyapunov function

$$V(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{i_1} c_i x_i^2 + \sum_{i=i_1+1}^{i_2} \varepsilon_i x_i^2 + \sum_{i=i_2+1}^{n} c_i x_i^2,$$

where  $0 < \varepsilon_i < \frac{2\rho_i}{k(i_2-i_1)}$ , one can easily prove that  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.5.2)}$  is negative definite. So the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 9.5.13. If  $c_i \leq 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

COROLLARY 9.5.14. If  $c_i < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable.

PROPOSITION 9.5.15. Suppose the system (9.5.2) is a critical control system. Let  $\rho_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n-1),  $\rho_n = 0$ ,  $c_n < 0$ ,  $c_i < \frac{\rho_i}{2k(n-1)}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n-1. Then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

**PROOF.** Consider a system of quadric inequalities for  $y_i$ :

$$k(n-1)y_i^2 + 2[k(n-1)c_i - \rho_i]y_i + k(n-1)c_i^2 < 0$$
  
(i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1) (9.5.3)

which has positive real solutions if and only if

$$c_i < \frac{\rho_i}{2k(n-1)}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Let  $y_i = r_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1) be some positive solutions for (9.5.3). Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i x_i^2 - c_n x_n^2.$$

Then, we have

$$\begin{split} G(x) &:= \frac{dV}{dt} \bigg|_{(9.5.2)} = -2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i \rho_i x_i^2 + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i x_i f(\sigma) - 2c_n x_n f(\sigma) \\ &= -2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i \rho_i x_i^2 + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (r_i + c_i) x_i f(\sigma) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} 2c_i x_i f(\sigma) \\ &\leqslant -2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i \rho_i x_i^2 + 2 \bigg| \sqrt{k} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (r_i + c_i) x_i \bigg| x \bigg| \frac{f(\sigma)}{\sqrt{k}} \bigg| - 2\sigma f(\sigma) \\ &\leqslant -2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} r_i \rho_i x_i^2 + k(n-1) \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (r_i + c_i)^2 x_i^2 + \sigma f(\sigma) - 2\sigma(\sigma) \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} [k(n-1)(r_i + c_i)^2 - 2r_i \rho_i] x_i^2 - \sigma f(\sigma) \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} [k(n-1)r_i^2 + 2[k(n-1)c_i - \rho_i]r_i + K(n-1)c_i^2] x_i^2 \\ &- \sigma f(\sigma) := W(x) \\ &\leqslant 0. \end{split}$$

Since G(0) = W(0) = 0,  $G(x) \leq W(x) \leq 0$ , if there exists  $\tilde{x}$  such that  $W(\tilde{x}) = 0$ , then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \tilde{x}_i^2 = 0,$$

and  $\sigma f(\sigma) = 0$ , i.e.,  $c_n \tilde{x}_n f(\tilde{x}_n) = 0$ . Thus,  $c_n \tilde{x}_n = 0$ , W(x) is negative definite. Further, we know that G(x) is negative definite, implying that the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

COROLLARY 9.5.16. If  $\rho_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1),  $\rho_n = 0$ ,  $c_n < 0$ ,  $c_i \le 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1, then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

COROLLARY 9.5.17. If  $\rho_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1),  $\rho_n = 0, c_i < 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1$ , then the null solution of (9.5.2) is absolutely stable.

Now we turn to consider the algebraic criterion for the Popov method [253,254, 417].

**PROPOSITION 9.5.18.** Consider a class of specific control systems in the form (9.1.1):

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + bf(\sigma), \\ \sigma = c^T x, \end{cases}$$
(9.5.4)

where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & -\lambda & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & & \ddots & & 0 \\ \vdots & & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & -\lambda \end{bmatrix}, \quad \lambda > 0.$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.5.4) is absolutely stable if and only if

$$c^T b \leqslant 0 \quad and \quad c^T A^{-1} b \geqslant 0. \tag{9.5.5}$$

PROOF. *Necessity* has been proved in Theorem 9.1.2. We only need to prove *sufficiency*. To show this, suppose there exists constants  $q \ge 0$  such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+i\omega q)W(i\omega)\right\} \ge 0 \quad \text{for } \omega \ge 0, \tag{9.5.6}$$

where

$$W(z) = -c^T (I_n z - A)^{-1} b,$$

then the zero solution of system (9.5.4) is absolutely stable. Rewrite (9.5.6) to an equivalent form:

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+i\omega q)c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b\right\} \leq 0 \quad \text{for } \omega \geq 0,$$

where  $A_{i\omega} = i\omega I_n - A$ . Then, we have

$$A_{i\omega} = \begin{bmatrix} i\omega + \lambda & -1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & i\omega + \lambda & & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & i\omega + \lambda \end{bmatrix},$$

$$A_{i\omega}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i\omega + \lambda} & \frac{1}{(i\omega + \lambda)^2} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{i\omega + \lambda} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \frac{1}{i\omega + \lambda} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$c^T A_{i\omega}^{-1} b = (c_1, c_2, \dots, c_n) A_{i\omega}^{-1} (b_1, \dots, b_n)^T$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{b_j c_j}{i\omega + \lambda} + \frac{c_1 b_2}{(i\omega + \lambda)^2}$$

$$= \frac{c^T b(\lambda - i\omega)}{\lambda^2 + \omega^2} + \frac{c_1 b_2 (\lambda^2 - \omega^2) - 2c_1 b_2 W_i \lambda_i}{(\lambda^2 - \omega^2)^2 + 4\omega^2 \lambda^2}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+i\omega q)c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b\right\} \\ &= \frac{c^{T}b\lambda}{\lambda^{2}+\omega^{2}} + \frac{c_{1}b_{2}(\lambda^{2}-\omega^{2})}{(\lambda^{2}-\omega^{2})^{2}+4\omega^{2}\lambda^{2}} + \frac{q\omega^{2}(c^{T}b)}{\lambda^{2}+\omega^{2}} + \frac{2q\omega^{2}c_{1}b_{2}\lambda}{(\lambda^{2}-\omega^{2})+4\omega^{2}\lambda^{2}} \\ &:= \frac{F(\omega^{3})}{(\lambda^{2}+\omega^{2})[(\lambda^{2}-\omega^{2})^{2}+4\lambda^{2}\omega^{2}]}, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$F(\omega^{2}) = [(\lambda^{2} - \omega^{2}) + 4\omega^{2}\lambda^{2}][(c^{t}b)\lambda + q\omega^{2}(c^{T}b)] + [\lambda^{2} + \omega^{2}][c_{1}b_{2}(\lambda^{2} - \omega^{2}) + 2q\omega^{2}c_{1}b_{2}\lambda] = (c^{T}b)[(\lambda^{4} + 2\omega^{2}\lambda^{2} + \omega^{4})][\lambda + q\omega^{2}] + c_{1}b_{2}(\lambda^{4} - \omega^{4}) + 2q\lambda^{3}\omega^{2}c_{1}b_{2} + 2q\omega^{4}c_{1}b_{2}\lambda = q(c^{T}b)\omega^{6} + [(c^{T}b)\lambda + 2(c^{T}b)\lambda^{2}q - c_{1}b_{2} + 2qc_{1}b_{2}\lambda]\omega^{4} + [(c^{T}b)\lambda^{4}q + 2(c^{T}b)\lambda^{3} + 2q\lambda^{3}c_{1}b_{2}]\omega^{2} + [(c^{T}b)\lambda^{5} + c_{1}b_{2}\lambda^{4}].$$

The conditions  $c^T b \leq 0$  and  $-c^T A^{-1}b = \frac{1}{\lambda^2} [(c^b)\lambda + c_1 b_1] \leq 0$  imply that the first term and the constant term in  $F(\omega^2)$  are not positive. Now, consider the coefficients of the terms  $\omega^4$  and  $\omega^2$ .

(1) If  $c_1b_2 \leq 0$ , then for any  $q \geq 0$  it holds  $(c^Tb)x^4q + 2(c^Tb)\lambda^3 + 2q\lambda^3ab_2 \leq 0$ . Choose  $q > \frac{1}{2\lambda}$  to get

$$(c^T b)\lambda + 2(c^T b)\lambda^2 q - c_1 b_2 + 2qc_1 b_2 \lambda$$
  
=  $(c^T b)\lambda + 2(c^T b)\lambda^2 q + c_1 b_2 (2q\lambda - 1)$   
< 0.

Therefore, the coefficients of  $\omega^4$  and  $\omega^2$  are not positive.

(2) If  $a_1b_2 > 0$ , then choose q = 0 so that the coefficient of  $\omega^4$  term is  $(c^Tb)\lambda - c_1b_2 \leq 0$ , and the coefficient of  $\omega^2$  term is  $2(c^Tb)\lambda^3 \leq 0$ .

Thus, in any case, one can find  $q \ge 0$  such that  $F(\omega^2) \le 0$ . So the zero solution of system (9.5.4) is absolutely stable.

COROLLARY 9.5.19. If there exists a similar transformation x = By,  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  such that system (9.1.1) is transformed into system (9.5.4), then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. We only need to prove that  $c^T b$  and  $c^T A^{-1} b$  are invariant under the similar transformation. Since system (9.1.1) becomes

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = B^{-1}ABy + B^{-1}bf(c^T By) = \tilde{A}y + \tilde{b}f(\tilde{c}^T y),$$

where  $\tilde{A} = B^{-1}AB$ ,  $\tilde{b} = B^{-1}b$ ,  $\tilde{c} = B^{T}c$ , we have

$$\tilde{c}^T \tilde{b} = c^T B B^{-1} b = c^T b,$$
  
 $\tilde{c}^T \tilde{A}^{-1} \tilde{b} = c^T B B^{-1} A^{-1} B B^{-1} b = c^T A^{-1} b.$ 

Therefore, the conclusion is true.

PROPOSITION 9.5.20. In system (9.1.1) let

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & 0\\ 0 & A_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda I_1 & 0\\ 0 & -\rho I_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $\rho > 0$ ,  $I_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1 \times n_1}$ ,  $I_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{n_2 \times n^2}$ ,  $n_1 + n_2 = n$ . Then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable if and only if  $c^T b \leq 0$  and  $c^T A^{-1}b \geq 0$ .

| н |  |  |
|---|--|--|
|   |  |  |
|   |  |  |

PROOF. The *necessity* has been proved. We only need to prove the *sufficiency*. Since

$$A_{i\omega} \begin{bmatrix} (i\omega+\lambda)I_1 & 0\\ 0 & (i\omega+\rho)I_2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A_{i\omega}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i\omega+\lambda}I_1 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{i\omega+\rho}I_2 \end{bmatrix},$$

we take

$$\hat{c}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} I_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n} c, \qquad \hat{c}_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I_n \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n} c,$$
$$\hat{b}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} I_1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} b, \qquad \hat{b}_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & I_2 \end{bmatrix} b.$$

Then,

$$c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b = \frac{\hat{c}_{1}^{T}\hat{b}_{1}}{i\omega + \lambda} + \frac{\hat{c}_{2}^{T}\hat{b}_{2}}{i\omega + \rho}$$
  
$$= \frac{\hat{c}_{1}^{T}\hat{b}_{1}\lambda - i\hat{c}_{1}^{T}\hat{b}_{1}\omega}{\omega^{2} + \lambda^{2}} + \frac{\hat{c}_{2}^{T}\hat{b}_{2}\rho - i\hat{c}_{2}^{T}\hat{b}_{2}\omega}{\omega^{2} + \rho^{2}},$$
  
$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1 + i\omega q)c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b\right\} = \frac{\hat{c}_{1}^{T}\hat{b}_{1}\lambda + q\omega^{2}\hat{c}_{1}^{T}\hat{b}_{1}}{\omega^{2} + \lambda^{2}} + \frac{\hat{c}_{2}^{T}\hat{b}_{2}\rho + q\omega^{2}\tilde{c}_{2}^{T}\tilde{b}_{2}}{\omega^{2} + \rho^{2}}$$
  
$$\coloneqq \frac{F(\omega^{2})}{(\omega^{2} + \lambda^{2})(\omega^{2} + \rho^{2})},$$

where

$$F(\omega^{2}) = q(\bar{c}_{1}^{T}\bar{b}_{1} + \bar{c}_{2}^{T}\bar{b}_{2})\omega^{4} + [(\hat{c}_{1}^{T}\bar{b}_{1}\lambda + \hat{c}_{1}^{T}\bar{b}_{2}\rho) + q(\bar{c}_{1}^{T}\bar{b}_{1}\rho^{2} + \bar{c}_{2}^{T}\bar{b}_{2}\lambda^{2})]\omega^{2} + (\frac{\bar{c}_{1}^{T}\bar{b}_{1}}{\lambda} + \frac{\bar{c}_{2}^{T}\bar{b}_{2}}{\rho})\lambda^{2}\rho^{2}.$$

By the conditions we have

$$c^T b = \bar{c}_1^T \tilde{b}_1 + \tilde{c}_2^T \hat{b}_2 \leqslant 0,$$
$$-c^T A^{-1} b = \frac{\hat{c}_1^T \hat{b}_1}{\lambda} + \frac{\hat{c}_2^T \hat{b}_2}{\rho} \leqslant 0.$$

Then it is easy to prove that there exists  $q \ge 0$  such that

$$\left(\tilde{c}_1^T\tilde{b}_1\lambda+\tilde{c}_2^T\hat{b}_2\rho\right)+q\left(\tilde{c}_1^T\tilde{b}_1\rho^2+\tilde{c}_2^T\hat{b}_2\lambda^2\right)\leqslant 0,$$

i.e., there exists  $q \ge 0$  satisfying  $F(\omega^2) \le 0$ . So the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable under the conditions of Proposition 9.5.20.

PROPOSITION 9.5.21. Let b a right eigenvector of A and c be the corresponding left eigenvector of A. Then, the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable if and only if  $c^T b \ge 0$ .

PROOF. *Necessity* is obvious, so we only prove *sufficiency*. Let  $Ab = -\lambda b$  ( $\lambda > 0$ ). Then

$$(i\omega A)b = [\lambda + i\omega]b, \quad \omega \ge 0,$$
  
$$(i\omega A)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\lambda + i\omega}b,$$

and then  $c^T (i\omega I - A)^{-1}b = \frac{c^T b}{i\omega + \lambda}$  holds. By the condition  $c^T b \leq 0$  we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{c^{T}(i\omega I - A)^{-1}b\right\} = \frac{\lambda c^{T}b}{\lambda^{2} + \omega^{2}} \leq 0$$

Hence, the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

Next, let  $A^T c = -\lambda c$  ( $\lambda > 0$ ). Then, we have

$$(i\omega I - A^T)^{-1}c = \frac{1}{i\omega + \lambda}c,$$
$$[(i\omega I - A^T)^{-1}c]^T b = \frac{1}{i\omega + \lambda}c^T b,$$

i.e.,

$$c^{T}(i\omega I - A)^{-1}b = \frac{c^{T}b}{i\omega + \lambda}.$$

So the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

EXAMPLE 9.5.22. Consider a 3-dimensional control system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 + x_2 - x_3 + f(x_1 - x_2 - x_3), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = x_1 - x_2 - x_3 + f(x_1 - x_2 - x_3), \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} = x_1 + x_2 - 3x_3 + f(x_1 - x_2 - x_3), \end{cases}$$
(9.5.7)

with

$$A := \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 & -3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b := \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad c = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad f \in F_{\infty}.$$

It is easy to check that A is stable, b is an eigenvector of A associated with the eigenvalue  $\lambda = -1$ . Since  $c^T b = -1$ , the zero solution of system (9.5.5) is absolutely stable.

PROPOSITION 9.5.23. In system (9.1.1), let

$$A = \operatorname{diag}(A_1, A_2, \dots, A_m),$$
  
$$b = \left(\tilde{b}_1^T, \tilde{b}_2^T, \dots, \tilde{b}_m^T\right)^T,$$

$$c = \left(\tilde{c}_1^T, \tilde{c}_2^T, \dots, \tilde{c}_m^T\right)^T,$$

where  $A_r$  (r = 1, 2, ..., m) is an  $n_r \times n_r$  matrix, and

$$\sum_{r=1}^{m} n_r = m.$$

If  $\tilde{b}_r$  is a right eigenvector of  $A_r$  and  $\tilde{c}_r$  is the corresponding left eigenvector of  $A_R^T$  (r = 1, 2, ..., m), then  $\tilde{c}_r^T \tilde{b}_r \leq 0$  (r = 1, 2, ..., m) implies that the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. Since  $A_r \tilde{b}_r = -\lambda \tilde{b}_r$ , we have

$$\tilde{c}_r^T (i\omega I_r - A_r)^{-1} \tilde{b}_r = \frac{\lambda \tilde{c}_r^T \tilde{b}_r}{\lambda + i\omega}.$$

Then,

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{\tilde{c}_{r}^{T}(i\omega I_{r}-A_{r})^{-1}\tilde{b}_{r}\right\}=\frac{\lambda\tilde{c}_{r}^{T}\tilde{b}_{r}}{\lambda^{2}+\omega^{2}},\quad i=1,2,\ldots,m.$$

Further, since  $A_r^T \tilde{c}_r = -\lambda \tilde{c}$ , it holds

$$\tilde{c}_r^T (i\omega I_r - A_r)^{-1} \tilde{b}_r = \frac{\lambda \tilde{c}_r^T \tilde{b}_r}{i\omega + \lambda},$$
  

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{\tilde{c}_r^T (i\omega I_r - A_r)^{-1} \tilde{b}_r\right\} \leqslant 0, \quad r = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$

From

$$A = \operatorname{diag}(A_1, \dots, A_n),$$
  

$$A_{i\infty} = \operatorname{diag}(i\omega I_1 - A_1, i\omega I_2 - A_2, \dots, i\omega I_m - A_m),$$
  

$$c^T A_{i\omega}^{-1} b = (\tilde{c}_1^T, \dots, \tilde{c}_m^T) \cdot \operatorname{diag}((i\omega I_1 - \lambda_1)^{-1}, \dots, (I_m - \lambda_m)^{-1})$$
  

$$\cdot (\tilde{b}_1^T, \dots, \tilde{b}_m^T)^T$$
  

$$= \sum_{r=1}^m \tilde{c}_i^T (i\omega I_r - A_r)^{-1} \tilde{b}_r,$$

it follows that

$$\operatorname{Re}(c^{T}A_{i\omega b}^{-1}) = \sum_{r=1}^{m} \operatorname{Re} \bar{c}_{r}^{T}(i\omega I_{r}, A_{r})^{-1} \tilde{b}_{r} \leq 0.$$

Hence, the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

Now, we consider the first standard form (9.5.2) for real number  $q \ge 0$ . Let

$$a_{j} = \begin{cases} c_{j}q & \text{if } c_{j}(qp_{j}-1) > 0, \\ c_{j}/\rho_{j} & \text{if } c_{j}(q\rho_{j}-1) < 0, \\ c_{j}/\rho_{j} & \text{if } c_{j}(q\rho_{j}-1) = 0, \ c_{j} \neq 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } c_{j}(q\rho_{j}-1) = 0, \ c_{j} = 0. \end{cases}$$

**PROPOSITION 9.5.24.** *If there exists*  $q \ge 0$  *such that* 

$$\sum_{j=1}^n a_j < \frac{1}{k},$$

then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

PROOF. Since

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -\rho_1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & -\rho_2 & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & & -\rho_n \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A_{i\omega}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i\omega+\rho_1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{i\omega+\rho_2} & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \frac{1}{i\omega+\rho_n} \end{bmatrix},$$

we have

$$c^{T} A_{i\omega}^{-1} b = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{c_{j}}{i\omega + \rho_{j}},$$
  
Re{ $\{(1 + i\omega q)c^{T} A_{i\omega}^{-1} b\} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{c_{j}(\rho_{j} + q\omega^{2})}{\omega^{2} + \rho_{j}^{2}}.$ 

Let

$$f_j(\omega) = \frac{c_j(\rho_j + q\omega^2)}{\omega^2 + \rho_j^2}.$$

Then, it holds

$$\frac{d}{d\omega}f_j(\omega) = \alpha c_j q \omega \left(\omega^2 + \rho_j^2\right) - \left(c_j \rho_j + c_j q \omega^2\right) 2\omega = \frac{\alpha c_j \rho_j (q\rho_j - 1)\omega}{(\omega^2 + \rho_j^2)^2}$$

It can been seen that  $\frac{df_j(\omega)}{d\infty} = 0$  only when  $\omega = 0$ , and  $f_j(\omega)$  is monotone increasing in  $[0, +\infty)$  when  $c_j(q\rho_j - 1) > 0$ , so  $f_j(\omega) \leq f_j(\infty) = \rho_i q$ ; and  $f_i(\omega)$  is monotone decreasing in  $[0, +\infty)$  when  $c_j(qp_j - 1) < 0$ , so  $f_j(\omega) \leq f_j(0) = c_i/\rho_j$ .

Since 
$$\frac{df_j(\omega)}{d\omega} = 0$$
, when  $c_j(q\rho_j - 1) = 0$ ,  $c_j \neq 0$ , i.e.,  $q = 1/\rho_j$ , we obtain

$$f_j(\omega) = \frac{c_j(\rho_j + \omega^2/\rho_j)}{\omega^2 + \rho_j^2} = \frac{c_j}{\rho_j}.$$

Thus, when  $c_j(q\rho_j - 1) = 0$ ,  $c_j = 0$ ,  $f_i(\omega) = 0$ .

Choose  $\alpha_j$  such that  $f_j(\omega) \leq \alpha_j$ . Then, from the conditions of the theorem we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+i\omega q)c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b\right\} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{c_{j}(\rho_{j}+q\omega^{2})}{\omega^{2}+\rho_{j}^{2}} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}(\omega) \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} < \frac{1}{k},$$

i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+i\omega q)c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b\right\}-\frac{1}{k}<0.$$

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable.

COROLLARY 9.5.25. Let

$$c_j = \begin{cases} < 0 & for \ j = 1, 2, \dots, i_1, \\ = 0 & for \ j = i_1 + 1, \dots, i_2, \\ > 0 & for \ j = i_2 + 1, 2, \dots, n \end{cases}$$

If

$$\sum_{j=j_2+1}^n \frac{c_j}{\rho_j} < \frac{1}{k},$$

then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable within the Hurwitz angle [0, k].

This corollary can be proved by using the approach in proving Proposition 9.5.23 with q = 0.

COROLLARY 9.5.26. If there exists  $q \ge 0$  such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^n d_j \leqslant 0,$$

then the zero solution of system (9.5.2) is absolutely stable, where  $\alpha_j$  is defined in (9.5.6).

PROOF. Following the proof of Proposition 9.5.23 one can show that

$$f_j(\omega) \leq \alpha_j.$$
Thus, we have

$$\operatorname{Re}\left\{(1+i\omega I)c^{T}A_{i\omega}^{-1}b\right\} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{j}(\omega) \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j} \leqslant 0.$$

## 9.6. NASCs of absolute stability for indirect control systems

The main objective in the study of the Lurie problem is to find the necessary and sufficient condition (NASC) for absolute stability. This problem has been studied by many authors. As Burton [46] has pointed out that the major advantage is based on finding NASCs of certain Lyapunov functions which are positive definite with negative definite derivative. However, the approaches introduced in the preceding sections do not necessarily imply NASCs for the Lurie problem, since the Lyapunov function may be poorly chosen. We have studied the Lurie problem and found that it is possible to obtain the NASCs for all solutions of Lurie systems which tend to zero under any nonlinear restriction on  $f(\sigma)$ .

In this section, we present a method which transforms the Lurie indirect control systems into a nonlinear system with separate variables by a topological transformation. We then introduce a definition of absolute stability with respect to partial variables. The NASCs for absolute stability of Lurie indirect control systems are obtained, and some sufficient conditions are also given.

Consider the *m*th-order indirect control systems of Lurie type:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j + h_i \xi, & i = 1, 2, ..., n, \\ \frac{d\xi}{dt} = f(\sigma), \end{cases}$$
(9.6.1)  
$$\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i x_i - \rho \xi,$$

where  $a_{ij}$ ,  $h_i$ ,  $\rho$  (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n) are real constants,  $\rho \neq 0$ ,  $y = (y_1, ..., y_n, \sigma)^T$ ,  $x = (x_1, ..., x_n, \xi)^T$ . By the topological transformation

$$\begin{cases} y_i = x_i, & i = 1, 2, ..., n, \\ y_{n+1} = \sigma = \sum_{j=1}^n c_i x_i - \rho \xi. \end{cases}$$
(9.6.2)

We can transform system (9.6.1) into a system with separate variables:

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \tilde{a}_{ij} y_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
$$\frac{dy_{n+1}}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \tilde{a}_{n+1,j} y_j - \rho f(y_{n+1}), \tag{9.6.3}$$

where

$$\tilde{a}_{ij} = a_{ij} + \frac{h_i}{\rho} c_j \quad (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{i,n+1} = -\frac{h_i}{\rho} \quad (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{n+1,j} = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \tilde{a}_{ij} = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \left( a_{ij} + \frac{h_i c_j}{\rho} \right) \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., n),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{n+1,n+1} = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \tilde{a}_{i,n+1} = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \left( \frac{-h_i}{\rho} \right).$$
(9.6.4)

Obviously, the absolute stabilities of the zero solutions of systems (9.6.1) and (9.6.3) are equivalent.

DEFINITION 9.6.1. The zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$ , if  $\forall f(y_{n+1}) \in F_{\infty}$ , and  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that the solution  $y(t, t_0, y_0)$  of system (9.6.3) satisfies  $||y_{n+1}(t, t_0, y_0)|| < \varepsilon$  for  $t \ge t_0$ , when the initial value  $||y_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ ,  $\forall y_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , and in addition,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} y_{n+1}(t, t_0, y_0) = 0.$$

DEFINITION 9.6.2. The zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable withe respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$   $(1 < j \le n+1)$ , if  $\forall f(\sigma) \in F_{\infty}, \forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\forall \delta > 0$  and  $||y_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , the following condition

$$\sum_{i=j}^{n+1} y_i^2(t, t_0, y_0) < \varepsilon, \quad t \ge t_0;$$

is satisfied, and  $\forall y(t_0) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  it holds

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{i=j}^{n+1} y_i^2(t, t_0, y_0) = 0 \quad \text{with } y_0 = y(t_0).$$
(9.6.5)

THEOREM 9.6.3. The NASC for the zero solution of system (9.6.3) to be absolutely stable is subject to

- (1) The zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$ ;
- (2) The matrix  $B = (b_{ij})_{(n+1)\times(n+1)}$  is Hurwitz stable, where

$$b_{ij} = \begin{cases} \tilde{a}_{n+1,n+1} - \rho & \text{for } i = j = n+1, \\ \tilde{a}_{ij} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

PROOF. *Necessity*. The zero solution is absolutely stable, and so is  $y_{n+1}$ . If  $f(y_{n+1}) = y_{n+1}$ , then system (9.6.3) can be transformed into

$$\frac{dy_1}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} b_{ij} y_j \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n+1).$$

Hence,  $B(b_{ij})$  is Hurwitz stable, and thus the necessity is proved.

*Sufficiency*. According to the method of constant variation, the solution of system (9.6.3) is given by

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = \mathbf{y}(t, t_0, \mathbf{y}_0),$$

satisfying

$$y(t) = e^{B(t-t_0)}y(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^{t} e^{B(t-\tau)}\tilde{h}[f(y_{n+1}(\tau)) - y_{n+1}(\tau)]d\tau, \qquad (9.6.6)$$

where  $\tilde{h} = (0, \dots, 0, -\rho)^T$ . Since *B* is stable, there exist constants  $\alpha > 0$  and  $k \ge 1$  such that

$$\left\|e^{B(t-t_0)}\right\| \leqslant ke^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_0.$$

Because  $y_{n+1}(t, t_0, y_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ ,  $y_{n+1}(t)$  continuously depends on the initial value  $y_0$ , and  $f(y_{n+1}(t, t_0, y_0))$  is a compound continuous function of  $y_0$  and  $f(y_{n+1}(t, t_0, y_0)) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ , so  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta_1(\varepsilon) > 0$ , and  $t_1 > t_0$ , when  $||y_0|| < \delta_1(\varepsilon)$ , we have

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_1} k e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \left\| \tilde{h} f\left( y_{n+1}(\tau) \right) \right\| + \left\| \tilde{h} y_{n+1}(\tau) \right\| \right] d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3},$$
(9.6.7)

$$\int_{t_1}^{t} k e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \Big[ \|\tilde{h}f(y_{n+1}(\tau))\| + \|\tilde{h}y_{n+1}(\tau)\| \Big] d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}.$$
(9.6.8)

Take  $\delta_2(\varepsilon) = \frac{\varepsilon}{3k}$ ,  $\delta(\varepsilon) = \min(\delta_1(\varepsilon), \delta_2(\varepsilon))$ . For  $||y(t_0)|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , it follows from (9.6.6)–(9.6.8) that

$$\|y(t)\| \leq \|e^{B(t-t_0)}\| \|y_0\| + \int_{t_0}^t \|e^{B(t-\tau)}\tilde{h}f(y_{n+1}(\tau))\|$$
$$+ \int_{t_0}^t \|e^{B(t-\tau)}\tilde{h}y_{n+1}(\tau)\| d\tau$$

$$\leq ke^{-\alpha(t-t_{0})} \|y_{0}\| + \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} ke^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{h}f(y_{n+1}(\tau))\| d\tau$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{t_{1}}^{t} ke^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{h}f(y_{n+1}(\tau))\| d\tau + \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} ke^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{h}y_{n+1}(\tau)\| d\tau$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{t_{1}}^{t} ke^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{h}y_{n+1}(\tau)\| d\tau$$
  
< 
$$\frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon.$$
 (9.6.9)

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.6.3) is stable. Further,  $\forall y_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , by using the L'Hospital rule we have

$$0 \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \|y(t)\| \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} k e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} + \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t_0}^t k e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \|\tilde{h}f(y_{n+1}(\tau))\| + \|\tilde{h}y_{n+1}(\tau)\| \right] d\tau = 0 + \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{e^{\alpha}t} \int_{t_0}^t k e^{\alpha\tau} \left[ \|\tilde{h}f(y_{n+1}(\tau))\| + \|\tilde{h}y_{n+1}(\tau)\| \right] d\tau = 0.$$
(9.6.10)

Hence, the zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable.

The proof of Theorem 9.6.3 is complete.

THEOREM 9.6.4. The zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable if and only if

- (1) condition (2) in Theorem 9.6.3 is satisfied;
- (2) the zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$   $(1 < j \le n+1)$ .

**PROOF.** Since when condition (1) holds, the absolute stabilities of the zero solution of system (9.6.3) with respect to  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  and  $y_{n+1}$  are equivalent. On account of that the absolute stability with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$  implies the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_1, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  (by Theorem 9.6.3), and in particular implies the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; while the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; while the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; while the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; while the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; while the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; where  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; where  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; where  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; where  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; where  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$ ; where  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolute stability with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  is the absolu

 $\square$ 

variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_{n+1}$  obviously implies the absolute stability with respect to the variable  $y_{n+1}$ . Thus, Theorem 9.6.4 is proved.

Since the matrix  $B = \begin{bmatrix} A & h \\ c^T & -\rho \end{bmatrix}$  is Hurwitz stable, *B* is a nonsingular matrix. By the following nonsingular linear transformation:

$$z = Ax + h\xi, \quad z = (z_1, \dots, z_n)^T,$$
  
$$z_n = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i x_i - \rho\xi, \quad x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T,$$
  
(9.6.11)

we can transform system (9.6.1) to

$$\frac{dz_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{ij} z_j + \tilde{h}_i f(z_{n+1}), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
$$\frac{dz_{n+1}}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n c_j z_j - \rho f(z_{n+1}). \tag{9.6.12}$$

Following the proof of Theorems 9.6.3 and 9.6.4 we have the following results.

THEOREM 9.6.5. *The zero solution of system* (9.6.12) *is absolutely stable if and only if* 

- (1) the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_{n+1}$ ;
- (2) the matrix  $B = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A} & \tilde{h} \\ c^T & -\rho \end{bmatrix}$  is Hurwitz stable, where  $\tilde{h} = (\tilde{h}_1, \dots, \tilde{h}_n)^T$ ,  $c^T = (c_1, \dots, c_n)$ .

THEOREM 9.6.6. *The zero solution of system* (9.6.12) *is absolutely stable if and only if* 

- (1) the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $z_j, \ldots, z_{n+1}$   $(1 < j \le n+1)$ ;
- (2) condition (2) in Theorem 9.6.5 is satisfied.

Theorems 9.6.5 and 9.6.6 can be proved analogously.

From the above theorems, we can see that the key step is to determine the stability with respect to partial variables. In the following, we present some sufficient conditions for the stability with respect to partial variables. Since  $\rho \ge 0$  is the necessary condition for the absolute stability, in the following we suppose  $\rho > 0$ .

THEOREM 9.6.7. If there exist some constants  $\tilde{c}_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n + 1) such that

$$-\tilde{c}_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} \ge \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq 1}}^{n+1} \tilde{c}_{i}|\tilde{a}_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n+1,$$
(9.6.13)

then the zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$ .

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} \tilde{c}_i |y_i|,$$

for  $y_{n+1} \neq 0$ . Here, V(y) > 0 and V(y) is positive definite and radially unbounded for  $y_{n+1}$ . Next, we show that

$$D^{+}V|_{(9.6.3)} \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n+1} \left[ \tilde{c}_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq 1}}^{n+1} \tilde{c}_{i}|\tilde{a}_{ij}| \right] |y_{j}(t)| - \rho \tilde{c}_{n+1} |f(y_{n+1})| \leqslant -\rho \tilde{c}_{n+1} |f(y_{n+1})| < 0 \quad \text{when } y_{n+1} \neq 0.$$

$$(9.6.14)$$

Therefore,  $D^+V|_{(9.6.3)}$  is negatively definite for  $y_{n+1}$ , indicating that the zero solution of system (9.5.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$ .  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 9.6.8. If there exist some constants  $r_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n + 1) such that

$$-r_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} \ge \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} r_{i}|\tilde{a}_{ij}| + r_{n+1}|c_{j}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
$$r_{n+1}\rho > \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_{i}|\tilde{h}_{i}|, \tag{9.6.15}$$

then the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_{n+1}$ .

PROOF. We choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} r_i |z_i|.$$

and then obtain

$$D^{+}V|_{(9.6.12)} \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ r_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |\tilde{a}_{ij}|r_{i} + r_{n+1}|c_{j}| \right] |z_{j}| \\ + \left[ -\rho r_{n+1} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_{i}|\tilde{h}_{i}| \right] |f(z_{n+1})| \\ \leqslant \left[ -\rho r_{n+1} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_{i}|\tilde{h}_{i}| \right] |f(z_{n+1})| < 0 \\ \text{for } z_{n+1} \neq 0.$$

$$(9.6.16)$$

Consequently, the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_{n+1}$ .

THEOREM 9.6.9. If there exist some constants  $r_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$\begin{aligned} -r_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} &\ge \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |\tilde{a}_{ij}|r_{i} + r_{n+1}|c_{j}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ j \neq j_{0}, \\ r_{n+1}\rho &\ge \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1}}^{n} r_{i}|\tilde{h}_{i}|, \\ -r_{j_{0}}\tilde{a}_{j_{0}j_{0}} &> \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j_{0}}}^{n} |\tilde{a}_{ij}|r_{i} + r_{n+1}|c_{j_{0}}|, \end{aligned}$$

then the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_{i_0}$ .

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} r_i |z_i|,$$

and we then obtain

$$D^{+}V|_{(9.6.12)} \leqslant \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq j_{0}}}^{n} \left[ r_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |a_{ij}|r_{i} + r_{n+1}|c_{j}| \right] |z_{j}| + \left[ -\rho r_{n+1} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_{i}|\tilde{h}_{i}| \right] |f(z_{n+1})|$$

9.6. NASCs of absolute stability for indirect control systems

$$\leq \left[ r_{j_0} \tilde{a}_{j_0 j_0} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j_0}}^n |a_{ij_0}| r_i + r_{n+1} |c_{j_0}| \right] |z_{j_0}| < 0$$
  
for  $|z_{j_0}| \neq 0.$  (9.6.17)

This shows that the zero solution system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_{j_0}$ . The conclusion is true.

THEOREM 9.6.10. If there exists a symmetric and positive semi-definite matrix in the form

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} b_{11} & \cdots & b_{1n} & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots\\ b_{n1} & \cdots & b_{nn} & 0\\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & b_{n+1,n+1} \end{bmatrix}, \quad where \ b_{n+1,n+1} > 0 \tag{9.6.18}$$

such that  $\tilde{A}^T B + B\tilde{A}$  is negative semi-definite, then the zero solution of system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$ .

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function  $V(y) = y^T By$ . Then,

$$V(y) \ge b_{n+1,n+1}y_{n+1}^2 \to +\infty \text{ as } |y_{n+1}| \to \infty,$$

and V(y) > 0 for  $y_{n+1} \neq 0$ . Let

$$\tilde{h} = (\overbrace{0,\ldots,0}^{n}, -\rho)^{T}.$$

Then,

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.6.3)} = y^T B y + y^T B y 
= y^T \tilde{A}^T B y + y^T B A y + (\tilde{h}^T B y + y^T B \tilde{h}) f(y_{n+1}) 
= y^T (\tilde{A}^T B + B \tilde{A}) y - \rho b_{n+1,n+1} f(y_{n+1}) y_{n+1} 
\leqslant -\rho b_{n+1,n+1} f(y_{n+1}) \cdot y_{n+1} < 0, \text{ for } y_{n+1} \neq 0.$$
(9.6.19)

This completes the proof of Theorem 9.6.10.

THEOREM 9.6.11. If there exist a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  and the symmetric positive definite matrix B of (n + 1)-order such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}^T B + B \tilde{A} & B \tilde{h} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}_{n+1} + \varepsilon e_n \\ (B \tilde{h} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}_{n+1} + \varepsilon e_n)^T & -\rho \end{bmatrix}$$

427

is negative semi-definite, where

$$\tilde{A}_{n+1} = (\tilde{a}_{n+1,1}, \dots, \tilde{a}_{n+1,n+1})^T,$$
  

$$\tilde{h} = (0, \dots, 0, -\rho)^T, \qquad e_n = (0, \dots, 0, 1)^T,$$
  

$$\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} f(y_{n+1}) \, dy_{n+1} = +\infty,$$

then the zero solution system (9.6.3) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_{n+1}$ .

PROOF. Take a Lyapunov function as follows:

$$V = y^{T} B y + \int_{0}^{y_{n+1}} f(y_{n+1}) \, dy_{n+1}.$$
(9.6.20)

Obviously,

$$V(y) \ge \int_{0}^{y_{n+1}} f(y_{n+1}) \, dy_{n+1} > 0 \quad \text{for } y_{n+1} \neq 0,$$

and  $V(y) \to +\infty$  as  $|y_{n+1}| \to +\infty$ . Further, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{dV}{dt} \bigg|_{(9.6.3)} &= y^T B y + y^T B y + \left[\tilde{A}_{n+1} y - \rho f(y_{n+1})\right] f(y_{n+1}) \\ &= \left[\tilde{A} y + \tilde{h} f(y_{n+1})\right]^T B y + y^T B \left[\tilde{A} y + \tilde{h} f(y_{n+1})\right] \\ &+ \left[\tilde{A}_{n+1} y - \rho f(y_{n+1})\right] f(y_{n+1}) \\ &= y^T \tilde{A} B y + y^T B \tilde{A} y + \left[\tilde{h}^T B y + y^T B \tilde{h} + \tilde{A}_{n+1} y\right] f(y_{n+1}) \\ &- \rho f^2(y_{n+1}) \\ &= \left( \begin{array}{c} y_1 \\ \vdots \\ y_{n+1} \\ f(y_{nn}) \end{array} \right)^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} \tilde{A}^T B + B \tilde{A} & B \tilde{h} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}_{n+1} + \varepsilon e_n \\ (B \tilde{h} + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{A}_{n+1} + \varepsilon e_n)^T & -\rho \end{array} \right] \\ &\times \left( \begin{array}{c} y_1 \\ \vdots \\ y_{n+1} \\ f(y_{n+1}) \end{array} \right) \end{split}$$

$$-\begin{pmatrix} y_{1} \\ y_{2} \\ \vdots \\ y_{n+1} \\ f(y_{n+1}) \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon e_{n} \\ (\varepsilon e_{n})^{T} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_{1} \\ y_{2} \\ \vdots \\ y_{n+1} \\ f(y_{n+1}) \end{pmatrix}$$
  

$$\leq -2\varepsilon y_{n+1} f(y_{n+1}) < 0 \quad \text{for } y_{n+1} \neq 0. \tag{9.6.21}$$
  
m 9.6.11 is proved.

Theorem 9.6.11 is proved.

THEOREM 9.6.12. Suppose that there exists an  $n \times n$  symmetric positive matrix B such that  $\tilde{A}^T B + B \tilde{A} = -P$  is negative semi-definite, and there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} P & -(Bh^* + \frac{1}{2}c) \\ -(Bh^* + \frac{1}{2}c)^T & \rho - \varepsilon \end{bmatrix} \ge 0,$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} f(z_{n+1}) dz_{n+1} = +\infty.$$
(9.6.22)

Then the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to par*tial variable*  $z_{n+1}$ *, where* 

 $h^* = \left(\tilde{h}_1, \dots, \tilde{h}_n\right)^T.$ 

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = z^T B z + \int_{0}^{x_{n+1}} f(z_{n+1}) dz_{n+1},$$

where  $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)^T$ . Obviously, V(z) is positively definite for  $z_{n+1}$  and  $V(z) \rightarrow \infty$  as  $z_{n+1} \rightarrow \infty$ . Further, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV(z)}{dt} \bigg|_{(9.6.12)} &= z^T B z + z^T B z + z_n f(_{n+1}) \\ &= z^T \left( \tilde{A}^T B + B \tilde{A} \right) z + \left( h^{*T} B z + z^T B h^* + c^T z \right) f(z_{n+1}) \\ &- \rho f^2(z_{n+1}) \\ &= -z^T P I + 2 f(z_{n+1}) \left( B h^* + \frac{1}{2} c \right)^T z - \rho f^2(z_{n+1}) \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} z_1 \\ \vdots \\ z_n \\ f(z_{n+1}) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -P & (B h^* + \frac{1}{2} c) \\ (B h^* + \frac{1}{2} c)^T & -\rho + \varepsilon \end{bmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

$$\times \begin{pmatrix} z_1 \\ \vdots \\ z_n \\ f(z_{n+1}) \end{pmatrix} - \varepsilon f^2(z_{n+1})$$
  
$$\leqslant -\varepsilon f^2(z_{n+1}) < 0.$$
(9.6.23)

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.6.12) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_{n+1}$ . The proof of Theorem 9.6.12 is finished.

EXAMPLE 9.6.13. Consider the third-order system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = 0x_1 - x_2 + f(\sigma), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = x_1 + 0x_2 - f(\sigma), \\ \frac{d\sigma}{dt} = -x_1 + x_2 - \rho f(\sigma), \end{cases}$$
(9.6.24)

where  $\rho > 0$ ,  $f(\sigma) \in F_{\infty}$ ) and  $\int_{0}^{\pm \infty} f(\sigma) d\sigma = +\infty$ , and  $A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ .

Given an arbitrary positive definite matrix P, the Lyapunov matrix  $A^T B + BA = -P$  does not have positive definite matrix solution, and thus the conventional method fails. Using our method described above, we can prove the stability. To achieve this, we choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x,\sigma) = \frac{1}{2} \left( x_1^2 + x_2^2 \right) + \int_0^\sigma f(\sigma) \, d\sigma,$$

and then obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.6.24)} = -x_1x_2 + x_1f(\sigma) + x_1x_2 - x_2f(\sigma) - x_1f(\sigma)$$
$$+ x_2f(\sigma) - \rho f^2(\sigma)$$
$$= -\rho f^2(\sigma) < 0 \quad \text{for } \sigma \neq 0.$$

Then, the zero solution of system (9.6.24) is absolutely stable with respect to  $\sigma$ . Let  $f(\sigma) \equiv \sigma$ . Then, we have the following system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = 0x_1 - x_2 + \sigma, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = x_1 + 0x_2 - \sigma, \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} = -x_1 + x_2 - \rho\sigma. \end{cases}$$
(9.6.25)

The characteristic polynomial of the above system is

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & 1 & -1 \\ -1 & \lambda & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & \lambda + \rho \end{bmatrix} = \lambda^2 (\rho + \lambda) + \lambda + \lambda + \lambda + \rho$$

9.6. NASCs of absolute stability for indirect control systems

$$= \lambda^3 + \rho \lambda^2 + 3\lambda + \rho = 0$$

which is a Hurwitz polynomial if and only if

$$\rho > 0, \quad \Delta_1 = 3 > 0, \quad \Delta_2 = \begin{vmatrix} 3 & \rho \\ 1 & \rho \end{vmatrix} = 2\rho > 0.$$

One can verify that when  $\rho > 0$ , the conditions of Theorem 9.6.3 are satisfied, and therefore the zero solution of system (9.6.24) is absolutely stable.

In the following, we give an application to the second canonical form [226]. Consider the second canonical form of control system:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -\rho_i x_i + \sigma \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$
  
$$\frac{d\sigma}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j x_j - p\sigma - rf(\sigma), \qquad (9.6.26)$$

with constants  $p > 0, r > 0, \rho_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n).

THEOREM 9.6.14. (See [246].) If

$$p \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1 + \operatorname{sign}(\beta_i)}{2}\right) \frac{\beta_i}{\rho_i},\tag{9.6.27}$$

then the zero solution of system (9.6.26) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x,\sigma) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_i x_i^2 + \sigma^2,$$

where

$$c_i = \begin{cases} -\beta_i & \text{if } \beta_i < 0, \\ \varepsilon_i, \ 0 < \varepsilon_i \ll 1, & \text{if } \beta_i = 0, \\ \beta_i & \text{if } \beta_i > 0. \end{cases}$$

One can show that

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.6.26)} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \\ \sigma \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -2c_1\rho_1 & 0 & \cdots & (c_1 + \beta_1) \\ 0 & -2c_1\rho_2 & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & (c_n + \beta_n) \\ (c_1 + \beta_1) & (c_2 + \beta_2) & -2p \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\times \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \\ \sigma \end{pmatrix} - 2r\sigma f(\sigma)$$
  
$$\leqslant -2r\sigma f(\sigma) < 0 \quad \text{for } \sigma \neq 0. \tag{9.6.28}$$

Then the zero solution of (9.6.26) is absolutely stable about  $\sigma$ .

On the other hand, let  $f(\sigma) = \sigma$  in (9.6.26). Then the following equalities are valid:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -\rho_i x_i + \sigma,$$

$$\frac{d\sigma}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j x_j - (p+r)\sigma.$$
(9.6.29)

Applying the Lyapunov function  $V(x, \sigma) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i x_i^2 + \sigma^2$ , we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.6.26)} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \\ \sigma \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -2c_1\rho_1 & 0 & \cdots & (c_1 + \beta_1) \\ 0 & -2c_1\rho_2 & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & (c_n + \beta_n) \\ (c_1 + \beta_1) & \cdots & -(c_n + \beta_n) & -2p - 2r \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \\ \sigma \end{pmatrix}.$$
(9.6.30)

Since

$$D = \frac{1}{2^{n-2}} \begin{vmatrix} 2c_1\rho_1 & 0 & \cdots & -(c_1 + \beta_1) \\ 0 & 2c_2\rho_2 & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ 0 & 0 & 2c_n\beta_n & -(c_n\beta_n) \\ -(c_1 + \beta_1) & \cdots & -(c_n + \beta_n) & 2p + 2r \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= 4 \prod_{i=1}^n c_i\rho_i(p+r) - \sum_{j=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^n c_i\rho_i(c_j + \alpha_j)^2$$
$$\geqslant 4 \prod_{i=1}^n c_i\rho_ir > 0,$$

so  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.6.29)}$  is negative definite. Hence, the coefficient matrix of system (9.6.29) is stable. By Theorem 9.6.3 we know that the zero solution of system (9.6.26) is absolutely stable. The proof is complete.

As a particular example of system (9.6.26), we consider the equation of the longitudinal motion of an air plane:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -\rho_i x_i + \sigma, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4, \dots, 
\frac{d\sigma}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i x_i - r p_2 \sigma - f(\sigma),$$
(9.6.31)

where  $r\rho_2 > 0$ ,  $\rho_i > 0$ ,  $f(\sigma) \in F_{\infty}$ . It is known that some stability parametric region are given as [316,346]

(1)

$$\min \rho_i^2 r^2 p_2^2 - 16 \left( \sum_{i=1}^4 \beta_i^2 \right) > 0, \tag{9.6.32}$$

(2)

$$\min_{1 \le i \le 4} \rho_i r p_2 - 4 \max_{1 \le i \le 4} |\beta_i| > 0, \tag{9.6.33}$$

(3)

$$\min \rho_i^2 r^2 p_2^2 - 4\left(\sum_{i=1}^4 \beta_i^2\right) > 0.$$
(9.6.34)

As a corollary, we have the following result.

COROLLARY 9.6.15. If

$$rp_2 \geqslant \sum_{j=1}^{4} \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + \operatorname{sign}(\beta_i) \right) \frac{\beta_i}{\rho_i}, \tag{9.6.35}$$

then the zero solution of system (9.6.27) is absolutely stable.

Let

$$R=\min_{1\leqslant i\leqslant 4}\rho_i r p_i.$$

Then the stability parameter regions defined in (9.6.32)–(9.6.34) have the following geometric interpretations, as shown in Figure 9.6.1.



(d)

Figure 9.6.1. Stable parameter regimes for (a)  $\sum_{i=1}^{4} \beta_i^2 < \frac{R}{4}$ ; (b)  $\max_{1 \le i \le 4} |\beta_i| < \frac{R}{4}$ ; (c)  $\max_{1 \le i \le 4} |\beta_i| < \frac{R}{2}$ ; and (d)  $rp_2 \ge \sum_{i=1}^{4} \frac{1+\operatorname{sign} \beta_i}{\rho_i} \frac{\beta_i}{\rho_i}$ .

## 9.7. NASCs of absolute stability for direct and critical control system

In this section, we discuss the necessary and sufficient condition (NASC) of absolute stability for direct and critical Lurie control systems. For most of results, we only present the conclusions, but omit the detailed proofs because the proofs are similar to those given in the previous section. Without loss generality, let  $c_{11} \neq 0$ . By the topological transformation:

$$\begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ \cdots \\ y_n \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & & & \vdots & \\ c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & \cdots & c_n \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \cdots \\ x_n \end{pmatrix},$$

which is simply denoted as y = Gx.

We can transform system (9.1.1) to a system with separate variables:

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{ij} y_j + \tilde{b}_i f(y_n), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n-1,$$
$$\frac{dy_n}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{nj} y_j + \tilde{b}_n f(y_n), \tag{9.7.1}$$

where  $y_n = \sigma$  is an independent variable. The absolute stabilities of the zero solution of (9.1.1) and (9.7.1) are equivalent. Here,

$$\tilde{a}_{ij} = \left(a_{ij} - \frac{a_{in}}{c_n}c_j\right) \quad (i, j = 1, 2, ..., n - 1),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{in} = \frac{a_{in}}{c_n} \quad (i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{nj} = \sum_{j=1}^n c_i a_{ij} - \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \frac{a_{in}}{c_n}c_j \quad (j = 1, 2, ..., n - 1),$$

$$\tilde{a}_{nn} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n c_i a_{in}}{a_{in}},$$

$$\tilde{b}_i = b_i, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n - 1, \quad \tilde{b}_n = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i b_i.$$
(9.7.2)

THEOREM 9.7.1. When system (9.1.1) is a direct control system, i.e., A is Hurwitz stable, then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable if and only if the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_n$ .

PROOF. One can follow the proof of Theorem 9.6.3 to prove this theorem.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 9.7.2. When A is Hurwitz stable, then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable it and only if the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $y_1, \ldots, y_n$ .

PROOF. If the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_n$  ( $1 \le j \le n$ ). Particularly, it is absolutely stable with respect to variable  $y_n$ . So the conditions of Theorem 9.7.1 are satisfied. On the other hand, if the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable, and in particular, it is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $x_j, x_{j+1}, \ldots, x_n$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^n c_i x_i$  is absolutely stable. However, since  $y_i = x_i$ , i = j, j + 1, ..., n - 1,

and

$$y_n = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i x_i,$$

the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $y_j, \ldots, y_n$ .

THEOREM 9.7.3. When  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ , the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable if and only if

- (1) the matrix  $A + bc^T$  is stable;
- (2) the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_n$ .

**PROOF.** Necessity. Take  $f(\sigma) = \sigma$ . Then system (9.1.1) becomes

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = (A + bc^T)x. (9.7.3)$$

So  $A + bc^T$  must be stable, i.e., condition (1) holds. The absolute stability of the zero solution of system (9.1.1) implies the absolute stability of the zero solution with respect to  $y_n$ , i.e., condition (2) holds.

Sufficiency. We rewrite system (9.1.1) as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = (A + bc^{T})x + bf(\sigma) - b\sigma.$$
(9.7.4)

Since the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_n$ ,  $bf(\sigma(t)) - b\sigma(t) \rightarrow 0$  as  $t \rightarrow +\infty$ . Since  $A + bc^T$  is stable, similar to the proof of Theorem 9.6.3 one can finish the proof of this theorem.

EXAMPLE 9.7.4. Suppose  $A(a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  of (9.1.1) is Hurwitz stable, and the coefficients of (9.7.1) satisfy

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \tilde{a}_{nj}^2 = 0 \text{ and } \tilde{a}_{nn} \leqslant 0; \quad \tilde{b}_n = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i b_i < 0,$$

or

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \tilde{a}_{nj}^2 = 0 \text{ and } \tilde{a}_{nn} < 0; \quad \tilde{b}_n = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i b_i \leqslant 0.$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable.

We can choose the Lyapunov function  $V(y) = y_n^2$  to show that

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.7.1)} = 2\tilde{a}_{nn}y_n^2 + 2\sum_{i=1}^n c_i b_i y_n f(y_n) < 0 \quad \text{when } y_n \neq 0.$$

Thus, by Theorem 9.7.2 we know that the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 9.7.5. When  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ , the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable if and only if

- the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables y<sub>j</sub>, y<sub>j+1</sub>,..., y<sub>n</sub>;
- (2)  $A + bc^T$  is stable.

THEOREM 9.7.6. When  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ , the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable if and only if

- (1) the zero solution of system (9.1.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_n$ ;
- (2) there exists a constant vector  $\eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_n)^T$  such that the matrix  $\tilde{B}(\tilde{b}_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is stable, where

$$\tilde{b}_{ij} = \begin{cases} \tilde{a}_{ij}, & 1 \leq i \leq n, \ 1 \leq j \leq n-1, \\ \tilde{a}_{in} + \eta_i, & 1 \leq i \leq n, \ j = n. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. *Necessity*. The existence of  $\eta$  is obvious. For example, take  $\eta = b$ . *Sufficiency*. We rewrite system (9.7.1) as

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \tilde{b}_{ij} y_j + \tilde{b}_i f(y_n) - \eta_i y_n, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

By the method of constant variation formula, the solution  $y(t) = y(t, t_0, y_0)$  can be expressed as

$$y(t, t_0, y_0)e^{\tilde{B}(t-t_0)}y_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{\tilde{B}(t-\tau)}\tilde{b}f(y_n(\tau))d\tau - \int_{t_0}^t e^{\tilde{B}(t-\tau)}\eta y_n(\tau)d\tau.$$

Similar to the proof of Theorem 9.6.3, one can show that the conclusion is true.  $\Box$ 

EXAMPLE 9.7.7. If the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to  $y_n$ , and

$$\tilde{A}_{(n-1)} := \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n-1} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \tilde{a}_{n-11} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{n-1,n-1} \end{bmatrix}_{(n-1)\times(n-1)}$$

is Hurwitz stable, then the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable.

In fact, as an application of Theorem 9.7.6, we take  $\eta_i = -\tilde{a}_{in}$   $(1 \le i \le n-1)$ ,  $\eta_n = -\tilde{a}_{nn} - 1$ . Thus,

$$\tilde{B}(\tilde{b}_{ij})_{n \times n} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}_{n-1} & 0 \\ & 0 \\ & & \vdots \\ \tilde{a}_{n1} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{n,n-1} & -1 \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n}$$

where the matrix  $\tilde{A}_{n-1}(\tilde{a}_{ij})_{(n-1)\times(n-1)}$  is stable, implying that  $\tilde{B}(\tilde{b}_{ij})_{n\times n}$  is stable. So the conditions of Theorem 9.7.6 are satisfied.

THEOREM 9.7.8. If the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $y_{i+1}, \ldots, y_n$   $(1 \le j \le n)$ , and the matrix

$$\tilde{A}^{(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{a}_{11} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{1j} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \tilde{a}_{j1} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{jj} \end{bmatrix}$$

it Hurwitz stable, then the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. Let

$$y^{(j)}(t) := y^{(j)}(t, t_0, y_0) := (y_1(t_1, t_0, y_0), \dots, y_j(t, t_0, y_0))^T,$$
  

$$y^{(n-j)}(t) = y^{(n-j)}(t, t_0, y_0) = (y_{j+1}(t_1, t_0, y_0), \dots, y_n(t_1, t_0, y_0))^T,$$
  

$$b^{(j)} := (\tilde{h}_1, \dots, \tilde{b}_j)^T,$$
  

$$b^{(n-j)} := (\tilde{b}_{j+1}, \dots, \tilde{b}_n)^T,$$
  

$$\tilde{A}^{(n-j)} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{a}_{1j+1} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{jj+1} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{jn} \end{bmatrix}.$$

The first j components of the solution of system (9.7.1) satisfy

$$y^{(j)}(t) = e^{A_{(j)}(t-t_0)} y^{(j)}(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t e^{A^{(j)}(t-\tau)} \tilde{A}_r^{(n-j)} y^{(n-j)}(\tau) d\tau + \int_{t_0}^t e^{A^{(j)}(t-\tau)} A^{(n-j)} f(y_n(\tau)) d\tau.$$
(9.7.5)

Then following the proof for the sufficiency of Theorem 9.7.1, one can prove that the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable.

In the following, we give some sufficient conditions for absolute stability with respect to partial variables.

THEOREM 9.7.9. Let  $\tilde{A}_n = (\tilde{a}_{n1}, \tilde{a}_{n2}, \dots, \tilde{a}_{nn})^T$ . If there exists a function

$$V = y^T B y + \int_0^{y_n} f(y_n) \, dy_n$$

which is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to partial variable  $y_n$ , and moreover, there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that the matrix

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^T B + B\tilde{A} & B\tilde{b} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{A}_n + \varepsilon e_n \\ (B\tilde{b} + \frac{1}{2}\tilde{A}_n + \varepsilon e_n)^T & b_n \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative semi-definite, then the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $y_n$ .

PROOF. By employing the Lyapunov function:

$$V(y) = y^T B y + \int_0^{y_n} f(y_n) \, dy_n,$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.7.1)} &= \dot{y}^T B y + y^T B \dot{y} + \left[\tilde{A}_n y + \tilde{b}_n f(y_n)\right] f(y_n) \\ &= \left[\tilde{A} y + \tilde{b}_n f(y_n)\right]^T B y + y^T B \left[\tilde{A} y + \tilde{b} f(y_n)\right] \\ &+ \left[\tilde{A}_n y + \tilde{b}_n f(y_n)\right] f(y_n) \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ \vdots \\ y_n \\ f(y_n) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}^T B + B \tilde{A} & B \tilde{b} + \frac{1}{2} A_n + \varepsilon e_n \\ (B \tilde{b} + \frac{1}{2} A_n + \varepsilon e_n)^T & \tilde{b}_n \end{bmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ \vdots \\ y_n \\ f(y_n) \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ \vdots \\ y_n \\ f(y_n) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \varepsilon e_n \\ (\varepsilon e_n)^T & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ \vdots \\ y_n \\ f(y_n) \end{pmatrix} \\ &\leqslant -2\varepsilon y_n f(y_n) < 0 \quad \text{when } y_n \neq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to  $y_n$ .  $\Box$ 

Note that  $\tilde{b}_n \leq 0$  is the necessary condition for absolute stability. Let  $b_n < 0$ . By a nonsingular linear transformation z = Hy, where

$$H := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & \frac{-b_1}{b_n} \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & \frac{-b_2}{b_n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \cdots & -\frac{b_{n-1}}{b_n} \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

we can transform system (9.7.1) to

$$\frac{dz_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij} z_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n-1,$$
  
$$\frac{dz_n}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n d_{nj} z_i + \tilde{b}_n f(z_n), \qquad (9.7.6)$$

where  $D(d_{ij}) = H\tilde{A}H^{-1}$ . Let  $\tilde{b}^* = (0, \dots, 0, \tilde{b}_n)^T$ . We have the following result.

THEOREM 9.7.10. Assume that there exists a matrix, given in the form:

$$S = \begin{bmatrix} s_{11} & \cdots & s_{1,n-1} & 0 \\ \vdots & & & \vdots \\ s_{n-1,1} & \cdots & s_{n-1,n-1} & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & s_{nn} \end{bmatrix} = S^T,$$

which is positive definite, such that  $SD + D^T S$  is negative semi-definite. Then the zero solution of system (9.7.6) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_n$ .

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function  $V(t) = z^T S z$ , which is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to partial variable  $z_n$ . Further, we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.7.9)} = \dot{z}^T sz + z^T S \dot{z}$$

$$= z^T D^T Sz + z^T S Dz + (z^T S \tilde{b}^* + \tilde{n}^{*T} Sz) f(z_n)$$

$$= z^T (SD + D^T S) z + (2\tilde{b}_n s_{nn}) f(z_n) \cdot z_n$$

$$\leq 2\tilde{b}_n s_{nn} f(z_n) z_n < 0 \quad \text{when } z_n \neq 0.$$

Thus, the zero solution of system (9.7.6) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_n$ .

COROLLARY 9.7.11. If there exist constants  $p_i \ge 0$ , i = 1, ..., n - 1,  $p_n > 0$  such that

$$PD + P^TP$$

is negative semi-definite, then the zero solution of system (9.7.6) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_n$ , where

$$P = \operatorname{diag}(p_1, p_2, \ldots, p_n).$$

PROOF. Take the Lyapunov function:

$$V(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i z_i^2$$

which is positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to partial variable  $z_n$ . Then we have

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.7.1)} = z^T (PD + D^T P) z + 2p_n \tilde{b}_n f(z_n) z_n$$
$$\leqslant 2p_n \tilde{b}_n z_n f(z_n) < 0 \quad \text{when } z_n \neq 0.$$

Thus, the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable  $z_n$ .

THEOREM 9.7.12. Assume that there exist positive constant  $\xi_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$-\xi_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} \ge \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|\tilde{a}_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1,$$
(9.7.7)

$$-\xi_n \tilde{a}_{nn} \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \xi_i |\tilde{a}_{in}|, \tag{9.7.8}$$

$$-\xi_n \tilde{b}_{nn} \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \xi_i |\tilde{b}_i|.$$
(9.7.9)

- If the strict inequalities hold in equations (9.7.8) or (9.7.9), then the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variable y<sub>n</sub>.
- (2) If the  $(n j_0 + 1)$  strict inequalities hold in (9.7.7), let

n

$$-\xi_j \tilde{a}_{jj} > \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \xi_i |\tilde{a}_{ij}|, \quad j = j_0, \, j_0 + 1, \dots, n-1,$$

then the zero solution of system (9.7.1) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $y_{j_0}, y_{j_0+1}, \ldots, y_{n-1}$ .

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i |y_i|$$

which is positive definite and radially unbounded. Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} D^{+}V(y)|_{(9.7.1)} &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \xi_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|\tilde{a}_{ij}| \right] |y_{j}| + \left[ \xi_{n}\tilde{b}_{n} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \xi_{i}|\tilde{b}_{i}| \right] |f(y_{n})| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \xi_{n}\tilde{a}_{nn} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} |\tilde{a}_{in}| \right] |y_{n}| + \left[ \xi_{n}\tilde{b}_{n} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \xi_{i}|\tilde{b}_{i}| \right] |f(y_{n})| \\ &< 0 \quad \text{for } y_{n} \neq 0 \text{ (when condition (1) holds),} \end{aligned}$$

$$D^{+}V(y)|_{(9.7.1)} \leq \sum_{j=j_{0}}^{n} \left[ \xi_{j}\tilde{a}_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|\tilde{a}_{ij}| \right] |y_{j}| + \left[ \xi_{n}\tilde{b}_{n} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \xi_{i}|\tilde{b}_{i}| \right] |f(y_{n})|$$
  
< 0 for  $y_{n} \neq 0$  (when condition (2) holds)

So, the conclusion is true.

## **9.8.** NASCs of absolute stability for control systems with multiple nonlinear controls

Consider the control system with m nonlinear control terms

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + \sum_{j=1}^{m} b_j f_j(\sigma_j), \\ \sigma_j = c_j^T x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{ij} x_i, \quad j = 1, \dots, m, \end{cases}$$
(9.8.1)

where

$$A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}, \quad x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T, \\ b_j = (b_{1j}, \dots, b_{nj})^T, \quad c_j = (c_{1j}, \dots, c_{nj})^T, \\ f_i \in F = \{ f: f(0) = 0, f(\sigma)\sigma > 0, \sigma \neq 0, f(\sigma) \in [(-\infty, +\infty), \mathbb{R}^1] \}, \\ j = 1, \dots, m, \end{cases}$$

with  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ . Let

$$\Omega_{i} = \{x: \ \sigma_{i} = c_{i}^{T} x = 0\}, \quad i = 1, \dots, m,$$
$$\Omega = \left\{x: \ \|\sigma\| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |\sigma_{j}| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} |c_{j}^{T} x| = 0\right\}.$$

DEFINITION 9.8.1. The zero solution of system (9.8.1) is said to be absolutely stable for the set  $\Omega$  ( $\Omega_j$ ) if for any  $f_j(\sigma_j) \in F$  (j = 1, ..., m) and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exists  $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that if  $||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , then the distance from the solution  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0)$  to the set  $\Omega$  ( $\Omega_j$ ) satisfies

$$\rho(x, \Omega) := \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left| c_j^T x(t) \right| < \varepsilon \quad \left( \rho(x, \Omega_j) := \left| c_j^T x(t) \right| < \varepsilon \right)$$

and such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left| c_j^T x(t) \right| = 0 \quad \left( \lim_{t \to +\infty} \left| c_j^T x(t) \right| = 0 \right)$$

for every  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

DEFINITION 9.8.2. The function  $V(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  is said to be positive definite with respect to the set  $\Omega(\Omega_i)$  if

$$V(x) \begin{cases} = 0 & \text{for } x \in \Omega, \\ > 0 & \text{for } x \notin \Omega. \end{cases} \quad \left( V(x) = \begin{cases} = 0 & \text{for } x \in \Omega_j, \\ > 0 & \text{for } x \notin \Omega_j. \end{cases} \right)$$

The function  $V(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  is said to be negative definite with respect to the set  $\Omega(\Omega_j)$  if -V(x) is positive definite for  $\Omega(\Omega_j)$ .

DEFINITION 9.8.3. The function  $V(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  is said to be positive definite and radially unbounded for  $\Omega(\Omega_j)$  if V(x) is positive definite for  $\Omega(\Omega_j)$  and  $V(x) \to +\infty$  as  $\sum_{j=1}^m |\sigma_j| \to +\infty (|\sigma_j| \to +\infty)$ .

THEOREM 9.8.4. The necessary and sufficient conditions of absolute stability for the zero solution of system (9.8.1) are

- (1)  $B = A + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \theta_j b_j c_j^T$  is Hurwitz stable with  $\theta_j = 1$  or  $\theta_j = 0, j = 1, \dots, m$ ;
- (2) the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable with respect to  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. Necessity. (1) In the case  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) < 0$ , we take  $\theta_j = 0, \ j = 1, \dots, m$ , and B = A. Then B is obviously Hurwitz stable. In the case  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0$ , we

take some  $\theta_j = 1$ . Let  $f_j(\sigma_j) = \sigma_j = c_j^T x$  (j = 1, ..., m). Then system (9.8.1) can be transformed into

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \left[A + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \theta_j b_j c_j^T\right] x.$$

Therefore,

$$B = A + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \theta_j b_j c_j^T$$

is Hurwitz stable.

(2) For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , choose

$$\bar{\varepsilon} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\sum_{j=1}^m \|c_j^T\|}.$$

There exists  $\delta(\bar{\varepsilon}) > 0$  such that if  $||x_0|| < \delta(\bar{\varepsilon})$ , then

$$||x(t)|| := ||x(t, t_0, x_0)|| := \sum_{j=1}^m |x_j(t)| < \bar{\varepsilon} \text{ for all } t \ge t_0.$$

This implies that

$$\sum_{j=1}^m \|c_j^T x(t)\| \leq \sum_{j=1}^m \|c_j^T\| \|x(t)\| < \sum_{j=1}^m \|c_j^T\| \bar{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \quad \text{for all } t \ge t_0.$$

Furthermore, we have  $\lim_{t\to+\infty} ||x(t)|| = 0$  for every  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , and thus

$$0 \leqslant \lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \|c_j^T x(t)\| \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{m} \|c_j^T\| \lim_{t \to +\infty} \|x(t)\| = 0.$$

Consequently, the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable for  $\Omega$ . The necessity is proved.

*Sufficiency*. In accordance with the method of constant variation, the solution  $x(t) := x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of system (9.8.1) satisfies

$$x(t) = e^{B(t-t_0)} x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{B(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau)) - \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j b_j \sigma_j(\tau) \right] d\tau.$$

Since *B* is stable, there exist constants  $M \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\left\|e^{B(t-t_0)}\right\| \leq Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \quad \text{for } t \geq t_0$$

Define  $\sigma_j(t) = \sigma_j(t, t_0, x_0)$ . Since  $\sigma = \sum_{j=1}^n |\sigma_j(t)| \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ , we have  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma_j(t) = 0$ . Because  $\sigma_j(t)$  continuously depends on the initial value  $x_0$ 

and  $f_j(\sigma_j(t))$  is a composite continuous function of  $x_0$  and  $f_j(\sigma_j(t)) \to +\infty$ as  $t \to +\infty$ , thus for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exist  $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  and  $t_1 > t_0$  such that  $||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$  implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| e^{B(t-t_0)} x_0 \right\| &\leq \left\| e^{B(t-t_0)} \right\| \|x_0\| < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}, \\ \int_{t_0}^{t_1} M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m \left\| b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau)) \right\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \left\| b_j \sigma_j(\tau) \right\| \right] d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\int_{t_1}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m \left\| b_j f_j (\sigma_j(\tau)) \right\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \left\| b_j \sigma_j(\tau) \right\| \right] d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|x(t)\| &\leq \|e^{B(t-\tau)}x_0\| \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^{t_1} Me^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \bigg[ \sum_{j=1}^m \|b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau))\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \|b_j \sigma_j(\tau)\| \bigg] d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t_1}^t Me^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \bigg[ \sum_{j=1}^m \|b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau))\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \|b_j \sigma_j(\tau)\| \bigg] d\tau \\ &< \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

For any  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , by the L'Hospital rule, we get

$$0 \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \|x(t)\|$$
  
$$\leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$
  
$$+ \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m \|b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau))\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \|b_j \sigma_j(\tau)\| \right] d\tau$$
  
$$= 0.$$

Thus, the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable. The proof of the theorem is complete.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 9.8.5. The zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable if and only if

- (1)  $A + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \theta_j b_j c_j^T := B$  is Hurwitz stable, where  $\theta_j = 0$  or  $\theta_j = 1$ , j = 1, ..., m;
- (2) there exists a differential function  $V_f \in [\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$ , where  $V_f(x)$  is positive definite and radially unbounded for  $\Omega$ , i.e., there exists  $\varphi_f \in K\mathbb{R}$  and  $\psi_f \in K$  such that

$$V_f(x) \ge \varphi_f(\sigma), \quad \left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -\psi_f(\sigma).$$
 (9.8.2)

**PROOF.** Sufficiency. It is suffice to prove that condition (2) implies that the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable about  $\Omega$ .

Since  $V_f(0) = 0, 0 \in \Omega$  and  $V_f(x)$  is a continuous function of x, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists  $\delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that

$$V_f(x_0) < \varphi_f(\varepsilon) \quad \text{for } ||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon).$$

It follows from (9.8.2) that

$$\varphi_f(|\sigma(t)|) \leq V_f(x(t)) \leq V_f(x_0) \leq \varphi_f(\varepsilon),$$

and therefore  $|\sigma(t)| < \varepsilon$ . Thus, the zero solution of (9.8.1) is stable about  $\Omega$ .

Now, we prove that  $\lim_{t\to+\infty} \sigma(t, t_0, x_0) = 0$  for any  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Since  $V_f(x(t)) := V_f(t)$  is a monotone decreasing and bounded function, we have

$$\inf_{t \ge t_0} V_f(x(t)) := \lim_{t \to +\infty} V_f(x(t)) := \alpha \ge 0.$$

Next, we show that  $\alpha$  can be reached only in  $\Omega$ . If otherwise, suppose it can be reached outside  $\Omega$ , then there must exists a constant  $\beta > 0$  such that  $|\sigma(t)| \ge \beta > 0$  for  $t_0 \le t < +\infty$ , or there must exist a sequence  $\{t_k\}$  with  $t_k \to +\infty$  as  $k \to +\infty$  such that  $\lim_{t_k \to +\infty} \sigma(t_k) = 0$ . As a result,

$$\alpha = \lim_{t_k \to +\infty} V_f(t_k) = \lim_{\substack{t_k \to +\infty \\ s(t_k) = 0}} V_f(t_k).$$

In other words,  $\alpha$  can be reached in  $\Omega$ , leading to the contradiction with the presumption that  $\alpha$  can reached outside  $\Omega$ .

For any  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the expression (9.8.2) gives

$$\left|\sigma(t)\right| \leq \left|\sigma(t_0)\right| := h < H < +\infty.$$

We now prove that  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma(t) = 0$ . Assume that  $\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sigma(t) \neq 0$ . Since  $\sigma(t)$  is uniformly continuous, there exist constants  $\beta > 0$ ,  $\eta > 0$  and point sequence  $\{t_j\}$  such that  $|\sigma(t)| \ge \beta$  for  $t \in [t_j - \eta, t_j + \eta]$ , j = 1, 2, ...

Setting  $\eta_f = \inf_{\beta \leqslant \sigma} \psi_f(\sigma)$ , we deduce

$$0 \leqslant V_f(t) \leqslant V_f(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t \frac{dV_f}{dt} dt$$

$$\leq V_f(t_0) - \int_{t_0}^t \psi_f(|\sigma(\tau)|) d\tau$$
$$\leq V_f(t_0) - \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{t_j-\psi}^{t_j+\psi} \psi_f(|\sigma(\tau)|) d\tau$$
$$\leq V_f(t_0) - 2n\eta\eta_f \to -\infty \quad \text{as } n \to +\infty$$

This yields a contradiction, and thus  $\lim_{t\to+\infty} \sigma(t) = 0$ . This proves that the zero solution of (9.8.1) is absolutely stable for  $\Omega$ . The sufficiency is proved.

*Necessity.* Suppose the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable.  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is an attractive space. For any  $f_j \in F$  (j = 1, ..., m) and any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , let

$$W_f(x) := \sup\{\|x_f(t,0,x)\|^2, t \ge 0\},\$$

where  $x_f(t)$  denotes a solution of (9.8.1). From Theorem 9.8.4 of Bhatia and Szegö [29], we know that  $W_f(x)$  has the following properties:

- (1)  $W_f(x) \ge 0$ , and  $W_f(x) = 0$  if and only if x = 0,  $W_f(x)$  is positive definite and radially unbounded;
- (2)  $W_f(x)$  is a monotone decreasing function;
- (3)  $W_f(x)$  is continuous in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Furthermore, we define

$$V_f(x) := \int_0^{+\infty} W_f(x_f(\eta, 0, x)) e^{-\eta} d\eta.$$
(9.8.3)

Obviously,  $V_f(x)$  is positive definite and radially unbounded. Thus, there exists  $\bar{\varphi}_f \in KR$  such that

$$V_f(x) \geqslant \bar{\varphi}_f(\|x\|).$$

Let

$$\Phi = \int_{0}^{t+\eta} W_f(x_f(\xi)) d\xi.$$

It follows that

$$\Phi'_{\eta} = \Phi'_t = W_f \big( x_f (t+\eta) \big).$$

Integrating (9.8.3) by parts yields

$$V_f(x_f(t)) = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\eta} d\Phi$$

Chapter 9. Absolute Stability of Nonlinear Control Systems

$$= e^{-\eta} \int_{0}^{t+\eta} W_f(x_f(\xi)) d\xi \Big|_{0}^{+\infty} + \int_{0}^{+\infty} \Phi(t+\eta) e^{-\eta} d\eta$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{t} W_f(x_f(\xi)) d\xi + \int_{0}^{+\infty} \Phi(t+\eta) e^{-\eta} d\eta.$$

Since  $W_f(x_f(t))$  is a monotone nonincreasing function,  $W_f(x_f(t))$  is bounded. Furthermore, we note that

$$\lim_{\eta \to +\infty} e^{-\eta} \int_{0}^{t+\eta} W_{f}(x_{f}(\xi)) d\xi = 0,$$

$$\frac{dV_{f}}{dt}\Big|_{(9.8.1)} = -W_{f}(x_{f}(t)) + \int_{0}^{+\infty} \Phi_{t}' e^{-\eta} d\eta$$

$$= -W_{f}(x_{f}(t)) + \int_{0}^{+\infty} W_{f}(x_{f}(t+\eta)) e^{-\eta} d\eta$$

$$= \int_{0}^{+\infty} [W_{f}(x_{f}(t+\eta)) - W_{f}(x_{f}(t))] d\eta. \qquad (9.8.4)$$

Since  $W_f(x_f(t))$  is a monotone nonincreasing function, we obtain

 $W_f(x_f(t)) \ge W_f(x_f(t+\eta)) \text{ for } \eta \ge 0.$ 

In particular, if x(t) is a nonzero solution of system (9.8.1), we have

$$W_f(x_f(t)) \neq W_f(x_f(t+\eta)),$$

or

$$W_f(x_f(t)) \equiv W_f(x_f(t+\eta)) \to 0 \text{ as } \eta \to +\infty.$$

Thus,  $W_f(x_f(t)) \equiv 0$ , which contradicts the fact that

$$W_f(x) = \sup\{\|x_f(t,0,x)\|^2, t \ge 0\} \neq 0.$$

Therefore, if  $x_f(t) \neq 0$ , we have

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \left[ W_f \big( x_f(t+\eta) \big) - W_f \big( x_f(t) \big) \right] e^{-\eta} \, d\eta < 0,$$

i.e.,

$$\left. \frac{dV_f}{dt} \right|_{(9.8.1)} < 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq 0.$$

Consequently, we obtain

$$\left.\frac{dV_f}{dt}\right|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -u_f(x),$$

with  $u_f(x)$  being a positive definite function. Thus, we have

$$u_{f}(x) \geq \bar{\varphi}_{f}(\|x\|) := \tilde{\varphi}_{f}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_{i}|\right)$$

$$\geq \bar{\varphi}_{f}\left(\frac{1}{m}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\max_{1 \leq i, j \leq n} |c_{ij}|}\sum_{i, j=1}^{n} |c_{ij}x_{j}|\right)$$

$$\geq \bar{\varphi}_{f}\left(\frac{1}{m}\frac{1}{\max_{1 \leq i, j \leq n} |c_{ij}|}\sum_{i, j=1}^{n} |c_{ij}x_{j}|\right)$$

$$:= \varphi_{f}(\sigma) \in KR.$$
(9.8.5)

Hence,  $u_f(x)$  is positive definite and radially unbounded for  $\Omega$ . Further, we can show that

$$\left. \frac{dV_f}{dt} \right|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -u_f(x) \leqslant -\bar{\varphi}_f(\|x\|) \leqslant -\varphi_f(\sigma) \quad \text{for } \varphi_f \in K,$$

indicating that condition (2) of Theorem 9.8.4 is satisfied. Satisfactory of condition (1) of this theorem is trivial. The necessity is proved.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 9.8.6. The zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable if and only if

- (1) condition (1) in Theorem 9.8.4 is satisfied;
- (2) for any  $f_j \in F$  (j = 1, ..., m), there exist m Lyapunov functions  $V_j(x) \in [R^n, R]$  (j = 1, ..., m) such that

$$V_{j}(x) \ge \varphi_{j}(|\sigma_{j}|), \quad \varphi_{j} \in KR, \ j = 1, \dots, m,$$
$$\frac{dV_{j}}{dt}\Big|_{(9.8.1)} \le -\psi_{j}(|\sigma_{j}|), \quad \psi_{j} \in K, \ j = 1, \dots, m.$$

PROOF. *Necessity*. Theorem 9.8.5 guarantees that the condition (1) is satisfied, and that there exists  $V_f(x) \ge \varphi_f(\sigma) \in KR$  such that

$$\left. \frac{dV_f(x)}{dt} \right|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -\psi_f(\sigma) \quad \text{for } \varphi_f \in K.$$

Take  $V_j = V_f(x), j = 1, \ldots, m$ . Due to that

$$V_j = V_f(x) \ge \varphi_f(\sigma) = \varphi_f\left(\sum_{j=1}^m |c_j^T x|\right) \ge \varphi_f\left(|c_j^T x|\right)$$
$$= \varphi_f\left(|\sigma_j|\right) \in KR, \quad j = 1, \dots, m,$$

we have

$$\frac{dV_j}{dt}\Big|_{(9.8.1)} = \frac{dV_f}{dt}\Big|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -\psi_f(\sigma) = -\psi_f\left(\sum_{j=1}^m |c_j^T x|\right)$$
$$\leqslant -\psi_f\left(|c_j^T x|\right) = -\psi_j(\sigma_j), \quad \sigma_j \in K, \, j = 1, \dots, m.$$

This verifies the necessity.

Sufficiency. Similar to the proof for the sufficiency of Theorem 9.8.5, condition (2) implies that the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable about  $\Omega_j$ , j = 1, ..., m. Then, as in the proof for Theorem 9.8.4 one can show that the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable. This verifies the sufficiency.  $\Box$ 

THEOREM 9.8.7. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) condition (1) in Theorem 9.8.4 holds;
- (2) there exist an  $n \times n$  real symmetric matrix B and constants  $\beta_i \ge 0$  (i = 1, ..., m),  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$V(x) = x^T B x + \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_j \int_0^{\sigma_j} f_j(\sigma_j) d\sigma_j$$
(9.8.6)

with

$$x^T B x \ge \alpha \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2$$

or

$$V(x) \ge \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_i \int_{0}^{\sigma_j} f_j(\sigma_j) \, d\sigma_j, \quad \beta_j > 0,$$
$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} f(\sigma_j) \, d\sigma_j = +\infty, \quad j = 1, \dots, m;$$

(3)

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -\varepsilon\tau, \quad \tau \in \left\{\sigma^2, \sum_{j=1}^m \sigma_j f_j(\sigma_j), \sum_{j=1}^m f_j^2(\sigma_j)\right\};$$

then the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. It is suffice to prove that the conditions (2) and (3) of this theorem imply the condition of Theorem 9.8.4.

In fact, for the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = x^{T} B x + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_{j} \int_{0}^{\sigma_{j}} f_{j}(\sigma_{j}) d\sigma_{j}, \qquad (9.8.7)$$

condition (2) implies that there exists  $0 < \xi \ll 1$  such that

$$V(x) \ge \xi \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sigma_j^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \int_0^{\sigma_j} f_j(\sigma_j) \, d\sigma_j = \varphi(\sigma) \in KR$$

or

$$V(x) \ge \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \int_{0}^{\sigma_j} f_j(\sigma_j) \, d\sigma_j := \varphi_1(\sigma) \in KR$$

with

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.8.1)} = -\varepsilon\tau := -\psi(\sigma) \quad \text{for } \psi \in K.$$

Therefore, the conditions of Theorem 9.8.4 are satisfied, and Theorem 9.8.7 is thus proved.  $\hfill \Box$ 

COROLLARY 9.8.8. Suppose that there exist constants  $\beta_j \ge 0$  (j = 1, ..., m) and a symmetric positive definite matrix P such that the function

$$V(x) = x^T P x + \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_j \int_0^{\sigma_j} f_j(\sigma_j) \, d\sigma_j$$
(9.8.8)

satisfies  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.8.1)} < 0$ ,  $x \neq 0$ . Then the zero solution of system (9.8.1) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. It is suffice to prove that V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded for  $\Omega$ , while  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.8.1)}$  is negative definite for  $\Omega$ .

Let

$$\bar{c} = \max_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq n \\ 1 \leq j \leq m}} |c_{ij}|, \qquad \underline{\lambda} = \min_{1 \leq i \leq n} \lambda_i(P),$$

 $\lambda_i$  being the eigenvalues of P. Then

$$V(x) \ge x^T P x \ge \underline{\lambda} x^T x \ge \underline{\lambda} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^m \sigma_j^2}{nm\bar{c}} := \varphi(|\sigma|) \in KR.$$

Therefore, V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded for  $\Omega$ , and

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.8.1)} \leqslant -\psi \left( \|x\| \right) \leqslant -\psi \left( \frac{1}{m\bar{c}} \sum_{j=1}^m |\sigma_j| \right) := -\psi_1(\sigma) \quad \text{for } \psi_1 \in K.$$

Thus,  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(9.8.1)}$  is negative definite for  $\Omega$ . The conditions of Theorem 9.8.6 are satisfied. The proof of Corollary 9.8.8 is complete.

To end this section, we present some simple sufficient conditions for absolute stability. Without loss of generality, we assume that  $c_i = (c_{i1}, \ldots, c_{in})^T$  $(i = 1, \ldots, m)$  are linearly independent. By an *n*-dimensional nonsingular linear transformation, system (9.8.1) can be transformed into the following form:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + \sum_{j=n-m+1}^{n} b_j f_j(x_j),$$
(9.8.9)

or in the vector component form:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} x_j + \sum_{j=n-m+1}^n b_{ij} f_j(x_j), \quad j = 1, \dots, m.$$
(9.8.10)

THEOREM 9.8.9. Suppose that

- (1)  $A = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix;
- (2) there exist constants  $r_i \ge 0$  (i = 1, ..., n-m),  $r_i > 0$  (i = n-m+1, ..., n) such that

$$\begin{cases} -r_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^n r_i |a_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, n - m, \\ -r_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^n r_i |a_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = n - m + 1, \dots, n, \\ -r_j b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^n r_i |b_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = n - m + 1, \dots, n, \end{cases}$$

or

$$\begin{cases} -c_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^n c_i |a_{ij}| \leq 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, n - m, \\ -c_j a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^n c_i |a_{ij}| \leq 0, \quad j = n - m + 1, \dots, n, \\ -c_j b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^n c_i |b_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = n - m + 1, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.8.9) is absolutely stable.

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i|.$$

Obviously, we have

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i| \ge \sum_{i=n-m+1}^{n} c_i |x_i| \to +\infty \text{ as } \sum_{i=n-m+1}^{n} |x_i| \to +\infty.$$

Thus, V is positive definite and radially unbounded for  $x_{n-m+1}, \ldots, x_n$ . Since

$$D^{+}V|_{(9.8.9)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ c_{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{i}|a_{ij}| \right] |x_{i}|$$
$$+ \sum_{\substack{i=n-m+1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left[ c_{i}b_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |c_{i}b_{j}| \right] |f_{i}(x_{i})|$$
$$< 0 \quad \text{for} \sum_{\substack{j=n-m+1\\j=n-m+1}}^{n} |x_{j}| \neq 0.$$

Thus, the zero solution of system (9.8.9) is absolutely stable with respect to partial variables  $x_{n-m+1}, \ldots, x_n$ . Since matrix A is stable, there exist  $M \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\left\|e^{A(t-t_0)}\right\| \leqslant M e^{\alpha(t-t_0)}.$$

The solution of system (9.8.9) can be expressed in the following form:

$$x(t, t_0, x_0) = e^{A(t-t_0)} x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{A(t-\tau)} \sum_{j=1}^m b_j f_j (x_{n-m+k}(\tau)) d\tau.$$

Following the proof of Theorem 9.8.4, we can prove that the zero solution of system (9.8.9) is absolutely stable.

EXAMPLE 9.8.10. Consider the problem of absolute stability of the system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 - 2f_1(x_1) + 2f_2(x_2), \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_2 + 2f_1(x_1) - 2f_2(x_2), \end{cases} \quad f_1, f_2 \in F.$$
(9.8.11)

We choose the Lyapunov function:

 $V = |x_1| + |x_2|,$ 

and then obtain

$$D^+V(x)|_{(9.8.11)} \leq -|x_1| - |x_2| + [-2+2]|f_1(x_1)| + [-2+2]|f_2(x_2)|$$
  
$$\leq -|x_1| - |x_2| < 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq 0.$$

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.8.11) is absolutely stable.

## 9.9. NASCs of absolute stability for systems with feedback loops

Consider the general control system with multi-nonlinear and loop feedback terms:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + \sum_{j=1}^{m} b_j f_j(\sigma_j), \\ \sigma_j = c_j^T x - d_j f_j(\sigma_j), \end{cases}$$
(9.9.1)

where  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $\operatorname{Re} \lambda(A) \leq 0, x, b_j, c_j \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Let F,  $\Omega$  and  $\Omega_i$  be defined as that in Section 9.8. The definitions for the absolute stability of the zero solution of system with respect to  $\Omega$ ,  $\Omega_i$ , and the definition for V(x) being positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to set  $\Omega$ ,  $\Omega_i$  are given below.

DEFINITION 9.9.1. The zero solution of system (9.9.1) is said to be absolutely stable about the variable  $\sigma$  ( $\sigma_i$ ), if  $\forall f_i \in F$  and  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that

$$\|\sigma\| = \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\sigma_j| < \varepsilon \quad (|\sigma_j| < \varepsilon)$$

when  $||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , and

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m} |\sigma_j| = 0 \quad (\lim_{t \to +\infty} |\sigma_j| = 0),$$
$$\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \sigma = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \dots, \sigma_m)^T.$$

DEFINITION 9.9.2. The function  $V \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  is said to be positive definite with respect to variable  $\sigma(\sigma_i)$  if

$$V(\sigma) \begin{cases} = 0 & \text{for } \sigma = 0 \\ > 0 & \text{for } \sigma \neq 0 \end{cases} \begin{pmatrix} V(\sigma_j) \begin{cases} = 0 & \text{for } \sigma_j = 0 \\ > 0 & \text{for } \sigma_j \neq 0 \end{cases}.$$

DEFINITION 9.9.3. The function  $V \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$  is said to be positive definite and radially unbounded with respect to the variable  $\sigma(\sigma_j)$ , if  $V(\sigma)$  is positive definite for  $\sigma(\sigma_j)$ , and  $V(x, \sigma) \to \infty$  as  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} |\sigma_j| \to \infty (|\sigma_j| \to \infty)$ , whereas  $V(\sigma)$  is negative definite with respect to  $\sigma(\sigma_j)$  if  $-V(\sigma)$  is positive definite for  $\sigma(\sigma_j)$ .

REMARK 9.9.4. Verifying the conditions of Definitions 9.9.2 and 9.9.3 are very difficulty, because  $\sigma_j + d_j f_j(\sigma_j) = 0$  is an implicit formula.

Assume that  $|\sigma_j - d_j f_j(\sigma_j)|$  is positive definite for  $\sigma$ . Obviously. If any one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(1)  $d_j \ge 0$  (which was considered by Gan and Ge [128]);

(2) 
$$d_j < 0$$
 but  $|f_j(\sigma_j)| < \frac{1}{|d_j|} |\sigma_j|, \ \sigma_j \neq 0;$ 

(3)  $d_j < 0$  but  $|f_j(\sigma_j)| > \frac{1}{|d_j|} |\sigma_j|, \ \sigma_j \neq 0;$ 

then  $|\sigma_j - d_j f_j(\sigma_j)|$  is positive definite for  $\sigma$ .

THEOREM 9.9.5. The zero solution of system (9.9.1) is absolutely stable if and only if it is absolutely stable for  $G(G_i)$ .

PROOF. Let the zero solution of (9.9.1) be absolutely stable for  $\sigma$ .  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $|\sigma_0| < \delta$ , we have

$$\left|\sigma_{j}(t, t_{0}, \sigma_{0})\right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2m}$$
 and  $\left|d_{f} f_{j}(\sigma_{j}(t, t_{0}, \sigma_{0}))\right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2m}$ 

This is possible because  $f_j \in F$ ,  $f_j(0) = 0$ , and  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \left| c_j^T x_j(t, t_0, x_0) \right| \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left| \sigma_j(t, t_0, \sigma_0) \right|$$
$$+ \lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left| d_j f_j \left( \sigma_j(t, t_0, \sigma_0) \right) \right|$$
$$= 0.$$

So the zero solution of system (9.9.1) is absolutely stable for  $G(G_i)$ .
Otherwise, let the zero solution of system (9.9.1) be absolutely stable for  $\Omega(\Omega_j) = 0$ . Since  $|\sigma_j - d_j f_j(\sigma_j)|$  is positive definite, according to the equivalence relation of positive definite function and *K*-class function, we know that there exists  $\varphi(|\sigma_j|) \in K$  such that

$$\varphi_j(|\sigma_j|) \leq |\sigma_j - d_j f_j(\sigma_j)| = |c_j^T x(t, t_0, x_0)|,$$

and so

$$\left|\sigma_{j}(t,t_{0},\sigma_{0})\right| < \varphi_{j}^{-1}\left(\left|c_{j}^{T}x(t,t_{0},x_{0})\right|\right).$$

Then  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ , when  $|x_0| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ , it holds

$$\varphi_j^{-1} \left| c_j^T x(t, t_0, x_0) \right| < \frac{\varepsilon}{m}.$$

Hence,

$$|\sigma(t, t_0, \sigma_0)| \leq \sum_{j=1}^m |\sigma_j(t, t_0, \sigma_0)| < \sum_{j=1}^m \varphi_j^{-1} |c_j^T x(t, t_0, x_0)| < \varepsilon.$$

Further,  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \sigma(t, t_0, \sigma_0) \right| &< \sum_{j=1}^m \left| \sigma_j(t, t_0, \sigma_0) \right| \\ &< \sum_{j=1}^m \varphi_j^{-1} \left( \left| c_j^T x(t, t_0, x_0) \right| \right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.9.1) is absolutely stable with respect to  $\sigma$  ( $\sigma_j$ ).

REMARK 9.9.6. Theorem 9.9.5 was improved and generalized by Gan and Ge [128].

THEOREM 9.9.7. The NASCs of the zero solution of system (9.9.1) are:

(1) 
$$B := A + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \theta_i b_i c_i^T$$
 is a Hurwitz matrix, where

$$\begin{cases} \theta_i = \frac{1}{2} & \text{when } d_i = 0, \\ \theta_i = \frac{1}{3d_i} & \text{when } d_i \neq 0, \end{cases} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

(2) the zero solution of system (9.9.1) is absolutely stable with respect to  $\Omega$ .

PROOF. Sufficiency. When  $d_j \neq 0$ , we take  $f_j(\sigma_j) = \frac{1}{2d_j}\delta_j$ ; when  $d_j = 0$  take  $f_j(\sigma_j) = \frac{1}{2}C_j^T x$ . Obviously,  $|\sigma_j + d_j f_j(\sigma_j)|$  is positive definite with respect to  $\sigma_j$ .

By the formula of constant variation, the solution  $x(t) = x(t, t_0, x_0)$  of system (9.9.1) can be expressed as

$$x(t) = e^{B(t-t_0)} x_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{B(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau)) - \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j b_j \sigma_j(\tau) \right] d\tau.$$
(9.9.2)

Since *B* is a Hurwitz matrix, then it holds:

$$\|e^{B(t-t_0)}\| \leqslant Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}, \quad t \ge t_0,$$

where  $M \ge 1$ ,  $\alpha > 0$ .

Let  $\sigma_j = \sigma_j(t, t_0, x_0)$ . Then  $\sigma_j(t, t_0, x_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n, is equivalent to

$$\sigma(t, t_0, x_0) = \sum_{j=1}^n |\sigma_j(t, t_0, x_0)| \to 0 \text{ as } t \to +\infty.$$

So we have  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \sigma_j(t) = 0$ . Obviously,  $\sigma_j(t)$  continuously depends on the initial value  $x_0$ , and  $f_j(\sigma_j(t))$  is a composite continuous function of  $x_0$ , then,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} f_j(\sigma_j(t)) = 0$ . Thus  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\exists \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ , and  $t_1 > t_0$  such that  $||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$  and for every fixed  $f_j(\sigma_j)$ , it is implied that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| e^{B(t-t_0)} x_0 \right\| &\leq \left\| e^{B(t-t_0)} \right\| \|x_0\| < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}, \\ \int_{t_0}^{t_1} M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m \left\| b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau)) \right\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \left\| b_j \sigma_j(\tau) \right\| \right] d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}, \\ \int_{t_1}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m \left\| b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau)) \right\| + \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \left\| b_j \sigma_j(\tau) \right\| \right] d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}, \\ \text{for } t \geq t_1. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,  $||x(t)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon$ , i.e., x = 0 is stable. Next,  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , by the L'Hospital rule, we deduce that

$$0 \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \|x(t)\| \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$
$$+ \lim_{t \to +\infty} \int_{t_0}^t Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^m \|b_j f_j(\sigma_j(\tau))\| \right]$$
$$+ \sum_{j=1}^m \theta_j \|b_j \sigma_j(\tau)\| \right] d\tau = 0,$$

indicating that the zero solution of system (9.9.1) is absolutely stable.

*Necessity.* When  $d_j \neq 0$ , take  $f_j(\sigma_j) = \frac{\sigma_j}{2d_j}$ ; when  $d_j = 0$ , take  $f_j(\sigma_j) = \frac{1}{2}c_j^T x$ . Then system (9.9.1) can be transformed into

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \left[A + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \theta_j b_j c_j^T\right] x,$$
(9.9.3)

so  $B = A + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \theta_j b_j c_j^T$  is a Hurwitz matrix.  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , take

$$\hat{\varepsilon} = \frac{\varepsilon}{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \|c_j^T\|},$$

there exists  $\delta(\varepsilon)$  such that when  $||x_0|| < \delta(\varepsilon)$  it holds

$$\|x(t)\| = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \|x_j(t)\| < \tilde{\varepsilon} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_0.$$

Therefore,

$$\sum_{j=1}^m \left\| c_j^T x(t) \right\| \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^m \left\| c_j^T \right\| \left\| x(t) \right\| \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^m \left\| c_j^T \right\| \tilde{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon,$$

and  $\lim_{t\to\infty} ||x(t)|| = 0$  for  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Consequently, the zero solution of (9.9.1) is absolutely stable for *G*, and the necessity is proved. The proof of Theorem 9.9.7 is complete.

THEOREM 9.9.8. The zero solution of system (9.9.1) is absolutely stable if and only if

(1) condition (1) in Theorem 9.9.7 holds;

(2) there exists  $V(x) \in C[\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}]$ ,  $\varphi \in K\mathbb{R}$  and  $\psi \in K$  such that

$$V \ge \varphi(\|c^T x\|), \qquad \left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.9.1)} \le -\psi(\|c^T x\|).$$

The proof of Theorem 9.9.8 is similar to that for Theorem 9.8.5, and thus omitted.

EXAMPLE 9.9.9. Consider the following system:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} f_1(\sigma_1) + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} f_2(\sigma_2), \sigma_1 = (1 & 0) \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} - 0.5 f_1(\sigma_1), \sigma_2 = (0 & 1) \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} - 0.3 f_2(\sigma_2).$$

$$(9.9.4)$$

(1)  $A = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$  is stable. (2) Take the Lyapunov function as

$$V(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{\sigma_j} f_j(\sigma_j) \, d\sigma_j - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_j f_j^2(\sigma_j)$$

with

$$\int_{0}^{\sigma_{j}} f_{j}(\sigma_{j}) d\sigma_{j} = +\infty, \quad \text{or} \quad \lim_{t \to +\infty} f_{j}^{2}(\sigma_{j}) = +\infty$$

where  $d_1 = -0.5$ ,  $d_2 = -0.3$ .

(3)

$$\left. \frac{dV}{dt} \right|_{(9.9.4)} = -\sigma_1 f_1(\sigma_1) - \sigma_2 f_2(\sigma_2) - f_1^2(\sigma_1) - f_2^2(\sigma_2) < 0,$$

while  $\sigma_j \neq 0, j = 1, 2$ .

Hence, the zero solution of system (9.9.4) is absolutely stable.

## 9.10. Chaos synchronization as a stabilization problem of Lurie system

Chaos synchronization has been a focusing topic of intensive researching the past decade (see, for example, Chen and Dong [67]. One unified approach to chaos synchronization is to reformulate it as a (generalized) Lurie system and then discuss the absolute stability of its error dynamics [92].

Consider a uni-directional feedback-controlled chaos synchronization system in the following form of a classical Lurie system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = A_1 x + B_1 f(c^T x, t) & (\text{drive}), \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = A_2 x + B_2 f(c^T y, t) - K(x - y) - g(y, t) & (\text{response}), \end{cases}$$
(9.10.1)

where x(t), y(t),  $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $A_i$ ,  $B_i$ ,  $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , and  $f \in C[\mathbb{R}^1 \times (t_0, \infty), \mathbb{R}^1]$ . Let the synchronization error be

$$e = x - y.$$
 (9.10.2)

Then, system (9.10.1) can be reformulated to

$$\frac{de}{dt} = A_1 x - A_2 y + B_1 (f(c^T x, t) - B_2 f(c^T y, t)) + Ke + g(y, t).$$
(9.10.3)

The objective is to choose the constant feedback gain *K* and a simplest possible control signal g(y, t) such that  $e(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ , thereby achieving synchronization  $y(t) \to x(t)$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

Note that in system (9.10.1) for synchronization purpose the control term g(y, t) is only a function of the y signal but not the x signal. Therefore, this setting can be easily implemented as a component of the response (receiver), which usually has the same structure as the drive (transmitter).

LEMMA 9.10.1. For the chaos synchronization system (9.10.1) there always exist a constant feedback gain K and a control signal g(y, t) such that the error dynamics (9.10.2) can be rewritten in the classical Lurie system form as follows:

$$\frac{de}{dt} = (A_1 + K)e + B_1 F(c^T e, t), \qquad (9.10.4)$$

where

$$F(\sigma, t) := f(c^T x, t) - f(c^T y, t)$$

Proof.

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{de}{dt} &= \frac{dx}{dt} - \frac{dy}{dt} \\ &= A_1 x - A_2 y + B_1 f(c^T x, t) - B_2 f(c^T y, t) + K(x - y) + g(y, t) \\ &= A_1 e + (A_1 - A_2) y + B_1 (f(c^T x, t) - f(c^T y, t)) \\ &+ (B_1 - B_2) f(x^T y, t) + K e + g(y, t) \\ &= (A_1 + K) e + B_1 F(c^T e, t) \end{aligned}$$

as claimed, where

$$g(y,t) = (A_2 - A_1)y + (B_2 - B_1)f(c^T y, t).$$

Note that if  $K \neq 0$  in (9.10.4) can be arbitrarily chosen, then we can determine a K such that  $(A_1 + K)$  is Hurwitz stable, if, moreover, the function  $F(\cdot, t)$  satisfies the sector condition:

$$0 \leqslant \frac{F(\sigma, t)}{\sigma} = \frac{f(c^T e + c^T y, t) - f(c^T y, t)}{c^T e} \leqslant \beta < \infty,$$
(9.10.5)

then we arrive at a typical Lurie system. This Lurie system may satisfy some existing sufficient conditions for synchronization. However, if *K* is in a restricted form so that  $K + A_1$  cannot be stabilized, then even if the function  $F(\cdot, t)$  satisfies the sector condition, it dose not result in a classical Lurie system. In this case, we have to develop a new criterion for the intended synchronization, which will be carried out in the next section.

First, consider the case where  $B_1 = (b_1, \ldots, b_n)^T := b$ . Without loss of generality, suppose that  $c_n \neq 0$  in  $c = (c_1, \ldots, c_n)^T$ . Let

$$\Omega = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & c_n \end{bmatrix},$$

and consider the transform

$$\eta = \Omega e, \tag{9.10.6}$$

where  $\eta = (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_n)^T$  and  $e = (e_1, \ldots, e_n)^T$ . Since  $\Omega$  is nonsingular, it is clear that  $e(t) \to 0$  if and only if  $\eta(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$ .

Under transform (9.10.6), system (9.10.4) becomes

$$\frac{d\eta}{dt} = \Omega(A_1 + K)\Omega^{-1}\eta + \Omega bF(\eta_n(t), t)$$

$$:= (\bar{A} + \bar{K})\eta + \tilde{b}F(\eta_n(t), t),$$
(9.10.7)

where

$$\bar{a}_{ij} + \tilde{k}_{ij} = \left(a_{ij} + k_{ij} - \frac{a_{in} + k_{in}}{c_n}a_{ij}\right), \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n - 1,$$

$$\bar{a}_{in} + \tilde{k}_{in} = \frac{a_{in} + k_{in}}{c_n}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n - 1,$$

$$\bar{a}_{nj} + \tilde{k}_{nj} = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i(a_{ij} + k_{ij}) - \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \frac{a_{in} + k_{in}}{c_n}c_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n - 1,$$

$$\bar{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn} = \frac{1}{c_n} \sum_{i=1}^m c_i(a_{in} + k_{in}),$$

$$\bar{b}_i = b_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n - 1,$$

$$\bar{b}_n = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i b_i.$$

THEOREM 9.10.2. If the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable about its partial variable  $\eta_n$ , with  $F(\cdot, t)$  satisfying (9.10.5) and if the matrix  $(\tilde{A} + \tilde{K})$  is Hurwitz stable, then the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable. Consequently, the zero solution of system (9.10.4) is globally stable, and so system (9.10.1) synchronizes. PROOF. Since the general solution of equation (9.10.7) can be expressed as

$$\eta(t, t_0, \eta_0) = e^{(t-t_0)(\tilde{A}+\bar{K})}\eta_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{(t-\tau)(\tilde{A}+\bar{K})}\bar{b}f(\eta_n(\tau), \tau) d\tau,$$

and since  $\bar{A} + \bar{K}$  is Hurwitz, there exist constants  $\alpha > 0$  and  $M \ge 1$  such that

$$\|e^{(t-t_0)(\bar{A}+\bar{K})}\| \leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}.$$
 (9.10.8)

Since (9.10.7) is absolutely stable about its partial variables  $\eta_n$ , we have  $\eta_n(t, t_0, \eta_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Therefore, for any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there is a  $t^* \ge t_0$  such that

$$\int_{t^*}^t \left\| e^{(t-\tau)(\tilde{A}+\bar{K})} \bar{b}F(\eta_n(\tau),\tau) \right\| d\tau \leqslant \int_{t^*}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{b}\| \left\| F\left(\eta_n(\tau),\tau\right) \right\| d\tau$$
$$\leqslant \int_{t^*}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\bar{b}\| \left\| \beta \eta_n(\tau) \right\| d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}.$$
(9.10.9)

Note that solution  $\eta(t)$  is continuously dependent on the initial condition  $\eta_0$ , so is the continuous function  $F(\cdot, t)$ . Hence, for the  $\varepsilon > 0$  above, there is a constant  $\delta_1(\varepsilon) > 0$  such that when  $\|\eta_0\| < \delta_1(\varepsilon)$ ,

$$\int_{t_0}^{t^*} M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left\| \bar{b} F\left(\eta_n(\tau), \tau\right) \right\| d\tau < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}.$$
(9.10.10)

Now, take  $\delta_2(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon/(3M)$  and  $\delta(\varepsilon) = \min\{\delta_1(\varepsilon), \delta_2(\varepsilon)\}$ . It then follows from (9.10.8), (9.10.10) that, when  $\|\eta_0\| < \delta(\varepsilon)$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\|\eta(t)\right\| &\leq \left\|e^{(t-t_0)(\bar{A}+\tilde{K})}\eta_0\right\| + \int_{t_0}^t \left\|e^{(t-\tau)(\bar{A}+\bar{K})}\bar{b}F\left(\eta_n(\tau),\tau\right)\right\| d\tau \\ &\leq Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}\|\eta_0\| + \int_{t_0}^{t^*} Me^{-\alpha(t-\tau)}\|\bar{b}\|\beta\|\eta_n(\tau)\| d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t^*}^t Me^{-\alpha(t-\tau)}\|\bar{b}\|\beta\|\eta_n(\tau)\| d\tau \\ &< \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is stable.

On the other hand, for any  $\eta_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \eta(t, t_0, \eta_0) \right\| &\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|\eta_0\| + \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\bar{b}\| \left\| F(\eta_n(\tau), \tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &= M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|\eta_0\| + \frac{M \|\tilde{b}\| \int_{t_0}^t e^{\alpha\tau} \|\beta\eta_n(\tau)\| d\tau}{e^{\alpha t}}. \end{aligned}$$

By using L'Hospital's rule, it follows that

$$0 \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} \left\| \eta(t, t_0, \eta_0) \right\|$$
  
$$\leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \|\eta_0\| + \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{M \|\tilde{b}\| \int_{t_0}^t e^{\alpha \tau} \|\beta \eta_n(\tau)\| d\tau}{e^{\alpha t}}$$
  
$$= 0 + \lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{M \|\tilde{b}\| e^{\alpha \tau} \|\beta \eta_n(\tau)\|}{\alpha e^{\alpha t}} = 0.$$

In conclusion, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable, so that the zero solution of system (9.10.4) is also absolutely stable, implying that system (9.10.1) synchronizes. This completes the proof of the theorem.

It is well known that for an autonomous Lurie system, since  $F(\sigma(t), t) = F(\sigma(t))$ , a necessary condition for absolute stability is  $\tilde{b}_n \leq 0$ . For this reason, we will assume this condition below.

THEOREM 9.10.3. Assume that  $\bar{b}_n \leq 0$ . Then, it is always possible to select appropriate elements  $\tilde{K}_{ij}$  in K such that  $\tilde{a}_{nj} + \tilde{k}_{nj} = 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n - 1, and  $\tilde{a}_{nn} + k_{nn} < 0$ , and, moreover,  $(\bar{A} + \tilde{K})$  is a Hurwitz stable matrix. As a result, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable, and so is the zero solution of system (9.10.4) implying that system (9.10.1) synchronizes.

**PROOF.** For system (9.10.7), use the Lyapunov function  $V = \eta_n^2$ , which gives

$$\frac{d\eta_n^2}{dt} = 2(\bar{a}_{nn} + \bar{k}_{nn})\eta_n^2 + 2\bar{b}_n\eta_n F(\eta_n(t), t) \le 2(\bar{a}_{nn} + \bar{k}_{nn})\eta_n^2 < 0$$

for  $\eta_n \neq 0$ . Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable about its partial variable  $\eta_n(t)$ . The rest of the proof is similar to that in the proof of Theorem 9.10.2.

THEOREM 9.10.4. Assume that

$$0 \leqslant \frac{F(\sigma(t), t)}{\sigma(t)} \leqslant \infty, \quad \text{with } F(\sigma(t), t) \to 0$$

uniformly as  $\sigma(t) \to 0$  for all  $t \ge t_0$ . Also, assume that  $\tilde{b}_n \le 0$ . Then, it is always possible to select appropriate elements  $\tilde{k}_{ij}$  in K such that  $\tilde{a}_{nj} + \tilde{k}_{nj} = 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n-1, and  $\tilde{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn} < 0$ , and moreover,  $(\tilde{A} + \tilde{K})$  is a Hurwitz stable matrix. As a result, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable, and so is the zero solution of system (9.10.4) implying that system (9.10.1) synchronizes.

**PROOF.** For system (9.10.7), use the Lyapunov function  $V = \eta_n^2$ , which yields

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = 2(\tilde{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn})\eta_n^2 + 2\bar{b}_n\eta_n F(\eta_n(t), t) \leq 2(\tilde{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn})\eta_n^2 < 0$$

for all  $\eta_n \neq 0$ . Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable about its partial variable  $\eta_n(t)$ . Since  $F(\sigma(t), t) \rightarrow 0$  uniformly as  $\sigma(t) \rightarrow 0$  for all  $t \ge t_0$ . Similarly to the proof of Theorem 1, we can prove that

$$\eta(t, t_0, \eta_0) = e^{(t-t_0)(A+K)} \eta_0$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{t_0}^t e^{(t-\tau)(\tilde{A}+\tilde{K})} \bar{b} F(\eta_n(\tau), \tau) d\tau \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to +\infty.$$

This completes the proof of the theorem.

THEOREM 9.10.5. Assume that  $\tilde{b}_n < 0$  but condition (5) holds. Then, it is still always possible to select appropriate elements  $\tilde{k}_{ij}$  in  $\tilde{K}$  such that  $\bar{a}_{nj} + \tilde{k}_{nj} = 0$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n - 1, and  $\bar{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn} + \bar{b}_n \beta < 0$ , and moreover,  $(\tilde{A} + \tilde{K})$  is a Hurwitz stable matrix. As a result, the zero solution of system (9.10.4) is absolutely stable, and so is the zero solution of system (9.10.4) implying that system (9.10.1) synchronizes.

PROOF. For system (9.10.7) we still use the Lyapunov function  $V = \eta_n^2$ , which yields

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = 2(\bar{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn})\eta_n^2 + 2\tilde{b}_n\eta_n F(\eta_n(t), t)$$
$$\leqslant 2(\bar{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn})\eta_n^2 + 2\tilde{b}_n\beta\eta_n^2$$
$$= 2(\bar{a}_{nn} + \tilde{k}_{nn} + \tilde{b}_n\beta)\eta_n^2 < 0$$

for  $\eta_n \neq 0$ . Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is absolutely stable about its partial variable  $\eta_n(t)$ . The rest of the proof is similar to that in the proof of Theorem 9.10.3.

THEOREM 9.10.6. Assume that in system (9.10.7)  $F(\cdot, t)$  satisfies (9.10.5). If it is possible to select an appropriate  $\tilde{K}$  such that the zero solution of (9.10.7) is absolutely stable about its partial variables  $\eta_{j+1}, \eta_{j+2}, \ldots, \eta_n$ , where j = 1, 2, ..., n - 1, and such that

$$B^{(j)} := \begin{bmatrix} \bar{a}_{11} + \tilde{k}_{11} & \dots & \bar{a}_{1j} + \tilde{k}_{1j} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \bar{a}_{j1} + \tilde{k}_{j1} & \dots & \bar{a}_{jj} + \tilde{k}_{jj} \end{bmatrix}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

*is Hurwitz stable, then the zero solution of system* (9.10.7) *is absolutely stable, so is the zero solution of system* (9.10.4), *implying that system* (9.10.7) *synchronizes.* 

PROOF. Let

$$\eta^{(j)}(t) := \left(\eta_1(t, t_0, \eta_0), \dots, \eta_j(t, t_0, \eta_0)\right)^T,$$
  

$$\eta^{(n-j)}(t) := \left(\eta_{j+1}(t, t_0, \eta_0), \dots, \eta_n(t, t_0, \eta_0)\right)^T,$$
  

$$\bar{b}^{(j)} := (\bar{b}_1, \dots, \tilde{b}_j)^T,$$
  

$$\bar{b}^{(n-j)} := (\bar{b}_{j+1}, \dots, \tilde{b}_n)^T,$$
  

$$B^{(n-j)} := \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{a}_{1,j+1} + \bar{k}_{1,j+1} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{1j} + \bar{k}_{1j} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \tilde{a}_{j,j+1} + \bar{k}_{j,j+1} & \cdots & \tilde{a}_{jn} + \bar{k}_{jn} \end{bmatrix}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

Then, the first j components of (9.10.7) are given by

$$\eta^{(j)}(t) = e^{(t-t_0)B(j)}\eta^{(j)}(t_0) + \int_{t_0}^t e^{(t-\tau)B(j)}B^{(n-j)}\eta^{(n-j)}(\tau)\,d\tau$$
$$+ \int_{t_0}^t e^{(t-\tau)B(j)}\tilde{b}^{(n-j)}F(\eta_n(\tau),\tau)\,d\tau.$$
(9.10.11)

Since  $B^{(j)}$  is Hurwitz stable, there are constants  $M \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $||e^{t-t_0}\eta^{(j)}|| \le Me^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$ . Similar to the proof of Theorem 9.10.2 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \eta^{(j)}(t) \right\| &\leq \left\| e^{(t-t_0)B(j)} \eta^{(j)}(t_0) \right\| + \int_{t_0}^t \left\| e^{(t-\tau)B^{(j)}} \right\| \left\| B^{(n-j)} \right\| \left\| \eta^{(n-j)}(\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &+ \int_{t_0}^t \left\| e^{(t-\tau)B^{(j)}} \right\| \left\| \bar{b}^{(n-j)} \right\| \left\| F(\eta_n(\tau),\tau) \right\| d\tau \\ &\leq M e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \left\| \eta^{(j)}(t_0) \right\| + \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \left\| B^{(n-j)} \right\| \left\| \bar{b}^{(n-j)} \right\| d\tau \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \int_{t_0}^t M e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \|\tilde{b}^{(n-j)}\| \|F(\eta_n(\tau),\tau)\| d\tau \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to \infty.$$

Therefore, the zero solution of system (9.10.7) is also absolutely stable about its partial variables  $\eta_j, \ldots, \eta_n$ . Consequently, the zero solution of system (9.10.4) is absolutely stable, so that system (9.10.1) synchronizes.

Consider the following Lurie type system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + f(t, q_1^T x, \dots, q_n^T x)(bc^T - cb^T)x, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = Ay + f(t, q_1^T x, \dots, q_n^T x)(bc^T - cb^T)y - K(x - y), \end{cases}$$
(9.10.12)

where  $f \in [t_0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^r$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ ] is continuous,  $1 \leq r \leq n$ , and  $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is the gain matrix to be determined.

Let e = x - y. Then, the error dynamics system is

$$\frac{de}{dt} = Ae + f(t, q_1^T x, \dots, q_n^T x) (bc^T - cb^T) e + Ke.$$
(9.10.13)

The following is the main result of Curran and Chua [92].

THEOREM 9.10.7. Suppose that f is bounded for any bounded variables, and that there exists a positive definite and symmetric matrix P such that

$$(A+P)^T P + P(A+K) < 0 \quad and \quad B^T P + PB = 0.$$
 (9.10.14)

where  $B = bc^T - cb^T$ . Then, the zero solution of system (9.10.3) is globally asymptotically stable, so that system (9.10.12) synchronizes.

Note that  $B = bc^T - cb^T$  is a very special asymmetric matrix, therefore the second equation in (9.10.14) always has a solution (e.g., the identity matrix or a quasi-diagonal matrix). As a result, by selecting an appropriate gain matrix K, equations in (9.10.4) are always solvable.

Note also that although system (9.10.12) includes the Lorenz system as a special case, it does not include many other chaotic systems such as the simple yet similar Chen and Rössler systems.

To be even more general, we now consider the following generalized Lurie system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + f(t, q_1^T x, \dots, q_n^T x) Bx, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} = Ay + f(t, q_1^T x, \dots, q_n^T x) By - K(x - y), \end{cases}$$
(9.10.15)

where  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is an arbitrary constant matrix and  $K \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is the gain matrix to be determined. Again, let e = x - y, so as to obtain the error dynamics system

$$\frac{de}{dt} = Ae + f\left(t, q_1^T x, \dots, q_n^r x\right) Be + Ke.$$
(9.10.16)

It should be pointed out that under the conditions given in Theorem 9.10.8, the zero solution of system (9.10.16) can be globally asymptotically stable, if the equations in (9.10.14) have a solution. However, for a general matrix  $B \neq bc^T - cb^T$ , these matrix equations in (9.10.14) usually do not have a solution. Thus, Theorem 9.10.8 can not be applied. We hence have to resort to a different approach, which is further discussed below.

Notice that most of people believe that chaotic orbits are ultimately bounded. Recently, we have proved that the general Lorenz system, the Chen system and Lü system [69] as well the smooth Chua system [287] all have globally exponentially attractive sets. Moreover, we gave explicit estimations for these attractive sets. Therefore, for such well-known typical chaotic systems, the answer for the existence of globally exponentially attractive set is positive.

Since f is continuous and the system is ultimately bounded, there exists a constant M > 0 such that

$$\left|f\left(t, q_{1}^{T}x, \ldots, q_{n}^{T}x\right)\right| \leq M < \infty$$

in the chaos synchronization problem studied here. Denote the matrix  $D = (M|b_{ij}|)_{n \times n}$ . We have the following results, which provide some very simple algebraic conditions and are very easy to use for synchronization verification and design.

THEOREM 9.10.8. If the gain matrix K is selected such that

$$(A + K + D) + (A + K + D)^T < 0,$$

then the zero solution of system (9.10.16) is absolutely stable, implying that system (9.10.15) synchronizes.

Note that obviously it is very easy to choose a K to satisfy the above negative definiteness condition, which does not require solving any matrix equation or inequality. The following two corollaries will make this point even clearer.

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function  $V = e^T e$ . Then

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = e^{T} \left( (A+K) + (A+K)^{T} + f\left(t, q_{1}^{T}x, \dots, q_{n}^{T}x\right) B + f\left(t, q_{1}^{T}x, \dots, q_{r}^{T}x\right) B^{T} \right) e \\ \leq e^{T} \left( (A+K) + (A+K)^{T} \right) e + e^{T} D e \\ = e^{T} \left( (A+K+D) + (A+K+D)^{T} \right) e < 0$$
(9.10.17)

for all  $e \neq 0$ . This yields the result, and completes the proof of the theorem.  $\Box$ 

COROLLARY 9.10.9. Let  $\lambda_{\max}$  be the largest eigenvalue of matrix  $(A+A^T+D+D^T)$ . If  $\lambda_{\max} < 0$ , then one may simply choose K = 0; if  $\lambda_{\max} \ge 0$ , then one may choose  $K = \mu I$  with  $2\mu < -\lambda_{\max}$ . In both cases, the zero solution of the error dynamites system (9.10.16) is absolutely stable, implying that system (9.10.15) synchronizes.

PROOF. When  $\lambda_{\text{max}} < 0$ , we select K = 0, so

$$(A + K + D) + (A + K + D)^{T} = (A + D) + (A + D)^{T} < 0,$$

implying the result of (9.10.17). When  $\lambda_{\text{max}} \ge 0$ , since

$$e^{T} ((A + K + D) + (A + K + D)^{T})e$$
  
=  $e^{T} (A + D + (A + D))^{T} e + e^{T} (K + K^{T})e$   
 $\leq \lambda_{\max} e^{T} e + 2\mu e^{T} e < 0$ 

for all  $e \neq 0$ , we also have the result of (9.10.17) completing the proof of the corollary.

COROLLARY 9.10.10. Let

$$H = \left(A + A^T + E + D^T\right) := (h_{ij})_{n \times n},$$
$$l = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n |h_{ij}|.$$

If  $K = \mu I$  and  $2\mu + h_{ii} < -l$ , then the zero solution of the error dynamics system (9.10.15) is absolutely stable, implying that system (9.10.15) synchronizes.

PROOF. Since

$$(A + K + D) + (A + K + D)^{T} = (A + A^{T} + D + D^{T}) + 2\mu I$$

and

$$2\mu + h_{ii} < -l = -\max_{1 \le i \le n} \sum_{j=1, \ j \ne i}^{n} |h_{ij}|,$$

it follows from the well-known Gershgorin theorem that all the eigenvalues of the matrix  $(A + K + D) + (A + K + D)^T$  are located on the left-hand side of the complex plane, which means that this matrix is negative definite. As a result, the zero solution of the error dynamics system (9.10.16) is absolutely stable.

The Chen system [69] is given by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = a(y - x), \\ \dot{y} = (c - a)x - xy + cy, \\ \dot{z} = xy - bz. \end{cases}$$
(9.10.18)

With constants a = 35, b = 3, and c = 8, it generates chaos.

*....* 

Let  $(x_d, y_d, z_d)$  and  $x_r, y_r, z_r$  be the variables of the drive and the response, respectively, and let  $e_1 = x_d - x_r$ ,  $e_2 = y_d - y_r$ ,  $e_3 = z_d - z_r$ , and  $y := y_d = y_r$ . Then the error dynamics system is

$$\begin{cases} \dot{e}_1 = -ae_1, \\ \dot{e}_2 = (c-a)e_1 - ye_1 + ce_2, \\ \dot{e}_3 = e_1y - be_3. \end{cases}$$
(9.10.19)

It can be verified that the analytic method developed in [261,262] can only prove that  $e_1 \rightarrow 0$ ,  $\dot{e}_2 \rightarrow 0$ , and  $e_3 \rightarrow 0$  exponentially, but cannot prove  $e_2 \rightarrow 0$ , as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ . Here, it can be easily verified that by using a simple feedback on the second equation of (9.10.19)  $-ke_2$  with  $k > c_1$  conditions of Theorem 9.10.8 are satisfied, so two Chen systems synchronize. In fact, a direct calculation yields

$$e_{1}(t) = e_{1}(t_{0})e^{-a(t-t_{0})} \to 0, \quad \text{as } t \to \infty,$$

$$e_{2}(t) = e_{2}(t_{0})e^{-(k-c)(t-t_{0})} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-(k-c)(t-\tau)} [(c-a)e_{1}(t_{0})e^{-a(\tau-t_{0})} - y(\tau)e_{1}(t_{0})e^{-a(\tau-t_{0})}]d\tau \to 0 \quad \text{as } t \to \infty$$

$$e_{3}(t) = e_{3}(t_{0})e^{-b(t-t_{0})} + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-b(t-\tau)}e_{1}(t_{0})e^{-a(\tau-t_{0})}y(\tau)d\tau \to 0,$$

$$as \ t \to \infty$$

all exponentially. Therefore, two Chen systems synchronize, as claimed.

# 9.11. NASCs for absolute stability of time-delayed Lurie control systems

Consider the following Lurie system with constant time delays:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dz}{dt} = \tilde{A}z(t) + \tilde{B}z(t-\tau_1) + \tilde{h}f(\sigma(t-\tau_2)), \\ \tilde{h} = (\tilde{h}_1, \tilde{h}_2, \dots, \tilde{h}_n)^T, \\ \sigma = c^T z = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i z_i, \end{cases}$$
(9.11.1)

where  $c, \tilde{h} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  are constant vectors,  $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state vector, and  $\tilde{A}, \tilde{B} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  are real matrices; the time delays  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$  are constants; the function f

is defined as

$$f(\cdot) \in F_{\infty} := \left\{ f \mid f(0) = 0, \ \sigma f(\sigma) > 0, \ \sigma \neq 0, \ f \in (-\infty, +\infty) \right\}$$

or

$$f(\cdot) \in F_{[0,k]} := \left\{ f \mid f(0) = 0, \ 0 < \sigma f(\sigma) \leq k\sigma^2, \ \sigma \neq 0, \\ f \in (-\infty, +\infty) \right\},$$

where k is a positive real number. Let  $\tau = \max{\{\tau_1, \tau_2\}}$ , then  $C[[-\tau, 0], R^n]$ represents a Banach space with uniform, continuous topological structure.

DEFINITION 9.11.1. If  $\forall f(\cdot) \in F_{\infty}$  (or  $\forall f(\cdot) \in F_{[0,k]}$ ), the zero solution of system (9.11.1) is globally asymptotically stable for any values of  $\tau_1, \tau_2 \ge 0$ , then the zero solution of system (9.11.1) is said to be time-delay independent absolutely stable (or time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k]).

It is easy to show that the necessary condition for system (9.11.1) to be timedelay independent absolutely stable is  $c^T \tilde{h} \leq 0$ ; and the necessary condition for system (9.11.1) to be time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k] is that  $\forall \mu \in [0, k]$ , the matrix  $\tilde{A} + \tilde{B} + \mu \tilde{h} c^T$  is a Hurwitz matrix. In fact, let

$$f(\sigma(t-\tau_2)) = \mu\sigma(t-\tau_2) = \sum_{i=1}^n \mu c_i z_i (t-\tau_2).$$

Then system (9.11.1) becomes

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = \tilde{A}z(t) + \tilde{B}z(t-\tau_1) + \mu \tilde{h}c^T z \big(\sigma(t-\tau_2)\big).$$
(9.11.2)

In particular, when  $\tau_1 = \tau_2 = 0$ , for an arbitrary  $\mu \in [0, +\infty)$ , the matrix  $\tilde{A} + \tilde{B} + \mu \tilde{h} c^T$  is a Hurwitz matrix. Thus, we have

$$tr(\tilde{A} + \tilde{B} + \mu \tilde{h}c^{T}) = tr\,\tilde{A} + tr\,\tilde{B} + tr(\tilde{h}c^{T}) = tr\,\tilde{A} + tr\,\tilde{B} + \mu c^{T}\tilde{h} < 0,$$

which holds for  $\mu \gg 1$ , implying that  $c^T \tilde{h} \leq 0$ .

Next, take  $\mu \in [0, k]$ ,  $f(\sigma(t - \tau_2)) = \mu \sigma(t - \tau_2)$ ,  $\tau_1 = \tau_2 = 0$ . Then it is easy to see that  $\tilde{A} + \tilde{B} + \mu \tilde{h} c^T$  must be a Hurwitz matrix.

In the following, we use two nonsingular linear transforms to change system (9.11.1) into a separable nonlinear system. There are two cases.

(1) When  $c^T \tilde{h} \leq 0$ . Without loss of generality, suppose  $c_n \neq 0$ . Let

$$x = \Omega z, \tag{9.11.3}$$

where

$$\Omega = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & c_{n-1} & c_n \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then system (9.11.1) becomes

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \Omega \tilde{A} \Omega^{-1} x(t) + \Omega \tilde{B} \Omega^{-1} x(t-\tau_1) + \Omega \tilde{h} f \left( x_n(t-\tau_2) \right)$$
  
$$:= A x(t) + B X(t-\tau_1) + h f \left( x_n(t-\tau_2) \right), \qquad (9.11.4)$$

where  $A = \Omega \tilde{A} \Omega^{-1}$ ,  $B = \Omega \tilde{B} \Omega^{-1}$ , and  $h = \Omega \tilde{h}$ . Since (9.11.3) is a nonsingular linear transformation, the time-delay independent absolute stabilities of the zero solutions of systems (9.11.1) and (9.11.4) are equivalent.

(2) When  $c^T \tilde{h} < 0$ . Without loss of generality, assume  $\tilde{h}_n c_n \neq 0$ . Let y = Gz, where

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{h}_n & 0 & \cdots & 0 & -\tilde{h}_1 \\ 0 & \tilde{h}_n & \cdots & 0 & -\tilde{h}_2 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \tilde{h}_n & -\tilde{h}_{n-1} \\ c_1 & c_2 & \cdots & c_{n-1} & c_n \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then system (9.11.4) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = G\tilde{A}G^{-1}y(t) + G\tilde{B}G^{-1}y(t-\tau_1) + G\tilde{h}f(y_n(t-\tau_2))$$
  
:=  $Py(t) + Qy(t-\tau_1) + bf(y_n(t-\tau_2)),$  (9.11.5)

where  $P = G\tilde{A}G^{-1}$ ,  $Q = G\tilde{B}G^{-1}$ , and  $b = G\tilde{h} = (0, 0, ..., 0, c^T\tilde{h})^T$ . Similarly, due to the nonsingularity of *G*, the time-delay independent absolute stabilities of the zero solutions of systems (9.11.1) and (9.11.5) are equivalent.

DEFINITION 9.11.2. The zero solution of system (9.11.4) is said to be timedelay independent absolutely stable (or time-delay independent absolute stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k]) with respect to (w.r.t.) partial variable  $x_n$  of the system, if  $\forall f(\cdot) \in F_{\infty}$  (or  $\forall f(\cdot) \in F_{[0,k]}$ ), the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is globally asymptotically time-delay independently stable (or globally asymptotically timedelay independently stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k]) w.r.t. partial variable  $x_n$ of the system. Similarly, we can define for the zero solution of system (9.11.5) to be timedelay independently stable w.r.t. partial variable  $y_n$ .

THEOREM 9.11.3. The sufficient and necessary conditions for the zero solution of system (9.11.4) to be time-delay independently stable are:

(1) The matrix  $A + B + (O_{n \times (n-1)}, h\theta)$  is a Hurwitz matrix, where  $\theta = 0$  or  $\theta = 1$ , and

$$(O_{n\times(n-1)}, h\theta) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & h_1\theta \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & h_n\theta \end{bmatrix}_{n\times n}$$

- (2)  $\det(i\sigma A Be^{-i\sigma\tau_1} (O_{n\times(n-1)}, h\theta)e^{-i\sigma\tau_2}) \neq 0 \,\forall \sigma \in R, \,\forall \tau_1, \tau_2 \ge 0.$
- (3) The zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independent absolutely stable w.r.t. partial variable x<sub>n</sub>.

PROOF. *Necessity*. Suppose that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independent absolutely stable. When A + B is a Hurwitz matrix, we can choose  $\theta = 0$  and thus  $A + B + (O_{n \times (n-1)}, h\theta) = A + B$  is a Hurwitz matrix. When A + B is not a Hurwitz matrix, we take  $f(x_n) = x_n$ . Then system (9.11.4) becomes a linear time-delayed system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax(t) + Bx(t-\tau) + hx_n(t-\tau_2).$$
(9.11.6)

From the sufficient and necessary conditions of global time-delay independent stability for constant time-delayed systems with constant coefficients, we know that all the eigenvalues of the characteristic equation of system (9.11.5), given by

$$\det\left(\lambda I - A - Be^{-i\lambda\tau_1} - (O_{n\times(n-1)}, h\theta)e^{-i\lambda\tau_2}\right) = 0, \qquad (9.11.7)$$

must have negative real parts. This is equivalent to the conditions (1) and (2) in Theorem 9.11.3 ( $\theta = 1$ ). The condition (3) of Theorem 9.11.3 is obvious. The necessity is proved.

Sufficiency. Rewrite system (9.11.4) as

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax(t) + Bx(t - \tau) + h\theta x_n(t - \tau_2) + hf(x_n(t - \tau_2) - \theta hx_n(t - \tau_2)).$$
(9.11.8)

Let  $x^*(t) = x(t_0, \phi)(t)$  be the solution of the following system:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax(t) + Bx(t-\tau) + h\theta x_n(t-\tau_2),$$
  

$$x(t) = \phi(t), \quad t_0 - \tau \leqslant t \leqslant t_0.$$
(9.11.9)

Then from the method of constant variation, we know that the solution of (9.11.8) passing through the initial point ( $t_0$ ,  $\phi$ ) can be expressed as

$$x(t) = x^{*}(t) + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} U(t,s) \Big[ hf \big( x_{n}(s-\tau_{2}) - \theta h x_{n}(t-\tau_{2}) \big) \Big] ds, \quad (9.11.10)$$

where U(t, s) is the fundamental matrix solution, satisfying

$$\frac{\partial U(t,s)}{\partial t} = AU(t,s) + BU(t-\tau_1,s) + (O_{n\times(n-1)},h\theta)U(t-\tau_2,s),$$
$$U(t,s) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } \tau - s \leqslant t \leqslant s, \\ I & \text{when } t = s. \end{cases}$$

From the conditions given in Theorem 9.11.3, it is known that there exist constants  $M \ge 1$ ,  $N \ge 1$  and  $\alpha > 0$  such that

$$\|x^{*}(t)(t_{0},\phi)(t)\| \leq M \|\phi\|e^{-\alpha(t-t_{0})} \quad \text{when } t \geq t_{0},$$
(9.11.11)

$$\|U(t,s)\| \leqslant Ne^{-\alpha(t-s)} \quad \text{when } t \ge s.$$
(9.11.12)

Therefore, we have

$$\|x(t)\| \leq M \|\phi\| e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} + N \int_{t_0}^t e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \left[ \|hf(x_n(t-\tau_1))\| + \|\theta hx_n(s-\tau_2)\| \right] ds \quad (t \geq t_0).$$
(9.11.13)

 $\forall \epsilon > 0$ , since  $x_n(t) \to 0$  as  $t \to +\infty$  and  $f(\cdot)$  is a continuous function of  $x_0$ , there exists  $\delta_1(\epsilon) > 0$  such that when  $\|\phi\| < \delta_1(\epsilon)$ , the following inequalities hold:

$$N \int_{t_0}^{t_1} e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \left[ \left\| hf(x_n(t-\tau_1)) \right\| + \left\| \theta hx_n(s-\tau_2) \right\| \right] ds < \frac{\epsilon}{3}$$
  
when  $t_1 > t_0$ ,  
$$N \int_{t_1}^{t} e^{-\alpha(t-s)} \left[ \left\| hf(x_n(t-\tau_1)) \right\| + \left\| \theta hx_n(s-\tau_2) \right\| \right] ds < \frac{\epsilon}{3}$$
  
when  $t > t_1$ . (9.11.14)

Further, let  $\delta_2 = \frac{\epsilon}{3M}$ , and  $M \|\phi\| e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)} \leqslant \frac{\epsilon}{3}$  when  $\|\phi\| \leqslant \delta_2$ . Then define

$$\delta(\epsilon) = \min(\delta_1(\epsilon), \delta_2(\epsilon)). \tag{9.11.15}$$

Now combining equations (9.11.13), (9.11.14) and (9.11.15) yields  $||x(t)|| < \epsilon$ when  $t \ge t_0$  and  $||\phi|| < \delta(\epsilon)$ . Hence, the zero solution of system (9.11.8) is stable in the sense of Lyapunov. Further, it can be shown by applying L'Hospital rule to equation (9.11.13) that  $\forall x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|x(t)\| \leq \lim_{t \to +\infty} M \|\phi\| e^{-\alpha(t-t_0)}$$
  
+ 
$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{1}{e^{\alpha t}} \int_{t_0}^t e^{\alpha s} \left[ \|hf(x_n(s-\tau_1))\| + \|\theta hx_n(s-\tau_2)\| \right] d\tau$$
  
= 
$$0 + \frac{1}{\alpha} \lim_{t \to +\infty} \left[ \|hf(x_n(t-\tau_1))\| + \|\theta hx_n(t-\tau_2)\| \right]$$
  
= 
$$0.$$

which implies that the zero solution of system (9.11.8) is globally asymptotically stable. Due to the arbitrary of  $f(\cdot) \in F$ , the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independent absolutely stable. The sufficiency is also proved.

**THEOREM 9.11.4.** *The sufficient and necessary conditions for system* (9.11.4) *to be time-delay independent absolutely stable are:* 

- (1) There exists nonnegative vector  $\eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_n)^T$  such that the matrix  $A + B + (O_{n \times (n-1)}, \eta)$  is a Hurwitz matrix.
- (2) det $(i\sigma A Be^{-i\sigma\tau_1} (O_{n \times (n-1)}, \eta)e^{-i\sigma\tau_2}) \neq 0 \forall \sigma \in R.$
- (3) *The zero solution of system* (9.11.4) *is time-delay independent absolutely stable w.r.t. partial variable x<sub>n</sub>.*

The proof of Theorem 9.11.4 is similar to that for Theorem 9.11.3, and thus omitted for brevity.

REMARK 9.11.5. The existence of the vector  $\eta = (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_n)^T$  is obvious. For example,  $\eta = \theta$ . [ $\theta$  is defined in condition (1) of Theorem 9.11.3, which is a constructive condition, while condition (1) in Theorem 9.11.4 is an existence condition, which is certainly not as good as condition (1) of Theorem 9.11.3.] The condition (1) of Theorem 9.11.3 is easy to be verified. However, if an appropriate  $\eta$  is chosen, it may simplify the validation of other conditions in the theorem.

Similar to Theorems 9.11.3 and 9.11.4, we have the following theorems.

THEOREM 9.11.6. *The sufficient and necessary conditions for system* (9.11.5) *to be time-delay independent absolutely stable are:* 

(1) The matrix 
$$P + Q + (O_{n \times (n-1)}, \theta b)$$
 is a Hurwitz matrix, where

$$(O_{n\times(n-1)},\theta b) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & 0 & \theta b_1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \theta b_n \end{bmatrix}_{n\times n} := (\theta_{ij})_{n\times n}.$$

- (2)  $\det(i\sigma P Qe^{-i\sigma\tau_1} (O_{n\times(n-1)}, \theta b)e^{-i\sigma\tau_2}) \neq 0 \,\forall \sigma \in R.$
- (3) The zero solution of system (9.11.5) is time-delay independent absolutely stable w.r.t. partial variable  $y_n$ .

THEOREM 9.11.7. The sufficient and necessary conditions for system (9.11.5) to be time-delay independent absolutely stable are:

- (1) There exists nonnegative vector  $\eta = (\eta_1, ..., \eta_n)^T$  such that the matrix  $P + Q + (O_{n \times (n-1)}, \eta)$  is a Hurwitz matrix.
- (2) det $(i\sigma P Qe^{-i\sigma\tau_1} (O_{n \times (n-1)}, \eta)e^{-i\sigma\tau_2}) \neq 0 \,\forall \sigma \in R.$
- (3) *The zero solution of system* (9.11.5) *is time-delay independent absolutely stable w.r.t. partial variable y<sub>n</sub>.*

Now we derive some simple and easy-applicable algebraic criteria. These criteria are easy to be verified in practice and can be applied in designing absolutely stable systems or stabilizing an existing control system.

In system (9.11.4), assume that  $f(\cdot) \in F_{[0,k]} := \{f \mid f(0) = 0, 0 \le x_n f(x_n) \le kx_n^2\}$ , and *f* is continuous. Then we have the following theorem.

THEOREM 9.11.8. If system (9.11.4) satisfies the following conditions:

(1)  $a_{ii} < 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n.$ (2)  $G = (-(-1)^{\delta_{ij}} |a_{ij}| - |b_{ij}| - \theta_{ij} |h_i| k)_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix,

where

$$\theta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{when } i = 1, \dots, n, \ j = n, \\ 0 & \text{when } i = 1, \dots, n, \ j = 1, \dots, n-1, \end{cases}$$
  
$$\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{when } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{when } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

PROOF. Since *G* is an *M* matrix, it is known from the property of *M* matrix that  $\forall \beta = (\beta_1, \dots, \beta_n)^T > 0$  (i.e.,  $\beta_i > 0$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ ), there exist constants  $c_i > 0$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , such that  $c = (G^T)^{-1}\beta$ ,  $c = (c_1, \dots, c_n)^T$ , i.e.,

$$-c_{j}a_{jj} - \left(\sum_{i=1,i\neq j}^{n} |a_{ij}|c_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}|c_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\theta_{ij} ||h_{i}||k\right) = \beta_{j},$$
  
$$j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Consider a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \left[ \left| x_i(t) \right| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| b_{ij} \right| \int_{t-\tau_1}^{t} \left| x_j(s) \right| ds + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij} \left| h_i \right| k \int_{t-\tau_2}^{t} \left| x_i(s) \right| ds \right].$$

Suppose that the initial condition for the solution of system (9.11.4) is given by  $x(t) = \phi(t), -\tau \le t \le 0$ . Then we have

$$V(t_0) \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \left[ \left| x_i(t_0) \right| + \sum_{j=1}^n |b_{ij}| \|\phi\| \tau + \sum_{i=1}^n \theta_{ij} |h_i| k \|\phi\| \tau_2 \right]$$
  
:=  $M < +\infty$ 

and  $V(t) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i(t)|$ . Thus along the trajectory of system (9.11.4) differentiating V with respect to time yields

$$D^{+}V(t)|_{(9,11,4)} \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \left[ \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \operatorname{sign}(x_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||x_{j}(t)| \right]$$
  
$$- \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||x_{j}(t-\tau_{1})| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij}|h_{j}||x_{i}(t)| - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij}|h_{j}||x_{j}(t-\tau_{2})| \right]$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \left\{ \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ij}x_{j}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}x_{j}(t-\tau_{1}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij}h_{i}f(x_{n}(t-\tau_{2})) \right] \operatorname{sign}(x_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||x_{j}(t)| \right]$$
  
$$- \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||x_{j}(t-\tau_{1})| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij}|h_{j}||x_{i}(t)| - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij}|h_{j}||x_{i}(t-\tau_{2})| \right\}$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ c_{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j\neq i}}^{n} c_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij}|h_{i}|k \right] |x_{j}(t)|$$
  
$$\leqslant - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{j}|x_{j}(t)|. \qquad (9.11.16)$$

Hence,

$$0 \leqslant V(t) \leqslant V(t_0) - \int_{t_0}^t \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j |x_j(\tau)| \, d\tau \leqslant V(t_0). \tag{9.11.17}$$

Equation (9.11.17) clearly indicates that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independently stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

Next, we show that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independently attractive in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

Because

$$0 \leqslant \min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} c_i \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(t)| \leqslant V(t) \leqslant V(t_0) < +\infty,$$

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i(t)|$  is bounded, and thus  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\frac{dx_i}{dt}|$  is bounded in  $[t_0, +\infty)$ . This implies that  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i(t)|$  is uniformly continuous in  $[t_0, +\infty)$ . On the other hand, it follows from equation (9.11.17) that

$$\int_{t_0}^t \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j |x_j(t)| \, dt \leqslant V(t_0),$$

which, in turn, results in  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i(t)| \in L_1[0, +\infty)$ . Therefore, it follows from calculus that  $\forall \phi \in C[[-\tau, 0], \mathbb{R}^n]$ ,

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| x_i(t) \right| = 0,$$

which implies that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independently attractive in the Hurwitz sector [0, k]. The proof of Theorem 9.11.8 is complete.

COROLLARY 9.11.9. If one of the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) 
$$-a_{jj} > \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij} |h_i| k, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

(2) 
$$-a_{ii} > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \theta_{ij} |h_i| k, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$

(3) 
$$-a_{ii} > \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} (|a_{ij}| + |a_{ji}|) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (|b_{ij}| + |b_{ji}|) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\theta_{ij}|h_i|k + \theta_{ji}|h_j|k).$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independently attractive in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

This is simply because that any of the above conditions implies that  $a_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) and G is an M matrix.

Similar to Theorem 9.11.8 and Corollary 9.11.9, we have the following theorem and corollary.

THEOREM 9.11.10. If system (9.11.5) satisfies the following conditions:

- (1)  $p_{ii} < 0, i = 1, 2, \ldots, n.$
- (2)  $\tilde{G} = (-(-1)^{\delta_{ij}} |p_{ij}| |q_{ij}| \theta_{ij} |b_i|k)_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix, where  $\theta_{ij}$  and  $\delta_{ij}$  are defined in Theorem 9.11.3.

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

COROLLARY 9.11.11. If one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(1) 
$$-p_{jj} > \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} |p_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |q_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \theta_{ij} |h_i| k, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

(2) 
$$-p_{ii} > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} |p_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |q_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \theta_{ij} |h_i| k, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$

(3) 
$$-p_{ii} > \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} (|p_{ij}| + |p_{ji}|) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (|q_{ij}| + |q_{ji}|) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\theta_{ij}|b_i|k + \theta_{ji}|b_j|k).$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.5) is time-delay independently attractive in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

Further, we have the following result.

THEOREM 9.11.12. If system (9.11.4) satisfies the following conditions:

(1) There exist constants  $c_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$c_j a_{jj} + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n c_i |p_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^n c_i |q_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1;$$

and

$$c_n a_{nn} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} c_i |a_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^n c_i |b_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \theta_{in} |h_i| k \leq -\delta < 0$$

(2) All eigenvalues of det $(\lambda I_n - A - Be^{-i\lambda\tau_1}) = 0$  have negative real part.

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

PROOF. Construct a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional as follows:

$$V(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \left[ \left| x_i(t) \right| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left| b_{ij} \right| \int_{t-\tau_1}^{t} \left| x_j(s) \right| ds + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \theta_{ij} \left| h_i \right| k \int_{t-\tau_2}^{t} \left| x_j(s) \right| ds \right].$$
(9.11.18)

Following the proof of Theorem 1 we obtain

$$D^{+}V(t)|_{(9.11.4)} \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ c_{j}a_{jj} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} c_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{ij}| \right] |x_{j}(t)|$$
  
$$\leqslant \left[ c_{n}a_{nn} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} c_{i}|a_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{in}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{i}\theta_{ij}|h_{i}|k \right] |x_{n}(t)|$$
  
$$\leqslant -\delta |x_{n}(t)|.$$
(9.11.19)

Hence, we have

$$0 \leq V(t) \leq V(t_0) - \delta \int_{t_0}^t |x_n(s)| \, ds \leq V(t_0), \tag{9.11.20}$$

which indicates that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independently stable.

Again, similar to Theorem 9.11.3, we can prove that  $\int_{t_0}^t \delta |x_n(s)| ds \leq V(t_0)$ and  $|x_n(t)| \in L_1[0, +\infty)$ . Therefore,  $\lim_{t\to+\infty} |x_n(t)| = 0$ , which implies that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) is time-delay independently attractive w.r.t. partial variable  $x_n$  in the Hurwitz sector [0, k]. Following the proof of Theorem 9.11.3, we can express the solution of system (9.11.4) as

$$x(t) = x^{*}(t) + \int_{t_{0}}^{t} U(t,s) \Big[ hf \big( x_{n}(s-\tau) \big) \Big] ds,$$

where U(t, s) satisfies the following system:

$$\frac{\partial U(t,s)}{\partial t} = AU(t,s) + BU(t-\tau,s) + (O_{n\times(n-1)},h\theta)U(t-\tau_2,s),$$
$$U(t,s) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } \tau - s_0 \leqslant t \leqslant s_0, \\ I & \text{when } t = s_0, \end{cases}$$
(9.11.21)

and  $x^*(t) = x(t_0, \phi)$  is the solution of the following equation:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = Ax(t) + Bx(t - \tau_1) + h\theta x(t - \tau_2),$$
  

$$x(t) = \phi(t), \quad -\tau \leqslant t \leqslant t_0.$$
(9.11.22)

The remaining part of the proof can follow the derivation given in the proof of Theorem 9.11.3 from equations (9.11.11) to (9.11.15). The details are omitted here. This finishes the proof of Theorem 9.11.12.  $\Box$ 

Similar to Theorem 9.11.12, we have

THEOREM 9.11.13. If system (9.11.5) satisfies the following conditions:

(1) There exist constants  $c_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$c_j p_{jj} + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n c_i |p_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n c_i |q_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n-1;$$

and

$$c_n p_{nn} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} c_i |p_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^n c_i |q_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^n c_i \theta_{in} |h_i| k \leq -\delta < 0.$$

(2) All eigenvalues of det $(\lambda I_n - P - Qe^{-i\lambda\tau_1}) = 0$  have negative real part.

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.5) is time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

To end this section, we give an example to demonstrate the applicability of the theoretical results obtained in this section.

EXAMPLE 9.11.14. Consider a 3-dimensional Lurie control system in the form of (9.11.4), given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{dx_1}{dt} \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -4 & 0 & \frac{3}{4} \\ \frac{3}{2} & -4 & \frac{5}{4} \\ \frac{1}{2} & 1 & -6 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t) \\ x_2(t) \\ x_3(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{2}{3} & \frac{1}{4} \\ \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{3} & \frac{1}{4} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1(t-\tau_1) \\ x_2(t-\tau_1) \\ x_3(t-\tau_1) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} f \left( x_3(t-\tau_2) \right),$$

where  $f(\cdot) \in F_{[0,1/2]}$ . It is seen that  $a_{11} = -4 < 0$ ,  $a_{22} = -4 < 0$  and  $a_{33} = -6 < 0$ , and easy to verify that

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} 4-1 & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{3}{4} - \frac{1}{2} - 1 \\ -\frac{3}{2} - \frac{1}{2} & 4 - \frac{2}{3} & -\frac{5}{4} - \frac{1}{4} - \frac{3}{2} \\ -\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} & -1 - \frac{1}{3} & 6 - \frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{7}{4} \\ -2 & \frac{10}{3} & -3 \\ -1 & -\frac{4}{3} & \frac{21}{4} \end{bmatrix}$$

is an *M* matrix. Thus, the conditions given in Theorem 9.11.8 are satisfied, and the zero solution of this example is time-delay absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector  $[0, \frac{1}{2}]$ .

In the following, we consider using a decomposition method to obtain the absolute stability of the whole system's states, based on lower dimensional linear system which has negative real part for its eigenvalues and that partial variables of the system are stable.

Let

$$A := \begin{bmatrix} A_{m \times m} & A_{m \times (n-m)} \\ A_{(n-m) \times m} & A_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$B := \begin{bmatrix} B_{m \times m} & B_{m \times (n-m)} \\ B_{(n-m) \times m} & B_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$(O_{n \times (n-1)} h\theta) := D = \begin{bmatrix} D_{m \times m} & D_{m \times (n-m)} \\ D_{(n-m) \times m} & D_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$h_{(m)} := (h_1, h_2, \dots, h_m)^T, \quad h_{(n-m)} := (h_{m+1}, h_{m+2}, \dots, h_n)^T,$$
  

$$x_{(m)} := (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m)^T, \quad x_{(n-m)} := (x_{m+1}, x_{m+2}, \dots, x_n)^T.$$

Then system (9.11.4) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dx_{(m)}}{dt} = A_{m \times m} x_{(m)}(t) + B_{m \times m} x_{(m)}(t - \tau_1) + D_{m \times m} x_{(m)}(t) 
+ A_{m \times (n-m)} x_{(n-m)}(t) + B_{m \times (n-m)} x_{(n-m)}(t - \tau_1) 
+ D_{m \times (n-m)} x_{(n-m)}(t - \tau_1) 
+ k_{(m)} [f(x_n(t - \tau_2)) - \theta x_n(t - \tau_2)],$$
(9.11.23)

$$\frac{dx_{(n-m)}}{dt} = A_{(n-m)\times m}x_{(m)}(t) + B_{(n-m)\times m}x_{(n-m)}(t-\tau_{1}) 
+ D_{(n-m)\times m}x_{(n-m)}(t) 
+ A_{(n-m)\times (n-m)}x_{(n-m)}(t) + B_{(n-m)\times (n-m)}x_{(n-m)}(t-\tau_{1}) 
+ D_{(n-m)\times (n-m)}x_{(n-m)}(t-\tau_{1}) 
+ k_{(n-m)}[f(x_{n}(t-\tau_{2})) - \theta x_{n}(t-\tau_{2})].$$
(9.11.24)

It is obvious that the solutions of system (9.11.4) are equivalent to that of equations (9.11.23) and (9.11.24).

#### THEOREM 9.11.15. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) All the eigenvalues of det $(\lambda I_m A_{m \times m} B_{m \times m}e^{-i\lambda\tau_1} D_{m \times m}e^{-i\lambda\tau_2}) = 0$ have negative real part.
- (2) There exist constants  $c_i \ge 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., m, and  $c_i > 0$ , j = m + 1, m + 2, ..., n, such that

$$c_{j}a_{jj} + \left(\sum_{i=1, i\neq j}^{n} c_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{ij}|\right) \leq 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$

$$c_{j}a_{jj} + \left(\sum_{i=1, i\neq j}^{n} c_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{ij}|\right) < 0,$$

$$j = m + 1, m + 2, \dots, n.$$

$$c_{n}a_{nn} + \left(\sum_{i=1, i\neq j}^{n} c_{i}|a_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|h_{i}|k\right) < 0.$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.23)–(9.11.24) is time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

**PROOF.** For the partial variables of the system:  $x_{m+1}, x_{m+2}, \ldots, x_n$ , construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(x,t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |x_i| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_1}^{t} c_i |b_{ij}| |x_j(s)| \, ds$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i |h_i| \int_{t-\tau_2}^{t} k |x_n(s)| \, ds.$$

Then

$$D^{+}V(x,t)|_{(9.11.4)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \operatorname{sign}(x_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{i}|b_{ij}| |x_{j}(t)|$$

$$\begin{split} &-\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{n}c_{i}|b_{ij}||x_{j}(t-\tau_{1})| \\ &+\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|h_{i}|k|x_{n}(t)|-\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|h_{i}|k|x_{n}(t-\tau_{2})| \\ &\leqslant\sum_{j=1}^{n-1}\left[c_{j}a_{jj}+\left(\sum_{i=1,i\neq j}^{n}c_{i}|a_{ij}|+\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|b_{ij}|\right)\right]|x_{j}(t)| \\ &+\left[c_{n}a_{nn}+\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1}c_{i}|a_{in}|+\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|b_{in}|+\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|h_{i}|k\right)\right]|x_{n}(t)| \\ &\leqslant\sum_{j=m+1}^{n-1}\left[c_{j}a_{jj}+\left(\sum_{i=1,i\neq j}^{n}c_{i}|a_{ij}|+\sum_{j=1}^{n}c_{i}|b_{ij}|\right)\right]|x_{j}(t)| \\ &+\left[c_{n}a_{nn}+\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n-1}c_{i}|a_{in}|+\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|b_{in}|+\sum_{i=1}^{n}c_{i}|h_{i}|k\right)\right]|x_{n}(t)| \\ &<0 \quad \text{when } \|x_{(n-m)}\| \neq 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, the complete solution of system (9.11.23)–(9.11.24), namely the complete solution of system (9.11.4), is absolutely stable w.r.t. partial variables  $x_{m+1}, x_{m+2}, \ldots, x_n$ .

Now let  $x_{(m)}^*(t) = x_m(t_0, \phi_m)(t)$  be the solution of the homogeneous part of equation (9.11.23):

$$\frac{dx_{(m)}}{dt} = A_{m \times m} x_{(m)}(t) + B_{m \times m} x_{(m)}(t - \tau_1) + D_{m \times m} x_{(m)}(t),$$
  
$$x_m(t) = \phi_m(t), \quad -\tau \le t \le 0.$$

Then we may follow the proof of Theorem 9.11.3 to write the solution of equation (9.11.23) as

$$\begin{aligned} x_m(t) &= x_{(m)}^*(t) + \int_{t_0}^t U_{(m)}(t,s) \{ A_{m \times (n-m)} x_{(n-m)}(s) \\ &+ B_{m \times (n-m)} x_{(n-m)}(s-\tau_1) + D_{m \times (n-m)} x_{(n-m)}(s-\tau_1) \\ &+ k_{(n-m)} [f (x_n(s-\tau_2) - \theta x_n(s-\tau_2))] \} ds, \end{aligned}$$

where  $U_{(m)}(t, s)$  is the fundamental matrix solution of the system:

$$\frac{\partial U_{(m)}(t,s)}{\partial t} = A_{m \times m} U_{(m)}(t,s) + B_{m \times m} U_{(m)}(t-\tau_1,s) + D_{m \times m} U_{(m)}(t-\tau_2,s),$$

$$U_{(m)}(t,s) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{when } \tau - s \leqslant t \leqslant s_0, \\ I_m & \text{when } t = s_0. \end{cases}$$

Finally, we can follow the last part of the proof for Theorem 9.11.3 to show that the zero solution of system (9.11.4) w.r.t.  $x_{(m)}$  is also time-delay independent absolutely stable. This completes the proof of Theorem 9.11.15.

Similarly, let

$$P := \begin{bmatrix} P_{m \times m} & P_{m \times (n-m)} \\ P_{(n-m) \times m} & P_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$Q := \begin{bmatrix} Q_{m \times m} & Q_{m \times (n-m)} \\ Q_{(n-m) \times m} & Q_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$(O_{n \times (n-1)} b\theta) := \overline{D} = \begin{bmatrix} \overline{D}_{m \times m} & \overline{D}_{m \times (n-m)} \\ \overline{D}_{(n-m) \times m} & \overline{D}_{(n-m) \times (n-m)} \end{bmatrix},$$
  

$$b_{(m)} := (b_1, b_2, \dots, b_m)^T, \qquad b_{(n-m)} := (b_{m+1}, b_{m+2}, \dots, b_n)^T,$$
  

$$y_{(m)} := (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m)^T, \qquad y_{(n-m)} := (y_{m+1}, y_{m+2}, \dots, y_n)^T.$$

Then system (9.11.5) can be equivalently written as

$$\frac{dy_{(m)}}{dt} = P_{m \times m} y_{(m)}(t) + Q_{m \times m} y_{(m)}(t - \tau_1) + \overline{D}_{m \times m} y_{(m)}(t) 
+ P_{m \times (n-m)} y_{(n-m)}(t) + Q_{m \times (n-m)} y_{(n-m)}(t - \tau_1) 
+ \overline{D}_{m \times (n-m)} y_{(n-m)}(t - \tau_1) 
+ b_{(m)} [f (y_n(t - \tau_2) - \theta y_n(t - \tau_2))],$$
(9.11.25)

$$\frac{dy_{(n-m)}}{dt} = P_{(n-m)\times m}y_{(m)}(t) + Q_{(n-m)\times m}y_{(n-m)}(t) + \overline{D}_{(n-m)\times m}y_{(n-m)}(t) + P_{(n-m)\times(n-m)}y_{(n-m)}(t) + Q_{(n-m)\times(n-m)}y_{(n-m)}(t) + \overline{D}_{(n-m)\times(n-m)}y_{(n-m)}(t) + b_{(n-m)} [f(y_n(t-\tau_2) - \theta y_n(t-\tau_2))].$$
(9.11.26)

Thus we have a similar theorem, as given below.

THEOREM 9.11.16. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (1) All the eigenvalues of det $(\lambda I_m P_{m \times m} Q_{m \times m}e^{-i\lambda\tau_1} \overline{D}_{m \times m}e^{-i\lambda\tau_2}) = 0$ have negative real part.
- (2) There exist constants  $c_i \ge 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., m, and  $c_i > 0$ , j = m + 1, m + 2, ..., n, such that

$$c_j p_{jj} + \left(\sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n c_i |p_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^n c_i |q_{ij}|\right) \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$

$$c_{j}p_{jj} + \left(\sum_{i=1, i\neq j}^{n} c_{i}|p_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|q_{ij}|\right) < 0,$$
  

$$j = m + 1, m + 2, \dots, n.$$
  

$$c_{n}p_{nn} + \left(\sum_{i=1, i\neq j}^{n} c_{i}|p_{in}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}|q_{in}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{i}|h_{i}|k\right) < 0.$$

Then the zero solution of system (9.11.25)–(9.11.26), namely the zero solution of system (9.11.5), is time-delay independent absolutely stable in the Hurwitz sector [0, k].

The proof of Theorem 9.11.16 is similar to Theorem 9.11.15 and thus omitted.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 10

### **Stability of Neural Networks**

In the past decade, the research in the area of neural networks has received considerable attention from scientists and engineers. So far, about 20 well-known Journals are related to this research. It is unprecedented that neural network has covered a wide range of subjects, not to mention a wide range of applications and an incredible diversity of theoretical results. Hopfield and his co-workers [172– 177] introduced an energy function to investigate the stability of neural networks, which has been applied to study associative memory and optimal computing for symmetric feedback neural networks. This method has subsequently been modelled by many other scholars.

In this chapter, we first present an exact definition of stability in the sense of Hopfield for neural networks to show the difference between this stability and Lyapunov stability. We also present general methods of constructing energy function. Then we introduce some Lyapunov stability results, related to cell neural networks, bidirectional associative memory neural networks, and general neural networks.

Some materials presented in this chapter are chosen from [172–174] for Section 10.1, [276] for Section 10.2, [234] for Section 10.3, [265] for Section 10.4, [72,278] for Section 10.5, [269] for Section 10.6, [270] for Section 10.7, [372, 373] for Section 10.8, [87] for Section 10.9, [82,83] for Section 10.10,

#### 10.1. Hopfield energy function method

The neural network proposed by Hopfield and his co-workers [173,176,177] can be described by a system of ordinary differential equations as follows:

$$\begin{cases} C_i \frac{du_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n T_{ij} V_j - \frac{u_i}{R_i} + I_i^* := f_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ V_i = g_i(u_i), \end{cases}$$
(10.1.1)

where the variable  $u_i(t)$  represents the voltage on the input of the *i*th neuron. Each neuron is characterized by an input capacitance,  $C_i$ , and a transfer function,  $g_i(u_i)$ , called sigmoid function. The parallel resistance at the input of the *i*th neuron is expressed by  $R_i$ ,  $I_i$  is the current on the input of the *i*th neuron. The nonlinear transfer function  $g_i(u)$  is a sigmoid function, saturating at  $\pm 1$  with maximum slope at  $u_i = 0$ . In term of mathematics,  $g_i(u_i)$  is strictly monotone increasing function.

Let  $T_{ij} = T_{ji}$ . Hopfield [172] first constructed the following energy function:

$$E = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_i V_j - \sum_{i=1}^{n} V_i I_i + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_i} \int_{0}^{V_i} g_i^{-1}(\xi) d\xi.$$
(10.1.2)

Differentiating E with respect to time t along the solution of system (10.1.1) yields

$$\frac{dE}{dt}\Big|_{(10.1.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial E}{\partial V_{i}} \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} 
= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_{j} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ji} V_{j} + \frac{u_{i}}{R_{i}} - I_{i} \right] \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} 
= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (T_{ij} - T_{ij}) V_{j} - \left( \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_{j} - \frac{u_{i}}{R_{i}} + I_{i} \right) \right] \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} 
= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( -C_{i} \frac{du_{i}}{dt} \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} \right) 
= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \dot{g}_{i}^{-1} (V_{i}) \left( \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} \right)^{2} \leq 0.$$
(10.1.3)

Since  $\dot{g}_i > 0$ ,

$$\left.\frac{dE}{dt}\right|_{(10.1.1)} = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \frac{dV_i}{dt} = 0 \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$

implying that

$$-\frac{u_i}{R_i} + \sum_{j=1}^n T_{ij} V_j + I_i = 0 \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n).$$
(10.1.4)

Based on (10.1.3) and (10.1.4), one obtains the following conclusions:

- (1) the neural network (10.1.1) is stable;
- (2) the network tends to some static points which are the minimum of the energy function E.

However, we would like to point out that this class stability of neural networks is essentially different from Lyapunov stability. For Lyapunov stability, the equilibria of dynamical systems are known, and the constructed Lyapunov function V has a definite sign in the neighborhood of a known equilibrium, while the time derivative of V on trajectories of the system has the opposite sign of V. For neural networks, the equilibria are unknown, even if the existence and uniqueness of the equilibria are known. The constructed Hopfield type energy functions may have varying signs. In fact, the stability of a neural network means that the network tends to transfer from dynamic state to static state. Thus, it is necessary to establish an exact definition for the stability of neural networks.

DEFINITION 10.1.1. The set  $\Omega_E$  of equilibria u of system (10.1.1) is said to be attractive, if for any K > 0 and any  $u_0 \in S_K := \{u, ||u|| < K\}$ , the solution of (10.1.1),  $u(t, t_0, u_0)$ , with the initial point  $u = u_0$ , satisfies

 $\rho \{ u(t, t_0, u_0), \Omega_E \} \to 0 \text{ as } t \to \infty,$ 

where  $\rho(u, \Omega_E)$  denotes the distance from the point *u* to  $\Omega_E$ . System (10.1.1) is said to be Hopfield stable, if the set  $\Omega_E$  of equilibria of (10.1.1) is attractive.

Generally, there are many equilibria in a neural network. Attraction of the set of equilibria is not equivalent to the attraction of every equilibrium. The Hopfield energy function method can merely guarantee that a solution  $u(t, t_0, u_0)$  tends to a certain equilibrium  $u^*(u_0)$  of system (10.1.1), where  $u^*(u_0)$  depends on the initial point  $u_0, u^*$  may be unstable in the sense of Lyapunov. Even for a given equilibrium  $u = u^*$ , Hopfield energy function method is not able to answer whether it is stable or attractive. Hence, in the following, we first present a series of results concerning the Lyapunov asymptotic stability of a given equilibrium point of certain neural networks.

For the energy function described above, we try to explore the principles of constructing the energy function (10.1.2) of neural network (10.1.1). The principles of other energy functions may be analyzed analogously.

Based upon the gradient method for constructing Lyapunov functions, the time derivative of E(V) on the trajectory of (10.1.1) can be expressed as

$$\left. \frac{dE}{dt} \right|_{(10.1.1)} = (\operatorname{grad} E)^T \bullet f = \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\partial E}{\partial V_i} f_i, \qquad (10.1.5)$$

where

grad 
$$E = \left(\frac{\partial E}{\partial V_i}, \dots, \frac{\partial E}{\partial V_n}\right)^T$$

denotes the gradient of E(u),  $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n)^T$ . Set grad E = -f. Then

$$(\operatorname{grad} E)^T \cdot f = -\sum_{i=1}^n f_i^2 \leqslant 0,$$
 (10.1.6)

which is equal to zero if and only if  $f_i = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ .

The hypotheses  $T_{ij} = T_{ji}$  is merely the result of the general rotation:

$$\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial V_j} = T_{ij} = T_{ji} = \frac{\partial f_j}{\partial V_i}.$$
(10.1.7)

Integrating grad E = -f and noting that the integration is not related to the integral path, we have

$$E(V) = -\int_{0}^{V_{1}} f_{1}(\xi_{1}, 0, ..., 0) d\xi_{1} - \int_{0}^{V_{2}} f_{2}(V_{1}, \xi_{2}, 0, ..., 0) d\xi_{1} + \cdots$$
  
$$-\int_{0}^{V_{n}} f_{n}(V_{1}, V_{2}, ..., V_{n-1}, \xi_{n}) d\xi_{n}$$
  
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_{i} V_{j} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} I_{i} V_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \int_{0}^{V_{i}} g_{i}^{-1}(\xi) d\xi, \quad (10.1.8)$$

which, in fact, is the energy function (10.1.2). This is the reason behind development of Hopfield type energy function.

EXAMPLE 10.1.2. Consider a Hopfield network (n = 2):

$$\begin{cases} C_1 \frac{du_1}{dt} = -\frac{u_1}{R_1} + T_{11}V_1 + T_{12}V_2 + I_1 := f_1, \\ C_2 \frac{du_2}{dt} = -\frac{u_2}{R_2} + T_{21}V_1 + T_{22}V_2 + I_2 := f_2. \end{cases}$$

Let  $T_{12} = T_{21}$ . Then we have

$$E(V) = -\int_{0}^{V_{1}} f_{1}(\xi_{1}, 0) d\xi_{1} - \int_{0}^{V_{2}} f_{2}(V_{1}, \xi_{2}) d\xi_{2}$$
  
= 
$$\int_{0}^{V_{1}} \left(\frac{u_{1}}{R_{1}} - T_{11}V_{1} - I_{1}\right) dV_{1} + \int_{0}^{V_{2}} \left(\frac{u_{2}}{R_{2}} - T_{21}V_{1} - T_{22}V_{2} - I_{2}\right) dV_{2}$$
  
= 
$$\int_{0}^{V_{1}} \frac{g_{1}^{-1}(V_{1})}{R_{1}} dV_{1} + \int_{0}^{V_{2}} \frac{g_{2}^{-1}(V_{2})}{R_{2}} dV_{2} - \frac{1}{2}T_{11}V_{1}^{2} - I_{1}V_{1}$$

10.2. Lagrange globally exponential stability of general neural network

$$-T_{21}V_{1}V_{2} - \frac{1}{2}T_{22}V_{2}^{2} - I_{2}V_{2}$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{2}\sum_{j=1}^{2}T_{ij}V_{i}V_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{2}\frac{1}{R_{i}}\int_{0}^{V_{i}}g_{i}^{-1}(\xi)\,d\xi - \sum_{i=1}^{2}I_{i}V_{i}.$$
(10.1.9)

### **10.2.** Lagrange globally exponential stability of general neural network

In this section, we consider the general recursive neural network model with multiple time delays

$$C_{i}\frac{du_{i}}{dt} = -d_{i}u_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij}g_{j}(u_{j}(t)) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} r_{ij}g_{j}(u_{j}(t-\tau_{ij})) + I_{i}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
(10.2.1)

where  $T = (T_{ij})_{n \times n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $r = (r_{ij})_{n \times n} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $\sigma < \tau_{ij} \leq \tau = \text{constant.}$ 

Assume that the  $g_i(u_i)$  is a sigmoidal function, defined as

$$S_i = \{g_i(u) \mid g(0) = 0, \ |g_i(u)| \leq k_i, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ D^+ g_i(u_i) \geq 0\}.$$

We first consider the Lagrange globally exponential stability. We have found that all neural networks with bounded activation functions, such as Hopfield neural network, bidirectional associative memory neural network, cellular neural network (CNN), are Lagrange globally exponentially stable. This general characteristics, independent of time delay, plays the key role in the study of neural networks. More specifically, its importance has several major aspects.

Firstly, one of the important applications of neural networks is computational optimization in finding the equilibrium points of neural networks. One of the novelty of neural networks is that it can be used to solve nonlinear algebraic or transcendent equations by using electronic circuits to realize differential equations. The globally exponentially attractive set can provide prior knowledge for optimization. That is, having found such an attractive set, the bound of the optimization solution can be roughly determined.

Secondly, it has been recently found the neural network described by (10.2.1) can exhibit chaotic motions. To identify chaos, one usually needs to assure that the system is ultimately bounded and the system has at least one positive Lyapunov exponent. Therefore, it is important to study stability in the sense of Lagrange since it is directly related to the ultimate boundedness of the system.
Thirdly, the global stability in the sense of Lyapunov on unique equilibrium point and the stability in the sense of Hopfield on equilibrium point set can be treated as special cases of stability in the sense of Lagrange.

Let

$$|g_i(u_i)| \leq k_i, \qquad 2M_i := \sum_{j=1}^n (|T_{ij}| + |r_{ij}|)k_j + |I_i|,$$

and

$$\Omega = \left\{ u \mid \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} C_i u_i^2 \leqslant \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i^2 / \varepsilon_i}{2 \min_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant n} (d_i - \varepsilon_i) / C_i} \right\}, \quad \text{where } \sigma < \varepsilon_i < d_i.$$

THEOREM 10.2.1. If  $g(u) \in S$ , then the neural network (10.2.1) is Lagrange globally exponentially stable, and the set  $\Omega$  is a globally exponentially attractive set.

PROOF. We employ the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(u) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i} u_{i}^{2},$$

and choose  $\varepsilon_i$  such that  $0 < \varepsilon_i < d_i$ . Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt} \Big|_{(10.2.1)} &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i} u_{i} \frac{du_{i}}{dt} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( |T_{ij}| + |r_{ij}| \right) k_{j} |u_{i}| - d_{i} u_{i}^{2} + |I_{i}| |u_{i}| \right] \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ - \left[ d_{i} u_{i}^{2} - \left( \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( |T_{ij}| + |r_{ij}| \right) k_{j} + |I_{i}| \right) |u_{i}| \right] \right\} \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_{i} u_{i}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} 2M_{i} |u_{i}| \\ &\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_{i} u_{i}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{i} u_{i}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{M_{i}^{2}}{\varepsilon_{i}} \\ &\leqslant -\min_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n} \frac{d_{i} - \varepsilon_{i}}{C_{i}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i} u_{i}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{M_{i}^{2}}{\varepsilon_{i}} \end{aligned}$$

$$= -2 \min_{1 \le i \le n} \frac{d_i - \varepsilon_i}{C_i} V(u(t)) + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{M_i^2}{\varepsilon_i}$$
$$\leq -2 \min_{1 \le i \le n} \frac{d_i - \varepsilon_i}{C_i}$$
$$\times \left[ V(u(t)) - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n M_i^2 / \varepsilon_i}{2 \min_{1 \le j \le n} (d_i - \varepsilon_i) / C_i} \right].$$
(10.2.2)

Hence, when

$$V(u(t)) > \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_i^2 / \varepsilon_i}{2 \min_{1 \le j \le n} (d_i - \varepsilon_i) / c_i} \quad \text{for } t \ge t_0,$$

we have

$$V(u(t)) - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{i}^{2} / \varepsilon_{i}}{2 \min_{1 \leq j \leq n} (d_{i} - \varepsilon_{i}) / C_{i}}$$

$$\leq \left[ V(u(0)) - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{i}^{2} / \varepsilon_{i}}{2 \min_{1 \leq j \leq n} (d_{i} - \varepsilon_{i}) / C_{i}} \right]$$

$$\times e^{-2 \min_{1 \leq i \leq n} \frac{d_{i} - \varepsilon_{i}}{C_{i}} (t - t_{0})}.$$
(10.2.3)

This indicates that the ellipse  $\Omega$  is a globally exponentially attractive set of (10.2.1), i.e., system (10.2.1) is Lagrange globally exponentially stable.  $\Box$ 

## 10.3. Extension of Hopfield energy function method

In this section, by using LaSalle invariant principle, we prove more general stability theorems for Hopfield neural network.

THEOREM 10.3.1. If there exist some positive constants  $\beta_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that  $(\beta_i T_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is a symmetric matrix, then the network (10.1.1) is stable in the sense of Hopfield.

PROOF. We employ the general Hopfield type energy function:

$$W(u) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\beta_{i} T_{ij}) V_{i} V_{j} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} I_{i} V_{i}$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \int_{0}^{V_{i}} g_{i}^{-1}(\xi) d\xi, \qquad (10.3.1)$$

and obtain

$$\frac{dW(u)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.1.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial E}{\partial V_i} \frac{dV_i}{dt}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\beta_j T_{ji}) V_j - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\beta_i T_{ij}) V_j + \beta_i \frac{u_i}{R_i} - \beta_i I_i \right] \frac{dV_i}{dt}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ -\frac{1}{2} (\beta_j T_{ji} - \beta_i T_{ij}) V_j - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\beta_i T_{ij}) V_j + \beta_i \frac{u_i}{R_i} - \beta_i I_i \right] \frac{dV_i}{dt}$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i \beta_i \frac{du_i}{dt} \frac{dV_i}{dt}$$

$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i \beta_i \dot{g}_i (u_i) \left( \frac{du_i}{dt} \right)^2 \leq 0.$$
(10.3.2)

Since  $\dot{g}_i(u_i) > 0$ ,

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = 0 \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \frac{du_i}{dt} = 0 \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$

implying that

$$-\frac{u_i}{R_i} + \sum_{j=1}^n T_{ij}V_j + I_i = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Since W(u(t)) is monotone decreasing, W(u(t)) is bounded in *D*. Thus,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} W(u(t)) = W_0$ .  $\forall u_0 \in D$ , let  $\Omega(u_0)$  be  $\omega$ -limit set of  $u(t, t_0, u_0)$ , *E* the set of equilibria of (10.1.1), *M* the largest invariant set of (10.1.1) in *D*. Then, by LaSalle invariance principle [222], we have

 $u(t, t_0, u_0) \to M$  as  $(t \to +\infty)$ ,

but  $\Omega(u_0) \subseteq M \subseteq E$ .

Hence, E is attractive, i.e., system (10.1.1) is stable in the sense of Hopfield.  $\Box$ 

Especially, for  $\beta_i \equiv 1, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , W(u) is the original energy function proposed by Hopfield [175].

EXAMPLE 10.3.2. (See [234].) For the following neural network:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{du_1}{dt} = -u_1 + 2V_1 + V_2 + I_1, \\ \frac{du_2}{dt} = -u_1 + 3V_1 + 4V_2 + I_2, \end{cases}$$
(10.3.3)

the weight matrix  $T = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 3 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$  is not symmetric. However, if we take  $\beta_1 = 3$ ,  $\beta_2 = 1$ , then

$$(\beta_i T_{ij}) = \begin{bmatrix} 6 & 3\\ 3 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$$

is a symmetric matrix.

Obviously, we cannot determine the asymptotic behavior of this system by the original Hopfield energy function. But we can do so using our extensive energy function.

EXAMPLE 10.3.3. (See [234].) Consider the following Hopfield network (n = 3):

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{u}_1 \\ \dot{u}_2 \\ \dot{u}_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -u_1 \\ -u_2 \\ -u_3 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & 2 & 4 \\ 1/2 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} V_1 \\ V_2 \\ V_3 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_1 \\ I_2 \\ I_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10.3.4)

Take

$$\beta_1 = 2, \quad \beta_2 = 1, \quad \beta_3 = 4,$$

and thus

$$(\beta_i T_{ij}) = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 & 4 \\ 2 & 4 & 4 \end{bmatrix}$$

is a symmetric matrix.

So system (10.3.4) is stable in the sense of Hopfield.

In the following, by the method and results of interval matrix stability, we analyze the Hopfield type stability of (10.1.1). Let  $y_i = \frac{du_i}{dt}$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n). Then system (10.1.1) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = -\frac{y_i}{C_i R_i} + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{T_{ij}}{C_i} g'_j(u_j) y_j.$$
(10.3.5)

Let

$$\underline{T}_{ij} = \inf_{u_j \in \mathbb{R}^1} \left\{ \frac{T_{ij}}{C_i} g'_j(u_j) \right\}, \qquad \overline{T}_{ij} = \sup_{u_j \in \mathbb{R}^1} \left\{ \frac{T_{ij}}{C_i} g'_j(u_j) \right\}.$$

We consider an interval dynamical system:

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = -\frac{y_i}{R_i C_i} + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} y_j \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n),$$
(10.3.6)

where  $a_{ij} \in [\underline{T}_{ij}, \overline{T}_{ij}]$ .

THEOREM 10.3.4. Assume that

(1) 
$$-\frac{1}{C_i R_i} + \overline{T}_{ii} < 0$$
  $(i = 1, 2, ..., n);$   
(2)  
 $B := \left\{ \left( -\frac{1}{C_i R_i} - \overline{T}_{ii} \right) - (1 - \delta_{ij}) \max\{ |\underline{T}_{ij}|, |\overline{T}_{ij}| \} \right\}_{n \times n}$   
 $:= (b_{ij})_{n \times n}$ 

is an M matrix.

*Then the zero solution of system* (10.3.6) *is asymptotically stable. Hence, the system* (10.1.1) *is stable in the sense of Hopfield.* 

PROOF. Since *M* is an *M* matrix,  $(B^T)^{-1} \ge 0$ . Then,  $\forall \xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n)^T > 0$ ,  $\eta := (B^T)^{-1}\xi > 0$ , i.e.,  $\xi_i > 0$ ,  $\eta_i > 0$   $(i = 1, 2, \dots, n)$ .  $\forall a_{ij} \in [\underline{T}_{ij}, \overline{T}_{ij}]$ , by employing the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$W(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \eta_i |y_i|,$$

we have

$$D^{+}W(y)|_{(10.3.6)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{sgn}(y_{i}) \left( -\frac{1}{C_{i}R_{i}}y_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}y_{j} \right) \eta_{i}$$
  
$$\leqslant -|y|^{T}B^{T}\eta$$
  
$$= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i}|y_{i}| < 0 \quad \text{when } y \neq 0.$$

So, the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 10.3.5. If the matrix  $B^* = (b_{ij}^*)_{n \times n}$  is positive definite, then the zero solution of system (10.3.6) is asymptotically stable and thus the system (10.1.1) is stable in the sense of Hopfield, where

 $\Box$ 

$$b_{ii}^{*} = \frac{1}{C_{i}R_{i}} - \overline{T}_{ii}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
  
$$b_{ij}^{*} = \max_{i \neq j} \left[ \frac{|\underline{T}_{ij} + \underline{T}_{ji}|}{2}, \frac{|\overline{T}_{ij} + \overline{T}_{ji}|}{2} \right], \quad i \neq j, \ i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

PROOF. Choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$W(y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} y_i^2,$$

which results in

$$\frac{dW(y)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.3.6)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i \frac{dy_i}{dt} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{y_i^2}{C_i R_i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} y_i y_j$$
  
$$\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{C_i R_i} - \overline{T}_{ii}\right) y_i^2 + \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} \left(\frac{a_{ij} + a_{ji}}{2}\right) y_i y_j$$
  
$$\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{C_i R_i} - \overline{T}_{ii}\right)^2 + \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} b_{ij}^* |y_i| |y_j|$$
  
$$\leqslant (|y_1| \cdots |y_n|) (B^*) (|y_1|, \dots, |y_n|)^T$$
  
$$< 0 \quad \text{when } y \neq 0.$$

Thus, the conclusion is true.

EXAMPLE 10.3.6. (See [234].) Consider a 2-dimension Hopfield neural network:

$$\begin{cases} C_1 \frac{du_1}{dt} = -\frac{1}{R_1} + T_{11}g_1(u_1) + T_{12}g_2(u_2) + I_1, \\ C_2 \frac{du_2}{dt} = -\frac{1}{R_2} + T_{21}g_1(u_1) + T_{22}g_2(u_2) + I_2. \end{cases}$$
(10.3.7)

Assume that

$$C_{i} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad R_{i} = \frac{1}{3} \quad (i = 1, 2), \quad \overline{T}_{ii} = 2 \quad (i = 1, 2),$$
  

$$\underline{T}_{ii} = -2 \quad (i = 1, 2),$$
  

$$\underline{T}_{12} = -3.5, \quad \overline{T}_{12} = 3, \quad \underline{T}_{21} = -3, \quad \overline{T}_{21} = 3.5.$$
  

$$\underline{T}_{ii} = \inf_{u_{j} \in \mathbb{R}^{1}} \left\{ \frac{T_{ij}}{C_{i}} \dot{g}_{i}(u_{j}) \right\}, \quad \overline{T}_{ij} = \sup_{u_{j} \in \mathbb{R}^{1}} \left\{ \frac{T_{ij}}{C_{i}} \dot{g}_{j}(u_{j}) \right\}.$$
(10.3.8)

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} &-\frac{1}{C_i R_i} + \overline{T}_{ii} = -6 + 2 = -4 < 0 \quad (i = 1, 2), \\ B &:= \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{C_1 R_1} - \overline{T}_{11} & -\max(|\underline{T}_{12}|, |\overline{T}_{12}|) \\ -\max(|\underline{T}_{21}|, |\overline{T}_{21}|) & \frac{1}{C_2 R_2} - \overline{T}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} 4 & -3.5 \\ -3.5 & 4 \end{bmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$

It is clear that B is positive definite, and so system (10.3.7) is stable in the sense of Hopfield by Theorem 10.3.4.

EXAMPLE 10.3.7. (See [234].) Consider a 3-dimensional Hopfield neural net-work:

$$C_i \frac{du_i}{dt} = -\frac{1}{R_i} + \sum_{j=1}^3 T_{ij} g_j(u_j) + I_i \quad (i = 1, 2, 3).$$
(10.3.9)

Let

$$C_{i} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad R_{i} = \frac{1}{2} \quad (i = 1, 2, 3), \quad \overline{T}_{ii} = 1 \quad (i = 1, 2, 3), \quad \underline{T}_{12} = -1,$$
  
$$\underline{T}_{21} = -2, \quad \overline{T}_{12} = 2, \quad \overline{T}_{21} = 1, \quad \underline{T}_{13} = \underline{T}_{31} = -1,$$
  
$$\overline{T}_{13} = \overline{T}_{31} = 1.4, \quad \underline{T}_{23} = \underline{T}_{32} = -1.2, \quad \overline{T}_{23} = \overline{T}_{32} = 1.3,$$

where  $\underline{T}_{ij}$ ,  $\overline{T}_{ij}$  are obtained by using (10.3.8). By Theorem 10.3.5, construct the matrix  $B^*$  as

$$B^* = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1.5 & 1.4\\ 1.5 & 3 & 1.3\\ 1.4 & 1.3 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$$

which is positive definite. So, system (10.3.9) is stable in the sense of Hopfield.

In the following, we use Karsovskii's theorem [193] to study the Hopfield type stability. Rewrite (10.1.1) as

$$\frac{du_i}{dt} = -\frac{u_i}{C_i R_i} + \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{T_{ij}}{C_i} V_j + \frac{I_i}{C_i} := f_i(u_i), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \quad (10.3.10)$$

THEOREM 10.3.8. If there exists a symmetric positive matrix  $P = (p_{ij})_{n \times n}$  such that the matrix  $Q := (PJ + J^T P)$  is negative definite, then system (10.3.10) is stable in the sense of Hopfield, where  $J = (\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial t_{ij}})_{n \times n}$  is the Jacobian matrix of f.

PROOF. Take the Lyapunov function:

$$W(x) = f^T(u) P f(u),$$

where  $f = (f_1(u), \ldots, f_n(u))^T$ . Obviously,  $W(u) \ge 0$ , W(u) = 0 if and only if u is an equilibrium point. Further, we have

$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.3.10)} = f^T P \dot{f} + \dot{f}^T P f = f^T P J f + (Jf)^T P f$$
$$= f^T (P J + J^T P) f = f^T Q f \leq 0, \qquad (10.3.11)$$

and  $\frac{dW}{dt} = 0$  if and only if *u* is an equilibrium point of (10.3.10). So, the conclusion is true.

The Hopfield energy function method can only guarantee that a solution  $u(t, t_0, u_0)$  tends to a certain equilibrium  $u^*(u)$  of (10.1.1) but cannot answer whether  $u = u^*$  is stable or attractive in the sense of Lyapunov. Now we employ another Lyapunov function:

$$E^{*}(V) = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_{i} V_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{V_{i}^{*}}^{V_{i}} \frac{g_{i}^{-1}(V_{i})}{R_{i}} dV_{i}$$
$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} I_{i} (V_{i} - V_{i}^{*}) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_{i}^{*} V_{j}^{*}$$
(10.3.12)

where  $V_i^* = g_i(u_i^*)$ ,  $u = u^*$  is an equilibrium point of system (10.3.10).

THEOREM 10.3.9. If the matrix

$$\left(\frac{\partial^2 E^*}{\partial V^2}\right)_{V=V^*} := \left(\frac{\partial^2 E^*}{\partial V_i \partial V_j}\right)_{n \times n} \Big|_{V=V^*}$$
(10.3.13)

is positive definite, then  $u = u^*$  of (10.3.10) is asymptotically stable in the sense of Lyapunov.

PROOF. We have  $E^*(V^*) = 0$ , and

$$\frac{\partial E^{*}(V)}{\partial V_{i}}\Big|_{V=V^{*}} = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij}V_{j}^{*} + \frac{1}{R_{i}}g_{i}^{-1}(V_{i}^{*}) - I_{i} = 0 \quad (i = 1, ..., n),$$

$$\frac{\partial^{2}E^{*}(V)}{\partial V_{i}^{2}}\Big|_{V=V^{*}} = -T_{ii} + \frac{1}{R_{i}}(g_{i}^{-1}(V_{i}^{*})) \quad (i = 1, ..., n),$$

$$\frac{\partial^{2}E^{*}(V)}{\partial V_{i}\partial V_{j}}\Big|_{V=V^{*}} = \frac{\partial^{2}E^{*}}{\partial V_{j}\partial V_{i}}\Big|_{V=V^{*}}$$

$$= -T_{ij} = -T_{ji} \quad (i \neq j, i, j = 1, ..., n).$$

Since  $\left(\frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial V^2}\right)_{V=V^*}$  is positive definite, so is  $E^*(V)$  in certain neighborhood of  $u = u^*$ . Moreover,

$$\frac{dE^{*}(V)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.3.10)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( -\sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} V_{j} + \frac{g_{i}^{-1}(V_{i})}{R_{i}} - I_{i} \right) \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i} \dot{g}_{i}^{-1}(V_{i}) \left( \frac{dV_{i}}{dt} \right)^{2} \begin{cases} < 0 \ (V \neq V^{*}) \\ = 0 \ (V = V^{*}) \end{cases}$$
for  $\|V - V^{*}\| \ll 1.$  (10.3.14)

Therefore,  $u = u^*$  of (10.3.10) is asymptotically stable in the sense of Lyapunov.

COROLLARY 10.3.10. If  $(g_i^{-1}(V_i))' \ge 0$  and the matrix  $(T_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is symmetric negative definite, then any equilibrium point of (10.3.10) is asymptotically stable in the sense of Lyapunov.

PROOF. Since  $\frac{1}{R_i}(g_i^{-1}(V_i))' \ge 0$ , we have that

diag
$$\left(\frac{1}{R_1}\dot{g}_1^{-1}(V_1^*), \dots, \frac{1}{R_n}g_n'^{-1}(V_n^*)\right)$$

is positive semi-definite. Hence, the quadratic form:

$$(V - V^*)^T \left( \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial V_i \partial V_j} \right)_{n \times n} \Big|_{V = V^*} (V - V^*)$$
  
=  $-(V - V^*)^T (T_{ij})_{n \times n} (V - V^*) + (V - V^*)^T$   
 $\times \operatorname{diag} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{R_1} g_1'^{-1} (V_1^*), \dots, \frac{1}{R_n} g_n'^{-1} (V_n^*) \right) \right] (V - V^*)$   
 $\geq (V - V^*)^T (T_{ij})_{n \times n} (V - V^*)$   
 $> 0 \quad \text{for } V \neq V^*, \ ||V - V^*|| \ll 1,$  (10.3.15)

indicating that the conclusion is true.

COROLLARY 10.3.11. If  $\dot{g}_i(u_i) > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) and the matrix  $(T_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is symmetric negative semi-definite, then any equilibrium point of (10.3.10) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. By (10.3.15) we have

$$(V - V^*)^T \left( \frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial V_i \partial V_j} \right) (V - V^*)$$
  
=  $-(V - V^*)^T (T_{ij})_{n \times n} (V - V^*) + (V - V^*)^T$   
 $\times \operatorname{diag} \left[ \left( \frac{1}{R_1} \dot{g}_1^{-1}(u_1), \dots, \frac{1}{R_n} \dot{g}_n^{-1}(u_n) \right) \right] (V - V^*)$   
 $\geq (V - V^*)^T \operatorname{diag} \left[ \frac{1}{R_1} \dot{g}^{-1} (V_1^*), \dots, -\frac{1}{R_n} \dot{g}^{-1} (V_n^*) \right] (V - V^*)$   
 $> 0 \quad \text{for } V \neq V^*,$ 

which implies that the conditions in Theorem 10.3.9 are satisfied, and thus the conclusion holds.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 10.3.12. If the matrix  $(\frac{\partial^2 E}{\partial V_i \partial V_j})_{n \times n}|_{V=V^*}$  is negative definite, then any equilibrium point of (10.1.1) is unstable.

PROOF. The condition of Theorem 10.3.12 implies that  $E^*(V)$  is negative definite in certain neighborhood of  $u = u^*$  and so is  $\frac{dE^*(V)}{dt}$ . By Lyapunov unstable theorem, the conclusion is true.

In the following, we use the first approximation theory to study the stability. Let

$$B_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{T_{ii}}{C_i} \frac{\partial g_i(u_i)}{\partial u_i} \Big|_{u_i = u_i^*} - \frac{1}{C_i}, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{1}{C_j} T_{ij} \frac{\partial g_i(u_i)}{\partial u_i} \Big|_{u_i = u_i^*}, & i \neq j, \ i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$
(10.3.16)

THEOREM 10.3.13. If  $((-1)^{\delta_{ij}}|b_{ij}|)_{n\times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix, then (1)  $b_{ii} < 0$  implies that  $u = u^*$  of (10.3.10) is asymptotically stable; and (2)  $u = u^*$  of (10.3.10) is unstable if there exists at least one  $b_{i_0i_0} > 0$ .

**PROOF.** The first approximation of system (10.3.10) is

$$\frac{du}{dt} = B(u - u^*), \quad B = (b_{ij})_{n \times n}.$$

(1)  $((-1)^{\delta_{ij}}|b_{ij}|)$  is a Hurwitz matrix  $\iff \exists \text{ constants } \xi_i > 0 \ (i = 1, ..., n)$  such that

$$\xi_j b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \xi_i |b_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

for (10.3.10). Then it holds

$$E^{+}W(u)|_{(10.3.10)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \frac{du_{i}}{dt} \operatorname{sgn} |u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}|$$
  
$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \xi_{j} b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i} b_{ij} \right] |u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}| < 0 \qquad (10.3.17)$$

for  $u \neq u^*$ . So *B* is stable. According to the first approximation theory, we know that  $u = u^*$  of (10.3.10) is asymptotically stable.

(2)  $((-1)^{\delta_{ij}}|b_{ij}|)$  is a Hurwitz matrix and at least one  $b_{i_0i_0} > 0$ . Without loss of generality, we assume that

$$b_{ii} < 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

 $b_{ii} > 0$ ,  $i = m + 1, \ldots, n$ ,  $1 \leq m < n$ .

Therefore, there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$  such that

$$\xi_{j}b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|b_{ij}| < 0, \quad \text{for } j = 1, \dots, m,$$
  
$$-\xi_{j}b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|b_{ij}| < 0, \quad \text{for } j = m + 1, \dots, m$$

Choose the function

n

$$W(u) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \xi_i |u_i - u_i^*| - \sum_{i=m+1}^{n} \xi_i |u_i - u_i^*|.$$
(10.3.18)

Then, we obtain

$$D^{+}W(u)|_{(10,3,10)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left[ \xi_{j}b_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|b_{ij}| \right] |u_{j} - u_{j}^{*}|$$
$$- \sum_{j=m+1}^{n} \left[ \xi_{j}b_{jj} - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|b_{ij}| \right] |u_{j} - u_{j}^{*}| < 0$$

for  $u = u^*$ . Furthermore, we can prove that  $D^+W(u)|_{(10.3.10)}$  is negative definite in the neighborhood of  $u = u^*$ . So  $u = u^*$  is unstable.

## 10.4. Globally exponential stability of Hopfield neural network

In recent years, research on global stability of Hopfield neural network has received considerable attention. However in all existing results, the activation functions of neural networks are restricted to sigmoid functions, or piecewise linear monotone nondecreasing functions, or Lipschitz type functions, i.e.,  $g_i$  or  $\dot{g}_i$  is bounded.

In this section, we first consider a strapping nonlinear activation function, which only requires  $\dot{g}_i(u_i) \ge 0$ , without assuming that: (1)  $g_i$  and  $\dot{g}_i$  are bounded; and (2) the weight matrices are symmetry.

Two global exponential stability theorems are given below. Let  $u = (u_1, ..., u_n)^T$ , and  $u^* = (u_1^*, ..., u_n^*)^T$  be an equilibrium of system (10.1.1).

THEOREM 10.4.1. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ ,  $\eta_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that the following matrix A is negative definite, then

(1) the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of system (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable;

(2)  $\varepsilon = \frac{\lambda}{\mu}$  is estimation of the Lyapunov exponent, where

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}, \qquad A_{11} = \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{\xi_1}{R_1}, \dots, -\frac{\xi_n}{R_n}\right),$$

$$A_{12} = \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{\eta_1}{2R_1}, \dots, -\frac{\eta_n}{2R_n}\right)_{n \times n} + \left(\frac{\xi_i T_{ij} + \xi_j T_{ji}}{2}\right)_{n \times n},$$

$$A_{22} = \left(\frac{\eta_i T_{ij} + \eta_j T_{ij}}{2}\right)_{n \times n}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} B_{11} & B_{12} \\ B_{12}^T & B_{22} \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n},$$

$$B_{11} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{C_1 \xi_1}{2}, \dots, \frac{C_n \xi_n}{2}\right)_{n \times n},$$

$$B_{12} = B_{12}^T = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\eta_1 C_1}{2}, \dots, \frac{\eta_n C_n}{2}\right)_{n \times n},$$

$$B_{22} = O_{n \times n},$$

$$-\lambda = \lambda_{\max}(A), \qquad \mu = \lambda_{\max}(B)$$

in which  $\lambda_{\max}(A)$  and  $\lambda_{\max}(B)$  denote the maximum eigenvalues for A and B, respectively.

PROOF. (1) Let

$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T = (u_1 - u_1^*, \dots, u_n - u_n^*)^T,$$
  
$$f_i(x_i) = g_i(x_i + u_i^*) - g_i(u_i^*).$$

We rewrite (10.1.1) as

$$C_i \frac{dx_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=i}^n T_{ij} f_j(x_j) - \frac{x_i}{R_i} \quad (i = 1, \dots, n).$$
(10.4.1)

Then the stability of  $u^*$  of (10.1.1) is equivalent to the stability of the zero solution of (10.4.1). We employ the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \eta_i C_i \int_{0}^{x_i} f_i(x_i) \, dx_i, \qquad (10.4.2)$$

with

$$V(0) = 0, \quad V(x) > 0 \text{ for } x \neq 0,$$
  
$$V(x) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 \to \infty \quad \text{as } x \to \infty.$$

Thus, V(x) is a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function. Differentiating V with respect to time t along the solution of (10.4.1) yields

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.1)} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_i}{R_i} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i x_i \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} f_j(x_j) 
-\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\eta_i x_i}{R_i} f_i(x_i) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \eta_i \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} f_j(x_j) f_i(x_i) 
= {\binom{x}{f(x)}}^T {\binom{A_{11}}{A_{12}^T}} {\binom{A_{22}}{A_{22}}} {\binom{x}{f(x)}}.$$
(10.4.3)

Let  $W = e^{\varepsilon t} V$ , where  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . Due to  $D^+ f_i(x_i) \ge 0$ , we have

$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.1)} = \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} V + e^{\varepsilon t} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.1)} = e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ \varepsilon V + {x \choose f(x)}^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \right\} \\
= e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ \varepsilon \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \eta_i C_i \int_0^x f_i(x_i) \, dx_i \right\} \\
+ {x \choose f(x)}^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \right\} \\
\leqslant e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ \varepsilon \left( \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \eta_i C_i x_i \, f_i(x_i) \right) \\
+ {x \choose f(x)}^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \right\} \\
= e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ \varepsilon \left( \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \eta_i C_i x_i \, f_i(x_i) \right) \\
= e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ x \int_f \left( x \right)^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \right\} \\
= e^{\varepsilon t} \left( x \int_f \left( x \right)^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} + B_{11} \varepsilon & A_{12} + B_{12} \varepsilon \\ A_{12}^T & B_{12}^T \varepsilon & A_{22} + B_{22} \varepsilon \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \\
= e^{\varepsilon t} \left( x \int_f \left( x \right)^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} + B_{11} \varepsilon & A_{12} + B_{12} \varepsilon \\ A_{12}^T & B_{12}^T \varepsilon & A_{22} + B_{22} \varepsilon \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \\
= e^{\varepsilon t} \left( x \int_f \left( x \right)^T \left[ \begin{array}{c} A_{11} + B_{11} \varepsilon & A_{12} + B_{12} \varepsilon \\ A_{12}^T & B_{12}^T \varepsilon & A_{22} + B_{22} \varepsilon \end{array} \right] {x \choose f(x)} \\$$
(10.4.4)

when  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ . The negative definite property of

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

implies that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_{11} + B_{11}\varepsilon & A_{12} + B_{12}\varepsilon \\ A_{12}^T + B_{12}^T\varepsilon & A_{22} + B_{22}\varepsilon \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite. So, when  $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ 

$$\left. \frac{dW}{dt} \right|_{(10.4.1)} \leqslant 0. \tag{10.4.5}$$

Integrating both sides of (10.4.5) from 0 to arbitrary  $t^* > 0$ , we obtain

$$e^{\varepsilon t}V(x(t)) = W(x(t)) \leq W(x(0)) := W_0 < \infty.$$

Hence, it holds

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 \leqslant V(x(t)) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t} W_0,$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2 \leqslant \frac{W_0}{\min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2}} e^{-\alpha t} \quad (\varepsilon > 0).$$
(10.4.7)

The inequality (10.4.7) shows that the zero solution of (10.4.1) is globally exponentially stable, i.e., the  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable.

(2) Let  $-\lambda = \lambda_{\max}(A)$ ,  $\mu = \lambda_{\max}(B)$ . Then, we have

$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.1)} \leq e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ A_{12}^T & A_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix} \right\} \\
+ e^{\varepsilon t} \left[ \varepsilon \left( \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \eta_i C_i x_i f_i(x_i) \right) \right] \\
\leq e^{\varepsilon t} (-\lambda) \left( \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n f_i^2(x_i) \right) + e^{\varepsilon t} \varepsilon \begin{pmatrix} x \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix}^2 \begin{bmatrix} B_{11} & B_{12} \\ B_{12}^T & B_0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix} \\
\leq e^{\varepsilon t} (-\lambda + \varepsilon \mu) \left( \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n f_i^2(x_i) \right) \leq 0.$$
(10.4.8)

Therefore,  $\varepsilon = \frac{\lambda}{\mu}$  can be taken as the Lyapunov exponent.

The proof of Theorem 10.4.1 is complete.

Let

$$\tilde{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{A}_{11} & \tilde{A}_{12} \\ \tilde{A}_{12}^T & \tilde{A}_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{where } \tilde{A}_{11} = -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{R_1}, \dots, \frac{1}{R_n}\right)_{n \times n},$$
$$\tilde{A}_{12} = -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{2R_1}, \dots, \frac{1}{2R_n}\right)_{n \times n} + \left[\frac{T_{ij} + T_{ji}}{2}\right]_{n \times n},$$

$$\begin{split} \tilde{A}_{22} &= \left[\frac{T_{ij} + T_{ji}}{2}\right]_{n \times n}, \\ \tilde{B} &= \left[\begin{array}{c} \tilde{B}_{11} & \tilde{B}_{12}, \\ \tilde{B}_{12}^T & \tilde{B}_{22} \end{array}\right]_{2n \times 2n}, \\ \tilde{B}_{11} &= \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{C_1}{2}, \dots, \frac{C_n}{2}\right)_{n \times n}, \\ \tilde{B}_{12} &= \tilde{B}_{12}^T &= \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{C_1}{2}, \dots, \frac{C_n}{2}\right)_{n \times n}, \\ \tilde{B}_{22} &= O_{n \times n}. \end{split}$$

COROLLARY 10.4.2. If  $\tilde{A}$  is negative definite, then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  is globally exponentially stable, and  $\tilde{\varepsilon} = \frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{\tilde{\mu}}$  can be taken as the Lyapunov exponent, where  $\tilde{\lambda} = \lambda_{\max}(\tilde{A}), \tilde{\mu} = \lambda_{\max}(\tilde{B})$ .

PROOF. One can take  $\xi_i = \eta_i = 1, i = 1, ..., n$ , in Theorem 10.4.1 to directly prove this corollary.

THEOREM 10.4.3. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ ,  $\eta_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that the matrix G is negative definite, and moreover it holds:

$$\varepsilon = \min\left[\min_{1 \le i \le n} \frac{\eta_i R_i - \xi_i T_{ji}}{\eta_i C_i}, \frac{\lambda^*}{\mu^*}\right] > 0,$$
(10.4.9)

then the conclusion of Theorem 10.4.1 is true. Here,

$$\begin{aligned} -\lambda^* &= \lambda_{\max}(G), \\ \mu^* &= \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \frac{C_i \xi_i}{2}, \\ G &= \begin{bmatrix} G_{11} & G_{12} \\ G_{21} & G_{22} \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}, \\ G_{11} &= -\operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{\xi_1}{R_1}, \dots, \frac{\xi_n}{R_n}\right), \\ G_{12} &= G_{12}^T &= \left[ (1 - \delta_{ij}) \frac{\xi_i T_{ij} + \xi_j T_{ji}}{2} \right]_{n \times n}, \\ G_{22} &= \left[ \frac{\eta_i T_{ij} + \eta_j T_{ji}}{2} \right]_{n \times n}. \end{aligned}$$

PROOF. The negative definite condition of *G* implies  $T_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, ..., n). Again using the Lyapunov function (10.4.2) and similar to the derivation leading

to (10.4.3), we obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} G_{11} & G_{12} \\ G_{12}^{T} & G_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} T_{i} x_{i} f_{i}(x_{i}) - \sum_{R_{i}}^{n} \frac{\eta_{i}}{R_{i}} x_{i} f_{i}(x_{i}).$$
(10.4.10)

Let  $W = e^{\varepsilon t} V$ . Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.1)} &= e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x\\f(x) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} G_{11} & G_{12}\\G_{12}^T & G_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x\\f(x) \end{pmatrix} + \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{\xi_i C_i}{2} x_i^2 \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^n \left( \varepsilon \eta_i C_i + \xi_i T_{ij} - \frac{\eta_i}{R_i} \right) x_i f_i(x_i) \right\} \\ &\leqslant e^{\varepsilon t} \left\{ -\lambda^* \left( \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n f_i^2(x_i) \right) + \mu^* \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^n x_i^2 \right. \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^n \left( \varepsilon \eta_i C_i + \xi_i T_{ii} - \frac{\eta_i}{R_i} \right) x_i f_i(x_i) \right\} \\ &\leqslant 0. \end{aligned}$$

The remaining proof is similar to the last part of the proof of Theorem 10.4.1, and thus is omitted.  $\hfill \Box$ 

In the following, we consider a weaker nonlinear activation function. Assume that

$$0 < \sup_{u_i \in \mathbb{R}^1} D^+ g_i(u_i) \leqslant M_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (10.4.11)

Let

$$\Omega_1 = \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{R_1} - T_{11}M_1, \dots, \frac{1}{R_n} - T_{nn}M_n\right)_{n \times n} - \left(\sigma_{ij}|T_{ij}|M_j\right)_{n \times n},$$
  
$$\Omega_2 = \operatorname{diag}\left(-\frac{1}{R_1M_1}, \dots, -\frac{1}{R_nM_n}\right) + (T_{ij})_{n \times n},$$

where

$$\sigma_{ij} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } i = j, \\ 1 & \text{if } i \neq j, \end{cases} \quad i, j = 1, \dots, n.$$

THEOREM 10.4.4. If  $\Omega_1$  is an *M* matrix, then  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable.

**PROOF.** Since  $\Omega_1$  is an *M* matrix, there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$  such that

$$\xi_j \left( -\frac{1}{R_j} + T_{jj} M_j \right) + \sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i \sigma_{ij} |T_{ij}| M_j < 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (10.4.12)

Without loss of generality, we have

$$\xi_j T_{jj} + \sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i \sigma_{ij} |T_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_0, \ 1 \le n_0 \le n,$$
  
$$\xi_j T_{jj} + \sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i \sigma_{ij} |T_{ij}| > 0, \quad j = n_0 + 1, \dots, n.$$

Let

$$\lambda = \min_{\substack{1 \le k \le n_0 \\ n_0 + 1 \le j \le n}} \left[ \frac{1}{R_k C_k}, \frac{1}{\xi_j C_j} \left( \frac{\xi_j}{R_j} - \xi_j T_{jj} M_j - \sum_{i=1}^n \sigma_{ij} \xi_i |T_{ij}| M_j \right) \right].$$

Choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i C_i |x_i|.$$
(10.4.13)

Then, we have

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(10.4.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i}C_{i}x_{i}\operatorname{sgn}(x_{i})$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \left[ -\frac{1}{R_{i}}|x_{i}| + T_{ii}|f_{i}(x_{i})| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sigma_{ij}|T_{ij}||f_{j}(x_{j})| \right]$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n_{0}} \xi_{i} \left( -\frac{1}{R_{j}} \right)|x_{j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n_{0}} \left( \xi_{i}T_{jj} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{ij}|T_{ij}| \right)|f_{j}(x_{j})|$$

$$+ \sum_{j=n_{0}+1}^{n} \left( -\frac{\xi_{j}}{R_{j}} \right)|x_{j}| + \sum_{j=n_{0}+1}^{n} \left( \xi_{i}T_{jj} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{ij}|T_{ij}| \right)M_{j}|(x_{j})|$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n_{0}} \left( -\frac{\xi_{j}}{R_{j}} \right)|x_{j}|$$

$$+ \sum_{j=n_{0}+1}^{n} \left[ -\frac{\xi_{j}}{R_{j}} + \left( \xi_{j}T_{jj}M_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sigma_{ij}\xi_{i}|T_{ij}|M_{j} \right) \right]|x_{j}|$$

$$\leq -\lambda V(x). \tag{10.4.14}$$

So

$$0 < V(x(t)) \leq V(x(0))e^{-\lambda t}$$
(10.4.15)

$$\left|x_{i}(t)\right| \leqslant \frac{1}{\min(\xi_{i}C_{i})}V(x(0))e^{-\lambda t}.$$
(10.4.16)

The inequality (10.4.16) shows that the  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable.

REMARK 10.4.5. Assume that

 $R_i = M_i = 1, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$ 

The sufficient conditions for globally asymptotic stability in the literature can be summarized as follows [147,169,196,309,315,412]:

$$\begin{split} \|T\|_{\infty} &:= \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |T_{ij}| < 1, \\ \mu_{\infty}(T) &:= \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \left( T_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{j=1 \\ j \neq i}}^{n} |T_{ij}| \right) < 1, \\ \mu_{1}(T) &:= \max_{1 \leq j \leq n} \left( T_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1 \\ i \neq j}}^{n} |T_{ij}| \right) < 1, \\ \|T\|_{m} &:= \left( \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \\ j=1}}^{n} T_{ij}^{2} \right)^{1/2} < 1, \\ \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \left[ T_{ii} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{j \neq 1 \\ j=i}}^{n} (|T_{ij}| + |T_{ji}|) \right] < 1, \\ \|T\|_{2} &= \sup_{x} \left[ |TX|_{2}/|x|_{2} \right] = \lambda_{\max} \left( T^{T}T \right)^{1/2} < 1. \end{split}$$

By the propriety of M matrix, any of the above conditions is a sufficient condition for  $\Omega_1$  to be M matrix.

PROOF. If the matrix  $\Omega_2$  is Lyapunov diagonally stable, then there exists a positive definite matrix  $H = \text{diag}(h_1, \ldots, h_n)$  such that  $Q = \frac{1}{2}(H\Omega_2 + H_2H)$  is negative definite.

Let  $\lambda \in (0, \min_{1 \le i \le n} \frac{1}{R:C_i})$  be the maximal positive number such that

$$Q + \lambda \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{C_1h_1}{M_1}, \ldots, \frac{C_nh_n}{M_n}\right)$$

is negative semi-definite. We employ the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i h_i \int_0^{x_i} f_i(x_i) \, dx_i,$$

which is obviously positive definite.

Let  $\underline{m_i} = \min_{|x| \leq 1} |f'_i(x_i)|, \overline{m_i} = \min[f_i(1), |f_i(-1)|]. \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , without loss of generality let  $|x_1| \leq 1, i = 1, 2, ..., l_0$ , and  $|x_1| > 1, i = l_0 + 1, ..., n$ . Then, by the monotone nondecreasing propriety of  $f_i(x_i)$ , we have

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i h_i \int_{0}^{x_i} f_i(x_i) dx_i$$
  
$$\geq \sum_{i=1}^{l_0} C_i h_i \underline{m_i} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=l_0+1}^{n} C_i h_i \overline{m_i} |x_i| \to \infty \quad \text{as } |x| \to \infty.$$

Thus, V(x) is positive definite and radially unbounded. Further, similarly we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{de^{\lambda t}V}{dt} &= \lambda e^{\lambda t} \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i}h_{i} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} f_{i}(x_{i}) dx_{i} + e^{\lambda t} \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i}h_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \\ &\leqslant e^{\lambda t} \left[ \lambda \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i}h_{i}x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{h_{i}}{R_{i}}x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{i}f_{i}(x_{i})T_{ij}f_{j}(x_{j}) \right] \\ &= e^{\lambda t} \left[ -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{h_{i}}{R_{i}} - C_{i}h_{i}\lambda \right) x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{i}T_{ij}f_{i}(x_{i})f_{j}(x_{j}) \right] \\ &= e^{\lambda t} \left[ -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{h_{i}}{R_{i}M_{i}} - \frac{h_{i}C_{i}\lambda}{M_{i}} \right) f_{i}^{2}(x_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} h_{i}T_{ij}f_{i}(x_{j})f_{j}(x_{j}) \right] \\ &= e^{\lambda t} \left\{ \left( f_{1}(x_{1}), \dots, f_{n}(x_{n}) \right) \left[ \frac{1}{2} \left( H\Omega_{2} + \Omega_{2}^{T} H \right) \right. \\ &+ \lambda \operatorname{diag} \left( \frac{C_{1}h_{1}}{M_{1}}, \dots, \frac{C_{n}h_{n}}{M_{n}} \right) \left( f_{1}(x_{1}), \dots, f_{n}(x_{n}) \right)^{T} \right] \right\} \\ &= e^{\lambda t} \left\{ \left( \int_{n}^{f_{1}(x_{1})} \right)^{T} \left[ \mathcal{Q} + \lambda \operatorname{diag} \left( \frac{C_{1}h_{1}}{M_{1}}, \dots, \frac{C_{n}h_{n}}{M_{n}} \right) \right. \\ &\times \left( \int_{n}^{f_{1}(x_{1})} \right)^{T} \right\} \right\}. \tag{10.4.17}$$

Integrating both sides of (10.4.17) from 0 to arbitrary t yields

$$V(x(t)) \leq e^{-\lambda t} V(x(0)) := e^{-\lambda t} V_0,$$

i.e.,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{l_0} \frac{1}{2} C_i h_i \underline{m_i} x_i^2 + \sum_{i=l_0+1}^n C_i h_i \overline{m_i} |x_i| \leqslant V_0 e^{-\lambda t}$$
(10.4.18)

from which we get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| x_i(t) \right| &\leqslant \sqrt{\frac{2}{C_i h_i \underline{m}_i}} \sqrt{V_0 e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}t}} \quad \text{for } 1 \leqslant i \leqslant l_0, \\ \left| x_i(t) \right| &\leqslant \frac{1}{C_i h_i \overline{m}_i} V_0 e^{-\lambda t} \leqslant \frac{1}{C_i h_i \overline{m}_i} V_0 e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}t} \quad \text{for } l_0 + 1 \leqslant i \leqslant n. \end{aligned}$$

Let

$$k = \max_{\substack{1 \le i \le l_0\\ l_0 + 1 \le i \le n}} \left[ \sqrt{\frac{2}{C_i h_i \underline{m_i}} V_0}, \ \frac{1}{C_i h_i \overline{m_i}} V_0 \right].$$

Then, we have

$$|x_i(t)| \leq k e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}t}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (10.4.19)

which shows that the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 10.4.6. If there exists a positive definite matrix  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, p_2, ..., p_n) > 0$  such that  $T^T P + PT \leq 0$  is negative semi-definite, then the equilibrium point  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable, where  $T^T$  is the transpose of T.

**PROOF.** Rewrite (10.1.1) as the following equivalent form:

$$C_i \frac{d(u_i - u_i^*)}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n T_{ij} \left( g_j(u_j) - g_j(u_i^*) \right) - \frac{u_i - u_i^*}{R_i}.$$
 (10.4.20)

Since there exists  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n) > 0$  such that

 $PT + T^T P \leqslant 0,$ 

we choose the Lyapunov function:

$$W(u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i C_i \int_{u_i^*}^{u_i} (g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)) du_i$$
(10.4.21)

 $\square$ 

which obviously satisfies  $W(u^*) = 0$  and W(u) > 0 for  $u \neq u^*$ . So W(u) is a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function.

Computing the derivative of W(u) along the solution of (10.1.1) and simplifying the result, we obtain

$$\frac{dW(u)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.20)} = \left(\left(g(u) - g(u^*)\right)^T (PT + T^T P)(g(u) - g(u^*))\right) \\
- \sum_{i=1}^n p_i \left(\frac{u_i - u_i^*}{R_i}\right) (g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)) \\
\leqslant - \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{p_i}{R_i} (g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)) (u_i - u_i^*) \\
\leqslant - \min_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n} \frac{1}{R_i C_i} \sum_{i=1}^n C_i p_i \int_0^{u_i} (g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)) du_i \\
\leqslant - \min_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n} \frac{1}{R_i C_i} W(u(t)).$$

Thus,

$$W(u(t)) \leqslant W(u(t_0))e^{-\min_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n}\left\{\frac{1}{R_iC_i}\right\}(t-t_0)},$$

indicating that the equilibrium point  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

COROLLARY 10.4.7. If one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(1)  $T = T^T \leq 0;$ (2)  $T + T^T \leq 0;$ (3) T is antisymmetric;

then  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable.

The proof for this corollary can follow the proof for Theorem 10.4.4, and the estimations (10.3.7) and (10.3.8).

THEOREM 10.4.8. If one of following conditions is satisfied:

(1) there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$  (i = 1, ..., n) and  $\eta_i$  (i = 1, ..., n) such that

$$\xi_j T_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \xi_i |T_{ij}| \leqslant 0;$$

(2)

$$\eta_{ii}T_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n \eta_j |T_{ij}| \leqslant 0;$$

then  $u = u^*$  of (10.4.20) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. If condition (1) holds, we choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function

$$W(u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i C_i |u_i - u_i^*|,$$

and then have

$$D^{+}W(u)|_{(10.4.20)} \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ \xi_{j}T_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i}|T_{ij}| \right] \left[ g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(u_{j}^{*}) \right]$$
$$- \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{R_{i}} |u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}|$$
$$\leqslant - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{j}}{R_{j}} |u_{j} - u_{j}^{*}|$$
$$\leqslant - \min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \frac{1}{R_{i}C_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{j}C_{j}|u_{j} - u_{j}^{*}|$$
$$\leqslant - \min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \frac{1}{R_{i}C_{i}} W(u).$$

So,

$$W(u(t)) \leqslant W(u(t_0))e^{-\min_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n}\frac{1}{R_iC_i}(t-t_0)}$$

in the neighborhood of  $u = u^*$ .

If condition (2) is satisfied, then we can employ another positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$W(u) = \eta_l |u_l - u_l^*| := \max_{1 \le i \le n} \eta_i |u_i - u_i^*|.$$
(10.4.22)

Then it holds

$$D^{+}W(u)|_{(10.4.20)} \leq \frac{1}{C_{l}} \left[ \eta_{l} T_{ll} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq l}}^{n} \eta_{j} |T_{lj}| \right] \left[ g_{l}(u_{l}) - g_{l}(u_{l}^{*}) \right]$$

Chapter 10. Stability of Neural Networks

$$-\frac{\eta_l}{C_l} |u_l - u_l^*|$$

$$\leqslant -\frac{1}{C_l} W(u), \qquad (10.4.23)$$

which implies that

$$W(u(t)) \leqslant W(u(t_0))e^{-\frac{1}{C_l}(t-t_0)}$$

in the neighborhood of  $u \neq u^*$ . Therefore, the conclusion of Theorem 10.4.8 is true.

COROLLARY 10.4.9. If  $T_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) and  $(-1)^{\delta_{ij}} |T_{ij}|$  is a Hurwitz matrix, then  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable. Here,

$$\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases} \quad i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

PROOF. Since  $(-1)^{\delta_{ij}}|T_{ij}|$  being a Hurwitz matrix is equivalent to  $-(-1)^{\delta_{ij}}|T_{ij}|$  being an *M* matrix. According to the property of *M* matrix, there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$\xi_j T_{jj} + \sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i |T_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

indicating that the conditions in Theorem 10.4.8 are satisfied, and thus the conclusion of the corollary is true.  $\hfill \Box$ 

COROLLARY 10.4.10. Assume that  $T_{ii} < 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , and one of the following conditions holds:

(1) 
$$|T_{jj}| > \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |T_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n;$$
  
(2)  $|T_{ii}| > \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |T_{ij}|, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n;$ 

(3) 
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left( \frac{(1-\delta_{ij})T_{ij}}{T_{ii}} \right)^2 < 1;$$

(4) 
$$|T_{jj}| > \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \neq i}}^{n} (|T_{ij}| + |T_{ji}|), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

then  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally exponentially stable.

## **10.5.** Globally asymptotic stability of a class of Hopfield neural networks

So far, most of the results on globally asymptotic stability are actually globally exponential stability. Very rare cases have been found that a system is globally asymptotically stable, but not globally exponentially stable. However, such cases do exist and need further investigation. In this section, we further discuss stability problems of Hopfield network, but particular attention is given to the neural networks with a special class of functions and consider the problem that such systems may be globally asymptotically stable, but not globally exponentially stable. More specifically, we consider system (10.1.1) but with the following activation functions:

$$g_i(u_i) = \tanh(\beta_i u_i), \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$

Some new results presented here with weaker conditions and thus less restrictive, improving and generalizing those results obtained in [72].

According to Theorem 10.2.1, we only need to consider the stability in the global attractive sets. Before presenting the main theorem, we introduce a lemma.

LEMMA 10.5.1. If  $a_{ii} \ge 0$ ,  $a_{ij} \le 0$ ,  $i \ne j$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_i a_{ij} \ge 0, \tag{10.5.1}$$

then

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1i} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{i1} & \cdots & a_{ii} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

**PROOF.**  $\forall \varepsilon > 0$ , by the condition of lemma we have

$$\xi_i(a_{ii}+\varepsilon) + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ i\neq i}}^n \xi_j a_{ij} \ge \xi_i \varepsilon > 0.$$

According to the property of *M* matrix, we know that the matrix

| $\int a_{11} + \varepsilon$ | • • • | $a_{1n}$               |
|-----------------------------|-------|------------------------|
|                             |       | ÷                      |
| $  a_{n1} $                 | • • • | $a_{nn} + \varepsilon$ |

is an M matrix. Thus,

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} + \varepsilon & \cdots & a_{1i} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{i1} & \cdots & a_{ii} + \varepsilon \end{bmatrix} > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$  results in

$$\det \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1i} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{i1} & \cdots & a_{ii} \end{bmatrix} \ge 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

and the proof is complete.

Let 
$$g_i(u_i) = \tanh(\beta_i u_i)$$
 in (10.1.1) and (10.4.1), and  

$$B = \left[-\frac{1}{R_i \beta_i} \delta_{ij} + T_{ij}\right]_{n \times n}, \quad \text{where } \delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } i = j = 1, \dots, n, \\ 0 & \text{for } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

THEOREM 10.5.2. If there exists a positive definite matrix  $\xi = \text{diag}(\xi_i, \ldots, \xi_n)$ such that  $\xi B + B^T \xi$  is negative semi-definite, then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$ of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. We employ the positive definite and unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i \xi_i \int_{u_i^*}^{u_i} (g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)) du_i.$$
(10.5.2)

Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt} \bigg|_{(10.4.1)} \\ &= -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{R_{i}} (u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}) [g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}(u_{i}^{*})] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{i} T_{ij} [g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}(u_{i}^{*})] [g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(u_{j}^{*})] \\ &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} (g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}(u_{i}^{*}))^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{i} T_{ij} [g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}(u_{i}^{*})] [g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(u_{j}^{*})] \end{aligned}$$

10.5. Globally asymptotic stability of a class of Hopfield neural networks

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ \frac{\xi_{i}}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \left[ g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right]^{2} - \frac{(u_{i} - u_{i}^{*})\xi_{i}}{R_{i}} \right\} \left[ g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} g_{1}(u_{1}) - g_{1}(u_{1}^{*}) \\ \vdots \\ g_{n}(u_{n}) - g_{n}\left(u_{n}^{*}\right) \end{pmatrix}^{T} \left[ \xi B + B^{T} \xi \right] \begin{pmatrix} g_{1}(u_{1}) - g_{1}(u_{1}^{*}) \\ \vdots \\ g_{n}(u_{n}) - g_{n}\left(u_{n}^{*}\right) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \left[ \frac{g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right)}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} - \frac{(u_{i} - u_{i}^{*})}{R_{i}} \right] \left[ g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right]$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \left[ -\frac{(u_{i} - u_{i}^{*})}{R_{i}} + \frac{g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right)}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \right] \left| g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right|$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \left[ -\frac{|u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}|}{R_{i}} + \frac{|g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right)|}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \right] \left| g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right|$$

Therefore, by Theorem 4.7.9 or Theorem 5.1.3 we know that the conclusion is true and Theorem 10.5.2 is proved.  $\hfill \Box$ 

THEOREM 10.5.3. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that

$$-\frac{\xi_i}{R_i} + \xi_i T_{ii} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n \xi_j |T_{ij}| \leqslant 0,$$
(10.5.3)

then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V = \max_{1 \le j \le n} \left| \xi_i^{-1} (u_i - u_i^*) \right| := \left| \xi_l^{-1} (u_l - u_l^*) \right|.$$
(10.5.4)

By the property of the sigmoid function,

$$g_i(u_i) = \tanh(\beta_i u_i),$$

we have  $|g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)| < \beta_i |u_i - u_i^*|$  for  $u_i \neq u_i^*$ , which yields

$$D^{+}V|_{(10.4.1)} \leq C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1}\left\{-\xi_{l}\left|\xi_{l}^{-1}\frac{(u_{l}-u_{l}^{*})}{R_{l}}\right|+\xi_{l}T_{ll}\xi_{l}^{-1}\left|g_{l}(u_{l})-g_{l}(u_{l}^{*})\right| + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}\xi_{j}|T_{lj}|\left|\xi_{j}^{-1}\left(g_{j}(u_{j})-g_{j}(u_{j}^{*})\right)\right|\right\}$$

$$\leq C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1} \left\{ -\frac{\xi_{l}}{R_{l}} |\xi_{l}^{-1}(u_{l} - u_{l}^{*})| + \left[ \left| \xi_{l}T_{ll} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq l}}^{n} \xi_{j} |T_{lj}| \right| \right] [\xi_{l}^{-1}(g_{l}(u_{l}) - g_{l}(u_{l}^{*}))] \right\}$$

$$< C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1} \left\{ -\frac{\xi_{l}}{R_{l}} |\xi_{l}^{-1}(u_{l} - u_{l}^{*})| + \left[ \xi_{l}T_{ll} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq l}}^{n} \xi_{j} |T_{lj}| \right] \beta_{l} |\xi_{l}^{-1}(u_{l} - u_{l}^{*})| \right\}$$

$$\leq 0 \quad \text{when } u_{l} \neq u_{l}^{*}.$$

So by Theorem 4.7.9 or Theorem 5.1.3, the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 10.5.4. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that

$$\xi_i \left[ \beta_i^* T_{ii} - \frac{1}{R_i} \right] + \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{2} \left[ \xi \beta_i |T_{ij}| + \xi_j \beta_j |T_{ij}| \right] \leqslant 0,$$
(10.5.5)

then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable, where

$$\beta_i^* = \begin{cases} \beta_i & \text{for } T_{ii} \ge 0, \\ \underline{\beta}_i & \text{for } T_{ii} < 0, \end{cases} \qquad \underline{\beta}_i = \inf_{u_i \in \Omega} D_+ g_i(u_i) = D_+ g_i(l_i),$$

where  $\Omega$  is the globally exponentially attractive set defined in Theorem 10.2.1.

PROOF. Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V(u) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i \left( u_i - u_i^* \right)^2.$$
(10.5.6)

Then for  $u = u^*$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.3.1)} &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\xi_{i}}{R_{i}} (u_{i} - u_{i}^{*})^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{i} T_{ij} (u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}) [g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(u_{j}^{*})] \\ &< {\binom{u_{1} - u_{1}^{*}}{\vdots}}_{u_{n} - u_{n}^{*}}^{T} \left[ \xi_{i} \left( \beta_{i}^{*} T_{ii} - \frac{1}{R_{i}} \right) \delta_{ij} \right] \end{split}$$

10.5. Globally asymptotic stability of a class of Hopfield neural networks

$$+\frac{1}{2}\left(\xi_{i}\beta_{j}|T_{ij}|+\xi_{j}\beta_{i}|T_{ji}|\right)(1-\delta_{ij})\bigg]_{n\times n}\begin{pmatrix}u_{1}-u_{1}^{*}\\\vdots\\u_{n}-u_{n}^{*}\end{pmatrix}$$
  
$$\leq 0.$$

Hence, by Theorem 4.7.9 or Theorem 5.1.3, the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 10.5.5. (See [72].) Let  $y^+ = \max\{0, y\}$ , where y is an arbitrary real number. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that

$$\xi_{i} \Big[ \beta_{i} T_{ii}^{+} - R_{i}^{-1} \Big] + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \Big[ \xi_{i} \beta_{i} |T_{ij}| + \xi_{j} \beta_{j} |T_{ji}| \Big] \leqslant 0,$$
  
$$i = 1, \dots, n,$$
(10.5.7)

then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.4.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 10.5.6. If there exist constants  $\xi > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that

$$-\frac{\xi_i}{R_i}+\xi_i\beta_i^*T_{ii}+\sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^n\xi_j\beta_j|T_{ij}|\leqslant 0,\quad i=1,2,\ldots,n,$$

then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.4.1) is globally asymptotically stable, where

$$\beta_i^* = \begin{cases} \beta_i & \text{for } T_{ii} \ge 0, \\ \underline{\beta}_i & \text{for } T_{ii} < 0, \end{cases} \qquad \underline{\beta}_i = \inf_{u_i \in \Omega} D_+ g_i(u_i).$$

**PROOF.** We again use the Lyapunov function (10.5.4). By the property of the sigmoid function  $g_i(u_i) = \tanh(\beta_i u_i)$ , we have

$$\underline{\beta}_i |u_i - u_i^*| < |g_i(u_i) - g_i(u_i^*)| < \beta_i |u_i - u_i^*| \quad \text{for } u_i \in \Omega,$$

and

$$D^{+}V|_{(10.4.1)} \leq C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1}D^{+}|C_{l}(u_{l}-u_{l}^{*})|$$

$$= C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1}C_{l}\frac{d(u_{i}-u_{i}^{*})}{dt}\operatorname{sgn}(u_{l}-u_{l}^{*})$$

$$= C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1}\left\{-\xi_{l}\left|\xi_{l}^{-1}\frac{u_{l}-u_{l}^{*}}{R_{l}}\right| + T_{ll}|g_{l}(u_{l}) - g_{l}(u_{l}^{*})|$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}\xi_{j}|T_{lj}||\xi_{j}^{-1}(g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(u_{j}^{*}))|\right\}$$

519

$$= C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1}\left\{-\frac{\xi_{l}}{R_{l}}|\xi_{l}^{-1}(u_{l}-u_{l}^{*})| + \xi_{l}T_{ll}\xi_{l}^{-1}\beta_{l}^{*}|u_{l}-u_{l}^{*}|\right.+ T_{ll}|g_{l}(u_{l}) - g_{l}(u_{l}^{*})| - \xi_{l}T_{ll}\xi_{l}^{-1}\beta_{l}^{*}|u_{l}-u_{l}^{*}|+ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}\xi_{j}|T_{lj}|\xi_{j}^{-1}\beta_{j}|u_{j}-u_{j}^{*}|+ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}|T_{lj}||\xi_{j}^{-1}(g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}(u_{j}^{*}))|- \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}\xi_{j}|T_{lj}|\xi_{j}^{-1}\beta_{j}|u_{j}-u_{j}^{*}|\right\}< C_{l}^{-1}\xi_{l}^{-1}\left\{-\frac{\xi_{l}}{R_{l}}|u_{l}-u_{l}^{*}| + \xi_{l}T_{ll}\beta_{l}^{*}\xi_{l}^{-1}|u_{l}-u_{l}^{*}|+ \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}\xi_{j}|T_{lj}|\beta_{j}|\xi_{j}^{-1}(u_{j}-u_{j}^{*})|\right\}\leq \xi_{l}^{-1}C_{l}^{-1}\left\{-\frac{\xi_{l}}{R_{l}} + \xi_{l}\beta_{l}^{*}T_{ll} + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq l}}^{n}\xi_{j}\beta_{j}|T_{lj}|\right\}|\xi_{l}^{-1}(u_{l}-u_{l}^{*})\leq 0,$$

i.e.,  $D^+V|_{(10.4.1)}$  is negative definite. So the conclusion is true, and the proof is complete.

REMARK 10.5.7. When  $T_{ii} \ge 0$ , Theorem 10.5.4 is equivalent to Theorem 10.5.5, but when some  $T_{ii} < 0$ , the conditions in Theorem 10.5.4 are weaker than that of Theorem 10.5.5. When  $T_{ii} \ge 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n), Theorem 10.5.6 is equivalent to the following theorem [72].

THEOREM 10.5.8. If for some constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, there exist

$$\xi_i \Big[ \beta_i T_{ii}^+ - R_i^{-1} \Big] + \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq l}}^n \xi_j \beta_j |T_{ij}| \leqslant 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.5.8)

then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

When some  $T_{ii} < 0$ , Theorem 10.5.6 is better than Theorem 10.5.8.

THEOREM 10.5.9. If there exist constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that

$$-\frac{\xi_j}{R_j} + \beta_j^* \xi_j T_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \xi_i |T_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.5.9)

then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Choosing the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \xi_i |u_i - u_i^*|, \qquad (10.5.10)$$

we have

$$D^{+}V|_{(10.4.1)} \leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{i} \left\{ -\frac{1}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \left[ g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right] \right. \\ \left. + \sum_{j=1}^{n} T_{ij} \left[ g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}\left(u_{j}^{*}\right) \right] \\ \left. - \left[ \frac{u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}}{R_{i}} - \frac{1}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \left( g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}\left(u_{i}^{*}\right) \right) \right] \right\} \operatorname{sgn}(u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}) \\ \left. = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( -\frac{\xi_{j}}{R_{j}\beta_{j}} + \xi_{j}\beta_{j}^{*}T_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} \xi_{i} |T_{ij}| \right) |g_{j}(u_{j}) - g_{j}\left(u_{j}^{*}\right)| \\ \left. - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( \frac{|u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}|}{R_{i}} - \frac{|g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}(u_{i}^{*})|}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \right) \xi_{i} \\ \leqslant - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( \frac{|u_{i} - u_{i}^{*}|}{R_{i}} - \frac{|g_{i}(u_{i}) - g_{i}(u_{i}^{*})|}{R_{i}\beta_{i}} \right) \xi_{i} < 0 \quad \text{for } u \neq u^{*},$$

so the conclusion is true.

REMARK 10.5.10. Theorem 10.5.9 is equivalent to the following theorem.

THEOREM 10.5.11. If for some constants  $\xi_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, the following inequalities:

$$-\frac{\xi_j}{R_j} + \beta_j \left\{ \xi_j T_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n \xi_i |T_{ij}| \right\}^+ \leqslant 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, n,$$
(10.5.11)

are satisfied, then the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

However, by Theorem 10.5.9 one can obtain better estimation for the convergent rate.

EXAMPLE 10.5.12. Consider a two-state neural network:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{u}_1(t) \\ \dot{u}_2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_1(t) \\ u_2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 8 \\ -16 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} g_1(u_1(t)) \\ g_2(u_2(t)) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{pmatrix} I_1 \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(10.5.12)

where  $g_i(u_i) = \tanh(u_i)$  and  $R_i = C_i = \beta_i = 1$ , i = 1, 2. According to Theorem 10.5.2, we have

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} -1 - 2 & 8 \\ -16 & -1 + 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -3 & 8 \\ -16 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Take  $\xi_1 = 2$ ,  $\xi_1 = 1$ . Then  $\xi B + B^T \xi = \begin{bmatrix} -12 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$  is negative semi-definite. The conditions in Theorem 10.5.2 are satisfied. So the equilibrium  $u = u^*$  of (10.1.1) is globally asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 10.5.13. Consider a Hopfield neural networks, described by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{u}_1(t) \\ \dot{u}_2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_1(t) \\ u_2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 3/2 \\ 3/2 & -2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} g_1(u_1(t)) \\ g_2(u_2(t)) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_1 \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix},$$
(10.5.13)

where  $R_i = \beta_i = C_i = 1$ ,  $i = 1, 2, T_{ii} = -2$ ,  $T_{12} = T_{21} = \frac{3}{2}$ . Suppose  $\beta_i^* = \frac{1}{3}$ , i = 1, 2. Then,

$$\begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{R_1} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{1}{R_2} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1^* T_{11} & |T_{12}|\\ |T_{21}| & \beta_2^* T_{12} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{5}{3} & \frac{3}{2}\\ \frac{3}{2} & -\frac{5}{3} \end{bmatrix},$$

and it is easy to verify that the conditions in Theorems 10.5.2, 10.5.3, 10.5.4 and Theorem 10.5.6 are satisfied, while the conditions of Theorems 10.5.8 and 10.5.11 are not satisfied by Lemma 10.5.1.

EXAMPLE 10.5.14. Consider a 2-dimensional neural networks, given below:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{u}_1(t)\\ \dot{u}_2(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 0\\ 0 & -2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_1(t)\\ u_2(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -5 & 1\\ 1 & -5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} g_1(u_1(t))\\ g_2(u_2(t)) \end{pmatrix}, (10.5.14)$$

where  $R_i = \frac{1}{2}$ , i = 1, 2,  $T_{ii} = -5$ , i = 1, 2,  $T_{12} = T_{21} = 1$ ,  $\beta_i = 2$ , i = 1, 2. Further, suppose  $\beta_u^* = 1$ .

Choose the Lyapunov function:

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{2} |y_i|.$$

By Theorem 10.5.11, one can only obtain

$$D^+V \leqslant -2V$$
, and  $\sum_{i=1}^{2} |y_i(t)| = V(t) \leqslant V_0 e^{-2(t-t_0)}$ 

However, applying Theorem 10.5.9 yields

$$D^+V\leqslant -6V,$$

leading to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2} |y_i(t)| = V(t) \leqslant V_0 e^{-6(t-t_0)},$$

which is better than the above estimation.

In the following, we study globally asymptotical stability of a class of neural networks with variable time delay. Consider the following system

$$C\frac{dy(t)}{dt} = -R^{-1}y(t) + Af(y(t)) + Bf(y(t - \tau(t))) + I,$$
  

$$y(t) = \eta(t) \quad \text{for } t \in [t - \tau, t_0],$$
(10.5.15)

where

$$C = \operatorname{diag}(C_1, \dots, C_n)^T > 0, \quad R^{-1} = \operatorname{diag}(R_1^{-1}, \dots, R_n^{-1})^T > 0,$$
  

$$A, B \in R^{n \times n}, \quad I = (I_1, \dots, I_n)^T,$$
  

$$y = (y_1, \dots, y_n)^T, \quad f(y(t)) = (f_1(y_1(t)), \dots, f_1(y_n(t)))^T,$$
  

$$f(y(t - \tau(t))) = (f_1(y_1(t - \tau_1(t))), \dots, f_1(y_n(t - \tau_n(t))))^T,$$
  

$$\tau(t) = (\tau_1(t), \dots, \tau_n(t))^T, \quad 0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau_i = \text{constant}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Assume  $\dot{\tau}_i(t) \leq 0$ .

Let  $y^*$  be a unique equilibrium of (10.5.15), and  $x = y - y^*$ ,  $f(x) = f(x + y^*) - f(y^*)$ ,  $g(x(t - \tau(t)) = f(x(t - \tau(t)) + y^*) - f(y^*)$ . Then (10.5.15) can be rewritten as

$$C\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = -R^{-1}x(t) + Ag(x(t)) + Bg(x(t - \tau(t))).$$
(10.5.16)

Further, define

$$G := \left\{ f_i(y_i) \in C[R^1, R^1], \ D^+ f_i(y_i) \ge 0, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n \right\},$$
  

$$L = \left\{ f_i(y_i) \in C[R^1, R^1], \\ \frac{f_i(y_i^{(1)}) - f_i(y_i^{(i)})}{y_i^{(1)} - y_i^{(i)}} \le L_i < +\infty, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n \right\}.$$

THEOREM 10.5.15. Let  $f_i(\cdot) \in G$ ,  $g_i(\cdot) \in G$  and

$$L_{i} := \sup_{x_{i} \in R} D^{+} g_{i}(x_{i}) = \sup_{y_{i} \in R} D^{+} f_{i}(y_{i})$$
  
=  $D^{+} f_{i}(0) \neq D^{+} f_{i}(y_{i}), \quad y_{i} \neq 0, \ i = 1, \dots, n.$ 

If there exist positive definite diagonal matrices  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, \ldots, p_n) > 0$  and  $\xi = \text{diag}(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n) > 0$  such that the matrix

$$Q := PA + A^T P - 2PL^{-1}R^{-1} + \xi + PB\xi^{-1}B^T P \leq 0$$

(*i.e.*, negative semi-definite), then the equilibrium  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.15) (*i.e.*, x = 0 of (10.5.16)) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Construct the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(t,x) = 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} C_i p_i \int_{0}^{x_i} g_i(x_i) \, dx_i + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_j \int_{t-\tau_j(t)}^{t} g_j^2(x_i(s)) \, ds. \quad (10.5.17)$$

Calculating the time derivative of V(t, x) along the positive half trajectory of (10.5.16) yields

$$\frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.5.16)} = (g(t))^T (PA + A^T P)g(x(t)) - (x(t))^T PR^{-1}g(x(t)) + \sum_{j=1}^n \xi_j g_j^2(x_j(t)) - \sum_{j=1}^n \xi_j g_j^2(x_j(t - \tau_j(t)))(1 - \dot{\tau}_j(t))$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} 2p_{i}g_{i}(x_{i}(t))\sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))$$

$$\leq (g(t))^{T} [PA + A^{T}P - 2PL^{-1}R^{-1} + \xi]g(x(t))$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} \xi_{j} \bigg[ g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t))) - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}g_{i}(x_{i}(t))b_{ij}}{\xi_{j}} \bigg]^{2}$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{(\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}g_{i}(x_{i}(t))b_{ij})^{2}}{\xi_{j}}$$

$$\leq g((t))^{T} [PA + A^{T}P - 2PL^{-1}R^{-1} + \xi + PB\xi^{-1}B^{T}P]g(x(t))$$

$$\leq 0, \qquad (10.5.18)$$

where  $\xi^{-1} = \text{diag}(\xi_1^{-1}, \dots, \xi_n^{-1}), L^{-1} = \text{diag}(L_1^{-1}, \dots, L_n^{-1})$ , and  $\frac{dV}{dt} = 0$  is reached at x = 0 or  $x = -y^*$ , but  $x = -y^*$  is not the equilibrium of (10.5.16) since x = 0 is the unique equilibrium of (10.5.16).

Next, we prove that the set  $E := \{x \mid \frac{dV(t,x)}{dt}|_{(10.5.16)} = 0\}$  does not include the positive half trajectory except x = 0, i.e., E does not include any other invariant set of (10.5.16), except x = 0.

Since

$$L_{j} = \sup_{x \in R} D^{+}g_{j}(x_{j}) = \sup_{y \in R} D^{+}f_{j}(y_{j}) = D^{+}f_{j}(0)$$
  
$$\neq D^{+}g_{j}(-y_{i}^{*}) > D^{+}g_{j}(y_{j}) \neq 0, \quad y_{i} \neq y_{i}^{*}.$$

Without loss of generality, let

$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_{j-1}, x_j, \dots, x_n) \neq 0$$
 and  
 $x_i \neq -y_i^*, \quad i = j, j+1, \dots, n,$ 

be any nonequilibrium state in positive half trajectory  $x_i \neq 0$  for  $j \leq i \leq n$ . Then,

$$\delta_i := D^+ g_i(x_i) < \sup_{x \in R} D^+ g_i(x_i) = D^+ g_i(-y_i^*) = L_j,$$
  
$$i = j, j + 1, \dots, n,$$

and we obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.5.16)} = g^T(x(t)) \bigg[ PB\xi^{-1}B^TP + \xi + P\bigg(A - \operatorname{diag}\bigg(\frac{1}{L_1R_1}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{j-1}R_{j-1}}, \frac{1}{\delta_j R_j}, \dots, \frac{1}{\delta_n R_n}\bigg)$$

$$+ A^{T} - \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{L_{1}R_{1}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{j-1}R_{j-1}}, \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{\delta_{n}R_{n}}\right) P \bigg] g(x(t))$$

$$= g^{T}(x(t)) \bigg[ PB\xi^{-1}B^{T}P + \xi \\ + P \bigg( A - \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{L_{1}R_{1}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{j-1}R_{j-1}}, \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{\delta_{n}R_{n}}\right) \\ + A^{T} - \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{L_{1}R_{1}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{j-1}R_{j-1}}, \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{\delta_{n}R_{n}}\right) \bigg) P \bigg] g(x(t)) \\ - g^{T}(x(t)) \bigg[ PB\xi^{-1}B^{T}P + \xi \\ + P \bigg( A - \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{L_{1}R_{1}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{j-1}R_{j-1}}, \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{n}R_{n}}\right) \bigg) P \bigg] g(x(t)) \\ + \bigg( A^{T} - \operatorname{diag}\left(\frac{1}{L_{1}R_{1}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{j-1}R_{j-1}}, \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{n}R_{n}}\right) \bigg) P \bigg] g(x(t)) \\ + g^{T}(x(t)) \bigg[ PB\xi^{-1}B^{T}P + \xi \\ + P \bigg( A - PL^{-1}R^{-1} \bigg) + \bigg( A - PL^{-1}R^{-1} \bigg)^{T}P \bigg] g(x(t)) \\ \leqslant g^{T}(x(t)) \bigg[ P \bigg( \operatorname{diag}\left(0, \dots, 0, \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}} - \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{n}R_{n}} - \frac{1}{\delta_{n}R_{n}}\right) \bigg) P \bigg] g(x(t)) \\ + \operatorname{diag}\left(0, \dots, 0, \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}} - \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}}, \dots, \frac{1}{L_{n}R_{n}} - \frac{1}{\delta_{n}R_{n}}\right) \bigg) P \bigg] g(x(t)) \\ = \sum_{i=j}^{n} p_{i} \bigg( \frac{1}{L_{i}R_{i}} - \frac{1}{\delta_{i}R_{i}} \bigg) g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t)) < 0 \quad \forall x \neq 0.$$

So  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(10.5.16)} \leq 0$  and  $E = \{x \mid \frac{dV}{dt}|_{(10.4.23)} = 0\}$ . Thus, except x = 0, any other positive half trajectory (i.e., invariant set) is not included in *E*.

According to the LaSalle invariant principle [220], we know that the equilibrium point x = 0 of (10.5.16) (i.e.,  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.15)) is globally asymptotically stable.

COROLLARY 10.5.16. If  $Q_1^* := A + A^T - 2L^{-1}R^{-1} + I_n + BB^T$  is negative semi-definite, then x = 0 of (10.5.16) (i.e.,  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.15)) is globally asymptotically stable.

COROLLARY 10.5.17. If B = 0, then the conditions in Theorem 10.5.15 become that

 $Q_1 := PA + A^T P - 2L^{-1}R^{-1}$  is negative semi-definite.

EXAMPLE 10.5.18. For the following two-state neural network (no delay terms):

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy_1}{dt} = -y_1 - 2f_1(y_1) + 9f_2(y_2) + I_1, \\ \frac{dy_2}{dt} = -y_2 + f_1(y_1) - 2f_2(y_2) + I_2, \end{cases}$$
(10.5.20)

suppose  $f_i(y_i) \in L$  and  $C_i = R_i = L_i = 1$ , i = 1, 2.

For system (10.5.16), we have

$$\bar{A} := A - L^{-1}R^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} -3 & 9\\ 1 & -3 \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} \bar{a}_{11} & \bar{a}_{12}\\ \bar{a}_{21} & \bar{a}_{22} \end{bmatrix}.$$

 $\bar{A}$  is Lyapunov diagonally stable if and only if  $\bar{a}_{11} < 0$ ,  $\bar{a}_{22} < 0$ , and  $\bar{a}_{11}\bar{a}_{22} > \bar{a}_{12}\bar{a}_{21}$ . However, here  $\bar{a}_{11}\bar{a}_{22} = \bar{a}_{12}\bar{a}_{21} = 9$ , hence  $\bar{A}$  is not Lyapunov diagonally stable. Now, we take  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, p_2) = \text{diag}(1/3, 3)$ . Then,

$$PA + A^{T}P = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 3 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -3 & 9\\ 1 & -3 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -3 & 9\\ 1 & -3 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3} & 0\\ 0 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 3\\ 3 & -9 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 3\\ 3 & -9 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 6\\ 6 & -18 \end{bmatrix} < 0,$$

indicating that the conditions in Corollary 10.5.17 are satisfied. Therefore, the equilibrium  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.16) is globally asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 10.5.19. Let  $f(\cdot) \in L$  and

$$L_i = \sup_{y \in R} D^+ f_i(y_i) = D^+ f_i(0) > D^+ f_i(y_i), \quad y_i \neq 0.$$

If there exist n positive constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$p_j\left(a_{jj}-\frac{1}{L_jR_j}\right)+\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_i|a_{ij}|+\sum_{i=1}^n p_i|b_{ij}|\leqslant 0,$$

then the equilibrium point x = 0 of (10.5.16) (i.e.,  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.15)) is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Let the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function be

$$V(t,x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i C_i |x_i| + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} p_i \int_{t-\tau_j(t)}^{t} |b_{ij}| |g_j(s)| ds.$$

Evaluating the right-upper Dini derivative of V, we obtain
$$D^{+}V(t,x)|_{(10.5.16)}$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}C_{i}\frac{dx_{i}}{dt}\operatorname{sign}(x_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||g(x_{j}(t))|$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))|(1-\dot{\tau}_{j}(t))$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ p_{j}\left(a_{jj}-\frac{1}{R_{j}L_{j}}\right) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{jj}| \right]|g_{j}(x_{j}(t))|$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))|$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))|$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}||g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t)))|$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ p_{j}\left(a_{jj}-\frac{1}{R_{j}L_{j}}\right) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{ij}| \right]|g_{j}(x_{j}(t))|$$

$$\leq 0. \qquad (10.5.21)$$

Since  $x = -y^*$  is not an equilibrium of (10.5.16), we only need to prove that the set  $E := \{x \mid D^+V|_{(10.5.16)}\}$  does not include the positive half trajectory except x = 0.

Without loss of generality, let any nonequilibrium state in the positive half trajectory of (10.5.16) be  $x = (0, ..., 0, x_i, ..., x_n) \neq 0$ , and  $\delta_j = D^+ y_j(x_j) > D^+ y_j(-y^*) = L_j$ , j = i, i + 1, ..., n. Then,  $x_i \neq -y_i^*$ ,  $x_i \neq 0$ , i = j, j + 1, ..., n. We have

$$D^{+}V(t, x(t))|_{(10.5.16)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \left[ p_{j} \left( a_{jj} - \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}} \right) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{ij}| \right] |g_{j}(x_{j}(t))| + \sum_{\substack{j=i\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left[ p_{j} \left( a_{jj} - \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}} \right) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{ij}| \right] |g_{j}(x_{j}(t))|$$

10.5. Globally asymptotic stability of a class of Hopfield neural networks

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ p_{j} \left( a_{jj} - \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}} \right) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} p_{i} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} |b_{ij}| \right] |g_{j} (x_{j}(t))|$$
$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ p_{j} \left( a_{jj} - \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}} \right) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} p_{i} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} |b_{ij}| \right] |g_{j} (x_{j}(t))|$$
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=i}^{n} \left[ -p_{j} \left( \frac{1}{\delta_{j}R_{j}} - \frac{1}{L_{j}R_{j}} \right) \right] |g_{j} (x_{j}(t))| < 0 \quad \text{when } x \neq 0. \quad (10.5.22)$$

Thus, the equilibrium x = 0 of (10.5.16) (i.e.,  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.15)) is globally asymptotically stable.

COROLLARY 10.5.20. Let  $g(\cdot) \in L$ . If

$$\left(a_{jj}-\frac{1}{L_jR_j}\right)+\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n|a_{ij}|+\sum_{i=1}^n|b_{ij}|\leqslant 0,$$

then the equilibrium x = 0 of (10.5.16) (i.e.,  $y = y^*$  of (10.5.15)) is globally asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 10.5.21. Consider the following 3-dimensional neural network without time delay (i.e., B = 0):

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy_1}{dt} = -y_1 - 3f_1(y_1) - 2f_2(y_2) - 2f_3(y_3) + I_1, \\ \frac{dy_2}{dt} = -y_2 + 3f_1(y_1) - 3f_2(y_2) + f_3(y_3) + I_2, \\ \frac{dy_3}{dt} = -y_3 + f_1(y_1) + 2f_2(y_2) - 2f_3(y_3) + I_3, \end{cases}$$
(10.5.23)

where  $f_i(y_i) \in L$ ,  $C_i = R_i = L_i = 1$ , i = 1, 2, 3.

Because

$$\tilde{A} = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} - \frac{1}{L_1 R_1} & |a_{12}| & |a_{13}| \\ |a_{21}| & a_{22} - \frac{1}{L_2 R_2} & |a_{23}| \\ |a_{31}| & |a_{32}| & a_{33} - \frac{1}{L_3 R_3} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & -2 & -2 \\ -3 & 4 & -1 \\ -1 & -2 & 3 \end{bmatrix},$$

 $det(\tilde{A}) = 0$ , indicating that  $\tilde{A}$  is not an *M* matrix. So, for this example, one cannot use *M* matrix theory to determine the stability of the equilibrium of (10.5.23).

Now, let us take  $p_1 = p_2 = p_3 = 1$ , which satisfies the condition in Corollary 10.5.20. Thus, the equilibrium point of (10.5.23) is globally asymptotically stable.

### 10.6. Stability of bidirectional associative memory neural network

The stability and encoding properties of two-layer nonlinear feedback neural network were studied by Kösko [208] based on the following systems:

$$\dot{x}_i = -x_i - \sum_{j=1}^m S(y_j)m_{ij} + I_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (10.6.1)

$$\dot{y}_j = -y_j - \sum_{i=1}^n S(x_i)m_{ij} + I_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
 (10.6.2)

This dynamical model is a direct generalization of Hopfield continuous circuit model, where the meaning of the constants  $I_i$ ,  $I_j$ ,  $m_{ij}$  and the variables  $x_i$ ,  $y_j$  can be found in [208]. Assume that  $0 < \frac{dS(\xi)}{d\xi} \leq 1$ .

Now, we present the results about the energy function obtained by Roska [352], as well as some methods and results concerning with globally exponential stability of a specific equilibrium position for more general bidirectional associative memory systems.

With the following energy function:

$$E(x, y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} \dot{S}(x_{i}) x_{i} dx_{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} S(x_{i}) S(y_{i}) m_{ij}$$
$$- \sum_{i=1}^{n} S(x_{i}) I_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{0}^{y_{i}} \dot{S}(y_{j}) y_{i} dy_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{m} S(y_{j}) I_{j}.$$
(10.6.3)

Kosko [206] analyzed the stability of equations (10.6.1) and (10.6.2). However, for a specific equilibrium position  $x = x^*$ ,  $y = y^*$ , one cannot determine its Lyapunov stability by using this method. In the following, we carry out a further study and develop a new result.

Let  $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)^T$ ,  $y = (y_1, ..., y_m)^T$ .

THEOREM 10.6.1. Assume that

- (1)  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  is an equilibrium position of equations (10.6.1) and (10.6.2);
- (2)  $S(\xi) \in C^2, \xi \in R;$
- (3) The matrix  $H(h_{ij})_{(n+m)(n+m)}$  is positive definite;

then the equilibrium position  $(x^*, y^*)$  of equations (10.6.1) and (10.6.2) is asymptotically stable, where

$$h_{ij} = -\dot{S}(x_i^*)S(y_j^*)m_{ij} = -\dot{S}(y_j^*)S(x_i^*)m_{ji}$$

$$= h_{ji}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, m, \ i \neq j,$$
  
$$h_{ii} = \dot{S}(x_i^*), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
  
$$h_{jj} = \dot{S}(y_j^*), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$

PROOF. Here, we construct a new positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$W(x, y) = E(x, y) - E(x^*, y^*).$$

Obviously,  $W(x^*, y^*) = 0$  and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial W}{\partial x_i} \Big|_{\substack{x=x^*\\y=y^*}} &= \left( x_i^* - \sum_{j=1}^m S(y_j^*) m_{ij} - I_i \right) \dot{S}(x_i^*) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, \\ \frac{\partial W}{\partial y_j} \Big|_{\substack{x=x^*\\y=y^*}} &= \left( y_j^* - \sum_{i=1}^n S(y_i^*) m_{ij} - J_j \right) \dot{S}(y_j^*) = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, m, \\ h_{ij} &= \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial x_i \partial y_j} \Big|_{\substack{(x=x^*)\\(y=y^*)}} &= -\dot{S}(x_i^*) S(y_j^*) m_{ij} = -\dot{S}(y_j^*) \dot{S}(x_i^*) m_{ji} \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial y_j \partial x_i} \Big|_{\substack{(x=x^*)\\(y=y^*)}} = h_{ji}, \\ i \neq j, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, m, \\ h_{ii} &= \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial x_i^2} \Big|_{\substack{(x=x^*)\\(y=y^*)}} = \dot{S}_i(x_i^*), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ h_{jj} &= \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial y_j^2} \Big|_{\substack{(x=x^*)\\(y=y^*)}} = \dot{S}_j(y_j^*), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m. \end{aligned}$$

According to the minimax theorem of multivariate function, we know that the positive (negative) definiteness of matrix  $H(h_{ij})$  implies that the equilibrium position  $(x^*, y^*)$  is the minimal (maximal) value point of W(x, y), i.e., W(x, y) is positive (negative) definite in some neighborhood of  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$ . In addition,

$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.6.1)\cup(10.6.2)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \dot{S}(x_i)x_i^2 - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \dot{S}(y_j)y_j^2 \leqslant 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.6.1),\,(10.6.2)} < 0 \quad \text{if and only if } x \neq x^* \text{ or } y \neq y^*,$$

$$\left. \frac{dW}{dt} \right|_{(10.6.1), (10.6.2)} = 0$$
 if and only if  $x = x^*$  and  $y = y^*$ .

By Lyapunov asymptotic stability theorem, the equilibrium point  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  is asymptotically stable.

The proof is complete.

Now we consider more general bidirectional associative memory models, described by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -E_n & 0 \\ 0 & -E_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T \\ R & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S(x) \\ S(y) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I \\ J \end{pmatrix},$$
(10.6.4)

where

$$x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)^T, \quad y = (y_1, \dots, y_m)^T, \quad T = (T_{ij})_{n \times m}, R = (R_{jk})_{n \times m}, \quad I = (I_1, \dots, I_n)^T, \quad J = (J_1, \dots, J_m)^T, S(x) = (S(x_1), \dots, S(x_n))^T, \quad S(y) = (S(y_1), \dots, S(y_m))^T.$$

 $E_n$  and  $E_m$  are  $n \times n$  and  $m \times m$  unit matrices, respectively.

We admit  $R^T \neq T$ . Obviously, when  $R^T = T$ , equation (10.6.4) becomes equations (10.5.1) and (10.5.2). Here,  $R^T$  is a transpose of R.

Let  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  be an equilibrium position of (10.6.4). Then equation (10.6.4) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -E_n & 0 \\ 0 & -E_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T \\ R & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10.6.5)

THEOREM 10.6.2. If there exist two positive definite matrices  $\xi = \text{diag}(\xi, ..., \xi_n)$  and  $\eta = \text{diag}(\eta_1, ..., \eta_m)$  such that the matrix

$$\Omega = \begin{bmatrix} -\xi E_n & 0 & 0 & \xi T \\ 0 & -\eta E_m & \eta R & 0 \\ 0 & R^T \eta & -\xi E_m & 0 \\ T^T \xi & 0 & 0 & -\eta E_m \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite, then the equilibrium position  $(x^*, y^*)$  of equation (10.6.5) is globally exponentially stable and  $\lambda/\mu$  can be defined as the Lyapunov exponent, where  $-\lambda$  is the biggest eigenvalue of  $\Omega$ , and  $\mu = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \{\xi_i, \eta_i\}$ .

**PROOF.** We employ the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(a,b) = \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}^I \begin{bmatrix} \xi & 0 \\ 0 & \eta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (10.6.6)

Using the facts:

$$\begin{aligned} |S(x_i) - S(x_i^*)| &\leq |x_i - x_i^*|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ |S(y_j) - S(y_j^*)| &\leq |y_j - y_j^*|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m, \end{aligned}$$

along the solution of equation (10.6.5), we compute the derivatives of V(x, y) and  $e^{\lambda t/\mu}V(x, y)$ , respectively, and obtain the following results:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt} \Big|_{(10.6.5)} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} \xi & 0 \\ 0 & \eta \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} -E_n & 0 \\ 0 & -E_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & T \\ R & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \right\} \\ &+ \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} -E_n & 0 \\ 0 & -E_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T \\ R & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \right\}^T \\ &\times \begin{bmatrix} \xi & 0 \\ 0 & \eta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \\ &\leqslant -(x - x^*)^T (\xi E_n) (x - x^*) \\ &- (S(x) - S(x^*))^T (\xi E_n) (S(x) - S(x^*)) \\ &- (y - y^*)^T (\eta E_m) (y - y^*) \\ &- (S(y) - S(y^*))^T (\eta E_n) (S(y) - S(y^*)) \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \xi T \\ \eta R & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix}^T \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \\ S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -\xi E_r & 0 & 0 & \xi T \\ 0 & -\eta E_m & \eta R & 0 \\ 0 & R^T \eta & -\xi E_n & 0 \\ T^T \xi & 0 & 0 & -\eta E_m \end{bmatrix} \\ &\times \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \\ S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \\ &\leqslant -\lambda \begin{bmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \\ S(x) - S(x^*) \\ S(y) - S(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$

< 0 for 
$$x \neq x^*$$
 or  $y \neq y^*$ , (10.6.7)  

$$\frac{de^{\lambda t/\mu}V(x, y)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.4.2)} \leqslant e^{\lambda/\mu} \left\{ \frac{\lambda}{\mu} \mu \left[ \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - x_i^*)^2 + \sum_{j=1}^m (y_j - y_j^*)^2 \right] \right\}$$

$$-\lambda \left[ \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - x_i^*)^2 + \sum_{j=1}^m (y_j - y_j^*)^2 \right] \right\}$$

$$\leqslant 0.$$
(10.6.8)

Integrating both sides of equation (10.6.8) from 0 to t yields

$$e^{\lambda t/\mu}V(x(t), y(t)) - V(x(0), y(0)) \leq 0$$

i.e.,

$$e^{\lambda t/\mu}V(x(t), y(t)) \leq V(x(0), y(0)) < \infty.$$

Therefore, let  $\mu = \min_{i,j} [\xi_i, \eta_j]$ . Then, we have

$$\underline{\mu} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - x_i^*)^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{m} (y_j - y_j^*)^2 \right] \leqslant V(x(t), y(t)) \\ \leqslant e^{-\lambda t/\mu} V(x(0), y(0)), \quad (10.6.9)$$

which implies immediately that the equilibrium position  $(x^*, y^*)$  is globally exponentially stable, and  $\lambda/\mu$  is the Lyapunov exponent.

The proof of the theorem is complete.

EXAMPLE 10.6.3. Consider the following system:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & 0.5 \\ -0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S_1(y_1) \\ S_2(y_2) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_1 \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & -0.5 \\ 0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} S_1(x_1) \\ S_2(x_2) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} J_1 \\ J_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10.6.10)

By choosing  $\xi = \text{diag}(1, 1)$  and  $\eta = \text{diag}(1, 1)$ , one can verify that  $\Omega$  is negative definite, and therefore the equilibrium position  $(x^*, y^*)$  of system (10.6.10) is globally exponentially stable.

### 10.7. Stability of BAM neural networks with variable delays

In this section, we consider more general bidirectional associative memory (BAM) neural networks with time delays as follows:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -\alpha_i x_i + \sum_{j=1}^m a_{ij} g_j \left( y_j \left( t - \tau_{ij}(t) \right) \right) + I_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad (10.7.1)$$

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = -\alpha_i y_i + \sum_{j=1}^m b_{ij} h_j \left( x_k \left( t - \sigma_{jk}(t) \right) \right) + I_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m, \quad (10.7.2)$$

where  $\alpha_i$ ,  $\beta_j$  are some positive constants;  $a_{ij}$ ,  $b_{jk}$  are weight coefficients, we admit  $a_{ij} \neq b_{ij}$ ;  $\tau_{ij}(t) > 0$  and  $\sigma_{jk}(t) > 0$  are variable time delays; satisfying  $0 \leq \tau_{ij}(t) \leq \tau_{ij} = \text{constant}$ ,  $\dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \leq 0$  and  $0 \leq \sigma_{jk}(t) \leq \sigma_{jk} = \text{constant}$ ,  $\dot{\tau}_{jk}(t) \leq 0$ ; the constant inputs  $I_i$  and  $J_j$  can be interpreted as the sustained environmental stimuli or as the stable reverberation from an adjoining neural network; k = 1, 2, ..., n, j = 1, 2, ..., m.

We assume that output functions  $g_i$ ,  $h_k$  satisfy

$$0 < \frac{dg_j(\xi)}{d\xi} \le 1, \quad 0 < \frac{dh_k(\xi)}{d\xi} \le 1,$$
  
$$j = 1, 2, \dots, m, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

We first investigate the existence, uniqueness and globally asymptotic stability of the equilibrium points.

THEOREM 10.7.1. Assume that the matrix

$$\boldsymbol{\varOmega} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\alpha} & -|\boldsymbol{A}| \\ -|\boldsymbol{B}| & \boldsymbol{\beta} \end{bmatrix}_{(n+m)\times(n+m)}$$

is an *M* matrix. Then the equilibrium point  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  of systems (10.7.1) and (10.7.2) exists uniquely, and is globally asymptotically stable. Here,

$$\alpha = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_n), \qquad \beta = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_m),$$
$$|A| = (|a_{ij}|)_{n \times m}, \qquad |B| = (|b_{ij}|)_{m \times n}.$$

**PROOF.** First, we prove the existence and uniqueness of the equilibrium point of systems (10.7.1) and (10.7.2). Consider the following equations:

$$x_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{a_{ij}}{\alpha_{i}} g_{j}(y_{j}) + I_{i}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.7.3)

$$y_j = \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{b_{ij}}{\sigma_j} h_k(x_k) + I_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
 (10.7.4)

Then  $\forall x^{(1)}, x^{(2)} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\forall y^{(1)}, y^{(2)} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , we have

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{a_{ij}}{\alpha_i} g_j(y_j^{(1)}) + I_i - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{a_{ij}}{\alpha_i} g_j(y_j^{(2)}) - I_i$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{|a_{ij}|}{\alpha_i} |y_j^{(1)} - y_j^{(2)}|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.7.5)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{b_{jk}}{\beta_j} h_k(x_k^{(1)}) + I_j - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{b_{jk}}{\beta_k} h_k(x_k^{(2)}) - I_j$$
  
$$\leqslant \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{|b_{jk}|}{\beta_j} |x_k^{(1)} - x_k^{(2)}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
(10.7.6)

By the property of *M* matrix, we know that  $\Omega$  being an *M* matrix implies that  $\rho(H) < 1$ , where  $\rho(H)$  is the spectral radius of matrix *H*, and

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \beta \end{bmatrix}.$$

Note that  $\rho(H) < 1$  implies that the fixed point  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  uniquely exists, which satisfies equations (10.7.3) and (10.7.4), i.e.,

$$\alpha_i x_i^* = \sum_{j=1}^m a_{ij} g_j \left( y_j^* \right) + I_I, \qquad (10.7.7)$$

$$\beta_j y_j^* = \sum_{k=1}^n b_{jk} h_k (x_k^*) + I_j, \qquad (10.7.8)$$

Therefore,  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  is the unique equilibrium point of systems (10.7.1) and (10.7.2).

Next, we prove that  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  is globally asymptotically stable. According to the property of *M* matrix, the conditions in the theorem imply that there exist n + m positive constants  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n, \eta_1, \ldots, \eta_m$  such that

$$\xi_k \alpha_k - \sum_{j=1}^m |b_{jk}| \eta_j > 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.7.9)

$$\eta_j \beta_j - \sum_{i=1}^{n} |a_{ij}| \xi_i > 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$
 (10.7.10)

We choose the Lyapunov functional as follows:

$$V(x, y, t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_{i} |x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}| + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \eta_{j} |y_{j} - y_{j}^{*}|$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} \xi_{i} |a_{ij}| |g_{j}(y_{j}(s)) - g_{j}(y_{j}^{*})| ds$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \int_{t-\sigma_{jk}(t)}^{t} \eta_{j} |b_{jk}| |h_{k}(x_{k}(s)) - h_{k}(x_{k}^{*})| ds. \quad (10.7.11)$$

Obviously  $V(x^*, y^*, t) = 0$ ,  $V(x^*, y^*, t) > 0$  for  $x \neq x^*$ ,  $y \neq y^*$  and  $V \to +\infty$  as  $|x|^2 + |y|^2 \to \infty$ .

Calculating the right-upper Dini derivative  $D^+V$  of V along the solution of systems (10.7.1) and (10.7.2) yields

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -\alpha_i (x_i - x_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^m a_{ij} [g_j (y_j (t - \tau_{ij})) - g_j (y_j^*)],$$

$$i = 1, \dots, n, \qquad (10.7.12)$$

$$\frac{dy_j}{dt} = -\beta_j (y_j - y_j^*) + \sum_{k=1}^n b_{jk} [h_k (x_k (t - \sigma_{jk})) - h_k (x_k^*)],$$

$$j = 1, \dots, m. \qquad (10.7.13)$$

By using the facts  $\dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \leq 0$  and  $\dot{\sigma}_{jk}(t) \leq 0$ , we have

$$D^{+}V|_{(10.7.12)\cup(10.7.13)}$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n}\xi_{i}\alpha_{i}|x_{i}-x_{i}^{*}|+\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{m}\xi_{i}|a_{ij}||g_{j}(y_{j}(t))-g_{j}(y_{j}^{*})|$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{m}\eta_{j}\beta_{j}|y_{j}-y_{j}^{*}|+\sum_{j=1}^{m}\sum_{k=1}^{n}\eta_{j}|b_{jk}||h_{k}(x_{k}(t))-h_{k}(x_{k}^{*})|$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{n}\left[-\xi_{k}\alpha_{k}+\sum_{j=1}^{m}\eta_{j}|b_{jk}|\right]|x_{k}(t)-x_{k}^{*}|$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{m}\left[-\eta_{j}\beta_{j}+\sum_{i=1}^{n}\xi_{i}|a_{ij}|\right]|y_{j}(t)-y_{j}^{*}|$$

$$<0 \quad \text{for } x \neq x^{*} \text{ or } y \neq y^{*}.$$

So, the conclusion of the theorem is true.

Now, we consider another BAM model with time delays:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha & 0 \\ 0 & -\beta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ B & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} g(y(t - \tau(t))) \\ h(x(t - \sigma(t))) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I \\ J \end{pmatrix},$$
(10.7.14)

where  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$  and  $\beta = (\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_n)$ ,  $A = (a_{ij})_{n \times m}$  and  $B = (b_{ij})_{m \times n}$ are two positive definite matrices;  $\tau(t) = (\tau_1(t), \ldots, \tau_n(t))^T$  satisfying  $0 \leq \tau_i(t) \leq \tau_i = \text{constant}, \dot{\tau}_i(t) \leq 0, i = 1, 2, \ldots, n; \sigma(t) = (\sigma_1(t), \ldots, \sigma_m(t))^T$ satisfying  $0 \leq \sigma_j(t) \leq \sigma_j = \text{constant}, \dot{\sigma}_j(t) \leq 0, j = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ . Generally,

$$A \neq B^{T}, x = (x_{1}, ..., x_{n})^{T}, y = (y_{1}, ..., y_{m})^{T}, \text{ and}$$

$$g(y(t - \tau(t))) = (g_{1}(y_{1}(t - \tau_{1}(t))), ..., g_{m}(y_{m}(t - \tau_{m}(t))))^{T},$$

$$h(x(t - \sigma(t))) = (h_{1}(x_{1}(t - \sigma_{1}(t))), ..., h_{n}(x_{n}(t - \sigma_{n}(t))))^{T},$$

$$0 < \frac{dg_{j}(\xi)}{d\xi} \leq 1, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

$$0 < \frac{dh_{i}(\xi)}{d\xi} \leq 1, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$

Let  $(x, y) = (x^*, y^*)$  be a known equilibrium point. We rewrite equation (10.7.14) as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x} \\ \dot{y} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha & 0 \\ 0 & -\beta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ B & 0 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma(t))) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(10.7.15)

THEOREM 10.7.2. If there exist four positive definite matrices  $\xi = \text{diag}(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n)$ ,  $\eta = \text{diag}(\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_n)$ ,  $\lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  and  $\mu = \text{diag}(\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_m)$  such that

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} -2\xi\alpha + \lambda & 0 & 0 & \xi A \\ 0 & -2\eta\beta + \mu & \eta B & 0 \\ 0 & B^{T}\eta & -\lambda & 0 \\ A^{T}\xi & 0 & 0 & -\mu \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite, then the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$ ,  $y = y^*$  is globally asymptotically stable.

PROOF. We construct the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x, y, t) = {\begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}}^T \begin{bmatrix} \xi & 0 \\ 0 & \eta \end{bmatrix} {\begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}} + \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{t-\tau_j(t)}^t (g_j(y_j(s)) - g_j(y_j^*))^2 ds + \sum_{i=1}^m \int_{t-\sigma_i(t)}^t (h_i(x_i(s)) - h_i(x_i^*))^2 ds.$$
(10.7.16)

Since

$$|g_j(y_j) - g_j(y_j^*)| \le |y_j - y_j^*|, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., n$$

$$|h_i(x_i) - h_i(x_i^*)| \leq |x_i - x_i^*|, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., m,$$

we calculate the derivative V along the solution of (10.7.15) to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt} \Big|_{(10.7.15)} &\leqslant \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} \xi & 0 \\ 0 & \eta \end{bmatrix} \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha & 0 \\ 0 & -\beta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \right. \\ &+ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ B & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma)) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau)) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \right\} \\ &+ \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha & 0 \\ 0 & -\beta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & A \\ B & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma)) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau)) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \right\}^T \\ &\times \begin{bmatrix} \xi & 0 \\ 0 & \eta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \\ &- \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma)) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau)) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma)) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau)) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \\ &= 2 \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha \xi & 0 \\ 0 & -\beta \eta \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \xi A \\ \eta B & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma(t))) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma(t))) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \eta B^T \\ 0 & I_m \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \end{pmatrix} \\ &- \begin{pmatrix} h(x(t - \sigma(t))) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -2\xi \alpha + \lambda & 0 & 0 & \xi A \\ 0 & -2\eta \beta + \mu & \eta B & 0 \\ 0 & B^T \eta & -\lambda & 0 \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} x - x^* \\ y - y^* \\ h(x(t - \sigma(t))) - h(x^*) \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{bmatrix} -2\xi \alpha + \lambda & 0 & 0 & \xi A \\ 0 & B^T \eta & -\lambda & 0 \\ 0 & B^T \eta & -\lambda & 0 \\ 0 & B^T \eta & -\lambda & 0 \\ g(y(t - \tau(t))) - g(y^*) \end{pmatrix} \\ &< 0 & \text{for } x \neq x^* \text{ or } y \neq y^*. (10.7.17) \end{aligned}$$

This means that the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$ ,  $y = y^*$  is globally asymptotically stable. The proof of the theorem is complete.

EXAMPLE 10.7.3. Let us consider a 4-dimensional BAM neural network with delays:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = -2x_1 + g_1(y_1(t-\tau_{11})) + \frac{1}{2}g_2(y_2(t-\tau_{12})) + I_1, 
\frac{dx_2}{dt} = -3x_2 + \frac{3}{2}g_1(y_1(t-\tau_{21})) - g_2(y_2(t-\tau_{22})) + I_2, 
\frac{dy_1}{dt} = -3y_1 - \frac{3}{2}h_1(x_1(t-\sigma_{11})) + h_2(x_2(t-\sigma_{22})) + J_1, 
\frac{dy_2}{dt} = -2y_2 - h_1(x_1(t-\sigma_{21})) + \frac{1}{2}h_2(x_2(t-\sigma_{22})) + J_2.$$
(10.7.18)

Assume that  $g_i$  and  $h_j$  satisfy

$$0 < \frac{dg_i(\xi)}{d\xi} \leqslant 1, \quad 0 < \frac{dh_j(\xi)}{d\xi} \leqslant 1, \quad i, j = 1, 2,$$

and  $\tau_{ij} > 0$ ,  $\sigma_{ij} > 0$ , i, j = 1, 2, are time delays. By Theorem 10.7.1, we have

$$\alpha = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1, \ \alpha_2) = \operatorname{diag}(2, 3), \qquad \beta = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1, \ \beta_2) = \operatorname{diag}(3, 2),$$

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0.5 \\ 1.5 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} -1.5 & 1 \\ -1 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Obviously,

$$\Omega = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & -|A| \\ -|B| & \beta \end{bmatrix}_{4 \times 4} = \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & -1 & -0.5 \\ 0 & 3 & -1.5 & -1 \\ -1.5 & -1 & 3 & 0 \\ -1 & -0.5 & 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$$

is an M matrix.

According to Theorem 10.7.1, we know that the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$ ,  $y = y^*$  of system (10.7.18) exists uniquely, and is globally asymptotically stable.

EXAMPLE 10.7.4. For a comparison, we consider another 4-dimensional BAM neural network with delays:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{x}_1 \\ \dot{x}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & -0.5 \\ 0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} g_1(y_1(t-\tau_1)) \\ g_2(y_2(t-\tau_2)) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_1 \\ I_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{y}_1 \\ \dot{y}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & 0.5 \\ -0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h_1(x_1(t-\sigma_1)) \\ h_2(x_2(t-\sigma_2)) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} J_1 \\ J_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(10.7.19)$$

where

$$\alpha = \beta = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A = \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & -0.5 \\ 0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.5 & 0.5 \\ -0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Since

$$\Omega = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & -|A| \\ -|B| & \beta \end{bmatrix}_{4 \times 4} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & -0.5 & -0.5 \\ 0 & 1 & -0.5 & -0.5 \\ -0.5 & -0.5 & 1 & 0 \\ -0.5 & -0.5 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

is not an M matrix, Theorem 10.7.1 cannot be applied here. However, the conditions in Theorem 10.7.2 are satisfied. In fact, if we take

$$\xi = \eta = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

then it is easy to verify that Q is negative definite. Hence, the equilibrium point of system (10.7.10) exists uniquely and is globally asymptotically stable.

# **10.8.** Exp. stability and exp. periodicity of DNN with Lipschitz type activation function

In this section, we consider the model of neural networks with delays, described by the following DDEs:

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = -d_i y_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} f_j (y_j (t - \tau_j(t))) + I_i, \quad t \ge 0,$$
  
$$y_i(t) = \phi_i(t), \quad -\tau \le t \le 0,$$
 (10.8.1)

where  $0 \leq \tau_j(t) \leq \tau_j = \text{constant}, \, \dot{\tau}_j(t) \leq 0, \, j = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , and

$$f_i(\cdot) \in L := \{ y_i \mid 0 \leq \dot{y}_i \leq L \}.$$

DEFINITION 10.8.1. An equilibrium point  $y^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$  of system (10.8.1) is said to be globally exponentially stable if there exist two positive constants  $\alpha \ge 1$  and  $\beta > 0$  such that for any  $y_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $t \in [0, +\infty)$ ,

$$\left\| y(t) - y^* \right\| \leq \alpha \left\| \phi - y^* \right\| e^{-\beta t}.$$

THEOREM 10.8.2. Suppose  $g \in L$  and  $DL^{-1} - |A|$  is an M matrix, where  $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$ . Then, the equilibrium point  $y^*$  of the delayed neural system (10.8.1) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. Since  $DL^{-1} - |A|$  is an *M* matrix, the neural system (10.8.1) has unique equilibrium point  $y^*$ . Let  $x_i = y_i - y_i^*$  and  $g_j(x_j) = f_j(x_j + y_j^*) - f_j(y_j^*)$ , then system (10.8.1) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -d_i x_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} g_j \left( x_j \left( t - \tau_j(t) \right) \right), \quad t \ge 0,$$
(10.8.2)

and now  $x^* = 0$  is the unique equilibrium point of system (10.8.2).

Since  $DL^{-1} - |A|$  is an *M* matrix, there exists a positive definite matrix  $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  such that

$$\lambda_i d_i - L_i \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j |a_{ji}| > 0 \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Thus, we can choose a small  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\lambda_i(d_i - \varepsilon) - L_i \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j e^{\varepsilon \tau} |a_{ji}| > 0 \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

where  $\tau = \max_{1 \le i \le n} \tau_i$ . We use the following positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \left( |x_i| e^{\varepsilon \tau} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}| \int_{t-\tau_j}^{t} |g_j(x_j(s))| e^{s+\varepsilon \tau_j} ds \right).$$

Computing the right-upper derivative along the solution of (10.8.2), we have

$$D^{+}V(x(t))|_{(10.8.2)}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \operatorname{sign}(x_{i}(t)) \left[ -d_{i}x_{i}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j})) \right] e^{\varepsilon t}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |x_{i}(t)| \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |a_{ij}| (|g_{j}(x_{j}(t))|) |e^{t+\varepsilon \tau_{j}}$$

$$- |g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}))| e^{\varepsilon t} (1-\dot{\tau}_{j}(t)))$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \left[ (\varepsilon - d_{i})|x_{i}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau} |g_{j}(x_{j})| \right] e^{\varepsilon t}$$

$$\leqslant - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \lambda_{i}(\varepsilon - d_{i}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} e^{\varepsilon \tau} |a_{ji}| L_{i}\lambda_{j} \right] |x_{j}| e^{\varepsilon t}$$

$$\leqslant 0. \qquad (10.8.3)$$

Therefore,

$$V(t) \leqslant V(0), \quad t \ge 0,$$

from which we obtain

$$e^{\varepsilon t} \Big( \min_{1 \leq i \leq n} \lambda_i \Big) \sum_{i=1}^n |y_i - y_i^*| \leq V(t)$$

and

$$V(0) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \left[ \left| x_i(0) \right| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_j(t)}^{0} \left| g_j \left( x_j(s) \right) \right| e^{s + \varepsilon \tau_j} ds \right]$$
$$\leq \left[ \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \lambda_i + L \tau e^{\varepsilon \tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} |a_{ij}| \right] \| \phi - y^* \|,$$

where  $L = \max_{1 \le i \le n} L_i$  is a constant. Therefore, we obtain

$$\left\| y(t) - y^* \right\|_1 \leq \alpha \left\| \phi - y^* \right\|_1 e^{-\varepsilon t} \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$
(10.8.4)

in which

$$\alpha = \frac{\max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i + L\tau e^{\varepsilon\tau} \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} |a_{ij}|}{\min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i} \geqslant 1.$$

It then follows from (10.8.4) that the equilibrium point of (10.8.1) is globally exponentially stable for any delays, in view of the equivalence of the norms  $||x||_1$  and ||x||.

REMARK 10.8.3. Theorem 10.8.2 improves and generalizes the result in [349] (see Theorem 2 therein). Here, we have used variable time delays to replace the constant delays used in [349].

THEOREM 10.8.4. (See [266].) Assume that there exist constants  $\alpha_i > 0$ ,  $\beta_i > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, such that the matrix

W

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(-2\beta_1 d_1 + \alpha_1 L_1^2, \dots, -2\beta_1 d_1 + \alpha_n L_n^2) & \beta_i a_{ij} + \beta_j a_{ji} \\ (\beta_i a_{ij} + \beta_j a_{ji})^T & \operatorname{diag}(-\alpha_1, \dots, -\alpha_n) \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}$$

is negative definite. Then the equilibrium  $y = y^*$  of system (10.8.1) is globally exponentially stable. Here,  $\beta = \text{diag}(\beta_1, \dots, \beta_n)$ .

PROOF. Construct the Lyapunov functional

$$V(x(t),t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_i x_i^2(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \int_{t-\tau_j(t)}^{t} g_j^2(x(s)) \, ds.$$
(10.8.5)

Obviously, V(x(t), t) is positive definite and radially unbounded. Calculating the derivative of V(x(t), t) along the solution of (10.8.2) results in

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.8.2)} = -2\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}d_{i}x_{i}^{2}(t) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}x_{i}(t)\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t))) 
+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}[g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t)) - g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t)))(1-\dot{\tau}_{j}(t))] 
\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} (2\beta_{i}d_{i} - \alpha_{i}L_{i}^{2})x_{i}^{2}(t) 
+ 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}x_{i}(t)\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j}(t))) 
- \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i}g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t))) 
= \left(\frac{x(t)}{g(x(t-\tau(t)))}\right)^{T} W\left(\frac{x(t)}{g(x(t-\tau(t)))}\right) 
\leq -\mu[x^{T}(t)x(t) + g^{T}(x(t-\tau(t)))g(x(t-\tau(t)))], \quad (10.8.6)$$

where W is defined in the theorem, and  $-\mu$  is the maximum eigenvalue of matrix W. Note that W is the coefficient matrix of (10.8.6).

Let  $\varepsilon$  be the unique positive solution to the equation

$$\max_{1\leqslant i\leqslant n} \left( \varepsilon\beta_i + \varepsilon\alpha_i\tau_i e^{\varepsilon\tau_i} L_i^2 \right) = \mu.$$

Then the derivative of  $e^{\varepsilon t} V(x(t), t)$  along the solution of system (10.7.2) is given by

$$\frac{de^{\varepsilon t}V(x(t),t)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.8.2)} \leqslant e^{\varepsilon t}\varepsilon \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n}\beta_{i}x_{i}^{2}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n}\alpha_{i}\int_{t-\tau_{i}(t)}^{t}g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(s))ds\right] - e^{\varepsilon t}\mu \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n}x_{i}^{2}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n}g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(t-\tau_{i}(t)))\right]$$

$$\leq e^{\varepsilon t} \mu \left[ \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} \int_{t-\tau_{i}}^{t} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(s)) ds - \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mu - \varepsilon \beta_{i}) x_{i}^{2}(t) \right].$$
(10.8.7)

Integrating both sides of (10.8.7) from 0 to  $t_1$  yields

$$e^{\varepsilon t_{1}}V(x(t_{1}), t_{1}) \leq V(x(0), 0) + \int_{0}^{t_{1}} e^{\varepsilon t} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_{i} \int_{t-\tau_{i}}^{t} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(s)) ds dt - \int_{0}^{t_{1}} (\mu - \varepsilon \beta_{i}) x_{i}^{2}(s) e^{\varepsilon t} ds.$$
(10.8.8)

Now, we estimate the integral

$$\int_{0}^{t_1} e^{\varepsilon t} \varepsilon \alpha_i \int_{t-\tau_i}^{t} f_i^2(x_i(s)) \, ds \, dt.$$

By the condition  $|g_i(x_i)| \leq L_i |x_i|$  and changing the order of integration, we have

$$\int_{0}^{t_{1}} e^{\varepsilon t} \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \int_{t-\tau_{i}}^{t} g_{i}^{2}(x_{i}(s)) ds dt$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{t_{1}} \left( \int_{\max[s,0]}^{\min[s+\tau_{i},t_{1}]} e^{\varepsilon t} dt \right) L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{t_{1}} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{i})} L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{0} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{i})} L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds + \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{i})} L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon \tau_{i}} \left[ \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{0} L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds + L_{i}^{2} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} L_{i}^{2} e^{\varepsilon s} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds \right]. \quad (10.8.9)$$

Now, substituting the inequalities (10.8.9) and (10.8.8) yields

$$e^{\varepsilon t_{1}}V(x(t_{1}), t_{1}) \leq V(x(0), 0) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon \tau_{i}} \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{0} L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds$$
$$- \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\mu - \varepsilon \beta_{i} - \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon \tau_{i}} L_{i}^{2}) e^{\varepsilon s} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds$$
$$\leq V(x(0), 0) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon \alpha_{i} \tau_{i} e^{\varepsilon \tau_{i}} \int_{-\tau_{i}}^{0} L_{i}^{2} |x_{i}(s)|^{2} ds$$
$$\leq \bar{M} = \text{some positive constant}$$

 $\leq M =$  some positive constant.

Therefore, the following estimation is satisfied for any  $t_1 > 0$ :

$$e^{\varepsilon t_1}\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i x_i^2(t) \leqslant e^{\varepsilon t_1} V(x(t_1), t_1) \leqslant \overline{M},$$

which implies that the equilibrium point of system (10.8.1) is globally exponentially stable, and the proof is complete.

REMARK 10.8.5. It should be noted that the method used in proving Theorem 10.8.4 is different from that of Theorem 10.8.2 because the two functionals employed in the two theorems are different.

In the following, we consider the model of continuous-time neural network with delays described by the following differential equations with delay [373]:

$$\frac{dx_i(t)}{dt} = -d_i x_i(t) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i a_{ij} g_j (x_i(t)) + \sum_{i=1}^n b_{ij} g_j (x_j(t-\tau_j)) + I_i(t),$$
  
 $t \ge 0,$   
 $x_i(t) = \phi_i(t), \quad -\tau \le t \le 0, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$  (10.8.10)

Define  $x_t(\theta) = x(t + \theta), \ \theta \in [-\tau, 0], \ t \ge 0$ . Let

$$\|x_t\| = \sup_{-\tau \leqslant \theta \leqslant 0} \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(t+\theta)|.$$
 (10.8.11)

DEFINITION 10.8.6. The neural system (10.8.10) is said to be exponentially periodic if there exists one  $\omega$ -periodic solution of the system and all other solutions of the system converge exponentially to it as  $t \to +\infty$ .

Let  $C = C([-\tau, i], R^n)$  be the Banach space of all continuous functions from  $[-\tau, 0]$  to  $R^n$  with the topology of uniform convergence. For any  $\phi \in C$ , let

$$\|\phi\| = \sup_{-\tau \leqslant t \leqslant 0} \sum_{i=1}^n \|\phi_i(t)\|.$$

Given any  $\phi, \psi \in C$ , let  $x(t, \phi) = (x_1(t, \phi), x_2(t, \phi), \dots, x_n(t, \phi))^T$  and  $x(t, \phi) = (x_1(t, \psi), x_2(t, \psi), \dots, x_n(t, \psi))^T$  be the solutions of (10.8.10) starting from  $\phi$  and  $\psi$ , respectively.

THEOREM 10.8.7. Suppose  $g \in L$ . Let  $M = (m_{ij})_{n \times n}$ , where  $m_{ij} = |a_{ij}| + |b_{ij}|$ . If  $DL^{-1} - M$  is an M matrix, where  $D = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_n)$ , then for every periodic input  $I(\cdot)$ , the delayed neural system (10.8.10) is exponentially periodic.

PROOF. Define  $x_t(\phi) = x(t + \theta, \phi), \theta \in [-\tau, 0]$ , then  $x_t(\phi) \in C$  for all  $t \ge 0$ . Thus, it follows from (10.8.10) that

$$\frac{d}{dt}(x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\phi)) = -(x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\phi)) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi))) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}(g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j},\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j},\phi)))$$
(10.8.12)

for  $t \ge 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ . By noticing  $g \in L$ , it is easy to deduce that there exist  $k_i$   $(0 \le k_i \le L_i)$  such that  $|g_i(x_i(t, \phi)) - g_i(x_i(t, \psi))| \le k_i |x_i(t, \phi) - x_i(t, \psi)|$ .

Since  $DL^{-1} - M$  is an M matrix, there exists a positive diagonal matrix  $\Lambda = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  such that

$$\lambda_{i}d_{i} - k_{i}\lambda_{i}|a_{ii}| - k_{i}\sum_{j=1, j\neq i}^{n}\lambda_{j}|a_{ji}| - k_{i}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\lambda_{j}|b_{ji}| > 0,$$
  

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.8.13)

and there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$F_{i}(\varepsilon) = \lambda_{i}(d_{i} - \varepsilon) - k_{i}\lambda_{i}|a_{ii}| - k_{i}\sum_{j=1, j\neq i}^{n}\lambda_{j}|a_{ji}|$$
$$-k_{i}e^{\varepsilon\tau}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\lambda_{j}|b_{ji}| > 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(10.8.14)

Now, define a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function as follows:

$$V(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \left( \left| x_i(t,\phi) - x_i(t,\psi) \right| e^{\varepsilon t} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ji}| \int_{t-\tau_j}^{t} \left| g_j \left( x_j(s,\phi) \right) - g_j \left( x_j(s,\psi) \right) \right| e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_j)} \, ds \right).$$
(10.8.15)

Then computing the right-upper derivative of V(t) along the solution of (10.8.12) for  $t \ge 0$  yields

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.8.12)} &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \operatorname{sign}(x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\psi)) \left[ -(d_{i}x_{i}(t,\phi) - d_{i}x_{i}(t,\psi)) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ij}(g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\psi))) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} b_{ij}(g_{j}(x_{j}(t,-\tau_{j},\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,-\tau_{j},\psi)))) \right] e^{\varepsilon t} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\psi)| \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |b_{ij}| [|g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\psi))| e^{\varepsilon(s+\tau_{j})} \\ &- |(g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j},\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j},\psi)))| e^{\varepsilon t}] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \left[ -d_{i} |x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\psi)| \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |a_{ij}| |g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\psi))| \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| |g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\psi))| \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\psi)| \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\psi)| \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |x_{i}(t,\phi) - x_{i}(t,\psi)| \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} |b_{ij}| [|g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\phi)) - g_{j}(x_{j}(t,\psi))| e^{\varepsilon(s+\tau_{j})} \\ \end{aligned}$$

$$-\left|\left(g_{j}\left(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j},\phi)\right)-g_{j}\left(x_{j}(t-\tau_{j},\psi)\right)\right)\right|e^{\varepsilon t}\right]$$

$$\leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i} \left[-d_{i}\left|x_{i}(t,\phi)-x_{i}(t,\psi)\right|$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{n} |a_{ij}|\left|g_{j}\left(x_{j}(t,\phi)\right)-g_{j}\left(x_{j}(t,\psi)\right)\right|\right]e^{\varepsilon t}$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}\left|x_{i}(t,\phi)-x_{i}(t,\psi)\right|\varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t}$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}|b_{ij}|\left[\left|g_{j}\left(x_{j}(t,\phi)\right)-g_{j}\left(x_{j}(t,\psi)\right)\right|e^{\varepsilon(s+\tau_{j})}\right]$$

$$\leqslant -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[\lambda_{i}(d_{i}-\varepsilon)-k_{i}\lambda_{i}|a_{ii}|-k_{i}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} \lambda_{j}|a_{ji}|\right]$$

$$-k_{i}e^{\varepsilon \tau}\sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_{j}|b_{ji}|\left]|x_{i}(t,\phi)-x_{i}(t,\psi)|\leqslant 0.$$

Therefore,

$$V(t) \leqslant V(0), \quad t \ge 0. \tag{10.8.16}$$

From (10.8.16), we obtain

$$e^{\varepsilon t} \Big( \min_{1 \leq i \leq n} \lambda_i \Big) \sum_{i=1}^n |x_i(t,\phi) - x_i(t,\psi)| \leq V(t)$$

and

$$V(0) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \Biggl[ \left\| x_i(0,\phi) - x_i(0,\psi) \right\| \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_j}^{0} \left| g_j \left( x_j(s,\phi) \right) - g_j \left( x_j(s,\psi) \right) \right| e^{s + \varepsilon \tau_j} \, ds \Biggr] \\ \leqslant \Biggl[ \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i + L_{\max} \tau e^{\varepsilon \tau} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} |b_{ij}| \Biggr] \|\phi - \psi\|,$$

where  $L_{\max} = \max_{1 \le i \le n} L_i$  is a constant. Therefore, from (10.8.16) we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| x_i(t,\phi) - x_i(t,\psi) \right| \leq \alpha \|\phi - \psi\|_1 e^{-\varepsilon t} \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$
(10.8.17)

in which

$$\alpha = \frac{\max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i + L_{\max} \tau e^{\varepsilon \tau} \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \max_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} |b_{ij}|}{\min_{1 \leqslant i \leqslant n} \lambda_i} \ge 1.$$

It then follows from (10.8.17) that

$$\alpha e^{-\varepsilon(m\omega-\tau)} \leqslant \frac{1}{4}.$$
(10.8.18)

Define a Poincaré mapping  $H: C \to C$  by  $H\phi = x_{\omega}(\phi)$ . Then it follows from (10.8.10) that

$$\|H^{m}\phi - H^{m}\psi\| \leq \frac{1}{4}\|\phi - \psi\|.$$
 (10.8.19)

This implies that  $H^m$  is a contraction mapping. Therefore, there exists a unique fixed point  $\phi^* \in C$  such that  $H^m \phi^* = \phi^*$ . So,  $H^m(H\phi^*) = H(H^m\phi^*) = H\phi^*$ . This shows that  $H\phi^* \in C$  is also a fixed point of  $H^m$ , hence,  $H^m\phi^* = \phi^*$ , i.e.,  $x_{\omega}(\phi^*) = \phi^*$ . Let  $x(t, \phi^*)$  be the solution of (10.8.12) through  $(0, \phi^*)$ . By using  $I(t + \omega) = I(t)$  for  $t \ge 0$ ,  $x(t + \omega, \phi^*)$  is also a solution of (10.8.12). Note that  $x_{t+\omega}(\phi^*) = x_t(x_{\omega}(\phi^*)) = x_t(\phi^*)$  for  $t \ge 0$ , then  $x(t + \omega, \phi^*) = x(t, \phi^*)$  for  $t \ge 0$ . This shows that  $x(t, \phi^*)$  is a periodic solution of (10.8.12) with period  $\omega$ . From (10.8.18), it is easy to see that all other solutions of (10.8.12) converge to this periodic solution exponentially as  $t \to +\infty$ .

 $\Box$ 

The proof is finished.

## **10.9.** Stability of general ecological systems and neural networks

Stability of general neural networks and ecological systems has been investigated by using the Lyapunov function method and the LaSalle invariant principle [87]. However, it has been noted that the LaSalle invariant principle can only be applied to orbits which tend to a maximal invariant set. Because the structure of a maximal invariant set is very complex in general, for any known equilibrium  $x = x^*$ , its stability cannot be determined by using these methods.

In this section, we present a number of methods and results concerning the Lyapunov asymptotic stability of a specific equilibrium position for a class of general neural networks and ecological systems.

Consider the following general dynamical system [87]:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = A(x) \left[ B(x) - CD(x) \right], \tag{10.9.1}$$

where

 $A(x) = \operatorname{diag}(a_1(x_1), \ldots, a_n(x_n)),$ 

$$B(x) = (b_1(x_1), \dots, b_n(x_n))^T, C = (c_{ij})_{n \times n}, D(x) = (d_1(x_1), \dots, d_n(x_n))^T,$$

and  $a_i(x_i), b_i(x_i) \in [R_+, R], a_i(x_i) > 0$  for  $x_i > 0, c_{ij}$  are constants.

In [87] it has been shown that system (10.9.1) includes the Volterra–Lotka systems, the Gilpin and Ayala models of competition, the Eigen and Schuster equation, and many other nonlinear neural networks as specific examples.

Let  $x = x^* > 0$  (i.e.,  $x_i^* > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n) be an equilibrium position of (10.9.1). Thinking of real biological systems, we only study the stability of system (10.9.1) in  $R_+^n = \{x: x_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n\}$ .

Rewrite system (10.9.1) as

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = A(x) \Big[ \Big( B(x) - B(x^*) \Big) - \big( CD(x) - CD(x^*) \big) \Big].$$
(10.9.2)

Cohen and Grossberg [87] used the LaSalle invariant principle and the Lyapunov function of the form:

$$V(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{0}^{x_{i}} b_{i}(\xi_{i}) \dot{d}_{i}(\xi_{i}) d\xi_{i} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} c_{jk} d_{j}(x_{j}) d_{k}(x_{k}), \qquad (10.9.3)$$

to analyze the stability of (10.9.1). However, for a specific equilibrium position  $x = x^*$ , this method cannot be used to determine its Lyapunov stability. A further study on this topic is given below [259].

THEOREM 10.9.1. Assume that  $c_{ij} = c_{ji}$ , i, j = 1, 2, ..., n,  $d_i(x_i) \in C^2$ ,  $b_i(x_i) \in C^1$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n,  $\dot{d}_i(x_i) > 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n. If the matrix  $H(h_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is positive definite, then  $x = x^*$  is asymptotically stable, where

$$h_{ij} = \frac{\partial^2 V}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \bigg|_{x=x^*} = \frac{\partial^2 V}{\partial x_j \partial x_i} \bigg|_{x=x^*} = h_{ji}$$

PROOF. We construct a new Lyapunov function:

$$W(x) = V(x) - V(x^*),$$

where V(x) is defined in (10.9.3) and  $V(x^*)$  is the value of V(x) at  $x = x^*$ . Obviously,  $W(x^*) = 0$  and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial W}{\partial x_i}\Big|_{x=x^*} &= -b_i(x_i^*)\dot{d}_i(x_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij}\dot{d}_i(x_i^*)d_j(x_j^*) \\ &= -\dot{d}_i(x_i^*) \bigg[ b_i(x_i^*) - \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij}d_j(x_i^*) \bigg] = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial W}{\partial x_j}\Big|_{x=x^*} &= -\dot{d}_j(x_j^*) \left[ b_j(x_j^*) - \sum_{i=1}^n c_{ij} d_i(x_i^*) \right] = 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial x_i^2}\Big|_{x=x^*} &= -\dot{d}'_i(x_i) \left[ b_i(x_i) - \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij} d_j(x_j) \right] \Big|_{x=x^*} \\ &\quad - \dot{d}_i(x_i) \left[ b'_i(x_i) - c_{ii} \dot{d}_i(x_i) \right] \Big|_{x=x^*} \\ &= -\dot{d}_i(x_i^*) \left[ g'_i(x_i^*) - c_{ii} \dot{d}_i(x_i^*) \right] = h_{ii}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ h_{ij} &= \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \Big|_{x=x^*} = c_{ij} \dot{d}_j(x_j^*) \dot{d}_i(x_i^*) = c_{ji} \dot{d}_i(x_i^*) \dot{d}_j(x_j^*) \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 W}{\partial x_j \partial x_i} \Big|_{x=x^*} = h_{ij}, \quad i \neq j, \, i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{aligned}$$

According to the minimax principle of multivariate function we know that the positive (negative) definiteness of the matrix  $H(h_{ij})_{n \times n}$  implies  $x = x^*$  to be the minimal (maximal) value point of W(x), i.e., W(x) is positive (negative) definite in some neighborhood of  $x^*$ . In addition,

$$\frac{dW}{dt}\Big|_{(10.9.1)} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i(x_i)\dot{d}_i(x_i) \left[b_i(x_i) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij}d_j(x_j)\right]^2 < 0$$
  
for  $x \neq x^*$ .

By Lyapunov asymptotic stability, the conclusion is true.

Now, we apply the Lyapunov first method to study the stability of  $x = x^*$  of system (10.9.1).

Let

$$y_i = \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} \frac{d\xi_i}{\alpha_i(\xi_i)}, \quad y_i^* = 0.$$

Since  $\dot{y}_i = \frac{1}{\alpha_i(x_i)} > 0$ , the inverse function,  $x_i = \varphi_i(y_i)$ , exists. Note that  $x_i^* = \varphi_i(0)$ . Set

$$\tilde{b}_i(y_i) := b_i(\varphi_i(y_i)) = b_i(x_i),$$
  
$$\tilde{d}_i(y_i) := d_i(\varphi_i(y_i)) = d_i(x_i)$$

Then (10.9.2) can be transformed into

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \tilde{b}_i(y_i) - \tilde{b}_i(0) - \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij} \left[ \tilde{d}_j(y_i) - \bar{d}_j(0) \right], \quad i = 1, \dots, n. \quad (10.9.4)$$

Applying the Lyapunov first method we study the stability of the zero solution, y = 0, of (10.9.4).

Assume that by the first method, system (10.9.4) can be written as

$$\frac{dy_i}{dt} = \dot{\tilde{b}}_i(0)y_i - \sum_{j=1}^n c_{ij}\dot{\tilde{d}}_j(0)y_j := \sum_{j=1}^n \sigma_{ij}y_j, \quad i, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.9.5)

where

$$\sigma_{ij} = \begin{cases} -c_{ii}\dot{\tilde{d}}_i(0) + \dot{\tilde{b}}_i(0), & \text{for } i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ -c_{ij}\dot{\tilde{d}}_j(0), & \text{for } i \neq j, \ i, j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

THEOREM 10.9.2. Suppose that  $((-1)^{\delta_{ij}} |\sigma_{ij}|)_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix. Then  $\sigma_{ii} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) imply the zero solution of (10.9.5) to be asymptotically stable. If there are at least some  $\sigma_{i_i i_0} > 0$  ( $1 \leq i_0 \leq n$ ), then the zero solution of (10.9.5) is unstable.

PROOF. Since  $((-1)^{\delta_{ij}} |\sigma_{ij}|)_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix, there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$p_j |\sigma_{jj}| - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_i |\sigma_{ij}| > 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

or

$$|s_{jj}| - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{p_i}{p_j} |\sigma_{ij}| > 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Let  $z_i = p_i y_i$ , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n. Then system (10.9.5) can be transformed into

$$\frac{dz_i}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{p_i}{p_j} \sigma_{ij} z_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(10.9.6)

The eigenvalues of  $(\sigma_{ij})_{n \times n}$  and  $(\sigma_{ij} p_i / p_j)_{n \times n}$  are the same. From Gershgorin's theorem,  $\sigma_{ij} < 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) imply that all eigenvalues of  $(\sigma_{ij})_{n \times n}$  are in the open left half of the complex plane. Moreover, if there exist some  $\sigma_{i_0i_0} > 0$ , then at least there is an eigenvalue in the open right-half of the complex plane. Hence, according to the first Lyapunov method we know that the conclusion holds.

In the following, we further study the asymptotic stability and globally asymptotic stability for a given equilibrium position of (10.9.1) [259].

DEFINITION 10.9.3. A real matrix  $F(f_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is said to be Lyapunov–Volterra (L-V) stable (quasi Lyapunov-Volterra stable) if there exists a positive definite matrix  $P = \text{diag}(p_i, \dots, p_n)$  such that  $PF + F^T P$  is negative definite (negative semi-definite). Here,  $F^T$  is the transpose of F.

In the following, let  $x = x^* > 0$  be an equilibrium position of (10.9.1).

THEOREM 10.9.4. Suppose that

- (1)  $(d_j(x_j) d_j(x_j^*))(x_j x_j^*) > 0$  for  $x_j \neq x_j^*$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n) and  $(b_j(x_j) b_j(x_j^*))(x_j x_j^*) < 0$  for  $x_j \neq x_j^*$  (j = 1, 2, ..., n); (2) the matrix  $-C = (-c_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is quasi Lyapunov–Volterra stable.

Then  $x = x^*$  of (10.9.2) is asymptotically stable.

**PROOF.** Since the matrix -C is quasi L-V stable, there exists  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1})$  $p_n$ ) > 0 such that

$$-\left[PC+C^{T}P\right]\leqslant 0.$$

Choose a Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)}.$$
(10.9.7)

Obviously,  $V(x^*) = 0$ . Due to condition (10.9.1) we known that V(x) is positive definite in some neighborhood of  $x^*$ .

Computing the derivative  $D^+V(x)$  of V(x) along the solution of (10.9.2) and simplifying the result yields

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.9.2)} = -\frac{1}{2} (d(x) - d(x^*))^T (PC + C^T P) (d(x) - d(x^*)) 
+ \sum_{i=1}^n p_i (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)) (b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)) 
\leq \sum_{i=1}^n p_i (b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)) 
< 0 \quad \text{for } x, \ x \neq x^*,$$
(10.9.9)

i.e.,  $\frac{dV}{dt}|_{(10.9.2)}$  is negative definite in the same neighborhood of  $x^*$ . So the equilibrium point  $x^*$  of (10.9.1) is asymptotically stable.  $\square$ 

COROLLARY 10.9.5. Suppose condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.4 holds, and moreover one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- (1) -C is Lyapunov–Volterra stable;
- (2)  $C + C^T$  is positive semi-definite;
- (3)  $C = C^T$  is positive semi-definite;
- $(4) C = -C^T.$

Then  $x = x^*$  of (10.9.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. Since any one of the conditions (1)–(4) implies -C to be quasi Lyapunov–Volterra stable, condition (2) of Theorem 10.6.1 is satisfied.

THEOREM 10.9.6. If the conditions of Theorem 10.9.4 hold, and

$$\int_{x_i^*}^0 (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = +\infty$$

is true, then  $x = x^*$  of (10.9.1) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

PROOF. Choose the positive definite Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)}.$$

Obviously,  $V(t) \to +\infty$  as  $x_i \to +\infty$  or  $x_i \to 0^+$ . Thus, the proof is similar to that of Theorem 10.9.4.

THEOREM 10.9.7. Assume that

- (1) condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.4 holds;
- (2)  $c_{ii} > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n),  $((-1)^{\delta_{ij}} |c_{ij}|)_{n \times n}$  is a Hurwitz matrix, where

$$\delta_{ij} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{for } i \neq j. \end{cases}$$

Then  $x = x^*$  is (10.9.1) is asymptotically stable.

PROOF. According to the property of *M* matrix, condition (1) is equivalent to the statement that there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$-p_j c_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_i |c_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Choose the positive definite Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \left| \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} \right|,$$
(10.9.10)

and then compute the Dini derivative,  $D^+V(x)$ , along the solution of (10.9.1) to obtain

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(10.9.2)} = \lim_{h \to 0^{+}} \frac{V(x(t+h)) - V(x(t))}{h}$$
  

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \operatorname{sgn}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}) \frac{1}{a_{i}(x_{i})} \frac{dx_{i}}{dt}$$
  

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \operatorname{sgn}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}) \left[ b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})) \right]$$
  

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ -p_{j}c_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|x_{ij}| \right] |d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})|$$
  

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}(b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})) \operatorname{sgn}(x_{1} - x_{i}^{*})$$
  

$$< 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq x^{*},$$

which clearly indicates that  $x = x^*$  is asymptotically stable.

THEOREM 10.9.8. If the conditions in Theorem 10.9.7 are satisfied, and in addition,

 $\square$ 

$$\left|\int_{x_i^*}^0 \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)}\right| = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = +\infty,$$

then  $x = x^*$  of (10.9.2) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

PROOF. Again using the Lyapunov function (10.9.6), by  $V(x) \to +\infty$  as  $x_i \to 0^+$  (or  $x_i \to +\infty$ ), one can follow the proof of Theorem 10.9.7 to complete the proof.

COROLLARY 10.9.9. If condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.7 holds, and in addition one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(1) 
$$c_{jj} > \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} |c_{ij}|, \ j = 1, 2, ..., n;$$
  
(2)  $c_{ii} > \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} |c_{ij}|, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n;$   
(3)  $c_{ii} > \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq i}}^{n} (|c_{ij}| + |c_{ji}|), \ j = 1, 2, ..., n;$   
(4)  $\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} (\frac{(1-\delta_{ij})c_{ij}}{c_{ii}})^2 < 1, c_{ii} > 0, \ i = 1, 2, ..., n;$ 

then  $x = x^*$  of (10.9.2) is asymptotically stable. Furthermore, if

$$\left| \int_{x_i^*}^0 \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} \right| = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = +\infty,$$
(10.9.11)

then  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $R^n_+$ .

PROOF. By the property of *M* matrix, any of the conditions (1)–(4) implies condition (2) of Theorem 10.9.7. So the conclusion of Corollary 10.9.9 is true.  $\Box$ 

#### THEOREM 10.9.10. Suppose that

- (1) condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.4 holds;
- (2) there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$p_j c_{jj} - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_i |c_{ij}| \ge 0.$$

*Then*  $x = x^*$  *is asymptotically stable. Furthermore, if* 

$$\left|\int_{x_i^*}^0 \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)}\right| = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = +\infty,$$

then  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

PROOF. Construct the positive definite Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \left| \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} \right|.$$

Then, we have

$$D^{+}V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \operatorname{sgn}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{N} \left[ -p_{j}c_{jj} + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|c_{ij}| \right] |d_{j}(x_{j} - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))|$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}(b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})) \operatorname{sgn}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}(b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})) \operatorname{sgn}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})$$

$$< 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq x^{*}. \quad (10.9.12)$$

So the conclusion is true.

THEOREM 10.9.11. Suppose the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.4 holds with  $c_{ii} > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ ; (2)

$$\int_{x_i^*}^0 (b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} (b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = -\infty;$$

(3) there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that the matrix  $G = (g_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is negative semi-definite, where

$$g_{ii} = \begin{cases} -p_i, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{p_j(c_{ji}(d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)))}{b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)} + \frac{p_i(c_{ij}(d_j(x_j) - d_j(x_j^*)))}{b_j(x_j) - b_j(x_j^*)} \right), \\ & i \neq j, i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

Then  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

PROOF. We take the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} (b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)) \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)}.$$
(10.9.13)

Then differentiating V with respect to time t along the solution of (10.9.2) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.9.2)} &= -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right]^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{ii} p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \left[d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \left\{p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] c_{ij} \left[d_{j}(x_{i}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})\right] \right. \\ &+ p_{i} \left[b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})\right] c_{ji} \left[d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \right] \\ &\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right]^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{ii} p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \left[d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2} \left[\left|\frac{p_{i} c_{ij} (d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))}{b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})}\right| \\ &+ \frac{p_{j} c_{ji} (d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*}))}{b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})}\right] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{ii} p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \left[d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \\ &+ \left(\frac{b_{1}(x_{1}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})}{b_{n}(x_{n}) - b_{n}(x_{n}^{*})}\right)^{T} G \left(\frac{b_{1}(x_{1}) - b_{1}(x_{1}^{*})}{b_{n}(x_{n}) - b_{n}(x_{n}^{*})}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{ii} p_{i} \left[b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \left[d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})\right] \\ &< 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently,  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $R_+^n$ .

THEOREM 10.9.12. Suppose that

(1) condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.4 holds, and

$$\left| \int_{x_{i}^{*}}^{0} \frac{dx_{i}}{a_{i}(x_{i})} \right| = \int_{x_{i}^{*}}^{+\infty} \frac{dx_{i}}{a_{i}(x_{i})} = +\infty;$$
(2) 
$$\left| \frac{c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))}{b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})} \right| \leq a_{ij} = const., \ i \neq j, \ i, j = 1, 2, ..., n;$$

(3) there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$p_j - \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n p_i a_{ij} \ge 0.$$

Then the solution  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $R^n_+$ .

PROOF. Choosing the Lyapunov function as given in (10.9.9), we have

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(10.9.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \operatorname{sgn}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}c_{ii}|d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})| - \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})|$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}\sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} c_{ij}|d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})|$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}c_{ii}|d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})|$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ p_{j} - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{p_{i}|c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))|}{|b_{j}(x_{j} - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))|} \right] \left[ |b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})| \right]$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}c_{ii}|d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})|$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ p_{j} - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}| \right] |b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})|$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}c_{ii}|d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})| < 0 \quad \text{for } x = x^{*}. \quad (10.9.15)$$

Hence, the conclusion is true.

#### THEOREM 10.9.13. Assume that

(1) condition (1) of Theorem 10.9.4 holds, with  $c_{ii} \ge 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n; (2) it holds that

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \int_{x_i^*}^0 \left[ c_{ii} \left( d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*) \right) + b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*) \right] \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} \right| \\ & = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} \left[ c_{ii} \left( d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*) \right) + b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*) \right] \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = +\infty; \end{aligned}$$

(3) there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that the matrix  $W(\omega_{ij})_{n \times n}$  is negative definite, where

$$\omega_{ij} = \begin{cases} -p_i, & i = j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \\ \frac{1}{2} \bigg| \frac{p_i x_{ij} (d_j(x_j) - d_j(x_j^*))}{c_{jj} (d_j(x_j) - d_j(x_j^*)) + b_j(x_j) - b_j(x_j^*)} \\ &+ \frac{p_j x_{ji} (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*))}{c_{ii} (d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*)) + b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*)} \bigg|, \\ & i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n. \end{cases}$$

*Then*  $x = x^*$  *is globally asymptotically stable.* 

PROOF. Choosing the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \int_{x_{i}^{*}}^{x_{i}} \left[ c_{ii} \left( d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*}) \right) + b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i} \left( x_{i}^{*} \right) \right] dx_{i},$$

we obtain

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.9.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \Big[ c_{ii} \big( d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*) \big) + b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*) \big]^2 \\ + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \Big[ c_{ii} \big( d_i(x_i) - d_i(x_i^*) \big) + b_i(x_i) - b_i(x_i^*) \big] \\ \times \sum_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq i}}^{n} c_{ij} \Big[ d_j(x_j) - d_j(x_j^*) \big]$$

561

Chapter 10. Stability of Neural Networks

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \left[ c_{ii} \left( d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*}) \right) + b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*}) \right]^{2}$$

$$+ \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} 2\omega_{ij} \left| c_{ii} \left( d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*}) \right) + b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*}) \right|$$

$$\times \left| c_{jj} \left( d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}) \right) + b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*}) \right|$$

$$< 0 \quad \text{for } x \neq x^{*}.$$

$$(10.9.16)$$

Therefore, the proof of Theorem 10.9.13 is complete.

THEOREM 10.9.14. If the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) condition (1) of Theorem 10.8.7 holds;

(2)

$$\frac{c_{ij}(dj(x_j) - d_j(x_j^*))}{c_{jj}(dj(x_j) - d_j(x_j^*)) + b_j(x_j) - b_j(x_j^*)} \leqslant \eta_{ij} = const.,$$
  
$$i \neq j, \ i, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$

(3) there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$p_j - \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i\neq j}}^n p_j \eta_{ij} > 0$$

and

$$\left|\int_{x_i^*}^0 \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)}\right| = \int_{x_i^*}^{+\infty} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} = +\infty;$$

then  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

PROOF. Taking the positive definite Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \left| \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} \frac{dx_i}{a_i(x_i)} \right|,$$

we have

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(10.9.1)} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \frac{dx_{i}}{dt} \operatorname{sign}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} |c_{ii}(d_{i}(x_{i}) - d_{i}(x_{i}^{*})) + b_{i}(x_{i}) - b_{i}(x_{i}^{*})| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{i} \sum_{\substack{j=1 \ j \neq i}}^{n} |c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))| \leq -\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} |c_{jj}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})) + b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^{n} p_{i} |c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))| = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} |p_{j} - \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^{n} \frac{p_{i} |c_{ij}|(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*}))}{|c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})) + b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})|} \times |c_{jj}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})) + b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})| \leq -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \left( p_{j} - \sum_{\substack{i=1 \ i \neq j}}^{n} p_{i} \eta_{ij} \right) |c_{ij}(d_{j}(x_{j}) - d_{j}(x_{j}^{*})) + b_{j}(x_{j}) - b_{j}(x_{j}^{*})| < 0 \quad \text{for } x = x^{*}.$$
 (10.9.17)

Thus,  $x = x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $R_+^n$ .

### **10.10.** Cellular neural network

The cellular neural network (CNN) is a new type of analog circuits proposed by Chua and Yang [82,83], which has many desirable properties. Cellular neural network possesses some of key features of neural networks and has important potential applications in image processing, pattern recognition, optimal computation, etc.

A cellular neural network may be described by the following set of differential equations:

$$C\frac{dV_{x_{ij}}}{dt} = -\frac{1}{R_x}V_{x_{ij}}(t) + \sum_{(k,l)\in N_r(i,j)} A(i, j, k, l)V_{y_{kl}}(t) + \sum_{(k,l)\in N_r(i,j)} B(i, j, k, l)V_{u_{kl}} + I, \quad 1 \le i \le M, \ 1 \le j \le N, \ (10.10.1)$$
where the physical meanings of *C*,  $V_{x_{ij}}$ ,  $V_{y_{kl}}$  and  $V_{u_{kl}}$  and *I* can be found in [82, 83]. The output equations of the CNN is given by

$$V_{y_{ij}} := \frac{1}{2} \big[ |V_{x_{ij}} + 1| - |V_{x_{ij}} - 1| \big], \quad 1 \le i \le M, \ 1 \le j \le N,$$

while the input equations are

$$V_{u_{ij}} = E_{ij}, \quad |E_{ij}| \leq 1, \ 1 \leq i \leq M, \ 1 \leq j \leq N.$$

Since the CNN is easy to be realized using electronic circuits, it has wide applications in computational optimization, signal processing, pattern recognition, etc. Up to now, CNN theory, methodology and applications have been the main topics in many international conferences and symposiums. Many scientific articles have been published in the literature so far. In this section, we briefly introduce the basic stability theory of CNN. Because CNN is a special type of Hopfield neural network, the Lagrange stability theory discussed in Section 10.2, related to general neural network (with time delay), is certainly applicable to CNN, and thus not repeated here.

By using appropriate transformation and simplified notations, we can transform system (10.10.1) to the following system:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -d_i x_i \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} f_j(x_j) + I_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.10.2)

where

$$f_j(x_j) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ |x_i + 1| - |x_1 - 1| \right]$$

Let

$$\sigma_j(x_j) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } |x_j| \ge 1, \\ 1 & \text{for } |x_j| < 1; \end{cases}$$
$$w_j(x_j) = \begin{cases} -1 & \text{for } x_j \le -1, \\ 0 & \text{for } |x_j| \le 1, \\ 1 & \text{for } x_j \ge 1, \end{cases}$$

Then, we can further rewrite (10.10.2) as

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -d_i x_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} \sigma_j(x_j) f_j(x_j) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} w_j(x_j) + I_i.$$
(10.10.3)

Let

$$\overline{A} := \operatorname{diag}(-d_1, \dots, -d_n) + (a_{ij}\sigma_j(x_j))_{n \times n}, \qquad C = (a_{ij})_{n \times n}w(x),$$
$$w(x) := (w_1(x), \dots, w_n(x))^T, \qquad I = (I_1, \dots, I_n)^T.$$

Now, we consider the existence and number of equilibrium points of the CNN model (10.10.3).

#### THEOREM 10.10.1.

- (1) The number of the equilibrium points of the CNN (10.10.3) is not less than one.
- If every matrix is nonsingular, then the number of the equilibrium points of the CNN (10.10.3) is not more than 3<sup>n</sup>.
- (3) All equilibrium points of (10.10.3) can be expressed as

$$x = -\hat{A}^{-1}(I+C) := x^*,$$
  

$$\sigma_j(x_j) \equiv \sigma_j(x_j^*),$$
(10.10.4)

where  $\sigma_j(x_j) \equiv \sigma_j(x_j^*)$  implies that  $x_j$  and  $x_j^*$  belong to the same interval  $(-\infty, -1], (-1, 1), \text{ or } [1, +\infty).$ 

PROOF. (1) Let the right-hand side of (10.10.3) be equal to zero and rearrange the resulting equation as

$$x_i = d_i^{-1} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} \sigma_j(x_j) f_j(x_j) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} w_j(x_j) + I_i \right].$$
 (10.10.5)

Consider an operator  $\phi(x)$ , defined by

$$\phi_i(x_i) = d_i^{-1} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} \sigma_j(x_j) f_j(x_j) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} w_j(x_j) + I_i \right],$$
  

$$1 \le i, j \le n.$$
(10.10.6)

Further, let

$$M = \max_{1 \le i, j \le n} \left[ d_i \sum_{j=1}^n |a_{ij}| r + |I_i| \right].$$

Obviously, the operator  $\phi$  maps the set

$$Q = \left\{ x_i \mid |x| \leqslant M, \ 1 \leqslant i, j \leqslant n \right\}$$

into Q, which is a compact convex set. According to Brown fixed point theorem, we know that for the map  $\phi: Q \to Q$ , there exists at least one fixed point  $x = x^*$ , i.e.,  $x = x^*$  is an equilibrium point of (10.10.3). Therefore, the number of equilibrium points of the CNN (10.10.3) is not less than one.

(2) We divide the interval  $(-\infty, +\infty)$  into three intervals:  $(-\infty, -1]$ , (-1, 1) and  $[1, +\infty)$ . Thus, the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is divided into  $3^n$  independent regions, and so  $\sigma_j(x_j)$  and  $w_j(x_j)$  have and only have  $3^n$  different regions to take values.

(3) For every  $\hat{A}$ , det  $\hat{A} \neq 0$ . Let the right-hand side of (10.10.3) be equal to zero, and rewrite the resulting equation in a matrix form:

$$\hat{A}x + I + C = 0.$$

Then solving the above equation in an arbitrary region  $D_{i_0}$ , we have

$$x = -\hat{A}^{-1}(I+C) := x^*.$$
(10.10.7)

It may have  $x^* \notin D_{i_0}$  if  $x^*$  is not a solution of (10.10.4), and  $x^* \in D_{i_0}$  only if  $x^*$  is a real solution of (10.10.4). Therefore, the number of equilibrium points of (10.10.3) are at most equal to  $3^n$ , and every equilibrium point can be expressed by (10.10.4).

The proof is complete.

For linear systems with constant coefficients, asymptotic stability is equivalent to globally exponential stability, thus one may apply linear system stability to CNN systems, since though CNN systems are nonlinear in general, they are usually linear if considered in separate regions. So far, since almost all results related to asymptotic stability in the literature are exponential stability, the results presented in this section are only concerned with exponential stability and globally exponential stability [257,258].

THEOREM 10.10.2. Let  $D^{-1} = \text{diag}(d_1^{-1}, d_2^{-1}, \dots, d_n^{-1})$ . If  $\rho(D^{-1}(A)) < 1$ , where  $\rho(D^{-1}(A))$  is the spectral radius of the matrix  $(D^{-1}|A|)$ , then the equilibrium point of the CNN (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. Theorem 10.10.1 implies the existence of equilibrium point of the CNN (10.10.3). Let  $x = x^*$  be an equilibrium point of (10.10.3), then rewrite (10.10.3) as

$$\frac{d(x_i - x_i^*)}{dt} = -d_i \left( x_i - x_i^* \right) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} \left[ f_j(x_j) - f_j \left( x_j^* \right) \right].$$
(10.10.8)

Since  $\rho(D^{-1}(A)) < 1 \Leftrightarrow (I_n - D^{-1}|A|)$  is an *M* matrix, where  $I_n$  is a  $n \times n$  unit matrix, there exist constants  $p_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , such that

$$-p_j d_j + \sum_{i=1}^n p_i |a_{ij}| = -\delta_j < 0.$$

Now, we employ the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i |x_i - x_i^*|, \qquad (10.10.9)$$

and compute the right-upper Dini derivative  $D^+V$  of V along the solution of (10.10.8) and simplifying the result yields

$$D^{+}V(x)|_{(10,10,9)} \leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ -p_{j}d_{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i}|a_{ij}| \right] |x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}| \quad (<0 \text{ for } x \neq x^{*})$$
$$\leq -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_{j} |x_{j} - x_{j}^{*}|$$
$$\leq -\min_{1 \leq j \leq n} \left( \frac{\delta_{j}}{p_{j}} \right) \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} |x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}|,$$

and hence,

$$V(x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(x(t_0))e^{-\min_{1 \leqslant j \leqslant n}(\frac{\delta_j}{p_j})(t-t_0)}$$

which shows that  $x = x^*$  of (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

THEOREM 10.10.3. If 
$$a_{ii} < 0$$
,  $i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , and the matrix

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} -\operatorname{diag}(d_1, d_2, \dots, d_n) & \frac{1}{2}(A - \operatorname{diag}(a_{11}, a_{22}, \dots, a_{nn})) \\ \frac{1}{2}(A^T - \operatorname{diag}(a_{11}, a_{22}, \dots, a_{nn})) & \operatorname{diag}(a_{11}, a_{22}, \dots, a_{nn}) \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative definite, then the equilibrium point of (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. We choose the positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - x_i^*)^2.$$
 (10.10.10)

Then using the fact

$$-(x_{i}-x_{i}^{*})(f_{i}(x_{i})-f_{i}(x_{i}^{*})) \leq -[f_{i}(x_{i})-f_{i}(x_{i}^{*})]^{2}$$

and computing the derivative of V(t) along the solution of (10.10.3) yields

$$\frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.10.3)} = -\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i (x_i - x_i^*)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii} (x_i - x_i^*) (f_i(x_i) - f_i(x_i^*)) + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} a_{ij} (x_i - x_i^*) (f_i(x_i) - f_i(x_i^*)) \leqslant \sum_{i=1}^{n} -d_i (x_i - x_i^*)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{ii} (f_j(x_i) - f_i(x_i^*))^2$$

Chapter 10. Stability of Neural Networks

$$+\sum_{j=1, j\neq i}^{n} a_{ij} (x_i - x_i^*) (f_j(x_i) - f_j(x_i^*))$$
  

$$\leq \left( \frac{x - x^*}{f(x) - f(x^*)} \right)^T H \left( \frac{x - x^*}{f(x) - f(x^*)} \right)$$
  

$$\leq \lambda_{\max}(H) \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - x_i^*)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} (f_i(x_i) - f_i(x_i^*))^2 \right]$$
  

$$\leq \lambda_{\max}(H) \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - x_i^*)^2 \right].$$

So

$$V(x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leqslant V(x(t_0))e^{2\lambda_{\max}(H)(t-t_0)}$$

where  $\lambda_{\max}(H)$  is the largest eigenvalue of matrix *H*. This shows that the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of CNN (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

THEOREM 10.10.4. If  $a_{ii} < 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, and there exist  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that the matrix

$$H + \begin{bmatrix} I_n \varepsilon & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative semi-definite, then the equilibrium point of (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. By employing the same Lyapunov function (10.10.10), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV}{dt}\Big|_{(10.10.3)} &= \sum_{j=1}^{n} (-d_j + \varepsilon) (x_j - x_j^*)^2 \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{jj} (x_j - x_j^*) (f_j(x_j) - f_j(x_j^*)) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} a_{ij} (x_i - x_i^*) (f_j(x_i) - f_j(x_i^*)) - \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n} (x_j - x_j^*)^2 \\ &\leqslant -\varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{n} (x_j - x_j^*)^2, \end{aligned}$$

and thus

$$V(x(t, t_0, x_0)) \leq V(x(t_0))e^{-2\varepsilon(t-t_0)}.$$
(10.10.11)

568

(10.10.11) clearly indicates that the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of CNN (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

COROLLARY 10.10.5. If

$$d_i > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{1}{2} |a_{ij}|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

and

$$-a_{jj} \ge \sum_{i=1, i \ne j}^{n} \frac{1}{2} |a_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

then the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

PROOF. The conditions of this corollary imply that there exists  $\varepsilon$  such that

$$d_i - \varepsilon \geqslant \sum_{\substack{j=1, \ j \neq i}}^n \frac{1}{2} |a_{ij}|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
$$-a_{jj} \geqslant \sum_{\substack{i=1, \ i \neq j}}^n \frac{1}{2} |a_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Hence, the matrix

$$H + \begin{bmatrix} I_n \varepsilon & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

is negative semi-definite, and so the conditions of Theorem 10.10.4 are satisfied.  $\hfill\square$ 

THEOREM 10.10.6. If  $-d_i a_{ii} < 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, and the matrix

$$\left[-d_i + a_{ii} + \left(1 - \delta_{ij}|a_{ij}|\right)\right]_{n \times n}$$

is a Hurwitz matrix, then the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable. Here,  $\delta_{ij}$  is a Kronecker sign function.

PROOF. The conditions of this theorem imply that  $-[-d_i + a_{ii} + (1 - \delta_{ij} |a_{ij}|]_{n \times n}$  is an *M* matrix. Thus, there exist constants  $p_i > 0$  (i = 1, 2, ..., n) such that

$$(-d_j + a_{jj})p_j + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n p_i |a_{ij}| < 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

569

which implies that there exists  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$(-d_j + a_{jj} + \varepsilon)p_j + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^n p_i |a_{ij}| \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

Next, we take the Lyapunov function:

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i |x_i - x_i^*|.$$
(10.10.12)

Due to that  $-|x_i - x_i^*| \leq -|f_i(x_i) - f_i(x_i^*)|$ , we have

$$D^{+}V|_{(10,10,3)}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_{i} \left[ -d_{i} \left( x_{i} - x_{i}^{*} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \left( f_{j}(x_{j}) - f_{j}(x_{j}^{*}) \right) \right] \operatorname{sign}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})$$

$$\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ \left[ -p_{j}d_{j} \left( x_{j} - x_{j}^{*} \right) + a_{jj} \left| f_{j}(x_{j}) - f_{j}(x_{j}^{*}) \right| \right\}$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} p_{i} |a_{ij}| |f_{j}(x_{j}) - f_{j}(x_{j}^{*})| \right\}$$

$$\leq -\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} \varepsilon |x_{j} - x_{j}^{*}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left\{ -p_{j}d_{j} + p_{j} \varepsilon + a_{jj} + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} p_{i} |a_{ij}| |f_{j}(x_{j}) - f_{j}(x_{j}^{*})| \right\}$$

$$\leq -\sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{j} \varepsilon |x_{j} - x_{j}^{*}|$$

which, in turn, yields

$$V(X(t)) \leqslant V(X(t_0))e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}.$$
(10.10.13)

The inequality (10.10.13) shows that the equilibrium point  $x = x^*$  of CNN (10.10.3) is globally exponentially stable.

Finally, we consider the globally exponential stability of CNNs with time delays [277]. Consider a CNN with multiple varying time delays

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -x_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} f(x_j(t))$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij} f\left(x_j \left(t - \tau_{ij}(t)\right)\right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.10.14)

where  $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is the state vector,  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  and  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  are respectively the connection weight matrices associated with state vectors without and with time delays,  $f(x_j) = \frac{1}{2}(|x_j + 1| - |x_j - 1|)$  (j = 1, ..., n) is the piecewise-linear activation function,  $u = (u_1, ..., u_n)^T$  is the external input vector, and  $0 \leq \tau_{ij}(t) \leq \tau_{ij} = \text{constant}, \ \dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \leq 0, \ i, j = 1, 2, ..., n.$ 

Let  $x^*$  be an equilibrium state of (10.10.14). Without loss of generality, let  $|x_i^*| < 1, i = 1, 2, ..., m_1, x_i^* \ge 1, i = m_1 + 1, ..., m_2, x_i^* \le -1, i = m_2 + 1, ..., n$ . Rewrite (10.10.14) as

$$\frac{dx_i}{dt} = -(x_i - x_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} (f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)) + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} (f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(10.10.15)

Then the stability of  $x^*$  of system (10.10.14) is equivalent to the stability of zero solution of system (10.10.15).

LEMMA 10.10.7. Define

$$h(x_i - x_i^*) := (x_i - x_i^*) - (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)),$$

where  $h(\cdot)$  is a function. Then we have

$$|x_i - x_i^*| = |f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)| + |h(x_i - x_i^*)|.$$

PROOF. Because  $(x_i - x_i^*)(f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) \ge 0$ , so  $|h(x_i - x_i^*)| \le x_i - x_i^*|$ .

THEOREM 10.10.8. The equilibrium state  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable if

$$1 - a_{jj} > \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}|, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(10.10.16)

or

$$1 - a_{ii} > \sum_{j=1, \ j \neq i}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}|, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(10.10.17)

PROOF. First, we consider the conditions in (10.10.16). Let

$$\delta = \min_{1 \leq j \leq n} \left\{ 1 - a_{jj} > \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}|, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, n \right\}.$$

We construct a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov functional:

$$V(x(t), t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i - x_i^*| + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} |b_{ij}| |f(s) - f(x_j^*)| ds.$$
(10.10.18)

By  $\dot{\tau}_{ij}(t) \leq 0$ , we have

$$\begin{split} D^+ V(x(t), t) \Big|_{(10.10.15)} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n D^+ |x_i - x_i^*| + \sum_{i,j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)| (1 - \dot{\tau}_{ij}(t)) \\ &\leqslant \sum_{i,j=1}^n \left[ -|x_i - x_i^*| + a_{ii}| f(x_i(t)) - f(x_i^*)| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^n |a_{ij}| |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)| \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)| \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_i(t)) - f(x_i^*)| + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^n |a_{ij}| |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n (-1 + a_{ii}) |f(x_i(t)) - f(x_i^*)| + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^n |a_{ij}| |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)| - h(x_i - x_i^*) \end{split}$$

572

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left[ (-1 + a_{ii}) + \sum_{i=1, i \neq j}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| \right] |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| - \sum_{j=1}^{n} |h(x_i - x_i^*)| \leq -\delta \sum_{j=1}^{n} |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| - \sum_{j=1}^{n} |h(x_i - x_i^*)| \leq -\min\{\delta, 1\} \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{n} |f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |h(x_j - x_j^*)| \right] = -\min\{\delta, 1\} \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_j - x_j^*|.$$
(10.10.19)

Choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  to satisfy the following condition:

$$\min\{\delta, 1\} - \varepsilon - \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^{n} \tau_{ij} |b_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \ge 0.$$
(10.10.20)

Deriving the Dini derivative of  $e^{\varepsilon t} V(x(t), t)$  and using

$$\int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} |b_{ij}| \left| f\left(x_j(s)\right) - f\left(x_j^*\right) \right| ds \leq \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} |b_{ij}| \left| f\left(x_j(s)\right) - f\left(x_j^*\right) \right| ds,$$

we have

$$D^{+}(e^{\varepsilon t}V(x(t),t)) = e^{\varepsilon t}D^{+}V(x(t),t)$$
  

$$\leq e^{\varepsilon t}\left[\varepsilon\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n}|x_{j}(t)-x_{j}^{*}|+\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t}|b_{ij}||f(x_{j}(s))-f(x_{j}^{*})|ds\right) -\min\{\delta,1\}\sum_{j=1}^{n}|x_{j}-x_{j}^{*}|\right].$$
(10.10.21)

Integrating both sides of (10.10.21) from  $t_0$  to an arbitrary  $t^* > t_0$ , we can obtain

$$e^{\varepsilon t^*} V\left(x\left(t^*\right), t^*\right) - V\left(x(t_0), t_0\right)$$
  
$$\leq \int_{t_0}^{t^*} \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}}^{t} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| \left| f\left(x_j(s)\right) - f\left(x_j^*\right) \right| ds dt$$

$$-\sum_{j=1}^{n} (\min\{\delta, 1\} - \varepsilon) \int_{t_0}^{t^*} e^{\varepsilon t} |x_j(t) - x_j^*| dt.$$
(10.10.22)

Estimating the first term on the right-hand side of (10.10.22) by exchanging the integrals, we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \int_{\tau_0}^{t^*} e^{\varepsilon t} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}}^{t} |f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*)| \, ds \, dt$$

$$\leq \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t^*} \prod_{\max\{s,0\}}^{\min\{s+\tau_{ij},t\}} e^{\varepsilon t} \, dt |f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*)| \, ds$$

$$\leq \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t^*} \tau_{ij} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{ij})} |x_j(s) - x_j^*| \, ds$$

$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \tau_{ij} \int_{\tau_0}^{t^*} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{ij})} |x_j(s) - x_j^*| \, ds$$

$$+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \tau_{ij} \int_{\tau_0}^{t^*} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{ij})} |x_j(s) - x_j^*| \, ds$$

$$\leq \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \tau_{ij} e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t^0} |x_j(s) - x_j^*| \, ds$$

$$+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \tau_{ij} e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \int_{\tau_{ij}}^{t^*} e^{\varepsilon s} |x_j(s) - x_j^*| \, ds$$

$$(10.10.23)$$

Then substituting (10.10.23) into (10.10.22) yields

$$e^{\varepsilon t^*} V(x(t^*), t^*) \leqslant V(x(t_0), t_0) - \sum_{j=1}^n \left( \min\{\delta, 1\} - \varepsilon - \sum_{i=1}^n \varepsilon \tau_{ij} |b_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \right)$$
$$\times \int_{t_0}^{t^*} e^{\varepsilon s} |x_j(s) - x_j^*| \, ds$$

574

$$+\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\varepsilon\tau_{ij}|b_{ij}|e^{\varepsilon\tau_{ij}}\int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t_0}|x_j(s)-x_j^*|\,ds$$
  
$$\leqslant M = \text{constant.}$$

So

$$V(x(t),t) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t} M \quad \forall t \ge t_0.$$
(10.10.24)

According to (10.10.18) and (10.10.24), we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} |x_i - x_i^*| \le V(x(t), t) \le e^{-\varepsilon t} M,$$
(10.10.25)

which implies that the equilibrium state  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable.

Now we consider (10.10.17). Let

$$\eta = \min_{1 \leq i \leq n} \left\{ 1 - a_{ii} > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} |a_{ij}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}|, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n \right\}.$$

Assume

$$|x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^*| = \max_{1 \le i \le n} |x_i - x_i^*|.$$

We construct a positive definite and radially unbounded Lyapunov function:

$$V(x(t), t) = \max_{1 \le i \le n} |x_i - x_i^*| + \sum_{j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*)|$$
  
=  $|x_\ell - x_\ell^*| + \sum_{j=1}^n |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*)|.$  (10.10.26)

Then, using Lemma 10.10.7, for any fixed  $\ell \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , we obtain

$$D^{+}V(x(t),t)|_{(10.10.15)} \leq D^{+}|x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^{*}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{\ell j}||f(x_{j}(t)) - f(x_{j}^{*})|$$
$$- \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{\ell j}||f(x_{j}(t - \tau_{ij})) - f(x_{j}^{*})|$$
$$\leq -|x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^{*}| + a_{\ell \ell}|f(x_{\ell}(t)) - f(x_{\ell}^{*})|$$
$$+ \sum_{j=1, j \neq \ell}^{n} |a_{\ell j}||f(x_{\ell}(t)) - f(x_{\ell}^{*})|$$

575

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{\ell j}| |f(x_{j}(t)) - f(x_{j}^{*})|$$

$$\leq \left(-1 + a_{\ell \ell} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq \ell}^{n} |a_{\ell j}| + \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{\ell j}|\right)$$

$$\times |f(x_{\ell}(t)) - f(x_{\ell}^{*})| - |h(x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^{*})|$$

$$\leq -\eta |f(x_{\ell}(t)) - f(x_{\ell}^{*})| - |h(x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^{*})|$$

$$\leq -\min\{\eta, 1\} |(x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^{*})| < 0$$
for  $x_{\ell} \neq x_{\ell}^{*}$ . (10.10.27)

When  $\ell$  is time varying, suppose  $t_0 < t_1 < \cdots$ , define  $\ell_i := \ell(t_1), i = 1, 2, \ldots$ . Since  $|x_{\ell} - x_{\ell}^*| = |x_{\ell_i} - x_{\ell_i}^*|$  for  $t = t_i, i = 1, 2, \ldots, V(x(t_1), t_1) > V(x(t_2), t_2) > V(x(t_3), t_3) > \cdots$ . Because V(x(t), t) is monotone decreasing and bounded below, there exist a minimum  $\lim_{t\to\infty} V(x(t), t) = \overline{V}$ . Now we show that  $\overline{V} = 0$  so that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t) = x^*$ . Suppose that the minimum  $\overline{V} > 0$ . Then, in the compact level set  $\{x \mid V(x(t), t) = \overline{V}\}$ , according to the Weierstrass accumulation principle, there exists  $\{\tilde{t}_k\}$  such that  $x(\tilde{t}_k) \to \hat{x} \neq x^*$ . In addition, since  $D^+V(\hat{x}(t), t) < 0, V(\hat{x}(t), t) < \overline{V}$ . This contradicts that  $\overline{V}$  is a minimum. Therefore,  $\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t) = x^*$ .

The remaining proof is similar to the last part (from (10.10.20)–(10.10.25)) of part (i), and is thus omitted.

REMARK 10.10.9. The result in Theorem 10.10.8 can be easily generalized to the following: The equilibrium state  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable, if the matrix

$$I_n - \operatorname{diag}(a_{11}, \ldots, a_{nn}) - \left((1 - \delta_{ij})|a_{ij}|\right)_{n \times n} - \left(|b_{ij}|\right)_{n \times n}$$

is an M matrix.

THEOREM 10.10.10. The equilibrium state  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable, if  $A + A^T + Q - 2I_n$  is negative definite, where

$$Q = \operatorname{diag}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{1j}| + |b_{j1}|, \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} |b_{nj}| + |b_{jn}|\right).$$

PROOF. We prove Theorem 10.10.10 in two steps. In the first step, we show that the set  $\Omega = \{x \mid f(x) - f(x^*) = 0\}$  is globally exponentially attractive and  $x_1^*, \ldots, x_m^*$  are globally exponentially stable. In the second step, we prove  $x_{m+1}^*, \ldots, x_n^*$  to be globally exponentially stable.

(1) First step, we prove that the set

$$\begin{aligned} \Omega &:= \left\{ x \mid f(x) - f(x^*) = 0 \right\} \\ &\equiv \left\{ x \mid x_i = x_i^*, \ i = 1, \dots, m_1, \ x_i x_i^* > 0, \\ &|x_i| \ge 1, \ \left| x_i^* \right| \ge 1, \ i = m_1 + 1, \dots, n \right\} \end{aligned}$$

to be globally exponentially attractive, so  $x_i^*$ ,  $i = 1, 2, ..., m_1$ , is globally exponentially stable.

Construct a positive definite but not radially unbounded Lyapunov function as follows:

$$V(x(t), t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} 2 \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t} |b_{ij}| (f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*))^2 ds. \qquad (10.10.28)$$

Then,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dV(x(t),t)}{dt} \Big|_{(10.10.15)} &= -2\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i}(t) - x_{i}^{*}) (f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*})) \\ &+ 2\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} (f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*})) (f(x_{j}(t) - f(x_{j}^{*}))) \\ &+ 2\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} b_{ij} (f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*})) (f(x_{j}(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_{j}^{*}))) \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| [(f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*}))^{2} \\ &- (f(x_{j}(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_{j}^{*}))^{2} ](1 - \dot{\tau}_{ij}(t)) \\ &\leqslant -2\sum_{i=1}^{n} (f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*}))^{2} \\ &+ 2\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} (f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*})) (f(x_{j}(t) - f(x_{j}^{*}))) \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| [(f(x_{i}(t)) - f(x_{i}^{*}))^{2} + (f(x_{j}(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_{j}^{*}))^{2}] \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| [(f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*))^2 - (f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*))^2] - 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i(t) - x_i^*) (f(x_i(t)) - f(x_i^*)) + 2\sum_{i=1}^{n} (f(x_i(t)) - f(x_i^*))^2 = (f(x(t)) - f(x^*))^T [-2I_n + A + A^T + Q] (f(x(t)) - f(x^*)) - 2(f(x(t)) - f(x^*))^T [(x(t) - x^*) - (f(x(t)) - f(x^*))] \leq -\lambda (f(x(t)) - f(x^*))^T (f(x(t)) - f(x^*)) - 2(f(x(t)) - f(x^*))^T [(x(t) - x^*) - (f(x(t)) - f(x^*))],$$

where  $-\lambda$  is the maximum eigenvalue of  $[-2I_n + A + A^T + Q]$ . Since  $\lambda > 0$ , we can choose  $\varepsilon$  to satisfy

$$\lambda - 2\varepsilon - \tau_{ij}\varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \ge 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(10.10.29)

Deriving the time derivative of  $e^{\varepsilon t} V(x(t), t)$  and by the monotone property of  $f(x_i)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{de^{\varepsilon t}V(x(t),t)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.10.15)} &= \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t}V(x(t),t) + e^{\varepsilon t}\frac{dV(x(t),t)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.10.15)} \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t}\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\int_{t-\tau_{ij}(t)}^{t}|b_{ij}|(f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*}))^{2}ds \\ &+ e^{\varepsilon t}\left[2\varepsilon\sum_{i=1}^{n}\int_{x_{i}^{*}}^{x_{i}}(f(x_{i}) - f(x_{i}^{*}))dx_{i} \\ &+ (2-\lambda)(f(x(t)) - f(x^{*}))^{T}(f(x(t)) - f(x^{*})) \\ &- 2(f(x(t)) - f(x^{*}))^{T}(x(t) - x^{*})\right] \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t}\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\int_{t-\tau_{ij}}^{t}|b_{ij}||f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})|^{2}ds \\ &+ e^{\varepsilon t}\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\left[-(2-2\varepsilon)(f(x(t)) - f(x^{*}))^{T}(x(t) - x^{*}) \\ &+ (2-\lambda)(f(x(t)) - f(x^{*}))^{T}(x(t) - x^{*})\right] \end{aligned}$$

$$= \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}}^{t} |b_{ij}| |f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*)|^2 ds + e^{\varepsilon t} [-(\lambda - 2\varepsilon) (f(x(t)) - f(x^*))^T (x(t) - x^*)].$$
(10.10.30)

Integrating both sides of (10.10.30) from  $t_0$  to an arbitrary  $t^* > t_0$  yields

$$e^{\varepsilon t^{*}} V(x(t^{*}), t^{*}) \\ \leqslant V(x(t_{0}), t_{0}) - \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} \varepsilon e^{\varepsilon t} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}}^{t} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| |f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})|^{2} ds dt \\ - \sum_{j=1}^{n} (\lambda - 2\varepsilon) \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} e^{\varepsilon t} (f(x_{j}(t)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) |x_{j}(t) - x_{j}^{*}| dt. \quad (10.10.31)$$

Estimating the first term of (10.10.31) by exchanging the order of integration, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} e^{\varepsilon t} \int_{t-\tau_{ij}}^{t} |b_{ij}| |f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})|^{2} ds dt \\ &\leqslant \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t} \int_{\max\{s,0\}}^{\min\{s+\tau_{ij},t\}} e^{\varepsilon t} dt (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds \\ &\leqslant \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon |b_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t} \tau_{ij} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{ij})} (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon \tau_{ij} |b_{ij}| \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t_{0}} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{ij})} (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon \tau_{ij} |b_{ij}| \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} e^{\varepsilon (s+\tau_{ij})} (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds \\ &\leqslant \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon \tau_{ij} |b_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t_{0}} (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds \end{split}$$

4

$$+\sum_{i,j=1}^{n}\varepsilon\tau_{ij}|b_{ij}|e^{\varepsilon\tau_{ij}}\int_{t_0}^{t^*}e^{\varepsilon s}(x_j(s)-x_j^*)(f(x_j(s))-f(x_j^*))ds.$$
(10.10.32)

Then substituting (10.10.32) into (10.10.31) yields

$$e^{\varepsilon t^{*}} V(x(t^{*}), t^{*}) \leq V(x(t_{0}), t_{0}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(\lambda - 2\varepsilon - \tau_{ij} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |b_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}}\right)$$

$$\times \sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{t_{0}}^{t^{*}} e^{\varepsilon s} (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds$$

$$+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \varepsilon \tau_{ij} |b_{ij}| e^{\varepsilon \tau_{ij}} \int_{-\tau_{ij}}^{t_{0}} (x_{j}(s) - x_{j}^{*}) (f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})) ds$$

$$\leq M = \text{constant.}$$
(10.10.33)

According to (10.10.28) and (10.10.33), we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \int_{x_{i}}^{x_{i}^{*}} \left( f(x_{i}) - f\left(x_{i}^{*}\right) \right) dx_{i} \leqslant V\left(x(t), t\right) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t} M.$$
(10.10.34)

We now prove that the set  $\Omega$  is globally exponentially attractive by (10.10.28)– (10.10.34), and  $x_1^*, \ldots, x_n^*$  is globally exponentially stable,  $\forall i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ , i.e.,  $|x_i^*| < 1$ . By (10.10.33) and (10.10.34), we have

$$\frac{1}{2} |x_i(t) - x_i^*|^2 = \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
  

$$\leq V(x(t), t) \leq e^{-\varepsilon t} M \quad \text{for } |x_i| < 1, \quad (10.10.35)$$
  

$$(1 - x_i^*) |x_i(t) - x_i^*| = \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
  

$$\leq V(x(t), t) \leq e^{-\varepsilon t} M \quad \text{for } |x_i| \ge 1, \quad (10.10.36)$$
  

$$(-1 - x_i^*) |x_i(t) - x_i^*| = \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
  

$$\leq V(x(t), t) \leq e^{-\varepsilon t} M \quad \text{for } |x_i| \le 1. \quad (10.10.37)$$

580

Equations (10.10.35)–(10.10.37) show that  $x_i^*$ ,  $i = 1, 2, ..., m_1$ , are globally exponentially stable.

 $\forall i \in \{m_1 + 1, \dots, m_2\}$ , i.e.,  $x_i^* \ge 1$ , by (10.10.33) and (10.10.34), we can obtain that when  $|x_i| \le 1$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2}(x_i(t)-1)^2 = \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
$$= \int_{x_i^*}^{1} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i + \int_{1}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
$$\leqslant V(x(t), t) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t} M, \qquad (10.10.38)$$

which shows that  $x_i(t)$  moves into  $[1, +\infty)$  from  $|x_i| \leq 1$ .

When  $x_i \leq -1$ , we have

$$\int_{x_i^*}^{x_i^{(t)}} \left( f(x_i) - f(x_i^*) \right) dx_i$$

$$= \int_{x_i^*}^{1} \left( f(x_i) - f(x_i^*) \right) dx_i + \int_{1}^{-1} \left( f(x_i) - f(x_i^*) \right) dx_i$$

$$+ \int_{-1}^{t_i^{(t)}} \left( f(x_i) - f(x_i^*) \right) dx_i$$

$$= 0 + \int_{1}^{-1} (x_i - 1) dx_i + \int_{-1}^{t_i^{(t)}} -2 dx_i$$

$$= 2 + (-2)(x_i^{(t)} + 1)$$

$$= -2x_i(t),$$

so,

$$-2x_i(t) \leqslant V(x(t), t) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t} M.$$
(10.10.39)

Equation (10.10.39) implies that  $x_i(t)$  moves from  $[-\infty, -1]$  into [-1, 1] exponentially, therefore, it further moves into  $[1 + \infty)$  by (10.10.38).

Similarly,  $\forall i \in \{m_2 + 1, \dots, n\}$ , i.e.,  $x_i^* \leq -1$ , by (10.10.33) and (10.10.34), we obtain the following results. When  $|x_i| \leq 1$ ,

$$\int_{x_i^*}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
  
=  $\int_{x_i^*}^{-1} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i + \int_{-1}^{t_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$   
=  $0 + \int_{-1}^{t_i(t)} (x_i + 1) dx_i$   
=  $\frac{1}{2} (x_i + 1)^2$ ,

and so

$$\frac{1}{2}(x_i+1)^2 \leqslant V(x(t),t) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t}M,$$
(10.10.40)

implying that  $x_i(t)$  moves into  $(-\infty, -1)$  exponentially.

When  $x_i \ge 1$ , we obtain

$$\int_{x_i^*}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$$
  
=  $\int_{x_i^*}^{-1} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i + \int_{-1}^{1} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$   
+  $\int_{1}^{x_i(t)} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i$   
=  $0 + \int_{-1}^{1} (x_i + 1) dx_i + \int_{1}^{x_i(t)} 2 dx_i$   
=  $2 + 2(x_i(t) - 1)$   
=  $2x_i(t)$ ,

and thus,

$$2x_i(t) \leqslant V(x(t), t) \leqslant e^{-\varepsilon t} M.$$
(10.10.41)

Equation (10.10.41) indicates that  $x_i(t)$  moves from  $[1, +\infty]$  into [-1, 1]. Therefore,  $x_i(t)$  further moves into  $(-\infty, 1)$  exponentially due to (10.10.40).

(2) Second step. We prove  $x_j^*$   $(j = m_1 + 1, ..., n)$  to be also globally exponentially stable. When  $t \gg 1$ ,  $f(x_j) = f(x_j^*)$ ,  $j = m_1 + 1, ..., n$ .

Rewrite (10.10.15) as the following two equations:

$$\frac{dx_i}{dy} = -(x_i - x_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^{m_1} a_{ij} (f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)) 
+ \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} (f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)), 
i = 1, 2, ..., m_1,$$
(10.10.42)
$$\frac{dx_i}{dy} = -(x_i - x_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^{m_1} a_{ij} (f(x_j(t)) - f(x_j^*)) 
+ \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} (f(x_j(t - \tau_{ij}(t))) - f(x_j^*)), 
i = m_1 + 1, ..., n.$$
(10.10.43)

Let  $|x_i(t) - x_i^*| \leq M_i e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_0)}$ ,  $i = 1, 2, ..., m_1$ . by substituting the solution of (10.10.42) into (10.10.43) and using the variation of constants, the solution of (10.10.43) can be expressed as

$$\begin{aligned} x_i(t) &= e^{-(t-t_0)} \big( x_i(t_0) - x_i^* \big) + \sum_{j=1}^{m_1} a_{ij} \int_{t_0}^t e^{-(t-s)} \big( f\big( x_j(s) \big) - f\big( x_j^* \big) \big) \, ds \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{m_1} b_{ij} \int_{t_0}^t e^{-(t-s)} \big( f\big( x_j \big( s - \tau_{ij}(s) \big) \big) - f\big( x_j^* \big) \big) \, ds \\ &\quad (i = m_1 + 1, \dots, n), \end{aligned}$$

and thus

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i}(t, t_{0}, x_{0}) &| \\ &\leqslant e^{-(t-t_{0})} |x_{i}(t_{0}) - x_{i}^{*}| + \sum_{j=1}^{m_{1}} |a_{ij}| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-(t-s)} |f(x_{j}(s)) - f(x_{j}^{*})| \, ds \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{m_{1}} |b_{ij}| \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-(t-s)} |x_{j}(s - \tau_{ij}(s)) - x_{j}^{*}| \, ds \, e^{-(t-t_{0})} |x_{i}(t_{0}) - x_{i}^{*}| \end{aligned}$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{m_{1}} |a_{ij}| M_{j} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-(t-s)} e^{-\varepsilon(s-t_{0})} ds$$
  
+
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m_{1}} |b_{ij}| M_{j} \int_{t_{0}}^{t} e^{-(t-s)} e^{-\varepsilon(s-\tau_{ij}-t_{0})} ds e^{-(t-t_{0})} |x_{i}(t_{0}) - x_{i}^{*}|$$
  
+
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m_{1}} |a_{ij}| M_{j} \frac{e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})}}{1-\varepsilon}$$
  
+
$$\sum_{j=1}^{m_{1}} |b_{ij}| M_{j} e^{-\varepsilon\tau_{ij}} \frac{e^{-\varepsilon(t-t_{0})}}{1-\varepsilon}, \quad i = m_{1} + 1, \dots, n.$$
(10.10.44)

Equation (10.10.44) shows that the equilibrium  $x_i^*$ ,  $i = m_1 + 1, ..., n$ , is also globally exponentially stable.

The proof for Theorem 10.10.10 is complete.

T

4

REMARK 10.10.11. The condition in Theorem 10.10.10 can be easily generalized to: there exists a positive definite diagonal matrix  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, p_2, \dots, p_n)$  such that

$$PA + A^{T}P - 2P + I_{n} + \operatorname{diag}\left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} (p_{1}|b_{1j}| + p_{j}|b_{j1}|), \dots, \sum_{j=1}^{n} (p_{1}|b_{1j}| + p_{j}|b_{j1}|)\right)$$

is negative definite. Then the conclusion of Theorem 10.10.8 holds.

COROLLARY 10.10.12. The equilibrium  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable if any one of the following conditions is satisfied:

(1)  $\lambda_{\max}(A + A^T) \leq 0$ , and  $\max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (|b_{ij}| + |b_{ji}|) < 2$ ; (2)  $\lambda_{\max}(A + A^T) < 0$ , and  $\max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (|b_{ij}| + |b_{ji}|) < 2$ ; (3)  $\lambda_{\max}(A + A^T + Q) < 2$ ; (4) A = 0, and  $\max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (|b_{ij}| + |b_{ji}|) < 2$ .

**PROOF.** We only prove (1), the other cases are similar.  $\forall y \neq 0$ , we have

$$y^{T} (A + A^{T} + Q - 2I_{n}) y = y^{T} (A + A^{T}) y + y^{T} (Q) y - 2y^{T} y$$
  
$$\leq \lambda_{\max} y^{T} y + \max_{1 \leq i \leq n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (|b_{ij}| + |b_{ji}|) y^{T} y - 2y^{T} y$$

$$\leq \left(\max_{1\leq i\leq n}\sum_{j=1}^{n}\left(|b_{ij}|+|b_{ji}|\right)-2\right)y^{T}y<0.$$

Thus,  $A + A^T + Q - 2I_n$  is negative definite. According to Theorem 10.10.10, the equilibrium  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable.

THEOREM 10.10.13. Let  $\tau_{ij}(t) = \tau_j(t)$ . The equilibrium state  $x^*$  of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable, if  $A + A^T + BB^T - I_n$  is negative definite.

PROOF. Here, we again employ the positive definite but not radially bounded Lyapunov function (10.10.28):

$$V(x(t), t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} 2 \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} (f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) dx_i + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \int_{t-\tau_j(t)}^{t} |b_{ij}| (f(x_j(s)) - f(x_j^*))^2 ds.$$

Since  $A + A^T + BB^T - I_n$  is negative definite, we obtain

$$\frac{dV(x(t),t)}{dt}\Big|_{(10.10.15)} = -2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T A(f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T B(f(x(t - \tau) - f(x^*))) + (f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) - (f(x(t - \tau) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) - 2(x(t) - (x^*))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (A + A^T - I_n) (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T B(f(x(t - \tau) - f(x^*))) - (f(x(t - \tau) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) - 2(x(t) - (x^*))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) + 2(f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) = (f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (f(x(t) - f(x^*))) = (f(x(t) - f(x^*)))^T (A + A^T - I_n) (f(x(t) - f(x^*)))$$

$$+ (f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} BB^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
- [B^{T} f(x(t) - f(x^{*})) - (f(x(t - \tau) - f(x^{*})))]^{T} 
\times [B^{T} f(x(t) - f(x^{*})) - (f(x(t - \tau) - f(x^{*})))] 
- 2(x(t) - (x^{*}))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
+ 2(f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
\leq (f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} (A + A^{T} BB^{T} - I_{n})(f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
- 2(x(t) - (x^{*}))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
+ 2(f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
\leq -\mu (f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
- 2(x(t) - (x^{*}))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
+ 2(f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
+ 2(f(x(t) - f(x^{*})))^{T} (f(x(t) - f(x^{*}))) 
(10.10.45)$$

where  $-\mu$  is the maximum eigenvalue of  $A + A^T B B^T - I_n$ . The remaining proof is similar to the last part of the proof for Theorem 10.10.10, and hence is omitted.

REMARK 10.10.14. The condition in Theorem 10.10.13 can be easily generalized to: If there exist  $p_i > 0$ , i = 1, ..., n, such that the matrix  $PBP - B^TP + PA + A^TP - P$  is negative definite, where  $P = \text{diag}(p_1, ..., p_n)$ .

In [233], it is shown that a CNN is asymptotically stable if there is a constant  $\beta$  such that

$$A + A^T + \beta I_n < 0 \quad \text{(i.e., negative definite)}, \tag{10.10.46}$$

$$\|B\|_2^2 \leqslant 1 + \frac{1}{2}\beta. \tag{10.10.47}$$

Subsequently, in [232], the second condition in (10.10.47) is relaxed to

$$\|B\|_2^2 \le 1 + \beta. \tag{10.10.48}$$

The following corollary shows that Theorem 10.10.13 is an extension and improvement of the main results in [232,233].

COROLLARY 10.10.15. If there is a constant  $\beta$  such that (10.10.46) and (10.10.47) or (10.10.48) are satisfied, then the condition in Theorem 10.10.13 is satisfied.

PROOF. If there is a constant  $\beta$  such that  $A + A^T + \beta I_n < 0$  and  $||B||_2^2 \leq 1 + \frac{1}{2}\beta$ , then  $A + A^T + \beta I_n < 0$  and  $||B||_2^2 \leq 1 + \beta$  (the conditions in [232]). Since

 $\lambda_{\max}(BB^T) \leq \|BB^T\|_2 = \|B^2\|_2 \leq \|B\|_2^2 \leq 1+\beta, BB^T - (1+\beta)I_n$  is negative semi-definite, where  $\lambda_{\max}(BB^T)$  is the maximum eigenvalue of  $BB^T$ . combining this with the first condition (10.10.46), we have  $A + A^TBB^T - I_n < 0$ .

COROLLARY 10.10.16. The equilibrium of (10.10.14) is globally exponentially stable if any of the following conditions hods:

- (1)  $\lambda_{\max}(A + A^T) \leq 0$ , and  $||B||_2 < 1$ , where  $||B||_2 = \sqrt{\lambda_{\max}(BB^T)}$ ;
- (2)  $\lambda_{\max}(A + A^T) < 0$ , and  $||B||_2 \leq 1$ ;
- (3)  $\lambda_{\max}(A + A^T + BB^T) < 0;$
- 4) A = 0, and  $||B||_2 < 1$ .

The proof is simple and thus omitted.

In the following, we present five examples to compare the new results with the existing ones.

EXAMPLE 10.10.17. Consider the following two-state CNN:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 - 2f(x_1(t)) + 2f(x_2(t)) + 0.99f(x_1(t)) + 0.99f(x_2(t-\tau)),$$
  
$$\frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_2 + 2f(x_1(t)) - 2f(x_2(t)),$$

which gives

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 2\\ 2 & -2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.99 & 0.99\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad BB^2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1.9602 & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Thus,

$$A + A^{T} + BB^{T} - I_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} -3.0398 & 4 \\ 4 & -5 \end{bmatrix}$$

is not negative definite. So the condition in theorem of [232] does not hold, but the condition in (10.10.16) of Theorem 10.10.8 is satisfied.

EXAMPLE 10.10.18. Consider the following two-state CNN:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 + 0.89f(x_1(t-\tau_1)) + 0.1f(x_2(t-\tau_2)) + u_1,$$
  
$$\frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_2 + 0.89f(x_1(t-\tau_1)) + 0.1f(x_2(t-\tau_2)) + u_2.$$

For this system, we have

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.89 & 0.1 \\ 0.89 & 0.1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad BB^2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.8021 & 0.8021 \\ 0.8021 & 0.8021 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Since  $||B||_2 = 1.6042 > 0$ , the conditions of theorem in [9] are not satisfied. Moreover,

$$A + A^{T} + BB^{T} - I_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1979 & 0.8021\\ 0.8021 & -0.1979 \end{bmatrix}$$

is not negative definite, so the condition of the main theorem in [9] is not satisfied. However, the condition in (10.10.17) of Theorem 10.10.8 is satisfied.

EXAMPLE 10.10.19. Consider a two-state CNN as follows:

$$\frac{dx_1}{dt} = -x_1 - f(x_1(t)) + f(x_2(t)) + 0.78f(x_1(t-\tau_1)) + 0.2f(x_2(t-\tau_2)) + u_1, \frac{dx_2}{dt} = -x_2 + f(x_1(t)) - f(x_2(t)) + 0.78f(x_1(t-\tau_1)) + 0.2f(x_2(t-\tau_2)) + u_2.$$

For this example,

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0.78 & 0.2 \\ 0.78 & 0.2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad BB^2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.6484 & 0.6484 \\ 0.6484 & 0.6484 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then,

$$A + A^{T} + BB^{T} - I_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} -2.3516 & 2.6484\\ 2.6484 & -2.3516 \end{bmatrix}$$

is not negative definite, so the condition of the theorems in [7] and [232] are not satisfied. However, it satisfies the condition in (10.10.17) of Theorem 10.10.8.

EXAMPLE 10.10.20. Consider a two-state CNN:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx_1}{dt} &= -x_1 - 2.1 f(x_1) + 8 f(x_2) + f\left(x_1(t - \tau_1)\right) \\ &- 2 f\left(x_2(t - \tau_2)\right) + u_1, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} &= -x_2 - 8 f(x_1) + 3.2 f(x_2) + 2 f\left(x_1(t - \tau_1)\right) \\ &- 2 f\left(x_2(t - \tau_2)\right) + u_2, \end{aligned}$$

for which

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -2.1 & 8\\ -8 & 3.2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -2\\ 2 & -2 \end{bmatrix},$$

so

$$A + A^T = \begin{bmatrix} -4.2 & 0\\ 0 & 6.4 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$Q = \operatorname{diag}(|b_{11}| + |b_{11}| + |b_{12}| + |b_{21}| + |b_{22}| + |b_{22}| + |b_{21}| + |b_{12}|) - 2I_2$$
  
=  $\begin{bmatrix} 2+4 & 0 \\ 0 & 4+4 \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 0 \\ 0 & 6 \end{bmatrix},$   
$$A + A^T + Q - 2I_2 = \begin{bmatrix} -0.2 & 0 \\ 0 & -0.4 \end{bmatrix}$$

which is negative definite, so the condition of Theorem 10.10.10 holds. But the conditions in [353] (Theorems 3.1 and 3.2) and that in [8] (Theorem 1) are not satisfied.

EXAMPLE 10.10.21. Let

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -1/2 & -5\\ 5 & -2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{bmatrix} 2/3 & -2/3\\ -2/3 & 2/3 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, we have

$$A + A^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -4 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \|B\|_{2} = \frac{4}{3},$$
$$(1 - \|B\|_{2}) = -\frac{1}{3} > \lambda_{\max}(A + A^{T}) = -1.$$

Hence, the condition of Theorem 10.10.13 holds but the condition of [8] (Theorem 1), that of the theorem in [7], the conditions of the theorem in [353], and that of the main theorem in [232] are not satisfied.

This page intentionally left blank

Chapter 11

# Limit Cycle, Normal Form and Hopf Bifurcation Control

In this chapter, we study nonlinear dynamical systems, with particular attention given to the computation of normal form and limit cycle, Hopf bifurcation control, and their applications. Both mathematical and practical engineering problems are presented, which are described by ordinary differential equations, discrete maps and time-delay differential equations.

## 11.1. Introduction

Nonlinear dynamics, more grandly called "nonlinear science" or "chaos theory", is a rapidly-growing area, which plays an important role in the study of almost all disciplines of science and engineering, including mathematics, mechanics, aeronautics, electrical circuits, control systems, population problems, economics, financial systems, stock markets, ecological systems, etc. In general, any dynamical system contains certain parameters (usually called bifurcation parameters or control parameters) and thus it is vital to study the dynamical behavior of such systems as the parameters are varied. The complex dynamical phenomena include instability, bifurcation and chaos (e.g., see [12,146,399,67,160,427]). Studies of nonlinear dynamical systems may be roughly divided into two main categories: local analysis and global analysis. For instance, post-critical behavior such as saddle-node bifurcation and Hopf bifurcation can be studied locally in the vicinity of a critical point, while heteroclinic and homoclinic orbits, and chaos are essentially global behavior and have to be studied globally. These two categories need to be treated with different theories and methodologies.

In studying the local behavior of a dynamical system, in particular for qualitative properties, the first step is usually to simplify the system. Such a simplification should keep the dynamical behavior of the system unchanged. Many methodologies have been developed in analyzing local dynamics, such as center manifold theory, normal form theory, averaging method, multiple time scales, Lyapunov–Schmidt reduction, the method of succession functions, the intrinsic harmonic balancing technique, etc. These methods can be used to obtain the so called "simplified" governing differential equations which describe the dynamics of the system in the vicinity of a point of interest. The "simplified" system is topologically equivalent to the original system, and thus it greatly simplifies the analysis of the original system. Usually, center manifold theory is applied first to reduce the system to a low dimensional center manifold, and then the method of normal forms is employed to further simplify the system [146,322]. However, approaches have been developed which combine the two theories into one unified procedure without applying center manifold theory [420,422,423,441]. In this chapter, the local dynamical analysis is mainly based on this unified procedure of normal forms. The normal form of a nonlinear dynamical system is not uniquely defined and computing the explicit formula of a normal form in terms of the original system's coefficients is not easy. In the past few years, efficient methodologies and software based on symbolic computations using Maple and Mathematica have been successfully employed in normal form computations.

The phenomenon of limit cycle was first discovered and studied by Poincaré [333] who presented the break through qualitative theory of differential equations. In order to determine the existence of limit cycles for a given differential equation and the properties of limit cycles, Poincaré introduced the well-known method of Poincaré Map, which is still the most basic tool for studying the stability and bifurcations of periodic orbits. The driving force behind the study of limit cycle theory was the invention of triode vacuum tube which was able to produce stable self-excited oscillations of constant amplitude. It was noted that such kind of oscillation phenomenon could not be described by linear differential equations. At the end of the 1920s Van der Pol [387] developed a differential equation to describe the oscillations of constant amplitude of a triode vacuum tube:

$$\ddot{x} + \mu (x^2 - 1)\dot{x} + x = 0 \quad (\mu \neq 0), \tag{11.1.1}$$

where the dot denotes a differentiation with respect to time t, and  $\mu$  is a parameter. Equation (11.1.1) is now called Van der Pol's equation. Later a more general equation called Liénard equation [289] was developed, for which Van der Pol's equation is a special case.

Limit cycles are generated through bifurcations, among which the most popular and important one is Hopf bifurcation [171]. Consider the following general nonlinear system:

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = f(\mathbf{x}, \mu), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \ f: \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}^n,$$
 (11.1.2)

where x is an *n*-dimensional state vector while  $\mu$  is a scalar parameter, called bifurcation parameter. (Note that in general one may assume that  $\mu$  is an *m*dimensional vector for  $m \ge 1$ .) The function f is assumed to be analytic with respect to both x and  $\mu$ . Equilibrium solutions of system (11.1.2) can be found by solving the nonlinear algebraic equation  $f(x, \mu) = 0$  for all real  $\mu$ . Let  $x^*$  be an equilibrium (or fixed point) of the system, i.e.,  $f(\mathbf{x}^*, \mu) \equiv \mathbf{0}$  for any real value of  $\mu$ . Further, suppose that the Jacobian of the system evaluated at the equilibrium  $\mathbf{x}^*$  has a pair of complex conjugates, denoted by  $\lambda_{1,2}(\mu)$  with  $\lambda_1 = \bar{\lambda}_2 = \alpha(\mu) + i\omega(\mu)$  such that  $\alpha(\mu^*) = 0$  and  $\frac{d\alpha(\mu^*)}{d\mu} \neq 0$ . Here, the second condition is usually called transversality condition, implying that the crossing of the complex conjugate pair at the imaginary axis is not tangent to the imaginary axis. Then Hopf bifurcation occurs at the critical point  $\mu = \mu^*$ , giving rise to bifurcation of a family of limit cycles. Other local bifurcations such as double-zero, Hopf-zero, double Hopf, etc. bifurcations may result in more complex dynamical behaviors. In this chapter, Hopf bifurcations will be particularly studied.

The normal form of Hopf bifurcation can be used to analyze bifurcation and stability of limit cycles in the vicinity of a Hopf critical point. To determine the existence of multiple limit cycles in the neighborhood of a Hopf critical point, one needs to compute the coefficients of the normal form, or the focus values of the critical point [420,291,62,290,63]. Many methodologies have been developed for computing normal forms and focus values. To find maximal number of multiple limit cycles, one needs to compute high-order normal forms or high-order focus values, which must be found in explicit symbolic expressions. This raises a crucial problem—computation efficiency, since a nonefficient computer program would quickly cause a computer system to crash. Therefore, it is important to study the existing methods of computing normal forms and focus values. In this chapter, we will present three typical methods: the Takens method [377,378], a perturbation method based on multiple time scales [322,420], and the singular point value method [291,62,290,63]. Examples will be presented to show that these three methods yield the same computational complexity.

Global bifurcation analysis, on the other hand, is more difficult than local analysis. Besides homoclinic and heteroclinic bifurcations [146], the most exciting discovery in nonlinear dynamics is chaos. Since the discovery of the Lorenz attractor [294], which has led to a new era in the study of nonlinear dynamical systems, many researchers from different disciplines such as mathematics, physics and engineering extensively investigated the dynamical property of chaotic systems. For a quite long period, people thought that chaos was not predictable nor controllable. However, the OGY method [328] developed in 90s of the last century has completely changed the situation, and the study of bifurcation and chaos control begun. The general goal of bifurcation control is to design a controller such that the bifurcation characteristics of a nonlinear system undergoing bifurcation can be modified to achieve certain desirable dynamical behavior, such as changing a Hopf bifurcation from subcritical to supercritical [427,66,70]. The main goal of chaos control is to simply eliminate chaotic motion so that the system's trajectories eventually converge to an equilibrium point or a periodic motion [67].

Bifurcation and chaos control, which as an emerging research field has become challenging, stimulating, and yet quite promising. Unlike classical control theory, bifurcation control refers to the task of designing a controller to modify the bifurcation properties of a given nonlinear system, thereby achieving some desirable dynamical behaviors. Particularly, Hopf bifurcation control in both discrete and continuous time-delay dynamical systems is studied. Recently, feedback controllers using polynomial functions have been developed for controlling Hopf bifurcations in both continuous systems and discrete maps [430,73,74], which have been shown to have superior properties than traditional controllers such as the washout filter controller [393]. The new controller is easy to be implemented, which not only preserves the system's equilibrium points, but also keeps the dimension of the system unchanged. This approach can be extended to study higher dimensional dynamical systems.

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. In the next section, three typical methods for computing normal forms (focus values) are presented. In Section 11.3, the simplest normal form (SNF) is introduced, and the SNFs for codimension-one bifurcations are particularly discussed. Section 11.4 is devoted to study Hopf bifurcation control. Both mathematical and practical problems are presented in each section to illustrate the application of theories.

## 11.2. Computation of normal forms and focus values

In this section, we present three typical methods for computing normal forms and the focus value, which are widely used in applications associated with Hopf bifurcation. We first introduce the Takens method [377,378], then discuss a perturbation method using multiple time scales [322,420] and finally present the singular point value method [291,62,290,63]. Note that the Takens method and the singular point value method can be applied to general *n*-dimensional systems. In other words, if one wants to apply the Takens method or the singular point value method forms (focus values), one must first apply center manifold theory, while with the perturbation method one does not need applying center manifold theory since it combines normal form theory and center manifold theory in one unified approach.

#### 11.2.1. The Takens method

Consider the following general 2-dimensional system

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = L\mathbf{x} + f(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \mathbf{v}_1 + f_2(\mathbf{x}) + f_3(\mathbf{x}) + \dots + f_k(\mathbf{x}) + \dots,$$
 (11.2.1)

where  $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, x_2)^T \in \boldsymbol{R}^2$ , and

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \tag{11.2.2}$$

Let  $v_1 = Lx \equiv Jx$ . (Usually J is used to denote the Jacobian matrix. Here L is used in consistent with the Lie bracket notation.) It is assumed that all eigenvalues of L have zero real parts, implying that the dynamics of system (11.2.1) is described on a 2-D center manifold.  $f_k(x)$  denotes the kth-order vector homogeneous polynomials of x.

The basic idea of the Takens normal form theory is to find a near-identity nonlinear transformation, given by

$$x = y + h(y) \equiv y + h_2(y) + h_3(y) + \dots + h_k(y) + \dots$$
 (11.2.3)

such that the resulting system

$$\dot{\mathbf{y}} = L\mathbf{y} + \mathbf{g}(\mathbf{y}) \equiv L\mathbf{y} + \mathbf{g}_2(\mathbf{y}) + \mathbf{g}_3(\mathbf{y}) + \dots + \mathbf{g}_k(\mathbf{y}) + \dots$$
 (11.2.4)

becomes as simple as possible. Here, both  $h_k(y)$  and  $g_k(y)$  are the *k*th-order vector homogeneous polynomials of y.

To apply normal form theory, first define an operator as follows:

$$L_k : \mathcal{H}_k \mapsto \mathcal{H}_k,$$
  
$$U_k \in \mathcal{H}_k \mapsto L_k(U_k) = [U_k, \boldsymbol{v}_1] \in \mathcal{H}_k,$$
 (11.2.5)

where  $\mathcal{H}_n$  denotes a linear vector space consisting of the *k*th-order vector homogeneous polynomials. The operator  $[U_k, v_1]$  is called Lie bracket, defined as

$$[U_k, \boldsymbol{v}_1] = D\boldsymbol{v}_1 \cdot U_k - DU_k \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_1. \tag{11.2.6}$$

Next, define the space  $\mathcal{R}_k$  as the range of  $L_k$ , and the complementary space of  $\mathcal{R}_k$  as  $\mathcal{K}_k = Ker(L_k)$ . Thus,

$$\mathcal{H}_k = \mathcal{R}_k \oplus \mathcal{K}_k, \tag{11.2.7}$$

and we can then choose bases for  $\mathcal{R}_k$  and  $\mathcal{K}_k$ . Consequently, a vector homogeneous polynomial  $f_k \in \mathcal{H}_k$  can be split into two parts: one is spanned by the basis of  $\mathcal{R}_k$  and the other by that of  $\mathcal{K}_k$ . Normal form theory shows that the part of  $f_k$  belonging to  $\mathcal{R}_k$  can be eliminated while the part belonging to  $\mathcal{K}_k$  must be retained, which is called normal form.

By applying the Takens normal form theory [378], one can find the *k*th-order normal form  $g_k(y)$ , while the part belonging to  $\mathcal{R}_k$  can be removed by appropriately choosing the coefficients of the nonlinear transformation  $h_k(y)$ . The "form" of the normal form  $g_k(y)$  depends upon the basis of the complementary space  $\mathcal{K}_k$ , which is determined by the linear vector  $v_1$ . We may apply the matrix method [146] to find the basis of the space  $\mathcal{R}_k$  and then determine the basis of the complementary space  $\mathcal{K}_k$ . Once the basis of  $\mathcal{K}_k$  is chosen, the form of  $g_k(y)$  can be determined, which actually represents the normal form.

In general, when one applies normal form theory to a system, one can find the "form" of the normal form (i.e., the basis of the complementary space  $\mathcal{K}_k$ ), but

not the explicit expressions. However, in practical applications, the solutions for the normal form and the nonlinear transformation need to be found explicitly. To achieve this, one may assume a general form of the nonlinear transformation and substitute it back into the original differential equation, with the aid of normal form theory, to obtain the *k*th-order algebraic equations by balancing the coefficients of the homogeneous polynomial terms. These algebraic equations are then used to determine the coefficients of the normal form and the nonlinear transformation. Thus, the key step in the computation of the *k*th-order normal form is to find the *k*th-order algebraic equations.

The following theorem [438] gives the recursive formula for computing the exact k-order algebraic equations, from which normal form and associated nonlinear transformation can be explicitly obtained.

THEOREM 11.2.1. The recursive formula for computing the coefficients of the *k*-order normal form and nonlinear transformation is given by

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{k} = \boldsymbol{f}_{k} + [\boldsymbol{h}_{k}, \boldsymbol{v}_{1}] + \sum_{i=2}^{k-1} \{ [\boldsymbol{h}_{k-i+1}, \boldsymbol{f}_{i}] + D\boldsymbol{h}_{i}(\boldsymbol{f}_{k-i+1} - \boldsymbol{g}_{k-i+1}) \}$$
  
+ 
$$\sum_{m=2}^{\left[\frac{k}{2}\right]} \frac{1}{m!} \sum_{i=m}^{k-m} D^{m} \boldsymbol{f}_{i} \sum_{\substack{l_{1}+l_{2}+\dots+l_{m}j=k-(i-m)\\2\leqslant l_{1},l_{2},\dots,l_{m}\leqslant k-(i-m)-2(m-1)}} \boldsymbol{h}_{l_{1}} \boldsymbol{h}_{l_{2}} \cdots \boldsymbol{h}_{l_{m}}$$
(11.2.8)

for  $k = 2, 3, ..., where f_k$ ,  $h_k$ , and  $g_k$  are the kth-order vector homogeneous polynomials of y (where y has been dropped for simplicity).  $f_k$  represents the kth-order terms of the original system,  $h_k$  is the kth-order nonlinear transformation, and  $g_k$  denotes the kth-order normal form.

When the eigenvalues of a Jacobian involve one or more pure imaginary pairs, a complex analysis may simplify the solution procedure. It has actually been noted that the real analysis given in [421] yields the coupled algebraic equations, while it will be seen that the complex analysis can decouple the algebraic equations.

Thus, introduce the linear transformation:

$$\begin{cases} x_1 = \frac{1}{2}(z + \bar{z}), \\ x_2 = \frac{i}{2}(z - \bar{z}), \end{cases} \text{ i.e., } \begin{cases} z = x_1 - ix_2, \\ \bar{z} = x_1 + ix_2, \end{cases}$$
(11.2.9)

where *i* is the unit of imaginary number, satisfying  $i^2 = -1$ , and  $\overline{z}$  is the complex conjugate of *z*. Then the linear part of system (11.2.1),  $v_1$ , becomes

$$\boldsymbol{v}_1 = x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - x_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \partial x_1 = (iz - i\bar{z})^T.$$

Applying the transformation (11.2.9) into system (11.2.1) yields

$$\dot{z} = iz + f(z, \bar{z}), \qquad \dot{\overline{z}} = -iz + \overline{f}(z, \bar{z}), \qquad (11.2.10)$$

where f is a polynomial in z and  $\overline{z}$  starting from the second order terms, and  $\overline{f}$  is the complex conjugate of f. Here, for convenience we use the same notation  $f = (f, \overline{f})^T$  for the complex analysis.

To find the normal form of Hopf singularity, one may assume a nonlinear transformation, given by

$$z = y + \sum h_k(y, \overline{y}), \qquad \overline{z} = \overline{y} + \sum \overline{h}_k(y, \overline{y}), \qquad (11.2.11)$$

and determines the basis,  $g_k$ , for the complementary space of  $\mathcal{K}_k$ , or employ Poincaré normal form theory to determine the so called "resonant" terms. It is well known that the "resonant" terms are given in the form of  $z^j \bar{z}^{j-1}$  (e.g., see [146]), and the *k*th-order normal form is

$$\boldsymbol{g}_{k}(\boldsymbol{y}, \bar{\boldsymbol{y}}) = \begin{pmatrix} (b_{1k} + ib_{2k})\boldsymbol{y}^{(k+1)/2} \bar{\boldsymbol{y}}^{(k-1)/2} \\ (b_{1k} - ib_{2k}) \bar{\boldsymbol{y}}^{(k+1)/2} \boldsymbol{y}^{(k-1)/2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(11.2.12)

where  $b_{1k}$  and  $b_{2k}$  are real coefficients to be determined. It is obvious to see from equation (11.2.12) that the normal form contains odd order terms only, as expected. In normal form computation, the two *k*th-order coefficients  $b_{1k}$  and  $b_{2k}$  should be, in general, retained in the normal form.

Finally, based on equations (11.2.4), (11.2.10)–(11.2.12), one can use the algebraic equation (11.2.9) order by order starting from k = 2, and then apply normal form theory to solve for the coefficients  $b_{1k}$  (k is odd) explicitly in terms of the original system coefficients. Summarizing the above results gives the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.2.2. For system (11.2.1) with L given by (11.2.2), the normal form is given by equation (11.2.12), where  $b_{1k}$  is the kth-order focus value.

### 11.2.2. A perturbation method

In this subsection we present a perturbation technique based multiple time scales to compute the normal form associated with Hopf singularity [420]. This approach has been used to develop a unified approach to directly compute the normal forms of Hopf and degenerate Hopf bifurcations for general n-dimensional systems without the application of center manifold theory [420]. In the following, we briefly describe the perturbation approach.

Consider the general *n*-D differential equation:

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = J\mathbf{x} + f(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ f: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(11.2.13)

where Jx represents the linear terms of the system, and the nonlinear function f is assumed to be analytic; and x = 0 is an equilibrium point of the system, i.e., f(0) = 0. Further, assume that the Jacobian of system (11.2.13) evaluated at the equilibrium point 0 contains a pair of purely imaginary eigenvalues  $\pm i$ , and thus the Jacobian of system (11.2.13) may be assumed in the Jordan canonical form:

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & A \end{bmatrix}, \quad A \in R^{(n-2) \times (n-2)},$$
(11.2.14)

where A is stable (i.e. all of its eigenvalues have negative real parts).

The basic idea of the perturbation technique based on multiple scales is as follows: Instead of a single time variable, multiple independent variables or scales are used in the expansion of the system response. To achieve this, introducing the new independent time variables  $T_k = \epsilon^k t$ , k = 0, 1, 2, ..., yields partial derivatives with respect to  $T_k$  as follows:

$$\frac{d}{dt} = \frac{\partial T_0}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial T_0} + \frac{\partial T_1}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial T_1} + \frac{\partial T_2}{\partial t} \frac{\partial}{\partial T_2} + \cdots$$
$$= D_0 + \epsilon D_1 + \epsilon^2 D_2 + \cdots$$
(11.2.15)

where  $D_k = \frac{\partial}{\partial T_k}$  denotes a differentiation operator. Then, assume that the solutions of system (11.2.13) in the neighborhood of x = 0 are expanded in the series:

$$\mathbf{x}(t;\epsilon) = \epsilon \mathbf{x}_1(T_0, T_1, \ldots) + \epsilon^2 \mathbf{x}_2(T_0, T_1, \ldots) + \cdots .$$
(11.2.16)

Note that the same perturbation parameter,  $\epsilon$ , is used in both the time and space scalings (see equations (11.2.15) and (11.2.16)). In other words, this perturbation approach treats time and space in a unified scaling.

Applying the formulas (11.2.15) and (11.2.16) into system (11.2.13), and solving the resulting ordered linear differential equations finally yields the normal form, given in polar coordinates (the detailed procedure can be found in (see [420]):

$$\frac{dr}{dt} = \frac{\partial r}{\partial T_0} \frac{\partial T_0}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial r}{\partial T_1} \frac{\partial T_1}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial r}{\partial T_2} \frac{\partial T_2}{\partial t} + \cdots$$

$$= D_0 r + D_1 r + D_2 r + \cdots, \qquad (11.2.17)$$

$$\frac{d\phi}{dt} = \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial T_0} \frac{\partial T_0}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial T_1} \frac{\partial T_1}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial T_2} \frac{\partial T_2}{\partial t} + \cdots$$

$$= D_0 \phi + D_1 \phi + D_2 \phi + \cdots, \qquad (11.2.18)$$

where  $D_i r$  and  $D_i \phi$  are uniquely determined, implying that the normal form given by equations (11.2.17) and (11.2.18) is unique. Further, it has been shown that [420] the derivatives  $D_i r$  and  $D_i \phi$  are functions of r only, and only  $D_{2k} r$ 

598

and  $D_{2k}\phi$  are nonzero, which can be expressed as  $D_{2k}r = v_{2k+1}r^{2k+1}$  and  $D_{2k}\phi = t_{2k+1}r^{2k}$ , where both  $v_{2k+1}$  and  $t_{2k+1}$  are expressed in terms of the original system's coefficients. The coefficient  $v_{2k+1}$  is called the *k*th-order focus value of the Hopf-type critical point (the origin). Summarizing the above results gives the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.2.3. For the general n-dimensional system (11.2.13), which has a Hopf-type singular point at the origin, i.e., the linearized system of (11.2.13) has a pair of purely imaginary eigenvalues and the remaining eigenvalues have negative real parts, the normal form for the Hopf or generalized Hopf bifurcations up to (2k + 1)th order term is given by

$$\dot{r} = r(v_1 + v_3 r^2 + v_5 r^4 + \dots + v_{2k+1} r^{2k}), \qquad (11.2.19)$$

$$\dot{\theta} = 1 + \dot{\phi} = 1 + t_3 r^2 + t_5 r^4 + \dots + t_{2k+1} r^{2k},$$
 (11.2.20)

where the constants  $v_{2k+1} = D_{2k}r/r^{2k+1}$  and  $t_{2k+1} = D_{2k}\phi/r^{2k+1}$  are explicitly expressed in terms of the original system parameters, and  $D_{2k}r$  and  $D_{2k}\phi$  are obtained recursively using multiple time scales.

### 11.2.3. The singular point value method

This iterative method computes focus value via the computation of singular point quantities (see [62,290,63] for details).

To introduce this method, consider the planar polynomial differential system:

$$\dot{x} = \delta x - y + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} X_k(x, y), \qquad \dot{y} = x + \delta y + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} X_k(x, y), \qquad (11.2.21)$$

where  $X_k(x, y)$  and  $Y_k(x, y)$  are homogeneous polynomials of x, y with degree k. The origin (x, y) = (0, 0) is a singular point of system (11.2.21), which is either a focus or a center (when  $\delta = 0$ ). Since we are interested in the computation of focus value, we assume  $\delta = 0$  in the following analysis. Introducing the transformations, given by

$$z = x + iy, \quad w = x - iy, \quad T = it, \quad i = \sqrt{-1},$$
 (11.2.22)

into system (11.2.21) results in

$$\frac{dz}{dT} = z + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} Z_k(z, w) = Z(z, w),$$
  
$$\frac{dw}{dT} = -w - \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} W_k(z, w) = -W(z, w),$$
 (11.2.23)
where z, w and T are complex variables, and

$$Z_k(z,w) = \sum_{\alpha+\beta=k} a_{\alpha\beta} z^{\alpha} w^{\beta}, \qquad W_k = \sum_{\alpha+\beta=k} b_{\alpha\beta} w^{\alpha} z^{\beta}.$$
(11.2.24)

System (11.2.21) and (11.2.23) are said to be concomitant.

If system (11.2.21) is a real planar, differential system, then the coefficients of system (11.2.23) must satisfy the conjugate conditions:

$$\overline{a_{\alpha\beta}} = b_{\alpha\beta}, \quad \alpha \ge 0, \ \beta \ge 0, \ \alpha + \beta \ge 2.$$
(11.2.25)

By the following transformations:

$$z = re^{i\theta}, \qquad w = re^{-i\theta}, \qquad T = it, \tag{11.2.26}$$

system (11.2.23) can be transformed into

$$\frac{dr}{dt} = \frac{ir}{2} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\alpha+\beta=m+2} (a_{\alpha,\beta-1} - b_{\beta,\alpha-1}) e^{i(\alpha-\beta)\theta} r^m,$$
$$\frac{d\theta}{dt} = 1 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\alpha+\beta=m+2} (a_{\alpha,\beta-1} + b_{\beta,\alpha-1}) e^{i(\alpha-\beta)\theta} r^m.$$
(11.2.27)

For a complex constant h,  $|h| \ll 1$ , we may write the solution of (11.2.27) satisfying the initial condition  $r|_{\theta=0} = h$  as

$$r = \widetilde{r}(\theta, h) = h + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} v_k(\theta) h^k.$$
(11.2.28)

Evidently, if system (11.2.21) is a real system, then  $v_{2k+1}(2\pi)$  (k = 1, 2, ...) is the *k*th-order focal (or focus) value of the origin.

For system (11.2.21), we can uniquely derive the following formal series:

$$\varphi(z, w) = z + \sum_{k+j=2}^{\infty} c_{kj} z^k w^j,$$
  

$$\psi(z, w) = w + \sum_{k+j=2}^{\infty} d_{k,j} w^k z^j,$$
(11.2.29)

where

$$c_{k+1,k} = d_{k+1,k} = 0, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots,$$
 (11.2.30)

such that

$$\frac{d\varphi}{dt} = \varphi + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} p_j \varphi^{j+1} \psi^j, \qquad \frac{d\psi}{dt} = -\psi - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} q_j \psi^{j+1} \varphi^j.$$
(11.2.31)

Let  $\mu_0 = 0$ ,  $\mu_k = p_k - q_k$ ,  $k = 1, 2, \dots, \mu_k$ , is called the *k*th-order singular point quantity of the origin of system (11.2.23) [62]. Based on the singular quantities, we can define the order of the singular critical point and extended center as follows.

If  $\mu_0 = \mu_1 = \cdots = \mu_{k-1} = 0$  and  $\mu_k \neq 0$ , then the origin of system (11.2.23) is called the *kth-order weak critical singular point*. In other words, *k* is the multiplicity of the origin of system (11.2.23).

If  $\mu_k = 0$  for k = 1, 2, ..., then the origin of system (11.2.23) is called an *extended center* (*complex center*).

If system (11.2.21) is a real autonomous differential system with the concomitant system (11.2.23), then for the origin, the *k*th-order focus value  $v_{2k+1}$  of system (11.2.21) and the *k*th-order quantity of the singular point of system (11.2.23) have the relation [291,290], given in the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.2.4. *Given system* (11.2.21) ( $\delta = 0$ ) *or* (11.2.23), *for any positive integer m, the following assertion holds:* 

$$v_{2k+1}(2\pi) = i\pi \left(\mu_k + \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \xi_k^{(j)} \mu_j\right), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots,$$
(11.2.32)

where  $\xi_m^{(j)}$  (j = 1, 2, ..., k - 1) are polynomial functions of coefficients of system (11.2.23).

Furthermore, we have the following results [62].

THEOREM 11.2.5. The recursive formulas for computing the singular point quantities of system (11.2.23) is given by  $c_{11} = 1$ ,  $c_{20} = c_{02} = c_{kk} = 0$ ,  $k = 2, 3, ..., and \forall (\alpha, \beta), \alpha \neq \beta$ , and  $m \ge 1$ :

$$C_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{\beta - \alpha} \sum_{k+j=3}^{\alpha + \beta + 2} \left[ (\alpha - k + 1)a_{k,j-1} - (\beta - j + 1)b_{j,k-1} \right] \times C_{\alpha - k + 1, \beta - j + 1}$$
(11.2.33)

and

$$\mu_m = \sum_{k+j=3}^{2m+4} \left[ (m-k+2)a_{k,j-1} - (m-j+2)b_{j,k-1} \right] \times C_{m-k+2,m-j+2},$$
(11.2.34)

where  $a_{kj} = b_{kj} = C_{kj} = 0$  for k < 0 or j < 0.

It is clearly seen from equation (11.2.32) that

 $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \dots = \mu_{k-1} = 0 \iff v_3 = v_5 = \dots = v_{2k-1} = 0.$ 

Therefore, when determining the conditions such that  $v_1 = v_2 = \cdots = v_{k-1} = 0$ , one can instead use the equations:  $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \cdots = \mu_{k-1} = 0$ . If the  $\mu_k$ 's are simpler than the  $v_k$ 's then this method is better than the method of directly computing  $v_k$ . However, in general such  $\mu_k$  are not necessarily simpler than  $v_k$ . We shall see this in the next two subsections.

It should be pointed out that since the normal form (focus value) is not unique, the focus values obtained using different methods are not necessarily the same. However, the first nonzero focus value must be identical (ignoring a constant multiplier). This implies that for different focus values obtained using different approaches, the solution to the equations  $v_3 = v_5 = \cdots = v_{2k-1} = 0$  (or  $\mu_1 = \mu_3 = \cdots = \mu_{k-1} = 0$ ) must be identical.

For the three methods described above, symbolic programs have been developed using Maple, which will be used in the following two subsections.

## 11.2.4. Applications

#### The Brusselator model

We first use the well-known Brusselator model to consider the application of the three methods described in the previous subsection. The model is described by [325]

$$\dot{w}_1 = A - (1+B)w_1 + w_1^2 w_2,$$
  
$$\dot{w}_2 = Bw_1 - w_1^2 w_2,$$
 (11.2.35)

where A, B > 0 are parameters. The system has a unique equilibrium point:

$$w_{1e} = A, \qquad w_{2e} = \frac{B}{A}.$$
 (11.2.36)

Evaluating the Jacobian of system (11.2.35) at the equilibrium point (11.2.36) shows that a Hopf bifurcation occurs at the critical point  $B = 1 + A^2$ . Letting

$$B = 1 + A^2 + \mu, \tag{11.2.37}$$

where  $\mu$  is a perturbation parameter, then the Jacobian has eigenvalues  $\lambda = \pm Ai$ . Suppose A = 1, and then introduce the transformation:  $w_1 = w_{1e} + x_1$ ,  $w_2 = w_{2e} - x_1 + x_2$  into (11.2.35) to obtain the new system:

$$\dot{x}_1 = x_2 + \mu x_1 + \mu x_1^2 + 2x_1 x_2 - x_1^3 + x_1^2 x_2,$$
  
$$\dot{x}_2 = -x_1.$$
(11.2.38)

Now at the critical point defined by  $\mu = 0$ , we apply the three methods described in the previous subsection to compute the first-order focus value. The Maple programs are employed to obtain the following results.

The Takens method:  $b_{13} = -\frac{3}{8}$ ;

The perturbation method:  $v_3 = -\frac{3}{8}$ ;

The singular point value method:  $\mu_1 = \frac{3}{4}i$ .

It is seen that  $b_{13} = v_3 = \frac{i}{2}\mu_1$ . Ignoring the constant factor  $\frac{i}{2}$ , the three methods give the identical result for the first-order focus value:  $-\frac{3}{8}$ . This shows that the limit cycles bifurcating from the critical point  $\mu = 0$  in the vicinity of the equilibrium point  $(w_{1c}, w_{2c})$  is supercritical, i.e., the bifurcating limit cycles are stable since the first-order focus value is negative.

Further, computing the second order focus value yields

The Takens method:  $b_{15} = -\frac{1}{96}$ ; The perturbation method:  $v_5 = -\frac{1}{96}$ ; The singular point value method:  $\mu_2 = -\frac{67}{48}i$ .

This indicates that the Takens method and the perturbation method still give same second-order focus value, but the singular point value method yields a different  $\mu_2$ . This is not surprising since the second-order singular point value is a combination of  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu_2$ .

One more further step computation shows that

The Takens method:  $b_{17} = -\frac{2695}{36864}$ ; The perturbation method:  $v_5 = -\frac{4543}{36864}$ ; The singular point value method:  $\mu_2 = \frac{6239}{2304}i$ .

For the third-order focus value, even the Takens method and the perturbation method give different answers.

Numerical simulation results obtained from the original system (11.2.35) are shown in Figure 11.2.1. This figure clearly indicates that when A = 1.0, B = 1.95, the trajectory converges to the stable equilibrium point ( $w_{1c}$ ,  $w_{2c}$ ) = (1, 1.95) (see Figure 11.2.1(a)); while when A = 1.0, B = 2.05, the equilibrium point becomes unstable and a stable limit cycle bifurcates from the equilibrium point (see Figure 11.2.1(b)).

### The induction machine model

In this subsection, we present a model of induction machine to demonstrate the application of the results obtained in the previous subsections. The model is based on the one discussed in [212] and the same notations are adopted here. Since in this chapter we are mainly interested in the application of focus value computation, we will not give the detailed derivation of the model.



Figure 11.2.1. Simulated trajectories of the Brusselator model (11.2.35) for A = 1.0 with the initial point  $(w_1, w_2) = (2, -1)$ : (a) convergent to the stable equilibrium point  $w^+$  when B = 1.95; and (b) convergent to a stable limit cycle when B = 2.05.

An induction machine (or asynchronous machine) is one of the electrical machines which is widely used in industry. The behavior of induction machine was studied for years, but the main attention has been focused on steady state solutions due to the complexity of the model (even with simplifying assumptions). In order to study dynamical behavior of the model such as instability and bifurcations, it needs to determine the conditions of the bifurcation (critical) points.

The model is described by a system of seven ordinary differential equations, given by

$$\begin{split} \dot{\phi}_{qs} &= \omega_b \left\{ u_q - \phi_{ds} + \frac{r_s}{X_{1s}} \left[ X_{aq} \left( \frac{\phi_{qs}}{X_{1s}} + \frac{\phi'_{qr}}{X'_{1r}} \right) - \phi_{qs} \right] \right\}, \\ \dot{\phi}_{ds} &= \omega_b \left\{ u_d + \phi_{qs} + \frac{r_s}{X_{1s}} \left[ X_{aq} \left( \frac{\phi_{ds}}{X_{1s}} + \frac{\phi'_{dr}}{X'_{1r}} \right) - \phi_{ds} \right] \right\}, \\ \dot{\phi}_{0s} &= \omega_b \left\{ \frac{r_s}{X_{1s}} (-\phi_{0s}) \right\}, \\ \dot{\phi}'_{qr} &= \omega_b \left\{ -(1 - \omega_r) \phi'_{dr} + \frac{r'_r}{X'_{1r}} \left[ X_{aq} \left( \frac{\phi_{qs}}{X_{1s}} + \frac{\phi'_{qr}}{X'_{1r}} \right) - \phi'_{qr} \right] \right\}, \\ \dot{\phi}'_{dr} &= \omega_b \left\{ (1 - \omega_r) \phi'_{qr} + \frac{r'_r}{X'_{1r}} \left[ X_{aq} \left( \frac{\phi_{ds}}{X_{1s}} + \frac{\phi'_{dr}}{X'_{1r}} \right) - \phi'_{dr} \right] \right\}, \\ \dot{\phi}_{0r} &= \omega_b \left\{ \frac{r'_r}{X'_{1r}} (-\phi'_{0r}) \right\}, \\ \dot{\omega}'_r &= \frac{1}{2H} \left\{ \frac{X_{ad}}{X_{1s}X'_{1r}} (\phi_{qs}\phi'_{dr} - \phi_{ds}\phi'_{qr}) - T_L \right\}, \end{split}$$
(11.2.39)

where, except for the state variables, all variables denote the system parameters. Letting

$$w_1 = \phi_{qs}, \quad w_2 = \phi_{ds}, \quad w_3 = \phi_{0s}, \quad w_4 = \phi'_{qr}, \quad w_5 = \phi'_{dr},$$
  
 $w_6 = \phi'_{0r}, \quad w_7 = \omega_r,$ 

and substituting proper parameter values to equation (11.2.39) finally yields a model of a 3hp induction machine as  $\dot{w} = f(w, V)$ :

$$\dot{w}_{1} = -\frac{3}{10}w_{1} - w_{2} + \frac{3}{10}w_{4} + V,$$
  

$$\dot{w}_{2} = w_{1} - \frac{3}{10}w_{2} + \frac{3}{10}w_{5},$$
  

$$\dot{w}_{3} = -\frac{3}{5}w_{3},$$
  

$$\dot{w}_{4} = \frac{1}{2}w_{1} - \frac{1}{2}w_{4} - w_{5} + w_{5}w_{7},$$
  

$$\dot{w}_{5} = \frac{1}{2}w_{2} + w_{4} - \frac{1}{2}w_{5} - w_{4}w_{7},$$
  

$$\dot{w}_{6} = -w_{6},$$
  

$$\dot{w}_{7} = \frac{7}{120\pi^{3}}(14w_{1}w_{5} - 14w_{2}w_{4} - 1),$$
  
(11.2.40)

where V > 0 is a bifurcation parameter, representing the input voltage of the motor.

Setting  $\dot{w}_i = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., 7$ , results in two equilibrium solutions (fixed points):

$$w_{1}^{\pm} = -\frac{3(-350V^{2} + 15 \pm 10S)}{7630V},$$
  

$$w_{2}^{\pm} = \frac{7315V^{2} - 150 \pm 9S}{7360V},$$
  

$$w_{3}^{\pm} = 0,$$
  

$$w_{4}^{\pm} = -\frac{1}{14V},$$
  

$$w_{5}^{\pm} = \frac{35V^{2} \pm S}{70V},$$
  

$$w_{6}^{\pm} = 0,$$
  

$$w_{7}^{\pm} = \frac{-350V^{2} + 124 \pm 10S}{109},$$
  
(11.2.41)

where  $S = \sqrt{1225V^4 - 105V^2 - 25}$ , indicating that the equilibrium solutions exist when  $V^2 \ge \frac{3+\sqrt{109}}{70}$ . The Jacobian of equation (11.2.40) is given by

$$J(\boldsymbol{w}) = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{3}{10} & -1 & 0 & \frac{3}{10} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 1 & -\frac{3}{10} & 0 & 0 & \frac{3}{10} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{3}{5} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2} & -1 + w_7 & 0 & w_5\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} & 0 & 1 - w_7 & -\frac{1}{2} & 0 & -w_4\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0\\ \frac{49w_5}{60\pi^3} & -\frac{49w_4}{60\pi^3} & 0 & -\frac{49w_2}{60\pi^3} & \frac{49w_1}{60\pi^3} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.2.42)

The conditions for various singularities of the system have been obtained in [428], but the stability of bifurcating limit cycles was not discussed. Here, we will consider the stability of limit cycles generated from a Hopf bifurcation for which the Jacobian of (11.2.42) has a pair of purely imaginary eigenvalues, which requires that  $V \ge V_0 = ((3 + \sqrt{109})/70)^{1/2} \approx 0.4381830425$  [428]. Since  $w^-$  is always unstable when  $V > V_0$ , we only consider  $w^+$  which can be shown to be stable when  $V \in (0.4381830425, 6.2395593195) \cup (7.75369242394, \infty)$ and unstable when  $V \in (6.2395593195, 7.35369242394)$ . The point  $V_0 =$ 0.4381830425 is a static critical point. Furthermore, we can employ the criterion given in [428] to show that

$$V_{h1} = 6.2395593195$$
 and  $V_{h2} = 7.35369242394$  (11.2.43)

are two solutions at which Hopf bifurcations occur. When  $V = V_{h1}$ , the eigenvalues of  $J(\mathbf{x})$  are:

$$\pm 0.7905733366i, -1, -0.6, -0.5630004665, -0.5184997667 \pm 1.0893171380i,$$

at which the equilibrium solution  $w^+$  becomes (see equation (11.2.41))

$$w_1^+ = 0.0000063079, \qquad w_2^+ = 6.2361231187, w_4^+ = -0.0114476949, w_5^+ = 6.2361020924, \qquad w_7^+ = 0.9990816376, w_3^+ = w_6^+ = 0.$$
(11.2.44)

To find the focus values associated with the Hopf critical point  $V_{h1} = 6.2395593195$ , introduce the following transformation:

$$\boldsymbol{w} = \boldsymbol{w}^+ + T\boldsymbol{x},\tag{11.2.45}$$

where T is given by

|     | $\begin{bmatrix} 0.10862467\\ 0.50584433\\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$ | $0.46795879 \\ -0.00073468$ |       | $     \begin{array}{c}       0 \\       0 \\       1     \end{array} $ | $-0.34351003 \\ -0.16247093$ | -0.06005005<br>0.33909080  | 0.41854500<br>-0.01044227  |
|-----|---|-----------------------------|-------|--|------------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------------|
| T = | 0.56158663  | $0.75176240 \\ -0.22757384$ | 0 0 0 |  | -0.24042543<br>1.28746653    | -0.34572171<br>-0.00888757 | -0.55769267<br>-0.15628647 |
|     | 0   | 0                           | 1     | 0  | 0                            | 0                          | 0                          |
|     | L = -0.05896448   | 0.09391575                  | 0     | 0  | 0.03016055                   | 0.10325630                 | -0.09231719                |

under which the transformed system is given in the canonical form:

$$\dot{x} = Jx + f_2(x), \tag{11.2.46}$$

where J is

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0.79057334 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -0.79057334 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -0.6 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -0.56300047 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -0.51849977 & 1.08931714 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1.08931714 & -0.51849979 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then applying the Maple program [420] results in the following focus values:

$$v_3 = -0.17753379 \times 10^{-2}, \quad v_5 = -0.93206291 \times 10^{-5},$$
  
 $v_7 = -0.15369758 \times 10^{-6},$  (11.2.47)

which indicates that the family of limit cycles bifurcating from the critical point  $V_{h1}$  in the neighborhood of  $w^+$  is stable.

Simulation results for this example using system (11.2.40) for V = 6.0and V = 6.5 are depicted in Figure 11.2.2. The initial point is chosen as



Figure 11.2.2. Simulated trajectories of the induction machine model (11.2.40) projected on the  $w_1 - w_2$  plane with the initial point  $w_0 = (0.5, 5.5, 2.0, -3.0, 1.0, 4.0, -5.0)^T$ : (a) convergent to the stable equilibrium point  $w^+ = (0.0000070946, 5.9964264430, 0, -0.0119047619, 5.9964027942, 0, 0.9990067495)^T$  when V = 6.0; and (b) convergent to a stable limit cycle when V = 6.5.

 $\boldsymbol{w}_0 = (0.5, 5.5, 2.0, -3.0, 1.0, 4.0, -5.0)^T$ . It can be seen from this figure, as expected, that when  $V = 6.0 < V_{h1}$  the trajectory converges to the stable equilibrium point:

$$\boldsymbol{w}^{+} = (0.0000709, 5.99642644, 0, -0.01190476, 5.99640279, 0, 0.99900675)^{T},$$

as shown in Figure 11.2.2(a). When  $V = 6.5 > V_{h1}$ , the equilibrium point becomes unstable and a supercritical Hopf bifurcation occurs, giving rise to a stable limit cycle (see Figure 11.2.2(b)).

It should be pointed out that the perturbation method can be applied to the 7-D system (11.2.46) without employing center manifold theory (more precisely, the center manifold theory is incorporated in the unified approach), while the Takens method and the singular point value method cannot be directly applied to system (11.2.46).

Note that in the above two examples, except for the bifurcation parameters, all system parameters are fixed. In the next section, we will consider a system with free parameters and want to find maximal number of limit cycles by appropriately choosing parameter values.

## Hilbert's 16th problem

The well-known 23 mathematical problems proposed by Hilbert in 1990 [167] have significant impact on the mathematics of the 20th century. Two of the 23 problems remain unsolved, one of them is the 16th problem. This problem includes two parts: the first part studies the relative positions of separate branches of algebraic curves, while the second part considers the upper bound of the number of limit cycles and their relative locations in polynomial vector fields. Generally, the second part of this problem is what usually meant when talking about Hilbert's 16th problem. The recent developments on Hilbert's 16th problem may be found in the survey articles [227,429]. A simplified version—the Liénard equation—of the second part of Hilbert's 16th problem has been recently chosen by Smale [364] as one of the 18 most challenging mathematical problems for the 21st century. Although it is still far away from completely solving the problem, the research on this problem has made great progress with contributions to the development of modern mathematics.

Roughly speaking, the second part of Hilbert's 16th problem is to consider the planar vector fields, described by the following polynomial differential equations:

$$\dot{x} = P_n(x, y), \qquad \dot{y} = Q_n(x, y), \qquad (11.2.48)$$

where  $P_n(x, y)$  and  $Q_n(x, y)$  represent the *n*th-degree polynomials of x and y. The problem is to find the upper bound, known as the Hilbert number H(n), on

the number of limit cycles that the system can have. In general, this is a very difficult technical problem, in particular, for determining global (large) limit cycles. Although it has not been possible to obtain a precise number for H(n), a great deal of efforts have been made in finding the maximal number of limit cycles and raising the lower bound of Hilbert number H(n) for general planar polynomial systems of certain degree, hoping to be close to the real upper bound of H(n).

If the problem is restricted to a neighborhood of isolated fixed points, then the question reduces to studying degenerate Hopf bifurcations, which gives rise to fine focus points. Alternatively, this is equivalent to computing the normal form of differential equations associated with Hopf or degenerate Hopf bifurcation. Suppose the normal form associated with this Hopf singularity is given in polar coordinates (obtained using, say, the method given in [420]) described by equation (11.2.19). The basic idea of finding *k* small limit cycles around the origin is as follows: First, find the conditions such that  $v_1 = v_3 = \cdots = v_{2k-1} = 0$ , but  $v_{2k+1} \neq 0$ , and then perform appropriate small perturbations to prove the existence of *k* limit cycles. In 1952 Bautin [22] proved that a quadratic planar polynomial vector field can have maximal 3 small limit cycles, i.e.,  $H(2) \ge 3$ . Later, it was shown that  $H(2) \ge 4$ . For cubic systems, the best result obtained so far is  $H(3) \ge 12$  [424,431,432].

In the following, we will particularly show that a cubic-order,  $Z_2$ -equivariant vector field can have 12 limit cycles. To achieve this, we apply the standard complex formula [227]:

$$\dot{z} = F_2(z, \bar{z}), \qquad \dot{\bar{z}} = \overline{F}_2(z, \bar{z}), \qquad (11.2.49)$$

where

$$F_2(z,\bar{z}) = (A_0 + A_1|z|^2)z + (A_2 + A_3|z|^2)\bar{z} + A_4z^3 + A_5\bar{z}^3.$$
(11.2.50)

Let  $z = w_1 + iw_2$ ,  $\overline{z} = w_1 - iw_2$ ,  $A_j = a_j + ib_j$ , where  $w_1$ ,  $w_2$  and  $a_j$ ,  $b_j$  are all real. Then system (11.2.49) is transformed to the following real form:

$$\dot{w}_{1} = (a_{0} + a_{2})w_{1} - (b_{0} - b_{2})w_{2} + (a_{1} + a_{3} + a_{4} + a_{5})w_{1}^{3} - (b_{1} - b_{3} + 3b_{4} - 3b_{5})w_{1}^{2}w_{2} + (a_{1} + a_{3} - 3a_{4} - 3a_{5})w_{1}w_{2}^{2} - (b_{1} - b_{3} - b_{4} + b_{5})w_{2}^{3}, \dot{w}_{2} = (b_{0} + b_{2})w_{1} + (a_{0} - a_{2})w_{2} + (b_{1} + b_{3} + b_{4} + b_{5})w_{1}^{3} + (a_{1} - a_{3} + 3a_{4} - 3a_{5})w_{1}^{2}w_{2} + (b_{1} + b_{3} - 3b_{4} - 3b_{5})w_{1}w_{2}^{2} + (a_{1} - a_{3} - a_{4} + a_{5})w_{2}^{3}.$$
(11.2.51)

The two eigenvalues of the Jacobian of system (11.2.51) evaluated at the origin  $(w_1, w_2) = (0, 0)$  are  $a_0 \pm \sqrt{a_2^2 + b_2^2 - b_0^2}$ , indicating that the origin (0, 0) is a saddle point or a node when  $a_2^2 + b_2^2 - b_0^2 \ge 0$ , or a focus point or a center if  $a_2^2 + b_2^2 - b_0^2 < 0$ . When  $a_2^2 + b_2^2 - b_0^2 = 0$ , the origin is either a node or a double

zero singular point. By a parametric transformation, rename the coefficients of the resulting system to yield the following system:

$$\dot{x} = ax + by + a_{30}x^3 + a_{21}x^2y + a_{12}xy^2 + a_{03}y^3,$$
  
$$\dot{y} = \pm bx + ay + b_{30}x^3 + b_{21}x^2y + b_{12}xy^2 + b_{03}y^3,$$
 (11.2.52)

where b > 0.

For a vector field with  $Z_2$ -symmetry, naturally the best way is to have two symmetric focus points about the origin. Thus, if N small limit cycles are found in the neighborhood of one focus point, the whole system would have 2N limit cycles. Without loss of generality, the two symmetric focus points can be assumed on the *y*-axis (or the *x*-axis), and further assumed to be located at  $(0, \pm 1)$  with a proper scaling, leading to the conditions  $a_{03} = -b$  and  $b_{03} = -a$ . Another condition  $a_{12} = a$  comes from making the two focus points be Hopf type. Furthermore, by applying proper parameter scaling and time scaling, we obtain the following new system [432]:

$$\frac{du}{d\tau} = v + 2\bar{a}_{21}u^2 + 4auv - \frac{3}{2}v^2 + 4b\bar{a}_{30}u^3 - 2\bar{a}_{21}u^2v - 2auv^2 + \frac{1}{2}v^3,$$

$$\frac{dv}{d\tau} = -u - 4\bar{b}_{21}u^2 + 2(2a^2 \mp 2b^2 + 1)uv - 8\bar{b}_{30}u^3 + 4\bar{b}_{21}u^2v$$

$$- (2a^2 \mp b^2 + 1)uv^2,$$
(11.2.53)

where the coefficients  $\bar{a}_{21}$ ,  $\bar{b}_{21}$ ,  $\bar{a}_{30}$  and  $\bar{b}_{30}$  are expressed in terms of the original parameters a, b,  $a_{21}$ ,  $b_{21}$ ,  $a_{30}$ ,  $b_{30}$ . Thus, based on equation (11.2.53), we can compute focus values and consider the existence of small limit cycles.

Note that system (11.2.53) contains 6 free parameters, which suggests that we may set 6 focus values zero and obtain 7 small limit cycles for system (11.2.53), and therefore, the original system may have 14 small limit cycles. However, it has been shown in [432] that the existence of 14 limit cycles is not possible. The maximal number of small limit cycles that a cubic-order system with  $Z_2$  symmetry can have is 12.

We now apply the three methods given in the previous subsection to compute the focus values of system (11.2.53) to obtain the following results:

```
With the Takens method:

b13:=1/2*a-2*a^2*b21b-2*a21b*b21b-a21b*a+2*b^2*b21b+3/2*b*a30b

-1/2*b21b:

b15:=-11/36*a-7/3*a*a21b*b^2-25/9*b21b*a21b*a^2-1/6*a21b*b*a30b

+92/9*b21b*b^2*a^2-11/9*b21b*a21b*b^2-8/9*b21b*a21b*2

-14/3*b21b*a^4-50/9*b21b*b^4+11/9*a*a21b^2+2/3*b^3*a30b

+11/36*b21b+1/9*a^3*a21b-5/3*a*b30b+2*b21b*2*a+23/3*b21b*b30b

-2/9*a*b^4+4/9*a^3*b^2-2/9*a^5-40/9*b21b^3+152/9*a^3*b21b*b30b

+2/9*a*b^4+4/9*a^3=2.2/9*a^5-40/9*b21b^3-16/3*a^3*b21b*2

-2/3*b^5*a30b+40/9*b^6*b21b-160/9*a^2*b21b^3-16/3*a^3*b30b

+2/9*a21b^2*a^3-1/9*a^3-6*b21b*a*b*a30b-8*a21b*b21b*b^2*a^2

-1/3*a21b*a^2*b*a30b-8/9*a21b*a^3*b^2+4*a21b*b21b*a^4

+4*a21b*b21b*b^4-2/9*a21b^2*b^2*a-4*a21b^2b^2*b21b^2*a
```

```
+4/3*a^2*b^3*a30b+40/3*b21b^2*b*a30b+10/3*a21b^2*b*a30b
     +8*a21b*b21b^2*a+4/9*a21b*a*b^4+52/3*a^2*b21b*b30b
     -40/3*a^2*b21b*b^4-52/3*b^2*b21b*b30b+16/3*b^2*a*b30b
     +40/3*b^2*b21b*a^4-3*b*a30b*b30b+1/3*a21b*b^3*a30b
     +52/3*a21b*b21b*b30b-10/3*a21b*a*b30b+23/18*a21b*b21b
     -11/12*b*a30b+11/9*b^2*a+5/9*b^2*b21b+5/9*a21b*a+7/9*a^2*b21b
     -40/9*a21b^3*b21b-20/9*a21b^3*a+4/9*a21b*a^5-40/9*a^6*b21b
     +160/9*b^2*b21b^3-160/9*a21b*b21b^3:
b17 := ...
            (87 lines)
b19 := ...
           (355 lines)
v111:= ... (1180 lines)
With the perturbation method:
v3 :=-2*a21b*b21b-a21b*a+1/2*a-1/2*b21b+3/2*b*a30b+2*b21b*b^2
     -2*b21b*a^2:
v5 :=4*a21b^2*b21b*a^2-7/3*a21b*a*b^2-8/9*a21b*b^2*a^3
     -11/9*a21b*b21b*b^2-2/9*a21b^2*a*b^2-11/36*a+16/3*a*b^2*b30b
     +4/3*b^3*a30b*a^2-25/9*a21b*b21b*a^2-4*a21b^2*b21b*b^2
     -1/6*a21b*b*a30b+40/3*b*a30b*b21b^2-152/9*a*b21b^2*b^2
     -10/3*a21b*a*b30b-40/3*b21b*b^4*a^2+4/9*a21b*a*b^4
     -2/3*b*a30b*a^4+92/9*b21b*b^2*a^2-3*b*a30b*b30b
     -11/12*b*a30b+11/36*b21b+4*a21b*b21b*b^4+4*a21b*b21b*a^4
     -52/3*b21b*b^2*b30b+52/3*a21b*b21b*b30b+52/3*b21b*a^2*b30b
     +1/3*a21b*b^3*a30b+40/3*b21b*b^2*a^4+160/9*b21b^3*b^2
     -16/3*a^3*b30b+23/3*b21b*b30b+11/9*a*b^2+4/9*b^2*a^3+5/9*a21b*a
     -40/9*a21b^3*b21b-20/9*a21b^3*a+40/9*b21b*b^6-40/9*b21b*a^6
     +152/9*b21b^2*a^3+1/9*a21b*a^3-5/3*a*b30b+2*a*b21b^2
     -8/9*a21b^2*b21b+11/9*a21b^2*a+7/9*b21b*a^2+5/9*b21b*b^2
     -2/3*b^5*a30b-160/9*a21b*b21b^3-160/9*b21b^3*a^2+2/9*a21b^2*a^3
     +2/3*b^3*a30b+4/9*a21b*a^5-2/9*a*b^4-14/3*b21b*a^4-50/9*b21b*b^4
     +23/18*a21b*b21b-1/3*a21b*b*a30b*a^2-8*a21b*b21b*b^2*a^2
     -6*a*b*a30b*b21b+10/3*a21b*2*b*a30b+8*a21b*a*b21b*2-40/9*b21b*3
     -1/9*a^3-2/9*a^5:
v7 := ... (83 lines)
v9 := ... (344 lines)
v11:= ... (1173 lines)
With the singular point value method:
mu1:=I*(-3*b*a30b-a+b21b+4*b21b*a^2-4*b21b*b^2+4*a21b*b21b+2*a21b*a):
mu2:=-1/48*I*(736*b21b*b30b-17*a+1664*a21b*b21b*b30b+264*a21b*b*a30b
     -960*b21b^2*b*a30b-2544*a21b^2*b*a30b-352*a^3*a21b+64*b^2*a
     +1152*a^4*b21b-96*b^3*a30b-384*b^4*b21b-160*a*b30b
     -320*a*a21b*b30b+1664*a^2*b21b*b30b-1664*b^2*b21b*b30b
     -928*a^2*b*a30b-768*b^2*b21b*a^2+2976*b^3*a21b*a30b
     +864*b^2*a*a21b-384*b^4*a+768*b^2*a^3-1152*b^5*a30b+17*b21b
     -51*b*a30b-1152*a^4*b*a30b-1664*b21b^2*a+496*a21b^2*b21b
     -1024*a21b^2*a-20*a21b*b21b+122*a*a21b+1444*a^2*b21b
     +156*b^2*b21b+3392*a21b^3*b21b+1280*a^2*b21b^3+1280*b21b^3*a21b
     -1024*b^6*b21b+1024*a^6*b21b+768*a^5*a21b-2816*a^3*b21b^2
     +1984*a^3*a21b^2-512*a^3*b30b+1696*a*a21b^3-1280*b^2*b21b^3
     +2304*b^3*a30b*a^2-320*a^3-384*a^5+5760*a^4*a21b*b21b
     +512*a*b30b*b^2+5760*b^4*a21b*b21b+320*b21b^3+768*b^4*a*a21b
     -1536*b^2*a^3*a21b-3072*b^2*a^4*b21b+3072*b^4*a^2*b21b
     -512*b^2*a21b*b21b-288*b*a30b*b30b-11520*b^2*a^2*a21b*b21b
     +2752*a*b21b*b*a30b-2976*a^2*a21b*b*a30b-640*a^2*a21b*b21b
     -1984*b^2*a*a21b^2-8128*b^2*a21b^2*b21b-2176*a*b21b^2*a21b
     +8128*a^2*b21b*a21b^2+2816*b^2*a*b21b^2):
mu3:= ...
            (85 lines)
mu4:= ...
mu4:= ... (355 lines)
mu5:= ... (1156 lines)
```

The numbers given in the brackets denote the number of lines in the computer output files.

It is easy to see that

$$b_{13} = v_3 = \frac{i}{2}\mu_1,$$

which shows that the three different methods give the same first-order focus value (at most by a difference of a constant fact), as expected. For the second-order focus values, it can be shown that  $b_{15} = v_5$ , but  $v_5 \neq \mu_2$  (within a difference of a constant fact). Further, for the third-order focus values,  $b_{17} \neq v_7$ . However, setting  $b_{13} = v_3 = \mu_1 = 0$  results in

$$\bar{a}_{30} = \frac{a(2\bar{a}_{21}-1) + \bar{b}_{21}(4\bar{a}_{21}+4a^2-4b^2+1)}{3b},$$

and then

$$b_{15} = v_5 = \frac{i}{2}\mu_2.$$

Further letting  $b_{15} = v_5 = \mu_2 = 0$  (from which one can obtain  $\overline{b}_{30} = \overline{b}_{30}(a, b, \overline{a}_{21}, \overline{b}_{21})$ ) yields

$$b_{17} = v_7 = \frac{i}{2}\mu_3.$$

This process can be carried out to higher-order focus values, i.e., when  $b_{1(2i+1)} = v_{2i+1} = \mu_i = 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., k - 1, we have

$$b_{1(2k+1)} = v_{2k+1} = \frac{i}{2}\mu_k.$$

For generic case, it has been shown [432] that one can find the following parameter values such that  $v_i = 0$ , i = 1, 2, ..., 5, but  $v_6 \neq 0$ ; there are two solutions for which the origin is a saddle point:

$$b = \pm 15.7264394069a,$$
  

$$\bar{b}_{21} = -1.1061229255a,$$
  

$$\bar{a}_{21} = 0.7000000000 + 103.3880431509a^{2},$$
  

$$\bar{b}_{30} = \frac{0.2564102564a^{2}(0.0089196607 + 0.0982810312a^{2} + 0.2527227926a^{4})}{0.0661528794 + 0.2704669566a^{2}},$$
  

$$\bar{a}_{30} = \mp (0.0806130156 - 17.7870588470a^{2}),$$
 (11.2.54)

and other two solutions for which the origin is a node:

$$b = \pm 0.4765747114a,$$
  

$$\bar{b}_{21} = 0.2033343806a,$$
  

$$\bar{a}_{21} = 0.7000000000 + 1.0149654014a^2,$$



Figure 11.2.3. The phase portraits of system (11.2.52) having 12 limit cycles: (a) when the origin is a saddle point for  $a = a_{12} = -b_{03} = -0.0883176873$ ,  $b = -a_{03} = 1.3898788398$ ,  $a_{30} = 0.0282840060$ ,  $a_{21} = 1.1005496998$ ,  $b_{30} = 0.7230834412$ ,  $b_{21} = -0.1483513686$ ,  $b_{12} = -1.0189112324$ ; and (b) when the origin is a focus point for  $a = a_{12} = -b_{03} = -0.7$ ,  $b = -a_{03} = -0.5889218635$ ,  $a_{30} = 2.2161956860$ ,  $a_{21} = -2.5682071892$ ,  $b_{30} = -0.7072960219$ ,  $b_{21} = 2.2961669830$ ,  $b_{12} = -3.1019886923$ , where the two square boxes denote the locations of the 12 limit cycles.

$$\bar{b}_{30} = \frac{a^2(0.0481488581 + 65.9546167690a^2 - 9379.2591506305a^4)}{0.0008286738 - 0.1076372236a^2},$$
  
$$\bar{a}_{30} = \pm (0.8202076319 + 2.4368685248a^2).$$
(11.2.55)

Here, a is an arbitrary real number. It has also been shown that when the origin is a focus point, there still exist 12 small limit cycles [432]. The main result for cubic systems is given in the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.2.6. For the cubic system (11.2.52), suppose it has property of  $Z_2$ -symmetry, then the maximal number of small limit cycles that the system can exhibit is 12, i.e.,  $H(3) \ge 12$ .

We shall not discuss further the procedures and formulas to obtain the 12 limit cycles. Interested readers can find more details from references [431,432]. We give two numerical simulation results below, as shown in Figure 11.2.3, one for the case of the origin being saddle point and the other for the origin being focus point. The case of the origin being a node can be found in [432].

# **11.3.** Computation of the SNF with parameters

The computation of normal forms has been mainly restricted to systems which do not contain perturbation parameters. However, in practice a physical system or a control problem always involves some parameters, usually called perturbation parameters or unfolding. Such normal forms are very important in applications. A conventional normal form (CNF considered in Section 11.2) with unfolding is usually obtained in two steps: First ignore the perturbation parameter and compute the normal form for the corresponding "reduced" system (by setting the parameters zero), and then add an unfolding to the resulting normal form. This way it greatly reduces the computation effort, with the cost that it does not provide the transformation between the original system and the normal form. For the simplest normal form (SNF), on the other hand, since Ushiki [386] introduced the method of infinitesimal deformation in 1984 to study the SNF of vector fields, although many researchers have considered several cases of singularities (for example, see [421,386,17,80,81,358,390,68,443]), no single application using the SNF has been reported. This is because that the main attention in this area has been focused on the computation of the SNF without perturbation parameters. Recently, single zero and Hopf singularities have been considered and the explicit SNFs with unfolding have been obtained by introducing time and parameter rescalings [425,435]. In this section, after general formulas presented, a brief summary for the SNFs associated with dimension-one singularities (single zero and Hopf) will be given.

For a general nonlinear physical or engineering system, which may include stable manifold, normal form theory is usually employed together with center manifold theory [59] in order to take the contribution from the stable manifold. In general, given a nonlinear system, center manifold theory is applied before employing normal form theory. The idea of center manifold theory is similar to normal form theory—simplify the system by applying successive nonlinear transformations. It reduces the original system to a center manifold which has smaller dimension than that of the original system. Different methods have been developed to combine center manifold theory with normal form theory in one unified procedure (e.g., see [420,426,434]). In [426] an efficient computation method and Maple programs are developed for general systems associated with semi-simple cases. However, the normal form computation presented in [426] does not contain perturbation parameters (unfolding), and thus is not directly applicable in solving practical problems.

## 11.3.1. General formulation

In this section, we shall present an efficient approach for computing the SNF with perturbation parameters (unfolding) directly from general n-D systems which are not necessarily described on center manifold, and apply the method to consider controlling bifurcations. An explicit, recursive formula will be derived for computing the normal forms associated with general semi-simple cases. The approach is efficient since it reduces the computation to minimum at each step of finding

ordered algebraic equations. Based on the general recursive formula, the SNFs for single zero and Hopf singularities are obtained.

In this section, we shall derive the explicit formulas for computing the normal forms associated with semi-simple cases. We restrict to autonomous systems. In order for the formulas derived in this section to be used in the next section for controlled systems. Consider the following general control system, given by

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x}, \boldsymbol{\mu}) + \mathbf{u}, \quad \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \boldsymbol{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^s, \ \mathbf{F} : \mathbb{R}^{n+s} \to \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(11.3.1)

where x, u and  $\mu$  are state variable, control variable and system parameter, respectively.  $\mu$  may be considered as control parameters. Usually,  $\mu$  is not explicitly shown in a control system. In this chapter,  $\mu$  is explicitly shown for the convenience of bifurcation analysis. The control function u can be, in general, any kind of function of the parameter  $\mu$  as well as time t, which renders system (11.3.1) nonautonomous. However, when a control law is determined, system (11.3.1) may be transformed to an autonomous one. For instance, suppose the feedback, given by

$$\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{\mu}), \tag{11.3.2}$$

is chosen, then system (11.3.1) becomes autonomous, and the bifurcation theory for differential equations can be applied with the  $\mu$  as control parameter. Then, system (11.3.1) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{x}} = \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\mu}) + \boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\mu}) \stackrel{\Delta}{=} J\boldsymbol{x} + \boldsymbol{f}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{\mu}), \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \boldsymbol{R}^n, \ \boldsymbol{\mu} \in \boldsymbol{R}^s, \quad (11.3.3)$$

where Jx denotes the linear terms. Further, without loss of generality, it is assumed that x = 0 is an equilibrium point of the system for any real values of  $\mu$ , i.e.,  $f(0, \mu) \equiv 0$ . The nonlinear function f is assumed to be analytic with respect to x and  $\mu$ . J is the Jacobian matrix of the system evaluated at the equilibrium point x = 0, when the parameter  $\mu$  reaches its critical point  $\mu = 0$ , given in the form of

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} J_0 & 0\\ 0 & J_1 \end{bmatrix},\tag{11.3.4}$$

where both  $J_0$  and  $J_1$  are assumed in diagonal form, indicating that all eigenvalues of the Jacobian are semi-simple.  $J_0$  includes the eigenvalues  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_{n_0}$  with zero real parts, while  $J_1$  has the eigenvalues  $\lambda_{n_0+1}, \lambda_{n_0+1}, \ldots, \lambda_n$  with negative real parts. In other words, system (11.3.3) does not contain unstable manifold in the vicinity of x.

To find the normal form of system (11.3.3), one may expand the dimension of system (11.3.3) from *n* to n + s, by adding the equation  $\dot{\mu} = 0$  to system (11.3.3) to obtain a new system:

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = J\mathbf{x} + f(\mathbf{x}, \mu), \quad \dot{\mu} = \mathbf{0}, \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{R}^n, \ \mu \in \mathbf{R}^s.$$
 (11.3.5)

Then a general near-identity transformation may be assumed either in the form of

$$x = y + h(y, v), \qquad \mu = v,$$
 (11.3.6)

or

$$x = y + h_1(y, v), \qquad \mu = v + h_2(y, v),$$
 (11.3.7)

where h(y, v),  $h_1(y, v)$  and  $h_2(y, v)$  are nonlinear analytic functions of y and v. The equation  $\mu = v$  given in equation (11.3.6) emphasizes that the parameter  $\mu$  is not changed under the transformation (11.3.6), i.e., reparametrization is not applied. For convenience, we may call transformation (11.3.6) as *state transformation* since it only changes state variable x, while call equation (11.3.7) as *state-parameter transformation* because the parameter  $\mu$  is also expressed in terms of both y and v. The state transformation is a natural way from the physical point of view since the parameter v is not a function of time. The state-parameter transformation however contains time variation in parameter  $\mu$  since it involves the state variable y. In this chapter we only consider the near-identity state transformation (11.3.6) but with reparametrization  $\mu = v + p(v)$ . Thus, transformation (11.3.6) becomes

$$x = y + h(y, v), \qquad \mu = v + p(v).$$
 (11.3.8)

For the transformation (11.3.8), we can show that it is not necessary to extend the *n*-D system (11.3.3) to (n + s)-D system (11.3.5). In fact, directly applying normal form theory to system (11.3.3) is equivalent to using system (11.3.5). To prove this, we assume that the transformed system (normal form) is given by

$$\dot{y} = J y + g(y, v), \qquad \dot{v} = 0.$$
 (11.3.9)

Then differentiating the first equation of (11.3.9) with respect to t results in

$$\frac{d\mathbf{x}}{dt} = \frac{d\mathbf{y}}{dt} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{h}}{\partial \mathbf{y}} \frac{d\mathbf{y}}{dt} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{h}}{\partial \mathbf{v}} \frac{d\mathbf{v}}{dt}$$

and then substituting equations (11.3.5) and (11.3.9) into the resulting equation yields

$$\left(1+\frac{\partial h}{\partial y}\right)g(y,v) = Lh(y,v) - \frac{\partial h}{\partial y}Ly + f(y+h(y,v),v). \quad (11.3.10)$$

Hence, the computation of the normal form of system (11.3.5) completely depends upon equation (11.3.10). However, it is easy to see that equation (11.3.10) can be also directly derived from equation (11.3.3) with the aid of the first equations of (11.3.6) and (11.3.9). Therefore, in this chapter we shall use equation (11.3.3).

Now back to the original system (11.3.3), and let  $\mathbf{x} = (\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2)^T$ , where  $\mathbf{x}_1$  and  $\mathbf{x}_2$  are variables associated with the eigenvalues of  $J_0$  and  $J_1$ , respectively. Then,

equation (11.3.3) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}_1 = J_0 \mathbf{x}_1 + f_1(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \boldsymbol{\mu}), \qquad \dot{\mathbf{x}}_2 = J_1 \mathbf{x}_2 + f_2(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \boldsymbol{\mu}).$$
 (11.3.11)

By center manifold theory [59],  $x_2$  can be expressed in terms of  $x_1$  as

$$\mathbf{x}_2 = N(\mathbf{x}_1, \boldsymbol{\mu}), \text{ satisfying } N(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{0}) = \mathbf{0}, \ \frac{\partial N(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{0})}{\partial \mathbf{x}_1 \partial \boldsymbol{\mu}} = 0,$$
 (11.3.12)

under which the second equation of (11.3.11) can be rewritten as

$$D_{x_1}N(x_1,\mu) \Big[ J_0 x_1 + f_1(x_1, N(x_1,\mu),\mu) \Big] = J_1 N(x_1,\mu) + f_2 (x_1, N(x_1,\mu),\mu).$$
(11.3.13)

Having found  $N(x_1, \mu)$  from the above equation, the first equation of (11.3.11) becomes

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}_1 = J_0 \mathbf{x}_1 + f_1 (\mathbf{x}_1, N(\mathbf{x}_1, \boldsymbol{\mu}), \boldsymbol{\mu}),$$
 (11.3.14)

which governs the dynamics of the original system (11.3.3) in the vicinity of  $(x, \mu) = (0, 0)$ .

In order to further simplify equation (11.3.14), introduce the following nonlinear transformation

$$\boldsymbol{x}_1 = \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) \stackrel{\triangle}{=} \boldsymbol{w} + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{H}_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}), \qquad (11.3.15)$$

and the time rescaling

$$t = (T_0 + T(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}))\tau \stackrel{\triangle}{=} \tau + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} T_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v})\tau, \qquad (11.3.16)$$

where v indicates the parameter rescaling, given in the form of

$$\boldsymbol{\mu} = \boldsymbol{\nu} + \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{\nu}) \stackrel{\triangle}{=} \boldsymbol{\nu} + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{p}_m(\boldsymbol{\nu}). \tag{11.3.17}$$

Note that unlike the transformation (11.3.7), here  $\mu$  given in equation (11.3.17) does not involve the time-variant variable  $\boldsymbol{w}$ . Also, note that  $T_0$  has been taken as 1 for convenience.

Further, assume that the normal form of system (11.3.14) is given by

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{w}}{d\tau} = J_0 \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{C}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) \stackrel{\triangle}{=} J_0 \boldsymbol{w} + \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{C}_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}).$$
(11.3.18)

Here,  $H_m(w, v)$  and  $C_m(w, v)$  are the *m*th-degree,  $n_0$ -D vector homogeneous polynomials of w and v, and  $p_m(v)$  is the *m*th-degree, *s*-D vector homogeneous

polynomials of v, while  $T_m(w, v)$  is the *m*th-degree, scalar homogeneous polynomials of its components.

To find the normal form, first differentiating equation (11.3.15) and substituting it into equation (11.3.14) yields

$$(I + D_{\boldsymbol{w}} \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v})) \frac{d\boldsymbol{w}}{d\tau} = \frac{dt}{d\tau} [J_0(\boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v})) + \boldsymbol{f}_1(\boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}), N(\boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}), \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{v})), \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{v}))],$$
(11.3.19)

and then using equation (11.3.16) and substituting equation (11.3.10) into the above equation and rearranging results in

$$D_{w}H(w, v)J_{0}w - J_{0}H(w, v)$$

$$= f_{1}(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))$$

$$- D_{w}H(w, v)C(w, v) - C(w, v)$$

$$+ T(w, v)[J_{0}(w + H(w, v))$$

$$+ f_{1}(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))], \qquad (11.3.20)$$

where  $h(w, v) \equiv N(w + H(w, v), v + p(v))$ .

Next, one may substitute equation (11.3.15) into equation (11.3.13), and use equation (11.3.20) to find the following equation:

$$D_{x_1}N(x_1, \mu)\{(I + D_w H(w, v))(J_0w + C(w, v)) - T(w, v)[J_0(w + H(w, v)) + f_1(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))]\}$$
  
=  $J_1h(w, v) + f_2(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v)).$  (11.3.21)

By chain rule,  $D_{x_1}N(x_1, v)(I + D_w H(w, v)) = D_w h(w, v)$ , one can rewrite equation (11.3.21) as

$$D_{w}h(w, v)J_{0}w - J_{1}h(w, w) = f_{2}(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v)) - D_{w}h(w, v)C(w, v) + T(w, v)D_{w}h(w, v)[I + D_{w}H(w, v)]^{-1}[J_{0}(w + H(w, v)) + f_{1}(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))].$$
(11.3.22)

Finally, combining equations (11.3.20) and (11.3.22) yields the following compact form:

$$D\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v})\\ \boldsymbol{h}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \end{pmatrix} J_0\boldsymbol{w} - \begin{bmatrix} J_0 & 0\\ 0 & J_1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v})\\ \boldsymbol{h}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} f_1(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v)) \\ f_2(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v)) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$- D \begin{pmatrix} H(w, v) \\ h(w, v) \end{pmatrix} C(w, v) - \begin{pmatrix} C(w, v) \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ T(w, v) \begin{bmatrix} I \\ Dh(w, v)[I + DH(w, v)]^{-1} \end{bmatrix} [J_0(w + H(w, v))$$
$$+ f_1(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))], \qquad (11.3.23)$$

where the differential operator  $D \equiv D_w$ .

Equation (11.3.23) is all what we need for computing the normal form C(w, v), the nonlinear transformations H(w, v) and h(w, v), the time rescaling T(w, v), and the reparametrization p(v). Note that all C(w, v), H(w, v) and h(w, v) start from second order terms and can be expressed in terms of vector homogeneous polynomials of w and v. C(w, v) and H(w, v) are  $n_0$ -D vectors while h(w, v) is a  $(n - n_0)$ -D vector. T(w, v) is a scalar function while p(v) is a *s*-D vector.

Since, in general, it is not possible to find the closed-form solutions for C(w, v), H(w, v), h(w, v), T(w, v) and p(v) from equation (11.3.22), we may assume the approximate solutions given by

$$C(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} C_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \sum_m C_m w_1^{m_1} \cdots w_{n_0}^{m_{n_0}} v_1^{m_{n_0+1}} \cdots v_s^{m_{n_0+s}},$$
  

$$H(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} H_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \sum_m H_m w_1^{m_1} \cdots w_{n_0}^{m_{n_0}} v_1^{m_{n_0+1}} \cdots v_s^{m_{n_0+s}},$$
  

$$h(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} h_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v})$$
  

$$= \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \sum_m h_m w_1^{m_1} \cdots w_{n_0}^{m_{n_0}} v_1^{m_{n_0+1}} \cdots v_s^{m_{n_0+s}},$$
 (11.3.24)

and

$$T(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} T_m(\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_m T_m w_1^{m_1} \cdots w_{n_0}^{m_{n_0}} v_1^{m_{n_0+1}} \cdots v_s^{m_{n_0+s}},$$
$$\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \boldsymbol{p}_m(\boldsymbol{v}) = \sum_{m=2}^{\infty} \sum_m \boldsymbol{p}_m v_1^{m_1} v_2^{m_2} \cdots w_s^{m_s},$$
(11.3.25)

where  $C_m$ ,  $H_m$ ,  $h_m$ ,  $T_m$  and  $p_m$  represent the *m*th-order coefficients. The subscript *m* means that for all possible nonnegative integers,  $m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_{n_0+s}$ satisfy  $m_1 + m_2 + \cdots + m_{n_0+s} = m$  (or  $m_1 + m_2 + \cdots + m_s = m$  for  $p_m$ ). Further, for an arbitrary  $m \ge 2$ , one can show that

$$D\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{m}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v})\\ \boldsymbol{h}_{m}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \end{pmatrix} J_{0}\boldsymbol{w}$$

$$= \sum_{m} D\begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{m}\\ \boldsymbol{h}_{m} \end{pmatrix} w_{1}^{m_{1}} \cdots w_{n_{0}}^{m_{n_{0}}} v_{1}^{m_{n_{0}+1}} \cdots v_{s}^{m_{n_{0}+s}} (J_{0}\boldsymbol{w})$$

$$= \sum_{m} \left[ \sum_{i=1}^{n_{0}} \frac{\partial}{\partial w_{i}} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{m}\\ \boldsymbol{h}_{m} \end{pmatrix} w_{1}^{m_{1}} \cdots w_{n_{0}}^{m_{n_{0}}} v_{1}^{m_{n_{0}+1}} \cdots v_{s}^{m_{n_{0}+s}} \lambda_{i} w_{i} \right]$$

$$= \sum_{m} (m_{1}\lambda_{1} + \cdots + m_{n_{0}}\lambda_{n_{0}}) \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{m}\\ \boldsymbol{h}_{m} \end{pmatrix} w_{1}^{m_{1}} \cdots w_{n_{0}}^{m_{n_{0}}} v_{1}^{m_{n_{0}+1}} \cdots v_{s}^{m_{n_{0}+s}}$$

$$= \sum_{m} \lambda_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{m}\\ \boldsymbol{h}_{m} \end{pmatrix} w_{1}^{m_{1}} \cdots w_{n_{0}}^{m_{n_{0}}} v_{1}^{m_{n_{0}+1}} \cdots v_{s}^{m_{n_{0}+s}}$$

$$= \lambda_{0} \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{H}_{m}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v})\\ \boldsymbol{h}_{m}(\boldsymbol{w},\boldsymbol{v}) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (11.3.26)$$

where

$$\lambda_0 = m_1 \lambda_1 + m_2 \lambda_2 + \dots + m_{n_0}. \tag{11.3.27}$$

Thus, one can obtain the following equation from equation (11.3.23) for solving the *m*th-order coefficients:  $C_m$ ,  $H_m$ ,  $h_m$ ,  $T_m$  and  $p_m$ :

$$\begin{pmatrix} [\lambda_0 I - J_0] \boldsymbol{H}_m \\ [\lambda_0 I - J_1] \boldsymbol{h}_m \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{f}_{1m} \\ \tilde{f}_{2m} \end{pmatrix} - \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{C}_m \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (11.3.28)$$

where the *m*th-order coefficients  $\tilde{f}_{1m}$  and  $\tilde{f}_{2m}$  are extracted from

$$f_{1} = f_{1}(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(w)) - DH(w, v)C(w, v)$$
  
+  $T(w, v)[J_{0}(w + H(w, v))$   
+  $f_{1}(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))]$  (11.3.29)

and

$$\tilde{f}_2 = f_2 (w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(w)) - Dh(w, v)C(w, v) + T(w, v)Dh(w, v)[I + DH(w, v)]^{-1}[J_0(w + H(w, v)) + f_1(w + H(w, v), h(w, v), v + p(v))],$$
(11.3.30)

respectively. Note that  $\tilde{f}_1$  and  $\tilde{f}_2$  contain  $T_m$  and  $p_m$ .

Now we can determine the *m*th-order normal form coefficients  $C_m$ , and the nonlinear transformation coefficients  $H_m$  and  $h_m$  as well as the rescalings  $T_m$  and  $p_m$  from equation (11.3.28) order by order starting from m = 2. Firstly, note from

equation (11.3.23) that the *m*th-order coefficients  $\tilde{f}_{1m}$  and  $\tilde{f}_{2m}$  contain C, H, h, T and p coefficients whose orders are lower than m. Therefore, the undetermined lower order coefficients may be involved in the two coefficients  $\tilde{f}_{1m}$  and  $\tilde{f}_{2m}$ . Secondly, since  $\lambda_0$  only contains the eigenvalues of  $J_0$  (with zero real parts) and all eigenvalues of  $J_1$  have nonzero real parts,  $\lambda_0 I - J_1$  cannot equal zero for any of its components. This suggests that  $h_m$  can be uniquely determined from equation (11.3.28) as

$$\boldsymbol{h}_m = [\lambda_0 I - J_1]^{-1} \tilde{\boldsymbol{f}}_{2m}, \tag{11.3.31}$$

or, by noting that  $[\lambda_0 I - J_1]$  is a diagonal matrix,

$$h_m^{(k)} = \frac{\tilde{f}_{2m}^{(k)}}{\lambda_0 - \lambda_{n_0+k}} \quad \text{for } k = 1, 2, \dots, n - n_0, \tag{11.3.32}$$

where  $h_m^{(k)}$  and  $\tilde{f}_{2m}^{(k)}$  are the *k*th components of  $h_m$  and  $\tilde{f}_{2m}$ , respectively.

Finally, we need to solve the equation:

$$[\lambda_0 I - J_0] \boldsymbol{H}_m = \tilde{\boldsymbol{f}}_{1m} - \boldsymbol{C}_m \tag{11.3.33}$$

to determine  $C_m$  and  $H_m$ . Note that  $\tilde{f}_{1m}$  contains the lower-order coefficients of C, H, T and p, and thus unlike the CNF computation, we may use the lower order H, h, T and p coefficients to eliminate  $C_m$ , leading to the SNF. Similarly, due to the semi-simple property, the matrix  $[\lambda_0 I - J_0]$  is a diagonal matrix, one can rewrite equation (11.3.33) in the component form:

$$(\lambda_0 - \lambda_k) H_m^{(k)} = \tilde{f}_{1m}^{(k)} - C_m^{(k)} \quad \text{for } k = 1, 2, \dots, n_0,$$
(11.3.34)

where  $H_m^{(k)}$ ,  $\tilde{f}_{1m}^{(k)}$  and  $C_m^{(k)}$  are the *k*th components of  $H_m$ ,  $\tilde{f}_{1m}$  and  $C_m$ , respectively. Then when  $\lambda_0 - \lambda_k \neq 0$ , we may uniquely determine

$$C_m^{(k)} = 0$$
 and  $H_m^{(k)} = \frac{\tilde{f}_{1m}}{\lambda_0 - \lambda_k}$ . (11.3.35)

However, when  $\lambda_0 - \lambda_k = 0$ , we may use the lower order H, h, T and p coefficients involved in  $\tilde{f}_{1m}$  to possibly eliminate  $C_m^{(k)}$ . If there are no such lower-order coefficients which can be used at this order, then  $C_m^{(k)} = \tilde{f}_{1m}$ . The rule determining how to choose the lower-order coefficients depends upon the singularity under consideration.

Having found the explicit formulas (11.3.32) and (11.3.34), it seems that the computation of the coefficients of the normal form and nonlinear transformation is straightforward. However, it has been noted that directly employing these formulas can cause computation problem: A computer may quickly run out of its memory due to enormous algebraic manipulations. As we know that in the computation of normal forms, higher order computations do not affect lower order

results, but lower order results influence all higher order calculations. In general, when one finishes k < m order computations, one substitutes the lower order solutions into the original nonlinear function f to obtain the equation for computing the *m*th-order normal form. The expression of the resulting equation includes all order (< m and  $\ge m$ ) expressions and one needs to extract the exact *m*th-order part from the enormous large expression. In fact, the semi-simple case has been considered with the "extract" method. It has been found that such an approach is not efficient and can easily cause a computer "crash" even for a not very complicated problem. In order to overcome this difficulty, it needs to directly find the expression which only belongs to the *m*th-order equation. This can greatly reduce the computation time and computer memory demanding. The detailed efficient computation approach will not be discussed in this chapter. Interested readers are referred to the references [438,425,426,434,439].

In the above, we have developed an efficient computation method and derived recursive formulas for computing the coefficients of the SNF and associated transformations (see equations (11.3.31) and (11.3.34)). It has been shown that the transformation for the noncritical variables, h, is uniquely determined by equation (11.3.31). However, computing the center manifold part is not straightforward. (The computation of this part for the CNF is straightforward, uniquely determined by equation (11.3.33), see [426].) To find the SNF from equation (11.3.34) one must carefully consider not only the coefficients of **H**, but also that of T and p which are implicitly involved in  $f_1$ . It should be emphasized that equation (11.3.34) does not contain h coefficients since the kth-order coefficients  $h_k$  are solved and only solved from the kth-order algebraic equation (11.3.31). This implies that equation (11.3.34) only contains H, T and p which are associated with the center manifold variables, u and v. Therefore, the final step in computing the SNF is to solve equation (11.3.34), which is similar to finding the SNF of a system which is described on center manifold. However, we cannot obtain a general form or procedure applicable for all semi-simple cases. One has to deal with the singularities case by case. In this chapter, we focus on codimension-one singularities: single zero and Hopf bifurcation. The SNFs for the two singularities based on center manifold (i.e., the original system (11.3.3) is not a general *n*-D system, but described on center manifold) have been obtained in [425,435]. In the following, we outline the SNF computation rules for the two singularities.

## 11.3.2. The SNF for single zero

To find the computation rules of the SNF of single zero singularity, we may assume that the original system is described on 1-D center manifold as follows:

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = f(y,\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} a_{1i}\mu^{i}y + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_{2i}\mu^{i}y^{2} + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_{3i}\mu^{i}y^{3} + \cdots$$
(11.3.36)

which has an equilibrium x = 0 for any real values of  $\mu$ . The near-identity nonlinear transformation and the time scaling are, respectively, given by

$$y = x + H(x, \mu) = x + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} b_{1i} \mu^{i} x + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} b_{2i} \mu^{i} x^{2} + \cdots$$
 (11.3.37)

and

$$T_0 + T(x, \mu) = 1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} T_{0i} \mu^i + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} T_{1i} \mu^i x + \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} T_{3i} \mu^i x^2 + \cdots$$
(11.3.38)

As shown in [425], the case of zero singularity does not need parameter scaling (reparametrization). Thus, instead of  $\nu$ , the original parameter  $\mu$  is used in equations (11.3.37) and (11.3.38).

It has been proved [425] that the SNF of system (11.3.36) is given by the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.3.1. Under the conditions:  $a_{11} \neq 0$  and  $a_{k0} \neq 0$  ( $k \ge 2$ ), where  $a_{k0}$  is the first nonzero coefficients of  $a_{j0}$ 's, the SNF of system (11.3.36) is given by

$$\frac{dx}{d\tau} = a_{11}\mu x + a_{k0}x^k \quad (k \ge 2),$$
(11.3.39)

up to any order.

Note that the coefficients  $a_{11}$  (for the 2nd-order equation) and  $a_{k0}$  (for the *k*thorder equation) are known coefficients of the original system, indicating that the 2nd-order equation cannot be reduced. The detailed procedure for computing the coefficients of  $b_{ij}$  and  $T_{ij}$  can be found in [425]. The above results are based on the assumption  $a_{11} \neq 0$ , which results in the unfolding  $a_{11}\mu x$ . Other possible unfolding may not be so simple if  $a_{11} = 0$ . However, they can be easily obtained by executing the Maple program we developed to find the SNF. For example, suppose  $a_{11} = a_{12} = 0$ , but  $a_{13} \neq 0$  and  $a_{21} \neq 0$ , then the SNF is found to be

$$\frac{dx}{d\tau} = a_{13}\mu^3 x + a_{21}\mu x^2 + a_{k0}x^k \quad (k \ge 2).$$
(11.3.40)

The above rules obtained based on center manifold can be applied to solve the key equation (11.3.34) for the general original system (11.3.3). However, it should be noted that the coefficient  $a_{k0}$  cannot be directly observed from the original equation (e.g., usually the first equation of the system) since noncenter manifold equations may have contributions to these coefficients. This can be easily handled in symbolic computation.

### 11.3.3. The SNF for Hopf bifurcation

We now turn to Hopf bifurcation. We discuss the system given on a 2-D center manifold to find the rules of computing the coefficients of the SNF and transformations. Suppose the system is described in complex form:

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = \begin{bmatrix} i & 0\\ 0 & -i \end{bmatrix} z + f(z, \mu) 
\equiv \begin{bmatrix} i & 0\\ 0 & -i \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z\\ \bar{z} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} f(z, \bar{z}, \mu)\\ \bar{f}(z, \bar{z}, \mu) \end{pmatrix},$$
(11.3.41)

where  $z = (z, \bar{z})^T$  and  $f = (f, \bar{f})^T$ , T represents a transpose.  $\bar{z}$  and  $\bar{f}$  are complex conjugates of z and f, respectively.

Further, assume that

$$f_{k} = \sum_{j+l+m=k} (a_{1jlm} + ia_{2jlm}) z^{j} \overline{z}^{l} \mu^{m},$$

$$H_{k} = \sum_{j+l+m=k} (b_{1jlm} + ib_{2jlm}) x^{j} \overline{x}^{l} \nu^{m},$$

$$C_{2} = \left[ (\alpha_{1} + i\beta_{1})x + (\alpha_{2} + i\beta_{2}) \overline{x} \right] \nu,$$

$$C_{k} = (c_{1k} + ic_{2k}) x^{(k+1)/2} \overline{x}^{(k-1)/2} \quad (k \ge 3, \text{ odd integer}),$$

$$t = \left( T_{0} + T\left(x, \overline{x}, \nu \right) \right) \tau \left( 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{j+m=k}^{N} t_{jm} \left[ \frac{1}{2} (x + \overline{x}) \right]^{j} \nu^{m} \right) \tau,$$

$$\mu = p_{0} \nu + p(\nu) = \nu + \sum_{j=2}^{N} p_{j} \nu^{j},$$
(11.3.42)

where  $C_2$  represents the linear unfolding.

Applying the 2nd-order (k = 2) equations of (11.3.34) yields the following solutions:

$$b_{1200} = a_{2200}, \quad b_{2200} = -a_{12001}, \quad b_{1020} = -\frac{1}{3}a_{2020},$$
  
 $b_{2020} = \frac{1}{3}a_{1020}, \quad b_{1110} = -a_{2110}, \quad b_{2110} = a_{1110},$  (11.3.43)

and

$$\alpha_1 = a_{1101}, \quad t_{01} = -a_{2101}, \quad b_{1011} = -\frac{1}{2}a_{2011},$$
  
 $b_{2011} = \frac{1}{2}a_{1011},$ 
(11.3.44)

which results in

$$\beta_1 = \alpha_2 = \beta_2 = 0. \tag{11.3.45}$$

Next, for k = 3, similarly we can find the following solutions:

$$c_{13} = a_{1210} - A_{1210}, \qquad t_{20} = 2(b_{23} - a_{2210} + A_{2210}),$$

$$p_{2} = -\frac{1}{a_{1101}}(a_{1102} + A_{1102}),$$

$$t_{02} = \frac{a_{2101}}{a_{1101}}(a_{1102} + A_{1102}) - (a_{2102} + A_{2102}),$$

$$b_{2300} = -\frac{1}{2}(a_{1300} + A_{1300}), \qquad b_{1300} = \frac{1}{2}(a_{2300} + A_{2300} + \frac{1}{4}t_{20}),$$

$$b_{2030} = \frac{1}{4}(a_{1030} - A_{1030}), \qquad b_{1030} = -\frac{1}{4}(a_{2030} - A_{2030})$$

$$b_{2120} = \frac{1}{2}(a_{1120} - A_{1120}), \qquad b_{1120} = -\frac{1}{2}(a_{2120} - A_{2120} + \frac{1}{4}t_{20}),$$

$$b_{2011} = -(a_{1201} + A_{1201}), \qquad b_{1021} = a_{2201} + A_{2201},$$

$$b_{2012} = \frac{1}{3}(a_{1021} - A_{1021}), \qquad b_{1021} = -\frac{1}{3}(a_{2021} - A_{2021}),$$

$$b_{2111} = a_{1111} - A_{1111}, \qquad b_{1111} = -(a_{2111} - A_{2111}),$$

$$b_{2012} = \frac{1}{2}(a_{1012} - A_{1012} + p_{2}a_{1011}),$$

$$b_{1012} = -\frac{1}{2}(a_{2012} - A_{2012} + p_{2}a_{2011}),$$

$$b_{1101} = c_{2101} = t_{11} = 0,$$
(11.3.46)

where  $A_{jkl}$ 's are known expressions, given in terms of  $a_{ijlm}$ 's. We can now apply the above procedure to solve higher order equations using the general rules given in [435]. Note that most of the equations are uniquely solved using the coefficients  $b_{iilm}$ .

Therefore, the complex SNF of Hopf bifurcation is given by

$$\frac{dx}{d\tau} = ix + a_{1101}x\nu + (a_{1210} - a_{1200}a_{2110} - a_{2200}a_{1110})x^2\bar{x} + i\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} c_{2(2m+1)}x^{m+1}x^m,$$
(11.3.47)

where  $c_{2j}$  are explicitly obtained in terms of the original system coefficients  $a_{ijlm}$ 's.

Let  $x = Re^{i\Theta}$ , where R and  $\Theta$  are, respectively, the amplitude and phase of motion. Then the SNF for the Hopf bifurcation of system (11.3.41) is given as follows.

THEOREM 11.3.2. The SNF for system (11.3.41) associated with Hopf bifurcation, given in polar coordinates, is

$$\frac{dR}{d\tau} = a_{1101}\nu R + (a_{1210} - a_{1200}a_{2110} - a_{2200}a_{1110})R^3, \qquad (11.3.48)$$

$$\frac{d\Theta}{d\tau} = 1 + c_{23}R^2 + c_{25}R^4 + \dots + c_{2(2m+1)}R^{2m} + \dots$$
(11.3.49)

up to arbitrary order.

Note that when we derive the SNF of Hopf bifurcation it has been assumed that  $a_{1101} \neq 0$ . This is clear from equation (11.3.48) that no linear universal unfolding will be present if  $a_{1101} = 0$ . The bifurcation and stability analysis can be carried out using equation (11.3.48). The steady-state solutions are given by

(I) 
$$R = 0,$$
  
(II)  $R^2 = -\frac{a_{1101}\nu}{a_{1210} - a_{1200}a_{2110} - a_{2200}a_{1110}},$  (11.3.50)

where solution (I) actually represents the original equilibrium, while solution (II) denotes a family of limit cycles. The stability of the steady-state solutions can be easily determined by using the Jacobian of equation (11.3.48) as follows: Solution (I) is stable (unstable) if  $a_{1101}\nu < 0$  (> 0). Solution (II) is stable (unstable) if  $S_{LC} \equiv a_{1210} - a_{1200}a_{2110} - a_{2200}a_{1110} < 0$  (> 0). If  $S_{LC} < 0$ , then the existence of the limit cycles for  $a_{1101}\nu > 0$  implies that the original equilibrium and the periodic solution exchange their stabilities at the critical point  $\nu = 0$ . In this case, the Hopf bifurcation is supercritical. Otherwise, it is called subcritical Hopf bifurcation.

The above analysis seems like a typical Hopf bifurcation analysis using the CNF. However, it should be noted that all higher order terms (> 3) have been removed from the SNF while the CNF has infinite higher order terms. Thus, Hopf bifurcation analysis based on the CNF up to 3rd-order terms means that all higher order terms in the CNF are neglected. For the SNF, however, the exact 3rd-degree polynomial is used for the analysis.

The above procedure can be directly applied to the general original n-D system (11.3.3). Symbolic program has been coded using Maple.

An application of using the SNF to solve Hopf bifurcation control problem will be given in the next section.

# **11.4. Hopf bifurcation control**

In the past two decades, there has been rapidly growing interest in bifurcation dynamics of control systems, including controlling and anti-controlling bifurcations and chaos. Such bifurcation and chaos control techniques have been widely applied to solve physical and engineering problems (e.g., see [66,1,433,28,61,77, 144,189,323,327]). The general goal of bifurcation control is to design a controller such that the bifurcation characteristics of a nonlinear system undergoing bifurcation can be modified to achieve certain desirable dynamical behavior, such as changing a Hopf bifurcation from subcritical to supercritical, eliminating chaotic motions, etc.

In this section, we consider bifurcation control using nonlinear state feedback. A general explicit formula is derived for the control strategy, given in the form of simple homogeneous polynomials. The formula keeps the equilibria of the original system unchanged. The linear part of the formula can be used to modify the system's linear stability, in order to eliminate or delay an existing bifurcation. The nonlinear part, on the other hand, can change the stability of bifurcation solutions, for example, converting a subcritical Hopf bifurcation to supercritical.

Here we want to particularly study Hopf bifurcation since the limit cycles generated by Hopf bifurcation is the most popular phenomenon exhibited in nonlinear dynamical systems. In the following sections, we first consider continuous systems, then study discrete maps and finally discuss time delay differential equations.

#### 11.4.1. Continuous-time systems

For convenience, we will use the Lorenz system and an electrical circuit as examples to illustrate the theory and methodology of Hopf bifurcation control for continuous-time systems, described by ordinary differential equations. In particular, for the Lorenz system, we will apply the CNF to find the stability of bifurcating limit cycles; while for the electrical circuit, we will employ the SNF to analyze the stability of periodic motions.

Consider the general nonlinear system (11.1.2):

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}, \mu), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \ \mathbf{f} : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{11.4.1}$$

where x is an *n*-D state vector while  $\mu$  is a scalar parameter, called bifurcation parameter. Suppose that at the critical point  $\mu = \mu^*$  on an equilibrium solution  $x = x^*$ , the Jacobian of the system has a complex pair of eigenvalues to first cross the imaginary axis. Then Hopf bifurcation occurs at the critical point and a family of limit cycles bifurcate from the equilibrium solution  $x^*$ .

Suppose system (11.4.1) has k equilibria, given by

$$\mathbf{x}_{i}^{*}(\mu) = \left(x_{1i}^{*}, x_{2i}^{*}, \dots, x_{ni}^{*}\right), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, k.$$
(11.4.2)

#### Feedback controller using polynomial function

A general nonlinear state feedback control is applied so that system (11.4.1) becomes

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = f(\mathbf{x}, \mu) + u(\mathbf{x}, \mu).$$
 (11.4.3)

In order for the controlled system (11.4.3) to keep all the original *k* equilibria unchanged under the control *u*, it requires that the following conditions be satisfied:

$$\boldsymbol{u}(\boldsymbol{x}_i^*, \boldsymbol{\mu}) \equiv (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n)^T = \boldsymbol{0}$$
(11.4.4)

for i = 1, 2, ..., k. Then we have the following result [430].

**THEOREM 11.4.1.** For system (11.4.3), the feedback control can take the following polynomial function:

$$u_{q}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{1}^{*}, \mathbf{x}_{2}^{*}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{k}^{*}, \mu)$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{qi} \prod_{j=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} B_{qij}(x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*}) \prod_{p=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ip}^{*})$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{qij}(x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*})^{2} \prod_{p=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ip}^{*})$$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} D_{qij}(x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*})^{2} \prod_{p=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ip}^{*})^{2} + \cdots$$

$$(q = 1, 2, \dots, n). \qquad (11.4.5)$$

It is easy to verify that  $u_q(\mathbf{x}_i^*, \mathbf{x}_1^*, \mathbf{x}_2^*, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k^*, \mu) = 0$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, k$ . Usually, terms given in equation (11.4.5) up to  $D_{qij}$  are enough for controlling a bifurcation if the singularity of the system is not highly degenerate. The coefficients  $A_{qi}$ ,  $B_{qij}$ ,  $C_{qij}$  and  $D_{qij}$ , which may be functions of  $\mu$ , are determined from the stabilities of an equilibrium under consideration and that of the associated bifurcation solutions. More precisely, linear terms are determined by the requirement of shifting an existing bifurcation (e.g., delaying an existing Hopf bifurcation). The nonlinear terms, on the other hand, can be used to change the stability of an existing bifurcation to supercritical). Note that not just  $A_{qi}$  terms may involve linear terms;  $B_{qij}$  terms, etc. may also contain linear terms.

It is not necessary to take all the components  $u_q$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, in the controller. In most cases, using fewer components or just one component may be enough to satisfy the pre-designed control objectives. It is preferable to have a simplest possible design for engineering applications. If  $x_{i1}^* = x_{i2}^* = \cdots = x_{ik}^*$ 

for some *i*, then one only needs to use these terms and omits the remaining terms in the control law. Moreover, lower-order terms related to these equilibrium components can be added. This greatly simplify the control formula. For example, if i = 1, then the general controller can be taken as

$$u_q = \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} a_{qi} (x_1 - x_{11}^*)^i + A_{q1} (x_1 - x_{11}^*)^k + B_{q11} (x_1 - x_{11}^*)^{k+1} + C_{q11} (x_1 - x_{11}^*)^{k+2},$$

where  $a_{qi}$ 's denote the added lower-order terms.

The goals of Hopf bifurcation control are:

- (i) to move the critical point  $(\mathbf{x}^*, \mu^*)$  to a designated position  $(\tilde{\mathbf{x}}, \tilde{\mu})$ ;
- (ii) to stabilize all possible Hopf bifurcations.

Goal (i) only requires linear analysis, while goal (ii) must apply nonlinear systems theory. In general, if the purpose of the control is to avoid bifurcations, one should employ linear analysis to maximize the stable interval for the equilibrium. The best result is to completely eliminate possible bifurcations using a feedback control. If this is not feasible, then one may have to consider stabilizing the limit cycles by using a nonlinear state feedback.

#### The Lorenz system

It is well known that the Lorenz system can exhibit very rich periodic and chaotic motions. In this subsection, we use a different version of Lorenz equation, which contains only two parameters, given below [70,393]:

$$\dot{x} = -p(x - y),$$
  
 $\dot{y} = -xz - y,$   
 $\dot{z} = xy - z - r,$  (11.4.6)

where p and r are positive constants, which are considered as control parameters. One can easily show that system (11.4.6) is a special case of the general system [430].

System (11.4.6) has three equilibrium solutions,  $C_0$ ,  $C_+$  and  $C_-$ , given by

$$C_0: x_e^0 = y_e^0 = 0, \ z_e^0 = -r, C_{\pm}: x_e^{\pm} = y_e^{\pm} = \pm \sqrt{r-1}, \ z_e^{\pm} = -1.$$
(11.4.7)

Suppose the parameters p and r are positive. Then  $C_0$  is stable for  $0 \le r < 1$ , and a pitchfork bifurcation occurs at r = 1, where the equilibrium  $C_0$  looses its stability and bifurcates into either  $C_+$  or  $C_-$ . The two equilibria  $C_+$  and  $C_-$  are

stable for  $1 < r < r_H$ , where

$$r_H = \frac{p(p+4)}{p-2} \quad (p>2), \tag{11.4.8}$$

and at this critical point  $C_+$  and  $C_-$  loose their stabilities, giving rise to Hopf bifurcation. We fix p = 4, which was used in [70,393]. Then  $r_H = 16$ , and the Lorenz system (11.4.6) exhibits chaotic motion when r > 16. In fact, one can employ numerical simulation to show the coexistence of locally stable equilibria  $C_{\pm}$  and (global) chaotic attractors at a same value of r, with different initial conditions [430].

(A) Without control. We first consider system (11.4.6) without control. The critical point is p = 4,  $r_H = 16$  at which the Jacobian of system (11.4.6) evaluated at  $C_+$  and  $C_-$  has a real eigenvalue -6 and a purely imaginary pair  $\pm 2\sqrt{5}$ . Using the shift, given by

$$x = \pm \sqrt{r-1} + \tilde{x}, \qquad y = \pm \sqrt{r-1} + \tilde{y}, \qquad z = -1 + \tilde{z}, \qquad (11.4.9)$$

to move  $C_{\pm}$  to the origin and then applying an appropriate linear transformation to system (11.4.6), we obtain the following system:

$$\begin{split} \dot{\tilde{x}} &= 2\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} + \frac{1}{84} \big( \tilde{x} + 4\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} - 6\tilde{z} \big) \mu - \frac{\sqrt{15}}{21} \big( \tilde{x} - 2\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} \big) \big( \tilde{x} - 2\tilde{z} \big) + \cdots, \\ \dot{\tilde{y}} &= -2\sqrt{5}\tilde{x} - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{2100} \big( 155\tilde{x} - 10\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} - 6\tilde{z} \big) \mu \\ &- \frac{\sqrt{3}}{105} \big( 55\tilde{x} - 5\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} + 42\tilde{z} \big) \big( \tilde{x} - 2\tilde{z} \big) + \cdots, \\ \dot{\tilde{z}} &= -6\tilde{z} + \frac{1}{168} \big( \tilde{x} + 4\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} - 6\tilde{z} \big) \mu - \frac{\sqrt{15}}{42} \big( \tilde{x} - 2\sqrt{5}\tilde{y} \big) \big( \tilde{x} - 2\tilde{z} \big) + \cdots, \end{split}$$

where  $\mu = r - 16$  is a bifurcation parameter.

Employing the Maple programs developed in [420] for computing the normal forms of Hopf and generalized Hopf bifurcations yields the following normal form:

$$\dot{\rho} = \rho \left( \frac{1}{56} \mu + \frac{31}{3248} \rho^2 \right) + \dots,$$
  
$$\dot{\theta} = 2\sqrt{5} \left( 1 + \frac{17}{560} \mu - \frac{851}{48720} \rho^2 \right) + \dots,$$
 (11.4.10)

where  $\rho$  and  $\theta$  represent the amplitude and phase of the motion, respectively. The first equation of (11.4.10) clearly shows that the Hopf bifurcation is subcritical since the coefficient of  $\rho^3$  is  $\frac{31}{3248} > 0$ .

(B) With control. Now, we apply a feedback control to stabilize system (11.4.6). A washout filter control has been used by Wang and Abed [393] for the Lorenz system (11.4.6). The disadvantage of this method is that it increases the dimension of the original system by one, unnecessarily increases the complexity of the controlled system and difficulty in analysis. Here we apply the control formula (11.4.8) to control the Hopf bifurcation. Due to the symmetry of the system and  $z_{\pm} = -1$ , we may use a control law with one variable only:

$$u_3 = -k_{31}(z+1) - k_{33}(z+1)^3.$$
(11.4.11)

The closed-loop system is now given by

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= -p(x - y), \\ \dot{y} &= -xz - y, \\ \dot{z} &= xy - z - r - k_{31}(z + 1) - k_{33}(z + 1)^3, \end{aligned}$$
(11.4.12)

where the negative signs are used for  $k_{ij}$ 's in consistence with that of the controller based on the washout filter. Introducing the transformation (11.4.9) into equation (11.4.12) results in

$$\dot{x} = -p(\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}), 
\dot{y} = -\tilde{x}\tilde{z} + \tilde{x} - \tilde{y} \mp \sqrt{r - 1}\tilde{z}, 
\dot{z} = \tilde{x}\tilde{y} \pm \sqrt{r - 1}(\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}) - \tilde{z} - k_{31}\tilde{z} - k_{33}\tilde{z}^3.$$
(11.4.13)

Then  $O_e = (\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \tilde{z}) = (0, 0, 0)$  is an equilibrium of system (11.4.13), corresponding to the equilibria  $C_+$  and  $C_-$  of the original system (11.4.6). The characteristic polynomial of system (11.4.13) for the equilibrium point  $O_c$  is

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^3 + (p+2+k_{31})\lambda^2 + (p+r+k_{31}+pk_{31})\lambda + 2p(r-1)$$

which shows that only the linear term of the controller  $u_3$  affects the linear stability. The stability conditions for  $O_e$  (under the assumption that p, r > 0) can be obtained as

$$\begin{split} p+2+k_{31} > 0, \\ p+r+k_{31}(p+1) > 0, \\ 2p(r-1) > 0, \\ p(p+4)-r(p-2-k_c)+k_{31}^2(p+1)+k_{31}\big(p^2+4p+2\big) > 0. \end{split}$$

If choosing  $k_{31} > 0$ , then it only requires r > 1 to satisfy the above first 3 inequalities. The last condition implies a critical point at which the controlled system has a Hopf bifurcation emerging from the equilibrium  $O_e$ , defined by

$$r_{H} = \frac{p(p+4) + k_{31}^{2}(p+1) + k_{31}(p^{2}+4p+2)}{(p-2-k_{31})},$$
(11.4.14)

for  $0 < k_{31} < p - 2$ .

Setting  $k_{31} = 0$  yields  $r_H = \frac{p(p+4)}{p-2}$  (p > 2) which is the condition given in equation (11.4.8) for the system without control. It can be seen from equation (11.4.14) that the parameter  $r_H$  for the controlled system can reach very large values as long as  $k_{31}$  is chosen close to p-2. For example, when p = 4, choosing  $k_{31} = 1.5$  gives  $r_H = 188.5$  (and  $r_H = 71$  if  $k_{31} = 1$ ). These values of  $r_H$  are much larger than  $r_H = 16$  for the uncontrolled system. If we choose r > 1 and  $0 , then the equilibria <math>C_+$  and  $C_-$  are always stable, and no Hopf bifurcation occurs from the two equilibria.

Next, we perform a nonlinear analysis to determine the stability of Hopf bifurcation. If p = 4, then  $k_{31} \in (0, 2)$ , and for determination we choose  $k_{31} = \frac{2\sqrt{1006}-58}{5} \approx 1.087$ , thus  $r_H = 82$ . Let  $r = r_H + \mu = 82 + \mu$ , where  $\mu$  is a perturbation from the critical point. Then, we have the closed-loop system

$$\begin{split} \tilde{x} &= -8(\tilde{x} - \tilde{y}), \\ \dot{\tilde{y}} &= -\tilde{x}\tilde{z} + \tilde{x} - \tilde{y} \mp \sqrt{81 + \mu}\tilde{z}, \\ \dot{\tilde{z}} &= \tilde{x}\tilde{y} \pm \sqrt{81 + \mu}(\tilde{x} + \tilde{y}) - \frac{2\sqrt{1006} - 53}{5}\tilde{z} - k_{33}\tilde{z}^3. \end{split}$$
(11.4.15)

The eigenvalues of the Jacobian of system (11.4.15), when evaluated at the equilibrium  $O_e$ , are:  $\lambda_{1,2} = \pm \sqrt{2\sqrt{1006} + 28i} \approx 9.5621i$  and  $\lambda_3 = -\frac{2\sqrt{1006} - 28}{5} \approx -7.0870$ . To apply the method of normal forms [146,420,422], we introduce the following transformation:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{x} &= u - \frac{24 + \sqrt{1006}}{43}w, \\ \tilde{y} &= u + \frac{2\sqrt{1006} + 28}{4}v + w, \\ \tilde{z} &= \pm \frac{\sqrt{1006} + 14}{18}u \mp \frac{5(2\sqrt{1006} + 28)}{36}v \pm \frac{9\sqrt{1006} - 171}{215}w, \end{split}$$

to equation (11.4.15), and then employ the Maple program [420] to obtain an identical CNF for the system associated with the two equilibria  $C_+$  and  $C_-$ , given in polar coordinates as

$$\dot{\rho} = \rho \left[ \frac{1249 - 34\sqrt{1006}}{52942} \mu + \left( \frac{4646315818 - 102399253\sqrt{1006}}{358010321904} - \frac{5746272 + 187233\sqrt{1006}}{4235360} k_{33} \right) \rho^2 \right] + \cdots,$$
(11.4.16)

$$\dot{\theta} = \sqrt{2\sqrt{1006} + 28} \left[ 1 + \frac{122602 - 773\sqrt{1006}}{17153208} \mu - \left( \frac{21706679417 + 211691192\sqrt{1006}}{6444185794272} + \frac{34871 + 1594\sqrt{1006}}{16941440} k_{33} \right) \rho^2 \right] + \cdots$$
(11.4.17)

Approximations up to 3rd-order for the steady-state solutions and their stabilities can be found from equation (11.4.16): The solution  $\rho = 0$  represents the initial equilibrium solution  $O_e$  (or  $C_{\pm}$  for the original system (11.4.6)), which is stable when  $\mu < 0$  (i.e.,  $r < r_H = 82$ ) and unstable when  $\mu > 0$  (r > 82). The supercritical Hopf bifurcation solution can be obtained, if

$$\frac{4646315818 - 102399253\sqrt{1006}}{358010321904} - \frac{5746272 + 187233\sqrt{1006}}{4235360}k_{33} < 0,$$

i.e.,

$$k_{33} > \frac{3672843514\sqrt{1006} - 115816173526}{478327912875} \approx 0.001416.$$

Choosing  $k_{33} = 0.01$ , we have the controller:

$$u = -1.087(z+1) - 0.01(z+1)^3.$$
(11.4.18)

So the controlled system described in the original states is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x} &= -4(x - y), \\ \dot{y} &= -xz - y, \\ \dot{z} &= xy - z - r - 1.087(z + 1) - 0.01(z + 1)^3. \end{aligned} \tag{11.4.19}$$

The corresponding normal form then becomes

$$\dot{\rho} = \rho (0.003222\mu - 0.023683\rho^2) + \cdots,$$
  
$$\dot{\theta} = 9.562165 + 0.054678\mu - 0.046512\rho^2 + \cdots$$

and the solution for the family of bifurcating limit cycles is obtained as

$$\rho = 0.136070\sqrt{\mu} = 0.136070\sqrt{r - 82}.$$
(11.4.20)

Some numerical simulation results, obtained from the controlled system (11.4.19), are given in Figures 11.4.1 and 11.4.2. Figure 11.4.1 depicts that the trajectories converge to the equilibria  $C_+$  and  $C_-$  for 1 < r < 82, while Figure 11.4.2 demonstrates the stable limit cycles bifurcating from the system when r > 82. By using equation (11.4.20), one can estimate the amplitudes of the three limit cycles shown in Figure 11.4.2 as 0.136, 0.385 and 0.593, respectively. These



Figure 11.4.1. Stable equilibria  $C_{\pm}$  of the controlled Lorenz system (11.4.19) with the control law (11.4.18) with the initial conditions  $(x_0, y_0, z_0) = (\pm 3.0, \pm 12.0, -2.5)$  when (a) and (b) r = 20; (c) and (d) r = 55; and (e) and (f) r = 81.

approximations give a good prediction, confirmed by the numerical simulation results. It can be seen from Figures 11.4.1 and 11.4.2 that the symmetry of the two equilibria  $C_+$  and  $C_-$  remain unchanged before and after the Hopf bifurcation generated by using the simple control (11.4.18).

#### A nonlinear electrical circuit

Now we use a nonlinear electrical circuit to demonstrate the use of the SNF to consider Hopf bifurcation. The electrical circuit, shown in Figure 11.4.3, consists of an inductor, L, two capacitors  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , two resistors  $R_1$  and  $R_2$ , a tunnel-diode and a conductance. Suppose L,  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  are linear components, and in addition,  $R_1$  may be varied. The tunnel-diode and the conductance are nonlinear elements, and they are voltage-controlled. The conductance is a combination of a tunnel-diode and a current-reversing device. The characteristics of the



Figure 11.4.2. Stable limit cycles around  $C_{\pm}$  of the controlled Lorenz system (11.4.19) with the control law (11.4.18) with the initial conditions  $(x_0, y_0, z_0) = (\pm 3.0, \pm 12.0, -2.5)$  when (a) and (b) r = 83; (c) and (d) r = 90; and (e) and (f) r = 101.

tunnel-diode is given by [79] by

$$i_d = f(V_d) \stackrel{\triangle}{=} 0.01776V_d - 0.10379V_d^2 + 0.22962V_d^3 - 0.22631V_d^4 + 0.08372V_d^5.$$
(11.4.21)

Thus, the characteristics of the conductance is  $i_G = -f(V_G)$ . The current in the inductor and the voltages across the capacitors are chosen as the state variables (as shown in Figure 11.4.3), leading to the following differential equations:

$$L\frac{di_L}{dt} = -R_1 i_L - V_{C_1},$$
  
$$C_1 \frac{dV_{C_1}}{dt} = -i_G + i_L - \frac{1}{R_2}(V_{C_1} - V_{C_2}),$$


Figure 11.4.3. A nonlinear electrical circuit.

$$C_2 \frac{dV_{C_2}}{dt} = -i_d + \frac{1}{R_2}(V_{C_1} - V_{C_2}).$$
(11.4.22)

Denoting the state variables  $i_{L_1}$ ,  $V_{C_1}$  and  $V_{C_2}$  by x, y and z, respectively, we may rewrite equation (11.4.22) as

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx}{dt} &= -R_1 x - y, \\ \frac{dy}{dt} &= x - 0.001(y - z) + 0.01776y - 0.10379y^2 + 0.22962y^3 \\ &\quad -0.22631y^4 + 0.08372y^5, \\ \frac{dz}{dt} &= 0.001(y - z) - 0.01776z + 0.10379z^2 - 0.22962z^3 \\ &\quad +0.22631z^4 - 0.08372z^5, \end{aligned}$$
(11.4.23)

where  $L, C_1, C_2$  and  $R_2$  have been chosen respectively, the values 1, 1, 1 and 1000 in the corresponding units, while  $R_1$  is treated as a control parameter.

System (11.4.23) has multiple equilibrium solutions obtained from  $\dot{x} = \dot{y} = \dot{z} = 0$ . Here, we only consider bifurcations from the trivial solution x = y = z = 0, and pay particular attention to Hopf bifurcation. It is easy to obtain the characteristic polynomial of system (11.4.23) evaluated at the trivial equilibrium solution as

$$P(\lambda) = \lambda^3 + (0.002 + R_1)\lambda^2 + (0.9996845824 + 0.002R_1)\lambda + 0.01876 - 0.0003154176R_1.$$

Applying the Hurwitz criterion yields the stability condition for the trivial equilibrium:

$$0.0167600020 < R_1 < 59.4767064362. \tag{11.4.24}$$

Further, it can be shown that a static bifurcation occurs at  $R_1 = 59.4767064362$  while a Hopf bifurcation emerges at  $R_1 = 0.0167600020$ . Suppose the current state of the system is under the selection of  $R_1 = 30$ , and we decrease  $R_1$  until  $R_1 = 0.0167600020$  at which the trivial equilibrium solution becomes unstable, and a family of limit cycles bifurcates as  $R_1$  further decreases.

(A) Without control. First, consider the case without control. To obtain the stability condition using the SNF described in Section 11.3, let

$$R_1 = 0.0167600020 - \mu. \tag{11.4.25}$$

Then, introduce the transformation  $(x, y, z)^T = Q(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \tilde{z})$ , where Q is

$$Q = \begin{bmatrix} 1.0000431639 & 0.0107620497 & -0.0009999305 \\ -0.0060001928 & -1.0000825710 & -0.000019999 \\ -0.0009999841 & -0.0000127613 & 1.0000014998 \end{bmatrix}, (11.4.26)$$

to system (11.4.23) to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\tilde{x}}{dt} &= 0.9998590413\tilde{y} + (1.0000655704\tilde{x} + 0.0107622908\tilde{y} \\ &\quad -0.0009999529\tilde{z})\mu - 0.0000000401\tilde{x}^2 - 0.0011171091\tilde{y}^2 \\ &\quad +0.0001037875\tilde{z}^2 - 0.0000134046\tilde{x}\tilde{y} - 0.0000002076\tilde{x}\tilde{z} \\ &\quad -0.000000071\tilde{y}\tilde{z} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\tilde{y}}{dt} &= -0.9998590413\tilde{x} - (0.0060000928\tilde{x} + 0.0000645705\tilde{y} \\ &\quad -0.0000059994\tilde{z})\mu + 0.0000037366\tilde{x}^2 + 0.1038052724\tilde{y}^2 \\ &\quad -0.0000008302\tilde{z}^2 + 0.0012456004\tilde{x}\tilde{y} + 0.000000042\tilde{x}\tilde{z} \\ &\quad +0.000004152\tilde{y}\tilde{z} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\tilde{z}}{dt} &= -0.0187600020\tilde{z} + (0.0009999716\tilde{x} + 0.0000107613\tilde{y} \\ &\quad -0.0000009999\tilde{z})\mu + 0.0000001038\tilde{x}^2 + 0.000002076\tilde{y}^2 \\ &\quad +0.1037902594\tilde{z}^2 + 0.000000051\tilde{x}\tilde{y} - 0.0002075769\tilde{x}\tilde{z} \\ &\quad -0.0000026490\tilde{y}\tilde{z} + \cdots, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\cdots$  represents higher order terms. System (11.4.27) clearly shows that its Jacobian evaluated at the origin  $\tilde{x} = \tilde{y} = \tilde{z} = 0$  is in Jordan canonical form.

Executing the Maple program yields the following SNF:

$$\frac{dR}{d\tau} = R(0.5000005000\nu + 0.0861699786R^2),$$

$$\frac{d\Theta}{d\tau} = 0.9998590408 + 0.0083811918\nu - 0.3163637547R^2 + \cdots$$
(11.4.28)

up to arbitrary order, which clearly indicates that a subcritical Hopf bifurcation occurs at the critical point v = 0, and thus the bifurcating limit cycles of the uncontrolled system (11.4.23) are unstable.

(B) With control. Now, consider adding a feedback control to system (11.4.23). It is required that the control does not change the equilibrium x = y = z = 0, but converts the subcritical Hopf bifurcation to supercritical. There exist many ways to design the feedback control. We take a simple one, given in the form of

$$u_2 = -k_n y^3, \tag{11.4.29}$$

which is added to the second equation of equation (11.4.23). Then, under the same transformation used in the case of no control, employing the Maple program to obtain the following SNF for the controlled system:

$$\frac{dR}{d\tau} = R \Big[ 0.5000005000\nu + (0.0861699786 - 0.3750754316k_n)R^2 \Big],$$
  

$$\frac{d\Theta}{d\tau} = 0.9998590408$$
  

$$+ \frac{0.0104785841k_n^2 - 0.0126007750k_n + 0.0726815346}{k_n - 0.2297403970}R^2$$
  

$$+ \cdots$$
(11.4.30)

Thus, as long as

$$\begin{array}{l} 0.0861699786 - 0.3750754316k_n < 0 \\ k_n - 0.2297403970 \neq 0 \\ \text{i.e., } k_n > 0.2297403971, \end{array}$$
(11.4.31)

the Hopf bifurcation of the controlled system is supercritical.

The numerical simulation results of the electrical circuit are shown in Figures 11.4.4 and 11.4.5, respectively for the uncontrolled and controlled systems. It is seen from Figure 11.4.4(a) and Figure 11.4.5(a) that the trajectories converge to the origin x = y = z = 0 when  $R_1 = 1.0$  (i.e.,  $\mu = -0.983239998$ ) for both controlled and uncontrolled systems. This indicates that the origin x = y = z = 0 is stable when  $\mu < 0$ . However, when  $R_1 = 0.012$  (i.e.,  $\mu = 0.004760002$ ) the trajectory of the uncontrolled system diverges to infinity even from an initial point close to the origin (see Figure 11.4.4(b)) implying that the origin is unstable and the Hopf bifurcation is subcritical; while the trajectory of the controlled system converges to a stable limit cycle (see Figure 11.4.5(b) where only the final steady-state of the limit cycle is shown and the initial point is marked by +). This indeed verifies that the Hopf bifurcation of the controlled system becomes supercritical.



Figure 11.4.4. Simulated trajectories of the uncontrolled electrical circuit (11.4.23): (a)  $R_1 = 1$ , convergent to the origin x = y = z = 0 from the initial point (1.0, -0.8, 1.0); and (b)  $R_1 = 0.012$ , divergent to infinity from the initial point (0.05, -0.05, 0.08).



Figure 11.4.5. Simulated trajectories of the controlled electrical circuit (11.4.23) with the controller (11.4.29) with  $k_n = 0.5$ : (a)  $R_1 = 1$ , convergent to the origin x = y = z = 0 from the initial point (-1.0, 0.8, -1.0); and (b)  $R_1 = 0.012$ , convergent to a limit cycle from the initial point (0.05, -0.05, 0.08).

Note that the feedback control (11.4.29) changes the second equation of (11.4.23) to

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = x - 0.001(y - z) + 0.01776y - 0.10379y^2 - 0.27038y^3 - 0.22631y^4 + 0.08372y^5.$$

It is seen from the above equation that the sign of the third order term has been changed from positive to negative, which renders the subcritical Hopf bifurcation to supercritical.

#### 11.4.2. Discrete maps

640

There are wide potential applications in controlling and anti-controlling bifurcations. For bifurcation control, the potential applications include delaying or avoiding voltage collapse in electric power systems, controlling pathological heart rhythms, and enhancing the operability of the compression system in jet engines. Anti-controlling bifurcations, on the other hand, can serve as a warning signal. For example, the occurrence of a saddle node bifurcation in an electric system has been linked to the incipient instability, a stable limit cycle can be used as the warning signal of impending collapse or catastrophe by introducing a supercritical Hopf bifurcation near the bifurcation point. Also, anti-control of Hopf bifurcation is viewed as an approach of generating limit cycles in dynamical systems [397]. In this section, the polynomial type of controller will be extended to consider control and anti-control of Hopf bifurcations in discrete maps.

#### 2-D discrete maps

Consider the following general 2-dimensional parametrized map:

$$x_{n+1} = F(x_n, y_n, \mu),$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = G(x_n, y_n, \mu),$$
(11.4.32)

which exhibits Hopf bifurcation if a simple pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues of the linearized map crosses the unit circle [146,136,214]. One can divide the Hopf bifurcation into resonant and nonresonant cases depending on whether these eigenvalues cross at the roots of unity. Further, if the pair of eigenvalues  $\lambda_0$  and  $\bar{\lambda}_0$  do not satisfy  $\lambda_0^n = 1$  for n = 1, 2, 3, 4, then the Hopf bifurcation is called week resonance, otherwise, it is strong resonance. In the case of strong resonance, the dynamical motion is complex and the bifurcation could generate a stable or unstable fixed point of order-4 subharmonic solution, or a Hopf circle. While in the case of nonresonance or week resonance, a Hopf bifurcation occurs [136]. The main results are summarized below.

THEOREM 11.4.2. Suppose that the discrete system (11.4.32) satisfies  $F(0, 0, \mu) = G(0, 0, \mu) = 0$  on some neighborhood of  $\mu = 0$  and that when  $\mu = 0$  the Jacobian matrix of the map at the fixed point (x, y) = (0, 0) is given by

$$J(\theta_0(\mu)) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\theta_0 & -\sin\theta_0\\ \sin\theta_0 & \cos\theta_0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(11.4.33)

where  $e^{ni\theta_0} \neq 1$  for n = 1, 2, 3, 4. Further, if the following conditions:

$$\cos\theta_0(F_{\mu x} + G_{\mu y}) + \sin\theta_0(G_{\mu x} - F_{\mu y}) \neq 0$$
(11.4.34)

and

$$\operatorname{Re}A(0) \neq 0$$
 (11.4.35)

are satisfied, then an invariant circle bifurcates for either  $\mu > 0$  or  $\mu < 0$ , depending upon the sign of Re A(0). Here, the partial derivatives are evaluated at the critical point  $(x, y, \mu) = (0, 0, 0)$  and  $A(\mu)$  is a complex function of  $\mu$ , and Re  $A(0) = \cos \theta_0 \operatorname{Re}(\alpha_1(0)) + \sin \theta_0 \operatorname{Im}(\alpha_1(0))$ , where

$$\alpha_{1}(0) = \gamma_{32}'(0) = \gamma_{32} + \frac{|\gamma_{21}|^{2}}{1 - \bar{\lambda_{0}}} + \frac{2|\gamma_{20}|^{2}}{\lambda_{0}^{2} - \bar{\lambda_{0}}} + \gamma_{21}\gamma_{22}\frac{2\lambda_{0} - 1}{\lambda_{0}(1 - \lambda_{0})}, \qquad (11.4.36)$$

in which

$$\gamma_{22} = \frac{1}{8} [(F_{xx} + 2G_{xy} - F_{yy}) + i(G_{xx} - 2F_{xy} - G_{yy})],$$
  

$$\gamma_{21} = \frac{1}{4} [(F_{xx} + F_{yy}) + i(G_{xx} + G_{yy})],$$
  

$$\gamma_{20} = \frac{1}{8} [(F_{xx} - 2G_{xy} - F_{yy}) + i(G_{xx} + 2F_{xy} - G_{yy})],$$
  

$$\gamma_{32} = \frac{1}{16} [(3F_{xxx} + F_{xyy} + G_{xxy} + 3G_{yyy}) + i(3G_{xxx} + G_{xyy} - F_{xxy} - 3F_{yyy})].$$
(11.4.37)

This invariant circle is attracting (a supercritical bifurcation) if it bifurcates into the region of  $\mu$  for which the trivial equilibrium point (origin) is unstable and repelling (a subcritical bifurcation) if it bifurcates into the region for which the origin is stable.

Note that the above theorem assumes that the bifurcation point is  $(x, y, \mu) = (0, 0, 0)$ . In general case, if the bifurcation point is not at the origin, one can introduce a linear transformation to shift the bifurcation point to the origin. The condition (11.4.33) guarantees that system (11.4.32) has a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues crossing the unit circle, while condition (11.4.34) implies a nonzero transversality condition, i.e.,  $\frac{d|\lambda|}{d\mu}(0) \neq 0$ . Also, note that an invariant circle bifurcates from the origin when  $\mu = 0$  in system (11.4.32) provided condition (11.4.35) holds, in which the value of Re A(0) is obtained via a change of the system's coordinates.

#### 3-D discrete maps

The critical condition at which a Hopf bifurcation occurs in high dimensional discrete maps is usually derived from the Schur–Cohn criterion [397,223]. Unlike

a 2-D system, in this case, center manifold theory is applied first to reduce the high dimensional system to a 2-D center manifold, and then normal formal theory is employed to determine the stability of the Hopf bifurcation.

The Schur–Cohn criterion, similar to the well-known Hurwitz criterion for the continuous-time system, can be used to determine the conditions that the roots of characteristic polynomial lie inside the unit circle, which is described as follows.

THEOREM 11.4.3 (Schur–Cohn criterion [223]). Suppose that the characteristic polynomial,  $P(\lambda)$ , of an  $n \times n$  Jacobian matrix J, is given by

$$\lambda^{n} + a_{n-1}\lambda^{n-1} + \dots + a_{1}\lambda + a_{0} = 0, \qquad (11.4.38)$$

then the necessary and sufficient conditions for  $P(\lambda)$  to have all its roots inside the unit circle are:

- (i) P(1) > 0 and  $(-1)^n P(-1) > 0$ ;
- (ii) the two  $(n-1) \times (n-1)$  matrices:

$$\Delta_{n-1}^{\pm} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ a_{n-1} & 1 & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ a_3 & & & & \vdots \\ a_2 & a_3 & \cdots & a_{n-1} & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\pm \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & a_0 \\ \vdots & & a_0 & a_1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & & & & a_{n-1} \\ a_0 & a_1 & \cdots & a_{n-1} & a_{n-2} \end{bmatrix}$$

are both positive innerwise.

For example, when n = 3,  $P(\lambda) = \lambda^3 + a_2\lambda^2 + a_1\lambda + a_0$ . Its roots lie inside the unit circle if and only if

 $|a_0 + a_2| < 1 + a_1$  and  $|a_1 - a_0 a_2| < 1 - a_0^2$ .

When n = 4, the roots of  $P(\lambda)$  are all lie inside the unit circle if and only if

$$|a_0| < 1, |a_1 + a_3| < 1 + a_2 + a_0, \text{ and}$$
  
 $|a_2(1 - a_0) + a_0(1 - a_0^2) + a_3(a_0a_3 - a_1)|$   
 $< a_0a_2(1 - a_0) + (1 - a_0^2) + a_1(a_0a_3 - a_1).$ 

The conditions for a Hopf bifurcation require that at a critical parameter value, a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues lie on the unit circle and other eigenvalues

are still inside the unit circle. The critical conditions for a Hopf bifurcation to occur in high dimensional discrete maps can be derived using the Schur-Cohn criterion. Recently, Wen et al. obtained the criterion of Hopf bifurcation for 3-D [397] and 4-D discrete maps [398].

For the 3-D case, the result obtained by Wen et al. in [397] is stated below.

THEOREM 11.4.4. (See [397].) For a matrix  $M = (m_{ij})_{3\times 3}$ , the necessary and sufficient conditions for M to have a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues located on the unit circle and the remaining eigenvalues inside the unit circle are

- (i)  $|a_0| < 1$ ,
- (ii)  $|a_0 + a_2| < 1 + a_1$ , (iii)  $a_1 a_0 a_2 = 1 a_0^2$ ,

where  $a_k = a_k(m_{ij}) \in R$ , k = 0, 1, 2, are the coefficients of the characteristic polynomial of the matrix M.

Denote the pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues of matrix M by  $\lambda_1(\epsilon)$  and  $\lambda_1(\epsilon)$ , where  $\epsilon$  is a bifurcation parameter. Then the critical condition for the Hopf bifurcation together with the transversality condition  $\left(\frac{\partial |\lambda_1(\epsilon)|}{\partial \epsilon}|_{\epsilon=0} \neq 0\right)$  and the nonresonance condition  $(\lambda_1^n(0) \neq 1)$  can determine the occurrence of a Hopf bifurcation.

To determine the stability of a Hopf bifurcation in a high dimensional discrete map, the center manifold reduction and Iooss's Hopf bifurcation theory are used [397,181]. To achieve this, consider a 3-D map, given by

$$X_{k+1} = G(X_k; \mu), \tag{11.4.39}$$

where  $X_k = (x_k, y_k, w_k)$ , and  $\mu$  is a bifurcation parameter. Suppose that a Hopf bifurcation occurs at the desired location  $X_0 = (x_0, y_0, w_0)$ , and the critical value of  $\mu$  for the occurrence of the Hopf bifurcation at  $X_0$  is  $\mu_0$ . Let  $\epsilon = \mu_0 - \mu$  and  $\Delta X_k = (x_k - x_0, y_k - y_0, w_k - w_0)$ . Then system (11.4.39) can be written as

$$\Delta X_{k+1} = \tilde{G}(\Delta X_k; \epsilon). \tag{11.4.40}$$

The Jacobian DG(0; 0) satisfies the necessary conditions for Hopf bifurcation. Let P be the eigenmatrix corresponding to  $D\tilde{G}(0; \epsilon)$ . Then under the transformation  $\Delta X_k = PY_k$ , system (11.4.40) becomes

$$Y_{k+1} = F(Y_k; \epsilon),$$
 (11.4.41)

where  $Y_k = (y_{1k}, y_{2k}, y_{3k})^T$ ,  $F(Y_k, \epsilon) = (F_1, F_2, F_3)^T$ , and  $DF(0; \epsilon)$  takes the form:

$$DF(0;\epsilon) = \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{Re}\lambda_1(\epsilon) & -\operatorname{Im}\lambda_1(\epsilon) & 0\\ \operatorname{Im}\lambda_1(\epsilon) & \operatorname{Re}\lambda_1(\epsilon) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \lambda_3 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.42)

Under the complex transformation  $z_k = y_{1k} + iy_{2k}$ ,  $\bar{z_k} = y_{1k} - iy_{2k}$ ,  $W_k = y_{3k}$ , system (11.4.41) can be rewritten as

$$z_{k+1} = \lambda_1(\epsilon) z_k + G(z_k, \bar{z}_k, W_k; \epsilon), \qquad (11.4.43)$$

$$W_{k+1} = \lambda_3(\epsilon)W_k + H(z_k, \bar{z}_k, W_k; \epsilon), \qquad (11.4.44)$$

where  $G(z_k, \bar{z}_k, W_k; \epsilon) = F_1 + iF_2 - \lambda_1(\epsilon)z_k$ ,  $H(z_k, \bar{z}_k, W_k; \epsilon) = F_3 - \lambda_3(\epsilon)W_k$ . There exists a local center manifold for equations (11.4.43) and (11.4.44), given in a series form:

$$W_k(z_k, \bar{z}_k; \epsilon) = \sum_{i+j=2}^m w_{ij}(\epsilon) z_k^i \bar{z}_k^j + o(|z_k|^{m+1}), \qquad (11.4.45)$$

where  $w_{ij}$  can be determined by substituting (11.4.45) into (11.4.44). Thus, we obtain a center manifold (a 2-D map) by substituting (11.4.45) (where  $w_{ij}$  is known) into (11.4.43), which can be expressed as

$$\tilde{\Phi}_{\epsilon}(z_k, \bar{z_k}) = \lambda_1(\epsilon) z_k + \sum_{i+j=2}^3 \xi_{ij}(\epsilon) z_k^i \bar{z}_k^j + o(|z_k|^4).$$
(11.4.46)

Based on Iooss's Hopf bifurcation theory [181], we can make a smooth  $\epsilon$ -dependent transformation of coordinates from  $\tilde{\Phi}_{\epsilon}(z_k, \bar{z_k})$  to the normal form, denoted by  $\Phi_{\epsilon}(z_k, \bar{z_k})$ :

$$\Phi_{\epsilon}(z_k, \bar{z_k}) = \lambda_1(\epsilon) z_k + \alpha_1(\epsilon) z_k^2 \bar{z}_k + O(|z_k|^5), \qquad (11.4.47)$$

where  $\alpha_1(\epsilon)$  is the coefficient of the normal form, satisfying

$$\alpha_{1}(0) = \xi_{21} + \frac{2|\xi_{02}|^{2}}{\lambda_{1}^{2}(0) - \bar{\lambda}_{1}(0)} + \frac{|\xi_{11}|^{2}}{1 - \bar{\lambda}_{1}(0)} + \frac{(1 - 2\lambda_{1}(0))\xi_{11}\xi_{20}}{\lambda_{1}^{2}(0) - \lambda_{1}(0)},$$
(11.4.48)

where  $\xi_{ij} = \xi_{ij}(\epsilon)|_{\epsilon=0}$ . The stability of the Hopf bifurcation is then determined by the sign of

$$\operatorname{Re} A(0) = \operatorname{Re}(\lambda_1(0)) \operatorname{Re}(\alpha_1(0)) + \operatorname{Im}(\lambda_1(0)) \operatorname{Im}(\alpha_1(0)). \quad (11.4.49)$$

If  $\operatorname{Re} A(0)$  is positive (negative), a stable (unstable) Hopf bifurcation is formed.

It should be noted that in analogous to continuous-time systems [420], the above two steps in the Schur–Cohn process can be combined to develop one unified approach. This approach directly reduces the original system to the normal form on a 2-D center manifold. The detailed formulation for this general method is out of the scope of the chapter, and thus will not be further discussed here.

#### Polynomial bifurcation controller for discrete maps

In this subsection, we introduce a feedback controller using polynomial functions for discrete maps. This method has been discussed in Section 4.1.1 for continuous-time systems and successfully applied to study the Lorenz system and a nonlinear electrical circuit.

Consider a general discrete map, given by

$$x_{n+1} = f(x_n, \mu), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}^m, \ f: \mathbb{R}^{n+m} \to \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(11.4.50)

with *k* equilibria, determined from the equation  $x = f(x, \mu)$ . Suppose the equilibria are given by

$$x_i^*(\mu) = (x_{1i}^*, x_{2i}^*, \dots, x_{ni}^*), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, k.$$

The goal of Hopf bifurcation control is to design a controller, given in the form of

$$h = h(x, \mu),$$

such that the original equilibrium point  $x^*$  is unchanged under the control *h*. Thus, it requires

$$h(x_i^*, \mu) = (h_1, h_2, \dots, h_n)^T = 0.$$

Similar to the control formula (11.4.5) used for continuous-time systems [430], we propose a general polynomial control function for discrete maps as follows:

$$h_{q}(x,\mu) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{qi} \prod_{j=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} B_{qij} (x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*}) \prod_{p=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ip}^{*}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{qij} (x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*})^{2} \prod_{p=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ip}^{*}) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{k} D_{qij} (x_{i} - x_{ij}^{*})^{3} \prod_{p=1}^{k} (x_{i} - x_{ip}^{*}) + \cdots (q = 1, 2, ..., n).$$
(11.4.51)

Then controlled system is then given by

$$x_{n+1} = f(x_n, \mu) + h(x_n; \mu) \equiv F(x_n, \mu), \qquad (11.4.52)$$

and the two goals of the control are the same as that of continuous-time systems.

646

## Examples

In this subsection, we use the polynomial feedback controller (11.4.51) to control and anti-control Hopf bifurcations in discrete maps. First, we consider the classical delay logistic map and show that using a simple polynomial feedback controller can not only delay the onset of an existing Hopf bifurcation at the nontrivial fixed point (controlling Hopf bifurcation), but also create a new Hopf bifurcation at the trivial fixed point (anti-controlling Hopf bifurcation). In both cases, the structure of the original system is preserved. That is, the polynomial law will not change the stability properties of the equilibrium point which is not the control object. Then, we study anti-controlling Hopf bifurcations at a period-1 fixed point in Hénon map, which was considered in [397] using a washout filter controller. For comparison, we choose the same parameter values used in [397]. It will be shown that with a simple polynomial controller, we can effectively create a Hopf bifurcation at the period-1 fixed point in Hénon map without increasing the dimension of the system and keep the stability property of the other fixed point. Compared to the washout filter controller, our method is easier to be implemented, and the analysis is simpler. Finally, a polynomial controller is applied to a high dimensional discrete map (a 3-D Hénon map). Anti-control of Hopf bifurcation is considered at a critical point, leading to a strange attractor. Central manifold theory and normal form theory are applied to determine the stability of the Hopf bifurcation. It will be shown that our approach is much easier to apply and the derivation is less involved compared to using the traditional washout filter controller [397].

(A) Delay logistic map. We begin with the design of a polynomial controller to control and anti-control Hopf bifurcation in the classical delay logistic map, given by

$$y_{n+1} = \mu y_n (1 - y_{n-1}). \tag{11.4.53}$$

Letting  $x_n = y_{n-1}$ , equation (11.4.53) is transformed into a system of 2-D discrete map:

$$x_{n+1} = y_n,$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = \mu y_n (1 - x_n).$$
(11.4.54)

System (11.4.54) has a trivial fixed point (x, y) = (0, 0) and a nontrivial fixed point  $(x, y) = (\frac{\mu-1}{\mu}, \frac{\mu-1}{\mu})$ . It is easy to show that when  $\mu > 1$ , the trivial fixed point is a saddle node. At the nontrivial fixed point, the Jacobian matrix is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1-\mu & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

which has eigenvalues:

$$\lambda_{1,2} = \frac{1}{2} (1 \pm \sqrt{5 - 4\mu}).$$

For  $\mu > \frac{5}{4}$ , the eigenvalues are complex conjugate and can be written as

$$\lambda, \ \bar{\lambda} = (\mu - 1)e^{\pm ic}, \quad c = \tan^{-1}\sqrt{4\mu - 5}.$$

Thus, at  $\mu = 2, \lambda, \bar{\lambda} = e^{\pm i\pi/3}$  are the sixth roots of the unity, and

$$\frac{d}{d\mu} \big| \lambda(\mu) \big|_{\mu=2} = 1 \neq 0$$

Thus, system (11.4.54) undergoes a Hopf bifurcation when  $\mu = 2$ , at which the system has a trivial fixed point (the origin) and a nontrivial fixed point:  $(x, y) = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ . When  $\mu > 2$ ,  $|\lambda| = |\overline{\lambda}| = \mu - 1 > 1$ , the nontrivial fixed point is an unstable node while the trivial fixed point is a saddle point.

To determine the stability coefficient Re A(0), we first transform system (11.4.54) into a normal form. Note that when  $\mu = 2$ , the complex eigenvector corresponding to the eigenvalue  $e^{i\pi/3}$  is given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\ \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} + i \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \end{bmatrix} \equiv e_1 + ie_2.$$
(11.4.55)

Applying a change of the coordinates at the nontrivial fixed point  $(x, y) = (\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ :

$$\begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} + [e_2 \ e_1] \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix}, \quad (11.4.56)$$

into system (11.4.54) yields the normal form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} 2uv + 2v^2 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.57)

Using formulas (11.4.36) and (11.4.37), we can easily obtain that  $\gamma_{22} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}i$ ,  $\gamma_{21} = -1$ ,  $\gamma_{20} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2}i$ ,  $\gamma_{32} = 0$ ,  $\alpha_1(0) = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} + \frac{1}{4} - \frac{5\sqrt{3}}{4}i$ . Thus,

$$\operatorname{Re} A(0) = \frac{\sqrt{3} - 7}{4} < 0, \tag{11.4.58}$$

indicating that a stable Hopf bifurcation occurs at  $\mu = 2$ . The numerical simulation result is shown in Figure 11.4.6(a), confirming the existence of a stable closed orbit in the phase space.

Now, consider adding a polynomial controller to system (11.4.54) so that we may delay the Hopf bifurcation from the nontrivial fixed point. For the sake of simplification, we may only choose a control component for the second equation of system (11.4.54). By using formula (11.4.51), we can explicitly write the



Figure 11.4.6. The Hopf bifurcation in the delay logistic equation (4.2): (a) without control; and (b) with a feedback controller (11.4.59) with  $\mu = 3.05$ ,  $A_{11} = \mu$  and  $A_{12} = 0$ .

controller as

$$h_n = A_{11}(x_n - 0)\left(x_n - \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu}\right) + A_{12}(y_n - 0)\left(y_n - \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu}\right), \quad (11.4.59)$$

which preserves the two equilibria of system (11.4.54). Higher order terms are neglected for simplicity. The controlled system is then given by

$$x_{n+1} = y_n,$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = \mu y_n (1 - x_n) + A_{11} (x_n - 0) \left( x_n - \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} \right)$$
  

$$+ A_{12} (y_n - 0) \left( y_n - \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} \right).$$
(11.4.60)

The Jacobian matrix of (11.4.60) evaluated at the nontrivial fixed point  $(x, y) = (\frac{\mu - 1}{\mu}, \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu})$  is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 - \mu + \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} A_{11} & 1 + \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} A_{12} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.61)

Denote the eigenvalues of (11.4.61) by  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\lambda_2$ . In order that the controlled system has a Hopf bifurcation, the conditions  $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2$  and  $|\lambda_1| = 1$  must be satisfied. Under the choice of  $A_{11} = \frac{1}{2}\mu$ , the necessary conditions for (11.4.61) to have a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues are

$$1 - \mu + \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} A_{11} = -1,$$
  

$$\left(1 + \frac{2}{3} A_{12}\right)^2 < 4.$$
(11.4.62)

Thus, we may further choose  $\mu = 3$ ,  $A_{12} = 0$ . Then the Jacobian matrix evaluated at the nontrivial fixed point of the controlled system becomes

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \tag{11.4.63}$$

which has a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues:  $\lambda$ ,  $\bar{\lambda} = e^{\pm i\pi/3}$  and

$$\frac{d}{d\mu} \big| \lambda(\mu) \big|_{\mu=3} = \frac{1}{2} \neq 0$$

indicating that a Hopf bifurcation occurs at  $\mu = 3$  for the controlled system (11.4.60) instead of a Hopf bifurcation at  $\mu = 2$  for the uncontrolled system (11.4.54). This clearly shows that the Hopf bifurcation at the nontrivial fixed point is delayed by using a polynomial controller. While at the trivial fixed point, the Jacobian matrix for the controlled system is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 3 \end{bmatrix},\tag{11.4.64}$$

which has eigenvalues  $\lambda_1 = \frac{3+\sqrt{5}}{2} > 1$  and  $\lambda_2 = \frac{3-\sqrt{5}}{2} < 1$ . So the trivial fixed point is still a saddle point. That means, when we delay the Hopf bifurcation at the nontrivial point, we do not change the stability of the trivial point. In other words, the stability of the trivial fixed point is still under control. To determine the stability of the Hopf bifurcation in the controlled system, we apply a similar change of the coordinates:

$$\begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3} \\ \frac{2}{3} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix},$$
(11.4.65)

to bring system (11.4.60) into the normal form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} 3uv \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.66)

Using formulas (11.4.36) and (11.4.37), we obtain that  $\gamma_{22} = \frac{3}{4}i$ ,  $\gamma_{20} = -\frac{3}{4}i$ ,  $\gamma_{21} = \gamma_{32} = 0$ ,  $\alpha_1(0) = -\frac{9}{32} - \frac{9\sqrt{3}}{32}i$ . Thus,

$$\operatorname{Re} A(0) = -\frac{9}{16} < 0. \tag{11.4.67}$$

Since  $\operatorname{Re} A(0) < 0$ , the Hopf bifurcation of the controlled system is stable. The phase portrait obtained from a numerical simulation is depicted in Figure 11.4.6(b) to show a stable closed orbit.

Next, we show that the polynomial feedback controller can also be used to anti-control the Hopf bifurcation, that is, to generate a Hopf bifurcation when it is desirable. Consider the same delay logistic equation. Now our aim is to create a Hopf bifurcation at the trivial fixed point (x, y) = (0, 0). As we know, for  $\mu > 1$ , the trivial fixed point is a saddle node. Physically, the saddle node is linked to incipient instability in an electric system. In this case, the artificially generated stable limit cycle can be served as a warning signal. Introducing a supercritical Hopf bifurcation may be beneficial in this case.

For convenience, we employ the same form of the controller used in delaying the Hopf bifurcation at the nontrivial fixed point. The controlled system is

$$x_{n+1} = y_n,$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = \mu y_n (1 - x_n) + A_{11} (x_n - 0) \left( x_n - \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} \right)$$
  

$$+ A_{12} (y_n - 0) \left( y_n - \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu} \right),$$
(11.4.68)

whose Jacobian matrix evaluated at (x, y) = (0, 0) is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ \frac{1-\mu}{\mu}A_{11} & \mu + \frac{1-\mu}{\mu}A_{12} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.69)

Using a similar analysis as above, we may choose  $A_{12} = \mu$  and  $A_{11} = \frac{3}{2}$ . Then a Hopf bifurcation occurs at the trivial fixed point when  $\mu = 3$ . The Jacobian matrix at the trivial fixed point for the controlled system when  $\mu = 3$  is given by (11.4.63). Thus, the eigenvalues of (11.4.69) are  $\lambda$ ,  $\overline{\lambda} = e^{\pm i\pi/3}$  and

$$\frac{d}{d\mu} \big| \lambda(\mu) \big|_{\mu=3} = \frac{1}{6} \neq 0.$$

Further, introducing

$$\begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix},$$
(11.4.70)

into system (11.4.68) results in the normal form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \\ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{3}u^2 + \sqrt{3}v^2 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.71)

Then, using formulas (11.4.36) and (11.4.37), we find  $\gamma_{22} = \gamma_{20} = \gamma_{32} = 0$ ,  $\gamma_{21} = \sqrt{3}$ ,  $\alpha_1(0) = \frac{3}{2} - \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{2}i$ . Thus,

$$\operatorname{Re} A(0) = -\frac{3}{2} < 0, \tag{11.4.72}$$

implying that a stable Hopf bifurcation occurs at  $\mu = 3$  for the controlled system from the trivial fixed point (0, 0). See the numerical simulation result shown in Figure 11.4.7.



Figure 11.4.7. The Hopf bifurcation from the trivial equilibrium of the delay logistic equation (4.2) under a feedback controller (11.4.59) with  $\mu = 3.05$ ,  $A_{11} = 1.5$  and  $A_{12} = \mu$ .

It should be noted that at  $\mu = 3$ , the nontrivial fixed point is an unstable node for the uncontrolled delay logistic map. For the controlled system (11.4.68), its Jacobian matrix evaluated at the nontrivial fixed point is

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -\frac{9}{4} & 3 \end{bmatrix},\tag{11.4.73}$$

which gives the eigenvalues  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 = \frac{3}{2} > 1$ . This indicates that under the control, the nontrivial fixed point is still an unstable node at the critical point  $\mu = 3$ . Note that the above design procedure is an illustration, by no means the polynomial controller is unique. We can design different polynomial controllers for a specified system to reach different types of bifurcation control. For example, for the above anti-bifurcation control, we may want to design a controller such that a Hopf bifurcation occurs from the trivial fixed point while the nontrivial fixed point is stabilized, or another Hopf bifurcation emerges from the nontrivial fixed point, etc. Such an control strategy will be demonstrated in the next example.

(*B*) 2-*D* Hénon map. Now, we turn to use a polynomial feedback controller to anti-control Hopf bifurcations in a 2-dimensional Hénon map. The results are compared with that obtained by Wen et al. with the widely used washout filter controller [397]. For a consistent comparison, we apply the polynomial feedback control to reach the same objective considered in [397], that is, to create a Hopf bifurcation at the period-1 fixed point of the 2-D Hénon map. The 2-D Hénon system can be described by a 2-D discrete map:

$$x_{n+1} = \rho - x_n^2 + 0.3y_n,$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = x_n,$$
(11.4.74)

which has a classical period-doubling cascade to chaos when the bifurcation parameter varies from 0.1 to 4. The period-1 fixed points  $(x^0, y^0)$  and  $(x^1, y^1)$  are

given by

$$(x^{0}, y^{0}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(-0.7 + \sqrt{0.49 + 4\rho}\right), \frac{1}{2}\left(-0.7 + \sqrt{0.49 + 4\rho}\right)\right) \quad (11.4.75)$$

and

$$(x^1, y^1) = \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(-0.7 - \sqrt{0.49 + 4\rho}\right), \frac{1}{2}\left(-0.7 - \sqrt{0.49 + 4\rho}\right)\right).$$
 (11.4.76)

Our objective is to create a Hopf bifurcation at the desired location  $(x^0, y^0)$  for different values of the parameter  $\rho$ . Note that the fixed point  $(x^1, y^1)$ , which is not the anti-bifurcation control object, is a saddle point when  $0.1 < \rho < 4.0$ . In [397], a controller with washout filter is designed to generate a Hopf bifurcation at the period-1 fixed point  $(x^0, y^0)$ . The original 2-D system becomes three-dimension due to introducing the washout filter. This not only changes the structure of the 2-D Hénon map, but also increases the complexity of dynamical analysis.

In the following, we shall show that with a simple polynomial feedback controller, we can achieve the same goal in [397] without changing the structure of the 2-D Hénon map. Moreover, we shall show that besides using a controller to generate a Hopf bifurcation from the fixed point  $(x^0, y^0)$ , we can use the same control to keep the stability of the fixed point  $(x^1, y^1)$  unchanged (i.e., it is still a saddle point), or change it from a saddle point to a stable node. This will clearly demonstrate the advantage of our control method using polynomial functions.

To achieve this, we use a polynomial feedback controller in the form of

$$h_{n1} = A_{11}(x_n - x^0)(x_n - x^1) + A_{12}(y_n - y^0)(y_n - y^1) + A_{21}(x_n - x^0)^2(x_n - x^1) + A_{22}(x_n - x^0)(x_n - x^1)^2, h_{n2} = B_{11}(x_n - x^0)^2(x_n - x^1).$$
(11.4.77)

The linear terms in the controller are used to modify the Jacobian matrix of the linearized system, thus to control the appearance of Hopf bifurcation. On the other hand, the nonlinear terms can be used to control the stability of the Hopf bifurcation. The Hopf bifurcation may be supercritical or subcritical depending upon the choice of appropriate nonlinear coefficients. For Hopf bifurcation, nonlinear terms up to third order are enough. With the controller defined in (11.4.77), the controlled 2-D Hénon map is given by

$$x_{n+1} = \rho - x_n^2 + 0.3y_n + h_{n1},$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = x_n + h_{n2}.$$
(11.4.78)

The Jacobian matrix of (11.4.78) evaluated at  $(x^0, y^0)$  is

$$\begin{bmatrix} -2x^{0} + A_{11}(x^{0} - x^{1}) + A_{22}(x^{0} - x^{1})^{2} & 0.3 + A_{12}(y^{0} - y^{1}) \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (11.4.79)

By a similar analysis as that for the delay logistic map, choosing  $A_{11} = 1$ , we obtain a Hopf bifurcation when  $A_{12} = -\frac{13}{\sqrt{49+400\rho}}$  and  $A_{22} = \frac{30}{49+400\rho}$ , for which the Jacobian matrix (11.4.79) has a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues  $\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}i$ . Applying the transformation

$$\begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ y_0 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u \\ v \end{bmatrix}$$
(11.4.80)

into the controlled 2-D Hénon map (11.4.78) yields the normal form:

$$\begin{split} u_{n+1} &= -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{60} \Big[ -40A_{21}x^0x^1v_n - 40A_{22}x^0x^1v_n - 20\sqrt{3}A_{11}u_nv_n \\ &+ 20\sqrt{3}A_{11}x^1u_n + 20\sqrt{3}A_{11}x^0u_n - 15\sqrt{3}A_{21}u_nv_n^2 - 20\sqrt{3}A_{21}(x^0)^2u_n \\ &- 15\sqrt{3}A_{22}u_nv_n^2 - 20\sqrt{3}A_{22}(x^1)^2u_n + 10v_n^2 - 10A_{11}v_n^2 - 40A_{12}v_n^2 \\ &+ 20A_{22}x^1v_n^2 + 20A_{11}x^1v_n + 20A_{11}x^0v_n - 40A_{11}x^0x^1 + 40A_{12}y^1v_n \\ &- 40A_{12}y^0v_n - 40A_{12}y^0y^1 + 10A_{21}x^1v_n^2 + 20A_{21}x^0v_n^2 - 20A_{21}(x^0)^2v_n \\ &+ 40A_{21}(x^0)^2x_1 - 20A_{22}(x^1)^2v_n + 10A_{22}x^0v_n^2 + 40A_{22}x^0(x^1)^2 \\ &+ 20\sqrt{3}u_nv_n - 45A_{21}u_n^2v_n + 60A_{21}x^0u_n^2 - 45A_{22}u_n^2v_n + 60A_{22}x^1u_n^2 \\ &+ 30A_{22}x^0u_n^2 - 15\sqrt{3}A_{21}u_n^3 - 15\sqrt{3}A_{22}u_n^3 - 5A_{22}u_n^3 - 5A_{22}v_n^3 \\ &- 30A_{11}u_n^2 + 30u_n^2 + 20\sqrt{3}A_{21}x^1u_nv_n + 40\sqrt{3}A_{21}x^0u_nv_n \\ &- 40\sqrt{3}A_{21}x^0x^1u_n + 40\sqrt{3}A_{22}x^1u_nv_n + 20\sqrt{3}A_{21}x^0u_nv_n \\ &- 40\sqrt{3}A_{21}x^0x^1u_n + 10\sqrt{3}u_n - 40\rho - 2v_n + 30A_{21}x^1u_n^2 \Big] \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{3}}{120}B_{21}\Big[ -40x^0x^1v_n - 15\sqrt{3}u_nv_n^2 - 20\sqrt{3}(x^0)^2u_n + 10x^1v_n^2 \\ &+ 20x^0v_n^2 - 20(x^0)^2v_n + 40(x^0)^2x^1 - 15\sqrt{3}u_n^3 - 45u_n^2v_n + 30x^1u_n^2 \\ &+ 40\sqrt{3}x^0u_nv_n - 40\sqrt{3}x^0x^1u_n \Big], \end{split}$$
(11.4.81) 
$$v_{n+1} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}u_n + \frac{1}{2} + v_n + B_{21}\Big[ -\frac{1}{2}x^0v_n^2 + \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{8}u_n^3 + \frac{9}{8}u_n^2v_n - \frac{3}{4}x^1u_n^2 \\ &+ \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{8}u_nv_n^2 - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}x^1u_nv_n - \frac{3}{2}x^0u_n^2 - \sqrt{3}x^0u_nv_n + \sqrt{3}x^0x^1u_n \\ &+ \frac{1}{8}v_n^3 - \frac{1}{4}x^1v_n^2 - (x^0)^2x^1 + x^0x^1v_n + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}(x^0)^2u_n \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}(x^0)^2v_n\Big]. \end{aligned}$$



Figure 11.4.8. Simulated phase portraits when  $\rho = 0.3$  for: (a) a period-1 fixed point of the 2-D Hénon map (11.4.74) without control; and (b) a Hopf bifurcation in the controlled 2-D Hénon map (11.4.78) with  $\rho = 0.305$ ,  $A_{11} = A_{21} = 1$ ,  $A_{12} = -1$ ,  $A_{22} = \frac{30}{169}$ ,  $B_{21} = 0$ .

It is easy to show that the coefficients  $A_{21}$  and  $B_{21}$  can be used to modify Re A(0)(and thus to control the stability of Hopf bifurcation generated at  $(x^0, y^0)$ ), and also to control the stability of the fixed point  $(x^1, y^1)$ ). For example, when  $\rho =$ 0.3, we may set  $A_{21} = 1$  and  $B_{21} = 0$ , then the Jacobian matrix for the controlled 2-D Hénon map (11.4.78) evaluated at the fixed point  $(x^1, y^1)$  has eigenvalues 2.935 and -0.545, indicating that it is a saddle point, same as the original system. For the fixed point  $(x^0, y^0)$ , it follows from equations (11.4.36) and (11.4.37) that  $\gamma_{22} = 0.225\sqrt{3} - 0.175i$ ,  $\gamma_{21} = -0.099\sqrt{3}$ ,  $\gamma_{20} = -0.225\sqrt{3} + 0.175i$ ,  $\gamma_{32} = -1.104 - 0.221\sqrt{3}i$ ,  $\alpha_1(0) = 0.975 - 0.683i$ . Thus,

$$\operatorname{Re} A(0) = -0.104, \tag{11.4.83}$$

implying that a stable Hopf bifurcation occurs at the fixed point  $(x^0, y^0)$ . For a consistent comparison with the results obtained in [397], we choose  $\rho =$ 0.3, 0.4, 1.4, corresponding to the uncontrolled 2-D Hénon map to have a stable period-1 orbit, a period-2 orbit and a chaotic attractor, respectively. The numerical simulation results are shown in Figures 11.4.8–11.4.10, where a Hopf bifurcation occurs from the period-1 orbit (see Figure 11.4.8) and period-2 orbit (see Figure 11.4.9) under the feedback control. In Figure 11.4.10, the chaotic motion becomes periodic under the control.

For this example, we can also choose different values of the coefficients  $A_{21}$  and  $B_{21}$  to obtain different bifurcation controls for different control objectives. For example, if one, besides generating a stable Hopf bifurcation from  $(x^0, y^0)$ , also wants to stabilize the saddle point  $(x^1, y^1)$ . This can be achieved, for  $\rho = 0.3$ , by choosing  $A_{21} = -1$  and  $B_{21} = \frac{100}{169}$ . Indeed, under these choices, a stable Hopf bifurcation occurs at the fixed point  $(x^0, y^0)$ , and the fixed point  $(x^1, y^1)$  is stabilized (see Figure 11.4.11).



Figure 11.4.9. Simulated phase portraits when  $\rho = 0.4$  for: (a) a period-2 fixed point of 2-D Hénon map (11.4.74) without control; and (b) a Hopf bifurcation in the controlled 2-D Hénon map (11.4.78) with  $\rho = 0.405$ ,  $A_{11} = 1$ ,  $A_{12} = -\frac{13}{\sqrt{209}}$ ,  $A_{21} = 0$ ,  $A_{22} = \frac{30}{209}$ ,  $B_{21} = 0$ .



Figure 11.4.10. Simulated phase portraits when  $\rho = 1.4$  for: (a) a chaos of 2-D Hénon map (11.4.74) without control; and (b) a Hopf bifurcation in the controlled 2-D Hénon map (11.4.78) with  $\rho = 1.405$ ,  $A_{11} = 1$ ,  $A_{12} = -\frac{13}{\sqrt{609}}$ ,  $A_{21} = 0$ ,  $A_{22} = \frac{30}{609}$ ,  $B_{21} = 0$ .



Figure 11.4.11. Simulated phase portraits when  $\rho = 0.3$  for: (a) a Hopf bifurcation at  $(x^0, y^0)$  in the controlled 2-D Hénon map (11.4.78) with  $\rho = 0.305$ ,  $A_{11} = 1$ ,  $A_{12} = -1$ ,  $A_{21} = -1$ ,  $A_{22} = \frac{30}{169}$ ,  $B_{21} = \frac{100}{169}$ ; and (b) a stable node at that fixed point  $(x^1, y^1)$ .

(*C*) 3-*D* Hénon map. Finally, we consider an example of anti-control of Hopf bifurcation in a higher dimensional discrete map using polynomial function. We use the modified 3-dimensional Hénon map [398] to illustrate chaos control by creating a Hopf bifurcation. The modified 3-D Hénon map is given by

$$x_{n+1} = \rho - y_n^2 - 0.3z_n,$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = x_n,$$
  

$$z_{n+1} = y_n,$$
(11.4.84)

where  $\rho$  is a bifurcation parameter. The 3-D Hénon map without control exhibits a strange attractor at  $\rho = \rho^0 = 1.4$ . In [398], a washout filter controller was used to generate a Hopf bifurcation at the period-1 fixed point, given by

$$(x^0, y^0, z^0) = (-0.65 + 0.5\sqrt{1.69 + 4\rho}, -0.65 + 0.5\sqrt{1.69 + 4\rho}, -0.65 + 0.5\sqrt{1.69 + 4\rho}),$$

when  $\rho = \rho^0 = 1.4$ . As we pointed out before, the dimension of the original system is increased by one when a washout filter controller is introduced. The increase of the dimension of a discrete-time dynamical system complicates the system and analysis. Here, a simple polynomial controller is used to generate a Hopf bifurcation from the period-1 fixed point, meanwhile keeping the local stability property of the fixed point:

$$(x^1, y^1, z^1) = (-0.65 - 0.5\sqrt{1.69 + 4\rho}, - 0.65 - 0.5\sqrt{1.69 + 4\rho}, -0.65 - 0.5\sqrt{1.69 + 4\rho}).$$

Due to the similarity between the 2-D Hénon map and the 3-D Hénon map, we employ the same form of the polynomial controller used in the 2-D Hénon map for the first equation of the 3-D Hénon map (for convenience, we do not add controls to the second and third equations), which is then in the form of

$$h_n = A_{11}(x_n - x^0)(x_n - x^1) + A_{12}(y_n - y^0)(y_n - y^1) + A_{21}(x_n - x^0)^2(x_n - x^1) + A_{22}(x_n - x^0)(x_n - x^1)^2.$$
(11.4.85)

Thus, the controlled system is

$$x_{n+1} = \rho - y_n^2 - 0.3z_n + h_n,$$
  

$$y_{n+1} = x_n,$$
  

$$z_{n+1} = y_n.$$
(11.4.86)

The Jacobian matrix of (11.4.86) evaluated at  $(x^0, y^0, z^0)$  when  $\rho = 1.4$  is

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{27}{10}A_{11} + \frac{729}{100}A_{22} & -\frac{7}{5} + \frac{27}{10}A_{12} & -\frac{3}{10} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

By Theorem 11.4.4, it is easy to use  $A_{11}$  and  $A_{12}$  to determine the critical conditions of Hopf bifurcation. From the condition (iii) in Theorem 11.4.4, we obtain the critical values of  $A_{11}$  and  $A_{12}$  as

$$A_{11} = -\frac{27}{10}A_{22} - 4981$$
 and  $A_{12} = 0$ ,

where  $|a_0| = 0.3 < 1$  and  $|a_0 + a_2| = 1.933 < 2.4 = 1 + a_1$ .

Further, it is easy to verify that

$$\frac{\partial |\lambda_1(\epsilon)|}{\partial \epsilon}\Big|_{\epsilon=0} = 0.264 \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_1^n(0) \neq 1, \tag{11.4.87}$$

indicating that both the transversality condition and the nonresonant condition are satisfied.  $A_{21}$  and  $A_{22}$  can be chosen arbitrarily to determine the stability of the Hopf bifurcation, and also to control the stability of the other fixed point,  $(x^1, y^1, z^1)$ . For example, when  $A_{22} = 0$  and  $A_{21} = -\frac{490}{2187}$ , the eigenvalues for the Jacobian matrix of the controlled system (11.4.86) evaluated at  $(x^1, y^1, z^1)$ are -2.036, 1.961 and 0.075, which are the same as that of the original 3-D Hénon map when  $\rho = 1.4$ . Thus, the stability of the fixed point  $(x^1, y^1, z^1)$  is unchanged under the control when  $\rho = 1.4$ . The stability of the Hopf bifurcation is determined by the sign of Re A(0) (see equation (11.4.49)). By applying the center manifold and normal form theories, it can be shown that

$$\operatorname{Re} A(0) = 4.414, \tag{11.4.88}$$

and thus a stable Hopf bifurcation is obtained under the control. The numerical simulation results are shown in Figure 11.4.12.



Figure 11.4.12. Simulated 3-D phase portraits when  $\rho = 1.4$  for: (a) a chaos of the 3-D Hénon map (11.4.84) without control; and (b) a Hopf bifurcation in the controlled 3-D Hénon map (11.4.86) with  $\rho = 1.41$ ,  $A_{11} = -\frac{49}{81}$ ,  $A_{12} = 0$ ,  $A_{21} = -\frac{490}{2187}$  and  $A_{22} = 0$ .

### 11.4.3. 2-D lifting surface

The final application of Hopf bifurcation control is for a nonlinear aeroelastic problem related to 2-D supersonic lifting surface. Due to its evident practical importance, the study of the flutter instability of flight vehicle constitutes an essential prerequisite in their design process. The flutter instability can jeopardize aircraft performance and dramatically affect its survivability. Moreover, the tendency of increasing structural flexibility and maximum operating speed increase the like-lihood of the flutter occurrence within the aircraft operational envelope. In order to prevent such events to occur, two principal issues have been discussed [306]: (i) increase, without weight penalties, of the flutter speed, and (ii) possibilities to convert unstable limit cycles into stable ones. Both two issues are related to controlling Hopf bifurcations. In particular, issue (i) implies increase of the stability of an equilibrium and delay of the occurrence of Hopf bifurcations [146,420,305]; while issue (ii) is related to controlling Hopf bifurcations once a periodic vibration has been initiated [66].

This study primarily deals with the determination and control of the flutter speed of supersonic/hypersonic lifting surfaces, based on the character of the flutter boundary. This implies the determination of the conditions generating the catastrophic type of flutter boundary, and implementation of an active control capability enabling one to convert this type of flutter boundary into a benign one. This issue is of a considerable importance toward the expansion, without catastrophic failures, of the flight envelope of the vehicle. In contrast to the issue of the determination of the flutter boundary that requires a linearized analysis, the problem of the determination of the character of the flutter boundary, requires a nonlinear analysis. As it has been shown [288,287] at hypersonic speeds the aero-dynamic nonlinearities play a detrimental role, in the sense that they contribute to conversion of the benign flutter boundary to a catastrophic one. Therefore, an active control capability enabling one to prevent conversion of the flutter boundary into a catastrophic one should be implemented.

The investigation is based on a nonlinear model of a wing section of the high speed aircraft incorporating active control in [306]. The geometry of the model is shown in Figure 11.4.13. Structural, aerodynamic and control nonlinearities have been included in the present aeroelastic model. In this context, the parameter *B* represents a measure of the degree of the structural nonlinearity of the system, in the sense that, corresponding to B < 0 or B > 0, the structural nonlinearities are soft or hard, respectively, while for B = 0, the system is structurally linear. The linear and nonlinear active controls are given in terms of two normalized control gain parameters  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$ , respectively. Based on Piston Theory Aerodynamics (PTA), the nonlinear unsteady aerodynamic lift and moment are obtained through the integration of the pressure difference on the upper and lower surfaces of the airfoil. Notice also that the aerodynamic correction factor  $\gamma = M_{\infty}/\sqrt{M_{\infty}^2 - 1}$ 



Figure 11.4.13. Geometry of the cross-section of lifting surface.

which enables one to extend the applicability of the PTA to the low supersonic flight speed range, has been included in the present model. In the context previously described, the system of dimensionless aeroelastic governing equations including linear and nonlinear time-delay feedback controls can be described by

$$\ddot{\xi} + \chi_{\alpha} \ddot{\alpha} + 2\zeta_{h} \left(\frac{\overline{\omega}}{V}\right) \dot{\xi} + \left(\frac{\overline{\omega}}{V}\right)^{2} \xi = \mathcal{L}(t),$$

$$\frac{\chi_{\alpha}}{r_{\alpha}^{2}} \ddot{\xi} + \ddot{\alpha} + \frac{2\zeta_{\alpha}}{V} \dot{\alpha} + \frac{1}{V^{2}} \alpha + \frac{1}{V^{2}} B \alpha^{3}$$

$$= \mathcal{M}(t) - \frac{\Psi_{1}}{V^{2}} \alpha (t - \tau) - \frac{\Psi_{2}}{V^{2}} \alpha^{3} (t - \tau), \qquad (11.4.89)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}(t) = -\frac{\gamma}{12\mu M_{\infty}} \{ 12\alpha + \delta_A M_{\infty}^2 (1+\kappa) \gamma^2 \alpha^3 + 12 [\dot{\xi} + \dot{\alpha}(b - x_{ea})/b] \},$$
  
$$\mathcal{M}(t) = -\frac{\gamma}{12\mu M_{\infty}} \frac{1}{r_{\alpha}^2 b} \{ 12(b - x_{ea})\alpha + \delta_A M_{\infty}^2 (b - x_{ea})(1+\kappa) \gamma^2 \alpha^3 + 4 [3(b - x_{ea})\dot{\xi} + \dot{\alpha} (4b^2 - 6bx_{ea} + 3x_{ea}^2)/b] \},$$
 (11.4.90)

and  $\xi(t) = h(t)/b$  (*h* is the plunging displacement),  $\alpha(t)$  is the twist angle about the pitch axis,  $\mathcal{L}(t)$  and  $\mathcal{M}(t)$  denote the dimensionless aerodynamic lift and moment, respectively, while  $\tau$  is the time delay. The meaning of the remaining parameters can be found in a nomenclature (see [306,288,444]).

Mathematical model is generally the first approximation of the considered real system. More realistic models should include some of the past states of the system, that is, the model should include time delay. The time delay in control can occur either beyond our will or it can be designed as to increase the performance

of the system [307]. For this reason, as a necessary prerequisite, a good understanding of its effects on the flutter instability boundary and its character (benign or catastrophic) is required.

In order to capture the effect of time delay,  $\tau$ , introduced in the related terms  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$ , let  $\xi = x_1$ ,  $\alpha = x_2$ ,  $\dot{\xi} = x_3$ ,  $\dot{\alpha} = x_4$  and  $x_{2t} = x_2(t - \tau)$ . Then, one can rewrite equation (11.4.89) as a set of four first-order differential equations:

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{x}_1 &= x_3, \\ \dot{x}_2 &= x_4, \\ \dot{x}_3 &= a_1 x_1 + a_2 x_2 + a_3 x_3 + a_4 x_4 + a_5 x_2^3 + e_1 x_{2t} + e_2 x_{2t}^3, \\ \dot{x}_4 &= b_1 x_1 + b_2 x_2 + b_3 x_3 + b_4 x_4 + b_5 x_2^3 + f_1 x_{2t} + f_2 x_{2t}^3, \end{aligned}$$
(11.4.91)

where all the coefficients are explicitly expressed in terms of the parameters of equation (11.4.89), which can be found in [444].

For convenience in the following analysis, rewrite equation (11.4.91) in the vector form:

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{x}}(t) = A_1 \boldsymbol{x}(t) + A_2 \boldsymbol{x}(t-\tau) + \boldsymbol{F} \big( \boldsymbol{x}(t), \boldsymbol{x}(t-\tau) \big), \qquad (11.4.92)$$

where  $x, F \in \mathbb{R}^4$ ,  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are  $4 \times 4$  matrices.  $A_1, A_2$  and F are given by

$$A_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ a_{1} & a_{2} & a_{3} & a_{4} \\ b_{1} & b_{2} & b_{3} & b_{4} \end{bmatrix}, \quad A_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & e_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & f_{1} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{and}$$
$$F = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ a_{5}x_{2}^{2}(t) + e_{2}x_{2}^{3}(t-\tau) \\ b_{5}x_{2}^{3}(t) + f_{2}x_{2}^{3}(t-\tau) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (11.4.93)$$

respectively.

Hopf bifurcation has been extensively studied using many different methods [146,305], for example, Lyapunov's quantity used in the context of the supersonic panel flutter where the effects of structural, aerodynamical and physical nonlinearities have been incorporated [287]. In [306,307], the dynamic behavior of the system without time delay in the control was studied in the vicinity of a Hopf-type critical point. In particular, the effect of the active control on the character of the flutter boundary (where the Jacobian has a purely imaginary pair) is investigated. It is shown that for different flight speeds, stable (unstable) equilibrium and stable (unstable) limit cycles exist.

In this subsection, we will consider the effect of the time delay involved in the feedback control. Nonlinear systems involving time delay have been studied by many authors (e.g., see [70,349,24,156,108,440]). The main attention here will be focused on Hopf bifurcation. Th results obtained from the model (11.4.89) reveal

an important fact: time delay in the linear control can contribute to the expansion of the flight envelope, while in nonlinear control it can contribute to the conversion of the unstable limit cycles into a stable one.

#### Linearized system

As the first step, we analyze the stability of the trivial solution of the linearized system of (11.4.92), which is given by

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}}(t) = A_1 \mathbf{x}(t) + A_2 \mathbf{x}(t-\tau), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^4.$$
 (11.4.94)

The characteristic function can be obtained by substituting the trial solution,  $\mathbf{x}(t) = \mathbf{c}e^{\lambda \tau}$ , where  $\mathbf{c}$  is a constant vector, into the linear part to find

$$D(\lambda) = \det(\lambda I - A_1 - A_2 e^{-\lambda \tau})$$
  
=  $\lambda^4 - (a_3 + b_3)\lambda^3 + (a_3b_4 - a_4b_3 - b_2 - a_1)\lambda^2$   
+  $(b_2a_3 - b_3a_2 + a_1b_4 - b_1a_4)\lambda + a_1b_2 - a_2b_1$   
-  $[f_1\lambda^2 + (b_3e_1 - a_3f_1)\lambda + (b_1e_1 - a_1f_1)]e^{-\lambda \tau}$ , (11.4.95)

where *I* denotes the identify matrix. Based on equation (11.4.95), it can be shown [440] that *The number of the eigenvalues of the characteristic equation* (11.4.95) with negative real parts, counting multiplicities, can change only when the eigenvalues become pure imaginary pairs as the time delay  $\tau$  and the components of  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are varied.

It is seen from equation (11.4.95) that when  $a_1(b_2 + f_1) \neq b_1(a_2 + e_1)$ , none of the roots of  $D(\lambda)$  is zero. Thus, the trivial equilibrium  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{0}$  becomes unstable only when equation (11.4.95) has at least a pair of purely imaginary roots  $\lambda = \pm i\omega$  (*i* is the imaginary unit), at which a Hopf bifurcation occurs. The critical value for a Hopf bifurcation to occur can be found from the following equation:

$$D(i\omega) = \left[ \left( f_1 \omega^2 + a_1 f_1 - b_1 e_1 \right) \cos(\omega \tau) + \omega (f_1 a_3 - b_3 e_1) \sin(\omega \tau) + \omega^4 + (b_2 + a_1 - a_3 b_4 + a_4 b_3) \omega^2 + a_1 b_2 - b_1 a_2 \right] \\ + \left[ \omega (f_1 a_3 - b_3 e_1) \cos(\omega \tau) - \left( a_1 f_1 + f_1 \omega^2 - b_1 e_1 \right) \sin(\omega \tau) + (a_4 + b_3) \omega^3 + (b_2 a_3 - b_3 a_2 + a_1 b_4 - b_1 a_4) \omega \right] i.$$
(11.4.96)

Setting the real and imaginary parts of  $D(i\omega)$  zero results in

$$\cos(\omega\tau) = P_1/P$$
 and  $\sin(\omega\tau) = P_2/P$ , (11.4.97)

where

$$P_{1} = -f_{1}\omega^{6} + (a_{3}b_{3}e_{1} + b_{4}b_{3}e_{1} - f_{1}a_{4}b_{3} - a_{3}^{2}f_{1} + b_{1}e_{1}$$
  
$$-2f_{1}a_{1} - f_{1}b_{2})\omega^{4} + (a_{1}b_{4}b_{3}e_{1} + b_{1}a_{4}f_{1}a_{3} + b_{2}a_{3}b_{3}e_{1} - b_{3}^{2}a_{2}e_{1}$$

Chapter 11. Limit Cycle, Normal Form and Hopf Bifurcation Control

$$-b_{2}a_{3}^{2}f_{1} - b_{1}e_{1}a_{3}b_{4} + b_{3}a_{2}f_{1}a_{3} - a_{1}f_{1}a_{4}b_{3} - 2f_{1}a_{1}b_{2} + f_{1}b_{1}a_{2}$$

$$+b_{1}e_{1}b_{2} + b_{1}e_{1}a_{1} - a_{1}^{2}f_{1})\omega^{2} + (a_{1}f_{1} - b_{1}e_{1})(b_{1}a_{2} - a_{1}b_{2}),$$

$$P_{2} = \omega \Big[ (f_{1}b_{4} + b_{3}e_{1})\omega^{4} + (f_{1}b_{4}a_{3}^{2} - f_{1}a_{3}a_{4}b_{3} - f_{1}b_{1}a_{4} - f_{1}b_{3}a_{2}$$

$$+ 2f_{1}a_{1}b_{4} - b_{1}e_{1}a_{3} - a_{3}b_{4}b_{3}e_{1} + b_{2}b_{3}e_{1}$$

$$-b_{1}e_{1}b_{4} + a_{1}b_{3}e_{1} + a_{4}b_{3}^{2}e_{1})\omega^{2} + b_{1}a_{4}(b_{1}e_{1} - a_{1}f_{1}) \Big]$$

$$+ a_{1}f_{1}(a_{1}b_{4} - a_{2}b_{3}) + a_{3}b_{1}(f_{1}a_{2} - e_{1}b_{2}) + a_{1}e_{1}(b_{2}b_{3} - b_{1}b_{4}),$$

$$P = f_{1}^{2}\omega^{4} + \Big[ (b_{3}e_{1} - f_{1}a_{3})^{2} + 2f_{1}(f_{1}a_{1} - b_{1}e_{1}) \Big]\omega^{2}$$

$$+ (b_{1}e_{1} - a_{1}f_{1})^{2}.$$
(11.4.98)

With the aid of equations (11.4.97) and (11.4.98), one may apply the identity  $\sin^2(\omega\tau) + \cos^2(\omega\tau) = 1$  to obtain the following 8th-degree characteristic polynomial of  $\omega$ :

$$\omega^8 + q_1 \omega^6 + q_2 \omega^4 + q_3 \omega^2 + q_4 = 0, \qquad (11.4.99)$$

where

$$q_{1} = a_{3}^{2} + b_{4}^{2} + 2(b_{2} + a_{4}b_{3} + a_{1}),$$

$$q_{2} = (a_{1} + b_{1})^{2} + (a_{3}b_{4} - a_{4}b_{3})^{2} - f_{1}^{2}$$

$$+ 2[a_{3}(b_{2}a_{3} - a_{2}b_{3}) + a_{4}(a_{1}b_{4} - b_{1}a_{3})]$$

$$+ 2[b_{3}(a_{4}b_{2} - a_{2}b_{4}) + b_{4}(a_{1}b_{4} - b_{1}a_{4})],$$

$$q_{3} = (a_{1}b_{4} - a_{4}b_{1})^{2} + (a_{2}b_{3} - a_{3}b_{2})^{2} - (a_{3}f_{1} - b_{3}e_{1})^{2}$$

$$+ 2(a_{4}b_{2} - a_{2}b_{4})(a_{1}b_{3} - a_{3}b_{1})$$

$$+ 2[(a_{1} + b_{1})(a_{1}b_{2} - a_{2}b_{1}) + f_{1}(b_{1}e_{1} - f_{1}a_{1})],$$

$$q_{4} = (a_{1}b_{2} - a_{2}b_{1})^{2} - (a_{1}f_{1} - b_{1}e_{1})^{2}.$$
(11.4.100)

If equation (11.4.99) has no positive real roots (for  $\omega^2$ ), then system (11.4.94) does not contain center manifold, but only stable and unstable manifolds. On the other hand, if equation (11.4.99) has at least one positive solution for  $\omega$ , one may substitute the solution(s) into equation (11.4.97) to find the smallest  $\tau_{\min}$ , at which the system undergoes a Hopf bifurcation.

Although closed-form solution exists for the roots of a general 4th-degree polynomial (we can consider equation (11.4.99) as a 4th-degree polynomial of  $\omega^2$ ), it is not useful here in finding the relations between the parameters since the expressions are too involved to be treated analytically. In this chapter, we will use a numerical approach to find the relations among the flutter speed  $V_F (\equiv U_F/b\omega_\alpha)$ , flight Mach Number  $M_\infty$ , time delay  $\tau$  and control gains  $\Psi_1$ ,  $\Psi_2$ . More computation results will be given later in Section 4.3.3.

#### Center manifold reduction

In order to obtain the explicit analytical expressions for the stability condition of Hopf bifurcation solutions (limit cycles), we need to reduce system (1) to its center manifold [156]. While studying the critical infinite dimensional problem on a 2-D center manifold, we express the delay equation as an abstract evolution equation on Banach space *H* of continuously differentiable function  $\boldsymbol{u}: [-\tau, 0] \rightarrow R^2$  as

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{x}} = A\boldsymbol{x}_t + \boldsymbol{F}(t, \boldsymbol{x}_t), \tag{11.4.101}$$

where  $\mathbf{x}_t(\theta) = \mathbf{x}(t+\theta)$  for  $-\tau \leq \theta \leq 0$ , and *A* is a linear operator for the critical case, expressed by

$$A\boldsymbol{u}(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{d\boldsymbol{u}(\theta)}{d\theta} & \text{for } \theta \in [-\tau, 0), \\ A_1\boldsymbol{u}(0) + A_2\boldsymbol{u}(-\tau) & \text{for } \theta = 0. \end{cases}$$
(11.4.102)

The nonlinear operator F is in the form of

$$F(\boldsymbol{u})(\theta) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } \theta \in [-\tau, 0) \\ F(\boldsymbol{u}(0), \boldsymbol{u}(-\tau)) & \text{for } \theta = 0. \end{cases}$$
(11.4.103)

Similarly, we can define the dual/adjoint space  $H^*$  of continuously differentiable function  $v : [0, \tau] \to R^2$  with the dual operator

$$A^* \boldsymbol{v}(\sigma) = \begin{cases} -\frac{d\boldsymbol{v}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} & \text{for } \sigma \in (0, \tau], \\ A_1^* \boldsymbol{v}(0) + A_2^* \boldsymbol{v}(\tau) & \text{for } \sigma = 0. \end{cases}$$
(11.4.104)

From the discussion given in the previous subsection, we know that the characteristic equation (11.4.95) has single pair of purely imaginary eigenvalues  $\Lambda = \pm i\omega$ . Therefore, H can be split into two subspaces as  $H = P_{\Lambda} \oplus Q_{\Lambda}$ , where  $P_{\Lambda}$  is a 2-D space spanned by the eigenvectors of the operator  $\Lambda$  associated with the eigenvalues  $\Lambda$ , while  $Q_{\Lambda}$  is the complementary space of  $P_{\Lambda}$ . Then for  $\boldsymbol{u} \in H$  and  $\boldsymbol{v} \in H^*$ , we can define a bilinear operator:

$$\langle \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{u} \rangle = \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}^T(0)\boldsymbol{u}(0) - \int_{-\tau}^0 \int_0^{\theta} \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}^T(\xi - \theta) [d\eta(\theta)] \boldsymbol{u}(\xi) d\xi$$
  
$$= \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}^T(0)\boldsymbol{u}(0) + \int_{-\tau}^0 \bar{\boldsymbol{v}}^T(\xi + \theta) A_2(\xi) \boldsymbol{u}(\xi) d\xi.$$
(11.4.105)

Corresponding to the critical characteristic root  $i\omega$ , the complex eigenvector  $q(\theta) \in H$  satisfies

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{q}(\theta)}{d\theta} = i\omega\boldsymbol{q}(\theta), \quad \text{for } \theta \in [-\tau, 0),$$

Chapter 11. Limit Cycle, Normal Form and Hopf Bifurcation Control

$$A_1 q(0) + A_2 q(-\tau) = i \omega q(0), \quad \text{for } \theta = 0.$$
(11.4.106)

The general solution of equation (11.4.106) is

$$\boldsymbol{q}(\theta) = \boldsymbol{C} \boldsymbol{e}^{i\omega\theta}.\tag{11.4.107}$$

From the boundary conditions we find the following matrix equation:

$$\begin{bmatrix} -i\omega & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & -i\omega & 0 & 1\\ a_1 & a_2 + e_1 e^{-i\omega\tau} & a_3 - i\omega & a_4\\ b_1 & b_2 + f_1 e^{-i\omega\tau} & b_3 & b_4 - i\omega \end{bmatrix} C = \mathbf{0}.$$
 (11.4.108)

By letting  $C = (C_1, C_2, C_3, C_4)^T$  and choosing  $C_1 = 1$ , we uniquely determine  $C_2, C_3$  and  $C_4$ . Then the eigenvector  $q(\theta) = Ce^{i\omega\theta}$  is found. Thus, the real basis for  $P_A$  is obtained as  $\Phi(\theta) = (\varphi_1, \varphi_2) = (\text{Re}(q(\theta)), \text{Im}(q(\theta)))$ , that is,

$$\Phi(\theta) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\omega\theta) & \sin(\omega\theta) \\ \frac{L_1\cos(\omega\theta) + \omega L_2\sin(\omega\theta)}{L_0} & \frac{L_1\sin(\omega\theta) - \omega L_2\cos(\omega\theta)}{L_0} \\ -\omega\sin(\omega\theta) & \omega\cos(\omega\theta) \\ \frac{\omega(\omega L_2\cos(\omega\theta) - L_1\sin(\omega\theta))}{L_0} & \frac{\omega(\omega L_2\sin(\omega\theta) + L_1\cos(\omega\theta))}{L_0} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (11.4.109)$$

where  $L_i$  (i = 0, ..., 2) are explicitly expressed in terms of the original system parameters.

Similarly, from the equation

$$A^*\boldsymbol{q}^*(\sigma) = -i\omega\boldsymbol{q}^*(\sigma)$$

or

$$-\frac{d\boldsymbol{q}^{*}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} = -i\omega\boldsymbol{q}^{*}(\sigma) \quad \text{for } \sigma \in [0, \tau),$$
$$A_{1}^{*}\boldsymbol{q}^{*}(0) + A_{2}^{*}\boldsymbol{q}^{*}(\tau) = -i\omega\boldsymbol{q}^{*}(0) \quad \text{for } \sigma = 0, \qquad (11.4.110)$$

one can choose the real basis for the dual space  $Q_A$  as

$$\Psi(\sigma) = (\Psi_1, \Psi_2) = \left(\operatorname{Re}(q^*(\sigma)), \operatorname{Im}(q^*(\sigma))\right)$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \frac{L_3 \cos(\omega\sigma) + L_4 \sin(\omega\sigma)}{M} & \frac{L_3 \sin(\omega\sigma) - L_4 \cos(\omega\sigma)}{M} \\ \frac{L_5 \cos(\omega\sigma) + L_6 \sin(\omega\sigma)}{M} & \frac{L_5 \sin(\omega\sigma) - L_6 \cos(\omega\sigma)}{M} \\ \frac{L_7 \cos(\omega\sigma) + L_8 \sin(\omega\sigma)}{M} & \frac{L_7 \sin(\omega\sigma) - L_8 \cos(\omega\sigma)}{M} \\ N_1 \cos(\omega\sigma) - N_2 \sin(\omega\sigma) & N_1 \sin(\omega\sigma) + N_2 \cos(\omega\sigma) \end{bmatrix}, (11.4.111)$$

where the explicit expressions of  $L_i$  (i = 3, ..., 8) and M are expressed explicitly in terms of the original system's parameters [444], and  $N_1$  and  $N_2$  can be obtained from the relation  $\langle \Psi, \Phi \rangle = I$ , given in terms of  $\omega$ ,  $\tau$  and the coefficients  $a_i, b_i, e_i$ and  $f_i$  in equation (11.4.107).

Next, by defining  $\boldsymbol{w} \equiv (w_1, w_2)^T = \langle \boldsymbol{\Psi}, \boldsymbol{u}_t \rangle$  (which actually represents the local coordinate system on the 2-D center manifold, induced by the basis  $\boldsymbol{\Psi}$ ), then with the aid of equations (11.4.109) and (11.4.111), one can decompose  $\boldsymbol{u}_t$  into two parts to obtain

$$\boldsymbol{u}_{t} = \boldsymbol{u}_{t}^{P_{A}} + \boldsymbol{u}_{t}^{Q_{A}} = \boldsymbol{\Phi} \langle \boldsymbol{\Psi}, \boldsymbol{u}_{t} \rangle + \boldsymbol{u}_{t}^{Q_{A}} = \boldsymbol{\Phi} \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{u}_{t}^{Q_{A}}, \qquad (11.4.112)$$

which implies that the projection of  $u_t$  on the center manifold is  $\Phi w$ . Then, applying equations (11.4.101) and (11.4.112) results in

$$\langle \Psi, \Phi \dot{\boldsymbol{w}} + \dot{\boldsymbol{u}}_t^Q \rangle = \langle \Psi, A(\Phi \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{u}_t^Q) \rangle + \langle \Psi, F(\boldsymbol{t}, \Phi \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{u}_t^Q) \rangle, \quad (11.4.113)$$

and therefore,

$$\langle \Psi, \Phi \rangle \dot{\boldsymbol{w}} = \langle \Psi, A\Phi \rangle \boldsymbol{w} + \langle \Psi, \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{t}, \Phi \boldsymbol{w} + \boldsymbol{u}_t^Q) \rangle$$

which can be written as

 $I\dot{\boldsymbol{w}}=D_A\boldsymbol{w}+\mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{w}).$ 

Finally, we obtain the equation of the center manifold, as given in the following theorem.

THEOREM 11.4.5. *The 2-D center manifold of system* (11.4.91) *associated with Hopf bifurcation is given by* 

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{w}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \omega \\ -\omega & 0 \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{w} + \mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{w}), \qquad (11.4.114)$$

where  $\mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{w})$  represents the nonlinear terms contributed from the original system to the center manifold.

The lowest order nonlinear terms of the center manifold, needed to determine the solutions, are:

$$\mathcal{N}_{3}(\boldsymbol{w}) = \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(0)F(\boldsymbol{\Phi}\boldsymbol{w}) = \boldsymbol{\Psi}^{T}(0) \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ a_{5}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}(0)\boldsymbol{w})_{2}^{3} + e_{2}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}(-\tau)\boldsymbol{w})_{2}^{3} \\ b_{5}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}(0)\boldsymbol{w})_{2}^{3} + f_{2}(\boldsymbol{\Phi}(-\tau)\boldsymbol{w})_{2}^{3} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} C_{30}^{1}w_{1}^{3} + C_{21}^{1}w_{1}^{2}w_{2} + C_{12}^{1}w_{1}w_{2}^{2} + C_{03}^{1}w_{2}^{3} \\ C_{30}^{1}w_{2}^{3} + C_{21}^{2}w_{1}^{2}w_{2} + C_{12}^{2}w_{1}w_{2}^{2} + C_{03}^{2}w_{2}^{3} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (11.4.115)$$

~

where " $(\cdots)_2^3$ " denotes the cubic order terms extracted from the second component of the vector  $(\cdots)$ . In fact, since  $\Phi$  is a 4 × 2 matrix and w is a 2 × 1 vector,  $\Phi w$  is a 4 × 1 vector which may include higher order terms in the components, we just intercept the third order terms. Therefore, we obtain the normal form as follows.

THEOREM 11.4.6. The normal form of system (11.4.91) associated with Hopf bifurcation is

$$\dot{r} = Lr^3,$$
  
$$\dot{\theta} = \omega + br^2,$$
(11.4.116)

where L is a Lyapunov coefficient, also called as Lyapunov First Quantity (LFQ), given by

$$L = \frac{1}{8} \left( 3C_{30}^1 + C_{12}^1 + C_{21}^2 + 3C_{03}^2 \right).$$
(11.4.117)

When L < 0 (> 0), the Hopf bifurcation is supercritical (subcritical).

#### Results

In this subsection, some numerical results are presented to investigate the stability with respect to the choices of the time delay,  $\tau$ , and the linear and nonlinear control gains,  $\Psi_1$  and  $\Psi_2$ , using the formulas presented in the previous sections.

In order to compare the results with those given in [306] where the approach [287] was used and no time delay is presented, we shall take the same parameter values used in [306]. The main chosen varying parameters are  $M_{\infty}$ ,  $\Psi_1$ ,  $\Psi_2$  and time delay  $\tau$ , while other parameters given in equation (11.4.107) are fixed:

$$b = 1.5, \quad \mu = 50, \quad \overline{\omega} = 1.0, \quad r_{\alpha} = 0.5,$$
  

$$\chi_{\alpha} = 0.25, \quad \zeta_{h} = \zeta_{\alpha} = 0,$$
  

$$\gamma = 1, \quad \kappa = 1.4, \quad \delta_{A} = 1, \quad B = 1,$$
  

$$x_{0} = 0.5, \quad \omega_{\alpha} = 60.$$
(11.4.118)

The stability of the aeroelastic system in the vicinity of the flutter boundary is analyzed on the basis of equations (11.4.109) and (11.4.111).

We know from [306] that when either the linear or the nonlinear control gain is added, at relatively moderate supersonic flight Mach numbers the flutter boundary is benign, while with the increase of the flight Mach number, due to the built-up aerodynamic nonlinearities that become prevalent, the flutter boundary becomes catastrophic. Here, we will show how the stability changes when the time delay is introduced.

Four typical cases are discussed below. Note that in the discussions,  $V_F$  denotes the flutter velocity at which Hopf bifurcation (due to flutter instability) is initiated, leading to periodic motions. The stability of bifurcating limit cycles is determined by the sign of *L*—the Lyapunov coefficient. The computation of *L* is based on the center manifold and equation (11.4.117) described in the previous subsection.

CASE 1.  $\tau = 0$  (i.e., no delay),  $\Psi_1$  is varied, while  $\Psi_2 = 0$  (nonlinear feedback control is not applied).

Consider the linear feedback control with gain  $\Psi_1$ , but without the time delay. The results of the flutter velocity with respect to flight Mach number for different values of  $\Psi_1$  and the corresponding Lyapunov coefficients recover what obtained in [306]. This constitutes an excellent validation of our methodology since the results in [306] were produced with a different method (see [287]). The effect of the linear control on  $V_F$  is depicted in Figure 11.4.14(b) (as solid lines), while the effect on L has the similar trend as the case with time delay,  $\tau$ (see Figure 11.4.15(a)). It is shown that the flutter speed monotonically increases with increases of flight Mach numbers,  $M_{\infty}$ , and/or the control gain,  $\Psi_1$ . When L < 0 (> 0), the corresponding motion is stable (unstable) in the sense of Hopf bifurcation. We may define the value of the Mach number at which L = 0 as the critical value,  $M_{TR}$ , where TR means transitory indicating L is crossing the zero critical value. It can be seen that in general the motions are stable for smaller Mach numbers, and unstable for larger Mach numbers. Moreover, it is interesting to observe that the slopes of the curves are slightly decreasing as the  $\Psi_1$  is increasing, suggesting that the  $M_{TR}$  is larger for larger values of  $\Psi_1$ , and physically giving a measure of the rapidity of transition of the aeroelastic system, from the



Figure 11.4.14. (a) The LFQ corresponding to  $\Psi_2 = 10\Psi_1$  for  $\tau = 0$ ; and (b) effects of the linear control with or without time delay on the flutter boundary.



Figure 11.4.15. (a) The LFQ corresponding to  $\Psi_2 = 0$ ,  $\tau = 1$  for  $\Psi_1 = 0.1$ , 0.2, 0.3, 0.4; and (b) the LFQ corresponding to  $\Psi_2 = 10\Psi_1$ ,  $\tau = 1$  for  $\Psi_1 = 0.1$ , 0.2, 0.3, 0.4.

benign state to the catastrophic one, i.e., an idea of the occurrence of a mild or explosive type of flutter.

CASE 2.  $\tau = 0$  (i.e., no delay), but  $\Psi_2 = 10\Psi_1$ .

Here, for convenience in comparison, we take  $\Psi_2 = 10\Psi_1$ . The presence of  $\Psi_2$  does not change the relation between the flutter velocity and Mach number since the flutter speed is only determined by linear terms. The Lyapunov coefficients for this case are depicted in Figure 11.4.14(a). This result is also in good agreement with that in [306]. It clearly shows that the nonlinear feedback control is more effective than the linear feedback control in rendering the flutter boundary a benign one.

CASE 3. Time delay  $\tau$  is fixed,  $\Psi_1$  is varied while  $\Psi_2 = 0$ .

It should be noted that the time delay  $\tau$  given in equation (11.4.107) is nondimensionalized. The real time delay is  $\hat{\tau} = \tau \omega_{\alpha}$ . We fix the time delay ( $\tau = 1$  is selected in this chapter) and investigate the effects of the linear and nonlinear control gains on the flutter stability boundary.

The results for considering the linear control only are shown in Figures 11.4.14(b) and 11.4.15(a). It is noted from Figure 11.4.14(b) that the trends are similar to that of the case without time delay.  $V_F$  is a monotonically increasing function of the linear control gain,  $\Psi_1$ , and the flight Mach number,  $M_{\infty}$ . However, it should be noted that the value of  $V_F$  with the time delay, for any particular point ( $\Psi_1$ ,  $M_{\infty}$ ), has an increase, compared to the case without time delay. Compared with the case without time delay, it is seen that the effect of  $\tau$  becomes more prominent for larger values of  $\Psi_1$ . This suggests that employing time delay in the

feedback control is beneficial in controlling flutter instability, and a better control may be obtained using a proper combination of time delay with a larger linear control gain. Similar trends can also be observed from Figure 11.4.15(a) where the values of Lyapunov coefficient are shown. Again, comparing this figure with that in [306] indicates that the time delay helps stabilize vibrating motions.

#### CASE 4. Time delay $\tau$ is fixed, with $\Psi_2 = 10\Psi_1$ .

The results obtained for this case are shown in Figure 11.4.15(b). The effect of the nonlinear control combined with the linear control can be clearly observed from this figure. Further, a comparison between Figures 11.4.14(a), 11.4.15(a), and 11.4.15(b) again confirm that time delay and nonlinear control lay much more stress on the stability.

It is seen from the above results that introducing a time delay into the feedback control can have a profound effect on the stability of the bifurcating motions. It can transfer subcritical Hopf bifurcations (occurring in the presence of aerodynamic nonlinearities), to supercritical. To obtain the best controller in controlling both the initiation of Hopf bifurcation and the stability of bifurcating motions, further parametric study is needed.

In this chapter, we have studied normal form computations, bifurcation of limit cycles, and Hopf bifurcation control. Several recently developed methods are introduced. Illustrative examples chosen from both mathematical and practical problems are presented, and numerical results are given to confirm the analytical predictions. It has been shown that the phenomenon of limit cycle exists in many real problems, and the importance of Hopf bifurcation control is seen from both theoretical development and practical applications.

This page intentionally left blank

# References

- E.H. Abed, J.H. Fu, Local feedback stabilization and bifurcation control, II. Stationary bifurcation, Syst. Contr. Lett. 8 (1987) 467–473.
- [2] H.N. Agiza, M.T. Yassen, Synchronization of Rössler and Chen chaotic dynamical systems using active control, Phys. Lett. A 278 (2000) 191–197.
- [3] M.A. Aizerman, On a problem on the stability of dynamical systems in the large, Uspehi Mat. Nauk 4 (1949) 187–188 (in Russian).
- [4] M.A. Aizerman, F.R. Gantmacher, Absolute Stability of Control Systems, Holden-Day, San Francisco, 1963 (English transl.).
- [5] M.A. Aizerman, F.R. Gantmacher, Absolute Stability of Regulator Systems, Holden-Day, San Francisco, 1964 (translated by E. Polak from Russian).
- [6] V.V. Andrusevich, Absolute instability of monotone nonlinear system, Automat. i Telemech 7 (1986) 40–47 (in Russian).
- [7] S. Arik, Stability analysis of delayed neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. Fundam. Theory Appl. 47 (7) (2000) 1089–1092.
- [8] S. Arik, V. Tavsanoglu, Equilibrium analysis of delayed CNNs, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 45 (1998) 168–171.
- [9] S. Arik, V. Tavsanoglu, On the global asymptotic stability of delayed cellular neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 47 (1998) 571–574.
- [10] S. Arik, V. Tavsanoglu, A comment on Comments on 'Necessary and sufficient condition for absolute stability of neural networks', IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. Fundam. Theory Appl. 45 (5) (1998) 595–596.
- [11] S. Arik, V. Tavsanoglu, On the global asymptotic stability of delayed cellular neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 47 (4) (2000) 571–574.
- [12] V.I. Arnold, Loss of stability of self-oscillations close to resonance and versal deformations of equivariant vector fields, Funct. Anal. Appl. 11 (1977) 85–92.
- [13] D.P. Atherton, Stability of Nonlinear Systems, Research Studies Press, New York, 1981.
- [14] A.F. Atiya, Learning on a general network in neural form, in: D.A. Anders (Ed.), Processing Systems, Amer. Inst. Phys., New York, 1988, pp. 22–30.
- [15] G. Avitabile, M. Forti, S. Manetti, M. Marini, On a class of nonsymmetrical neural networks with application to ADC, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 38 (1991) 202–209.
- [16] M.A. Ayzerman, F.R. Gantmarkher, Absolute Stability of Regularized Systems, Academy of Science of USSR, Moscow, 1963 (in Russian).
- [17] A. Baider, R. Churchill, Unique normal forms for planar vector fields, Math. Z. 199 (1988) 303–310.
- [18] D.D. Bainov, P.S. Simeonov, Systems with Impulse Effects: Stability Theory and Applications, Halsted, New York, 1989.
- [19] B.R. Barmish, C.V. Hollot, Counter-example to a recent result on the stability of interval matrices by Bialas, Int. J. Control 39 (5) (1984) 1103–1104.
- [20] E.A. Barabashin, Lyapunov's Functions, Nauka, Moscow, 1970 (in Russian).
- [21] E.A. Barabashin, N.N. Krasovskii, On existence of Lyapunov's functions in the case of general asymptotic stability, J. Appl. Math. and Mech. 18 (3) (1954) 345–350 (in Russian).
- [22] N.N. Bautin, On the number of limit cycles which appear with the variation of coefficients from an equilibrium position of focus or center type, Mat. Sbornik (N.S.) 30 (72) (1952) 181–196.
- [23] J. Bélair, Stability in a model of a delayed neural networks, J. Dynamics Differential Equations 5 (1993) 607–623.
- [24] J. Bélair, S.A. Campbell, Stability and bifurcations of equilibrium in multiple-delayed differential equation, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 54 (1994) 1402–1424.
- [25] J. Bélair, S.A. Campbell, P. Van Den Driessche, Stability and delay-induced oscillations in neural network model, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 56 (1996) 245– 255.
- [26] R. Bellman, Introduction to Matrix Analysis, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1960.
- [27] A. Bermana, R.J. Plemmons, Nonnegative Matrices in the Mathematical Sciences, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- [28] D. Berns, G.R. Moiola, G. Chen, Controlling oscillation amplitudes via feedback, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 10 (2000) 2815–2822.
- [29] N.P. Bhatia, G.P. Szegö, Stability Theory of Dynamical Systems, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, New York, 1970.
- [30] A. Bhaya, E. Kaszkurewicz, V.S. Kozyakin, Existence and stability of a unique equilibrium in continuous-valued discrete-time asynchronous Hopfield neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 7 (3) (1996) 620–627.
- [31] S.R. Bialas, A necessary and sufficient condition for the stability of interval matrices, Int. J. Control 37 (14) (1983) 717–722.
- [32] S.A. Billing, S. Chen, M.J. Gorenberg, Identification of MIMO nonlinear systems using a forward-regression orthogonal estimator, Int. J. Control 49 (6) (1989) 2157–2189.
- [33] S.A. Billing, H.B. Jamaiuddin, S. Chen, Properties of neural networks with applications to modelling dynamic systems, Int. J. Control 55 (1) (1992) 193–224.

- [34] I.I. Blekhman, A.L. Fradkov, H. Hijmeijer, Yu.A. Pogromsky, On selfsynchronization and controlled synchronization, Syst. Control Lett. 31 (5) (2001) 299–305.
- [35] P.A. Bliman, Stability criteria for delay systems with sector-bounded nonlinearities, Proc. Amer. Control Conf., Arlington, 2001.
- [36] P.A. Bliman, Lyapunov-Krasovskii functionals and frequency domain: delay-independent absolute stability criteria for delay systems, Int. J. of Robust and Nonlinear Control 11 (2001) 771–788.
- [37] S. Boccaletti, L.M. Pecora, A. Pelaez, Unifying framework for synchronization of coupled dynamical systems, Phys. Rev. E 63 (2001) 066219.
- [38] S. Boyd, L.EI. Ghaoui, E. Feron, V. Balakrishnan, Linear Matrix Inequalities in System and Control Theory, Studies in Applied Mathematics, SIAM, Philadelphia, PA, 1994.
- [39] F. Brauer, Asymptotic equivalence and asymptotic behavior of linear systems, II, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 17 (1967) 418–434.
- [40] F. Brauer, Perturbations of nonlinear systems of differential equations, Michigan Math. J. 9 (1962) 33–43.
- [41] H.A. Braun, M.T. Tuber, K. Voigt, Synchronization of the Noisy electrosensitive cells in the paddlefish, Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 (3) (1999) 660–663.
- [42] S.D. Brieriey, J.N. Chiason, E.B. Lee, S.H. Zak, On stability independent of delay for linear systems, IEEE Trans. Auto. Control 27 (1) (1982) 252–256.
- [43] R.W. Brockett, Asymptotic Stability and Feedback Stabilization, in: Proc. Conf. on Differential Geometric Control Theory, Boston, 1983, pp. 181– 191.
- [44] R. Brown, L. Kocarev, A unified definition of synchronization for dynamical systems, Chaos 10 (2000) 344–349.
- [45] M. Brucoli, L. Carnimeo, G. Grassi, Associative memory design using discrete-time second-order neural networks with local interconnections, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 44 (1997) 153–158.
- [46] T.A. Burton, A differential equation of Lurie type, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 36 (2) (1972) 491–496.
- [47] T.A. Burton, Stability theory for delay equations, Funkcialaj Ekvacioj 22 (1) (1979) 67–76.
- [48] T.A. Burton, Volterra Integral and Differential Equations, Academic, New York, 1983.
- [49] G.J. Butter, H.I. Freedman, P. Waltman, Uniformly persistent systems, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 96 (1986) 425–430.
- [50] G.J. Butter, P. Waltman, Persistence in dynamical systems, J. Differential Equations 63 (1986) 255–263.
- [51] C.I. Byrnes, A. Isidori, Passivity, feedback equivalence, and the global stabilization of minimum phase nonlinear systems, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 36 (4) (1991) 1228–1240.

- [52] S.A. Campbell, Stability and bifurcation of a simple neural network with multiple time delays, Fields Inst. Commun. 21 (1999) 65–79.
- [53] S.A. Campbell, S. Ruan, J. Wei, Qualitative analysis of a neural network model with multiple time delays, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 9 (8) (1999) 1585–1595.
- [54] J. Cao, On stability of delayed cellular neural networks, Phys. Lett. A 261 (1999) 303–308.
- [55] J. Cao, Periodic oscillation and exponential stability of delayed CNNs, Phys. Lett. A. 270 (3–4) (2000) 157–163.
- [56] J. Cao, A set of stability criteria for delayed cellular neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 48 (4) (2001) 494–498.
- [57] J. Cao, Q. Li, On the exponential stability and periodic solutions of delayed cellular neural networks, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 252 (2000) 50–64.
- [58] J. Cao, D. Zhou, Stability analysis of delayed cellular neural networks, Neural Network 11 (9) (1998) 1601–1605.
- [59] J. Carr, Applications of Center Manifold Theory, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1981.
- [60] V.S. Chellabonla, S.P. Bhat, W.M. Haddad, An invariant principle for nonlinear hybrid and impulsive dynamical systems, Proc. of American Control Conf., 2000, pp. 3116–3122.
- [61] D. Chen, H.O. Wang, G. Chen, Anti-control of Hopf bifurcation, IEEE Trans. on Circ. Syst. I 48 (2001) 661–672.
- [62] H.B. Chen, Y.R. Liu, Linear recursion formulas of quantities of singular point and applications, Appl. Math. Comput. 148 (2004) 163–171.
- [63] H.B. Chen, Y.R. Liu, P. Yu, Center and isochronous center at infinity in a class of planar systems, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems Series B: Applications and Algorithms, 2006 (in press).
- [64] G.R. Chen, Control and Synchronization of Chaos: A bibliography, Department of Electrical Engineering, University of Houston, TX, 1997.
- [65] G.R. Chen, Stability of nonlinear systems, in: Wiley Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Supplement 1, Wiley, New York, 2000, pp. 627–642.
- [66] G.R. Chen, Controlling Chaos and Bifurcation in Engineering and Systems, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2000.
- [67] G.R. Chen, X. Dong, From Chaos to Order: Methodologies, Perspective and Applications, World Scientific, Singapore, 1998.
- [68] G.R. Chen, J.D. Dora, An algorithm for computing a new normal form for dynamical systems, J. Symbolic Computation 29 (2000) 393–418.
- [69] G.R. Chen, J.H. Lü, Dynamical Analysis, Control and Synchronization of Lorenz Families, Chinese Science Press, Beijing, 2003 (in Chinese).
- [70] G.R. Chen, J.L. Moiola, H.O. Wang, Bifurcation control: Theories, methods, and applications, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 10 (2000) 511–548.

- [71] S. Chen, C.F.N. Cowan, P.M. Grant, Orthogonal least squares learning algorithm for radial basis function networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 2 (2) (1991) 302–309.
- [72] T.P. Chen, S. Amari, Stability of asymmetric Hopfeild networks, IEEE Neural Network 12 (1) (2001) 159–163.
- [73] Z. Chen, P. Yu, Controlling and anti-controlling Hopf bifurcations in discrete maps using polynomial functions, Chaos, Solitons and Fractals 25 (2005) 1231–1248.
- [74] Z. Chen, P. Yu, Hopf bifurcation control for an internet congestion model, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 15 (8) (2005) 2643–2651.
- [75] R.Q. Cheng, Absolute stability of control systems, Acta Mathematica Sinica 33 (3) (1990) 289–294 (in Chinese).
- [76] I.G. Chetaev, Stability of Motion, Nauka, Moscow, 1965 (in Russian).
- [77] H.D. Chiang, A.J. Conneen, A.J. Flueck, Bifurcation and chaos in electric power systems, J. of Franklin Institute 331B (1994) 1001–1036.
- [78] T.G. Chu, L. Huang, L. Wang, Absolute stability and guaranteed domain of attraction for MIMO discrete-time Lurie systems, in: Proc. of the IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Orlando, Florida, USA, 2001, pp. 1711–1716.
- [79] L.O. Chua, Introduction to Nonlinear Network Theory, McGraw-Hill, New York, 1969.
- [80] L.O. Chua, H. Kokubu, Normal forms for nonlinear vector fields Part I: Theory and algorithm, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 35 (1988) 863–880.
- [81] L.O. Chua, H. Kokubu, Normal forms for nonlinear vector fields Part II: Applications, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 36 (1988) 51–70.
- [82] L.O. Chua, L. Yang, Cellular neural network theory, IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Syst. 35 (10) (1988) 1257–1272.
- [83] L.O. Chua, L. Yang, Cellular neural network application, IEEE Trans. on Circuits and Syst. 35 (10) (1988) 1273–1290.
- [84] E.N. Chukwu, A neutral functional differential equation of Lurie type, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 11 (1980) 108–115.
- [85] E.N. Chukwu, Evolution equations of Lurie type in Hilbert spaces, Nonlinear Analysis 9 (1985) 977–985.
- [86] S. Chzhsao, On incompleteness of S-procedure in the case of infinite sector of absolute stability, Avtomatika i Telemechanika 11 (1986) 171–173 (in Russian).
- [87] M.A. Cohen, S. Grossberg, Absolute stability of global pattern formation and parallel memory storage by competitive neural networks, IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cyber. 13 (1983) 815–826.
- [88] C. Corduneanu, Sur la stabilité partielle, Revue Roumaine Math. Pures Appl. 9 (1964) 229–236.

- [89] C. Corduneanu, Some problems, concerning partial stability, in: Meccanica Nonlineare Stabilite, in: Symp. Math., vol. 6, Academic Press, London, New York, 1971, pp. 141–154.
- [90] M.A. Cruz, J.K. Hale, Stability of functional differential equations of Lurie type, J. Differential Equations 7 (1970) 332–355.
- [91] K.M. Cuomo, A.V. Oppenheim, Circuit implementation of synchronized chaos with applications to communications, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71 (1993) 65– 68.
- [92] P.F. Curran, L.O. Chua, Absolute stability theory and the synchronization problem, Int. J. Bifurcation. and Chaos 7 (1997) 1375–1382.
- [93] X. Dai, J. Zhang, P. Xu, A synchronizing method of discrete compound chaotic systems based on feedback coupling, Control Theory Appl. 17 (5) (2000) 789–792 (in Chinese).
- [94] X. Daoyi, Z. Shouming, L. Ming, BIBO stabilization of large-scale systems, Control Theory Appl. 12 (1995) 458–763 (in Chinese).
- [95] R.A. Date, Procedure for determination of the exponential stability of certain differential-difference equations, Appl. Math. 26 (3) (1978) 279–292.
- [96] F.S. Deblasi, J. Schinas, Stability of multivalued discrete systems, J. Differential Equations 14 (1973) 245–262.
- [97] A. Dembo, O. Farotimi, T. Kailath, High-order absolute stable neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 38 (1991) 57–65.
- [98] B.P. Demidovich, Lectures on Mathematical Theory of Stability, Nauka, Moscow, 1967 (in Russian).
- [99] J.S. Denker (Ed.), Neural Networks for Computing (Snowbird), Proc. of Conf. Neural Networks for Computing, AIP, New York, 1986.
- [100] J. Diblik, On asymptotic behavior of solution of certain classes of ordinary differential equations, J. Differential Equations 95 (1992) 203–217.
- [101] A.L. Douglas, J.R. Wilson, On a stability theorem for nonlinear systems with slowly varying inputs, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 35 (7) (1990) 860–864.
- [102] P.V.D. Driessche, X. Zou, Global attractivity in delayed Hopfield neural network models, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 58 (1998) 1878–1890.
- [103] R.D. Drirer, Exponential decay in some linear delay differential equations, Amer. Math. Monthly 85 (9) (1978) 757–759.
- [104] S. Elaydi, H.R. Farran, Lipschitz stable dynamic systems, Nonlinear Analysis TMA 9 (1985) 729–738.
- [105] J.Q. Fang, Y. Hong, Switching manifold approach to chaos synchronization, Phys. Rev. E 59 (3) (1999) 2523–2526.
- [106] Y. Fang, T.G. Kincaid, Stability analysis of dynamical neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Network 7 (1996) 996–1006.
- [107] Y. Fang, K.A. Loparo, X. Feng, Sufficient conditions for the stability of interval matrices, Int. J. Control 58 (1993) 969–977.

- [108] T. Faria, L. Magalhiães, Normal forms for retarded functional differential equations with parameters and applications to Hopf bifurcation, J. Differential Equations 122 (1995) 181–200.
- [109] C.B. Feng, S.M. Fei, Analysis and Design of Nonlinear Control Systems, Electronic Industry Publishing, Beijing, 1998 (in Chinese).
- [110] A. Fergola, V. Moauro, On partial stability, Ricerche Mat. 19 (1970) 185– 207.
- [111] M. Fiedler, V. Pták, Some generalization of positive definiteness and monotonicity, Numer. Math. 9 (1966) 163–172.
- [112] M. Fiedler, V. Pták, Some results on matrices of class K and their application to the convergence of iteration procedures, Czech. Math. J. 16 (1966) 260–273.
- [113] A. Fonda, Uniformly persistent semi-dynamical systems, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 104 (1988) 111–116.
- [114] D. Forim, E. Saber, Lipschitz stability of nonlinear systems of differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 103 (1986) 562–577.
- [115] M. Forti, On global asymptotic stability of a class of nonlinear system arising in neural network theory, J. Differential Equations 113 (1994) 246–266.
- [116] M. Forti, S.A. Liberatore, J. Manetti, M. Marini, On absolute stability of neural networks, in: Proc. 1994 IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst. 1994, pp. 241–244.
- [117] M. Forti, S. Manetti, M. Marini, A condition for global convergence of a class of symmetric neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 39 (1992) 480–483.
- [118] M. Forti, S. Manetti, M. Marini, Necessary and sufficient condition for absolute stability of neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 41 (7) (1994) 491–494.
- [119] M. Forti, A. Tesi, New conditions for global stability of neural networks with application to linear and quadratic programming problems, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 42 (1995) 354–366.
- [120] H.I. Freedman, K. Gopalsamy, Global stability in time delayed single species systems, Bull. Math. Biol. 48 (1986) 485–492.
- [121] H.I. Freedman, K. Gopalsamy, Nonoccurence of stability switching in systems with discrete delays, Can. Math. Bull. 31 (1988) 52–58.
- [122] H.I. Freedman, P. Monson, Persistence definitions and their connections, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 109 (1990) 1025–1033.
- [123] H.I. Freedman, V.S.H. Rao, The trade-off between mutual interference and time lags in predator-prey systems, Bull. Math. Biol. 45 (1983) 991–1004.
- [124] H.I. Freedman, V.S.H. Rao, Stability criteria for a system involving two time delays, J. Appl. Math. 46 (1986) 552–560.
- [125] H.I. Freedman, J. So, Persistence in discrete semidynamical systems, SIAM J. Math. Analysis 20 (1989) 930–938.

- [126] H.I. Freedman, P. Waltman, Persistence in a model of three competitive populations, Math. Biosci. 73 (1985) 89–101.
- [127] Y.I. Fu, On Lipschilty stability of F.D.E., Pacific J. Math. 151 (1991) 229– 235.
- [128] X. Gan, W.G. Ge, Absolute stability of general Lurie control systems with multi-nonlinear feedback terms, Acta Math. Sinica 17 (2001) 649–656.
- [129] F.R. Gantmacher, The Theory of Matrices, 2 vols, Chelsea, New York, 1959 (English transl.).
- [130] W.B. Gao, On the absolute stability and degree of absolute stability of nonlinear control systems, Sci. Sinica 15 (1966) 107–122 (in Chinese).
- [131] P.B. Gapski, J.C. Geromel, A convex approach to the absolute stability problem, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 25 (1994) 613–617.
- [132] Z.M. Ge, Developing Theory for Motion Stability, Gau Lih Book Company, Taipei, 2001.
- [133] Z.M. Ge, Bifurcation, Chaos and Control of Mechanical Systems, Gau Lih Book Company, Taipei, 2001.
- [134] M. Gil, Class of absolute stable multivariable systems, Int. J. Systems Science 25 (1994) 613–617.
- [135] M.E. Gilpin, F.J. Ayala, Global models of growth and competition, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 70 (1973) 3590–3593.
- [136] P. Glendinning, Stability, Instability and Chaos, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1994.
- [137] B.S. Goh, Global stability in many species systems, Amer. Nat. 111 (1997) 135–143.
- [138] B.S. Goh, T.T. Agnew, Stability in Gilpin and Ayals's models of competition, J. Math. Biol. 4 (1977) 275–279.
- [139] K. Gopalsamy, A simple stability criterion for linear neural differential systems, Funkcialaj Ekvacioj 28 (1985) 33–38.
- [140] K. Gopalsamy, X.X. He, Stability in asymptotic Hopfield nets with transmission delays, Physica D 76 (1994) 344–358.
- [141] L.T. Grujic, Solution for Lurie–Postnikov and Aizerman problem, Int. J. System Sci. 9 (12) (1978) 1359–1372.
- [142] L.T. Grujic, Lyapunov-like solutions for stability problems of the most general stationary Lurie–Postnikov systems, Int. J. System Sci. 12 (7) (1981) 813–833.
- [143] L.T. Grujic, D.B. Petkovski, Robust absolutely stable Lurie systems, Int. J. Control 46 (1987) 357–368.
- [144] G. Gu, A.G. Sparks, S.S. Banda, Bifurcation based nonlinear feedback control for rotating stall in axial flow compressors, Int. J. Control 68 (1997) 1241–1257.
- [145] K.Q. Gu, Absolute stability of systems under block diagonal memoryless uncertainties, Automatica 31 (1995) 581–584.

- [146] J. Guckenheimer, P. Holmes, Nonlinear Oscillations, Dynamical Systems, and Bifurcations of Vector Fields, 4th ed., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [147] A. Guez, V. Protoposecu, J. Barhen, On the stability storage capacity and design of nonlinear continuous neural networks, IEEE Trans. Syst. Man. Sybern. 18 (1988) 80–87.
- [148] Y.X. Guo, Partial stability for nonlinear time varying dynamic systems, Ann. Differential Equations 8 (2) (1992) 276–283.
- [149] I. Gyori, G. Ladas, P.N. Vlahos, Global attractivity in a delay difference equation, Nonlinear Anal. 17 (5) (1991) 473–479.
- [150] W.M. Haddad, V. Kapila, Absolute stability criteria for multiplicity problem, IEEE Trans. Auto. Control 39 (1994) 1929–1932.
- [151] W. Hahn, Stability of Motion, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, New York, 1967.
- [152] A.R. Halay, Stability of feedback systems with several differentiable nonlinearities, Int. J. System Sci. 22 (1991) 1911–1927.
- [153] J.K. Hale, Ordinary Differential Equations, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1969.
- [154] J.K. Hale, Theory of Functional Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977.
- [155] J.K. Hale, E.F. Infante, F.P. Tsen, Stability in linear delay equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 105 (1985) 533–555.
- [156] J. Hale, S. Lunel, Introduction Functional Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [157] J.K. Hale, K.R. Mayer, A class of functional equations of neural type, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 76 (1967) 1–65.
- [158] J.H. Han, X.L. Li, J.G. Jiang, Global exponential stability of delay continuous Hopfeild neural networks, J. Computers 1 (1998) 133–137. Special issue (in Chinese).
- [159] N.C. Harbertson, Perturbations in nonlinear systems, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 4 (1972) 647–653.
- [160] B.D. Hassard, N.D. Kazarinoff, Y.-H. Wan, Theory and Applications of Hopf Bifurcation, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1981.
- [161] L. Hatvani, On partial asymptotic stability and instability, I. Autonomous systems, Acta Sci. Math. 45 (1983) 219–231.
- [162] L. Hatvani, On partial asymptotic stability and instability, II. The method of limiting equation, Acta Sci. Math. 46 (1983) 143–156.
- [163] J.X. He, Z.C. Wang, Ordinary Differential Equations, Hunan Science Press, Chang Sha, 1980 (in Chinese).
- [164] Q.M. He, L.S. Kang, Existence and stability of global solution for generalized Hopfield neural network system, Neural Parallel and Scientific Computation 2 (1994) 165–176.
- [165] M.X. He, Lurie-type abstract functional differential equations, Dynamical Systems Appl. 5 (1996) 607–625.

- [166] J.A. Heinen, Sufficient conditions for stability of interval matrices, Int. J. Control 39 (1984) 1323–1328.
- [167] D. Hilbert, Mathematical problems (M. Newton, Transl.), Bull. Amer. Math. 8 (1901–1902) 437–479.
- [168] D. Hinrichsen, A. Ilchmann, A.J. Pritchard, Robustness of stability of timevarying linear systems, J. Differential Equations 82 (1989) 219–250.
- [169] M.W. Hirsch, Convergence activation dynamics in continuous time networks, Neural Networks 2 (1989) 331–349.
- [170] Q. Hong, J. Peng, Z.B. Xu, Nonlinear measures: A new approach to exponential stability analysis for Hopfield-type neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 12 (2) (2001) 360–370.
- [171] E. Hopf, Abzweigung einer periodischen Losung von stationaren Losung einers Differential-systems, Ber. Math. Phys. Kl. Sachs. Acad. Wiss. Leipzig 94 (1942) 1–22;
  E. Hopf, Ber. Math. Phys. Kl. Sachs. Acad. Wiss. Leipzig Math.-Nat. Kl. 95 (1942) 3–22.
- [172] J.J. Hopfield, Neural networks and physical systems with emergent collective computational ability, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 79 (1982) 2554–2558.
- [173] J.J. Hopfield, Neural with graded response have collective computational properties like those of two-state neurons, Proc Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81 (1984) 3088–3092.
- [174] J.J. Hopfield, D.W. Tank, Neural computation of decisions optimization problems, Biol. Cypher. 52 (1985) 141–152.
- [175] J.J. Hopfield, D.W. Tank, Computation with neural circuits model, Science 233 (1986) 3088–3092.
- [176] J.J. Hopfield, D.W. Tank, Computing with neural circuits model, Science 233 (1986) 3088–3092.
- [177] J.J. Hopfield, D.W. Tank, Computing with neural circuits: a model, Science 233 (1986) 625–633.
- [178] F.H. Hsiao, J.G. Hsieh, J.S. Chang, New algebraic criteria for absolute stability of nonlinear systems, Int. J. Robust Nonlinear Control 5 (1995) 591–607.
- [179] S. Hu, J. Wang, Absolute exponential stability of a class of continuous-time recurrent neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 14 (2003) 35–45.
- [180] L. Huang, Stability Theory, Beijing University Publishing, Beijing, 1992.
- [181] G. Iooss, Bifurcation of Maps and Applications, North-Holland Pub. Co, New York, 1979.
- [182] L. Jin, N. Nikiforuk, M.M. Gupta, Absolute stability conditions for discretetime recurrent neural networks, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 5 (2004) 954–964.
- [183] W. Kaining, N.M. Anthong, L. Derong, Necessary and sufficient conditions for the Hurwitz and Schur stability of interval matrices, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 39 (1994) 1251–1255.

- [184] W. Kaining, N.M. Anthong, L. Derogn, Necessary and sufficient conditions for the controllability and observability of a class of linear time-invariant systems with interval plants, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 39 (1994) 1443–1447.
- [185] K. Kaiser, D.G. Korenevskit, Algebraic coefficient attribute of absolute stability of linear difference systems with continuous time and delays, Autom. Remote Control 59 (1998) 17–20.
- [186] R.E. Kalman, Liapunov functions for the problem of Lurie in automatic controls, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 49 (1963) 201–205.
- [187] R.E. Kalman, Y.C. Ho, K.S. Narendra, Controllability of linear dynamical systems, Contrib. Differential Equations 1 (1963) 189–213.
- [188] Z. Kalmár, Z. Marczell, C. Szepesvári, A. Lörincz, Parallel and robust skeletonization built on self-organizing elements, Neural Networks 12 (1) (1999) 163–173.
- [189] W. Kang, Bifurcation and normal form of nonlinear control systems, parts I and II, SIAM J. of Contr. Optim. 36 (1998) 193–232.
- [190] J.C. Kantor, R.P. Andres, Characterization of allowable perturbations for robust stability, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 28 (1) (1983) 107–109.
- [191] K.A. Karayarov, A.G. Piliyutuk, Introduction to Theory of Stability, Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1962 (in Russian).
- [192] N.N. Karsovskii, Certain Problems of Stability Theory of Motion, Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1959 (in Russian).
- [193] N.N. Karsovskii, Control Theory of Motion of Linear Systems, Nauka, Moscow, 1968 (in Russian).
- [194] E. Kaskurewicz, A. Bhaya, On a class of globally stable neural circuits, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 41 (1994) 171–174.
- [195] E. Kaskurewicz, A. Bhaya, Comments on "Necessary and sufficient condition for absolute stability of neural networks", IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 42 (1995) 497–499.
- [196] D.G. Kelly, Stability in contractive nonlinear neural networks, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 37 (1990) 231–242.
- [197] M. Kennedy, L. Chua, Neural networks for linear and nonlinear programming, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 35 (1988) 554–562.
- [198] V.L. Khartionov, Asymptotic stability of an equilibrium position of a family of system of linear differential equation, Differential'nye Uravneniya 14 (11) (1987) 1843–1845.
- [199] Ya.D. Khusainov, A.V. Shatyrko, Absolute stability of multi-delay regulation systems, J. Autom. Inform. Sci. 27 (1995) 33–42.
- [200] G. Kirlinger, Permanence of some ecological systems with several predator and one prey species, J. Math. Biol. 26 (1988) 217–232.
- [201] L. Kocarev, U. Parlitz, General approach for chaotic synchronization with application to communication, Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 (1995) 5028–5031.

- [202] V.B. Kolmanovskii, V.T. Nosov, Stability of Functional Differential Equations, Academic Press, New York, 1981.
- [203] V.B. Kolmanovskii, V.T. Nosov, Stability and Periodic Modes of Control Systems with Aftereffect, Nauka, Moscow, 1986.
- [204] Q.K. Kong, X.X. Liao, Dissipation boundedness and persistence of general ecological systems, Nonlinear Analysis: Theory Methods and Application 25 (11) (1995) 1237–1250.
- [205] B. Kosko, Adaptive bidirectional associative memories, Appl. Opt. 26 (23) (1987) 4947–4960.
- [206] B. Kosko, Bidirectional associative memories, IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybernetics 18 (1) (1988) 49–60.
- [207] B. Kosko, Unsupervised learning in noise, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 1 (1) (1979) 44–57.
- [208] B. Kosko, Structural stability of unsurprised learning in feedback neural networks, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 36 (7) (1991) 785–792.
- [209] E.B. Kosmatopoulos, M.A. Christodoulou, Structural properties of gradient recurrent high-order neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 42 (1995) 592–603.
- [210] E.B. Kosmatopoulos, M.M. Polycarpou, M.A. Christodoulou, P.A. Ioannou, High-order neural network structures for identification of dynamical systems, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 6 (1995) 422–431.
- [211] N.N. Krasovaskii, Problem in Motion Stability, Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1959 (in Russian).
- [212] P.C. Krause, O. Wasynczuk, S.D. Sudhoff, Analysis of Electrical Machinery and Drive Systems, IEEE Press and Wiley Interscience, Hoboken, NJ, 2002.
- [213] Y. Kuang, B. Tang, Uniform persistence in nonautonomous delay difference Kolmogorov-type population models, Rocky Mount. J. Math., submitted for publication.
- [214] Y.A. Kuznetsov, Elements of Applied Bifurcation Theory, 2nd ed., Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [215] D.W. Lai, A note on stability theory, Science Communication 19 (2) (1984) 1161–1163 (in Chinese).
- [216] V. Lakshmikantham, S. Leela, Differential and Integral Inequalities, Theory and Application, Academic Press, New York, London, 1969.
- [217] V. Lakshmikantham, S. Leela, A.A. Martynyuk, Stability Analysis of Nonlinear Systems, Pure and Applied Mathematics, A Series of Monographs and Textbooks, Marcel Decker, New York, Basel, 1989.
- [218] N.Yu. Lapin, On positiveness of pulse functions and absolute stability of nonlinear systems in the Hurwitz angle, Automat. i Telemech. 5 (1987) 40– 47 (in Russian).
- [219] J.P. LaSalle, S. Kefscgetz, Stability by Liapunov's Direct Method with Applications, Academic Press, New York, 1961.

- [220] J.P. LaSalle, Complete stability of a nonlinear control system, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 48 (1962) 600–603.
- [221] J.P. LaSalle, Stability and control, SIAM J. Control 1 (1963) 3–15.
- [222] J.P. LaSalle, The Stability of Dynamical Systems, SIAM, Philadelphia, 1976, pp. 3–15.
- [223] J.P. LaSalle, The Stability and Control of Discrete Processes, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986.
- [224] K.K. Lee, Lectures on Dynamical Systems, Structural Stability and Their Applications, World Scientific, New York, 1992.
- [225] S. Lefschetz, Stability of Nonlinear Control Systems, Academic Press, New York, London, 1965.
- [226] A.M. Letov, Stability of Nonlinear Regularized Systems, Gostechizdat or Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1962 (in Russian).
- [227] J. Li, Hilbert's 16th problem and bifurcations of planar polynomial vector fields, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 13 (2003) 47–106.
- [228] S.L. Li, The global stability for solutions of the equations  $\frac{dx_s}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{sj}(x_j)$ , s = 1, 2, ..., n, and its application (I), Acta Mathematica Sinica 14 (1964) 353–366 (in Chinese).
- [229] S.L. Li, The global stability for solutions of the equations  $\frac{dx_s}{dt} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} f_{sj}(x_j)$ , s = 1, 2, ..., n, and its application (II), Acta Mathematica Sinica 14 (1964) 571–577 (in Chinese).
- [230] S.L. Li, The basic theory of stability of differential-difference equations (including the neural type), J. Hunan Univ. 6 (1) (1979) 1–24 (in Chinese).
- [231] S.L. Li, L.Z. Wen, Functional Differential Equations, Hunan Science Press, Chang Sha, 1987 (in Chinese);
   S.L. Li, L.Z. Wen, The necessary and sufficient conditions for the absolute stability of several classes of direct control systems, Acta Mathematica Application Sinica 6 (4) (1983) 458–467 (in Chinese).
- [232] T.L. Liao, F.C. Wang, Global stability for cellular neural networks with time delay, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 11 (2000) 1481–1484.
- [233] T.L. Liao, F.C. Wang, Global stability condition for cellular neural networks with delay, Networks Lett. 35 (1999) 1347–1349.
- [234] X.X. Liao, Mathematical Theory and Application of Stability, 2nd ed., Huazhong Normal Univ. Press, Wuhan, 2001 (in Chinese).
- [235] X.X. Liao, On global stability and instability of solution to nonlinear autonomous systems of higher dimension, Sci. Sinica (1979) 124–134 (Special Issue (II) on Mathematics) (in Chinese).
- [236] X.X. Liao, On stability and instability of solutions of nonautonomous ordinary differential equations, J. Central China Normal University 2 (1979) 235–250 (in Chinese).
- [237] X.X. Liao, On global stability of autonomous systems with general separated variables and its applications, Acta Mathematica Sinica 24 (5) (1981) 641–649 (in Chinese).

- [238] X.X. Liao, An iteration method on the dynamic stability of time-variable systems, J. Acta Huazhong Normal University 4 (1981) 13–23 (in Chinese).
- [239] X.X. Liao, Criteria for the absolute stability of control system, Appl. Math. Mech. 3 (2) (1982) 267–279.
- [240] X.X. Liao, On sufficient algebraic criteria for transcendental function  $\det(a_{jj} + b_{jj}e^{-\lambda\tau} \delta_{ij}\lambda)_{n\times n}$  only with null points having negative real part, Monthly of Science 28 (2) (1983) 151–154.
- [241] X.X. Liao, The NASC for the absolute stability of *n*th order Lurie control system in the principal case, Acta Mathematica Scientia 5 (3) (1985) 329–336 (in Chinese).
- [242] X.X. Liao, On absolute stability of Lurie direct control system, in: C.L. Byrnes, A.P. Lindquist (Eds.), Theory and Application of Nonlinear Control Systems, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1986, pp. 513–520.
- [243] X.X. Liao, Lumped iteration method for stability analysis of large-scale dynamical systems of neural type, Sci. Sinica Ser. A 29 (1986) 225–240.
- [244] X.X. Liao, Necessary and sufficient conditions for stability of a class of interval matrices, Int. J. Control 41 (1) (1987) 211–214.
- [245] X.X. Liao, Stability of interval matrices, Int. J. Control 45 (1) (1987) 203– 210.
- [246] X.X. Liao, Necessary and sufficient conditions for absolute stability of Lurie indirect control systems, Science in China (Ser. A) 32 (9) (1989) 1047–1061.
- [247] X.X. Liao, The NASC for absolute stability of Lurie direct control systems, Acta Mathematica Scientia 9 (1) (1989) 75–82.
- [248] X.X. Liao, Partial stability of linear systems, Prikl. Mat. Mech. 53 (1989) 1034–1035 (in Russian).
- [249] X.X. Liao, The NASC for absolute stability of Lurie control systems with multi-nonlinear control functions, J. Central China Normal University 24 (2) (1990) 139–142 (in Chinese).
- [250] X.X. Liao, New criterion for absolute stability of general Lurie control systems, Acta Mathematica Sinica 33 (6) (1990) 841–852 (in Chinese).
- [251] X.X. Liao, Robust absolute stability of interval Yacubovich type indirect control systems, Chin. Sci. Bull. 3 (1991) 169–172 (in Chinese).
- [252] X.X. Liao, Absolute stability of general Lurie control systems, Acta Mathematica Scientia 11 (1) (1991) 1–12.
- [253] X.X. Liao, Stability boundedness, dissipation of partial variables for nonlinear systems with separating variables, Science in China (A) 35 (4) (1992) 1025–1039.
- [254] X.X. Liao, Development of interval robust stability of dynamical systems, Math. Advances 21 (2) (1992) 165–184 (in Chinese).
- [255] X.X. Liao, Absolute Stability of Control Systems, Science Press/Kluwer Academic Publisher, Beijing, Dordrecht, Boston, London, 1993.

- [256] X.X. Liao, Stability of Hopfield neural networks, Science in China (A) 23 (10) (1993) 1025–1035 (in Chinese).
- [257] X.X. Liao, Mathematical theory of cellular neural networks (I), Science in China (A) 24 (9) (1994) 902–910 (in Chinese).
- [258] X.X. Liao, Mathematical theory of cellular neural networks (II), Science in China (A) 38 (5) (1995) 542–551.
- [259] X.X. Liao, Stability of general ecological systems and neural networks systems, in: Proc. of the First World Congress of Nonlinear Analysis, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, New York, 1996, pp. 1325–1335.
- [260] X.X. Liao, Stability of a class of nonlinear continuous neural networks, in: Proc. of the First World Congress of Nonlinear Analysis, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, New York, 1996, pp. 1427–1485.
- [261] X.X. Liao, G.R. Chen, On feedback-controlled synchronization of chaotic systems, Int. J. Syst. Sci. 34 (7) (2003) 453–461.
- [262] X.X. Liao, G.R. Chen, Chaos synchronization of general Lurie system via time-delay feedback control, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 13 (1) (2003) 207–213.
- [263] X.X. Liao, Y.L. Fu, Y.X. Guo, Partial dissipation property for nonautonomous nonlinear system with separating variables, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 173 (1) (1993) 103–115.
- [264] X.X. Liao, Y.L. Fu, S.L. Xie, On the new results of global attractive set and positive invariant set of the Lorenz chaotic system and the application to chaos control and synchronization, Science in China, Ser. F, Information Sciences 48 (3) (2005) 304–321.
- [265] X.X. Liao, Y.L. Fu, S.L. Xie, P. Yu, Globally exponentially attractive set of the family of Lorenz systems, Science in China (Ser. F), 2007, in press.
- [266] X.X. Liao, Y.L. Fu, S.L. Xie, C.G. Zhang, Globally exponential stability of Hopfield neural networks, Advances in Systems Science and Appl. 15 (4) (2005) 533–545.
- [267] X.X. Liao, J. Li, Robust interval stability, persistent and partial stability on Lotka–Volterra system with delay, Appl. Math. Comput. 75 (2–3) (1996) 103–115.
- [268] X.X. Liao, J. Li, Asymptotic equivalence of certain large scale dynamical systems and their isolated subsystems, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems 2 (1996) 133–145.
- [269] X.X. Liao, Y. Liao, L. Yu, Qualitative analysis of bidirectional associative memory neural networks, J. Electronics 15 (3) (1998) 208–214.
- [270] X.X. Liao, Y. Liao, L. Yu, Stability of bidirectional associative memory neural networks with delays, J. Electronics 15 (4) (1998) 372–377.
- [271] X.X. Liao, H.G. Luo, X.Q. Zhao, Y. Shen, Z.G. Zeng, Absolute stability of Lurie control system with loops feedback and its application in chaos synchronization, Development in Natural Science 16 (5) (2006) 543–554 (in Chinese).

- [272] X.X. Liao, X. Mao, Exponential stability and instability of stochastic neural networks, Stochastic Analysis Appl. 14 (2) (1996) 165–185.
- [273] X.X. Liao, X. Mao, Almost sure exponential stability of neural stochastic differential difference equation, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 212 (2) (1997) 554– 570.
- [274] X.X. Liao, X.R. Mao, J. Wang, Z.G. Zhizu, Algebraic conditions of stability for Hopfield neural network, Science in China Series, Ser. F, Information Sciences 47 (1) (2004) 113–125.
- [275] X.X. Liao, J.L. Qian, Some new results for stability of interval matrices, Control Theory and Advanced Technology 4 (2) (1988) 265–275.
- [276] X.X. Liao, J. Wang, Global dissipativity of continuous-time recurrent neural networks with time delay, Phys. Rev. E. 68 (2003) 016118-1.
- [277] X.X. Liao, J. Wang, Algebraic criteria for global exponential stability of cellular neural networks with multiple time delays, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 50 (2) (2003) 268–275.
- [278] X.X. Liao, L.Q. Wang, J. Wang, Global convergence of Hopfeild neural network, in: Proc. 2003 Chinese Intelligent Automation Conf., Hong Kong Chinese University, December 15, 2003, pp. 86–91.
- [279] X.X. Liao, X.J. Wang, The improvement of foren coefficient method, Acta Automatica Sinica 12 (4) (1986) 413–417 (in Chinese).
- [280] X.X. Liao, X.J. Wang, Stability for differential-difference equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 173 (1) (1993) 84–102.
- [281] X.X. Liao, X.J. Wang, Y.L. Fu, Y. Shen, Basic theory of cellular neural networks, J. Acta Electronics 20 (5) (1998) 611–618 (in Chinese).
- [282] X.X. Liao, X.J. Wang, W.H. Shu, W.H. Wu, Absolute stability of control system with multi-nonlinear feedback terms, Acta. Math. Sciencia 16 (3) (1996) 302–307.
- [283] X.X. Liao, W.H. Wu, The necessary and sufficient conditions of partial stability for linear dynamical systems, Chinese Science Bulletin 35 (11) (1990) 899–903.
- [284] X.X. Liao, B.G. Xu, A unified simple condition for stable matrix positivedefinite matrix and M-matrix, Control Theory and Application 16 (2) (1999) 301–305 (in Chinese).
- [285] X.X. Liao, P. Yu, Sufficient and necessary conditions for absolute stability of time-delayed Lurie control systems, J. Math. Anal. Appl 323 (2006) 876– 890.
- [286] X.X. Liao, Y. Liao, Stability of Hopfield-type neural network (II), Science in China (A) 40 (8) (1997) 813–816.
- [287] X.X. Liao, P. Yu, S.L. Xie, Y.L. Fu, Study on the global property of the smooth Chua's system, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 16 (10) (2006) 1–27.
- [288] L. Librescu, G. Chiocchia, P. Marzocca, Implications of cubic physical/aerodynamic nonlinearities on the character of the flutter instability boundary, Int. J. Non-Linear Mech. 38 (2003) 173–199.

- [289] A. Liénard, Etude des oscillations entretenues, Rev. Générale de l'Électricité 23 (1928) 901–912.
- [290] Y.R. Liu, W.T. Huang, A cubic system with twelve small amplitude limit cycles, Bull. Sci. Math. 129 (2005) 83–98.
- [291] Y.R. Liu, J. Li, Theory of values of singular point in complex autonomous differential system, Science in China (Series A) 33 (1990) 10–24.
- [292] Z.C. Liu, Improvement of two stability theorems, special issue on differential equations, J. Acta Huazhong Normal University 20 (2) (1986) 135–137 (in Chinese).
- [293] V.A. Lliss, Certain Problems of General Stability Theory of Motion, LGU Leningrad State University Publishing, Leningrad, 1958 (in Russian).
- [294] E.N. Lorenz, Deterministic nonperiodic flow, J. Atmos. Sci. 20 (1963) 130– 141.
- [295] A.I. Lurie, Certain Nonlinear Problems of Theory of Automatic Regularization, Gostechizdat, Moscow, 1951 (in Russian).
- [296] A.I. Lurie, V.L. Boctlicof, Stability theory of control system, Prikl. Mat. Meh. 8 (1944) 246–248 (in Russian).
- [297] A.I. Lurie, V.N. Postnikov, On the stability theory of regularized systems, J. Appl. Math. Mech. 8 (3) (1944) 245–248 (in Russian).
- [298] A.M. Lyapunov, The General Problem of Stability of Motion, Fizmatgiz, Moscow, 1950 (in Russian).
- [299] B.Zh. Maigarin, Stability and Quality of Processes in Nonlinear Systems with Automatic Control, Nauka, Moscow, 1980 (in Russian).
- [300] N.G. Malkin, Theory of Stability of Motion, Nauka, Moscow, 1966 (in Russian).
- [301] V.P. Marachkov, On one stability theorem, Izv. Fix-Mat. Obshchestva i Nauchno-Issledovatel'skogo Instituta Matematiki i Mechaniki, Kazansk. University 3 (12) (1940) 171–174 (in Russian).
- [302] C.M. Marcus, F.R. Waugh, R.M. Westervelt, Nonlinear dynamics and stability of analog neural networks, Physica D 51 (1991) 234–247.
- [303] C.M. Marcus, R.M. Westervelt, Stability of analog network with delay, Phys. Rev. A 39 (1) (1989) 347–359.
- [304] J.A. Marlin, R.A. Struble, Asymptotic equivalence in nonlinear systems, J. Differential Equations 6 (1969) 578–596.
- [305] J.E. Marsden, M. McCracken, The Hopf Bifurcation and Its Applications, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1976.
- [306] P. Marzocca, L. Librescu, W.A. Silva, Supersonic flutter and post-flutter active control of cross-sectional aircraft wings, in: ICAS2002-452, 23rd Congress of the International Council of the Aeronautical Science (ICAS), Sept 8–13, 2002, Toronto, Canada.
- [307] P. Marzocca, L. Librescu, W.A. Silva, Flutter, post-flutter and control of a supersonic 2-D lifting surface, Journal of Guidance, Control and Dynamics 25 (5) (2002) 962–970.

- [308] J.L. Massera, Contributions to stability theory, Ann. of Math. 64 (1956) 182–206.
- [309] K. Matsuoka, On absolute stability of nonlinear neural networks, Trans. Inst. Elect. Commun. Eng. Japan J-74-D-11 (1991) 536–542.
- [310] K. Matsuoka, Stability conditions for nonlinear continuous neural networks with asymptotic connection weights, Neural Networks 5 (1992) 495–500.
- [311] R. Medina, On the boundedness and stability of the solutions of semi-linear differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 157 (1991) 48–62.
- [312] K.R. Meyer, On the existence of Liapunov functions for the problem of Lurie, J. SIAM Control, Ser. A 3 (3) (1965) 373–383.
- [313] K.R. Meyer, Stability of a Lurie type equations, in: Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 312, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973, pp. 145–150.
- [314] A.N. Michel, Recent trends in the stability analysis of hybrid dynamical systems, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 45 (1999) 120–134.
- [315] A.N. Michel, J.A. Farrell, W. Porod, Qualitative analysis of neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 36 (1989) 229–243.
- [316] A.N. Michel, R.K. Miller, Qualitative Analysis of Large Scale Dynamical Systems, Academic Press, New York, 1977.
- [317] A.F. Misnik, The stability of systems of differential equations of neural type, Ukrainian Math. J. 24 (1) (1979) 14–21.
- [318] H. Miyagi, K. Yamaskita, Robust stability of Lurie system with multiple nonlinearities, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 27 (1992) 883–886.
- [319] S. Mohamad, Global exponential stability in continuous-time and discretetime delayed bidirectional neural networks, Physica D 159 (2001) 233–251.
- [320] E.J. Molga, B.A.A. Van Woezik, K.R. Westerterp, Neural networks for modelling of chemical reaction systems with complex kinetics: oxidation of 2-octanol with nitric acid, Chemical Engineering and Processing 39 (4) (2000) 323–334.
- [321] M. Morita, Associative memory with non-monotone dynamics, Neural Networks 6 (1993) 115–126.
- [322] A.H. Nayfeh, Methods of Normal Forms, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1993.
- [323] A.H. Nayfeh, A.M. Harb, C.M. Chin, Bifurcations in a power system model, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 6 (1996) 497–512.
- [324] X.H. Nian, Delay dependent condition for absolute stability of Lurie type control systems, J. Acta Automat. Sinica 25 (1999) 564–566 (in Chinese).
- [325] G. Nicolis, I. Prigogine, Self-Organizations in Nonequilibrium Systems, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1977.
- [326] H. Nyguist, Regeneration theory, Bell System Technical Journal 11 (1932) 126–147.
- [327] E. Ono, S. Hosoe, H.D. Tuan, S. Doi, Bifurcation in vehicle dynamics and robust front wheel steering control, IEEE Trans. Control Systems Technology 6 (1998) 412–420.

- [328] E. Ott, G. Grebogi, J.A. Yorke, Controlling chaos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 1096–1199.
- [329] L.Q. Peng, A note of absolute stability for Lurie direct control systems, Hunan Annals of Mathematics 1 (1986) 118–121 (in Chinese).
- [330] K.G. Persidskii, On the stability theory of solutions of differential equations, Izv. Fiz-Mat. Obshchestva, Kazansk. University 8 (1936) 47–85 (in Russian).
- [331] K.G. Persidskii, On the stability theory of solutions of differential equations, Usp. Mat. Nauk 1 (5–6) (1946) 250–255 (in Russian).
- [332] A.A. Piontovskii, L.D. Rutkovskaya, Analysis of certain problems of stability theory using the method of Lyapunov's vector function, Avtomat. Telemech. 10 (1967) 23–31 (in Russian).
- [333] H. Poincaré, Les Methodes Nouvelles de la Mecanique Celeste, 1892–1899.
- [334] G. Poole, T. Boallion, A survey on M-matrices, SIAM Rev. 16 (1974) 419– 427.
- [335] V.M. Popov, Relaxing the sufficiency conditions for absolute stability, Avtomat. i Telemech. 19 (1958) 1–7.
- [336] V.M. Popov, Nouveaux criteriums de stabilite pour les systems automatiques non-lineaires, Rev. Electrotech. Energet. Acad. R.P. Romine 5 (1960) 73–88.
- [337] V.M. Popov, Absolute stability of nonlinear systems of automatic control, Avtomat. i Telemech. 22 (1961) 961–979.
- [338] V.M. Popov, On a certain critical case in absolute stability, Avtomat. i Telemech. 23 (1962) 4–24.
- [339] V.M. Popov, Hyperstability of Control Systems, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1973.
- [340] V.M. Popov, A. Halanay, Absolute stability of non-linear controlled systems with delay, Autom. Remote Control 23 (1962) 849–851.
- [341] A.J. Pritchard, S. Townley, Robustness of linear systems, J. Differential Equations 77 (2) (1989) 254–286.
- [342] J.L. Qian, X.X. Liao, A new method for solving the matrix equation  $A^T X + XB = C$  and its applications, J. Acta Huazhong Normal University 21 (2) (1987) 159–165 (in Chinese).
- [343] J.L. Qian, X.X. Liao, The algebraic criterion of the stability of the system of linear ordinary differential equations, Acta Mathematica Scientia 9 (2) (1989) 175–181 (in Chinese).
- [344] X.S. Qian, J. Song, Control Theory in Engineering, vol. 1, Science Press, Beijing, 1981, pp. 109–111 (in Chinese).
- [345] Y.X. Qin, Y.Q. Liu, L. Wang, Stability of Dynamical Systems with Time Delays, Science Press, Beijing, 1989 (in Chinese).
- [346] Y.X. Qin, M.Q. Wang, L. Wang, Theory and Application of Stability of Motion, Science Press, Beijing, 1980 (in Chinese).

- [347] X.G. Qiu, Z.Z. Shu, Several criteria of absolute stability for the second canonical form of control system, Appl. Math. Tech. 7 (9) (1986) 785–800 (in Chinese).
- [348] A. Quezz, V. Protoposecu, J. Barben, On the stability storage capacity and design of nonlinear continuous neural networks, IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybernetics 18 (1983) 80–87.
- [349] M. Ramesh, S. Narayanan, Controlling chaotic motion in a twodimensional airfoil using time-delayed feedback, J. Sound Vibration 239 (5) (2001) 1037–1049.
- [350] R.G. Reissing, R.C. Sansone, Nonlinear Differential Equations of Higher Order, Noordhoff International Publishing, Legder, 1974.
- [351] R. Rodriguez, H.C. Tuckwell, Noisy spiking neurons and networks: useful approximations for firing probabilities and global behavior, Biosystems 48 (1–3) (1998) 187–194.
- [352] T. Roska, Some qualitative aspects of neural computing systems, in: Proc. 1988 IEEE ISCAS, Helsinki, Finland, 1989, pp. 751–754.
- [353] T. Roska, C.N. Wu, L.O. Chua, Stability and delay type, general and cellular neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuit Syst. I. 39 (1992) 487–490.
- [354] T. Roska, C.N. Wu, L.O. Chua, Stability of cellular neural networks with dominant nonlinear and delay-type templates, IEEE Trans. Circuit Syst. I. 40 (1993) 270–272.
- [355] F. Rothe, Convergence to the equilibrium state in the Volterra–Lotka diffusion equations, J. Math. Biol. 3 (1976) 319–324.
- [356] N. Rouche, P. Habets, M. Laloy, Stability Theory by Lyapunov's Direct Method, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977.
- [357] V.V. Rumyantsev, A.S. Oziraner, Stability and Stabilization of Motion with Respect to Part of Variables, Nauka, Moscow, 1987 (in Russian).
- [358] J.A. Sanders, J.C. van der Meer, Unique normal form of the Hamiltonian 1:2-resonance, in: H.W. Broer, F. Takens (Eds.), Geometry and Analysis in Nonlinear Dynamics, Longman, Harlow, 1990, pp. 56–69.
- [359] L.A. Segel, S.A. Levin, Application of nonlinear stability theory to the stability of the effects of diffusion on predator-prey interactions, in: Topics in Statistical Mechanics and Biophysics: A Memorial to Julius L. Jackson, in: Proc. AIP Conf., vol. 27, 1976, pp. 123–152.
- [360] D.D. Siljak, Algebraic criterion for absolute stability, optimality and passivity of dynamic systems, Proc. IEEE 117 (10) (1970) 2033–2036.
- [361] D.D. Siljak, Large-Scale Dynamic Systems, Stability and Structure, North-Holland, New York, 1978.
- [362] D.D. Siljak, M.D. Siljak, Nonnegativity of uncertain polynomials, Math. Problems in Engineering 4 (1998) 135–163.
- [363] V. Singh, On the existence of Liapunov function for absolute stability of nonlinear feedback systems, IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 27 (4) (1982) 963–964.

- [364] S. Smale, Mathematical problems for the next century, The Math. Intell. 20 (1988) 7–15.
- [365] A.S. Somolinos, On the conditions  $C^T A^{-1}b + r > 0$  in the Lurie problem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 47 (2) (1975) 432–441.
- [366] A.S. Somolinos, Stability of Lurie of Lurie-type functional equations, J. Differential Equations 2 (1977) 191–199.
- [367] A. Struss, J.A. Yorke, Perturbation uniform asymptotically stable nonlinear systems, J. Differential Equations 6 (1969) 452–483.
- [368] C.Z. Su, Stability of Motion, Southwest Jiao Tong University Press, Chongqin, 1989.
- [369] J. Su, A.Q. Hu, Z.Y. He, Stability analysis of analogue neural networks, Electronics Lett. 33 (1997) 506–507.
- [370] J. Su, A.Q. Hu, Z.Y. He, Solving a kind of nonlinear programming problems via analog neural networks, Neurocomputing 19 (1998) 1–9.
- [371] S. Sudharsanan, M. Sundareshan, Exponential stability and a systematic synthesis of a neural network for quadratic minimization, Neural Networks 4 (1991) 599–613.
- [372] C. Sun, S. Fei, K. Zhang, J. Cao, C.B. Feng, On absolute exponential stability of a class of neural networks, in: Proc. 15th Int. Federation of Automatic Control (IFAC'02), Barcelona, Spain, July 21–26, 2002.
- [373] C. Sun, K. Zhang, S. Fei, C.B. Feng, On exponential stability of delayed neural networks with a general class of activation functions, Phys. Lett. A 298 (2002) 122–132.
- [374] K. Suyawara, M. Harao, S. Noguchi, On the stability of equilibrium states of analogue neural networks, Trans. Inst. Commun. Eng. Japan J66-A (1983) 258–265.
- [375] D. Swaroop, J.K. Hedrick, String stability of interconnected systems, IEEE Trans. Automat. Cont. 41 (1996) 349–357.
- [376] M. Takehiro, F. Norir, S.A. Michiy, On an estimate of the decay rate for stable linear delay systems, Int. J. Control 36 (1) (1982) 95–97.
- [377] F. Takens, Unfoldings of certain singularities of vector fields: Generalized Hopf bifurcations, J. Differential Equations 14 (1973) 476–493.
- [378] F. Takens, Singularities of vector fields, Publ. Math. IHES 43 (1974) 47–100.
- [379] Y. Takeuchi, Global stability in generalized Lotka–Volterra diffusion systems, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 116 (1986) 209–221.
- [380] T. Taniguchi, Stability theorems of perturbed linear ordinary differential equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 149 (1990) 583–598.
- [381] D.W. Tank, J.J. Hopfeild, Simple 'neural' optimization networks: An A/D converter, signal decision circuit, and a linear programming circuit, IEEE Trans. Circuit Syst. 33 (1986) 533–541.

- [382] A. Tayebi, M. Tadjine, A. Rachid, Invariant manifold approach for the stabilization of nonholonomic systems in chained form: Application to a car-like mobile robot, in: Proc. of the 36th IEEE Conf. on Decision and Control, 1997, pp. 4038–4043.
- [383] H. Trinh, M. Aldeen, On robustness and stabilization of linear systems with delayed nonlinear perturbations, IEEE Trans. Automat. Cont. 42 (1997) 1005–1007.
- [384] M.P. Tzamtzi, S.G. Tzafestas, A small gain theorem for locally input to state stable interconnected systems, J. Franklin Inst. 336 (1999) 893–901.
- [385] T. Ueta, G. Chen, Bifurcation analysis of Chen's equation, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 10 (2000) 1917–1931.
- [386] S. Ushiki, Normal forms for singularities of vector fields, Japan J. Appl. Math. 1 (1984) 1–37.
- [387] B. van der Pol, On relaxation-oscillations, Phil. Mag. 2 (7) (1926) 978–992.
- [388] A.T. Vicino, Robust absolute stability of Lurie control systems in parameter space, Automatica 27 (1991) 147–151.
- [389] T. Wada, M. Ikeda, Y. Ohta, D.D. Siljak, Parametric absolute stability of multivariable Lurie systems, Automatica 36 (2000) 1365–1372.
- [390] D. Wang, J. Li, M. Huang, Y. Jiang, Unique normal forms of Bogdanov-Takens singularity, J. Differential Equations 163 (2000) 223–238.
- [391] G.R. Wang, The NASC of absolute stability for a class of direct control systems, J. Hunan Univ. 7 (2) (1987) 123–144.
- [392] G.R. Wang, Absolute stability of direct control system with time delay, J. Hunan Univ. (Special Issue Mathematics) 15 (1) (1988) 174–179 (in Chinese).
- [393] H.O. Wang, E.G. Abed, Bifurcation control of a chaotic system, Automatica 31 (1995) 1213–1226.
- [394] X.F. Wang, Chen's attractor A new chaotic attractor, Control Theory and Applications 16 (5) (1999) 42.
- [395] X.J. Wang, Geometric criteria on the stability of linear control systems, J. Acta of Huazhong Normal University 15 (3) (1987) 332–337 (in Chinese).
- [396] X.J. Wang, Geometric criteria on the stability of polynomials, Appl. Math. Mech. 5 (9) (1988) 445–450.
- [397] G. Wen, D. Xu, X. Han, On creation of Hopf bifurcations in discrete-time nonlinear systems, Chaos 12 (2002) 350–355.
- [398] G. Wen, D. Xu, J. Xie, Control of degenerate Hopf bifurcations in threedimensional maps, Chaos 13 (2003) 486–494.
- [399] S. Wiggins, Introduction to Applied Nonlinear Dynamical Systems and Chaos, Spring-Verlag, New York, 1990.
- [400] M.Y. Wu, Stability and representation of linear time-varying systems, Int. J. Control 31 (5) (1981) 937–945.

- [401] Y. Xia, J. Wang, Global exponential stability of recurrent neural networks for solving optimization and related problems, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 11 (4) (2000) 1017–1022.
- [402] H.M. Xie, The NASC for absolute stability of a class of control systems of third order, Science in China (Series A) 9 (1981) 1165–1175 (in Chinese).
- [403] H.M. Xie, Theory and Application of Absolute Stability, Science Press, Beijing, 1986 (in Chinese).
- [404] Q. Xie, G. Chen, Synchronization stability analysis of the chaotic Rössler system, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 6 (1996) 2153–2161.
- [405] B.G. Xu, Absolute stability criteria of delay dependent for Lurie control systems, J. Acta Autom. Sinica 28 (2002) 317–320 (in Chinese).
- [406] B.Z. Xu, B.L. Zhang, G. Wei, Neural Network Theory and Applications, Huanan University of Science and Technology, Guanzhou, 1994, pp. 320– 321 (in Chinese).
- [407] D.Y. Xu, Routh–Hurwitz problem, J. Math. 2 (1984) 273–278.
- [408] D.Y. Xu, Simple criteria for stability of interval matrices, Int. J. Control 41 (1) (1985) 289–295.
- [409] D. Xu, Counter-example to a recent result: on the decay rate for stable linear delay systems by Hmames, Int. J. Control 44 (6) (1986) 1779–1780.
- [410] D. Xu, Several basic theorems of stability, Quarterly of Mathematics 17 (2) (1992) 61–67 (in Chinese).
- [411] M.E. Yalcin, J.A.K. Suykens, J. Vandewalle, Master-slave synchronization of Lurie systems with time-delay, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 11 (2001) 1707–1722.
- [412] H. Yang, T.S. Dillon, Exponential stability and oscillation of Hopfeild graded response neural network, IEEE Trans. Neural Networks 5 (1994) 719–729.
- [413] L.B. Yang, T. Yang, Sampled-data feedback control for Chen's chaotic systems, Acta Phys. Sinica 49 (2000) 1039–1042.
- [414] T. Yang, L.O. Chua, Impulsive stabilization for control and synchronization of chaotic systems: Theory and application to secure communication, IEEE Trans. CAS-I. Fundamental Theory and Applications 44 (10) (1997) 976– 988.
- [415] X.S. Yang, C.K. Duan, X.X. Liao, A note on mathematical aspects of driveresponse type synchronization, Chaos, Solitons, and Fractals 10 (9) (1999) 1457–1462.
- [416] B.Y. Ye, The NASC for the absolute stability of direct control systems of second order, J. of Math. 7 (1) (1987) 48–54 (in Chinese).
- [417] H. Ye, A.N. Michel, K. Wang, Qualitative analysis of Cohen–Grossberg neural networks with multiple delays, Phys. Rev. E 51 (1995) 2611–2818.
- [418] T. Yoshizawa, Stability Theory by Lyapunov's Second Method, The Math. Soc. of Japan, Tokyo, 1996.

- [419] B.L. Yu, Ordinary Differential Equations, People's Education Press, Beijing, 1981 (in Chinese).
- [420] P. Yu, Computation of normal forms via a perturbation technique, J. Sound and Vib. 211 (1998) 19–38.
- [421] P. Yu, Simplest normal forms of Hopf and generalized Hopf bifurcations, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 9 (1999) 1917–1939.
- [422] P. Yu, A method for computing center manifold and normal forms, in: Proc. of Differential Equations, vol. 2, World Scientific, Singapore, 2000, pp. 832–837.
- [423] P. Yu, Symbolic computation of normal forms for resonant double Hopf bifurcations using multiple time scales, J. Sound and Vib. 274 (2001) 615– 632.
- [424] P. Yu, Limit cycles in 3rd-order planar system, in: Int. Congress of Mathematicians, Beijing, China, August 20–28, 2002.
- [425] P. Yu, Computation of the simplest normal forms with perturbation parameters based on Lie transform and rescaling, J. Comput. & Appl. Math. 144 (2) (2002) 359–373.
- [426] P. Yu, A simple and efficient method for computing center manifold and normal forms associated with semi-simple cases, Dynamics of Continuous, Discrete and Impulsive Systems, Series B: Applications and Algorithms 10 (1–3) (2003) 273–286.
- [427] P. Yu, Bifurcation dynamics in control systems, in: G.R. Chen, D.J. Hill, X. Yu (Eds.), Bifurcation Control: Theory and Applications, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003, pp. 99–126.
- [428] P. Yu, Closed-form conditions of bifurcation points for general differential equations, Int. J. Bifurcations and Chaos 15 (4) (2005) 1467–1483.
- [429] P. Yu, Computation of limit cycles the second part of Hilbert's 16th problem, Fields Institute Communications 49 (2006) 151–177.
- [430] P. Yu, G. Chen, Hopf bifurcation control using nonlinear feedback with polynomial function, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 14 (5) (2004) 1683– 1704.
- [431] P. Yu, M. Han, Twelve limit cycles in a cubic case of the 16th Hilbert problem, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 15 (7) (2005) 2191–2205.
- [432] P. Yu, M. Han, Small limit cycles bifurcating from fine focus points in cubic order Z<sub>2</sub>-equivariant vector fields, Chaos, Solitons, and Fractals 24 (2005) 329–348.
- [433] P. Yu, K. Huseyin, A perturbation analysis of interactive static and dynamic bifurcations, IEEE Trans. Automat. Contr. 33 (1988) 28–41.
- [434] P. Yu, A.Y.T. Leung, A perturbation method for computing the simplest normal forms of dynamical systems, J. Sound and Vib. 261 (1) (2003) 123– 151.
- [435] P. Yu, A.Y.T. Leung, The simplest normal form of Hopf bifurcation, Nonlinearity 16 (1) (2003) 277–300.

- [436] P. Yu, X.X. Liao, Globally attractive and positive invariant set of the Lorenz system, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 16 (3) (2006) 757–784.
- [437] P. Yu, X.X. Liao, New estimations for globally attractive and positive invariant set of the family of the Lorenz systems, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 16 (11) (2006) 1789–2105.
- [438] P. Yu, Y. Yuan, An efficient method for computing the simplest normal forms of vector fields, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 13 (1) (2003) 19–46.
- [439] P. Yu, Y. Yuan, A matching pursuit technique for computing the simplest normal forms of vector fields, J. Symbolic Computation 35 (5) (2003) 591– 615.
- [440] P. Yu, Y. Yuan, J. Xu, Study of double Hopf bifurcation and chaos for an oscillator with time delayed feedback, International Journal of Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simulation 7 (1–2) (2002) 69–91.
- [441] P. Yu, W. Zhang, Q. Bi, Vibration analysis on a thin plate with the aid of computation of normal forms, Int. J. Non-Linear Mech. 36 (2001) 597–627.
- [442] X. Yu, Y. Xia, Detecting unstable periodic orbits in Chen's chaotic attractor, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 10 (2000) 1987–1991.
- [443] Y. Yuan, P. Yu, Computation of the simplest normal forms of differential equations associated with a double-zero eigenvalues, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 11 (5) (2001) 1307–1330.
- [444] Y. Yuan, P. Yu, L. Librescu, P. Marzocca, Aeroelasticity of time-delayed feedback control of two-dimensional supersonic lifting surfaces, J. Guidance, Control, and Dynamics 27 (5) (2004) 795–803.
- [445] K. Zhang, Stability of a class of nonlinear neural differential-difference equations, J. Anhui Univ. (Nat. Sci.) 2 (1980) 15–22.
- [446] B.G. Zhang, Stability of nonlinear control systems, Sci. Sinica 10 (6) (1961) 625–631 (in Chinese).
- [447] B.G. Zhang, Global stability of solutions for second order ordinary differential equations, Acta Mathematica Sinica 9 (1975) 28–37 (in Chinese).
- [448] J. Zhang, X. Jin, Global stability analysis in delayed Hopfeild neural models, Neural Network 13 (7) (2000) 745–753.
- [449] L.M. Zhang, F. Gu, Neural information processing, in: Proc. Int. Conf. Neural Information Processing, vol. 1–3, Fudan University Press, Shanghai, China, 2001, pp. 14–18.
- [450] T. Zhang, S.S. Ge, C.C. Hang, Neural-based direct adaptive control for a class of general nonlinear systems, Int. J. Syst. Sci. 28 (10) (1997) 1011– 1020.
- [451] W. Zhang, The criteria for absolute stability of direct control systems of Lurie type, Appl. Math. Mech. 10 (10) (1989) 955–967.
- [452] W. Zhang, Simplification for the Popov's frequency criterion, J. Eng. Math. 11 (1994) 94–98.
- [453] W. Zhang, The absolute stability of feedback systems with time delay, J. Central China Normal Univ. 28 (1994) 154–157.

- [454] Y. Zhang, H.A. Pheng, P. Vadakkepat, Absolute periodicity and absolute stability of delayed neural networks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I. 49 (2002) 256–261.
- [455] Z.F. Zhang, Improvement of Vazhevskii inequality, J. Acta Huazhong Normal University 20 (2) (1986) 141–144 (in Chinese).
- [456] S.X. Zhao, On the absolute stability of direct control system, Acta Mathematica Sinica 22 (4) (1979) 404–419.
- [457] X. Zhao, On inconsistency of S-procedure in the case of infinite sector of absolute stability, Automat. i Telemech. 11 (1980) 171–178.
- [458] X. Zhao, X.X. Liao, The stability of several stable solutions of Hopfeild neural network with reaction diffusion, Chinese Sci. Abstracts 7 (2) (2001) 240–242.
- [459] W.Y. Zhao, On the uniformly asymptotic stability of two types of timevariable control systems, Journal of Mathematics 2 (3) (1982) 275–282 (in Chinese).
- [460] G.L. Zheng, S.A. Billings, Radial basis function network configuration using mutual information and the orthogonal least squares algorithms, Neural Networks 9 (9) (1996) 1619–1637.
- [461] G.Q. Zhong, K.S. Tang, Circuitry implementation and synchronization of Chen's attractor, Int. J. Bifurcation and Chaos 12 (2002) 1423–1427.
- [462] S.M. Zhong, Stability of cellular neural networks with delay, J. Electronics 2 (1997) 125–127.
- [463] S.M. Zhu, On the criterion of absolute stability for system of direct control, Acta Scientiarum Naturalium Universitatis Sunyatseni 3 (1979) 20–28 (in Chinese).
- [464] S.M. Zhu, On the absolute stability of nonlinear control system of Lurie type, Acta Scientiarum Naturalium Universitatis Sunyatseni 4 (1983) 43– 52 (in Chinese).

## **Subject Index**

2-D Hénon map, 651-656 2-D lifting surface, 658 2-D supersonic lifting surface, 658 3-D Hénon map, 646, 656, 657 Abed, 631 absolute integrability, 215 absolute stability, 220, 389, 394, 420, 421, 423, 424, 434-436, 439, 440, 442, 443, 452, 454, 459, 463, 469, 471, 481 absolutely stable, 392-394, 396-399, 402-419, 421-433, 435-447, 449-451, 453-456, 458, 459, 461-468, 470-472, 474, 475, 478-485 - with respect to, 421, 423-430, 435-443, 456, 472, 474, 475, 483 - within (in) the Hurwitz angle, 392, 396, 397, 402-404, 406-412, 418, 419 activation function, 491, 502, 507, 515, 541, 571 aerodynamic nonlinearities, 658 aeroelastic model, 658 Aizeman's conjecture, 241 algebraic multiplicity, 40, 42 anti-bifurcation control, 651, 652 anti-control, 640, 646, 649, 656 anti-controlling bifurcation, 626, 640 anti-controlling Hopf bifurcation, 646 associative memory, 487, 491, 530, 532, 534 asymptotic - behavior, 22, 26, 209, 495 - equivalence, 167, 208, 209 - stability, 24, 28, 32, 33, 35, 36, 82, 83, 111, 112, 123-125, 139, 140, 143, 145, 162, 163, 173, 176, 177, 185, 218, 227, 228, 237, 245, 379, 403, 489, 532, 550, 552, 553, 566 asymptotically - equivalent, 209, 211, 217, 218 - stable, 24-27, 31, 36, 81, 82, 94, 95, 106-108, 110, 123, 125, 127, 139-141, 143-146, 148, 150, 169, 171, 172, 174, 176, 185-187, 219, 225, 227, 238, 239, 287,

323, 336, 337, 341, 356, 357, 359-361, 364, 366, 369, 373, 374, 378-380, 393, 403, 496, 499-501, 530, 532, 551, 553-557, 586 -- cone, 357, 361, 380, 381, 383, 384 -- with respect to, 106-108, 225, 227, 228, 232, 233, 237 asynchronous machine, 604 attractive, 22, 24-26, 28, 81, 82, 135, 136, 141, 142, 151, 186, 224, 237, 489, 494, 499 - basin, 145, 165 - space, 447 - with respect to, 105, 106, 108, 225, 227 automatic control, 35, 301, 321, 322, 389, 392 autonomous, 31, 32, 146, 157, 463, 601 - nonlinear system, 241 - system, 31, 112, 136, 145, 167, 237, 615 averaging method, 591 Banach space, 297, 470, 547, 663 Barabashin-Krasovskii theorem, 171, 176 Bautin, 609 Bhatia, 447 bidirectional associative memory (BAM) - model, 532, 537 - neural network, 487, 491, 530, 534, 540 - system, 530 bifurcation - control, 593, 594, 627, 640 - controller, 645 - parameter, 591, 592, 606, 608, 627, 630, 643, 651,656 - point, 640, 641

- theory, 643, 644

bilinear operator, 663

biomathematics, 341 Birkhoff limit set, 167

Brown fixed point theorem, 565

Brusselator model, 602, 604

Bulgakov problem, 389

Burton, 420

canonical form, 596, 607, 637 catastrophic type of flutter boundary, 658 Cauchy matrix solution, 36, 77, 78, 80, 83, 86, 88, 90, 92-95, 97-99, 105, 204, 205, 207, 232, 286, 309, 310, 314, 367-369, 374 Cauchy problem, 21, 30, 263, 323, 342 Cauchy sequence, 297 Cauchy's argument principle, 61 center, 599, 601, 609 center manifold, 591, 595, 614, 622-624, 642, 644, 657, 662, 663, 665, 667 - reduction, 643, 663 - theory, 591, 594, 597, 606, 614, 617, 642 centrifugal governor, 389, 390 chaos, 469, 491, 591, 593, 627, 651, 657 - control, 593, 627, 656 - synchronization, 459, 460, 467 chaotic attractor, 188, 189, 629, 654 chaotic motion, 491, 593, 627, 629, 654 characteristic - curve, 68-70, 72-75 - equation, 356, 357, 379, 380, 406, 472, 663 - function, 661 - polynomial, 631, 636, 642, 643, 662 Chen, 189, 459, 466 Chen system, 467, 469 Chua, 466, 467, 563 closed orbit, 138, 647 closed-loop, 70, 71, 73-75, 389, 631, 632 CNF (conventional normal form), 614, 621, 622, 627,632 CNN (cellular neural network), 491, 563-566, 568, 570, 586-588 Cohen, 551 compact, 168, 169, 180, 198 - convex set, 565 - set, 148, 168, 169, 180, 201 comparability theory, 171 comparison - method, 176, 177, 367 - principle, 167, 172, 209, 350 - theorem, 14, 15, 128, 176, 190 complex center, 601 complex conjugate, 593, 640-643, 647-649, 653 concomitant, 600, 601 conditional stability, 167, 218 conditionally asymptotically stable, 219 conditionally stable, 218, 219 constant sign function, 4 constant variation formula, 437

continuous system, 594, 627 control parameter, 591, 615, 629 convex, 361, 362, 383–387 convex set, 384, 565 critical control system, 392 critical Lurie control system, 434 critical point, 591, 593, 599, 601–603, 606, 615, 626, 627, 629–632, 638, 641, 651, 660 Curran, 466

DDE (delay differential equation), 285, 541 degenerate Hopf bifurcation, 597, 609 delay differential equation, 285, 541 delay logistic equation, 646, 651 delay logistic map, 646, 653 delayed differential difference equation, 322, 363 delayed neural system, 541, 547 delayed system, 325 difference equation, 321 differential difference equation, 321-324, 333, 338, 363, 368 differential inequality, 13, 350, 351, 354, 355, 367, 372 Dini derivative, 1, 10, 11, 13, 271, 332, 339, 345, 527, 537, 556, 567, 573 Dini derivative inequality, 350 direct control system, 392, 394, 399, 402, 435 discrete map, 591, 594, 627, 640, 641, 643, 645, 646, 651, 656 discrete system, 285 dissipative system, 170 DNN (delay neural network), 541 Dong, 459 double Hopf, 593 double zero singular point, 609 double-zero, 593 dual/adjoint space, 663 dynamical system, 111, 167, 203, 208-210, 229, 285, 293, 316, 321, 489, 495, 550, 591, 594, 640, 656 ecological system, 550, 591 efficient computation, 614, 622 Eigen, 551 electrical circuit, 627, 634, 636, 638, 645 energy function, 163, 164, 167, 487-490, 493-495, 497, 530 equi-asymptotic stability, 28, 29, 33, 106, 119 equi-asymptotically stable, 24, 27, 28, 30, 106, 126, 127

- with respect to, 108 equi-attractive, 22, 24, 27, 28, 30, 108 - with respect to, 109 equi-bounded, 177, 180 equi-dissipative system, 186 equi-Lagrange asymptotically stable, 186 equi-Lagrange stable, 177, 179-181 equilibrium, 147, 164, 218, 391, 489, 497, 502, 506, 516-522, 524, 525, 527-532, 534, 550, 551, 553, 554, 571, 575, 576, 584, 585, 587, 592, 593, 603, 605, 606, 622, 626-629, 631-633, 636, 638, 651, 658, 659,662 - point, 195, 489, 491, 492, 495, 497, 500, 501, 503, 511, 512, 526, 527, 529, 532, 535, 536, 538-543, 546, 554-570, 594, 598, 602, 603, 607, 608, 615, 631, 641, 645, 646 - solution, 592 error dynamics, 459, 460, 466, 468, 469 existence and uniqueness, 2, 215, 489, 535 exponential - estimation, 189 - rate, 301 - stability, 24, 27, 29, 33, 83, 86-89, 106, 127, 173, 175, 188, 197 exponentially periodic, 546 exponentially stable, 28, 29, 51, 83, 84, 86-93, 95, 97-102, 104, 109, 110, 175, 196, 198, 218, 287, 290, 297, 300, 301, 303, 304, 311-313, 315, 323, 328, 369 - manifold, 218 - with respect to, 98, 99, 233 extended center, 601 extensive energy function, 495 extreme stability, 302 extremely - asymptotically attractive, 303 - asymptotically stable, 303, 304, 309 - attractive, 302 - exponentially stable, 303, 304 - stable, 302-304 - uniformly attractive, 303 - uniformly stable, 303 family of - circles, 3 - level curves, 6 - limit cycles, 593, 607, 626, 627, 637 - periodic solutions, 3

- spirals, 138

feedback - control, 389, 392, 628, 629, 631, 638, 652, 654, 659, 667, 669 - controller, 594, 645, 646, 649, 652 - gain, 460 - loops, 454 - system, 62 fine focus point, 609 first comparison theorem, 14 first standard form, 410 fixed point, 593, 605, 609, 640, 646-652, 654-657 Floquet-Lyapunov theory, 95, 96 flutter - boundary, 658, 660, 666, 668 - instability, 658, 667, 669 -- boundary, 660 - speed, 658, 662, 667, 668 - stability boundary, 668 - velocity, 667, 668 focus value, 593, 594, 597, 599, 601-603, 606, 607, 611, 612 frequency characteristic curve, 403, 406 frequency-domain approach, 69 frozen coefficient matrix, 283 frozen coefficient method, 282, 283 functional differential equation, 203, 285 functional equation, 321 fundamental matrix, 210, 213, 214, 217, 473, 483 fundamental sequence, 297, 300 fundamental solution matrix, 36, 77, 78, 96, 286 Gauss-Seidel type iteration method, 290, 294 general neural network, 443, 550, 564

generalized Hopf bifurcation, 599, 630 generalized Hopf bifurcation, 599, 630 generalized separable variables, 278 Gershgorin theorem, 468, 553 Gershgorin's circular disc theorem, 50 Gilpin and Ayala model, 551 GLNS (general linear neutral system), 378 global – analysis, 591 – behavior, 591 – bifurcation, 593 – (large) limit cycle, 609 – stability, 241, 271, 502

- time-delay independent stability, 431
- globally asymptotic stability, 29, 33, 82, 106, 379, 468, 509, 515, 523, 535, 553

- globally asymptotically stable, 24, 30, 108, 148, 149, 164, 242, 248–250, 252, 254, 260–262, 264, 265, 267, 268, 305, 324, 326, 331, 338, 342, 344, 347–350, 354, 358, 379–382, 466, 467, 470, 474, 476–478, 480, 485, 486, 488–490, 503–509, 515–522, 524, 526, 527, 529, 535, 538–541, 555–563
- with respect to, 271, 278
- globally asymptotically time-delay independently sable, 471
- in the Hurwitz sector, 471
- globally attractive, 24, 30, 237
- and positive invariant set, 191, 192, 195
- set, 189, 190, 195, 515, 518
- globally equi-asymptotic stability, 33
- globally equi-uniformly asymptotic stability, 30
- globally exponential stability, 24, 30, 33, 457, 502, 512, 515, 530, 566
- globally exponentially attractive, 577, 580
- and positive invariant set, 193
- set, 189, 191, 192, 194, 467, 491-493, 518
- globally exponentially Lagrange stability, 189
- globally exponentially stable, 127, 128, 245–248, 328, 329, 355, 502, 505–507, 511, 512, 514, 515, 532, 534, 541, 543, 546, 566–
  - 571, 575–577, 580, 581, 583–585, 587
- globally quasi-uniformly asymptotically stable, 24, 33
- globally stable, 29, 271, 382, 383, 391, 392, 402, 461
- with respect to, 270, 271, 273-277, 281-284 globally uniformly
- asymptotic stability, 33, 82, 173
- asymptotically stable, 24, 28, 108, 239
- attractive, 24, 216
- Lipschitz stable, 203
- governing equation, 659
- gradient method, 163-165
- Gramer law, 60
- Gronwall–Bellman inequality, 14, 86, 232 Grossberg, 499

Halanay, 350 Hale, 361, 383 Hénon map, 646, 651–657 heteroclinic, 591, 593 Hilbert, 608 Hilbert number, 608, 609 Hilbert's 16th problem, 608

homeomorphic mapping, 214, 215 homeomorphism, 79, 209, 215 homoclinic, 591, 593 homogeneous, 77, 80 homogeneous system, 212 Hopf bifurcation, 591-594, 597, 602, 606, 608, 609, 622, 624–634, 636–647, 649–658, 660-663, 666, 667, 669 - control, 591, 594, 626, 629, 657, 658, 669 Hopf circle, 640 Hopf singularity, 597, 609, 614, 615 Hopf type, 611 Hopf-type critical point, 599, 660 Hopf-type singular point, 599 Hopf-zero, 535 Hopfield, 487, 488, 491, 493-498, 530 - energy function, 489, 493, 495, 499 – network, 490, 495, 515 - neural network, 491, 493, 497, 498, 502, 515, 522, 564 - stable, 489 Hopfield type energy function, 489, 490, 493 Hopfield-type stability, 495, 498 Hurwitz - angle, 363, 364, 367, 369-376, 381, 383, 392, 397, 398, 402-410, 412, 418, 419 - condition, 1 - criterion, 38, 636, 642 - matrix, 17, 19, 37, 38, 43, 45-54, 59, 61-63, 66, 67, 88-90, 92, 95, 97-100, 392-394, 401, 407, 452, 456, 458, 470, 472, 474, 475, 501, 514, 553, 555, 569 - polynomial, 431 - sector, 470, 471, 475, 477-482, 485 - stability, 16 - stable, 16, 35, 36, 68, 421, 422, 424, 435, 436, 438, 443, 446, 460, 463-465 image processing, 563 incipient instability, 640, 650 indirect control system, 358, 384 induction machine, 603-605, 607 infimum, 14 infinite interval Lorenz system, 192-194 infinitesimal deformation, 555 infinitesimal upper bound, 5, 6, 117, 119, 123-

- 125, 131–133, 136, 144, 153, 173, 174, 176, 225, 325, 326, 338, 339 integral inequality, 13, 376
- interval matrix, 315, 316, 318, 319

- stability, 450 intrinsic harmonic balancing technique, 591 invariant circle, 641 invariant set, 494, 525, 526, 550 invertible transformation, 241 Iooss's Hopf bifurcation theory, 643 isogeny sign transform, 18, 19 isolated fixed point, 550 isolated subsystems, 209-211, 217, 218, 286, 289, 290, 310, 314, 316, 318, 366, 373 iteration method, 285, 290, 302, 305, 309, 310, 315 iterative convergence, 285 IVP (initial value problem), 377 Jacobi matrix, 203 Jacobian, 593, 596, 598, 602, 606, 609, 615, 626, 627, 630, 632, 637, 643, 660 - matrix, 498, 594, 615, 640, 642, 646, 648-652, 654, 656, 657 Jordan - block, 40, 41 - canonical form, 36, 598, 632 - theorem, 41, 57 K-class function, 1, 7-9

Karsovskii, 157 Karsovskii's theorem, 498 kinematics, 357 Kösko, 530 Krasovskii, 338 Kronecker delta function, 18, 315 Kronecker product, 48, 49 Kronecker sign function, 569

Lagrange – asymptotic stability, 185 – asymptotically stable, 185, 187 – formula, 70 – globally exponential stability, 188, 491 – globally exponentially stable, 191, 491–493 – stability, 167, 177, 181, 184, 196, 235, 239, 564 – stable, 177, 178 large-scale – linear system, 368 – neural system, 366, 367, 373 – nonlinear neutral system, 373 – system, 209, 216, 366 LaSalle invariance principle, 167, 169, 171, 493, 494, 526, 550, 551 LDS (linear delay system), 356 left eigenvector, 380, 381 left limit, 254 left-lower derivative, 10 left-upper derivative, 10 L'Hospital rule, 47, 423, 445, 457, 463, 474 Lie bracket, 595 Liénard equation, 592, 608 limit bound, 170-172, 185-187 limit cycle, 591-593, 602, 606-611, 613, 626, 627, 629, 633, 637, 638, 640, 658, 660, 661, 663, 667, 669 limit set, 157, 167-169 limiting point, 155 linear - system, 3, 35, 70, 77, 80, 84, 87, 89, 90, 95, 100, 104, 192, 196, 204, 205, 232, 241, 245, 248, 264, 285, 300, 353, 356, 481, 566 - time-delayed system, 431 - time-varying system, 105, 309 linear and nonlinear time-delay feedback control, 597 linearized system, 599, 652, 661 Lipschitz - condition, 2, 10-12, 127, 163, 173, 181, 205, 223, 286, 302 - constant, 12, 199 - stability, 203-206 - stable, 203, 204 - unstable, 205 Lipschitz type activation function, 541 Lipschitz type function, 502 local - analysis, 591, 593 - behavior, 591 - bifurcation, 593 - dynamical analysis, 592 logistic equation, 647, 649, 651 logistic map, 646, 651, 653 Lorenz - attractor, 188, 593 - chaotic attractor, 188 - chaotic system, 188 - equation, 629 - family, 189 - system, 188, 189, 191-195, 467, 627, 629-631, 633.645 Lü, 189

Mach number, 666–669

Lü system, 467 Lurie, 355 - control system, 224, 241, 389, 434, 481 - indirect control system, 420 - problem, 389, 392, 406, 420 - system, 389, 420, 459, 460, 463, 466, 469 - type, 420 Lyapunov - asymptotic stability, 124, 145, 176, 489, 532, 550, 552 - coefficient, 666, 667, 669 - diagonally stable, 527 - direct method, 111-113, 167, 171, 177, 285, 331 - exponent, 189, 491, 503, 505, 506, 532 - first method, 552, 553 - first quantity (LFQ), 666 - function, 1, 4, 111, 113, 123, 132, 138, 139, 144, 147, 161-163, 167, 170, 172, 180, 185, 189, 192, 235, 241, 242, 245, 251, 254, 257, 264, 267, 268, 276-278, 280, 281, 283, 285, 324, 326, 328, 330, 336, 337, 367, 395, 408-411, 420, 425-432, 437, 439, 441, 442, 449, 451, 453, 454, 459, 463, 464, 467, 489, 496, 498, 499, 503, 504, 506, 508, 510, 516-519, 521, 523, 524, 527, 531, 532, 538, 542, 548, 550, 551, 554-558, 560-562, 566-568, 570, 575, 577, 585 - functional, 338, 341, 342, 345, 348, 349, 355, 364, 367, 476, 479, 482, 544, 572 - globally asymptotic stability, 395 - instability criteria, 152 - matrix, 101, 430 - matrix equation, 47, 48, 50, 52, 53, 341, 394, 407 - stability, 21, 146, 162, 176, 196, 200, 204, 205, 218, 235, 321, 330, 379, 487, 489, 530, 551 - transform, 101 - uniformly stable, 205 Lyapunov-Lurie, 398, 407 - function, 395, 407 - type function, 394, 399 - type method, 373 - type V-function, 394, 399 -- method, 389, 394 Lyapunov-Schmidt reduction, 591 Lyapunov-Volterra stable, 264, 554, 555 Lyapunov's quantity, 660

Malkin's theorem, 132 Maple, 592, 602, 603, 614, 626, 632, 638 Massera, 123 Massera function, 124 Mathematica, 592 maximal invariant set, 550 maximum invariant set, 171 maximum right solution, 13 Maxwell, 389 method of succession function, 591 minimax principle, 552 minimax theorem, 531 minimum distance, 236 M matrix, 1, 16-18, 20, 48, 252, 253, 266, 268, 275, 344-347, 353, 357-361, 379, 381, 383, 496, 507, 509, 514, 515, 529, 535, 536, 540, 541, 547, 548, 555, 566, 569, 576 multiple - limit cycles, 593 - nonlinear controls, 442 - scales, 598 - time scales, 591, 593, 594, 597, 599

multiplicity, 601

- multivalued differential equation, 389
- NASC (necessary and sufficient condition), 35, 61, 81, 113, 114, 119, 127, 129, 399, 420, 421, 434, 442, 454, 456, 469
- near-identity nonlinear transformation, 595, 616, 623
- negative finite, 4, 16, 17, 19, 51, 53, 54, 119, 125, 130–133, 144, 153, 162–165, 225, 254, 257, 259, 261, 263–265, 267–269, 273, 279, 280, 282, 283, 326, 330, 331, 338–344, 347–349, 363, 394–401, 408– 412, 420, 425, 433, 443, 451, 452, 455, 467, 468, 498, 500, 502–504, 506, 509, 520, 531, 532, 534, 538, 541, 543, 552– 554, 561, 567, 576, 584, 585, 587, 589
- negative semi-definite, 4, 16, 17, 19, 139, 146, 162–164, 271, 273–276, 281, 344, 427– 429, 439–441, 498, 510, 511, 516, 522, 524, 526, 554, 558, 568, 571
- neural network, 163, 322, 341, 355, 487, 491, 492, 494, 502, 522, 523, 527, 529, 534, 540, 546, 550, 563, 564
- neutral differential difference equation, 322
- neutral differential difference system, 362
- neutral system, 54, 363, 380, 384, 546

702

node, 609 non-autonomous, 149, 280, 615 non-deterministic system, 389 non-homogeneous, 77, 213, 241 non-resonant condition, 657 nonlinear - activation function, 502, 507 - autonomous system, 163, 341 - control, 442, 669 -- gain, 666-669 -- system, 389 - differential equation, 162 - dynamical system, 591-593, 627 - dynamics, 535, 591, 593 - equation, 161 - feedback, 530 -- control, 392, 667, 668 - integral, 163 - isolate method, 389 - large-scale system, 216 - neural network, 588 - neutral large-scale system, 373 - operator, 663 - science, 188, 591 - state feedback, 628, 629 - system, 87, 89, 196, 197, 204, 217, 241, 248, 285, 302, 328, 341, 343, 346, 389, 420, 470, 592, 593, 614, 627, 660, 5629 - time-delay system, 344 - time-varying -- dynamical system, 229 -- periodic system, 307 -- system, 347 - transfer function, 488 - transformation, 595-597, 614, 616, 617, 619-624 normal form, 591-595, 597, 602, 609, 614, 619, 633, 644, 649, 653, 657, 666, 669 - theory, 591, 594, 614, 642, 646 numerical simulation, 603, 613, 630, 633, 647, 649, 650, 654 Nyquist characteristic curve, 70 Nyquist criterion, 70  $\omega$ -limit orbit, 244, 256  $\omega$ -limit point, 145 ω-limit set, 169, 244, 256, 494 open-loop, 70-73 optimal computation, 563 optimal computing, 487

ordinary differential equation, 67, 203, 285, 321, 324, 330, 350, 369, 377, 487, 591, 604, 627 parameter rescaling, 614, 617 parameter scaling, 623 partial differential equation, 321 partial variable stability, 104, 167, 224, 225, 235, 237, 268 partially asymptotically stable with respect to, 232 partially stable with respect to, 230, 232 pattern recognition, 563 pendulum, 147 period-doubling cascade, 651 periodic - motion, 593, 627, 667 - orbit, 592 - solution, 626 - system, 30, 31, 97, 99, 145, 159, 309 - vibration, 658 periodic and almost-periodic solution, 195 perturbation - method, 593, 603 - parameter, 598, 614 - technique, 598 phase portrait, 649, 655, 657 Picard, 44 - iteration, 287, 311 - iteration method, 368 - iteration type method, 285 Picard type method, 308 Picard's iterative approach, 285 piecewise-linear activation function, 576 plunging displacement, 659 Poincaré, 592 - map, 592 - mapping, 550 - normal form theory, 597 polynomial controller, 649, 656 polynomial feedback controller, 649, 651, 652 Popov - criteria, 402, 406 - frequency domain, 406 - frequency-domain criteria, 389, 406 - frequency-domain method, 407 - method, 412 positive - half trajectory, 145, 146, 148-150, 158, 159, 524, 526, 528 - innerwise, 642

- invariant set, 168, 169, 191, 193, 195 - semi-definite, 4, 16, 17, 19, 132, 164, 269, 399, 427, 500, 555 positive definite, 4-9, 16, 19, 57, 60, 114-118, 122-127, 129-132, 135-141, 143-155, 161-164, 173, 182, 204, 225, 228, 229, 242, 260, 267-270, 274, 281, 325, 326, 329, 338-340, 347, 348, 386, 387, 395-400, 420, 427, 430, 440, 442, 443, 449, 454-456, 466, 496-499, 510, 511, 516, 530-532, 537, 538, 542, 552-5054 - and radially unbounded, 5, 6, 9, 148, 149, 165, 189, 192, 254, 268, 271, 272, 276-283, 328, 330, 336, 342, 345, 349, 364, 395, 400, 425, 439-443, 446, 447, 449, 451-454, 476, 479, 482, 492, 496, 504, 508, 512, 513, 516, 517, 521, 524, 527, 531, 532, 542, 544, 548, 558, 566, 567, 572, 575, 577 - diagonal matrices, 342, 348 - function, 7-9 post-critical behavior, 591 Postnikov, 389 practical stability, 167, 200 practically stable, 200, 201 practically strongly stable, 202 PTA (Piston Theory Aerodynamics), 659 pull linear operator, 54, 55 quadratic form, 260, 269, 341, 500 qualitative characteristic curve, 73, 75 quasi Lyapunov-Volterra stable, 554 quasi-asymptotic stability, 83 quasi-attractive, 83 quasi-linear system, 219 quasi-stability, 38, 42 quasi-stable, 35, 36, 38, 41, 43, 95, 100 quasi-uniform stability, 32 quasi-uniformly asymptotic stability, 29 quasi-uniformly asymptotically stable, 24, 30 radially unbounded K-class function, 8, 9 Razumikhin - method, 330, 338

principle, 355
technique, 330
theorem, 333
receiver, 460
recursive formula, 596, 614
relaxation variety, 310

reparametrization, 616, 619 resonant, 597 right eigenvector, 415, 417 right limit, 254 right-lower derivative, 10, 11, 13 right-upper derivative, 10, 11, 527, 537, 542, 548, 567 right-upper Dini-derivative, 527, 537, 567 robust - boundedness, 167 - control, 389 - dissipative, 200, 203 - stability, 196, 197, 209, 389 - stable, 196, 197, 199 Roska, 530 Rössler, 466 S-method, 398, 406, 407 S-program method, 389, 395 saddle point, 611, 612, 614, 647, 649, 652, 654 saddle-node bifurcation, 591, 640 Schur-Cohn criterion, 641, 643 Schur-Cohn process, 644 Schuster, 551 second canonical form, 431 - of control system, 431 second comparison theorem, 15 self-excited oscillation, 592 semi-simple, 614, 615, 621, 622 separable variable system, 263 separate variable, 241, 251, 264, 267, 268, 278, 280 separate various time delays, 341 set stability, 167 sigmoid function, 487, 502, 517, 519 similar transformation, 414 simple elementary divisor, 35, 40-42, 96 single zero, 614, 615, 622 singular critical point, 601 singular point, 599, 601, 603, 610 singular point quantity, 599, 601 singular point value method, 593, 594, 599, 603, 608,611 Smale, 608 smooth Chua system, 467 SNF (the simplest normal form), 594, 613-615, 621-627, 634, 637, 638 spectral estimation, 100 spectral radius, 18, 95, 286, 290, 306, 311, 316,

374, 536, 566

- differential inequality, 350, 351

stability degree, 366 stable - manifold, 218 - matrix, 16 - node, 652 - with degree, 53 - with respect to, 105, 224-226 standard fundamental solution matrix, 36, 286 state feedback control, 628 state transformation, 616 state-parameter transformation, 616 stationary oscillating system, 306 stationary oscillation, 305 steady state, 604 steady-state solution, 626 stochastic differential equation, 321 strange attractor, 646, 656 strictly monotone decreasing, 242, 245, 254, 256 strictly monotone increasing, 8, 9, 351, 488 strong resonance, 640 structural stability, 209 subcritical, 593, 627, 630, 638, 652, 666 - bifurcation, 641 - Hopf bifurcation, 626-628, 638, 669 supercritical, 593, 603, 626-628, 638, 639, 652, 666, 669 - bifurcation, 641 - Hopf bifurcation, 608, 633, 640, 650 supersonic flight Mach number, 659 supremum, 10, 11 Sylvester condition, 1, 16, 269, 395, 396 symbolic computation, 592, 623 symmetric feedback neural network, 487 Szegö, 447 Takens method, 593, 594, 603, 608, 611 Takens normal form theory, 594, 595 Taylor expansion, 12 time delay, 321, 322, 328, 341, 343, 346, 347, 350, 353, 354, 356, 362, 373, 469, 491, 523, 529, 534, 535, 537, 540, 543, 564, 570, 571, 627, 660, 661, 666-669 - differential equation, 322, 533 - independent asymptotically stable, 325 time rescaling, 617, 619 time scales, 591, 593, 594, 597, 599 time scaling, 611, 623 time-delay - absolutely stable, 439 - differential difference equation, 323

- feedback controls, 598 - independent absolute stability, 471 - independent absolutely stable, 470-472, 474, 475, 480 - - in the Hurwitz sector, 436, 438, 440, 441, 477-479, 481, 482, 484, 485 - independently attractive in the Hurwitz sector, 477, 478 - independently stable, 472, 477, 479 - system, 337, 340, 344, 363 time-delayed Lurie control system, 469 time-varying, 77, 105, 229, 305, 309, 347, 363 - linear system, 77, 104, 313 - positive definite function, 4, 6 topological transformation, 267, 400, 420, 434 transcendent equation, 351 transfer function, 70, 72, 73 transition matrix, 215 transmitter, 450 transversality condition, 593, 641, 643, 657 tunnel-diode, 634, 635 twist angle, 659 ultimate bound, 192 ultimate boundedness, 491 ultimately bounded, 467, 491 uncontrollable, 224 unfolding, 614, 623, 624, 626 unified procedure of normal forms, 592, 614 uniform - attraction, 31, 82, 175 - attractivity, 22 - boundedness, 82, 108, 175 - convergence, 547 - Lagrange stability, 168 - Lyapunov stability, 204 - stability, 24, 31, 33, 83, 85, 86, 108, 113, 118, 173 uniformly - asymptotically stable -- with respect to, 108, 228 - attractive, 24, 27, 30, 32, 119, 120, 150, 152, 237, 327, 339 --with respect to, 22, 105, 108, 225 - bounded, 24, 82, 106-108, 177, 182-185, 237, 239 - convergent topology structure, 297 - dissipative system, 186 - extremely asymptotically stable, 304

- extremely stable, 302, 304 - Lagrange asymptotically stable, 186, 187 - Lagrange stable, 177, 181, 183-186 - Lipschitz stable, 203-205, 207, 208 - stable, 22, 25, 27, 30, 31, 85, 106-108, 117, 119, 126, 134-136, 174, 175, 237, 238, 287, 323, 325, 326, 328, 332-334, 339, 369 -- with respect to, 105, 224, 226 uniformly asymptotic stability, 32, 33, 82, 106, 122, 125, 173 uniformly asymptotically stable, 24, 26, 27, 30, 31, 83, 108, 119, 123, 150, 152, 174, 175, 225, 287, 323, 326, 328, 334–336, 339, 340, 369, 379, 380 uniformly variational globally Lipschitz stable, 204 uniformly variational Lipschitz stable, 204 universal unfolding, 626 unobservable, 224 unstable manifold, 615, 662 unstable node, 647, 651 Ushiki, 614

van der Pol, 592 variable gradient method, 163 variable sign function, 4 variable time delays, 316 variation constant formula, 234 variational equation, 204 variational system, 203, 205 varying time delay linear system, 353 varying time delays, 347 vector homogeneous polynomial, 595, 596 *V* function method, 389, 394, 406, 407 Voltaire-type ecological system, 266 Volterra–Lotka system, 499

## Wang, 631

- washout filter controller, 594, 631, 646, 651, 656 Watt centrifugal governor, 389
- weak critical singular point, 601

variation of constants, 78, 583

- weak resonance, 640
- Wedge function, 8
- Weierstrass accumulation principle, 168, 169,
- 576

Wen, 643, 651

## Yang, 509

Z<sub>2</sub>-equivariant vector field, 609 Z<sub>2</sub>-symmetry, 611, 613 zero singularity, 623 Zhang, 402 Zhu, 399